NEW INSIGHTS INTO THE COMPLEXITY OF TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY IN B-CELL MALIGNANCIES: TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY AND IMMUNOTHERAPY

EDITED BY: Jérôme Paggetti, Etienne Moussay and Martina Seiffert PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology and Frontiers in Oncology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-206-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-206-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

NEW INSIGHTS INTO THE COMPLEXITY OF TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY IN B-CELL MALIGNANCIES: TUMOR IMMUNOLOGY AND IMMUNOTHERAPY

Topic Editors:

Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg Etienne Moussay, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg Martina Seiffert, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany

Topic Editor MS received funding from Bayer AG.

Citation: Paggetti, J., Moussay, E., Seiffert, M., eds. (2022). New Insights Into the Complexity of Tumor Immunology in B-cell Malignancies: Tumor Immunology and Immunotherapy. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-206-6

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: New Insights Into the Complexity of Tumor Immunology in B-cell Malignancies: Tumor Immunology and Immunotherapy Martina Seiffert, Etienne Moussay and Jérôme Paggetti
- 08 Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression on Lymphoma Cells Is Critical for Therapeutic Activity of Intratumoral Therapy With Synthetic TLR4 Agonist Glucopyranosyl Lipid A

Hailing Lu, Alec Betancur, Michael Chen and Jan H. ter Meulen

- 20 Molecular Pathways Engaged by Immunomodulatory Agents in Monoclonal Gammopathy-Associated Pure Red Cell Aplasia Rescue Rakesh Verma
- 23 Method for the Analysis of the Tumor Microenvironment by Mass Cytometry: Application to Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Susanne Gonder, Iria Fernandez Botana, Marina Wierz, Giulia Pagano, Ernesto Gargiulo, Antonio Cosma, Etienne Moussay, Jerome Paggetti and Anne Largeot
- 39 Integration of the B-Cell Receptor Antigen Neurabin-I/SAMD14 Into an Antibody Format as New Therapeutic Approach for the Treatment of Primary CNS Lymphoma

Moritz Bewarder, Maximilian Kiefer, Clara Moelle, Lisa Goerens, Stephan Stilgenbauer, Konstantinos Christofyllakis, Dominic Kaddu-Mulindwa, Natalie Fadle, Evi Regitz, Frank Neumann, Markus Hoth, Klaus-Dieter Preuss, Michael Pfreundschuh and Lorenz Thurner

51 Immune Dysfunctions and Immune-Based Therapeutic Interventions in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Valentina Griggio, Francesca Perutelli, Chiara Salvetti, Elia Boccellato, Mario Boccadoro, Candida Vitale and Marta Coscia

- Microenvironment Remodeling and Subsequent Clinical Implications in Diffuse Large B-Cell Histologic Variant of Richter Syndrome
 Hélène Augé, Anne-Béatrice Notarantonio, Romain Morizot, Anne Quinquenel, Luc-Matthieu Fornecker, Sébastien Hergalant, Pierre Feugier and Julien Broséus
- 96 Toward Therapeutic Targeting of Bone Marrow Leukemic Niche Protective Signals in B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Marjorie C. Delahaye, Kaoutar-Insaf Salem, Jeoffrey Pelletier, Michel Aurrand-Lions and Stéphane J. C. Mancini
- **106 T** Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Two-Edged Sword Elisavet Vlachonikola, Kostas Stamatopoulos and Anastasia Chatzidimitriou

 Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in the Tumor Microenvironment: What Do We Need to Consider When Treating Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia With PI3K Inhibitors?
 Ebru Aydin, Sebastian Faehling, Mariam Saleh, Laura Llaó Cid,

Martina Seiffert and Philipp M. Roessner

135 Heat Shock Proteins in Lymphoma Immunotherapy

Zarema Albakova, Yana Mangasarova and Alexander Sapozhnikov

- 151 Understanding the Immune-Stroma Microenvironment in B Cell Malignancies for Effective Immunotherapy
 Benedetta Apollonio, Nikolaos Ioannou, Despoina Papazoglou and Alan G. Ramsay
- 174 Intrinsic Resistance of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells to NK Cell-Mediated Lysis Can Be Overcome In Vitro by Pharmacological Inhibition of Cdc42-Induced Actin Cytoskeleton Remodeling Hannah Wurzer, Liza Filali, Céline Hoffmann, Max Krecke, Andrea Michela Biolato, Jérôme Mastio, Sigrid De Wilde, Jean Hugues François, Anne Largeot, Guy Berchem, Jérôme Paggetti, Etienne Moussay and Clément Thomas





Editorial: New Insights into the Complexity of Tumor Immunology in B-cell Malignancies: Tumor Immunology and Immunotherapy

Martina Seiffert^{1*}, Etienne Moussay² and Jérôme Paggetti²

¹ Division of Molecular Genetics, Molecular Genetics, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Heidelberg, Germany, ² Tumor-Stroma Interactions, Department of Cancer Research, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg, Luxembourg

Keywords: leukemia, lymphoma, tumor microenvironment, stromal cells, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), immunotherapy, anti-tumor immunity

Editorial on the Research Topic

New Insights into the Complexity of Tumor Immunology in B-cell Malignancies: Tumor Immunology and Immunotherapy

With the recent advances in cancer immunotherapy, great expectations have been raised for the successful implementation of these novel treatment concepts for patients with B-cell malignancies. The malignant cells in these cancer entities are in constant interaction with non-malignant immune cells and stromal cells in primary and secondary lymphatic tissues, and many B-cell malignancies are associated with immune defects. Even though treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors or CAR T-cell therapies showed efficacy in some patients, the majority did not respond, for so far unclear reasons. To improve response rates, a better understanding of the cross-talk between the cancer cells and their microenvironment, and of immune escape and treatment resistance mechanisms are urgently needed. The collection of reviews, opinion, method, and original research articles in this Research Topic focuses on the complexity of the tumor microenvironment (TME) in B-cell malignancies and on novel concepts of immunotherapy for patients with these deadly diseases.

In a detailed and timely review, Apollonio et al. summarize current knowledge on tumor intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms critical to anti-tumor immune responses, as well as sensitivity to immunotherapies in B-cell lymphomas. They discuss the current understanding concerning the role of T cells and inflammatory signaling in these processes. The article further focuses on co-evolving stromal cells and their regulation of immune responses within the TME.

Similarly, Delahaye et al. discuss in a mini review article the current knowledge about protective niches in B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) and the development of therapies targeting the crosstalk between leukemic cells and their microenvironment.

To improve immunotherapy approaches for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), a better understanding of their defective immune system is required. Griggio et al. focus in their informative review on the main immune defects affecting patients with CLL, also describing the complex networks leading to immune evasion and tumor progression. They further summarize the evolution of immune-based therapeutic approaches, including immunomodulatory drugs, monoclonal antibodies, and immunotherapeutic strategies aiming at activating or administering leukemia-reactive immune effector cells.

Considering the recent advances in our understanding of T-cell activity and defects in CLL, a timely review by Vlachonikola et al. focuses on the binary, contradicting role of T lymphocytes in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by: Alessandro Isidori, AORMN Hospital, Italy

> *Correspondence: Martina Seiffert m.seiffert@dkfz.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematologic Malignancies, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 12 January 2022 Accepted: 14 January 2022 Published: 03 February 2022

Citation:

Seiffert M, Moussay E and Paggetti J (2022) Editorial: New Insights into the Complexity of Tumor Immunology in B-cell Malignancies: Tumor Immunology and Immunotherapy. Front. Oncol. 12:853620. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.853620

5

CLL. They describe the imbalanced composition of the T-cell compartment in CLL and how it is driven by antigen selection. Further, they focus on T-cell defects and perspectives of novel immunotherapy approaches to overcome them.

One of the main immune defects described for patients with CLL, is the failure to develop proper immune synapses between malignant B cells and effector T cells which was linked to altered cytoskeleton properties. In an original research article, Wurzer et al. analysed immune synapse formation between CLL and NK cells and suggest a novel immune escape mechanism in CLL. They show that fast actin remodeling in CLL cells upon contact with NK cells prevents their effective NK-cell-mediated killing. These results highlight the critical role of the actin cytoskeleton in CLL cells in driving resistance against NK cell cytotoxicity and provide a new potential therapeutic point of intervention to target CLL immune escape.

Due to the increasing interest in the TME, extensive analyses revealed a tremendous complexity and heterogeneity of the cellular microenvironment in cancer. The development of novel technologies for single-cell analysis, like mass cytometry, enhances the number of cellular features that can be surveyed simultaneously and allows for resolving complex cellular systems. In a detailed method article by Gonder et al., the use of mass cytometry for a better characterization of cells in the TME of CLL is described. This includes a protocol for antibody panel design and validation, sample preparation and acquisition, machine set-up, quality control, and analysis of cells. Additionally, advantages and pitfalls of this technique are discussed.

Richter Syndrome (RS) is a highly aggressive B-cell malignancy that arises due to the transformation of CLL, and the development of effective treatment options for RS patients is an urgent clinical need. In a very informative review article, Augé et al. provide an extensive overview of genomic aberrations associated with RS. The article further focuses on the role of the PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint axis in RS and discusses the potential of targeting this checkpoint as novel therapeutic option for patients with this aggressive disease.

Multiple myeloma (MM) is an aggressive malignancy of plasma cells associated with pathological changes in the bone marrow microenvironment. Due to these, the majority of patients with MM develop anemia. Immunomodulatory agents like pomalidomide or lenalidomide are used for the treatment of MM and associated with the recovery from anemia. Verma discusses in an interesting opinion article the potential modeof-action underlying this observation.

Inhibitors of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) are approved for the treatment of CLL and other B-cell lymphoma. But the PI3K signaling pathway is not only limited to cancer cells but also crucial for many components of the TME which has to be considered when treating patients with PI3K inhibitors. Aydin et al. address this important issue in their detailed review article. They summarize published data that show an impact of PI3K inhibition on the TME with a specific focus on CLL, and discuss how a better understanding of these effects of PI3K inhibitor-based therapies can serve as a rationale for the development of improved drugs or of novel combinatory treatment strategies in CLL.

Novel immunotherapies, like immune checkpoint blockade or CAR T-cell therapy showed efficacy in some patients with B-cell lymphoma, but for the majority of cases, this treatment approach failed. As a potential resistance mechanisms in Hodgkin and Non-Hodgkin lymphoma, Albakova et al. explore in their interesting review article the involvement of heat shock proteins (HSPs). As HSPs are highly expressed in lymphoma cells and are known to modulate immune responses and inhibit apoptosis, a better understanding of their role in anti-tumor responses may help in the development of more effective immunotherapy in B-cell lymphoma.

Activation of Toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling *via* synthetic agonists is an immunomodulatory approach currently tested in several clinical trials for cancer. In an original research article, Lu et al. show that treatment of established A20 B-cell lymphoma in mice with a synthetic TLR4 agonist controlled tumor development. This effect was associated with T-cell inflammation and dependent on CD8⁺ T cells. Interestingly, the treatment response depended on TLR4 expression in B-cell lymphoma cells. TLR4 agonist treatment of lymphoma cells led to their enhanced antigen-presentation and increased their apoptosis. It was further sufficient to induce protective CD8⁺ T-cell responses. Therefore, the therapeutic potential of TLR4 activation in B-cell lymphoma should be further explored.

A novel interesting treatment approach for primary central nervous system lymphomas (PCNSL) harboring B-cell receptors that recognize the common auto-antigens neurabin-I and SAMD14 is presented in the original research article by Bewarder et al. They generated a full-length IgG1 or Fab antibody format containing the PCNSL-reactive epitope of SAMD14/neurabin-I and showed specific binding of these constructs to lymphoma cells as well as their effective killing in coculture with PBMC.

Altogether, the collection of articles in this Research Topic provides a comprehensive overview of the immune microenvironment in B-cell malignancies and the potential of new immunotherapy approaches for these diseases, thereby supporting the development of improved treatment regimens for the patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors edited the Research Topic. MS wrote the editorial. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Fonds National de la Recherche Luxembourg to JP and EM (C20/BM/14592342 and C20/BM/14582635).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The topic editors would like to acknowledge all the authors who participated in this Research Topic.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Seiffert, Moussay and Paggetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY).

The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression on Lymphoma Cells Is Critical for Therapeutic Activity of Intratumoral Therapy With Synthetic TLR4 Agonist Glucopyranosyl Lipid A

Hailing Lu, Alec Betancur, Michael Chen and Jan H. ter Meulen**

Immune Design Corp., Seattle, WA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Etienne Moussay, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Franziska Haderk, University of California, San Francisco, United States John P. Vasilakos, 3M, United States

*Correspondence:

Jan H. ter Meulen termeulen@mailer.uni-marburg.de

[†]Present address:

Jan H. ter Meulen, Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> **Received:** 24 April 2020 **Accepted:** 07 July 2020 **Published:** 19 August 2020

Citation:

Lu H, Betancur A, Chen M and ter Meulen JH (2020) Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression on Lymphoma Cells Is Critical for Therapeutic Activity of Intratumoral Therapy With Synthetic TLR4 Agonist Glucopyranosyl Lipid A. Front. Oncol. 10:1438. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01438 Intratumoral (IT) injections of Glucopyranosyl lipid A (G100), a synthetic toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) agonist formulated in a stable emulsion, resulted in T-cell inflammation of the tumor microenvironment (TME) and complete cure of 60% of mice with large established A20 lymphomas. Strong abscopal effects on un-injected lesions were observed in a bilateral tumor model and surviving mice resisted a secondary tumor challenge. Depletion of CD8 T-cells, but not CD4 or NK cells, abrogated the anti-tumor effect. Unexpectedly, TLR4 knock-out rendered A20 tumors completely non-responsive to G100. *In vitro* studies showed that GLA has direct effect on A20 cells, but not on A20 cells deficient for TLR4. As shown by genotyping and phenotyping analysis, G100 strongly activated antigen presentation functions in A20 cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* and induced their apoptosis in a dose dependent manner. Similarly, the TLR4 positive human mantle cell lymphoma line Mino showed *in vitro* activation with G100 that was blocked with an anti-TLR4 antibody. In the A20 model, direct activation of B-lymphoma cells with G100 is sufficient to induce protective CD8 T-cell responses and TLR4 expressing human B-cell lymphomas may be amenable to this therapy as well.

Keywords: TLR4, GLA, B-cell lymphoma, intratumoral treatment, tumor microenvironment

INTRODUCTION

Only a minority of cancer patients currently benefits from immunotherapeutic interventions aimed at rescuing functional T-cells responses through modulation of immune check points, and this resistance is at least partly be due to the immunosuppressive nature of the tumor microenvironment (TME) (1). Immune recognition of tumor cells and priming of CD8 T-cell responses in the tumor draining lymph node requires processing and presentation of tumor antigens by cross-presenting dendritic cells, coupled with their activation by danger signals, and secretion of type 1 interferons (2, 3). Therefore, therapies that are capable of inducing proinflammatory changes in the TME, activating antigen presenting cells and inducing immune responses should have significant therapeutic potential on their own and in combination with other immunotherapies (4, 5). To this end, several agents designed to modify the TME are currently under clinical investigation, including cytokines, oncolytic viruses, toll-like receptor (TLR) 3, 7/8 and 9 agonists, RIG-I agonists and others (6, 7). While some of these treatment modalities have shown impressive levels of efficacy in murine

8

models, notably agonists of the stimulator of interferon genes (STING) pathway, activity in the clinic has been rather modest to date, especially in solid tumors with low levels of pre-existing T-cell inflammation.

Toll-like receptors (TLRs) belong to the families of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), and recognize conserved microbial components, which are referred to as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), as well as endogenous danger signals, known as damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Common TLR-activating PAMPs include viral and bacterial nucleic acids (signaling trough TLR3, TLR7/8, or TLR9), flagellin (a TLR5 agonist), as well as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), lipoteichoic acid, and mannans (which signal through TLR2 or TLR4). Endogenous TLR-activating DAMPs are nucleic acids and the nuclear non-histone protein high mobility group box 1 (HGMB1). TLR control the activation, maturation and immunological functions of immune cells and are as a family either located in the plasma membrane (e.g., TLR2, TLR4, TLR5) or in endosomal membranes (e.g., TLR3, TLR7/8, and TLR9), of macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), B cells, and natural killer (NK) cells, as well as some non-immune cells including epithelial cells, fibroblasts and malignant cells. Clinical trials are currently focused on evaluating systemic treatment with TLR3 agonists (HiltonolTM, AmpligenTM, BO-112TM) in combination with standard of care, or with immune checkpoint inhibitors, vaccines, cytokines or other treatments in a variety of solid tumors (colorectal carcinoma, breast, lung, prostate cancer and others), as well as hematological malignancies (MM, AML). TLR7/8 agonists (Imiquimod, Motolimod) are being used topically in a number of solid tumors (squamous cell carcinoma, melanoma, anal carcinoma, cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, and others), and a TLR9 agonist (SD-101) is being evaluated for intratumoral treatment of hematological malignancies (follicular lymphoma) and some solid tumors (prostate and others) (8). Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) is part of a cell surface receptor complex that recognizes lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and is expressed on professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as dendritic cells (DC), monocytes, macrophages, and activated B cells, as well as some non-immune cells, including epithelium, endothelium, and smooth muscle (9). Activation of TLR4 on APC results in stimulation of antigen presentation, upregulation of costimulatory molecules such as CD40 and CD80, and secretion of inflammatory cytokines, including IL6 and IL12, and type I interferons (IFN) (10). In addition, TLR4 agonists have recently been shown to signal through an intracellular pathway which leads to activation of the non-canonical inflammasome with secretion of interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 β) and IL-18 (11). Glucopyranosyl lipid A (GLA) is a synthetic TLR4 agonist that potently activates dendritic cells and has shown a very good safety and efficacy profile as an infectious disease vaccine adjuvant in several phase 1 and 2 studies (12, 13). Two formulations of GLA have been tested in preclinical and clinical studies, GLA-stable emulsion (SE) and GLA-aqueous formulation (AF). Both formulations have been shown to be potent vaccine adjuvants stimulating both antibody and T cell responses (14, 15). For intratumoral injection, GLA-SE is preferred as the emulsion retains GLA locally at the injection site. Intratumorally injected GLA-SE inflamed the TME in murine melanoma and glioma models, "pulling" antigenspecific, vaccine primed or passively transferred CD8 T-cells into tumors, which resulted in their regression (16). A recent clinical trial showed that intratumoral injection of GLA-SE (termed G100) inflamed the TME of Merkel cell carcinoma patients, with antitumor immune responses and objective tumor responses observed (17).

Using the murine A20 B-cell lymphoma, we investigated the effect of IT G100 on the TME and its dependency on TLR4 expression of the tumor cells.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

Female Balb/c mice $(7\sim8 \text{ weeks old})$ were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME) and were maintained under specific pathogen free conditions. All the procedures described in this study were performed in compliance with the local Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee guidelines.

Reagents and Cell Lines

Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies targeting mouse CD3, CD4, CD8, B220, NKp46, Foxp3, IFNγ, TNFα, IL2, CD40, CD80, CD86, and TLR4 were obtained from eBiosciences (San Diego, CA). The antibodies used for in vivo depletion, anti-CD4 (clone GK1.5) and anti-CD8 (clone 56.3) were purchased from BioXcell (West Lebanon, NH). The A20 cell line, originally derived from B lymphocytes of a naturally occurring reticulum cell sarcoma from an old Balb/c mouse, was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC[®] TIB-208). The A20 cells were expanded in complete RPMI medium (RPMI with 10%FBS, pen/strep, and glutamine) before each tumor inoculation. A biallelic TLR4 knockout A20 cell line was generated using the CRISPR/Cas9 system at GenScript (Piscataway, NJ) and the biallelic gene knockout was confirmed by sequencing analysis. Glucopyranosyl lipid A (GLA, G100) was manufactured and formulated by Immune Design using proprietary methods. For preclinical work, two formulations of GLA were used. For in vivo studies, a stable oil-in-water formulation (G100) containing 2 mg/mL GLA in 2% squalene (SE) was adjusted to various GLA concentrations (1, 5, 10 or 20 µg GLA) in 2% SE. GLA-AF (aqueous formulation), which contained the surfactant dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine instead of squalene, was adjusted to 5 µg GLA/ml. For in vitro experiments, cells were exposed to GLA-AF for 48 h before being analyzed by Flow cytometry for expression of surface markers or analysis for RNA expression profiling. The Mino cell line is a human blood/Mantle cell lymphoma (B cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma) that was obtained from ATCC (ATCC[®] CRL-3000).

A20 Tumor Model

Five million A20 murine lymphoma cells were implanted subcutaneously (s.c.) into Balb/c mice on the right flank (for unilateral tumor model) or on both sides (for a bilateral tumor model, only one tumor injected). Tumor take was close to 100% using this inoculation method. Tumor growth was monitored using a digital caliper every 2–3 days and the tumor size was expressed as surface area (length x width). Mice were sacrificed when the tumor size reached over 200 mm². Intratumoral (IT) injection of G100 or control PBS or SE started on Day 7~9 when the average tumor size was 30~50 mm². The treatment was administered three times per week for a total of 7–9 doses. To investigate the direct effect of GLA without the emulsion on A20 cells with respect to tumor rejection, A20 cells were treated *in vitro* with GLA-AF (5 μ g/mL) for 48 h before the cells were harvested and inoculated s.c. into Balb/c mice.

CD4 and CD8 T Cell Depletion

For selective depletion of CD4 or CD8 T cells, mice received intraperitoneal injection of the depletion antibody (100 μ g) for two times at the week before IT G100 treatment and then once per week during treatment. FACS analysis confirmed that the depletion efficiency was more than 95% for both CD4 and CD8 T cells (data not shown).

Flow Cytometry

Staining of splenocytes was performed as described previously (18). TILs were isolated by centrifugation over Histopaque-1083

(Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). For staining of T regulatory cells, splenocytes or TIL were first stained with anti-CD3-eF450/anti-CD4-FITC/anti-CD8-PerCP, and then stained with anti-FoxP3-PE after fixation and permeabilization. For the staining of activation markers and TLR4 expression on A20 cells, the cells were cultured in RPMI medium with or without GLA-AF (5μ g/mL) for 48 h before the cells were harvested for flow cytometry analysis. The cells were then stained with antibodies against CD80, CD86, and CD40, and TLR4 using surface staining. For evaluation of apoptosis and necrosis, cells were stained with an Annexin V (AV) and propidium iodide (PI) staining kit with binding buffer (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Data acquisition was done on a FACS LSRII flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA). List mode data were analyzed using the FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

Cell Growth Inhibition

The effects of GLA or other TLR agonists on growth of murine or human lymphoma cell lines were evaluated using different methods. In initial studies, cell viability and cell number were enumerated using a Nucleocounter, then a FACS-based high throughput method using LIVE-DEAD-NIR dye (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA) was employed. For the evaluation of apoptosis and necrosis, cells were stained with AV and PI as described above. To compare the direct effect of different TLR agonists



FIGURE 1 G100 cures established murine A20 lymphomas and the anti-tumor effect depends on tumor cell TLR4 expression. (**A**,**B**) Tumor growth curves of G100-injected or contralateral un-injected A20 tumors. Five million A20 were implanted subcutaneously (s.c.) into Balb/c mice (n = 5/group) on both flanks. Intratumoral (i.t.) injection of G100 (10, 20, 30, or 50 µg GLA-SE) or PBS started on day 5 [indicated by the arrow on (**A**)] when the tumors were palpable (average size ~40 mm²), three times per week, for a total of 9 injections. Mice were sacrificed when any tumor size reached over 150 mm². (**C**) Survival curves in mice with bilateral A20 tumors treated with different doses of GLA-SE and PBS control. All the G100-treated mice (10, 20, 30, or 50 µg GLA groups) had significant longer survival than control (PBS treated) mice (p < 0.0001, adjusted *p*-values using Bonferroni method). The survival in the high dose (50 µg GLA) G100 group was significantly better than that in low dose group (10 µg) (p = 0.03). (**D**,**E**) Tumor growth curves in mice treated with G100 and two controls, PBS and SE, for both (**D**) injected tumors, and (**E**) un-injected tumors. The arrow in (**D**) indicate treatment start time. (**F**) Survival curves in mice treated with both PBS and SE controls. ***p < 0.001 between G100 and SE or PBS. Again, there was no difference between SE and PBS.

in A20 cells, we cultured A20 cells in 96-well plates (10,000 cells/well) and treated the cells in duplicate with serial dilutions of GLA, TLR3 agonist poly I:C, and TLR9 agonist CpG ODN2006 (InvivoGen, San Diego). After 96 h of incubation, the cells were stained with LIVE-DEAD-NIR dye and analyzed on a flow cytometer. The percentage of viable cells as well as total number of viable cells in each well were analyzed in FlowJo.

Intracellular Staining (ICS)

ICS was performed using similar method as previously described with modifications (18). The spleens from G100 treated Balb/c mice that rejected A20 tumors and control naïve mice were harvested and homogenized using the AutoMACS tissue dissociator (Miltynei Biotec, San Diego, CA). Red blood cells were lysed by using the ACK lysis buffer from eBiosciences (San Diego, CA). For measurement of cytokine production, splenocytes were stimulated with γ -irradiated A20 tumor cells at a 10:1 ratio in 96-well plates with ~ 500,000 cells per well in complete RPMI medium. Medium containing PMA and ionomycin (eBiosciences) was used as positive control. After 1 h of stimulation, brefeldin A was added to the culture wells and the plate was incubated overnight at 37°C in a humidified CO₂ incubator. The next day, the cells were stained with anti-CD4-AF-700, anti-CD3-PerCP, anti-CD8-PB, and anti-B220-V500. After surface staining, the cells were fixed with Cytofix buffer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and then permeabilized with Perm/Wash buffer containing 5% rat serum. Cells were then stained with anti-TNF α -Alexa 488, anti-IFN γ -PE, and anti-IL2-APC for intracellular cytokines. Cells were



FIGURE 2 G100 induces CD8T cell-mediated tumor protection and memory responses. (A) Rejection of A20 tumor re-challenge in G100-treated mice. On Day 7 after A20 tumor cell inoculation, mice with palpable A20 tumors started receiving GLA-SE treatment (10 μ g, 3x/week, for 3 weeks), as indicted on the x-axis. Six out of 10 treated mice had complete tumor regression and received a second tumor challenge on the opposite side of the original tumor at 3 months after the initial tumor inoculation (indicated by vertical dotted line on day 90). All these mice rejected the secondary tumor challenge, demonstrating the development of long-term immunity. Untreated mice developed tumor rapidly after A20 challenge, as shown in tumor growth curves with dotted lines. (B) Splenocytes were collected from G100-treated mice and naïve Balb/c mice (n = 8 per group) and stimulated with irradiated A20 tumor cells at a 10:1 ratio with the addition of brefeldin A and cultured overnight. Then the cells were then either surface stained or permeabilized and stained with antibodies against IFN_Y, IL2, and TNF α and analyzed by FACS. Shown are representative dot plots showing IL-2 and IFN_Y production in CD4 and CD8 T cells in splenocytes co-cultured with A20 tumor cells. For data analysis, cells were first gated as singlets based on FSC and SSC. Then the singlet cells were gated based on a viability dye. The live cells were gated for CD3+ T cells, which were further separated into CD4 and CD8 T cells. (C) Summary graphs showing the levels of cytokine positive cells in CD4 and CD8 T cells from GLA-treated or control naïve mice. (D) Tumor growth curves (mean \pm sem) in mice that were treated with PBS, G100 (10 μ g GLA, 2%SE /mouse, 3 times/week for 3 weeks), or G100 plus CD4 or CD8 T cell depletion. The depletion efficiency was more than 95% as measured by FACS (data not shown). Depletion of CD8 T cells but not CD4 T cells significantly abrogated the anti-tumor effects of G100. *p < 0.05 between G100 and G100 + CD8 depletion group

washed with FACS buffer and analyzed on a 3-laser LSRII cytometer. List mode data were analyzed using the FlowJo 9.0 software.

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) Analysis

A20 tumors were treated with intratumoral G100 (10 $\mu g)$ or control PBS every other day. After 3 treatments, tumors





were harvested and fixed in 10% formalin. Paraffin embedding, sectioning, and IHC analysis were performed at the Experimental Histology center at Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Cancer (Seattle, WA). Anti-cleaved caspase 3 antibody (clone D3E9) and anti-Ki67 antibody (clone D3B5) were from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA).

RNA Expression Analysis of Murine and Clinical Specimens

A20 tumors were treated with G100 or control PBS every other day for a total of 3 times. Tumors were collected at 2 h after the last treatment and immediately stored in RNAlater (Ambion, Austin, TX). RNA was extracted using the DNA/RNA Allprep kit from Qiagen (Valencia, CA) for analysis with the nCounter[®] mouse PanCancer Immune Profiling Panel of Nanostring (Seattle, WA), a multiplex gene expression analysis with 770 genes from 24 different immune cell types, common checkpoint inhibitors, CT antigens, and genes covering both the adaptive and innate immune response. The hybridization reaction and scanning of slides was performed by the Genomic Center at Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, Seattle, WA. The data were normalized and analyzed using nSolver software (Nanostring, Seattle, WA). To study the direct effect of GLA on A20 tumor cells, the cells were cultured in RPMI medium with or without GLA $(5\mu g/mL)$ for 48 h before the cells were harvested for RNA extraction and subsequent gene expression analysis using the same Nanostring panel, nCounter® mouse PanCancer Immune Profiling Panel. The expression level of different TLRs in A20 cells was compared by using Nanostring gene expression data normalized with house-keeping genes. Data analysis was done in nSolver using the Advanced Analysis tool with the following parameter setting: remove genes below specified threshold (TRUE); threshold count value (20); covariate (TimePoint); variable type (categorical); reference level (pre-Tx); perform normalization (TRUE); auto-select number of housekeepers (TRUE); perform differential expression testing (TRUE); predictors (TimePoint). TimePoint refers to whether a sample is from pre-treatment or post-treatment with G100.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SAS version 9.4 & GraphPad Prism (GraphPad software, San Diego, CA). Twotailed Student t-test was used to analyze differences between treatment groups in tumor size (last measurement shown in figure) and tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (FACS). ANOVA was used to analyze the treatment time- and dose- dependent response of GLA on cell growth inhibition and induction of apoptosis and necrosis in A20 cells. Kaplan-Meier plots were used to analyze the mouse survival data in A20 lymphoma model. Comparison between survival curves was done using the logrank test. Conclusions from sensitivity analysis using Fleming-Harrington test with parameters (1, 0) to address late effect are consistent with the main analysis using Log rank test (in Figure 1C). Bonferroni adjustment was used to control type 1 error for multiple comparisons. A p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Anti-tumor Effects of G100 in the A20 Model Depend on Tumor Cell TLR4 Expression

As shown in Figures 1A,B, G100 treatment (10-50 µg, intratumoral 3x/week, 7-9 doses total) inhibited the growth of both injected (treated) and un-injected tumors (abscopal lesions) in the A20 murine lymphoma model. The overall survival (OS) of bilaterally challenged mice was significantly prolonged in all treatment groups receiving G100 (10, 20, 30, or 50 µg GLA/2%SE), as compared to PBS treated mice (p < 0.0001, Figure 1C), with a dose response observed and greatest survival (\sim 50%) in the 50 µg group. To investigate whether the stable emulsion (SE) formulation we used for G100 had any effects on its own, mice were treated with G100 (10 µg in 2%SE), SE (2%), or control PBS. As shown in Figures 1D-F, injection of SE alone had no tumor inhibitory effect and showed no difference from PBS. All surviving mice rejected tumor rechallenge 3 months after primary challenge, demonstrating a robust memory response (Figure 2A). Mice treated with G100 also had significantly higher levels of tumor antigen-specific



FIGURE 4 [GLA has anti-tumor effects in A20 WT but not A20 TLR4 ko tumor cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. **(A,B)** Pre-treatment with GLA-AF (incubating cells in medium containing GLA-AF (5 μ g /ml) *in vitro* for 48 h prior to subcutaneous implantation in mice inhibited the growth of wild type (WT), but not TLR4 knockout (k.o.) A20 tumor growth after inoculation. **(C,D)** IT G100 treatment inhibited the growth of WT but not TLR4 k.o. A20 tumors. IT injection of G100 (10 μ g GLA-SE, 3x/week) started on Day 7 after the tumors were established and lasted for 3 weeks. Shown are average tumor sizes (mean \pm sem) for each treatment groups (N = 5/group).

CD4 and CD8 T cells that secrete IFN γ and IL2 after *in vitro* stimulation with A20 cells (**Figures 2B,C**). Selective depletion studies further demonstrated that the anti-tumor effect was dependent on CD8 T cells (**Figure 2D**). G100 activated multiple genes related to DC function, T cell and NK cell function in the A20 TME (**Figure 3A** and **Supplementary Table 1**) and FACS analysis of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) showed significantly (p < 0.05) increased (~2-fold) percentages of T cells and NK cells, with decreased (~30%) Tregs in G100-treated mice (**Figure 3B**). Most exhaustion markers tested (PD-1, PDL1, LAG3, TIM3, CD244, CTLA4) were upregulated in A20 tumors after G100 treatment (**Figure 3C**).

Since A20 is derived from murine B cells which are known to express TLR4, we investigated the importance of TLR4 expression on tumor cells by generating a biallelic TLR4 knockout A20 cell line. To separate direct GLA effects on tumor cells from effects of GLA on immune cells in the TME, we pretreated A20 WT cells or A20 TLR4 k.o. cells with GLA-AF (5 μ g/ml) *in vitro* for 48 h prior to subcutaneous implantation. As shown in **Figures 4A,B**, GLA-pretreated A20 WT cells did not establish tumors, whereas the TLR4 k.o. cell line was not affected by GLA pretreatment and established tumors with the same growth kinetics as A20 WT cells. A side-by-side comparison of IT G100 effect on WT A20 tumor vs. TLR4 k.o. tumors showed that



FIGURE 5 [GLA has direct effects on murine and human lymphoma cells by inducing activation and cell death. (A–D) Scatter plot of gene expression analysis in murine or human lymphoma cells. Each dot represents the expression level of a particular gene in the control group (x-axis) or GLA-treated (y-axis) group. The full list of genes with differential expression is available in **Supplementary Tables 2–5**. (A,B) A20 WT or TLR4 k.o. cells were treated with GLA-AF (5 μ g/mL, 48 h) before gene expression analysis by Nanostring using the mouse panCancer immune profiling panel. (A) Scatter plot of gene expression levels in GLA- or control PBS- treated TLR4 k.o. A20 cells. The red circle marks genes that are significantly induced by GLA treatment. Two independent samples are included in each treatment group. (C) Mino lymphoma cells were treated with GLA-AF (5 μ g/mL, 48 h) before gene expression analysis by Nanostring using the human panCancer immune profiling panel. (D) TLR4 was blocked by adding anti-TLR4 mAb (10 μ g/mL) 15 min before GLA treatment and gene expression analysis. (E–H) Direct effects of GLA in A20 tumor cells in *vitro*. A20 tumor cells were treated with GLA (0.2, 1, or 5 μ g/ml GLA-AF, 48 h) before staining with anti-TLR4/MD2, anti-CD80, or anti-CD40. Shown are overlay histogram of TLR4 staining in A20 cells (E), and summary graphs of mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) of TLR4, CD80, and CD40 expression in GLA-treated or control A20 cells (F–H). Treatment was done in duplicate. Each column indicates mean \pm sem of duplicate wells. (I,J) Dose-dependent inhibition of the growth of WT but not TLR4 k.o. A20 cells by GLA. The cells were treated with serial dilution of GLA (0.01–5 μ g/mL) for 96 h before the cells were stained with Live/Dead-NIR and evaluated by FACS. (L) The addition of anti-TLR4 mAb blocked the growth inhibitory effects of GLA in Mino cells. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.



the *in vivo* anti-tumor effects of G100 were entirely dependent on expression of TLR4 (**Figures 4C,D**).

GLA Induces APC Functions and Apoptosis in A20 Cells

To address the potential direct effect of GLA on tumor cells, we examined both gene expression and phenotypic changes in WT and TLR4 k.o. A20 cells after GLA treatment. As shown in Figures 5A,B, treatment with GLA-AF (5 µg/mL, 48 h) resulted in induction of multiple immune-related genes in WT, but not TLR4 k.o. A20 cells. The upregulated genes include costimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80, CD86) and MHCII (H2-DMb2, H2-Eb1, H2-Dma, Supplementary Tables 2, 3). Flow cytometry analysis showed a dose-dependent reduction of TLR4 expression (Figures 5E,F) and dose-dependent induction of CD40 and CD80 by GLA-AF in WT A20 cells (Figures 5G,H). The induction of genes related to B cell activation and APC function was also observed in human Mino cells, a TLR4 expressing mantle cell lymphoma cell line (Figure 5C and Supplementary Table 4). Gene induction was blocked when cells were pretreated with an anti-human TLR4 mAb (Figure 5D and Supplementary Table 5). Prolonged exposure to GLA-AF (0.01-5µg/mL, 96h) resulted in dose-dependent decrease in cell number in WT but not TLR4 k.o. A20 cells (Figures 5I,J). The decrease in cell number and viability by GLA treatment was also seen in Mino cells and the effect was blocked by anti-TLR4 mAb (Figures 5K,L). The decrease in cell number in A20 cells after GLA treatment is consistent with induction of apoptosis (**Figure 6A**). Time course studies further showed that the induction of apoptosis and to a lesser degree also necrosis by GLA-AF in A20 cells was both doseand time- dependent (**Figures 6B–D**). The IC₅₀ at 48 h was $\sim 0.01 \,\mu$ g/mL. The ability of GLA to induce apoptosis was also observed *in vivo*. As shown in **Figures 6E,F**, after three injections of G100 or control PBS, G100-treated A20 tumor had significantly increased expression of cleaved caspase-3, an apoptosis marker, and decreased expression of Ki67, a proliferation marker.

To evaluate whether the direct effect on A20 tumor cells could also be induced by other TLR agonists currently used for intratumoral therapy, we treated A20 cells side-by-side with the TLR3 agonist poly I:C, TLR9 agonist ODN2006, or GLA-AF. As shown in **Figure 7A**, direct cytotoxicity on A20 cells was observed after treatment with GLA and CpG ODN2006, but not after treatment with poly I:C. Doseresponse curves showed that A20 cells were most sensitive to GLA as compared to other TLR agonists (**Figure 7B**). Gene expression analysis showed that untreated A20 cells mainly expressed TLR4 and TLR9, but not other TLRs (**Figure 7C**). Overall, results obtained with human Mino cells were very similar (**Figures 7D-F**).

DISCUSSION

B-cells can play an important role function as antigenpresenting cells (APC), for example in the setting of prophylactic



FIGURE 7 | A20 murine lymphoma and Mino human lymphoma cell lines are more sensitive to TLR4 agonist than TLR3 and TLR9 agonists. (A) GLA significantly inhibited the viability of A20 cells *in vitro*. Shown is the average viability of A20 cells (from two duplicate wells) at the given concentrations of GLA, CpG, or poly I:C. (B) GLA is more potent than poly I:C and CpG in inhibiting the growth of A20 cells. Shown are the average number of viable cells (y-axis) from two duplicate treatment wells at the given concentrations of GLA, CpG, or poly I:C (x-axis). (C) Expression level of different TLRs in A20 cells as determined by Nanostring gene expression assay using the panCancer Immune Profiling panel. Each bar indicates the expression level (mean ± sem) of a specific TLR gene in two independent RNA samples from A20 cells. (D) GLA significantly inhibits the viability of Mino cells. Shown is the average viability of Mino cells (from two duplicate wells) at the given concentrations of GLA, CpG, or poly I:C (x-axis). (C) Expression level (mean ± sem) of a specific TLR gene in two independent RNA samples from A20 cells. (D) GLA significantly inhibits the viability of Mino cells. Shown is the average viability of Mino cells (from two duplicate wells) at the given concentrations of GLA, CpG, or poly I:C (x-axis). (C) Expression level (mean ± sem) of a specific TLR gene in two independent RNA samples from two duplicate treatment wells at the given concentrations of GLA, CpG, or poly I:C (x-axis). (F) Expression level of different TLRs in Mino cells as determined by Nanostring gene expression assay using the panCancer Immune Profiling panel. Each bar indicates the expression level (mean ± sem) of a specific TLR gene in two independent RNA samples from Mino cells.

vaccination, and it is currently being investigated whether B-tumor cells possess APC function that can be exploited therapeutically to induce clinically relevant anti-tumor responses (19, 20). To this end, stimulation with anti-CD40 antibody, CD40 ligand, or CpG has been shown to enhance the antigen presenting capacity of murine lymphoma cell lines and human tumor B cells via enhancing the expression of MHC-II, costimulatory molecules (mostly CD86 but also CD80) and adhesion molecules (CD54) (21–24).

Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) is widely expressed on immune cells in the mouse, especially macrophages and dendritic cells, as well as on B-cells and B-cell lymphomas. Dendritic cells (DC) are activated and matured by TLR4 agonists, and TLR4 engagement has been shown to promote cross-presentation in CD103+ murine DC (25). Stimulation of TLR4 also plays an important role in B-cell development, proliferation and induction of effector functions, such as secretion of antibodies and cytokines, immunoglobulin class-switch recombination, upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules (CD40, CD80), and activation of antigen presentation in the lymph node (26). Because we have previously shown safety, immunological activity and clinical benefit of IT G100 treatment in two small phase

1 trials in soft tissue sarcoma and Merkel cell carcinoma patients, we sought to generate preclinical data in the A20 model that support clinical studies in follicular lymphoma patients (17, 27).

We demonstrate here in a bilateral model of A20 lymphoma that IT treatment of only one tumor with the synthetic TLR4 agonist GLA at the highest dose evaluated (50 μ g) cured \sim 50% of mice, indicating the induction of a systemic immune response. This was confirmed by showing that the anti-tumor effects were mediated by tumor-specific splenic CD8 T-cells and that mice surviving a primary A20 challenge were completely protected against re-challenge 3 months later. A20 cells have been shown to be phenotypically similar to mature human B-cell lymphomas, expressing high levels of MHC class I and class II molecules and moderate levels of the costimulatory molecule B7-2 (CD86), and to present both exogenous and endogenous antigen (28). However, despite their intrinsic antigen-presenting capabilities, A20 tumors fail to be eliminated spontaneously and tumor-specific T cells are tolerized rather than activated in vivo (29). In contrast, G100treated A20 tumors showed upregulation of genes related to DC activation, antigen presentation, NK cell activation, T cell activation and other innate and adaptive immune functions, in line with previous reports characterizing in detail the innate immune activation with GLA in muscle and draining lymph nodes of mice (12, 30). Indicative of IFN γ -mediated adaptive immune resistance in the TME, upregulation of multiple checkpoint molecules, such as PD1, LAG3, TIM3, CTLA4, and PD-L1 in the TME was also observed in G100 treated tumors.

To investigate the possibility that G100-stimulated B-tumor cells would participate in the induction of antitumor responses, we first determined that the cells had an intermediate level of TLR4 expression at baseline as measured by flow cytometry. Next, we showed that in vivo GLA treatment of A20 cells upregulated the costimulatory markers CD80, CD86, and CD40, as well as MHCII, indicating the induction of APC functions. Interestingly, prolonged GLA incubation (48-96 h) also induced genes involved in apoptosis and cell death (caspase-1, caspase-3, Fas) and a significant reduction in cell numbers. Pretreatment of A20 cells with GLA resulted in failed tumor establishment when implanted into mice. Taken together, these results suggested that GLA-mediated signaling induced APC functions as well as direct cytotoxicity, which likely both contributed to the observed antitumor effects. To test this hypothesis, we generated an A20 cell line with biallelic knockout of the TLR4 gene. Strikingly, both the direct effect of GLA on tumor cells (upregulation of activation markers, induction of apoptosis) and the clinical effect of intratumoral G100 injection (tumor shrinkage) were completely abrogated in the TLR4 k.o. model. This is unequivocal evidence that immune functions of A20 lymphomas cells can be harnessed directly to induce immune responses that eliminate tumors, without the need for additional therapeutic modalities to induce tumor cell death or cross-presentation. Previously, treatment of A20 tumors with intratumorally injected synthetic oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNs) containing unmethylated CpG motifs (CpG), which are strong activators of toll-like receptor 9, was shown to have similar clinical efficacy as G100, however, knockout of TLR9 in tumor cells or the host animal reduced sensitivity to CpG but did not eliminate it completely (31). We quantified the expression of toll-like receptors 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, and 9 in A20 tumors by RNA profiling, showing that TLR9 was expressed highest, followed by TLR4 and TLR2, whereas no TLR3 expression was detectable. This would explain why a recent publication reported that using a three-component in situ vaccine (ISV), consisting of the DC-activator Flt3 ligand, low-dose gamma irradiation and the toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) agonist poly-ICLC, A20 tumors could only be cured if cross-presenting CD103+ dendritic cells were activated intratumorally (32). In summary, our experiments show that the effects of IT treatment of A20 tumors with a TLR4 agonist depends critically on the direct activation of the tumor cells themselves, in particular of antigen presenting pathways, which presumably turns them into target cells with increased susceptibility for T cell mediated killing.

There are limitations to our current study. It is recognized that although we have shown that both the direct effect of TLR4 agonist on tumor cells and CD8 T cell-mediated immune effects are necessary for the anti-tumor effects of GLA, a clear distinction between the two needs further investigation. To this end, when CD8T cells isolated from tumor rejection mice are simultaneously transferred with A20 tumor cells to naïve recipient mice, no tumors formed (data not shown). Additional studies analyzing contralateral rejection of TLR4 KO A20 tumors upon treatment of WT A20 tumors, or implantation of WT A20 tumors in TLR4 k.o. mice would also help further delineate the role of immune-mediated effects. Additional studies on the pharmacokinetics (PK) of GLA after in vivo administration will also be informative to guide further optimization on formulation (oil concentration) and dosing regimen for anti-tumor effects. Preliminary studies have shown that after a single dose of intratumoral GLA-SE injection (10 µg), GLA was detectable in tumors at 96 h post-injection, but how the concentration in tumor compares to concentration used in our *in vitro* studies need further evaluation. Whether increasing the percentage of SE, which has known Th2-type immunomodulatory effects, will impact anti-tumor effect also remains to be investigated.

TLR4 staining by immunohistochemistry (IHC) has been examined in a number of hematologic malignancies and increased expression can be demonstrated on tumor cells in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), multiple myeloma, and B acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) (33, 34). We show here that the TLR4 positive human Blymphoma cell line Mino responds to TLR4 stimulation in a very similar fashion to the murine A20 tumor cell line. TLR4 expression on tumor cells may therefore be biomarker for identifying patients with B-cell lymphomas susceptible to IT G100 treatment. To this end, we are currently performing a phase 1/2 trial of IT G100 in patients with follicular low-grade non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, with or without concurrent systemic anti-PD1 (Pembrolizumab) treatment (NCT02501473).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: the NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus (GSE150457).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving animals were reviewed and approved by the IACUC committee of the Infectious Disease Research Institute, Seattle.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HL and JM designed the study and wrote the paper. HL and AB performed the experiments. MC performed the statistical analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The entire study was funded by Immune Design Corporation, Seattle, WA, USA, a wholly owned subsidiary of Merck & Co., Kennilworth, NJ.

REFERENCES

- Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, Ribas A. Primary, adaptive, and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. *Cell.* (2017) 168:707– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.017
- Roberts EW, Broz ML, Binnewies M, Headley MB, Nelson AE, Wolf DM, et al. Critical role for CD103(+)/CD141(+) dendritic cells bearing CCR7 for tumor antigen trafficking and priming of T cell immunity in melanoma. *Cancer Cell.* (2016) 30:324–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.06.003
- Woo SR, Corrales L, Gajewski TF. The STING pathway and the T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:250– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.02.003
- Spranger S, Sivan A, Corrales L, Gajewski TF. Tumor and host factors controlling antitumor immunity and efficacy of cancer immunotherapy. *Adv Immunol.* (2016) 130:75–93. doi: 10.1016/bs.ai.2015.12.003
- Gajewski TF. The next hurdle in cancer immunotherapy: overcoming the non-T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. *Semin Oncol.* (2015) 42:663– 71. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.05.011
- Aznar MA, Tinari N, Rullán AJ, Sánchez-Paulete AR, Rodriguez-Ruiz ME, Melero I. Intratumoral delivery of immunotherapy-act locally, think globally. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:31–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601145
- Marquez-Rodas I, Aznar MA, Calles A, Melero I. For whom the cell tolls? Intratumoral treatment links innate and adaptive immunity. *Clin Canc Res.* (2019) 25:1127–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-2690
- Smith M, García-Martínez E, Pitter MR, Fucikova J, Spisek R, Zitvogel L, et al. Trial watch: toll-like receptor agonists in cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology.* (2018) 7:e1526250. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018. 1526250
- Vaure C, Liu Y. A comparative review of toll-like receptor 4 expression and functionality in different animal species. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:316. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00316
- Lien E, Means TK, Heine H, Yoshimura A, Kusumoto S, Fukase K, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 imparts ligand-specific recognition of bacterial lipopolysaccharide. *J Clin Invest.* (2000) 105:497–504. doi: 10.1172/JCI8541
- Yi YS. Caspase-11 non-canonical inflammasome: a critical sensor of intracellular lipopolysaccharide in macrophage-mediated inflammatory responses. *Immunology.* (2017) 152:207–17. doi: 10.1111/imm. 12787
- Coler RN, Bertholet S, Moutaftsi M, Guderian JA, Plessner Windish H, Baldwin SL, et al. Development and characterization of synthetic glucopyranosyl lipid adjuvant system as a vaccine adjuvant. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e16333. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016333
- Reed SG, Carter D, Casper C, Duthie MS, Fox CB. Correlates of GLA family adjuvants' activities. *Semin Immunol.* (2018) 39:22–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2018.10.004
- Clegg CH, Roque R, Perrone LA, Rininger JA, Bowen R, Reed SG. GLA-AF, an emulsion-free vaccine adjuvant for pandemic influenza. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e88979. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088979
- Clegg CH, Roque R, Van Hoeven N, Perrone L, Baldwin SL, Riningeret JA, et al. Adjuvant solution for pandemic influenza vaccine production. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:17585–90. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1207 308109
- Albershardt TC, Leleux J, Parsons AJ, Krull JE, Berglund P, ter Meulen J. Intratumoral immune activation with TLR4 agonist synergizes with effector T cells to eradicate established murine tumors. *NPJ Vaccines*. (2020) 5:50. doi: 10.1038/s41541-020-0201-x
- 17. Bhatia S, Miller NJ, Lu H, Longino NV, Ibrani D, Shinohara M, et al. Intratumoral G100, a TLR4 agonist, induces antitumor immune responses

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc. 2020.01438/full#supplementary-material

and tumor regression in patients with merkel cell carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:1185–95. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-18-0469

- Odegard JM, Kelley-Clarke B, Tareen SU, Campbell DJ, Flynn PA, Nicolai CJ, et al. Virological and preclinical characterization of a dendritic cell targeting, integration-deficient lentiviral vector for cancer immunotherapy. *J Immunother*. (2015) 38:41–53. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0000000000 00067
- Dubois CN, Baldwin SL, Orr MT, Desbien AL, Gage E, Hofmeyer KA, et al. Antigen presentation by B cells guides programing of memory CD4+ Tcell responses to a TLR4-agonist containing vaccine in mice. *Eur J Immunol.* (2016) 46:2719–29. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646399
- de Charette M, Marabelle A, Houot R. Turning tumour cells into antigen presenting cells: the next step to improve cancer immunotherapy? *Eur J Cancer.* (2016) 68:134–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2016. 09.010
- Cycon KA, Clements JL, Holtz R, Fuji H, Murphy SP. The immunogenicity of L1210 lymphoma clones correlates with their ability to function as antigen-presenting cells. *Immunology*. (2009) 128:e641e51. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03052.x
- Chen W, Yu Y, Shao C, Zhang M, Wang W, Zhang L, et al. Enhancement of antigen-presenting ability of B lymphoma cells by immunostimulatory CpG-oligonucleotides and anti-CD40 antibody. *Immunol Lett.* (2001) 77:17e23. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2478(01)00189-4
- Trentin L, Perin A, Siviero M, Piazza F, Facco M, Gurrieri C, et al. B7 costimulatory molecules from malignant cells in patients with B-cell chronic lymphoproliferative disorders trigger T-cell proliferation. *Cancer*. (2000) 89:1259e68. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(20000915)89:6<1259::AID-CNCR10>3. 0.CO;2-G
- Schultze JL, Cardoso AA, Freeman GJ, Seamon MJ, Daley J, Pinkus GS, et al. Follicular lymphomas can be induced to present alloantigen efficiently: a conceptual model to improve their tumor immunogenicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1995) 92:8200e4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.18.8200
- Alloatti A, Kotsias F, Pauwels AM, Carpier JM, Jouve M, Timmerman E, et al. Toll-like receptor 4 engagement on dendritic cells restrains phagolysosome fusion and promotes cross-presentation of antigens. *Immunity*. (2015) 43:1087–100. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.11.006
- Buchta CM, Bishop GA. Toll-like receptors and B cells: functions and mechanisms. *Immunol Res.* (2014) 59:12–22. doi: 10.1007/s12026-01 4-8523-2
- Seo YD, Kim EY, Conrad EU, O'Malley RB, Cooper S, Donahue B, et al. Intratumoral injection of the toll-like receptor 4 agonist G100 induces a Tcell response in the soft tissue sarcoma microenvironment [abstract]. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77. doi: 10.1158/1538-7445.AM2017-2947
- Weiss, Bogen B. B-lymphoma cells process and present their endogenous immunoglobulin to major histocompatibility complex-restricted T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1989) 86:282–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 86.1.282
- Staveley-O'Carroll K, Sotomayor E, Montgomery J, Borrello I, Hwang L, Fein S, et al. Induction of antigen-specific T cell anergy: an early event in the course of tumor progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:1178– 83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.3.1178
- Lambert SL, Yang CF, Liu Z, Sweetwood R, Zhao J, Cheng L, et al. Molecular and cellular response profiles induced by the TLR4 agonist-based adjuvant Glucopyranosyl Lipid A. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e51618. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051618
- 31. Li J, Song W, Czerwinski DK, Varghese B, Uematsu S, Akira S, et al. Lymphoma immunotherapy with CpG oligodeoxynucleotides requires TLR9 either in the host or in the tumor itself. J Immunol. (2007) 179:2493– 500. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.4.2493

- Hammerich L, Marron TU, Upadhyay R, Svensson-Arvelund J, Dhainaut M, Hussein S, et al. Systemic clinical tumor regressions and potentiation of PD1 blockade with *in situ* vaccination. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:814– 24. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0410-x
- Bohnhorst J, Rasmussen T, Moen SH, Fløttum M, Knudsen L, Børset M, et al. Toll-like receptors mediate proliferation and survival of multiple myeloma cells. *Leukemia*. (2006) 20:1138–44. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu. 2404225
- 34. Smith TJ, Yamamoto K, Kurata M, Yukimori A, Suzuki S, Umeda S, et al. Differential expression of Toll-like receptors in follicular lymphoma, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and peripheral T-cell lymphoma. *Exp Mol Pathol.* (2010) 89:284–90. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2010. 08.003

Conflict of Interest: HL, JM, AB, and MC were full time employees and shareholders of Immune Design at the time of performing the study.

The authors declare that this study was fully funded by Immune Design. The funder fully designed and executed the study.

Copyright © 2020 Lu, Betancur, Chen and ter Meulen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Molecular Pathways Engaged by Immunomodulatory Agents in Monoclonal Gammopathy-Associated Pure Red Cell Aplasia Rescue

Rakesh Verma*

Yale Cancer Center, Yale University, New Haven, CT, United States

Keywords: MGUS, multiple myeloma, IMiDs, immunomodulation, ikaros (IKZF1), CRBN

INTRODUCTION

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dimitar G. Efremov, International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giovanni D'Arena, San Luca Hospital, Italy Saad Zafar Usmani, Levine Cancer Institute, United States Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

*Correspondence:

Rakesh Verma rakesh.verma@aya.yale.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematologic Malignancies, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 03 April 2020 **Accepted:** 13 July 2020 **Published:** 27 August 2020

Citation:

Verma R (2020) Molecular Pathways Engaged by Immunomodulatory Agents in Monoclonal Gammopathy-Associated Pure Red Cell Aplasia Rescue. Front. Oncol. 10:1490. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.01490 Anemia remains a challenge for most cancer patients treated with therapies that include chemotherapy to current immunotherapy or chemo-immunotherapy treatments. Multiple myeloma (MM) is a plasma cell neoplasm marked by the clonal proliferation of malignant plasma cells. Preceding stage in MM includes asymptomatic stages including monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance or MGUS before the disease progression to clinical MM. One of the clinical features of MM at diagnosis includes anemia, presenting in a majority of MM patients. Pathological changes in bone marrow microenvironment in monoclonal gammopathy/MGUS and MM contribute to the pathological imbalance in erythroid cell production, leading to lowered downstream mature erythroid cells. Molecular events and pathways that contribute to this pathological remodeling of erythroid pathway-elements remain unclear and need further investigations.

ANEMIA AND MYELOMA PROGRESSION

Anemia is among the key clinical hallmarks of myeloma diagnosis and also requires clinical management in patients with uncontrolled active progressive disease (1). Presentation of clinical myeloma involves preceding asymptomatic stages including monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance. Data on monoclonal gammopathy or MGUS associated pure red cell aplasia (PRCA) has remained obscure and requires more attention beyond a few recent reports (2). Pure red cell aplasia is marked by absence of precursor erythroid cells or erythroblasts, eventually leading to erythroid hypoplasia in the bone marrow of these patients. Novel targets including **R**egulator of **H**emoglobinization and Erythroid cell e**X**pansion or RHEX in the erythropoietin (EPO)/EPO receptor (EPOR) pathway that play key roles in erythroid cell maturation and development exclusively in humans were recently reported (3). Molecular mechanisms underlying the development of PRCA remain largely unidentified with description of immune-mediated either humoral or cellular ablation of erythroid precursors in the bone marrow. This translates into inefficient erythropoiesis leading to requirement of frequent blood transfusions to rescue anemia in these MGUS and MM patients.

Immunomodulatory (IMiD) agents like pomalidomide have recently been reported to induce increased *in vivo* γ -globin levels in erythrocytes of multiple myeloma patients (4). These studies have revealed the molecular mechanisms by which IMiDs like pomalidomide and lenalidomide reactivate fetal hemoglobin in myeloma patients. These pathways further help translate this

20

activation of fetal hemoglobin into recovery from anemia clinically, while still maintaining the anti-myeloma effects of this class of IMiD^R drugs. Although the molecular mechanisms underlying the anti-myeloma activity of IMiDs^R have been reported to involve the Cullin 4A (CUL4A)- Cereblon (CRBN) E3 ligase complex mediated proteasomal degradation of downstream targets (5). These CRBN targets include transcription factors like IKAROS (IKZF1), while additional molecular pathways underlying recovery from anemia in myeloma remain IKAROS or IKZF1 independent (4-6). Specifically, transcriptional modules affected by pomalidomide or lenalidomide has been reported to involve γ -globin repression included BCL11A, SOX6, IKZF1, KLF1, and LSD1. But IKAROS (IKZF1) was not identified as the key effector of this program, as IKZF1 ablation was not sufficient to phenocopy pomalidomide treatment (4). These findings point to the existence of additional pathways that may include EPO/EPOR dependent mechanisms driving the onset and recovery from anemia in MGUS and MM patients (Figure 1).

It is to be noted that monoclonal gammopathy-associated PRCA might be a paraprotein-related phenomenon. It can be further speculated that there could be a functional relationship between altered plasma cell and erythroid precursor, with a possible causal relationship between M-protein response and hematological response including PRCA reversal in the

PRCA bone marrow after treatment with pomalidomide or IMiDs (2). A number of intriguing questions regarding the underlying molecular and pathogenetic mechanisms still remain unanswered. Modulation of tumor microenvironment is aptly speculated via possible roles of IgG monoclonal protein for erythroid inhibition. But based on the roles of IKZF1 and CRBN for eliciting anti-myeloma effects for any possible hematological response accompanying reduction in the disease burden (M-protein), it remains unclear if recovery of erythroid progenitors is CRBN or IKZF1 independent. Additionally, possible changes in the γ -globin levels can be further speculated in patients with hematological recovery after anti-myeloma therapies (IMiDs^R based) as reported by Dulmovits et al. (4).

DISCUSSION

Detailed molecular mechanisms describing the additional targets of IMiD action remain an active area of research (7) and these additional pathways may contribute to the recovery of erythroid elements in the bone marrow of MM patients. This is further validated by the data on absence of expected JAK2 V617F and CALR Type 1/2 type mutations in the monoclonal gammopathy-associated PRCA cohort reported by Korde et al. (2) eliminating the dysfunctional EPOR mediated JAK2-STAT5 pathway circuitry.



Monoclonal gammopathy-associated PRCA illustrates an open ended clinical challenge to describe the underlying possible pathogenetic mechanisms by future mechanistic studies (Figure 1). Anti-myeloma drugs like IMiDs^R drive the erythroid recovery in this pathology but independent of currently known molecular pathways that exclusively drive the action of these drugs on myeloma cells and potentially some immune cell subsets. Absence of RTK mutations further makes a strong case for an alternative mechanistic active in the progenitor cells under the action of novel agents like pomalidomide or lenalidomide for erythroid recovery in MM. Recent discovery of novel regulators like RHEX implicated in the human erythroid cell maturation combined with the findings of Dulmovits et al. proposes further investigations of erythroid maturation pathways in MM and Monoclonal gammopathy or MGUS associated PRCA to uncover the underlying molecular mechanism. With the progress of cell therapies like the BCMA targeting CAR-T cells for late stage or relapsed/refractory MM (8), these insights

REFERENCES

- Palumbo A, Anderson K. Multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. (2011) 364:1046– 60. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1011442
- Korde N, Zhang Y, Loeliger K, Poon A, Simakova O, Zingone A, et al. Monoclonal gammopathy-associated pure red cell aplasia. Br J Haematol. (2016) 173:876–83. doi: 10.1111/bjh.14012
- Verma R, Su S, McCrann DJ, Green JM, Leu K, Young PR, et al. RHEX, a novel regulator of human erythroid progenitor cell expansion and erythroblast development. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:1715–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130624
- Dulmovits BM, Appiah-Kubi AO, Papoin J, Hale J, He M, Al-Abed Y, et al. Pomalidomide reverses gamma-globin silencing through the transcriptional reprogramming of adult hematopoietic progenitors. *Blood.* (2016) 127:1481– 92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-09-667923
- Kronke J, Udeshi ND, Narla A, Grauman P, Hurst SN, McConkey M, et al. Lenalidomide causes selective degradation of IKZF1 and IKZF3 in multiple myeloma cells. *Science*. (2014) 343:301–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1244851
- Lu G, Middleton RE, Sun H, Naniong M, Ott CJ, Mitsiades CS, et al. The myeloma drug lenalidomide promotes the cereblon-dependent destruction of Ikaros proteins. *Science*. (2014) 343:305–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1244917

into anemic recovery would benefit the ultimate advancement of advanced CAR-T based therapies for early stages of MM. Future detailed mechanistic studies can help identify alternative treatment strategies as compared to blood transfusions for these MGUS/MM patients for efficient anemic recovery.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RV prepared and wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

RV would like to extend sincere thanks to the staff at Yale Cancer Center, Section of Hematology and Yale Immunobiology for their kind support. RV would like to acknowledge Prof. Daniel DiMaio, MD, PhD (Genetics) and Prof. Richard Flavell, PhD, FRS (Immunobiology) at Yale University School of Medicine for their support.

- Verma R, Mai Z, Xu M, Zhang L, Dhodapkar K, Dhodapkar MV. Identification of a cereblon-independent protein degradation pathway in residual myeloma cells treated with immunomodulatory drugs. *Blood.* (2015) 126:913. doi: 10.1182/blood.V126.23. 913.913
- Raje N, Berdeja J, Lin Y, Siegel D, Jagannath S, Madduri D, et al. Anti-BCMA CAR T-cell therapy bb2121 in relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. N Engl J Med. (2019) 380:1726–37. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1817226

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Verma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Method for the Analysis of the Tumor Microenvironment by Mass Cytometry: Application to Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Susanne Gonder^{1,2†}, Iria Fernandez Botana^{1,2†}, Marina Wierz^{1†}, Giulia Pagano^{1,2}, Ernesto Gargiulo¹, Antonio Cosma³, Etienne Moussay^{1*‡}, Jerome Paggetti^{1*‡} and Anne Largeot^{1*‡}

 ¹ Tumor Stroma Interactions, Department of Oncology, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg, Luxembourg,
 ² Faculty of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of Luxembourg, Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg,
 ³ National Cytometry Platform, Quantitative Biology Unit, Transversal Activities, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg.

In the past 20 years, the interest for the tumor microenvironment (TME) has exponentially increased. Indeed, it is now commonly admitted that the TME plays a crucial role in cancer development, maintenance, immune escape and resistance to therapy. This stands true for hematological malignancies as well. A considerable amount of newly developed therapies are directed against the cancer-supporting TME instead of targeting tumor cells themselves. However, the TME is often not clearly defined. In addition, the unique phenotype of each tumor and the variability among patients limit the success of such therapies. Recently, our group took advantage of the mass cytometry technology to unveil the specific TME in the context of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) in mice. We found the enrichment of LAG3 and PD1, two immune checkpoints. We tested an antibodybased immunotherapy, targeting these two molecules. This combination of antibodies was successful in the treatment of murine CLL. In this methods article, we provide a detailed protocol for the staining of CLL TME cells aiming at their characterization using mass cytometry. We include panel design and validation, sample preparation and acquisition, machine set-up, quality control, and analysis. Additionally, we discuss different advantages and pitfalls of this technique.

Keywords: mass cytometry, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, lymphoma, microenvironment, immunosuppression

INTRODUCTION

In chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), the microenvironment is crucial. CLL cells need to interact with their neighboring cells for their survival and proliferation. This is true for all the organs were CLL cells can be detected: in the blood, bone marrow, spleen, and lymph nodes. In humans, the very specific nodal microenvironment is an important site for activation of the B-cell receptor (BCR) and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB), which directly drives cell proliferation and disease progression (1). The leukemic microenvironment (LME) is highly

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giovanna Schiavoni, National Institute of Health (ISS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Cristina Scielzo, San Raffaele Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Maria Teresa Sabrina Bertilaccio, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States

*Correspondence:

Anne Largeot anne.largeot@lih.lu Etienne Moussay etienne.moussay@lih.lu Jerome Paggetti jerome.paggetti@lih.lu [†]These authors have contributed

equally to this work

[‡]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 June 2020 Accepted: 29 September 2020 Published: 20 October 2020

Citation:

Gonder S, Fernandez Botana I, Wierz M, Pagano G, Gargiulo E, Cosma A, Moussay E, Paggetti J and Largeot A (2020) Method for the Analysis of the Tumor Microenvironment by Mass Cytometry: Application to Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Front. Immunol. 11:578176. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.578176

23

immunosuppressive, and these immune cells represent crucial targets for immunotherapy. However, the development of such therapies is limited due to the lack of knowledge in the composition of the LME and to the singularity of this environment for each cancer type. In addition, it is composed of a high variety of stromal and immune cells, which often display phenotypes exclusive to the LME, with the appearance of populations unique to this very specific environment. In this context, the use of high dimensional techniques is crucial to unravel the LME in its full diversity. Mass cytometry was developed in the late 2000s/early 2010s in order to push forward the number of cellular parameters that could be analyzed in parallel compared to conventional Flow Cytometry (FC) analysis. Whereas in the early 70s, the detection of a single color by FC was a revolution, it appeared clearly that conventional cytometry was unable to reach the contemporary requirement and the willingness to decipher highly heterogeneous cell populations. Whereas mass cytometry technology allows the analysis of up to 50 parameters in parallel, it is still associated with a relatively high throughput compared to conventional FC. This was made possible by combining FC platform with mass spectrometry analysis. Mass spectrometry is able to precisely separate unique stable metal isotopes based on their atomic weight. These isotopes can be coupled to antibodies and used to stain cells. Contrary to conventional fluorophores-based cytometry, virtually no overlap between the different isotopes is observed, which enables to have up to 50 parameters detected simultaneously presently. The number of parameters analyzed, combined with the high throughput give rise to many advantages, among those, the detection of rare cell subsets and the discovery of novel cell populations or sub-populations, as markers which would not have been analyzed together in a normal FC panel can now be grouped. It must be noted that novel flow cytometers (e.g., spectral flow cytometers) can detect a similar amount of parameters.

Recently, we took advantage of the power of mass cytometry to decipher the splenic LME of the E μ -TCL1 mouse, the canonical model for CLL, which allowed us to identify specific immune cell populations and the immune checkpoints PD1 and LAG3 as potential targets in CLL (2). Other groups applied this technology to study either LME or directly the diversity of the leukemic cells themselves in the context of B cell malignancies (3–6). However, these studies are still very rare in this field. It is worth noting that mass cytometry is classified as a tier 1 assay for cell profiling in the Cancer Immune Monitoring and Analysis Centers (CIMACs), which highlights the advantage of this technique.

Here, we provide a stepwise protocol for the staining of cells prior to acquisition on a mass cytometer, preceded by explanations, tips and troubleshooting for panel design, samples preparation, acquisition, and analysis, which are useful for new users of this technology.

METHODS

The experimental design in mass cytometry requires thoughtful planning as some experimental factors can have an impact on the acquisition, data analysis and the results. These factors include panel design, sample preparation, storage, fixation, and sample stimulation. Thus, the verification and standardization of the assay is highly important to avoid misleading interpretations.

Panel Design

The association of the antibody or probe with corresponding heavy-metal isotope to achieve the best possible signal intensity for the detection of specific targets on single cells is one of the most precious steps in the experimental design using mass cytometry (7). In general, the rules of panel design for FC are applicable to mass cytometry, with some adaptations regarding isotopic mass and contamination. Moreover, it is possible to adapt the antibody clones used for FC also for the mass cytometry panel as specificity and affinity to the matching antigens are already known.

First, it is crucial to understand the capabilities of the instrument. For example, the "Helios" version of the mass cytometry instruments is able to detect ions with atomic masses between 75 and 209 Da. It provides 135 channels out of which only approximately 50 are available today due to the current limitations of the heavy metal isotopes availability. In mass cytometry the sensitivity of the channels is dependent on the mass window of the detector which has a maximum sensitivity in the upper-middle channels (~157Gd to 170Er) (Figure 1). A combination of two factors explains the difference in sensitivity of the channels. First, because of collisions, ions with lower mass have more probability to be ejected from the ion beam during acquisition. Secondly, as ions with a mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) lower than 80 are filtered out (ions that are naturally found in the cells that need to be removed) and the quadrupole mass filter dedicated to this



FIGURE 1 | Coupling target with an appropriate heavy metal. Primary targets (high expression) should be labeled with heavy metal isotope-coupled antibodies that are detected with a lower sensitivity (low or high masses). The most sensitive detectors should be reserved for the tertiary targets (low expression level). Due to oxide formation the pairing of antibodies with isotopes is not as simple as shown here. Oxide interference (blue line) are seen in masses >157 Gd but also in the range of lanthanide elements (140s), and this should be taken into consideration when designing the panel, as explained in the main text. Created with BioRender.com.

function has a maximum of efficacy for ions with a medium mass (8, 9).

In order to design a mass cytometry panel, the markers that need to be analyzed are first classified as primary (to identify major backbone subsets, such as CD45, CD3, CD4, and CD19; highly expressed and well defined), secondary (to fine-tune subsets, such as CD44, CD62L, CD23, and CD27; medium and variable expression) or tertiary antigens (low, unknown or variable expression, such as IL-10, LAG3, T-bet, and HELIOS). Then, the primary targets are associated to weak channels and the tertiary markers to the channels with the highest sensitivity. When designing the panel, it is important to have information on the expression level of considered marker in the specific context of the study. Indeed, the cell types, the type of sample and organs from where the cells originate may affect the level of expression for some markers. For example, the CD5 molecule is expressed on T and B cells including CLL cells; however, B cells usually express this molecule 2- to 5-fold less compared to T cells (10). In addition, CLL B cells show a high heterogeneity of CD5 expression (11) and patients with lower level of CD5 show a more aggressive disease (12). All these information will have an impact on choosing the correct channel for detection depending on the cell of interest. This first step of panel design needs adaptation according to the next steps described below, where three sources of crosstalk among channels need to be considered.

Mass cytometry is used for the detection of ~30-50 markers as it has the advantage compared to classical flow cytometry, to have no spillover between the heavy metal isotopes used as labeling. However, it is important to know the sources of crosstalk between channels. First, "isotopic impurity" is a contamination of the heavy metal with one of its isotopes. Even though a 100% pure isotope preparation is desirable for the use in mass cytometry, this is not feasible for all the metals used. Secondly, "abundance sensitivity" is explained by an error in the detection of the ions during acquisition. Abundance sensitivity can be detected in the channels with a mass higher or lower of 1 ("M+1", "M-1"). Finally, after ionization some metals have a tendency to oxidize, which might lead to an increase in the element mass by 16 (¹⁶O, "M+16", Figure 2). La, Ce, Pr, Nd, and Gd metals have high levels of oxide formation (13). These oxidations cannot be eliminated but can be decreased by optimal setting of the make-up gas (14).

In general, when possible, it is recommended to design a panel with heavy metals separated by a mass difference of more than 1, and to avoid metals with M+16 mass. For panels with a high number of detected markers, this is not possible. To reduce the crosstalk, markers that are less expressed can be selected for less-pure metals. Hence, the contamination of this isotope will be minimum. If these metal-labeled antibodies are selected for primary markers, avoid adding a tertiary target at the M+16 and M +1/-1 positions. In addition, it is recommended to select markers that label well identified cell subsets for less-pure isotopes as their M+16 and M +1/-1 contamination can be easily spotted (for example CD4 and CD8 are virtually not co-expressed outside of the thymus). Furthermore, in case of expected high contamination in one channel, the latter should be used for an exclusion marker (cells that need to be gated out,





for example CD19+ cells if the interest resides in T cells, Figure 3).

Some strategies have been developed to correct any crosstalk between channels. Chevrier et al. have proposed a compensation method using a bead-based strategy and R-based software (15). This new method provides the first steps into mass cytometry compensation to avoid artifacts and improve sensitivity, although, a good panel design is still required to minimize crosstalk between channels.



In contrast to flow cytometry, cells are not detected by their size and granularity using forward scatter and side scatter as the cells are vaporized. In order to track cells, after permeabilization they are labeled with rhodium- (103Rh) or iridium-based (191Ir) DNA intercalators for nucleated cells (Figure 4A) and specific probes to characterize non-nucleated cells (16). In addition, the mass cytometer is unable to measure information of height, area and width as in the fluorescence FC to discriminate doublets from singlets. However, there are possibilities to reduce the amount of doublets by slowing down the acquisition rate, filtering and diluting the sample, bar coding and gating out events that show a higher DNA intercalator signal (Figure 4B). However, this limits the information available in term of DNA content of the cells, if the interest resides in cell cycle. In this case, 5-iodo-2-deoxyuridine (IdU; atomic mass of 127) detects cells which underwent DNA synthesis (17).

The viability staining is performed before the permeabilization step, by using cisplatin which enters the disrupted cell membrane of dead cells more easily than of live cells. Cisplatin binds nonspecifically to intracellular DNA and proteins and is detected in 195Pt channel (**Figure 4C**).

Having these rules in mind, the use of dedicated software is highly recommended to help for the design of specific panels. First, Fluidigm supplies already preconfigured screening panels for comprehensive phenotyping and functionality of certain cell populations, which will save time and simplify the experiment. Secondly, Fluidigm provides the online Maxpar Panel Designer (https://dvssciences.com) that calculates and visualizes predicted signal overlaps by the selection of available pre-conjugated antibodies from Fluidigm and custom antibodies/probes.

Heavy metal-labeled antibodies and kits are commercially available. However, they can be very limiting in regard to the panel design. This limitation demands in-house conjugating of the antibodies with the heavy metal-labeled isotopes. Guojun Han et al. provide a detailed protocol about conjugating antibodies with heavy-metal isotopes which requires different methods due to their chemistry and stability (18). Another method to overcome the issue of unavailability is the two-step staining. This consists in detecting the targets with primary monoclonal antibodies labeled with fluorophores followed by detection of this fluorophore by secondary antibodies conjugated with the desired metal isotopes.

In case of a very weak signal, it is possible to amplify it by either two-step staining or a second antibody that recognizes a different epitope on the target (14).

Panel Titration and Test

After designing the panel, it is crucial to titrate the antibodies, test the full panel and the experimental workflow before moving forward to the final samples.

Titration of Antibodies

As in flow cytometry, the titration of heavy metal-labeled antibodies is the key to optimize staining conditions, reduce nonspecific binding of antibodies and to validate the contamination in M+/-1 and M+16 channels.

In general, a serial dilution strategy of at least 5 dilutions (up to 7) is recommended for the selection of the appropriate concentration. Based on our experience, we recommend testing also higher concentrations than those suggested from the antibody data sheets. In our laboratory, we mostly perform the titration with a 1:3 dilution factor. First, we titrate the antibodies of primary markers. Afterward, we perform the titration of the secondary and tertiary targets, expressed only on specific subsets, by adding the known concentration of the primary markers to gate the lineage populations (context titration). For example, after the titration of CD3, CD4, CD8, and CD19, the antibodies for FoxP3, CD25, PD1, and LAG3 can be titrated. This has two advantages: to titrate the secondary in the context of the population of interest, but also, to enrich the signal by gating the cells which are known to express the secondary/tertiary markers. For further information, Van Vreden et al. provide a detailed protocol for the titration of new antibodies (19).



FIGURE 4 | Gating strategy for live single cells events. (A) The calibration beads (red box) are gated out by selecting 140Ce⁻ population (black box).
(B) Then, singlets are discriminated from doublets by displaying 193Ir vs. 191Ir (DNA intercalator). The single cells are the well-defined population in the middle part of the dot plot (black box). The population with a higher signal in Iridium are the doublets (red box), and the one with lower signal are the debris (purple box). (C) Finally, the live cells are gated as negative for cisplatin staining (black box).

If using probes after long-term storage (more than 6 months), it is important to re-titrate them. In addition, we experienced that storing the antibodies in an auto-defrost fridge induces a higher evaporation compared to a classic fridge, greatly affecting the concentration of the stock. Thus, we recommend storing the antibodies in a fridge without auto-defrost mechanism. **Figure 5** displays the selection of the correct concentration for antibodies. Here, we use the tool to concatenate samples in Flowjo10 (Becton, Dickinson & Company) to display all the dilutions in one plot. There should be a good separation between the negative and positive population. To help define this separation factor, the staining index can be calculated. It is the ratio of the separation between positive and negative population



FIGURE 5 | Example of titration for the antibodies anti-CD3 **(A)**, -granzyme K **(B)**, and -TCF1 **(C)**. Data were uploaded in Flowjo and for each titration sample, and singlets live cells were gated as described before. Then, samples were concatenated to display on the same plot the five dilutions (range from 1:1 to 1:81). The dilution showing the best separation between negative and positive signals, before the appearance of a plateau was selected (black box).

divided by two times the standard deviation of the negative population (the higher, the better). If a plateau is observed, the first dilution before this plateau should be selected. In addition, it is also important to take into consideration the signal in the contaminated channels (M+16 and M+/–1). The selected dilution should have the better separation, before the appearance of the plateau, and giving as less contamination as possible.

Full Panel Test

After titration, testing the full panel on an appropriate control sample is essential. As some experiments use rare samples which are too precious to be used for the tests (BM or LN biopsies), the type of sample requires a careful consideration. For example, PBMCs from healthy donors are easy to obtain, however, stimulation or treatments should be considered, in order to induce expression of markers that are not found in PBMCs from healthy donors (such as exhaustion markers, specific cytokines, transcription factors...). In addition, these samples need to be handled in the same way as the experimental samples (e.g., isolation method, cell enrichment, storage...).

Assessing the impurity and oxidation rate of antibodies is also an important step during the full panel test. If it is not possible to reduce the contaminations by tuning the instrument or reducing concentration of the antibody, adjustments of the panel need to be considered.

During this test, we recommend to acquire an unstained sample, in order to validate the potential contamination due to reagents used for cell preparation. For example, barium is one of the most abundant elements, and is found in laboratory dish soaps. Distilled water can contain low levels of mercury, lead or tin or even iodine (14). Small adaptions in the daily laboratory life help to minimize the environmental contamination, such as using reagents with a high purity, new plastic or glass container for the storage of the buffers and testing these for contaminations on the mass cytometer. High purity reagents are commercially available.

Controls Used in Mass Cytometry

Panel Controls

In flow cytometry experiments, isotype controls can be useful. Unfortunately, until now, isotypes with the corresponding metal are not commercially available (16). Fluorescence minus one (FMO) controls are used in high multiparameter flow cytometry to account for the residual spillover following proper compensation. In mass cytometry, the cross-talk between channels is minimal (see Panel Design) and can be further attenuated by proper panel design. Therefore the signal-minus-one or metal-minus-one controls (SMO/MMO, respectively) are useful for unknown markers (mainly tertiary ones) or for panels with sub-optimal design. In addition, metal-minus-many (MMM) can also be used, where several targets are subtracted to the main panel (16). An additional control that can be used to determine gate boundaries is to consider positive and negative cell populations within the sample. For example, outside of the thymus, virtually all CD4⁺ cells are CD8⁻ (14). When using a two-step staining, it is necessary to include controls such as secondary antibody with and without a primary antibody, in order to examine the unspecific binding properties of the secondary antibody (14).

Control to Reduce Variability During Longitudinal Studies

Sample barcoding of the samples is a strategy that increases the efficiency of the process and decreases technical variability. Heavy metal-labeled cellular barcoding enables running multiple samples (multiplexing) in one tube by staining each sample with a unique combination of isotopes before pooling the samples. Bodenmiller and colleagues published a method for barcoding (20). A probe, which recognizes thiol groups in the cells (maleimido-mono-amide-DOTA (mDOTA), non-specific labeling of cells), is conjugated with 7 different lanthanide isotopes. This results into $128 (2^7)$ possible combinations. Zunder et al. further improved this method (21). Indeed, lanthanide can be conjugated to antibodies, thus the previous barcoding method restricts the use of such antibodies. Then, lanthanide are a source of contamination (abundance sensitivity) and oxidation. Here, they used palladium isotopes, which cannot be used for antibody conjugation (chemical incompatibility with the conjugation tools) so far, and have limited oxidation rate. In this method, they chelated 6 palladium (Pd) isotopes with isothiocyano-benzyl-EDTA, which labels proteins through their amine groups, allowing 64 combinations. Accordingly, the Cell-ID 20-Plex Pd is commercially available by Fluidigm providing 20 combinations (Figure 6). A drawback of these protocols is the need of staining on fixed and permeabilized cells. Lai et al. developed a multiplexing protocol using CD45 to barcode PBMCs (22). As the result of the acquisition of multiplexed samples, it reduces technical and instrumental variations. This being said, it is important to keep in mind that if one or more low-quality samples (poor viability, high amount of debris) are added in the pool of samples, the background will increase, reagent titer problems will occur, and the recovery can be reduced due to sample clumping, jeopardizing all the samples (7). Pipetting errors of the large antibody panels is an important source of variability. Therefore, lyophilization of the antibody mixes can be adopted (23).

For longitudinal studies, which involve separate acquisition of samples that need to be compared and cannot be pooled, it is important to implement a technical control. In this case, three types of controls are suggested and combination of those is possible. First, the use of a unique sample that will be stained and acquired at every run of acquisition is advised. This requires freezing of enough aliquots to cover the period of the study and will allow taking into consideration the variability in the staining. Another method is to include labeled spike-in samples as an internal reference to monitor variability between batches concerning the machine itself. These spike-in controls can be labeled with an isotope which is usually not used in the analysis of mass cytometry, such as Tantalum (23). Finally, Polystyrene bead standards containing known concentrations of the metal isotopes are used to normalize data using a mathematical algorithm that corrects for decrease in sensitivity of the instrument over the time of the study (further discussed in Acquisition).

Sample Preparation and Staining

Even though clinicians perform the sample collection of patient material and thus it is often not controllable, it is crucial to

		Sample number																			
Palladium Isotope		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
	102	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•										
	104																				
	105	+				+	+	+				+	+	+				+	+	+	
	106		0			0			0	0		0			0	0		0	0		0
	108			•			•		٠		•		•		•		•	•		•	•
	110				щ			Ħ		Ħ	Ħ			Ħ		Ħ	д		д	Ц	Ħ

FIGURE 6 | Example of 6-choose-3 barcoding matrix with 6 palladium isotypes. Heavy metal-labeled cellular barcoding enables running multiple samples in one tube by staining each sample with a unique combination of isotopes before pooling the samples. Here, up to 20 samples can be combined by different staining pattern. Following oftware debarcoding, samples can be analyzed individually. For example, sample 1 will be positive for Palladium 102, 104, 105, but negative for the 106, 108, and 110 isotopes. Adapted from Fluidigm.

develop a clean sample preparation for a reliable data acquisition and analysis. Testing different protocols on healthy donor material before moving forward to the actual precious samples is highly suggested if not already established in the laboratory. Leelatian and colleagues published different protocols generating viable single cell suspension derived from human peripheral blood (24) and from a variety of human tissues and tumors (25) which are useful to obtain samples with a high cell viability and little amount of debris.

It is often necessary to enrich the samples for the cell of interest. For example, in the case of CLL, if the focus of the study lies on T cells, CD19⁺ depletion to remove CLL cells is advised, whereas, if the leukemic cells are the one to study, negative selection of CD19⁺ cells is preferred. The idea is to leave the cells of interest untouched. If considering a pre-enrichment with magnetic beads it is important to choose one that does not interfere with the detection of the mass cytometry. Thus, testing the reagents for background detection on the mass cytometer is recommended. In our experience, the use of the MACS Cell separation system (Miltenyi) does not interfere with the detection on the mass cytometer. Other methods to enrich cell populations are Fab-based Traceless affinity cell selection (IBA lifesciences) and fluorescence-activated cell sorting. In any case, we suggest to include antibodies in the panel that target cells which should have been removed by the pre-enrichment step, to be able to exclude the remaining cells during the analysis (Figure 3). If the sort consist of negative selection using multiple markers (for exclusion of T cells: CD3, CD4, and CD8), it is possible to use several antibodies with the same labeling isotope. Nevertheless, the user must be aware that cell enrichment will necessarily distort the frequencies of the different populations within the sample and can have an impact on the results. Consequently, adopting or not an enrichment step should be considered based on the biological question. An advantage of traditional FC over the CyTOF technology is its lower acquisition time. As a result, fluorophore-based cytometers can generally acquire larger samples without the need of enriching the population of interest.

Concerning sample handling, it is important to have in mind that freezing steps can greatly affect the expression of some markers, especially cytokines. Thus, it is recommended to test the effect of freezing on targets by conventional FC beforehand (**Figure 7**). If required, stimulation of the samples, by PMA and ionomycin, can be performed shortly before the staining. In order to hinder the transportation of the produced cytokines outside the cells, a reagent that stops the Golgi activity has to be added after stimulation, for example brefeldin A. However, the stimulation of the samples is artificial, and will reveal the maximum capacities of a cell to produce cytokines, but does not necessarily reflect this production in the microenvironment that would have been detected before freezing.

As for classical FC, it is recommended in mass cytometry experiments to use blocking reagents to reduce the staining of antibodies *via* their constant Fragment crystallizable region (Fc) domain on Fc receptors, which are mainly found on monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells and B cells. However, considering other blocking methods is important if the CD16 or CD32 markers are of interest.

Extracellular staining for mass cytometry can be performed at room temperature, as it appears that internalization of antigens does not change the detection on the mass cytometer (which is important for flow cytometry, where staining is usually performed at 4°C). However, one should consider performing the fixation and permeabilization as recommended when using commercially available kits, which is mostly done at 4°C. After the surface and intracellular staining, the cells are incubated with the intercalator which will allow the cell detection. Before acquisition, it is possible to store the samples in the fridge for up to one week in the intercalator buffer. However, it is recommended to inject the samples to the mass cytometer as soon as possible, because long-term storage can have an effect on the detection of markers.

For storing of the samples, the use of polystyrene tubes/plates is preferred, however the recovery of cells on the mass cytometer is higher in polypropylene tubes. Thus, it is recommended to filter the cells into a polypropylene tube just before acquisition or for their storage.

Concerning the number of cells to prepare, it is important to know that in mass cytometry, only 50%–60% of the sample can be recovered, the rest of the sample will be lost due to the aggregation on the walls of the spray chamber and injector (7). An additional cell loss of 20%–30% should be taken into account



FIGURE 7 | Consequence of stimulation and sample freezing on cytokine production and detection. Healthy control PBMCs were stimulated or not with PMA, and either directly subjected to classical FC, or frozen for several day before being subjected to FC. The analysis of TNF- α expression shows that stimulation leads to an increase of its expression (blue box vs. red box). However, the signal is lost after cell freezing (green box vs. red box).

as cells will be lysed and lost during the sample preparation, staining procedure and washing steps. Performing the staining and washing steps in a 96-well plate helps to reduce cell loss. In addition, resuspending samples in high purity water removes any contamination before acquiring the samples. Here, also a commercially available running buffer can be used to reduce cell breakdown and antibody dissociation (13).

Acquisition

The CyTOF machinery is an inductively coupled plasma (ICP) time-of flight (TOF) mass spectrophotometer (MS). Samples are injected into the mass cytometer, manually or *via* an auto-sampler, and introduced into a nebulizer through a narrow capillary. Once in the nebulizer, the cell suspension is aerosolized into single-cell droplets by argon gas-based pneumatic nebulization and released into the spray chamber. Argon gas (also known as make-up gas) transports the cell droplets to the ICP torch along the heated spray chamber, subsequently shrinking them by evaporation. The sample

introduction system has a cell transmission efficiency of approximately 60%-70% (7). Cells are then delivered into the plasma core wherein they are atomized, and the metal ions ionized, leading to the formation of a cloud of charged metal ions corresponding to single cells. The ion cloud passes through a quadrupole filter which removes low mass ions (m/z < 80) derived from naturally found elements in cells, such as carbon and oxygen, while allowing the flow of ions of analytical interest to proceed to the TOF chamber. Here, the reporter ions are accelerated at a fixed potential and thus travel at a speed proportional to the square root of their masses. Each mass ordered ion pulse is detected by an electrode multiplier, and the resulting signal recorded as a digitalized waveform by the detector *via* an analog-to-digital converter.

Continuous operation of the CyTOF machinery leads to loss of sensitivity due to several factors; including and build-up of cellular debris in nebulizer and cones. Even regular cleaning and maintenance can cause significant day-to-day signal variation. This is why it is crucial to use appropriate controls during longitudinal studies (see Control to Reduce Variability During Longitudinal Studies).

Data Analysis

As discussed in previous sections, mass cytometry emerged as an alternative to traditional fluorescent-based flow cytometry, enabling the simultaneous detection of over 50 cellular parameters by using heavy metals as antibody/probes labeling reagents, and hence avoiding fluorescent spectral overlap.

The exponential increase in phenotypic and functional characteristics that can be analyzed, allows for the dissection of cellular diversity and heterogeneity with unprecedented resolution, and favors the discovery of new cell subpopulations by visualizing previously inaccessible marker combinations. The ability to perform such detailed single-cell profiling is particularly valuable for the dynamic characterization of immune cell subsets within the TME. This holds true for a wide range of solid and hematological tumors, including, as per our experience, B cell malignancies. However, the elevated number of parameters analyzed in parallel requires careful data processing in order to fully benefit from this technology. Here, we give a brief review of different analysis options, which, will provide the novel mass cytometry users with a better understanding of the distinct possibilities available. For further reading, more detailed reviews on data analysis are published by Kimball et al. and Pedersen and Olsen (26, 27).

Manual Gating

Mass cytometry data is saved as standard flow cytometry FCS 3.0 format, and consequently can be analyzed using traditional flow cytometry data analysis software such as FlowJo. In fact, manual gating can provide key insights on cellular abundance and expression and is particularly useful when it comes to user guided data analysis. However, interpretation of such complex data via manual gating of bivariate plots can become an overwhelming task, as the number of parameter pairs increases exponentially with the number of parameters analyzed. Additionally, meaningful multivariate relationships are lost as they cannot be discerned in two dimensions, and unanticipated cell populations can be unintentionally excluded given the subjective nature of manual gating. The immense complexity of the data generated demands exhaustive organization. Structured and consistent file nomenclature, as well as appropriate data storage, greatly facilitates downstream data processing and analysis. We recommend using manual gating for validation of the experiment (e.g., looking at specific cell populations that are known to be enriched or lost during treatment or between samples), to clean-up the data (gate out beads, dead cells, doublets of cells) and to exclude non-relevant cells (e.g., CD19⁺ cells if interest resides in T cells) before proceeding to algorithm-based analysis.

High Dimensional Data Analysis Using Algorithms

Different algorithms were developed during the past decade for high-dimensional data. Some of the most widely used software kits include viSNE (28), SPADE (29), Phenograph (30), Citrus (31), and X-shift (32). These computational tools use a variety of languages (e.g., Mathlab, R or Python), clustering methods (e.g., parametric vs. non-parametric), and dimensionality reduction approaches to generate a comprehensive depiction of multiparametric single cell measurements. Nevertheless, the data retrieved is highly impacted by the choice of the algorithm, which, as a result must be chosen based on the nature of the biological question.

Even though these algorithms are developed by bioinformaticians at the forefront of mass cytometry research, their use is directed toward bench scientists working on a wide variety of fields. viSNE and SPADE were among the first algorithms developed for multiparametric data analysis, and, in our experience, represent a user-friendly option for recent adopters of mass cytometry. After gating on the population of interest, the data selected are exported and uploaded to a cloudbased computational platform or to a specific software (such as Cytobank or Cytosplore, respectively). These allow the user to run several algorithms to interpret high-dimensional data, including viSNE, SPADE, Citrus, and FlowSOM. The user can run them in the Cytobank platform or as single standing algorithms using the respective R packages or Bioconductorbased tools (e.g., Cytofast) (33). We hereby present a brief introduction to viSNE and SPADE followed by a practical guide on CyTOF data analysis using these algorithms in the context of LME analysis in B cell malignancies.

viSNE is a nonlinear dimensionality reduction technique based on the t-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding (tSNE) algorithm which enables the analysis of highdimensional data on a two-dimensional map. The resulting viSNE plot, reminiscent of a traditional scatter plot, shows a continuum of cellular phenotypes distributed by the parameters tSNE1 and tSNE2; wherein phenotypically related cells cluster together leading to the formation of phenotypic islands. viSNE maintains single-cell resolution and takes into account highdimensional similarities between all cell pairs, providing information about nearby and distant cells while preserving the geometry and non-linearity of the data. Cells are colored according to the expression of a chosen parameter in order to identify the cellular identity of the island by co-expression of lineage markers. When analyzing a complex mixture of cells, we find particularly useful the creation of a grid of viSNE plots organized per sample for different lineage defining parameters. Manual gating within the viSNE plots can be performed while in cytobank to obtain information such as population cell number and percentage in each experimental sample.

The global overview of the sample provided by viSNE facilitates the identification of known cell types, the distinction of phenotypic diversity within these populations, as well as the discovery of unexpected cell subsets. One of the main limitations of viSNE is the need for random down-sampling of cells to avoid event overcrowding in the 2D scatter plot. With a limited number of cells to be displayed, cell number can be reduced equally or proportionally, depending on the similarities in event number among the different samples. Finally, it is important to consider that independent viSNE runs on the same dataset will

produce different plots, and, as a result, it is only possible to compare experimental groups when subjected to the same viSNE run.

SPADE (Spanning-tree progression analysis of densitynormalized events) is another unsupervised clustering algorithm which allows the visualization of high-dimensional single cell data as a 2D minimum spanning tree of interconnected nodes. Each node comprises a group of phenotypically related cells, with the size of the node indicating cell number, and the color quantifying the median intensity of a parameter of interest. The number of nodes in the SPADE tree is set by the user based on the expected cell populations to be found within the sample. We recommend launching the algorithm several times for each parental population using a different node number in order to find the most appropriate settings for the experiment in question. One aspect that must be taken into consideration is that the relative distance between two nodes is not proportional to the phenotypic similarities or differences among these populations, and thus, the SPADE tree structure can be slightly modified to suit the needs of the user. The specific phenotype of each cluster can be further characterized by creating a heat map including lineage marker MSI values derived from the multiparametric analysis. MeV, an open multiomics experimental viewer, is available for this purpose.

The schematic visualization of multiparametric data provided by SPADE facilitates the analysis of cellular heterogeneity and is particularly helpful when assessing changes in population structure. Nevertheless, given the agglomeration of events in nodes of phenotypically related cells, single cell resolution is lost.

In our experience, running both algorithms for the same dataset provides key complementary insights in order to analyze and interpret complex immunological data, viSNE gives a general overview of the high dimensional data while SPADE assesses any changes in population structure or marker expression within distinct cellular phenotypes.

The development of software kits for multiparametric data analysis is a rapidly evolving field. An increasing number of algorithms, which introduce novel visualization methods and overcome previous software restrictions are now being published and made available. In our laboratory, we continuously review and use new algorithms of interest as a complementary tool to viSNE and SPADE. A recent example would be H-SNE (Hierarchical Stochastic Neighbor Embedding), an algorithm available in Cytosplore software (34). H-SNE is able to represent multiparametric single cell data while maintaining non-linear relationships and, unlike viSNE, is not affected by overcrowding and hence not limited by cell number. A number of novel clustering algorithms have also been developed, and provide valuable insights when launched alongside SPADE. Xshift, for example, is a population finding algorithm available in the online platform VorteX. This algorithm utilizes multiparametric data to construct a weighted k-nearestneighbor density estimation (kNN-DE) graph, followed by clustering based on cell event density (32). However, unlike SPADE, X-hit finds the optimal number of clusters in a datadriven manner. This reduces the potential over or under fragmentation of cell populations resulting from the estimated number of nodes when using SPADE. A common approach involves the integration of both algorithms: X-shift is used initially to define the number of cellular phenotypes, followed by the generation of a SPADE tree with an informed number of nodes.

Data Visualization

Downstream data analysis of CyTOF data can be performed using different software kits. Excel is commonly used for the analysis of single cell cytometry data, and hence is applicable to CyTOF data as well. However, the immense complexity of multiplex single cell technologies renders this method archaic and practically prohibitive. In order to effectively visualize the data, we find that Tableau, a data visualization tool, is the ideal program for downstream processing and visualization of highdimensional CyTOF data (35).

For this purpose, Tableau offers two separate software kits, Tableau prep and Tableau desktop, designed for data preparation and visualization respectively. Initially, the data generated after running the high dimensional algorithms of interest are exported as a text file from the online platform or software (Cytobank, Cytospore). The text files are then imported to Tableau prep, which enables the user to combine, shape, and clean up data prior to analysis and visualization. Tableau Prep provides the data in a visual way by showing a row and column profilewhereas rows show every single cell and columns illustrate markers, sample ID- and further it displays every step during data preparation. The output of Tableau Prep is a table of the high-dimensional data organized in a format that fit to the researchers needs. Once the data has been appropriately prepared, it is exported to Tableau desktop, which allows visual analytics and data exploration and thus gives quick answers to specific research question (e.g., differences in expression of one marker between different conditions). The software is user-friendly and does not require advanced computational skills. With Tableau desktop, one can create and display different features, such as: create groups (e.g., healthy vs. tumor) and heatmaps, implement calculations with existing data (e.g., calculate the frequencies of cluster/total), display information (e.g., MSI values, cluster frequencies) and rebuild dot plots, viSNE plots and SPADE trees. Regarding the statistical analysis, Tableau desktop can be used to perform descriptive statistics (e.g., mean, median, percentile, standard deviation...). Nevertheless, complex statistical operations are not readily available. As a result, we easily export the needed data and perform our advanced analysis using statistic software such as Graph Pad Prism.

Stepwise Procedure for the Staining

The following protocol is applied to murine splenocytes from control and leukemic (Eu-TCL1) mice. Isolation and purification of cells of interest are not a topic of this methods article. Chosen methods should ensure cell viability and preserve antigen integrity as for FC. The following can be performed on fresh or previously frozen cells, some restrictions applying to the latter (see *Sample Preparation and Staining*). A schematic overview is shown in **Figure 8**.

- 1. If required, thaw your cells in a water bath (37°C)
- 2. Transfer the cells in 10 ml of preheated Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS, Sigma Aldrich) or full media in a 50ml conical tube
- 3. Centrifuge at 500 x g for 5 min at room temperature (RT)
- 4. Remove supernatant (by discarding)
- Resuspend cells in 1 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺ Life Technology) containing 10% of FBS (PBS-10% FBS)
- 6. Prepare a dilution and count the cells
- Transfer the desired amount of cells (typically between 5.10⁵ and 3.10⁶) in a 15-ml conical tube, wash by adding PBS
- 8. Centrifuge at 500 x g, 5 min, RT
- 9. Re-suspend the cells in 100 ul of 5 μ M Cell-ID Cisplatin (Cis-Pt, Fluidigm)
- 10. Mix and incubate for 5 min at RT
- Wash with 5 volume of PBS-10% FBS, centrifuge (500 x g, 5min, RT) and discard supernatant
- 12. In the meanwhile, prepare extracellular antibodiy mix
- 13. Re-suspend the cells in 45ul PBS-10% FBS with 5ul of Fc Blocker (purified anti-mouse CD16/32 antibody, Biolegend)
- 14. Transfer 50µl of cell suspension in U-bottom 96-well plate (Corning)
- 15. Incubate for 10 min at RT
- 16. Add extracellular antibody mix (50 µl/sample)
- 17. Pipet up and down the samples and incubate for 30 min at RT
- 18. Stop the reaction by adding 100 μ l of PBS-10% FBS, centrifuge 500 x g, 5 min, RT and discard the supernatant by reverting the plate

- Wash by adding 200 μl PBS-10% FBS per well, centrifuge 500 x g, 5 min, RT and discard the supernatants
- 20. Add 100µl of 1× FoxP3 Fix/Perm buffer (from FoxP3/ transcription factor staining buffer set, eBioscience) per well
- 21. Pipet up and down and incubate your samples for 45 min at 4°C
- 22. Meanwhile, prepare the intracellular antibody mix
- 23. Wash each well with 100 μl of 1× Permeabilization buffer (from FoxP3/transcription factor staining buffer set)
- 24. Centrifuge (800 x g, 5 min, 4°C) and discard supernatant
- 25. Re-suspend cells in 50 µl of PBS-10% FBS
- 26. Add the intracellular antibody mix (50 µl/sample)
- 27. Incubate the samples for 30 min at RT
- 28. Add 100 $\mu lper$ well, centrifuge 800 x g, 5 min, 4°C and discard supernatant
- 29. Wash the cells by adding 200µl PBS-10% FBS, centrifuge 800 x g, 5 min, 4°C and discard supernatant
- 30. Repeat step 28
- 31. In the meanwhile, prepare a solution of 50 nM Cell-ID Intercalator-Iridium (Fluidigm) in Maxpar Fix & Perm buffer (Fluidigm)
- 32. Re-suspend cells in 200 μl of the Iridium-Intercalator solution
- 33. Pipet up and down and incubate overnight at 4°C.
- 34. The next day, centrifuge the 96-well plate at 800 x g, 5 min, 4°C, and discard supernatant
- 35. Wash cells by adding 200 μl of serum/protein free PBS, centrifuge (800 x g, 5 min, 4°C), and discard supernatant
- 36. Repeat step 34
- Wash the cells with 200 μl of milliQ water, centrifuge (800 x g, 5 min, 4°C), and discard supernatant
- 38. Repeat step 36



- Re-suspend the cells in 200 μl of milliQ water and transfer through the cell strainer of the Round-Bottom Tubes with Cell Strainer Snap Cap (Falcon) into polypropylene tubes
- 40. Wash the cells with 200 μl of milliQ water and add on the filter
- 41. Repeat step 38 with 100 μ l of milliQ water, turn the filter and take the residual volume (final volume in the 5ml round bottom tube should be 500 μ l)
- 42. Determine the cell number
- 43. Adjust the volume to 90% of final volume (final concentration 1.5×10^6 cells/ml: 900 µl for 1.5×10^6 cells)
- 44. Add 10% Maxpar Four Elements EQ Beads (Fluidigm) before acquisition (for 1.5×10^6 cells 100 µl of beads)

EXPECTED RESULTS

It is widely admitted that the microenvironment plays a crucial role in the development and maintenance and progression of leukemia. However, in the context of CLL, this microenvironment is still understudied. In this context, we decided to decipher the immune cell landscape in a murine model of CLL, using mass cytometry few years ago (2, 36). We performed adoptive transfer (AT) of splenocytes from terminally diseased Eµ-TCL1 mice, which overexpress TCL1 exclusively in B cells and develop CLL within 8 to 12 months, into C57BL/6 recipient mice. Few weeks after the transfer, the recipient mice (AT-TCL1) developed the leukemia. The splenocytes from these diseased mice and from healthy control C57BL/6 mice were then subjected to CyTOF staining with a custom panel of 35 antibodies, following the above protocol. This panel was designed to study T lymphocytes, myeloid cells, and associated immune checkpoints. Following acquisition, the single live CD19⁻ cells were selected (manually gated) using FlowJo. Data were reanalyzed for the purpose of this methods article, therefore cluster numbers and number of associated cells differs from our original report (2). The respective FCS files were uploaded to Cytobank and SPADE was launched using all the markers except the one used for the initial gating strategy, with a target number of 50 nodes and 10% targets events downsampling. Then, viSNE was run on the SPADE data using the same markers, a maximum of 1.3 millions of cells, with the following parameters: iteration of 2,000, perplexity of 30 and Theta of 0.5. The data were then exported from Cytobank, uploaded to TableauPrep where they were organized, and subsequently analyzed with TableauDesktop.

After creating two groups (healthy control HC and CLL samples), the viSNE plots can be visualized for the two groups separately. In addition, the plots for the two groups can be overlaid in order to easily identify cell populations which are highly enriched (red arrow) or depleted (blue arrow) in the CLL samples (**Figure 9A**). By allocating colors to each Spade cluster, they can be visualized on the viSNE plot (**Figure 9B**). In order to easily and quickly understand the composition of the viSNE plot, the expression of each marker can be displayed. This allows to get familiarize with the plot, and to know where the main cell populations sit (CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, NK cells...). The cluster which was highly enriched in the CLL sample (**Figure 9A**,

red arrow) is expressing high levels of CD8 (Figure 9C), whereas the one which was highly depleted (Figure 9A, blue arrow) expresses F4/80 (Figure 9C). After this first step in the understanding of the viSNE plot, the percentage of each cluster can be calculated in order to identify the clusters which are either enriched or depleted (Figures 10A-C, left panels). In addition, the MSI of each marker for each cluster can be extracted, and corresponding heatmaps can be created (e.g., in excel by conditional formatting) in order to define each cluster (Figures 10A-C upper right panels), which finally allows to precisely define each cluster, based on the expression of all the markers. Finally, the clusters can be highlighted on the viSNE plots (Figures 10A-C, lower right panels). In Figure 10A, three different clusters of Tregs are depicted, showing that clusters 10 and 35 are enriched in CLL samples compared to HC. The three clusters express CD3, CD4, FOXP3, CD25, and CTLA4 which are characteristic of Treg populations. The proper identification of Treg cells require the co-expression of these markers, which can have variable expression depending on the subsets (37). The three clusters express high levels of PD-L1, LAG3. Clusters 10 and 35 express higher levels of PD1 compared to cluster 19, and cluster 10 shows the highest expression of KLRG1, representing fully activated and highly suppressive Tregs. In Figure 10B, the cluster 30, which is virtually not found in HC, is highly enriched in CLL samples. This cluster is composed of CD8⁺ T cells expressing high levels of inhibitory immune checkpoints KLRG1, LAG3, PD1 and CTLA4, characteristic for exhausted CD8⁺ T cells. By highlighting cluster 30 on the viSNE plot, we can clearly see that this cluster corresponds to the cells we identified as highly enriched in Figure 10A (red arrow). Concerning the monocytes, 3 clusters were enriched, with clusters 13 and 36 which represent patrolling monocytes expressing high levels of PD-L1 and LAG3 and being associated with CLL progression (Figure 10C). From these data, we concluded that the development of CLL is associated with the establishment of a very immunosuppressive microenvironment. In addition, the identified immunosuppressive cells in the CLL splenic microenvironment express high levels of immune checkpoints, particularly PD1 and LAG3. We next sought to validate if these immune checkpoints could represent potential therapeutic targets for an immunotherapeutic approach. To this end, we treated AT-TCL1 with blocking antibodies directed against PD1 and LAG3. This therapy led to a control of CLL development, with the restoration of a normal immuno-competent splenic microenvironment (2). Altogether, the study of the splenic CLL LME allowed us to better understand the immunosuppression found in CLL, to define clusters of cells highly enriched in CLL, and to identify potential targets for immunotherapy.

DISCUSSION

In addition to be costly, mass cytometry experiments tend to be time consuming (from panel design to sample staining, acquisition, and analysis). In order to make sure to fully benefit from this technology, all the steps must be carefully planned. Even though clearly limited compared to FC, contaminations between channels need to be scrupulously considered and eliminated as much as possible to avoid



associated to a color and displayed on the plot. (C) The intensity of the different markers are displayed, allowing to quickly get insights into the identity of each cluster. Here, the cluster enriched in CLL identified in (A) expresses CD8 (red arrow), and the one depleted (blue arrow) expresses F4/80.

misinterpretation of the data. In addition to classical protein level quantification, mass cytometry offers a large range of detection of other biological parameters by the use of different probes. Posttranslational modification, proteolysis, DNA synthesis, hypoxia, enzymatic activity, and chromatin modification can be assessed by this technique, opening up the possibilities for phenotypic analysis and discoveries of novel cell populations and unsuspected mechanism. However, the technology is currently limited to approximately the use of 50 channels, although the machines contains around 130 detectors. This is because the purity of some isolated metal isotopes is not high enough or it is not possible to couple those metals to antibodies/probes, although they could be detected by the mass cytometer. Effort is made to improve this pitfall, and the number of parameters analyzed in parallel will certainly increase in the coming years. The analysis of mass cytometry data is moving fast, with the development of new tools, not requiring bioinformatic skills. Mass cytometry is facing harsh competition with the development of fluorophore-based cytometers which can reach up to 30–50 parameters detected in parallel (such as the BDSymphony or bio-rad ZE5), and the emergence of spectral cytometers (Sony SP6800 and Cytek Aurora) positioning both technologies at the forefront of immunology research.

However, the advantages of mass cytometry still hold true, such as simpler panel design, multiplexing, minimal crosstalk among channel, no need of compensation. One main drawback


clusters. (B) CD8+ T cells clusters. (C) Monocytes clusters.

of the technique, is the slower acquisition rate compared to classical FC, which can be overcome by performing a preenrichment of the cells of interest, in order to reduce the number of cells to acquire. However, it has to be noted that pre-enrichment can affect the final results.

In the recent years, a novel imaging technology has been developed (38), Imaging Mass Cytometry (IMC), which enables now the detection of up to 40 markers in a single imaging scan on

tissue and tumor sections. This technology is provided by the same equipment as the mass cytometer, with adaptation for imaging. Complementary to mass cytometry, it allows the analysis of interaction between different cell types, but can also give insights on the activity of the cells, depending on their localization within the LME and interactions with other cells.

Mass cytometry represents a perfect asset for the study of LME in B cell malignancies. We applied this technology to the

splenic microenvironment in the Eµ-TCL1 mouse model and identified a potential immunotherapeutic approach for the treatment of CLL. Other groups applied this technology to B malignancies, and these studies allowed to obtained new and innovative information concerning malignant B cells themselves or immune cells found in the LME. Maity et al., detected clusters of B cells specific to a subset of CLL patients bearing the R110 mutation in the particular light-chain allele IGLV3-21, and observed that these patients are phenotypically closer to unmutated (UM) patients, independently of their hypermutation status (6). In Follicular Lymphoma (FL), mass cytometry analysis allowed to understand that the malignant cells have a unique phenotype, not found in healthy donors. Contrary to what was shown based on gene expression profiling, the B malignant cells are not similar to germinal center (GC) B cells (3). By the study of immune cells in the context of Hodgkin Lymphoma, M. Shipp's lab identified an enrichment of distinct regulatory T cells (Treg) populations with a T helper 1 (Th1) polarization phenotype (5). Finally, in FL, the presence of a specific T cell population expressing PD1 is associated with poor prognosis, whereas, the expression of PD1 on general T cells is not of prognostic value, highlighting the interest of having multiparametric analysis (4).

In conclusion, mass cytometry is an excellent tool to get phenotypical information at the single cell level, on protein expression, and the generalization of its use should lead to new discoveries, paving the road for the development of more specific and efficient therapies, targeting either directly the malignant cells or in the cells found in the LME.

MATERIAL AND EQUIPMENT

Equipment

The Helios system (Cytometry by Time of Flight, CyTOF; Fluidigm) equipment was used for the data shown in this

REFERENCES

- Herishanu Y, Pérez-Galán P, Liu D, Biancotto A, Pittaluga S, Vire B, et al. The lymph node microenvironment promotes B-cell receptor signaling, NF-κB activation, and tumor proliferation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2011) 117:563–74. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-284984
- Wierz M, Pierson S, Guyonnet L, Viry E, Lequeux A, Oudin A, et al. Dual PD1 / LAG3 immune checkpoint blockade limits tumor development in a murine model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Lett Blood* (2018) 131:1617–22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-792267
- Wogsland CE, Greenplate AR, Kolstad A, Myklebust JH, Irish JM, Huse K. Mass Cytometry of Follicular Lymphoma Tumors Reveals Intrinsic Heterogeneity in Proteins Including HLA-DR and a Deficit in Nonmalignant Plasmablast and Germinal Center B-Cell Populations. *Cytom Part B - Clin Cytom* (2017) 92:79–87. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.21498
- Yang ZZ, Kim HJ, Villasboas JC, Price-Troska T, Jalali S, Wu H, et al. Mass Cytometry Analysis Reveals that Specific Intratumoral CD4 + T Cell Subsets Correlate with Patient Survival in Follicular Lymphoma. *Cell Rep* (2019) 26:2178–2193.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.085
- 5. Cader FZ, Schackmann RCJ, Hu X, Wienand K, Redd R, Chapuy B, et al. Mass cytometry of Hodgkin lymphoma reveals a CD41 regulatory T-cell-rich and

study. In addition, controls, for the expression of some markers, were acquired on conventional CytoFLEX (Beckam Coulter) flow cytometer.

Cells and Reagents

All the reagents and cells used are described in *Stepwise Procedure for the Staining*.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article. Data presented in "Expected Results" were originally published in Blood2 [(2), Blood], and were reanalysed for the purpose of this article. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SG, IF, MW, and AL wrote the manuscript. SG and MW performed the experiments, analyzed the data, and created the figures. GP, EG, and AC helped in writing, figures design, and for some experiments. EM, JP, and AL finalized the writing and supervised the team. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from FNRS "Télévie" to SG, IF, MW, GP, and AL (7.4502.19, 7.4529.19, 7.6504.18, 7.4501.18, 7.4502.17, and 7.4503.19), from FNR Luxembourg to EG and JP (PRIDE15/10675146/CANBIO and INTER/DFG/16/11509946) and from Plooschter Projet.

exhausted T-effector microenvironment. *Blood* (2018) 132:825–36. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-04-843714

- Maity PC, Bilal M, Koning MT, Young M, Van Bergen CAM, Renna V, et al. IGLV3-21*01 is an inherited risk factor for CLL through the acquisition of a single-point mutation enabling autonomous BCR signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2020) 117:4320–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1913810117
- Olsen LR, Leipold MD, Pedersen CB, Maecker HT. The anatomy of single cell mass cytometry data. *Cytom Part A* (2019) 95:156–72. doi: 10.1002/ cyto.a.23621
- Takahashi C, Au-Yeung A, Fuh F, Ramirez-Montagut T, Bolen C, Mathews W, et al. Mass cytometry panel optimization through the designed distribution of signal interference. *Cytom Part A* (2017) 91:39–47. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22977
- Tricot S, Meyrand M, Sammicheli C, Elhmouzi-Younes J, Corneau A, Bertholet S, et al. Evaluating the efficiency of isotope transmission for improved panel design and a comparison of the detection sensitivities of mass cytometer instruments. *Cytom Part A* (2015) 87:357–68. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22648
- Jamin C, Pers JO, Lydyard PM, Youinou P. CD5-Positive B Cells in Tolerance and Autoimmunity. *Decad Autoimmun* (1999) 40:379–97. doi: 10.1016/b978-044482824-8/50046-4
- 11. Bashford-Rogers RJM, Palser AL, Hodkinson C, Baxter J, Follows GA, Vassiliou GS, et al. Dynamic variation of CD5 surface expression levels

within individual chronic lymphocytic leukemia clones. *Exp Hematol* (2017) 46:31–7.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2016.09.010

- Friedman DR, Guadalupe E, Volkheimer A, Moore JO, Weinberg JB. Clinical outcomes in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia associated with expression of CD5, a negative regulator of B-cell receptor signalling. *Br J Haematol* (2018) 183:747–54. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15632
- Behbehani GK. Immunophenotyping by Mass Cytometry. *Methods Mol Biol* (2019) 2032:31–51. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9650-6_2
- Leipold MD, Evan NW, Maecker HT. Multiparameter Phenotyping of Human PBMCs Using Mass Cytometry. *Methods Mol Biol* (2015) 1343:81– 95. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2963-4
- Chevrier S, Crowell HL, Zanotelli VRT, Engler S, Robinson MD, Bodenmiller B. Compensation of Signal Spillover in Suspension and Imaging Mass Cytometry. *Cell Syst* (2018) 6:612–20.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cels.2018.02.010
- Cossarizza A, Chang HD, Radbruch A, Acs A, Adam D, Adam-Klages S, et al. Guidelines for the use of flow cytometry and cell sorting in immunological studies (second edition). *Eur J Immunol* (2019) 49:1457–973. doi: 10.1002/eji.201970107
- Behbehani GK, Bendall SC, Clutter MR, Fantl WJ, Nolan GP. Single-cell mass cytometry adapted to measurements of the cell cycle. *Cytom Part A* (2012) 81 A:552–66. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22075
- Han G, Spitzer MH, Bendall SC, Fantl WJ, Nolan GP. Metal-isotope-tagged monoclonal antibodies for high-dimensional mass cytometry. *Nat Protoc* (2018) 13:2121–48. doi: 10.1038/s41596-018-0016-7
- van Vreden C, Niewold P, McGuire HM, Fazekas de St. Groth B. Titration of Mass Cytometry Reagents. *Methods Mol Biol* (2019) 1989:267–79. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9454-0
- Bodenmiller B, Zunder ER, Finck R, Chen TJ, Savig ES, Bruggner RV, et al. Multiplexed mass cytometry profiling of cellular states perturbed by smallmolecule regulators. *Nat Biotechnol* (2012) 30:858–67. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2317
- Zunder ER, Finck R, Behbehani GK, Amir ED. Palladium-based Mass-Tag Cell Barcoding with a Doublet- Filtering Scheme and Single Cell Deconvolution Algorithm. *Nat Protoc* (2015) 2:316–33. doi: 10.1016/ j.physbeh.2017.03.040
- Lai L, Ong R, Li J, Albani S. A CD45-based barcoding approach to multiplex mass-cytometry (CyTOF). *Cytom Part A* (2015) 87:369–74. doi: 10.1002/ cyto.a.22640
- Sahaf B, Rahman A, Maecker HT, Bendall SC. Parameter Immune Profiling with CyTOF. *Methods Mol Biol* (2020) 2055:351–68. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9773-2_16
- Leelatian N, Diggins KE, Irish JM. Characterizing Phenotypes and Signaling Networks of Single Human Cells by Mass Cytometry. *Methods Mol Biol* (2015) 1346:99–113. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2987-0
- Leelatian N, Doxie DB, Greenplate AR, Sinnaeve J, Ihrie RA, Irish JM. Preparing Viable Single Cells from Human Tissue and Tumors for Cytomic Analysis. *Curr Protoc Mol Biol* (2017) 118:25C.1.1–1.23. doi: 10.1002/cpmb.37
- Kimball AK, Oko LM, Bullock BL, Nemenoff RA, van Dyk LF, Clambey ET. A Beginner's Guide to Analyzing and Visualizing Mass Cytometry Data. *J Immunol* (2018) 200:3–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701494
- Pedersen CB, Olsen LR. Algorithmic Clustering Of Single-Cell Cytometry Data—How Unsupervised Are These Analyses Really? *Cytom Part A* (2020) 97:219–21. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.23917

- Amir EAD, Davis KL, Tadmor MD, Simonds EF, Levine JH, Bendall SC, et al. ViSNE enables visualization of high dimensional single-cell data and reveals phenotypic heterogeneity of leukemia. *Nat Biotechnol* (2013) 31:545–52. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2594
- 29. Qiu P, Simonds EF, Bendall SC, Gibbs KD, Bruggner RV, Linderman MD, et al. Extracting a cellular hierarchy from high-dimensional cytometry data with SPADE. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29:886–93. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1991
- Levine JH, Simonds EF, Bendall SC, Davis KL, Amir EAD, Tadmor MD, et al. Data-Driven Phenotypic Dissection of AML Reveals Progenitor-like Cells that Correlate with Prognosis. *Cell* (2015) 162:184–97. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2015.05.047
- Bruggner RV, Bodenmiller B, Dill DL, Tibshirani RJ, Nolan GP. Automated identification of stratifying signatures in cellular subpopulations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:2770–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1408792111
- Samusik N, Good Z, Spitzer MH, Davis KL, Nolan GP. Automated mapping of phenotype space with single-cell data. *Nat Methods* (2016) 13:493–6. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3863
- Beyrend G, Stam K, Höllt T, Ossendorp F, Arens R. Cytofast: A workflow for visual and quantitative analysis of flow and mass cytometry data to discover immune signatures and correlations. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J* (2018) 16:435–42. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2018.10.004
- 34. Van Unen V, Höllt T, Pezzotti N, Li N, Reinders MJT, Eisemann E, et al. Visual analysis of mass cytometry data by hierarchical stochastic neighbour embedding reveals rare cell types. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:1–10. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-017-01689-9
- 35. Elhmouzi-Younes J, Palgen JL, Tchitchek N, Delandre S, Namet I, Bodinham CL, et al. In depth comparative phenotyping of blood innate myeloid leukocytes from healthy humans and macaques using mass cytometry. *Cytom Part A* (2017) 91:969–82. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.23107
- Wierz M, Janji B, Berchem G, Moussay E, Paggetti J. High-dimensional mass cytometry analysis revealed microenvironment complexity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7:e1465167. doi: 10.1080/ 2162402X.2018.1465167
- Sakaguchi S, Miyara M, Costantino CM, Hafler DA. FOXP3 + regulatory T cells in the human immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2010) 10:490–500. doi: 10.1038/nri2785
- Bodenmiller B. Multiplexed Epitope-Based Tissue Imaging for Discovery and Healthcare Applications. *Cell Syst* (2016) 2:225–38. doi: 10.1016/ j.cels.2016.03.008

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Gonder, Fernandez Botana, Wierz, Pagano, Gargiulo, Cosma, Moussay, Paggetti and Largeot. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Integration of the B-Cell Receptor Antigen Neurabin-I/SAMD14 Into an Antibody Format as New Therapeutic Approach for the Treatment of Primary CNS Lymphoma

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Martina Deckert, University of Cologne, Germany Etienne Moussay, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

*Correspondence:

Moritz Bewarder moritz.bewarder@uks.eu

[†]Deceased

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematologic Malignancies, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 05 July 2020 Accepted: 15 October 2020 Published: 12 November 2020

Citation:

Bewarder M, Kiefer M, Moelle C, Goerens L, Stilgenbauer S, Christofyllakis K, Kaddu-Mulindwa D, Fadle N, Regitz E, Neumann F, Hoth M, Preuss K-D, Pfreundschuh M and Thurner L (2020) Integration of the B-Cell Receptor Antigen Neurabin-I/ SAMD14 Into an Antibody Format as New Therapeutic Approach for the Treatment of Primary CNS Lymphoma. Front. Oncol. 10:580364. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.580364 ¹ José Carreras Center for Immuno- and Gene Therapy, Saarland University Medical Center, Homburg, Germany, ² Internal Medicine I, Saarland University Medical Center, Homburg, Germany, ³ Biophysics, CIPMM, Saarland University, Homburg, Germany

Stephan Stilgenbauer^{1,2}, Konstantinos Christofyllakis¹, Dominic Kaddu-Mulindwa²

Natalie Fadle¹, Evi Regitz¹, Frank Neumann¹, Markus Hoth³, Klaus-Dieter Preuss¹,

Moritz Bewarder^{1,2*}, Maximilian Kiefer¹, Clara Moelle¹, Lisa Goerens¹,

Michael Pfreundschuh^{1,2†} and Lorenz Thurner^{1,2}

Recently, neurabin-I and SAMD14 have been described as the autoantigenic target of approximately 66% of B-cell receptors (BCRs) of primary central nervous system lymphomas (PCNSL). Neurabin-I and SAMD14 share a highly homologous SAM domain that becomes immunogenic after atypical hyper-N-glycosylation (SAMD14 at ASN339 and neurabin-I at ASN1277). This post-translational modification of neurabin-I and SAMD14 seems to lead to a chronic immune reaction with B-cell receptor activation contributing to lymphoma genesis of PCNSLs. The selective tropism of PCNSL to the CNS corresponds well to the neurabin-I and SAMD14 protein expression pattern. When conjugated to Pseudomonas Exotoxin A (ETA), the PCNSL reactive epitope exerts cytotoxic effects on lymphoma cells expressing a SAMD14/neurabin-I reactive BCR. Thus, the reactive epitopes of SAMD14/neurabin-I might be useful to establish additional therapeutic strategies against PCNSL. To test this possibility, we integrated the PCNSLreactive epitope of SAMD14/neurabin-I into a heavy-chain-only Fab antibody format in substitution of the variable region. Specific binding of the prokaryotically produced SAMD14/neurabin-I Fab-antibody to lymphoma cells and their internalization were determined by flow cytometry. Since no established EBV-negative PCNSL cell line exists, we used the ABC-DLBCL cell lines OCI-Ly3 and U2932, which were transfected to express a SAMD14/neurabin-I reactive BCR. The SAMD14/neurabin-I Fab antibody bound specifically to DLBCL cells expressing a BCR with reactivity to SAMD14/neurabin-I and not to unmanipulated DLBCL cell lines. Eukaryotically produced full-length IgG antibodies are well established as immunotherapy format. Therefore, the PCNSLreactive epitope of SAMD14/neurabin-I was cloned into a full-length IgG1 format replacing the variable domains of the light and heavy chains. The IgG1-format SAMD14/neurabin-I construct was found to specifically bind to target lymphoma cells

39

expressing a SAMD14/neurabin-I reactive B cell receptor. In addition, it induced dosedependent relative cytotoxicity against these lymphoma cells when incubated with PBMCs. Control DLBCL cells are not affected at any tested concentration. When integrated into the Fab-format and IgG1-format, the PCNSL-reactive epitope of SAMD14/neurabin-I functions as **B**-cell receptor **A**ntigen for **R**everse targeting (BAR). In particular, the IgG1-format BAR-body approach represents a very attractive therapeutic format for the treatment of PCNSLs, considering its specificity against SAMD14/neurabin-I reactive BCRs and the well-known pharmacodynamic properties of IgG antibodies.

Keywords: B-cell receptor antigens, primary central nervous system lymphoma, neurabin-I/SAMD14, BAR-body, auto-antigens

INTRODUCTION

Primary diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) of the central nervous system (CNS), also called primary central nervous system lymphoma (PCNSL) (1), is a rare disease with an annual incidence rate of 0.47 cases per 100.000 population (2), accounting for <1% of all non-Hodgkin lymphomas (3). Genetic profiling studies suggest that the normal counterpart of PCNSL cells are late germinal center (GC) exit B-cells with a gene expression profile characteristic of both GC B-cells and activated B-cells (ABC) (1, 4). In accordance with this, PCNSLs show rearranged immunoglobulin genes, ongoing somatic hypermutation, and persistent B cell lymphoma 6 (BCL6) activity but lack terminal B-cell differentiation resulting in a fixed IgM/IgD phenotype (5-8). Frequent mutations in the B-cell receptor (BCR) and Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9) pathways (9, 10) with transcriptional upregulation of NF-kB, overrepresentation of the autoimmunity-linked immunoglobulin gene VH4-34 (5, 11) and persistent expression of functional BCRs despite ongoing somatic hypermutation (7), all indicate an important role of antigenic BCR stimulation in the pathogenesis of PCNSL (12). This seems particularly true for primary vitreoretinal lymphomas which display an even more restricted immunoglobulin gene repertoire (11). PCNSLs are confined to the CNS, limited exclusively to the brain, spinal cord, leptomeninges, and eyes. This selective tropism may be caused by proteins that are expressed exclusively in the CNS stimulating only B-cells residing in the CNS (12, 13). Importantly, the CNS counts as immune sanctuary along with eyes and testes, allowing for lymphoma development under reduced immunosurveillance (14, 15).

First-line treatment of PCNSL is divided into induction therapy followed by a consolidation regimen (16). High initial response rates of up to 86% can be achieved with induction therapies incorporating the agents methotrexate, rituximab, thiotepa, and cytarabine (MATRix) (17). With the results of the randomized phase 3 trial "HOVON 105/ALLG NHL 24," which found no clear benefit of the addition of rituximab to chemotherapy, the role of rituximab in first-line treatment of PCNSLs is controversial (18). High-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) is thought to be an effective, safe, and feasible consolidation strategy (19, 20). Whole brain radiotherapy (WBRT) is another effective treatment option but associated with long-term side effects like impairment of higher cognitive functions (20, 21). Even though initial response rates are high, almost half of responders are bound to relapse and about one-third of the patients are primary refractory (22–24). Additionally, conventional immunochemotherapy is accompanied by many side effects like cytopenia and immunoglobulin deficiency, putting patients at high risk of infections and bleeding events. New and specifically targeted strategies are therefore urgently needed as treatment options for PNCSL.

We recently identified the sterile α -motif domain containing protein 14 (SAMD14) and the neural tissue-specific F-actin binding protein I (neurabin-I) as antigenic targets of the BCR from 66% (8/12 recombinant BCRs, cloned from primary tissue biopsies) of PCNSLs (12). SAMD14 and neurabin-I are primarily expressed in the CNS and share a highly homologous domain (SAM) in which the BCR binding epitope was identified. This SAM-domain was found to be post-translationally modified (Nhyperglycosylated) only in PCNSL patients with BCRs of SAMD14 and neurabin-I reactivity. It is speculated that this posttranslational modification results in a chronic immune reaction leading to lymphoma development over time (12). When coupled to the pseudomonas exotoxin A (ETA), the PCNSL-binding epitope of SAMD14/neurabin-I (hereafter referred to only as neurabin-I) confers cytotoxic effects against DLBCL cells transfected with neurabin-I-specific BCRs in vitro. This therapeutic approach has been termed "BAR" for "B-cell receptor Antigen for Reverse targeting" (12, 25).

The aim of this work is to integrate the PCNSL-specific BAR neurabin-I into an antibody format to generate a neurabin-I BAR-body and to test its functionality. To achieve this, neurabin-I was first integrated into an antibody fragment (antigen binding fragment = Fab) and later into a full length IgG1 antibody for assessment of binding properties and therapeutic potential.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacteria, Cell Lines, and Cell Culture

The DLBCL cell line U2932 was kindly provided by the Dr. Senckenberg Institute of Pathology of the Goethe University Hospital Frankfurt. HEK 293T and OCI-Ly3 cells were purchased from DSMZ (Braunschweig, Germany). For authentication, concordance of the VH gene sequences with published sequences was demonstrated by PCR analysis and sequencing. Cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (Pan Biotech, Aidenbach, Germany), supplemented with 4 mmol glutamine and 10% FCS. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were prepared by Ficoll density centrifugation (1,500 rpm for 30 min) and used on day 2 after preparation without stimulation. DH5 α competent *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) were obtained from Thermo ScientificTM (Waltham, MA, USA) and used for general cloning and sub-cloning. TG1 *E. coli* were used for expression of the heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-body.

Expression of a Neurabin-I Reactive BCR in OCI-Ly3 and U2932 Cells

To our knowledge there are no EBV-negative PCNSL cell lines which could be tested for neurabin-I autoreactivity and used for further studies. As substitute, two DLBCL cell lines, OCI-Lv3 and U2932, were transfected with a BCR with neurabin-I specificity cloned from a DNA sample of a PCNSL patient. For cloning we used a modified pRTS-1 expression vector which comprised following components: a heavy chain variable region (VH), heavy chain constant regions CH1-CH4, TM1, and TM2 as transmembrane regions, a cytoplasmic tail, a furin + 2A sequence, a light chain variable region (VL), and the light chain constant region (12, 26). VH and VL genes were derived from the neurabin-I reactive BCR of a PCNSL patient and obtained by digesting cryosections with 2 µl of proteinase K (Roche PCR grade) for 4 h at 55°C, followed by heat-inactivation at 95°C for 10 min. The subsequent semi nested PCRs were performed as described previously (12, 27, 28). PCR products of the PCNSL-derived VH and VL were re-extended according to corresponding immunoglobulin germline genes.

For transfection, $2 \times 10^7/\text{ml}$ OCI-Ly3 and U2932 cells were washed three times with FCS-free RPMI-1640. A Gen Pulser (Biorad) with a 0.2 cm cuvette was used to transfect 2×10^6 cells with 5 µg plasmid DNA (140 V, 30 ms pulses). Cells were then put on ice and cultured in RPMI-1640 medium with 20% FCS. Selection of stably transfected cell lines was done with hygromycin at 250 µg/ml. Variable region gene PCRs were used to confirm successful transfection. Western blot and flow cytometry with anti-Flag antibodies were used to show expression of the Flag-tagged BCR.

Cloning Strategy for the Heavy-Chain-Only Fab-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Body

A modified pCES1 vector was used for the assembly of recombinant heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies (29), comprising neurabin-I in substitution for the heavy chain variable domain (VH) and a CH1 domain. The light chain region was removed from the pCES1 vector by digesting 2 μg vector with 10 U of the restriction enzymes HindIII and AscI (Thermo ScientificTM, Waltham, MA, USA) for 1 h at 37°C. For DNA blunting, the vector was incubated with DNA Polymerase I, Large (Klenow) fragment (Thermo ScientificTM, Waltham, MA, USA) for 1 h at 37°C and blunt ends were ligated with 5 U T4-DNA ligase (Thermo ScientificTM, Waltham, MA, USA) at 37°C over-night. The construct was coupled to a modified exotoxin A of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ETA') by digesting the processed pCES1 vector with the restriction enzymes NotI and EcoRI following ligation of the accordingly prepared ETA' DNA fragment as described previously (30).

Three versions of the heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-body were cloned differing in the neurabin-I sequence selected to replace the variable region: version A (aa 1204–1324 of neurabin-I), version B (aa 1168–1285 of neurabin-I), version C (aa 1131–1250 of neurabin-I). Primers used are listed in **Table 1**. All versions contained the PCNSL binding neurabin-I epitope of 26 amino acids (aa 1226–1251) (12) at different positions from 5' to 3'.

Expression, Purification, and Detection of the Heavy-Chain-Only Fab-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Body

TG1 E. coli bacteria were transformed with the new vector comprising the heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BARbody coupled to ETA'. Recombinant soluble heavy-chain-only Fab BAR-bodies were expressed and purified as described previously (29, 31). In short, 50 µl of IPTG was added to 50 ml of TG1 bacteria (TY medium, cell density of 0.6 to 0.8 measured at 600 nm) for 4 h at 30°C and then centrifuged at 4,000 rpm for 15 min. After lysing, His-tagged and ETA'-coupled heavy-chainonly Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies were purified by immobilized metal affinity chromatography (IMAC) using Talon beads (Takara Bio USA, Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA). Proteins were eluted with 150 mM imidazole for 5 min at room temperature and detected by western blot analysis using Mouse Anti-His Tag Recombinant Antibody (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and Goat Anti-Mouse IgG (H + L)-HRP Conjugate (Bio-Rad, Munich, Germany).

Cloning Strategy for the IgG1-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Body

To assemble the sequence the IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body a pSfi FLAG-Tag expression vector was used. The pSfi FLAG-Tag vector is derived from the pEGFP-C1 vector of Clontech (Mountain View, CA, USA) from which the eGFP ORF was removed and

 TABLE 1 | Primers used for heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies.

Heavy-chain-only Fab-format BAR-Body	Name	Sequence (5'-3')
A	NRBI AA1204-Ncol-sense	CCA TGG CCA ATT TTA CCT TCA ATG AT
	NRBI AA1324-BstEll-antisense	GGT GAC CAT TTC CTT GAG TTT CTT
В	NRBI AA1168-Ncol-sense	CCA TGG CCA ACA CAT GGA TTA CAA AA
	NRBI AA1285-BstEll-antisense	GGT GAC CCC GAA TTC AGA TAC ATA CTG
С	NRBI AA1131-Ncol-sense	CCA TGG CCA ATG ACA GCC GGA AAG GA
	NRBI AA1251-BstEll-antisense	GGT GAC CCC AGA CTG TCC ATC ATC AAG

replaced by a FLAG-Tag. A pSfi-cloned IgG1 sequence consisting of a VH, the heavy chain constant regions CH1-CH3, a Furin + 2A sequence, a VL, and the light chain constant region (26) served as template. VH and VL were exchanged with a sequence of similar length (approximately 120 amino acids) of neurabin-I (aa 1168– 1285) containing the PCNSL reactive epitope (aa 1226–1251). Primers used are listed in **Table 2**. Restriction enzymes MunI and BstEII (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, USA) were used for insertion of the neurabin-I fragment into the VH region whereas AgeI and SmaI were used for insertion of the neurabin-I fragment into the VL region.

Expression, Purification, and Detection of the IgG1-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Body

The completely assembled IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body was transfected into HEK 293T cells for production. HEK 293T cells were cultivated to a confluence of about 50–70%. One microgram plasmid DNA was diluted in 100 μ l RPMI1640, mixed with 3 μ l of X-tremeGENETM HP DNA Transfection Reagent (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Munich, Germany) and incubated at room temperature for 10 min. Afterwards the preparation was added to HEK 293T cell cultures in a drop by drop fashion.

Purification of the IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body from the supernatant was performed via anti-FLAG antibody affinity chromatography using the ANTI-FLAG® M2 Affinity Gel (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA). To purify 50 ml supernatant, 200 µl anti-FLAG M2-Affinity Gel was washed once with 1 ml PBS and then incubated with supernatant overnight at 4°C. The mixture was then centrifuged for 10 min at 2,500 rpm which was repeated a second time after discarding the supernatant in a new vessel for 3 min at 1,800 rpm. Three washing steps followed, each with 1 ml PBS and centrifugation was performed at 10,000 rpm for 30 s. Flagtagged IgG1 neurabin-I BAR-bodies were eluted from the gel by adding 250 µl glycine pH 3 for 2 min with subsequent centrifugation at 10,000 rpm for 30 s. Supernatant containing the isolated IgG1 BAR-bodies was supplemented with 25 µl Na2HPO4. To exchange the IgG1 BAR-bodies into a different buffer system overnight dialysis against PBS was performed.

The BAR-body was detected by western blot analysis. Concentrated IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies were loaded on to a 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membrane using a transblot semi-dry transfer cell (Bio Rad). After blocking overnight at 4°C in PBS supplemented with 10% nonfat dry milk, transferred proteins were incubated with murine Monoclonal ANTI-FLAG[®] M2 antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) at 1:2,500 for 45 min at room temperature. The membrane was rinsed with TBS 5 times for 2 min each before and after it was incubated with Goat AntiMouse IgG (H+L)-HRP conjugate (Bio-Rad, Feldkirchen) at 1:3,000 for 45 min. The chemiluminescence reagent LumiGLO[®] Reagent (Cell Signaling Technology, Frankfurt, Germany) was used for immunoblot detection.

Flow Cytometric Binding Assays

All flow cytometric analyses were performed using a BD FACS Canto Flow Cytometer and data was analyzed with WinMDI Software version 2.3 (Purdue University Cytometry Laboratories). Binding of heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies to neurabin-I reactive BCRs was tested as follows: 5×10^6 OCI-Ly3 cells transfected with a neurabin-I reactive BCR were incubated with 5 µg/ml of each BAR body (versions A, B, and C) for 30 min at 4°C, washed with PBS and stained with 5 µl of Penta-His-Allophycocyanin-Antibody (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) for 30 min at 4°C. OCI-Ly3 cells not transfected with the recombinant neurabin-I reactive BCR served as control cells and MAZ, the BCR target of the leukemic cells from a CLL patient, as control antigen (12).

Internalization assays were performed for version B of the Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies (32). 5×10^6 OCI-Ly3 cells transfected with a neurabin-I reactive BCR were incubated with 5 µg/ml of the Fab-format neurabin-I BAR body (version B) for 30 min at 4°C. After a washing step in PBS, cells were incubated at 37°C for 30 min, fixed with 500 µl of 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 15 min at 4°C, and permeabilized with 800 µl of 0.5% saponin. Intracellular staining of internalized Fab-format BAR-body (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) for 30 min at 4°C.

To determine binding properties of IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies to target cells, 5×10^6 U2932 cells transfected with a neurabin-I reactive BCR were incubated with 10 µg/ml IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies for 30 min, washed in PBS, and stained with murine Monoclonal ANTI-FLAG[®] M2 antibody for 30 min at 4°C (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA). After another washing step in PBS, final staining was performed with goat antimouse IgG (H+L), APC for 30 min at 4°C (Thermo ScientificTM, Waltham, MA, USA). IgG1 format BAR-bodies incorporating LRPAP1, an irrelevant BCR antigen of mantle cell lymphomas, served as controls.

Cytotoxicity Assays

Cytotoxicity of the constructs was determined by LDH release assay ("Cytotoxicity Detection Kit" by Roche). 5×10^3 OCI-Ly3 and U2932 lymphoma cells with or without neurabin-I reactive BCR were placed in each well.

Version B of ETA'-coupled Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-body and IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body were applied at

TABLE 2 | Primers used for the IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body.

IgG1-format BAR-Body	Name	Sequence (5′-3′)
Heavy chain	NRBI AA1168-Munl-sense	CAA TTG AAC ACA TGG ATT ACA AAA
	NRBI AA1285-BstEll-antisense	GGT GAC CCC GAA TTC AGA TAC ATA CTC
Light chain	NRBI AA1168-Agel-sense	ACC GGT AAC ACA TGG ATT ACA AAA
5	NRBI AA-1285-Smal-antisense	CCC GGG GAA TTC AGA TAC ATA CTG

concentrations of 10, 5, 2.5, and 1.25 μ g/ml. As Controls the constructs MAZ-ETA' and an IgG1-format BAR-body incorporating the B-cell receptor antigen LRPAP1 (25) or no construct were used.

To facilitate antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), PBMCs were added to target cells and IgG1-format BAR-bodies at an effector/target ratio of 10:1, corresponding to 5×10^4 PBMCs per well.

Specific lysis was determined as (experimental lysis – spontaneous lysis)/(maximum lysis – spontaneous lysis) \times 100. Maximum lysis was determined after adding 10% Triton X-100. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was measured according to the protocol of the LDH assay kit (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). ELISA read-out was done using a Victor II microplate reader (PerkinElmer, Rodgau, Germany).

All experiments were performed in triplicate. Values (OD at 490 nm or specific lysis in %) are given as statistical mean of three experiments \pm standard error of the mean.

RESULTS

Cloning and Expression of the Heavy-Chain-Only Fab-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Bodies

We aimed to clone and express three versions of a BAR-body construct that integrates the BCR-binding epitope of neurabin-I into a heavy-chain-only Fab-format. The variable region of a Fabantibody is replaced by the BCR-binding epitope of neurabin-I (aa 1226–1251) to create the BAR region of the Fab-format BAR-body (**Supplementary Figures 1** and **2**). In order to mimic the molecular mass and conformation of a normal Fab-antibody, the epitope region was complemented by amino acids either at the NH2 (version A), the COOH (version C), or both ends (version B). The heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR bodies in their versions A, B, and C were coupled to ETA' to mediate cytotoxicity to target cells (**Supplementary Figure 1**). The amino acid sequence enumeration refers to isoform 3 of neurabin-I (uniprot accession number: Q9ULJ8-3). Western blot analysis shows successful expression of heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR bodies after expression in TG1 *E. coli* bacteria. Versions A and B were produced as three clones each (1–3) and BAR-Body C was produced as single clone (clone 4). All Fab-format BAR bodies had the expected molecular weight of approximately 67 kDa corresponding to 628 amino acids (**Figure 1**).

Identification of a Fab-Format BAR-Body Version With Highly Selective Binding Properties to Lymphoma Cells Expressing Neurabin-I Reactive BCRs

All three Fab-format BAR-body versions were tested for binding to OCI-ly3 cells transfected to express a patient-derived neurabin-I reactive BCR. As a control, all BAR-bodies were first tested against unmanipulated OCI-Ly3 cells; no binding could be observed (**Figure 2A**). All BAR- bodies were then tested against OCI-ly3 cells expressing a neurabin-I reactive BCR. As a positive control, the immunotoxin NRB-I/ETA was measured since it was previously shown to specifically bind to neurabin-I reactive BCRs (12). NRB-I/ETA bound indeed to OCI-ly3 cells expressing a neurabin-I reactive BCRs (12). NRB-I/ETA bound indeed to OCI-ly3 cells expressing a neurabin-I reactive BCR (**Figure 2**). Of the BAR body clones, clone 2 of version B bound to OCI-ly3 cells expressing a neurabin-I reactive BCR, whereas all other clones did not bind (**Figure 2B**).

We tested the binding of clone 2 version B in a second independent set of experiments against an irrelevant antigen



(MAZ) coupled to the pseudomonas exotoxin A (MAZ/ETA). In the control experiments, no binding could be observed against unmanipulated OCI-Ly3 cells (**Supplementary Figure 3A**) but again we found specific binding of clone 2 version B but not the irrelevant antigen MAZ against OCI-ly3 cells expressing a neurabin-I reactive BCR (**Supplementary Figure 3B**).

Finally, surface (**Supplementary Figure 4A**) and intracellular (**Supplementary Figure 4B**) staining of OCI-ly3 cells transfected to express neurabin-I reactive BCRs with heavy-chain-only Fabformat neurabin-I BAR-bodies shows internalization of Fabformat BAR-bodies after 30 min incubation at 37°C. MAZ/ ETA was used as control (left histograms of **Supplementary Figures 4A, B**). We conclude that clone 2 version B binds specifically to OCIly3 cells expressing a neurabin-I reactive BCR. Therefore, the Fab-format BAR-body of clone 2, version B was selected for further evaluation and a new batch of constructs was produced (**Supplementary Figure 5**).

Heavy-Chain-Only Fab-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Body Mediates Killing of Lymphoma Cells Expressing a Neurabin-I Reactive BCR

Heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-body-induced specific cytotoxicity was measured by LDH release. No construct, MAZ/ETA and unmanipulated OCI-Ly3 cells were used as controls (**Figure 3**). Incubation of heavy-chain-only Fab-



FIGURE 2 | Identification of a Fab-format BAR-body incorporating neurabin-I with binding capacity to DLBCL cells expressing a neurabin-I reactive BCR. Fabformat BAR bodies were generated in three different versions (version A, version B, and version C; see **Supplementary Figure 1**). (A) All three versions were tested for binding to OCI-Iy3 cells that were not transfected with a patient-derived neurabin-I reactive BCR. No unspecific binding was detected. (B) Clone 2 of version B showed binding to OCI-Iy3 cells transfected to express a neurabin-I reactive BCR similar to positive controls consisting of the immunotoxin NRB-I/ETA that has previously been shown to specifically bind to neurabin-I reactive BCRs. format neurabin-I BAR-bodies (of clone 2 version B) with untransfected OCI-ly3 DLBCL cells at different concentrations (1.25–10 µg/ml) resulted in no LDH release indicating no unspecific Fab-format BAR-body-induced cytotoxicity (**Figure 3A**). In contrast, heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BARbodies of clone 2 version B conferred cytotoxicity to OCI-ly3 DLBCL cells transfected with neurabin-I reactive BCRs. Fabformat BAR-body concentrations from 1.25 to 10 µg/ml were tested. Maximum LDH release was reached at approximately 10 µg/ml (**Figure 3B**). Fab-format BAR-body-induced lysis in relation to minimal and maximal lysis (specific lysis) is dose dependent, starting with approximately 30% at 1.25 µg/ml and reaching >90% at 10 µg/ml (**Figure 3C**) compared to maximal lysis by triton.

Generation of an IgG1-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Body

After determining the appropriate conformation of the BARregion in Fab-format antibodies, we applied these findings to the generation of an IgG1-format BAR-body. We exchanged the variable regions of an IgG1 antibody for neurabin-I and adjacent amino acids as performed in the BAR-region of the Fab-format BAR-body, version B (**Supplementary Figure 6**). IgG1-format BAR-bodies were detected by Western Blot analysis using anti-Flag antibodies (**Figure 4A**) and by Coomassie Blue staining (**Figure 4B**). Both analyses confirmed the estimated molecular weight of the IgG1-format BAR-body of approximately 150 kD which is comparable to the molecular weight of IgG antibodies.

Highly Selective Binding of IgG1-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Bodies to Lymphoma Cells Expressing Neurabin-I Reactive BCRs

To test whether IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies bind to lymphoma cells expressing neurabin-I reactive BCRs, U2932 cells (**Figure 5A**) and U2932 cells transfected with a neurabin-I reactive BCR (**Figure 5B**) were stained with 10 μ g/ml IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body. Selective binding of the IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies to lymphoma cells with neurabin-I reactive BCRs was observed (compare right-side histograms of **Figures 5A, B**). IgG1-format BAR-bodies incorporating LRPAP1, an irrelevant BCR antigen of mantle cell lymphomas (25), served as control (left histograms of **Figures 5A, B**).

IgG1-Format Neurabin-I BAR-Bodies Confer Selective, ADCC-Mediated, Cytotoxic Effects to Lymphoma Cells

We tested if IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies induce PBMCmediated specific cytotoxicity against lymphoma cells expressing a BCR with neurabin-I reactivity. No construct, IgG1-format BAR-bodies incorporating LRPAP1 (25) or U2932 cells expressing native BCRs were used as controls.

IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies were tested at different concentrations (1.25–10 $\mu g/ml).$ After incubation with



FIGURE 3 | Heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-body induced specific cytotoxicity as measured by LDH release. MAZ/ETA, an irrelevant antigen (BCR target of the leukemic cells of a CLL patient) linked to pseudomonas exotoxin A, was used as control. All experiments were performed in triplicate. (A) Heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-body incubation with OCI-Iy3 DLBCL cells at different concentrations (1.25–10 µg/ml) results in no LDH release indicating no unspecific Fab-format BAR-body induced cytotoxicity. (B) Heavy-chain-only Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-body at different concentrations (1.25–10 µg/ml) confers cytotoxicity to OCI-Iy3 DLBCL cells transfected with neurabin-I reactive BCRs. Maximum LDH release is reached at approximately 10 µg/ml. (C) Fab-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies mediate specific lysis (calculated as described in the material and methods section) in a dose dependent manner, starting with approximately 30% at 1.25 µg/ml and reaching >90% at 10 µg/ml.







unmanipulated U2932 DLBCL cells and PBMCs (E:T ratio of 10:1) no LDH release was observed indicating no unspecific IgG1-format BAR-body-induced cytotoxicity (**Figure 6A**). When applying IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body to U2932 DLBCL cells transfected with neurabin-I reactive BCRs and

PBMCs (E:T ratio of 10:1), dose-dependent PBMC-mediated cytotoxicity was observed (Figure 6B).

Specific lysis is mediated in a dose-dependent manner, starting from 4% at 1.25 μ g/ml and going up to 58% at 10 μ g/ml (**Figure 6C**) compared to the triton control.



LRPAP1, an irrelevant BCH antigen of mantie cell tymphomas, were used as controls. All experiments were performed in triplicate. (A) IgG1-format neurabin-I BARbody at different concentrations (1.25–10 µg/ml) incubated with U2932 DLBCL cells and PBMCs (E:T ratio of 10:1) results in no LDH release indicating no unspecific IgG1-format BAR-body induced cytotoxicity. (B) IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body (concentrations 1.25–10 µg/ml) confers dose-dependent and PBMC-mediated cytotoxicity to U2932 DLBCL cells transfected with neurabin-I reactive BCRs at an effector to target ratio of 10:1.(C) IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies confer specific lysis to U2932 cells transfected to express a neurabin-I reactive BCR (PBMC-mediated ADCC). LDH release is mediated in a dose-dependent manner, starting from 4% at 1.25 µg/ml going up to 58% at 10 µg/ml.

DISCUSSION

We developed a molecule resembling an IgG1 antibody, that contains the BCR-binding epitope of the common PCNSL antigens SAMD14 and neurabin-I instead of variable regions to target BCRs with specificity for neurabin-I. This molecule, termed IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body, showed binding capacity only to lymphoma cells expressing a BCR with neurabin-I reactivity and exerted cytotoxic effects exclusively on lymphoma cells expressing a BCR of this specificity. As shown recently, more than 50% of all PCNSLs express a BCR with reactivity against neurabin-I (12) rendering more than half of all PCNSLs theoretically susceptible to neurabin-I BAR-body therapy.

The BCR of B-cell lymphoma cells is considered to be an ideal target for therapeutic approaches since it has a unique variable region (also called idiotype) distinguishing it from BCRs of normal B-cells and it is expressed abundantly on lymphoma cells. Different strategies have been developed to exploit the distinctiveness of the BCR of B-cell lymphomas. Anti-idiotype antibodies were the first therapeutics to be developed and tested with moderate success. They were either collected from animals immunized with the BCR of a patient's lymphoma (33–36) or produced by patient vaccination with processed B-cell receptors of lymphoma cells (37, 38). More recently, Ronald Levy et al. developed a treatment approach termed peptibody, where small peptides are selected using a phage display library to develop anti-idiotype peptides that are affixed to an IgG Fc protein (39). The major drawback of anti-idiotype therapies developed so far is

that they have to be produced individually on a patient by patient basis. Therapies incorporating a common B-cell receptor antigen that is shared as the antigenic target of a large percentage of a given B-cell lymphoma entity, like the neurabin-I BAR-body in the treatment of CNS lymphomas, would overcome such problems.

The findings of Thurner et al. (12) differ from those published by Montesinos-Rongen, who describes the BCRs of PCNSLs as mostly polyreactive with some BCRs recognizing galectin-3 and other antigens expressed in the CNS (13, 40). Further studies investigating the reactivity of more recombinant PCNSL-derived BCRs using an identical methodological approach will have to resolve these conflicting results. Nevertheless, it is noteworthy that our treatment approach to integrate BCR antigens into antibody formats would be applicable to all antigens identified.

The described neurabin-I BAR-body mimics the molecular structure of an IgG1 antibody with the variable regions exchanged for the shared PCNSL BCR epitope of SAMD14 and neurabin-I. The PCNSL binding epitope of neurabin-I comprises 26 amino acids (aa 1226–1251) which is much shorter than immunoglobulin variable regions, normally consisting of 110–130 aa (12, 41). To match the size of immunoglobulin variable regions in the neurabin-I BAR-body, we elongated the PCNSL-binding epitope to 120 amino acids with adjacent neurabin-I amino acids creating the BAR region. At the start it was unknown how the addition of amino acids to the BCR binding epitope would influence its binding properties. Therefore, we used a heavy-chain-only Fab-format to test different BAR region formations, containing the PCNSL-binding epitope either at its beginning (aa 1204–1324 of

neurabin-I), its middle (aa 1168-1285 of neurabin-I), or its end (aa 1131-1250 of neurabin-I). The amino acid sequence numeration refers to isoform 3 of neurabin-I. These three neurabin-I BAR regions, carrying the common epitope responsible for binding to the BCR of PCNSL at different positions, were produced prokaryotically as heavy-chain-only Fab-format BAR-bodies. These initial exploratory experiments were performed due to lack of information on how the integration of the neurabin-I epitope into an antibody format would influence its binding properties to neurabin-I specific BCRs. When the 26 aa comprising neurabin-I epitope is flanked by non-epitope regions to form a 120 aa neurabin-I BAR region (aa 1168-1285 of neurabin-I) its binding properties to PCNSL BCRs are preserved. The causes for the lack of binding capacity of the other two Fab-format BAR-body variations to PCNSL BCRs with neurabin-I reactivity are not clear. Accordingly, the eukaryotically produced, full-length IgG1 neurabin-I BAR-body incorporating the appropriate BAR region was also able to bind to DLBCL cells, that were genetically engineered to express a patient-derived BCR with neurabin-I reactivity. In-vitro LDH-release assays showed the ability of the Fab-format and IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-bodies to selectively kill DLBCL cells expressing corresponding BCRs.

The glycosylation status of produced BAR-bodies has not been assessed. Mass spectrometry analysis might be able to determine the glycosylation status of integrated neurabin-I epitopes. But while it would be interesting to determine hyper N-glycosylation of the described BAR-bodies, we think it has no bearing on our experiments. In previous work it could be shown that PCNSL-derived BCRs reacted with both the normally glycosylated and the hyper N-glycosylated SAMD14/neurabin-I isoforms (12). The isoform-specific immune reaction may be mediated by CD4+ T cells, which stimulate non-isoform-specific neurabin-I reactive B cells.

It remains to be clarified whether the IgG format is suitable for the further development of BAR-integrating therapeutics. The concentrations that are needed for the reported neurabin-I BARbody to reach approximately 50% specific lysis are higher than the concentrations that have been reported for rituximab (42). This difference may be attributed to different factors. First, the PCNSLderived BCR was transfected to be expressed by DLBCL cell lines which also express their natural BCR possibly resulting in a reduced expression of the PCNSL BCR on cells. Secondly, the BAR-body construct targets the variable region of the BCR with its presumed cognate antigen. This BCR-antigen interaction has not been quantified yet, for example by determining the affinity of neurabin-I to the BCR by plasmon resonance imaging. A low affinity may be sufficient to contribute to lymphoma development but may also necessitate high concentrations of BAR-bodies incorporating the cognate BCR antigen.

Regarding the size of full-length IgG antibodies, it is thought to result in an impaired ability to pass the blood-brain barrier and therefore leading to reduced CNS antibody concentrations. Rubenstein et al reported rituximab concentrations of as low as 0.1% of serum antibody concentrations (43). The role of the IgG antibody rituximab in the first-line treatment of PCNSL has been controversial, but evidence from the IELSG trials indicate clinical efficacy (17) and there have been reports of complete remissions after i.v. rituximab administration in the relapse setting (44). Also, intrathecal application of BAR-bodies is a conceivable route of administration (45). We therefore think that the IgG format is appropriate for the treatment of PCNSLs but as long as there is no *in-vivo* data, this notion remains speculative.

Taken together, our study justifies further development of BARbodies as promising tools for the treatment of CNS lymphomas. Nevertheless, major challenges might arise that range from the identification of more PCNSL antigens over the penetration of the blood-brain barrier to escape mechanisms of malignant B-cells. When the B-cell receptor is targeted, these problems could result from genetic alterations, common to malignant B cells like somatic hypermutation, to reduce the affinity to a B-cell receptor antigen and therapeutic BAR approaches. Thus, *in-vivo* studies are needed to further investigate the efficacy and potential drawbacks of the IgG1-format neurabin-I BAR-body in the treatment of CNS lymphoma.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and LT wrote the manuscript. MB, LT, FN, K-DP, and MP designed and supervised the experiments. LG, CM, MK, ER, and NF performed the experiments. MB and LT are responsible for data analysis. SS, KC, DK-M and MH revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from Wilhelm-Sander-Stiftung (a charity foundation in Munich, Germany).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We dedicate this work to MP, the intellectual father of the BAR approach. We are grateful to the entire team of the José-Carreras-Centre for Immuno- and Gene Therapy and the Department of Internal Medicine I of Saarland University Medical School for their continuous logistic and intellectual support.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2020.580364/ full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, Harris NL, Stein H, Siebert R, et al. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. *Blood* (2016) 127(20):2375–90. doi: doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-01-643569
- Villano JL, Koshy M, Shaikh H, Dolecek TA, McCarthy BJ. Age, gender, and racial differences in incidence and survival in primary CNS lymphoma. Br J Cancer (2011) 105(9):1414–8. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.357
- Schlegel U.Primary CNS lymphoma. Ther Adv Neurol Disord (2009) 2(2):93– 104. doi: 10.1177/1756285608101222
- Montesinos-Rongen M, Brunn A, Bentink S, Basso K, Lim WK, Klapper W, et al. Gene expression profiling suggests primary central nervous system lymphomas to be derived from a late germinal center B cell. *Leukemia* (2008) 22(2):400–5. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2405019
- Montesinos-Rongen M, Kuppers R, Schluter D, Spieker T, Van Roost D, Schaller C, et al. Primary central nervous system lymphomas are derived from germinalcenter B cells and show a preferential usage of the V4-34 gene segment. *Am J Pathol* (1999) 155(6):2077–86. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65526-5
- Brunn A, Nagel I, Montesinos-Rongen M, Klapper W, Vater I, Paulus W, et al. Frequent triple-hit expression of MYC, BCL2, and BCL6 in primary lymphoma of the central nervous system and absence of a favorable MYC (low)BCL2 (low) subgroup may underlie the inferior prognosis as compared to systemic diffuse large B cell lymphomas. *Acta Neuropathol* (2013) 126 (4):603–5. doi: 10.1007/s00401-013-1169-7
- Thompsett AR, Ellison DW, Stevenson FK, Zhu D. V(H)gene sequences from primary central nervous system lymphomas indicate derivation from highly mutated germinal center B cells with ongoing mutational activity. *Blood* (1999) 94(5):1738–46. doi: 10.1182/blood.V94.5.1738
- Pels H, Montesinos-Rongen M, Schaller C, Schlegel U, Schmidt-Wolf IG, Wiestler OD, et al. VH gene analysis of primary CNS lymphomas. *J Neurol Sci* (2005) 228(2):143–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2004.11.038
- 9. Chapuy B, Roemer MG, Stewart C, Tan Y, Abo RP, Zhang L, et al. Targetable genetic features of primary testicular and primary central nervous system lymphomas. *Blood* (2016) 127(7):869–81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-10-673236
- Montesinos-Rongen M, Schmitz R, Brunn A, Gesk S, Richter J, Hong K, et al. Mutations of CARD11 but not TNFAIP3 may activate the NF-kappaB pathway in primary CNS lymphoma. *Acta Neuropathol* (2010) 120(4):529– 35. doi: 10.1007/s00401-010-0709-7
- Belhouachi N, Xochelli A, Boudjoghra M, Lesty C, Cassoux N, Fardeau C, et al. Primary vitreoretinal lymphomas display a remarkably restricted immunoglobulin gene repertoire. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4(7):1357–66. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000980
- Thurner L, Preuss KD, Bewarder M, Kemele M, Fadle N, Regitz E, et al. Hyper-N-glycosylated SAMD14 and neurabin-I as driver autoantigens of primary central nervous system lymphoma. *Blood* (2018) 132(26):2744–53. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-03-836932
- Montesinos-Rongen M, Purschke FG, Brunn A, May C, Nordhoff E, Marcus K, et al. Primary Central Nervous System (CNS) Lymphoma B Cell Receptors Recognize CNS Proteins. J Immunol (2015) 195(3):1312–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1402341
- Harney J, Pope A, Short SC. Primary central nervous system lymphoma with testicular relapse. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)* (2004) 16(3):193–5. doi: 10.1016/ j.clon.2003.12.003
- Booman M, Douwes J, Legdeur MC, van Baarlen J, Schuuring E, Kluin P. From brain to testis: immune escape and clonal selection in a B cell lymphoma with selective outgrowth in two immune sanctuaries [correction of sanctuariesy]. *Haematologica* (2007) 92(6):e69–71. doi: 10.3324/haematol.11421
- Schaff LR, Grommes C. Updates on Primary Central Nervous System Lymphoma. Curr Oncol Rep (2018) 20(2):11. doi: 10.1007/s11912-018-0666-1
- Ferreri AJ, Cwynarski K, Pulczynski E, Ponzoni M, Deckert M, Politi LS, et al. Chemoimmunotherapy with methotrexate, cytarabine, thiotepa, and rituximab (MATRix regimen) in patients with primary CNS lymphoma: results of the first randomisation of the International Extranodal Lymphoma Study Group-32 (IELSG32) phase 2 trial. *Lancet Haematol* (2016) 3(5):e217–27. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(16)00036-3
- Bromberg JEC, Issa S, Bakunina K, Minnema MC, Seute T, Durian M, et al. Rituximab in patients with primary CNS lymphoma (HOVON 105/ALLG

NHL 24): arandomised, open-label, phase 3 intergroup study. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20(2):216–28. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30747-2

- Ferreri AJ, Illerhaus G. The role of autologous stem cell transplantation in primary central nervous system lymphoma. *Blood* (2016) 127(13):1642–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-10-636340
- 20. Ferreri AJM, Cwynarski K, Pulczynski E, Fox CP, Schorb E, La Rosee P, et al. Whole-brain radiotherapy or autologous stem-cell transplantation as consolidation strategies after high-dose methotrexate-based chemoimmunotherapy in patients with primary CNS lymphoma: results of the second randomisation of the International Extranodal Lymphoma Study Group-32 phase 2 trial. *Lancet Haematol* (2017) 4(11):e510–e23. doi: 10.1016/ S2352-3026(17)30174-6
- Correa DD, Shi W, Abrey LE, Deangelis LM, Omuro AM, Deutsch MB, et al. Cognitive functions in primary CNS lymphoma after single or combined modality regimens. *Neuro Oncol* (2012) 14(1):101–8. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/ nor186
- Cai Q, Fang Y, Young KH. Primary Central Nervous System Lymphoma: Molecular Pathogenesis and Advances in Treatment. *Transl Oncol* (2019) 12 (3):523–38. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2018.11.011
- Jahnke K, Thiel E, Martus P, Herrlinger U, Weller M, Fischer L, et al. Relapse of primary central nervous system lymphoma: clinical features, outcome and prognostic factors. J Neurooncol (2006) 80(2):159–65. doi: 10.1007/s11060-006-9165-6
- 24. Hoang-Xuan K, Bessell E, Bromberg J, Hottinger AF, Preusser M, Ruda R, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of primary CNS lymphoma in immunocompetent patients: guidelines from the European Association for Neuro-Oncology. *Lancet Oncol* (2015) 16(7):e322–32. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(15)00076-5
- 25. Thurner L, Hartmann S, Fadle N, Kemele M, Bock T, Bewarder M, et al. LRPAP1 is a frequent proliferation-inducing antigen of BCRs of mantle cell lymphomas and can be used for specific therapeutic targeting. *Leukemia* (2018) 33(1):148–58. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0182-1
- Freitag J, Heink S, Roth E, Wittmann J, Jack HM, Kamradt T. Towards the generation of B-cell receptor retrogenic mice. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(10):e109199. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109199
- 27. Kuppers R, Schneider M, Hansmann ML. Laser-based microdissection of single cells from tissue sections and PCR analysis of rearranged immunoglobulin genes from isolated normal and malignant human B cells. *Methods Mol Biol* (2013) 971:49–63. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-269-8_3
- Kuppers R, Zhao M, Hansmann ML, Rajewsky K. Tracing B cell development in human germinal centres by molecular analysis of single cells picked from histological sections. *EMBO J* (1993) 12(13):4955–67. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1993.tb06189.x
- de Haard HJ, van Neer N, Reurs A, Hufton SE, Roovers RC, Henderikx P, et al. A large non-immunized human Fab fragment phage library that permits rapid isolation and kinetic analysis of high affinity antibodies. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274(26):18218–30. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.26.18218
- Nachreiner T, Kampmeier F, Thepen T, Fischer R, Barth S, Stocker M. Depletion of autoreactive B-lymphocytes by a recombinant myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein-based immunotoxin. J Neuroimmunol (2008) 195(1-2):28–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.01.001
- Hoogenboom HR, Griffiths AD, Johnson KS, Chiswell DJ, Hudson P, Winter G. Multi-subunit proteins on the surface of filamentous phage: methodologies for displaying antibody (Fab) heavy and light chains. *Nucleic Acids Res* (1991) 19(15):4133–7. doi: 10.1093/nar/19.15.4133
- Jacob MC, Favre M, Bensa JC. Membrane cell permeabilization with saponin and multiparametric analysis by flow cytometry. *Cytometry* (1991) 12(6):550– 8. doi: 10.1002/cyto.990120612
- Hough DW, Eady RP, Hamblin TJ, Stevenson FK, Stevenson GT. Antiidiotype sera raised against surface immunoglobulin of human neoplastic lymphocytes. J Exp Med (1976) 144(4):960–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.144.4.960
- Hamblin TJ, Abdul-Ahad AK, Gordon J, Stevenson FK, Stevenson GT. Preliminary experience in treating lymphocytic leukaemia with antibody to immunoglobulin idiotypes on the cell surfaces. *Br J Cancer* (1980) 42(4):495– 502. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1980.271
- Meeker TC, Lowder J, Maloney DG, Miller RA, Thielemans K, Warnke R, et al. A clinical trial of anti-idiotype therapy for B cell malignancy. *Blood* (1985) 65(6):1349–63. doi: 10.1182/blood.V65.6.1349.bloodjournal6561349

- Miller RA, Maloney DG, Warnke R, Levy R. Treatment of B-cell lymphoma with monoclonal anti-idiotype antibody. N Engl J Med (1982) 306(9):517–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198203043060906
- 37. Kwak LW, Campbell MJ, Czerwinski DK, Hart S, Miller RA, Levy R. Induction of immune responses in patients with B-cell lymphoma against the surface-immunoglobulin idiotype expressed by their tumors. N Engl J Med (1992) 327(17):1209–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199210223271705
- Levy R, Ganjoo KN, Leonard JP, Vose JM, Flinn IW, Ambinder RF, et al. Active idiotypic vaccination versus control immunotherapy for follicular lymphoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2014) 32(17):1797–803. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.43.9273
- Torchia J, Weiskopf K, Levy R. Targeting lymphoma with precision using semisynthetic anti-idiotype peptibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113 (19):5376–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1603335113
- 40. Montesinos-Rongen M, Terrao M, May C, Marcus K, Blumcke I, Hellmich M, et al. The process of somatic hypermutation increases polyreactivity for central nervous system antigens in primary central nervous system lymphoma. *Haematologica* (2020). doi: 10.3324/haematol.2019.242701
- Schroeder HWJr., Cavacini L. Structure and function of immunoglobulins. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2010) 125(2 Suppl 2):S41–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.09.046
- 42. Herter S, Herting F, Mundigl O, Waldhauer I, Weinzierl T, Fauti T, et al. Preclinical activity of the type II CD20 antibody GA101 (obinutuzumab) compared with rituximab and ofatumumab in vitro and in xenograft models. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2013) 12(10):2031–42. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-1182

- Rubenstein JL, Combs D, Rosenberg J, Levy A, McDermott M, Damon L, et al. Rituximab therapy for CNS lymphomas: targeting the leptomeningeal compartment. *Blood* (2003) 101(2):466–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-06-1636
- 44. Batchelor TT, Grossman SA, Mikkelsen T, Ye X, Desideri S, Lesser GJ. Rituximab monotherapy for patients with recurrent primary CNS lymphoma. *Neurology* (2011) 76(10):929-30. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.0b013e31820f2d94
- 45. Schulz H, Pels H, Schmidt-Wolf I, Zeelen U, Germing U, Engert A. Intraventricular treatment of relapsed central nervous system lymphoma with the anti-CD20 antibody rituximab. *Haematologica* (2004) 89(6):753–4.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bewarder, Kiefer, Moelle, Goerens, Stilgenbauer, Christofyllakis, Kaddu-Mulindwa, Fadle, Regitz, Neumann, Hoth, Preuss, Pfreundschuh and Thurner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Immune Dysfunctions and Immune-Based Therapeutic Interventions in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Valentina Griggio^{1,2†}, Francesca Perutelli^{1,2†}, Chiara Salvetti^{1,2}, Elia Boccellato^{1,2}, Mario Boccadoro^{1,2}, Candida Vitale^{1,2†‡} and Marta Coscia^{1,2*†‡}

¹ University Division of Hematology, A.O.U. Città della Salute e della Scienza di Torino, Torino, Italy, ² Department of Molecular Biotechnology and Health Sciences, University of Torino, Torino, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Arnon Kater, Amsterdam University Medical Center (UMC), Netherlands Philipp M. Roessner, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Gemany

*Correspondence:

Marta Coscia marta.coscia@unito.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[‡]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 13 August 2020 Accepted: 14 October 2020 Published: 18 November 2020

Citation:

Griggio V, Perutelli F, Salvetti C, Boccellato E, Boccadoro M, Vitale C and Coscia M (2020) Immune Dysfunctions and Immune-Based Therapeutic Interventions in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Front. Immunol. 11:594556. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.594556 Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is a B-cell malignancy characterized by a wide range of tumor-induced alterations, which affect both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune response, and accumulate during disease progression. In recent years, the development of targeted therapies, such as the B-cell receptor signaling inhibitors and the Bcl-2 protein inhibitor venetoclax, has dramatically changed the treatment landscape of CLL. Despite their remarkable anti-tumor activity, targeted agents have some limitations, which include the development of drug resistance mechanisms and the inferior efficacy observed in high-risk patients. Therefore, additional treatments are necessary to obtain deeper responses and overcome drug resistance. Allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), which exploits immune-mediated graft-versus-leukemia effect to eradicate tumor cells, currently represents the only potentially curative therapeutic option for CLL patients. However, due to its potential toxicities, HSCT can be offered only to a restricted number of younger and fit patients. The growing understanding of the complex interplay between tumor cells and the immune system, which is responsible for immune escape mechanisms and tumor progression, has paved the way for the development of novel immune-based strategies. Despite promising preclinical observations, results from pilot clinical studies exploring the safety and efficacy of novel immune-based therapies have been sometimes suboptimal in terms of long-term tumor control. Therefore, further advances to improve their efficacy are needed. In this context, possible approaches include an earlier timing of immunotherapy within the treatment sequencing, as well as the possibility to improve the efficacy of immunotherapeutic agents by administering them in combination with other anti-tumor drugs. In this review, we will provide a comprehensive overview of main immune defects affecting patients with CLL, also describing the complex networks leading to immune evasion and tumor progression. From the therapeutic standpoint, we will go through the evolution of immune-based therapeutic approaches over time, including i) agents with broad immunomodulatory effects, such as immunomodulatory drugs, ii) currently approved and next-generation monoclonal antibodies, and iii) immunotherapeutic strategies aiming at activating or administering

51

immune effector cells specifically targeting leukemic cells (e.g. bi-or tri-specific antibodies, tumor vaccines, chimeric antigen receptor T cells, and checkpoint inhibitors).

Keywords: chronic lymphocytic leukemia, immune dysfunction, immunotherapy, immunomodulation, targeted therapy, cellular therapy, chimeric antigen receptor T cells

INTRODUCTION

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is a lymphoproliferative disease characterized by the clonal accumulation of mature B lymphocytes in the peripheral blood, bone marrow and secondary lymphoid organs (1). A hallmark of CLL is the variable clinical course, which reflects the biological heterogeneity of tumor cells. The lack of somatic mutations on immunoglobulin heavy chain variable (IGHV) genes, and/or the presence of chromosomal aberrations and genetic lesions identify patients with more aggressive forms of the disease [as reviewed in (1, 2)]. Besides intrinsic features of the malignant clone, profound defects of the immune system and the ability of leukemic cells to circumvent immune recognition and elimination are leading causes of tumor progression. In CLL, tumor cells and cellular components of the microenvironment are reciprocally interconnected and co-evolve, shaping each other during the course of the disease [as reviewed in (3-5)].

Some immunological alterations [e.g. T-cell and natutal killer (NK)-cell expansion, and reduction of circulating normal B cells] are also associated with monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL), a premalignant condition that precedes CLL (6, 7). However, most of the immune surveillance dysfunctions accumulate during disease evolution, most likely constributing to the transition from MBL to CLL [as reviewed in (8, 9)]. From the clinical standpoint, these immunologic dysregulations are responsible for the increased susceptibility to infections and secondary malignancies, the occurrence of autoimmune phenomena and the failure to control disease progression (10, 11) [and as reviewed in (5, 12–17)].

In patients with CLL carrying favorable prognostic factors (i.e. mutated IGHV genes), the chemoimmunotherapy combination regimen consisting of fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab (FCR) allows the achievement of undetectable minimal residual disease and long-term remissions (18). More recently, combinations including multiple targeted drugs with a different mechanism of action, such as BTK and Bcl-2 inhibitors with or without anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies (mAb), have shown very promising results in terms of depth and durability of response, although data are not yet mature (19–21).

Nevertheless, to date, the only therapeutic approach with a consolidated, long-term potentially curative effect is the allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT). HSCT, which is still considered a valuable treatment option for younger and fit patients with high-risk CLL (i.e. relapsed/ refractory patients with poor prognostic features), exploits a T-cell mediated graft-*versus*-leukemia reaction, thus supporting the evidence that a competent immune system can be effective in controlling and eradicating the tumor. Due to the advanced median age and the high frequency of comorbidities, HSCT can

be reserved only to a restricted number of patients with CLL [as reviewed in (22)]. However, other approaches exploiting immunological mechanisms, such as adoptive chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy, possibly in combination with drugs showing immunomodulatory properties (e.g. lenalidomide and targeted drugs), have shown promising preclinical and/or clinical results.

In this review, we will comprehensively describe immune alterations occurring in CLL, and we will go through the evolution of immune-based therapeutic approaches over time, also addressing most recent advances in the field of immunotherapy.

IMMUNE ESCAPE IN CLL

During the clinical course, CLL cells induce a progressive impairment of the immune system leading to a state of clinically manifest immune suppression, which is in part responsible for the lack of disease control [as reviewed in (3, 4)]. The association between immune deficiency and tumor progression has been widely explored in CLL. Studies report that immune defects characterizing patients since diagnosis frequently exacerbate in advanced CLL stages, and that a wide range of quantitative and qualitative alterations affect both the innate and the adaptive arms of the immune response, have been reported (as summarized in Figure 1) [as reviewed in (5, 23, 24)]. Defects in main players of innate immunity, which include cell populations of lymphoid (i.e. NK cells, NKT cells, and $\gamma\delta$ T cells) and myeloid [i.e. dendritic cells (DC) and macrophages] lineage, contribute to the ineffective triggering and maintenance of T-cell responses, as well as to their suboptimal cytotoxic activity. In the context of the adaptive immune response, several aberrations of the T-cell compartment, ranging from phenotypical changes to functional impairment, have been described [as reviewed in (24-26)]. Besides cellular components, significant alterations of the humoral response also contribute to the tumor immune escape in CLL (5). Elucidating the immune cell dysfunctions and identifying the mechanisms underlying immune suppression are crucial steps to attempt an immune system reactivation, and develop effective and novel immune-based treatment strategies.

Phenotypic and Functional Alterations of the NK- and NKT-Cell Compartments

Most studies report that NK-cell number is increased in the peripheral blood of CLL patients and associates with better prognosis (27–34). NK cells represent an appealing lymphocyte subset to be exploited in the context of immunotherapy, especially for their non-major histocompatibility complex



FIGURE 1 | Schematic overview of main defects affecting immune cell populations in CLL. The dysregulation of the immune response in CLL includes phenotypic alterations and functional impairments, which are present since the early stages and exacerbate during the course of the disease, thus promoting immune tolerance and tumor progression. The mutual interactions between leukemic cells and cellular elements of the immune system contribute to the establishment of a permissive or even supportive microenvironment that favors tumor progression, thus playing a key role in immune escape mechanisms.

(MHC)-restricted cytotoxicity (35). However, it has been demonstrated that autologous NK cells are not able to effectively eliminate CLL cells, because of both NK-cell intrinsic defects and immune escape mechanisms employed by tumor cells (36-41). The effector function of NK cells rely on combined signaling via a variety of activating and inhibitory receptors whose ligands are either expressed on the surface of target cells or secreted in soluble forms. Several studies focused their attention on the balance between inhibitory and activating receptors signals in CLL, and their role in regulating the final NK-cell-mediated anti-tumor response. The inhibitory receptors NKG2A and the killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), through the binding with their respective ligands HLA-E and HLA-A on tumor cells, suppress cytokine secretion and hamper direct cytotoxicity of NK cells against target cells (31, 42). The expression of NKG2A is similar on NK cells from CLL patients and healthy donors, whereas its ligand HLA-E is overexpressed on the surface of leukemic cells (41-44). It has been reported that plasma levels of soluble HLA-E (sHLA-E) are higher in advanced-stage CLL patients and associate to shorter treatment free survival. In addition, sHLA-E secreted by tumor cells *in vitro* inhibits cell degranulation and IFN-y production by NK cells, thus determining their functional impairment (44). Similarly, plasma samples from CLL patients were reported to contain increased levels of soluble HLA-G, the ligand of the inhibitory receptor (KIR)2DL4, and to be capable of dampening both the viability and cytotoxic function of NK cells from healthy donors in vitro (45). HLA-G is also bound with high affinity by the Ig-like transcript 2 (ILT2) inhibitory receptor, which is overexpressed on NK cells from CLL patients (43). As an additional inhibitory mechanism, in line with data on conventional T cells, the immune checkpoint Tim-3 was found to be aberrantly expressed on the NK-cell compartment (28).

Concerning activating receptors, the reduced expression of NKG2D, DNAM-1 and natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs) reported on NK cells of CLL patients compared to healthy individuals, is paralleled by a defective cytotoxic activity, degranulation and direct killing of target cells (28, 31, 32, 41, 46, 47). Of note, CLL cells have decreased surface level of NKG2D and NCRs ligands, which are also shed as soluble molecules (i.e. sMIC-A, sMIC-B, and sULBP2), thus contributing to a hindered recognition of tumor cells by NK cells (48–50). Notably, NK-cell dysfunctions are not permanent and can be reversed by proper stimulation with cytokines (i.e. IL-2, IL-15, IL-27) (41, 51, 52).

Despite the abnormalities reported so far, NK cells retain their ability to efficiently induce antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), through the binding of CD16 (Fc γ RIIIA) to the Fc-regions of antibody-antigen complexes located on the surface of tumor cells (31, 34, 41, 46, 53). In CLL, ADCC has a pivotal therapeutic role because several treatment strategies include anti-CD20 mAb, whose activity rely on this process. Due to their preserved ADCC function and the reversibility of other CLL-related dysfunctions, NK cells are therefore an attractive source for cellular immunotherapy in this disease.

Within innate immunity, another cell player with a potential anti-tumor role are type I NKT cells, also called invariant NKT (iNKT) cells. iNKT cells have the ability to activate and expand in response to antigens presented by CD1d (54–57). In CLL, little information regarding NKT cells and, specifically, iNKT cells is currently available, and mainly supports their contribution to CLL immune surveillance (58, 59). Interestingly, iNKT-cell frequency is significantly lower in patients with progressive disease than in patients with stable disease, and has shown to be an independent predictor of disease progression (60). Concerning the leukemic counterpart, a reduced expression of CD1d has been described on CLL cells compared to normal B cells from healthy donors (58, 59, 61, 62). From the functional standpoint, CLL cells have a limited ability to present glycolipid antigens to iNKT cells and to induce their expansion and functional activation (58, 63, 64). Of note, this reduced capacity of leukemic cells to stimulate iNKT cells can be effectively reversed by retinoic acid, which upregulates the expression of CD1d on CLL cells and enhances iNKT-mediated cytotoxicity against tumor targets loaded with α -galactosylceramide (59).

γδ T-Cell Alterations

Among various lymphocyte subsets being considered for cellular immunotherapy of cancer are $\gamma\delta$ T cells (both V δ 1- and V δ 2expressing T cells), which have the ability to mediate responses through the activation of cytotoxic mechanisms against tumor cells in a MHC-unrestricted manner (35). Patients with CLL have increased numbers of circulating V δ 1 T cells which are able to produce TNF- α and INF- γ . Moreover, V δ 1 T cells are able to kill leukemic cells expressing the MIC-A and ULBP3 surface molecules, which are involved in the activation of $\gamma\delta$ T-cell effector functions through the engagement of the NKG2D receptor (65). Interestingly, preclinical studies reported that $V\delta 1$ T cells can be properly stimulated to express NCRs that act as costimulatory molecules and improve their cytotoxic activity against CLL cells both in vitro and in a xenograft mouse model (66, 67). In healthy subjects, the main subset of circulating $\gamma\delta$ T cells is represented by V γ 9V δ 2 T cells, which consist of cytotoxic T lymphocytes with a putative potent antitumor activity, triggered by the MHC-independent recognition of non-peptidic phosphoantigens, such as intermediate metabolites of the mevalonate metabolic pathway and aminobisphosphonates [as reviewed in (68)]. We have previously demonstrated that in CLL the Vy9V82 T cellcompartment is characterized by an unbalanced differentiation subset distribution, with a prominent expansion of effector memory and terminally differentiated effector memory cell subsets, determining a low in vitro proliferative response and predicting for a more aggressive clinical course (69). In addition, de Weerdt *et al.* reported that $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells from CLL patients are less effective in inducing tumor cell death, due to a dysfunction in effector cytokine production and degranulation. Interestingly, the observations that an altered phenotype is also inducible in healthy V γ 9V δ 2 T cells co-cultured with CLL cells, and that in CLL patients the functional impairment of V γ 9V δ 2 T cells is associated with higher leukocytes counts, indicate a leukemia-induced mechanism of immune suppression (70).

DC Defects

DC are specialized antigen presenting cells (APC) with a crucial role in the initiation and regulation of innate and adaptive immune responses, and whose functional modulation is under investigation with the aim of improving cancer immunotherapy. In CLL, DC show an immature phenotype (lack of CD80 and CD83 expression), and have an altered capacity to stimulate T-cell proliferation, to drive T-cell differentiation toward T helper (Th)1 response and to release IL-12 (71, 72). In addition, Orsini

et al. reported that CLL cells are able to modify the maturation and function of healthy donor-derived DC through the secretion of IL-6 (71). Recent data demonstrated that the molecular mechanism underlying DC abnormalities in CLL is a disruption of the IL-4R/ STAT6 pathway due to enhanced levels of the suppressor of cytokine signaling 5 (SOCS5), a negative regulator that inhibits STAT6 activation and leads to a defective DC differentiation (72). Notably, despite these observed alterations, different studies and clinical trials showed that DC from CLL patients can be properly manipulated and effectively exploited in the context of vaccination approaches (73–77).

Phenotypic and Functional T-Cell Alterations

T lymphocytes have a fundamental role in tumor immunesurveillance. In the context of adaptive immune response, CD4+ Th cells are the main actors in antigen recognition, activation of humoral response, cytokine production, and coordination of CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte response [as reviewed in (25, 26)]. Overall, circulating CD4+ and CD8+ T lymphocytes are increased in patients with CLL (78-80). The expansion of CD8+ T cells is prominent and results in a drop of the CD4:CD8 ratio, which characterizes CLL patients since the early phases of the disease (79, 81). A number of studies attributed a prognostic value to the CD4:CD8 ratio, whose inversion has been associated with advanced disease, and has shown to predict a shorter time to first treatment and overall survival (82-84). Concerning Th subset distribution, most reports agree on the accumulation of Th1 T cells in the peripheral blood of CLL patients compared to healthy controls, whereas data on Th2 T cells are still controversial (85-88). From the functional standpoint, a recent article by Roessner et al. has investigated the pro- or anti-tumoral effect of Th1 T cells on CLL development, showing that the accumulation of Th1 T cells observed in human CLL and in a mice with CLL-like disease has no impact on disease progression (87). In terms of T-cell differentiation subsets distribution, a reduction in naïve T cells and an accumulation of effector T cells and highly differentiated memory T cells were observed in CLL patients (82, 85, 89, 90). Several evidences suggest that T lymphocytes in CLL patients are subjected to chronic antigenic stimulation, which shapes their phenotype and functional activity. Indeed, T cells show an increased surface expression of CD57, CD69, and HLA-DR, which are typical markers of activated cells (91, 92). Phenotypic and functional properties of T cells from patients with CLL resemble those of exhausted T cells, which are typically observed during chronic infections (93). Although cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection has shown to induce T-cell expansion and modulate the distribution of differentiation subsets, the exhaustion observed in T cells from CLL patients resulted to be independent from CMV serostatus (82, 93-95). The progressive skew of the T-cell receptor (TCR) repertoire occurring during disease progression, may suggest a tumor-related antigen-mediated selection (96, 97). In line with this observation, an oligoclonal CD8+ effector T-cell population, that expands along with CLL progression and controls disease development, was observed in both CLL patients and mice bearing a CLL-like disease (90). Consistently, through a cell-tocell-mediated mechanism, leukemic cells induce in CD4+ and

CD8+ T cells purified from CLL patients several changes in the expression of genes involved in CD4+ T-cell differentiation, cytoskeleton formation, and vesicle trafficking, and in CD8+ T-cell cytotoxicity (98). These evidences confirm the contribution of the leukemic counterpart in shaping a pro-tumor microenvironment. The aberrant gene expression profile has an impact on the T-cell functions, mainly in terms of immunological synapse formation with APC, proliferation, migration, and cytotoxic activity (99-102). In particular, a key regulatory mechanism of immune evasion in CLL is the impaired killing of target cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes, which is associated with the formation of dysfunctional non-lytic immune synapses and to a nonpolarized release of lytic granules (101). Lastly, also metabolic features, such as mitochondrial respiration, membrane potential and levels of reactive oxygen species, have an impact on T-cell fitness, and demonstrate to be particularly relevant for CAR T-cell expansion and persistence (103).

The aberrant expression of immune checkpoint molecules, which regulate T-cell activation and function, is a hallmark of an impairment in immune surveillance. The engagement of checkpoint receptors by their ligands leads to the inhibition of T-cell proliferation and cytokine production, thus suppressing immune responses. In CLL, both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells show an increased expression of several inhibitory checkpoints, such as CTLA-4, PD-1, LAG3, Tim-3, TIGIT, CD160, and CD244 (89, 93, 104-110). Of note, this abnormal expression of immune checkpoint receptors on T lymphocytes is paralleled by an increased expression of their corresponding inhibitory ligands, such as PD-L1/PD-L2, CD200, galectin-9, and CD276, on leukemic cells (89, 99, 110, 111). CTLA-4 and PD-1 are the more extensively studied immune checkpoints in CLL. T cells from CLL patients have a higher expression of both the intracellular and surface forms of CTLA-4 compared to healthy controls (85, 112). In addition, the upregulation of PD-1 was observed in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells from patients with CLL and was reported to associate with adverse prognosis (82, 85, 89, 113). PD-1 expression is further increased in T cells from the lymphnode compared to the peripheral blood compartment (90, 114). Interestingly, the double positivity for PD-1 and Tim-3 identifies a T-cell subset with a particularly pronounced impairment in the effector functions (108). Despite their features of impairment, some functional aspects of T cells from the peripheral blood of CLL patients, such as cytokine production, were initially reported to be preserved or even enhanced in comparison to healthy individuals (93). By contrast, CD8+ T cells from secondary lymphoid organs, which are continuously exposed to leukemic cells, express higher levels of PD-1 and are functionally defective (90, 114).

A better understanding of the mechanisms leading to this tumor-induced dysfunction of CD8+ T cells will be important for the development of effective T-cell-based immunotherapeutic strategies for the treatment of CLL patients.

Features of Immunosuppressive Cells and of the Tolerogenic Milieu in CLL

Multiple signals emanated by tumor cells shape the tumor supportive functions of different cellular elements of the tumor

microenvironment, including stromal cells, T cells, and myeloidderived cells. In addition, extrinsic features of the tumor niche such as hypoxia—contribute to this tolerogenic milieu, leading to the engagement of cell subsets endowed with immune suppressive properties, such as T regulatory cells (Tregs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) (115).

Several studies agree with the demonstration that circulating Tregs count is increased in CLL patients with respect to healthy controls, while data on Tregs frequency among total CD4+ T cells are not consistent (116-119). Higher Tregs number associates with increased tumor load, advanced stages of disease, disease progression, and poor prognosis (116, 117, 120, 121). Interestingly, Jak et al. reported that the expansion of Tregs in CLL can be mediated by CD27-CD70 interactions in the lymphnode and by an impaired sensitivity to apoptosis linked to a Bcl-2 overexpression, rather than being the consequence of chronic antigenic stimulation (122). In parallel to the higher number, an increased production of IL-10 and TGF-\$1, and an overexpression of the immunosuppressive molecule CTLA-4 characterize Tregs from CLL patients compared to controls (104, 121, 123). From the functional standpoint, available information indicates that the suppressive activity of Tregs is preserved in patients with CLL (117). Indeed, Tregs i) proliferate in response to TCR stimulation, ii) display CD107a surface expression as a marker of cytotoxic activity, and iii) are able to inhibit T-cell proliferation (120, 124, 125). In addition, a recent study has demonstrated that in CLL patients Tregs switch toward an effector-like T-cell phenotype, which is associated with an altered cytokine profile and transcriptional program of immune genes (126).

Tregs are strictly interconnected with the Th17-cell population, a subset of pro-inflammatory cells involved in the development and evolution of tissue inflammation and autoimmune diseases, and with a dichotomous role in cancer [as reviewed in (127)]. Patients with CLL have an increased frequency and absolute number of Th17 cells, and higher IL-17A and IL-17F serum levels compared to healthy controls. Of note, the Th17-cell number is associated with the presence of favorable prognostic factors, an early stage of the disease and a longer overall survival (85, 88, 128-133). Although these evidences suggest that Th17 cells may have a protective function, their role within the CLL microenvironment is not yet fully understood. Indeed, a recent study by Zhu at el. reported that the stimulation of CLL cells and bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells with IL-17 induces the generation of IL-6, a prosurvival cytokine for tumor cells. Consistently, results obtained by in vivo experiments have demonstrated that IL-17 treatment favors CLL cells engraftment in a xenograft model through an IL-6-mediated mechanism (134). Lastly, a rise in the Th17-cell count leading to an unbalanced Tregs/Th17 ratio has been found in a subset of patients who undergo autoimmune complications, suggesting a possible contribution of this cell population to the pathogenesis of CLL-related autoimmune cytopenias [as reviewed in (128)].

Another player in the tolerogenic milieu of CLL is represented by MDSC, which accumulate in the peripheral blood of CLL patients. MDSC are defined as CD14+/HLA-DR^{low} cells and are endowed with potent immunosuppressive activity, limiting the T-cell-mediated anti-tumor responses and the effectiveness of immune therapeutic approaches [as reviewed in (135, 136)]. The frequency of MDSC associates with tumor progression and poor prognosis in CLL (137-140). Different studies provided the evidence of a complex network of interactions occurring between tumor cells, T-cell compartments, and MDSC. CLL cells enhance indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) gene expression in MDSC, which, in turn, suppresses in vitro T-cell activation and induces suppressive Tregs (138). On the other hand, MDSC depletion results in a control of CLL development and restores T-cell differentiation subsets skewing in the Eµ-TCL1 mouse model, thus confirming the role of MDSC in mediating CLL-related immune dysfunctions (141). An additional mechanism by which CLL cells maintain a supportive microenvironment is the secretion of exosomes inducing PD-L1 and inflammatory cytokine expression in monocytes, thus triggering their reprogramming toward MDSC (142, 143).

Among cells of myeloid origin, nurse like cells (NLC) are known to generate *in vitro* from monocytes and to contribute to CLL cells protection from spontaneous and drug-induced apoptosis. The *in vivo* counterpart of NLC is represented by tumor-associated M2-polarized macrophages, typically residing in the lymphnode and bone marrow of CLL patients. NLC actively shape the microenvironment through the secretion of several cytokines and chemokines: on one hand, NLC attract tumor cells and sustain their survival and, on the other, they promote the recruitment of accessory myeloid cells and stimulate T-cell activation and proliferation (136, 144).

Humoral Immune Response

Up to date, there are only few data regarding the antibodymediated responses and healthy B-cell compartment in CLL, and most of them focus on immunoglobulin (Ig) deficiencies. Hypogammaglobulinemia is a very common feature and is associated with an increased risk of infections, which largely contributes to morbidity and mortality of CLL patients. At diagnosis, up to 60% of patients has decreased levels of serum Ig, with IgG, IgA, and IgM as the most affected Ig classes (145). It is well established that hypogammaglobulinemia severity correlates with advanced disease stage and worsens during progression, also correlating with shorter time to first treatment (146-148). The mechanism causing hypogammaglobulinemia is not completely clear, but it could be related to a CLL-mediated inhibition of polyclonal antibodies production and to a reduction in the number of healthy B cells (149, 150).

Another consequence of the altered humoral immunity is the occurrence of autoimmune complications. Episodes of autoimmune cytopenia are frequently observed in CLL patients and are attributable to high affinity polyclonal IgG autoantibodies which are produced by the non-leukemic B cells and target membrane antigens expressed on red blood cells, platelets, or granulocytes [as reviewed in (17, 151, 152)]. In addition, we previously reported that polyclonal antibodies directed to recurrent antigens expressed by tumor cells can be frequently found in the serum of CLL patients, especially those with progressive disease. However, these antibodies are inefficient in triggering ADCC and complement-derived cytotoxicity (CDC) (153). Alterations in the classical components of the complement cascade are reported in almost 40% of CLL patients, and contribute to the compromised CDC and to their increased susceptibility to infections (154, 155). Of note, complement defects may also impair the clinical efficiency of anti-CD20 mAb, which at least partially rely on CDC for their activity.

IMMUNOMODULATION AND IMMUNOTHERAPY IN CLL

The development of new targeted drugs has dramatically changed the treatment landscape of CLL. Despite their remarkable anti-tumor activity, agents like the B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling inhibitors and the Bcl-2 protein inhibitor venetoclax have some limitations, which include the development of drug resistance mechanisms and the less striking efficacy observed in patients carrying biological highrisk features [as reviewed in (156)]. The observation that allogeneic HSCT, which exploits immune-mediated graftversus-leukemia effects to eradicate tumor cells, is the only treatment option with a long-term curative potential in CLL indicates that the immune system harbors the potential for curing the disease. Therefore, treatment strategies aimed at activating or exploiting effector arms of the autologous immune system to target tumor cells have been and currently are a focus of active investigations in CLL (as summarized in Figure 2). Here, we will give an overview of immune-based strategies that are currently used or explored in patients with CLL, thereby also providing an outlook on possible future therapeutic interventions.

Agents With Broad Immunomodulatory Effects

In addition to their direct anti-tumor effect, new targeted drugs (i.e. BTK inhibitors, PI3K inhibitors, and the Bcl-2 inhibitor venetoclax) have demonstrated the ability to modulate nonneoplastic immune cell populations. PI3K& inhibition by idelalisib affects effector T-cell differentiation and functionality, and induces a disruption of Tregs suppressor activity, thus breaking immune tolerance both in CLL mice model and in patients (121, 124, 157). These evidences could explain the typical immune-mediated adverse events of the drug, mainly consisting in hepatotoxicity, enterocolitis, skin rash, and pneumonitis (157-159). Notably, idelalisib has also shown to positively impact the generation of T cells modified to express a CAR, when added to the culture during the manufacturing process, by inducing an enrichment of less-differentiated naïvelike T cells, a decrease in the expression of exhaustion markers, and a normalization of the CD4:CD8 ratio (160). These data suggest the possibility of exploiting the immunomodulatory



FIGURE 2 | Overview of immunomodulatory agents and immune-based strategies in CLL. Several immunotherapeutic strategies are under evaluation in CLL. Targeted drugs, in addition to a direct anti-tumor activity, can exert off-tumor immunomodulatory effects on T cells and other immune elements. Immunomodulatory drugs (IMiDs) exert their activity through a broad immunomodulation and pleiotropic effects on multiple elements of the immune system (e.g, T, B, NK cells and DC). Monoclonal antibodies act through the recognition of a specific antigen expressed on the surface of tumor cells, which leads to the triggering of cytotoxic responses. Bi- and tri-specific killer cell engagers contain two or three antigen-recognition domains, and are designed to concomitantly target a tumor cell antigen and a molecule expressed on the surface of effectors cells, with the aim of directing immunological memory and long-term protection against cancer relapse. CAR T cells are autologous T lymphocytes engineered to express a chimeric receptor, which recognizes a tumor surface antigen; upon antigen recognition and co-stimulatory domains activation, a cytotoxic response is triggered, leading to tumor cells killing. Immune checkpoint inhibitors target the interactions between co-inhibitory receptors and their ligands thus avoiding the transmission of inhibitory signals that render T cells functionally exhausted.

effects of idelalisib during the preparation of adoptive immunotherapies, thus avoiding the adverse effects determined by drug administration to patients.

Immune changes exerted by ibrutinib have been partially characterized in CLL. Most studies report a normalization of Tcell population counts during treatment with ibrutinib, with the exception of the paper by Long et al., which shows an increase in CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell numbers. Moreover, an increase in TCR diversity repertoire and a decrease in the expression of T-cell exhaustion markers and immune checkpoints have been observed in CLL patients receiving ibrutinib (161-169). From the functional standpoint, preclinical data did not demonstrate a beneficial effect of ibrutinib on T cells (170). However ibrutinibtreated patients showed increased response rates to CAR T cells, thus supporting the potential benefit of combination strategies (171, 172). The immunomodulatory activity of ibrutinib is at least partially attributable to its off-target effects on tyrosine kinases other than BTK, such as the IL-2 inducible kinase (ITK), which is mainly expressed by T cells (173). However, at this stage, it is not completely elucidated whether ibrutinib immunomodulation is also connected to the reduction of tumor burden and to the suppression of tumor-microenvironment interactions, occurring during patients treatment. In line with this latter hypothesis is the observation that also secondgeneration BTK inhibitors (i.e. acalabrutinib and zanubrutinib), despite their higher selectivity and reduced off-target effects, still show some immunomodulatory properties (165, 174). Consistently, immune changes occurring during venetoclax

treatment may be at least partially connected to a clinical response to therapy, driving the attenuation of leukemiainduced immune alterations. In particular, venetoclax has demonstrated to i) normalize B, T, and NK-cell count, ii) decrese the percentage of tumor-supportive T-cell subsets, iii) reduce the frequency of PD-1+ CD8+ T cells, and iv) impair NK-cell activation in CLL patients (114). Recent data also showed that venetoclax increases the anti-tumor effects of T-cell-based therapy against B-cell lines *in vitro* and in solid tumor-bearing mice model (175, 176).

Immunomodulatory drugs (IMiDs) have also been-and currently are-under evaluation for their anti-tumor effects in CLL. In the past 15 years, several clinical trials enrolling CLL patients have demonstrated the clinical efficacy of lenalidomide (Table 1), but have also highlighted its unique toxicity profile and a rate of adverse events that suggests caution in incorporating this agent in treatment strategies [as reviewed in (195)]. One aspect of lenalidomide that has been considered worth of investigation consists in its pleiotropic effects on the immune system. In fact, in spite of the absence of a direct in vitro cytotoxicity toward CLL cells, lenalidomide is able to favor the immune recognition of leukemic cells-through the upregulation of surface ligands and receptors-and to induce an indirect anti-tumor activity through the immunostimulation of DC as well as T, B, and NK cells. CLL patients treated with lenalidomide have a restored T-cell function, especially in terms of Th1-type cytokine release (IL-2, IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-21), and formation of functional immune synapses (99, 155). In addition,

TABLE 1 | Clinical trials evaluating the efficacy and toxicity of lenalidomide, used as a single agent or in combination regimens, for the treatment of patients with CLL.

Drug regimen	Setting	Efficacy	Toxicities	References
Lenalidomide single agent days 1–21 of 28-day cycles	Phase II 45 patients R/R CLL	ORR 47% 9% CR 1-year PFS 81%	G≥3 neutropenia 70% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 45% G≥3 anemia 18% G≥3 infections 5% G≥3 febrile neutropenia 15% Fatigue 73% Tumor flare reaction 58% TLS 5%	Chanan-Khan <i>et al.</i> (177)
Lenalidomide single agent continuously	Phase II 44 patients R/R CLL	ORR 32% 7% CR 14-month OS 73%	G≥3 neutropenia 41% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 15% G≥3 anemia 3% G≥3 infections 6%	Ferrajoli <i>et al.</i> (178) NCT00267059
Lenalidomide single agent days 1–21 of 28-day cycles	Phase II 25 patients Previously untreated CLL	ORR 56% 0 CR 2-year OS 92% PFS 89%	G≥3 neutropenia 72% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 28% Tumor flare reaction 88% Fatigue 72% Infections 60% Rash 64%	Chen <i>et al.</i> (179)
Lenalidomide single agent continuously	Phase II 60 elderly patients Previously untreated CLL/SLL	ORR 65% 10% CR 2-year PFS 60% 2-year OS 88%	G≥3 neutropenia 73% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 34% G≥3 anemia 15% G≥3 infections 10% Tumor flare reaction 27%	Badoux <i>et al.</i> (180) NCT00535873
Lenalidomide single agent continuously (different starting doses)	Phase II 103 patients R/R CLL	ORR 40% 8% CR; median PFS 9.7 months Median OS 33 months	G≥3 neutropenia 77% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 48% G≥3 anemia 4% G≥3 infections 41% Embolism 6% TLS 3%	Wendtner <i>et al.</i> (181) NCT00419250
Lenalidomide single agent continuously	Phase III 225 elderly patients Previously untreated CLL	ORR 55% 3% CR Median PFS 30.8 months	G≥3 neutropenia 49% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 25% G≥3 anemia 7% G≥3 infections 9% Tumor flare reaction 52% Rash 50%	Chanan-Khan <i>et al.</i> (182) NCT00910910
Lenalidomide and rituximab	Phase II 59 patients R/R CLL	ORR 66% 12% CR Median TTF 17.4 months 3-year OS 71%	G≥3 neutropenia 73% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 34% G≥3 anemia 15% G≥3 infections 15% Neutropenic fever 10%	Badoux <i>et al.</i> (183) NCT00759603
Lenalidomide and rituximab	Phase II 69 patients Previously untreated CLL	ORR 87% 14% CR Median PFS: 19–20 months	G≥3 neutropenia 58% Tumor flare 75% Fatigue 74% Transaminitis 65% Rash 61%	James <i>et al.</i> (184) NCT00628238
Lenalidomide and rituximab	Phase II 61 previously untreated + 59 R/R CLL	Previously untreated: ORR 73%; 35% CR; median PFS 50 months R/R: ORR 64%; 28% CR; median PFS 28 months	G≥3 neutropenia 53% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 23% G≥3 anemia 13% G≥3 infections 27% G≥3 cardiovascular 10% Second primary tumors 5%	Strati <i>et al.</i> (185) NCT01446133
Lenalidomide and ofatumumab	Phase II 21 patients R/R CLL	ORR 48% 0 CR Median OS 21.5 months	G≥3 neutropenia 47% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 71% Fatigue 52% Tumor flare reaction 43%	Costa <i>et al.</i> (186) NCT01123356

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Drug regimen	Setting	Efficacy	Toxicities	References
Lenalidomide and ofatumumab	Phase II 34 patients R/R CLL	ORR 71% 18% CR Median PFS 16 months 5-year OS 53%	G≥3 neutropenia 82% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 18% G≥3 anemia 6% G≥3 infections 60% Venous thromboembolysm 9%	Vitale <i>et al.</i> (187) NCT01002755
Lenalidomide, rituximab and fludarabine	Phase I 9 patients Previously untreated CLL	ORR 56% 11% CR	78% of patients stopped therapy because of toxicity (44% hematological toxicity)	Brown <i>et al.</i> (188)
Lenalidomide, rituximab and bendamustine	Phase I-II 22 patients Previously untreated and R/R CLL	ORR 50% 0 CR Median PFS 8 months	95% of patients had at least one G≥3 adverse event G≥3 neutropenia 71% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 19% G≥3 anemia 5% G≥3 infections 47%	Maurer <i>et al.</i> (189) NCT01558167
Lenalidomide, fludarabine and cyclophosphamide	Phase I-II 42 patients R/R CLL	ORR 62% 22% CR Median PFS 19 months Median OS 45 months	G≥3 neutropenia 65% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 17% G≥3 infections 7%	Mauro <i>et al.</i> (190) NCT00727415
Lenalidomide, rituximab and ibrutinib	Phase I 12 patients R/R CLL	ORR 67% 8% CR 1-year PFS 78%	G≥3 neutropenia 67% Diarrhea 58% Myalgia/arthralgia 58% Rash 42% G≥3 infections 25%	Ujjani <i>et al.</i> (191) NCT02200848
Lenalidomide, rituximab and chlorambucil, followed by lenalidomide consolidation	Phase I-II 63 elderly or unfit patients Previously untreated CLL	ORR after induction 83% (0 CR) ORR after consolidation 93% (14% CR) 2-year PFS 58%	During induction: G≥3 neutropenia 73% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 15% Rash 11% G≥3 infections 9%	Kater <i>et al.</i> (192) EudraCT 2010- 022294-34
Lenalidomide, rituximab and bendamustine	Phase I 13 patients Previously untreated CLL	ORR 87% 39% CR	G≥3 neutropenia 52% G≥3 anemia 26% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 22% G≥3 febrile neutropenia 13% G≥3 rash 26%	Soumerai <i>et al.</i> (193) NCT01400685
Lenalidomide and dexamethasone	Phase II 31 patients Previously untreated CLL	ORR 74% 10% CR Median PFS 27 months	G≥3 neutropenia 61% Febrile neutropenia 19% Rash 65% Diarrhea 61% Edema 55%	Chen <i>et al.</i> (194) NCT01133743

CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CR, complete response; G≥3, grade ≥3; ORR, overall response rate; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression free survival; R/R, relapsed or refractory; SLL, small lymphocytic lymphoma; TLS, tumor lysis syndrome; TTF, time to treatment failure.

lenalidomide induces wide-range immunomodulatory effects on different immune cell compartments, among which i) a decrease in Tregs count, ii) an increase in Th17 cell number, iii) an upregulation of the NKG2D activating receptor on NK cells, and iv) a rise in Ig production by normal polyclonal B cells. Besides the immune system re-education, treatment with lenalidomide also modulates interactions of CLL cells with NLC and stromal cells within the tumor microenvironment (155) [and reviewed in (195, 196)].

Compounds showing the same potent immunomodulatory effects as lenalidomide but characterized by a more manageable safety profile could represent an interesting therapeutic option for patients with CLL. Avadomide (CC-122) is a novel orally available pleiotropic pathway modulator, which has demonstrated enhanced anti-proliferative activities compared to lenalidomide, as well as the ability of eliciting anti-tumor T cell-mediated immune responses when combined with checkpoint inhibitors in preclinical models of CLL (197, 198). Based on these observations, a phase I/II clinical trial is currently evaluating the combination of avadomide plus ibrutinib or avadomide plus obinutuzumab in patients with CLL (NCT02406742).

Monoclonal Antibodies

The targeting of tumor surface antigens with mAb has been the first form of immunotherapy broadly applied in the treatment of CLL. CD20, a transmembrane protein typically expressed on the B-cell surface, represents an ideal target for antibody-based therapy, and its targeting currently provides the best clinical results obtained with mAb therapy in CLL. Rituximab, which was approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 1998,

is a chimeric mouse-human anti-CD20 mAb. The anti-tumor activity of rituximab is exerted through CDC and ADCC mechanisms, but is limited by the low-level of expression of the CD20 antigen on the surface of CLL cells, by the presence of circulating shed CD20 antigen interfering with the binding of the mAb to leukemic cells and by the selection of antigen loss variants in rituximab-treated patients (199-201). Based on its poor efficacy when used as a single agent, rituximab is mainly used in combination with other drugs for the treatment of CLL patients (202). Rituximab has demonstrated to improve the efficacy of chemotherapy agents, and the combinations FCR and bendamustine plus rituximab (BR) have been validated in phase III randomized clinical trials as the standard therapy for previously untreated, fit patients without TP53 abnormalities (203-205). However, their use in the frontline setting has been recently challenged by studies comparing chemoimmunotherapy with targeted drugs, used alone or in combinations with rituximab, especially for the treatment of high-risk patients carrying unmutated IGHV and/or del(11q) (206, 207).

Next-generation anti-CD20 mAb with enhanced cytotoxic functions have later been developed. Ofatumumab is an example of type I (or rituximab-like) mAb, that mainly induces tumor cell lysis through CDC and ADCC [as reviewed in (208, 209)]. Obinutuzumab is a type II anti-CD20 mAb (i.e. inducing cytotoxicity mainly through programmed cell death and ADCC) characterized by an engineered structure that allows an increased recruitment of effector cells, a potentiated ADCC and a more efficient NK cell degranulation (210). Ofatumumab and obinutuzumab have shown efficacy in phase II and/or phase III clinical trials when used in combination with conventional chemotherapy (211, 212), BCR inhibitors (213-215), or venetoclax (216). More recently, ublituximab, another type I anti-CD20 mAb, has demonstrated clinical efficacy in CLL patients when administered alone or in combination with chemotherapy or targeted agents (217-219).

Other targets have been or currently are under evaluation for mAb-based therapeutic strategies in CLL. Among them, CD19 is particularly interesting, being a pan-B lymphocyte surface receptor, which is not expressed by hematopoietic stem cells and other immune cells, except for follicular DC [as reviewed in (220)]. CD19 is ubiquitously expressed on CLL cells and currently, results for two different anti-CD19 mAb evaluated in phase I studies are available. Tafasitamab is an anti-CD19 mAb with an engineered Fc region to enhance CD16 binding affinity, whereas inebilizumab is an affinity-optimized anti-CD19 mAb that enacts malignant clone elimination via ADCC. Both drugs have demonstrated safety and preliminary efficacy in previously treated CLL patients (221, 222). Tafasitamab containing regimens are currently under evaluation in two different phase II clinical trials enrolling patients with CLL (tafasitamab in combination with lenalidomide in the NCT02005289 trial and in combination with idelalisib or venetoclax in the NCT02639910 trial).

An additional target currently under investigation for CLL immunotherapy is CD37. CD37 is broadly and selectively expressed on tumor cells from B-cell malignancies, including CLL cells, where it is involved in various biological processes such as cell adhesion, proliferation, survival, and trafficking [as reviewed in (223)]. Otlertuzumab is an anti-CD37 fusion protein obtained from a chimeric protein (SMIP-016) and engineered to exhibit the full binding activity of an anti-CD37 mAb at onethird of the regular antibody size. The mechanism of action of otlertuzumab consists in the triggering of a direct pro-apoptotic effect and in the induction of ADCC, while sparing the activation of the complement system (224). Single-agent otlertuzumab has demonstrated a modest activity and an acceptable safety profile in a phase I study enrolling treatment-naïve and pre-treated CLL patients (225). In a following phase II trial, the same molecule in combination with bendamustine significantly increased the response rate and prolonged the progression free survival over single agent bendamustine in patients with relapsed or refractory CLL (226). An additional anti-CD37 mAb is BI 836826, which has been Fc-engineered to improve ADCC activity. In a phase I study it has shown an acceptable tolerability and a notable efficacy, being especially active in CLL patients with del(17p) and/or TP53 mutations (227). BI 836826 is currently under evaluation for its safety and tolerability when given in combination with ibrutinib to patients with relapsed/refractory CLL (NCT02759016).

The ideal targets for a successful anti-tumor immunotherapy are tumor associated antigens (TAA), which are molecules with a unique or highly preferential expression on malignant cells and with a crucial role for the growth and survival of the tumor. In this context, the receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1 (ROR1) can be considered a putative TAA for CLL, being a cancer stem cell antigen almost exclusively expressed on tumor cells and involved in the biology and aggressiveness of the disease (228). Several immune-based strategies targeting ROR1 are currently being investigated, including mAb. Cirmtuzumab, an anti-ROR1 mAb, has demonstrated to be well tolerated and effective at inhibiting ROR1 signaling in a phase I study enrolling patients with progressive, refractory, and relapsed CLL (229), and is currently under evaluation for its safety and efficacy when given in combination with ibrutinib in patients with B-cell lymphoid malignancies in a phase Ib/II protocol (NCT03088878).

Bi-Specific Antibodies and Bi- and Tri-Specific Killer Cell Engagers

Bi-specific antibodies (bsAb) combine specificities of two antibodies simultaneously, addressing different antigens or epitopes on the cell surface, and include a large family of molecules with different formats. Among bsAb, bi-specific T cells engagers (BiTEs) and bi- or tri- specific killer engagers (BiKE or TriKE) are dual or triple targeting antibodies, which act by simultaneously binding tumor antigens and effector cells (T cells or NK cells), thus leading to the creation of a new immunological synapse and the triggering of cytotoxic responses. Of note, TriKEs recognize two different antigens on tumor targets allowing the binding of cancer cells even when one antigen is lost, and thus avoiding the occurrence of escape variants [as reviewed in (230–232)].

Blinatumomab, a CD19/CD3 bsAb designed in the BiTE format, was the first bsAb studied in setting of CLL patients.

Immune-Based Therapeutic Strategies in CLL

In B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL), where it is currently approved for the treatment of patients with a relapsed/refractory disease or not achieving an undetectable minimal residual disease, blinatumomab has shown a good anti-leukemic activity associated with a low treatment-related mortality (233). Blinatumomab has demonstrated to effectively kill CLL cells in vitro, through the induction of proliferation, cytokine production and granzyme B secretion in autologous T cells. As demonstrated by Wong et al., the formation of immunological synapses between T cells and CLL cells induced in vitro by blinatumomab indicates that this CD19/CD3 BiTE is able to overcome the T-cell dysfunction frequently observed in CLL patients (234). In preclinical studies, blinatumomab induced cytotoxicity against tumor cells at very low T-cell:tumor cell ratios, in samples from both treatment-naïve and treated patients, and also in the presence of pro-survival signals (234). A phase I study has demonstrated the feasibility of blinatumomab in relapsed/refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphomas, including small lymphocytic lymphoma (235), and a clinical trial is currently testing the association between lenalidomide and blinatumomab in the same clinical setting (NCT02568553). However, specific data on the tolerability and efficacy of blinatumomab in the CLL patient population are not available.

The main limitation to the efficacy of BiTE constructs is their short half-life that requires these drugs to be administered continuously. To overcome structural limitations of BiTEs, and specifically their poor stability, next-generation bsAb with a more favorable pharmacokinetic profile are currently under investigation. To this aim, a new bsAb platform represented by dual affinity re-targeting (DART) molecules was developed. The MGD011 CD3xCD19 DART (also known as JNJ-64052781) has demonstrated a good *in vitro* efficacy in killing CLL cells by recruiting CLL-derived T cells against the tumor. MGD011 has shown the ability to induce activation and proliferation of T cells from CLL patients, and to promote a partial restore of their immunological disfunctions. Interestingly, MGD011 is also able to kill venetoclax-resistant CLL cells, through a mechanisms that is independent from Bcl-2-mediated apoptosis (236, 237).

Another recently-developed CD19/CD3 bsAb, designed in the single-chain Fv-Fc format (CD19/CD3-scFv-Fc), has shown to induce a particularly rapid killing of CLL cells isolated from ibrutinib-treated patients, including those with acquired ibrutinib-resistance (238).

Although not fully understood, this increased cytotoxicity seems at least in part attributable to an improved performance of T cells isolated from patients treated with ibrutinib. Consistently, a BiTE targeting ROR1 has shown an enhanced cytotoxic activity against primary leukemic cells when used in the presence of T cells isolated from ibrutinib-treated CLL patients (239). Therefore, all these data highlight the importance of the reversal of CLL-related T-cell impairment to improve the BiTE activity.

Another strategy to bypass the T-cell impairment is to exploit engagers designed to target the activity of effector cells of the innate immune system. To date, in CLL, BiKEs and TriKEs engaging NK cells have been exclusively studied in the preclinical setting, but available data encourage their potential translation to the clinic. The therapeutic potential of a CD16/CD19 BiKE and a CD16/CD19/CD22 TriKE has already been demonstrated in a preclinical study showing their ability to trigger NK cell functions in terms of cytokine and chemokine production, secretion of lytic granules and induction of tumor cell death (240). TriKEs recognizing the NKG2D receptor ligand ULBP2 (ULBP2/aCD19/aCD19 and ULBP2/aCD19/aCD33 TriKEs) have also been used to activate NK cells and showed a superior *in vitro* and *in vivo* anti-tumor activity against CLL compared to the bi-specific counterparts (201).

Tumor Vaccines

The ultimate goal of a cancer vaccine is the activation and expansion of cytotoxic T lymphocytes against tumor targets, thus promoting the elimination of the tumor and inducing a long-term protection against possible relapses. In CLL, the main obstacles for the production of effective tumor vaccines are the difficulty in the selection of an ideal TAA, which should be specific for the tumor but broadly expressed in the patients population, and the presence of immune dysfunctions limiting the triggering of effective and peristent anti-tumor responses.

To overcome the difficulties connected to the identification of an optimal TAA, vaccine formulations consisting of autologous whole tumor cells genetically modified to express cytokines or costimulatory molecules have been tested. The manipulation of autologous CLL cells to express a functional ligand for the CD40 molecule (i.e. CD40L or CD154) has shown to upregulate costimulatory factors on leukemic cells and to induce the generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes capable of specifically recognizing parental non-modified leukemic cells in vitro (241). Based on these preclinical results, Wierda et al. have designed a phase I study to explore the clinical efficacy of a cancer vaccine consisting of autologous CLL cells genetically modified to express a human form of the CD40L molecule. Results from this study demonstrated that this vaccine formulation is well tolerated, has biological and clinical activity, and may enhance the susceptibility of CLL cells with del(17p) to subsequent chemoimmunotherapy (242). Interestingly, the preclinical use of genetically modified CD40L-expressing CLL cells in combination with IL-2- or OX40L-expressing CLL cells has shown to produce an even more pronounced T-cell activation and trigger therapeutically significant leukemia-specific immune responses (243, 244). Despite the encouraging preliminary results, all the tested tumor cell-based vaccine formulations failed to produce reproducible clinical effects, mainly due to the existence of immune escape mechanisms and deep CLLdriven defects in the immune system. One approach aiming at restoring the immune competence of CLL patients is the use of checkpoint-blockade inhibitors to "release" the immune system to target cancer cells. In this context, the use of a tumor vaccine consisting of irradiated autologous tumor cells coated with an antibody targeting the CD200 immunoregulatory molecule has shown to be effective in a xenogenic model of CLL (245).

An alternative strategy to induce effective anti-tumor responses is the use of vaccine formulations exploiting the antigen presentation ability of DC. The feasibility and safety of a vaccine consisting of DC loaded with apoptotic bodies derived from autologous CLL cells has already been demonstrated in an early-phase clinical trial (74). The lack of meaningful clinical effects, in this as in most other CLL vaccination trials, illustrates the need to identify more potent immune adjuvants for CLL. To this aim, lenalidomide, administered in combination with a DC vaccine, has shown its ability to elicit tumor-specific T-cells responses, although in the presence of relevant autoimmune compications that suggest caution in further exploring this drug as an immune adjuvant in CLL (75).

Cellular Immunotherapy and CAR T Cells

Adoptive cellular immunotherapy is an alternative approach to exploit the immune system to fight tumors, and consists in the isolation and expansion of effector cells that are then transferred to patients.

NK cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells are particularly appealing candidates for cellular immunotherapy, thanks to their peculiar ability of recognizing and targeting tumor cells in an MHC unrestricted manner, which favors the induction of effective allogeneic and autologous anti-tumor responses [as reviewed in (246–248)]. In the setting of CLL, Almeida *et al.* designed a protocol for the clinical grade expansion and the preclinical testing of cytotoxic V δ 1+ T cells, named Delta One T (DOT) cells. DOT cells express NCRs, which synergize with the TCR to mediate leukemic cell targeting *in vitro*, and inhibit tumor growth in xenograft models of CLL (67).

Immune effector cells may also be genetically engineered with the aim of improving and specifically directing their killing properties against the tumor. CAR T cells have been under development for more than 30 years (249), and recently entered the therapeutic armamentarium for lymphoproliferative diseases [as reviewed in (250–252)]. Anti-CD19 CAR T cells are currently approved by FDA and European Medicine Agency for the treatment of patients with aggressive B-cell lymphomas or B-ALL. In other hematological malignancies, including CLL, several challenges still need to be overcome for successful application of CAR T-cell therapies, including identifying alternative or additional target antigens and reversing repressive tumor microenvironments that hamper CAR T-cell function.

Novel CAR constructs that target antigens other than CD19 (e.g. CD20, CD22, ROR1) or that concomitantly target more than one antigen (e.g. CD19 and CD20, CD19 and CD22) are currently under evaluation in early phase clinical studies. Clinical trials evaluating CAR-based cellular therapies in patients with CLL are listed in **Tables 2** and **3**.

In spite of a safety profile not dissimilar to that observed in the setting of other lymphoproliferative diseases, which includes cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and CAR T cellrelated encephalopathy syndrome (CRES) as major complications, to date, the efficacy results of CAR T cells in CLL have been relatively discouraging, mainly due to T-cell alterations paralleling disease evolution and hampering effective anti-tumor functions of autologous CAR T cells. Fraietta *et al.* demonstrated that the composition of the cellular product and the intrinsic T-cell functional fitness may have an impact on the therapeutic efficacy of CAR T cells in CLL. They showed that the ability of CAR T cells to expand during the manufacturing process is a predictor of response and correlates with *in vivo* proliferation, which is in turn responsible for a sustained anti-tumor activity. In addition to that, they observed that CAR T cells derived from patients who respond to the treatment are enriched in memory-cell lymphocytes, with enhancement of IL-6/STAT3 signals and STAT3-related cytokine production, whereas CAR T cells from patients who do not respond upregulate genetic programs involved in effector differentiation, glycolysis, exhaustion, and apoptosis (275).

A possible strategy to improve the clinical benefit of CAR Tcell therapy is the co-administration of targeted anti-tumor agents selected for their ability to exert immunomodulatory properties, with the aim of overcoming tumor-induced immune dysfunctions. Based on preclinical studies showing that ibrutinib could improve the anti-tumor efficacy of CAR T cells, a phase I clinical trial was conducted showing the safety and feasibility of ibrutinib administered in combination with anti-CD19 CAR T cells in relapsed and refractory CLL patients (171). In line with these results, recent preclinical data show that also the novel BTK inhibitor acalabrutinib can improve the *in vitro* and *in vivo* anti-tumor functions of CD19-directed CAR T cells (276).

Besides T cells, NK cells could represent a valid cellular carrier for CAR constructs. CAR NK cells have the advantage to be activated not only by the CAR target antigen, but also by NCRs, thus adding ADCC-mediated mechanisms to the CAR-mediated cell lysis. Due to the dysregulation of patient-derived NK cells, most studies addressing the efficacy of NK cells-based adoptive immunotherapy consisted in the transfer of ex vivo expanded allogeneic NK cells derived from healthy donors' peripheral blood, umbilical cord blood, or cell lines (277, 278). Allogeneic NK cells can be safely used as effector cells since they do not require a full HLA-matching and they do not induce graftversus-host disease, while harboring strong graft-versusleukemia effects (279, 280). Cord blood-derived anti-CD19 CAR NK cells showed good activity towards CLL cells in vitro, and preliminary evidences from a clinical trial have already demonstrated the safety and efficacy of this approach in patients with CD19-positive tumors, including CLL (274, 281). Thanks to these reasons, CAR NK cells can be produced in allogeneic settings and easily used as an "off-the-shelf" treatment (26).

Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

The targeting of immune checkpoint molecules with the aim of reactivating the T-cell immune responses against tumor cells is an appealing therapeutic strategy. In the context of solid tumors, the blockade of immune checkpoint receptors or their cognate ligands by mAb has brought significant benefits for patients [as reviewed in (282)]. In CLL, encouraging preclinical results have been obtained in the studies that evaluated PD-1/PD-L1 axis disruption (283, 284). Specifically, *in vivo* treatment with an

TABLE 2 | Clinical trials evaluating the efficacy and toxicity of CAR T- and CAR NK-cell treatment in CLL patients.

Drug regimen	Setting	Efficacy	Toxicities	References
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	3 patients R/R CLL	ORR 100% 67% CR	CRS 100% CRES 0	Kalos <i>et al.</i> (253) NCT01029366
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	14 patients R/R CLL	ORR 57%28% CR	CRS 64% CRES 36%	Porter <i>et al.</i> (254) NCT01029366
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells + aldesleukin 720000 Ul/kg every 8 hours	4 patients R/R CLL	ORR 75% 25% CR	CRS 100% CRES 0	Kochenderfer <i>et al.</i> (255 NCT00924326
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	5 patients (1 Richter syndrome) R/R CLL	ORR 100% 60% CR	CRS 60% CRES 20%	Kochenderfer <i>et al.</i> (256 NCT00924326
Allogeneic anti-CD19 CAR T cells	4 patients (2 Richter syndrome) R/R CLL after allogeneic HSCT	ORR 25% 25% PR	CRS ND CRES ND	Cruz <i>et al.</i> (257) NCT00840853
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells + ibrutinib for ≥1 year	3 patients R/R CLL	ORR 100% 33% CR	CRS ND CRES ND	Fraietta <i>et al.</i> (258) NCT01747486 NCT01105247 NCT01217749
Autologous anti-κ light chain CAR T cells	2 patients R/R CLL	ORR 0	CRS ND CRES ND	Ramos <i>et al.</i> (259) NCT00881920
Allogeneic anti-CD19 CAR T cells	5 patients R/R CLL	ORR 40% 20% CR	CRS 80% CRES 0	Brudno <i>et al.</i> (260)
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	13 patients R/R CLL post ibrutinib	ORR 83% 50% CR	CRS ND CRES ND	Turtle <i>et al.</i> (261) NCT01865617
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells 24 patients (5 Richter syndrome) R/R CLL		ORR 67% 17% CR	CRS 83% CRES 33%	Turtle <i>et al.</i> (262) NCT01865617
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	8 patients PR CLL after first-line treatment with pentostatin, cyclophosphamide and rituximab	ORR 25% 25% CR	CRS 50% CRES 0	Geyer <i>et al.</i> (263) NCT01416974
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	19 patients R/R CLL to 6 month-therapy with ibrutinib	ORR 71% 43% CR	CRS 95% CRES 26%	Gill <i>et al.</i> (172) NCT02640209
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	2 patients R/R CLL	ORR 50% 50% CR	CRS 0 CRES 0	Enblad <i>et al.</i> (264) NCT02132624
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	1 patient R/R CLL	ORR 0 100% SD	CRS ND CRES ND	Ramos <i>et al.</i> (265) NCT01853631
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	10 patients R/R CLL	ORR 75% 50% CR	CRS 80% CRES 30%	Siddiqi <i>et al.</i> (266) NCT03331198
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	22 patients R/R CLL after 2 or 3 lines of therapy including ibrutinib	ORR 82% 45% CR	CRS 9% CRES 23%	Siddiqi <i>et al.</i> (267) NCT03331198
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells + 1 patient brutinib 420 mg daily for 2 weeks (days R/R CLL -50 to -36)		ORR 100% 100% CR	CRS 100% CRES 0	Delgado <i>et al.</i> (268) NCT03144583
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	8 patients R/R CLL	ORR 12% 12% PR 37% SD	CRS 100% CRES 0	Brentjens <i>et al.</i> (269) NCT00466531
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells (5 batients received ibrutinib at the time of T-cell collection and/or CAR T-cell administration)	16 patients R/R CLL	ORR 37% 12% CR MRD – 6% CR MRD +	CRS 100% CRES 37%	Geyer <i>et al.</i> (270) NCT00466531
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	2 patients R/R CLL	ND	CRS ND CRES 0	Schubert <i>et al.</i> (271) NCT036765041

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Drug regimen	Setting	Efficacy	Toxicities	References
Anti-CD19 CAR T cells	13 patients (3 Richter syndrome) R/R CLL	42% CR	CRS 85% CRES 85%	Batlevi <i>et al.</i> (272) ¹ NCT030851731
Anti-CD19/CD20 CAR T cells	2 patients R/R CLL	ORR 82% 54% CR	CRS 54% CRES 27%	Shah <i>et al.</i> (273) ¹ NCT03019055
Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells + ibrutinib from at least 2 weeks prior to leukapheresis until at least 3 months after CAR T infusion <i>vs</i> autologous anti- CD19 CAR T cells alone	19 patients <i>vs</i> 30 (4 Richter syndrome)	ORR 83% 22% CR 72% MRD – assessed by cytometry 61% MRD - assessed by <i>IGH</i> sequencing vs ORR 56% 67% MRD – assesed by cytometry 60% MRD - assesed by <i>IGH</i> sequencing	CRS 74% vs 95% CRES 26% vs 42%	Gauthier <i>et al.</i> (150) NCT01865617
Umbilical cord blood derived anti-CD19 CAR NK	5 patients (1 Richter) R/R CLL	3/5 ORR 3 CR	CRS 0 CRES 0	Liu <i>et al.</i> (274) NCT03056339

CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CR, complete remission; CRES, CAR T cell-related encephalopathy syndrome; CRS, cytokine release syndrome; HSCT, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation; MRD, minimal residual disease; ND, no data; ORR, overall response rate; PR, partial response; R/R relapsed or refractory disease; SD, stable disease. ¹Data for CLL patients only non-available.

TABLE 3 | Ongoing clinical trials evaluating CAR T-cell treatment in CLL patients.

NCT number	Drug regimen	Setting
NCT03881774	Cord blood derived CAR T cells	R/R CLL after autologous CAR T cells therapy or who fail to preparation for autologous CAR T cells
NCT04271410	Anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04156243	Anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04014894	Anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04271800	Anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03685786	Anti-CD19 CAR T cells + autologous HSCT	MRD+ CLL
NCT03960840	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	SD or PR CLL after 6-month therapy with ibrutinib or R/R CLL
NCT02963038	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03110640	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03302403	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03579888	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL who have undergone allogeneic HSCT
NCT02153580	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03050190	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03624036	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03853616	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03383952	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03191773	Autologous anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03166878	Allogeneic anti-CD19 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03277729	Autologous anti-CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT00621452	Autologous anti-CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

NCT number	Drug regimen	Setting
NCT00012207	Autologous anti-CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT01735604	Autologous anti-CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04030195	Allogeneic anti-CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT02794961	Autologous anti-CD22 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT02194374	Autologous anti-ROR1 CAR T cells	R/R or untreated CLL with del17p and not eligible for allogeneic HSCT
NCT02706392	Autologous anti-ROR1 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04156178	Anti-CD19/CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04260945	Anti-CD19/CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04007029	Autologous anti-CD19/CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03097770	Autologous or allogenic anti-CD19/CD20 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03398967	Allogeneic anti-CD19/CD20 or anti-CD19/CD22 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT04029038	Autologous anti-CD19/CD22 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03185494	Autologous or allogenic anti-CD19/CD22 CAR T cells	R/R CLL
NCT03125577	Autologous anti-CD19 and anti-CD20/CD22/CD30/CD38/CD70/CD123 CAR T cells	R/R CLL

CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; HSCT, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, MRD, minimal residual disease; PR partial response; R/R relapsed or refractory; SD, stable disease.

anti-PD-L1 antibody prevented the development of CLL in the E μ -TCL1 mice model, also normalizing T cells and myeloid cell populations, and restoring T-cell functions (283). In the same murine model, it has been demonstrated that antibodies targeting PD-L1, but not PD-1, enhance the anti-tumor activity of ibrutinib treatment (170, 284). Notably, Wierz *et al.* have shown, in the E μ -TCL1 mice model, that the antibody-based dual targeting of PD-1 and LAG3—but not the single targeting of PD-1—effectively limits the tumor development and restores different immune cell populations (284). These data support the concept that the simultaneous inhibition of different immune checkpoint molecules may represent an interesting therapeutic approach, which is worth to be explored.

Unfortunately, so far, disappointing results emerged from clinical trials evaluating immune checkpoint inhibitors in CLL, indicating that these compounds used as single agents are not sufficient to control the disease (**Table 4**). By contrast, interesting preliminary results in terms of response rate have been obtained when checkpoint inhibitors were administered, alone or in association with ibrutinib, to CLL patients developing a Richter's transformation to diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, and particularly to those patients showing a higher expression of PD-L1 and PD-1 in the tumor microenvironment (285, 289). These data encourage further studies exploring the efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors in this setting, which still represents a significant unmet clinical need.

CONCLUSIONS

It is well recognized that, in addition to the direct targeting of malignant cells, the disruption of the immune-tolerant

microenvironment and the repair of immune system's defects are necessary steps for disease control. With the aim of harnessing immune responses against tumor cells, during the years, different types of immune-based strategies have been developed and evaluated in CLL. Despite promising preclinical observations, results from pilot clinical studies have been often suboptimal in terms of long-term tumor control, mainly because they were obtained in patients with advanced-stage disease and who had been already heavily pre-treated. In CLL, several observations demonstrate that the tumor negatively affects the host immune system, which progressively accumulates dysfunctions contributing to disease progression. Therefore, in disease like CLL, characterized by a long-acting evolution and the accumulation of immunologic dysfunction, one possibility to improve the efficacy of immunotherapy could be its earlier positioning in the treatment sequencing. By doing this, the development of immune defects could be prevented and subsequent therapies could act in concert with the patient's immune system against the tumor. However, the application of immunotherapy earlier in the course of the disease has to take into account the potential toxicities and the meaningful costs, and should be considered a valuable option only for patients with a high-risk disease and poor prognosis, who benefit less from currently available therapies.

An alternative strategy to improve patients' outcome is the identification of optimal combination treatments targeting both the CLL and the immune system, in order to reshape the functionality of the latter and properly address its reaction toward the tumor. Ibrutinib, and to some extent also next-generation BTK inhibitors and venetoclax, have shown to improve the host T-cell functions. Therefore, these targeted drugs, as well as other agents with more broad TABLE 4 | Clinical trials evaluating the efficacy and toxicity of immune checkpoint inhibitors, used as single agents or in combination regimens, for the treatment of patients with CLL.

Drug regimen	Setting	Efficacy	Toxicities	References
Pembrolizumab every 3 weeks for up to 2 years	Phase II: 25 patients (9 Richter syndrome) R/R CLL	ORR 16% 1% CR Median PFS 3 months Median OS 10.7 months	G≥3 neutropenia 20% G≥3 thrombocytopenia 20% G≥3 anemia 20% G≥3 dyspnea 8% G≥3 hypoxia 8% G≥3 fatigue 8% G≥3 febrile neutropenia 8% G≥3 febrile neutropenia 8% G≥3 fever 4% G≥3 maculopapular rash 4% G3 lung infection 12% G3 hepatic toxicity 8% G5 sepsis 4%	Ding <i>et al.</i> (285) NCT02332980
Nivolumab 3 mg/kg IV every 2 weeks and ibrutinib 420 mg/day	Phase II 8 patients (4 Richter sydrome) R/R CLL vs 3 patients PR CLL to 9-month ibrutinib therapy	ORR 75% 50% PR <i>vs</i> ORR 100% 100% PR	No G≥3 AEs	Jain <i>et al</i> . (286) NCT02420912
Pidilizumab	Phase I 3 patients R/R CLL	ORR 0 67% SD	No G≥3 AEs	Berger <i>et al.</i> (287)
Samalizumab once every 28 days until progression or toxicity	Phase I 23 patients R/R CLL	ORR 4% 4PR	G≥3 hematological AEs 12% G≥3 reduced visual acuity 4% G≥3 muscular weakness 4% G≥3 RSV infection 4% G≥3 rash 4%	Mahadevan <i>et al.</i> (288) NCT00648739
lbrutinib (420 mg or 560 mg) and nivolumab	Phase I-Ila 56 patients (20 Richter syndrome)	ORR 97%	G≥3 neutropenia 28% G≥3 anemia 23% G≥3 rash 8% G≥3 increased ALT 2% Serious AEs: anemia 4% and pneumonia 4%	Younes <i>et al.</i> (289) ¹ NCT02329847
For CLL: induction with umbralisib and ublituximab, consolidation with pembrolizumab, umbralisib and ublituximab, maintenance with umbralisib until progression or unacceptable AE. For Richter syndrome: umbralisib, ublituximab and pembrolizumab	Phase I/II 14 patients (5 Richter syndrome) R/R CLL	CLL: ORR 89% Richter syndrome: ORR 50%, 50% CR PFS 71% (median follow-up 15 months)	G≥3 neutropenia 43% G≥3 ALT/AST increase 21% G≥3 hypophosphatemia 21% G≥3 pneumonitis 7%	Mato <i>et al.</i> (290)
Nivolumab vs pembrolizumab and ibrutinib in 3 patients and venetoclax in 1 patient	7 vs 3 patients R/R CLL (Richter syndrome)	ORR 10%	ND	Rogers <i>et al.</i> (291)
pilimumab and lenalidomide	Phase II 2 patients R/R CLL to allogeneic HSCT	ORR 0	G≥3 neutropenia 40% G2 anemia 40% G2 thrombocytopenia 20% Flare of GVHD 10% G2 nausea 10% G2 headache 10% G2 diarrhea 10%% G2 elevated transaminase 10% G2 hypertension 10% G2 hypothyroidism 10%	Khouri <i>et al.</i> (292) ¹ NCT01919619
Nivolumab single agent until progression or unacceptable oxicity, with planned deescalation pased on toxicity	Phase I 1 patient R/R CLL to allogeneic HSCT	ORR 32% 1-year PFS 23%, 1-year OS 56%	G≥3 thrombocytopenia 14% G≥3 neutropenia 14% G≥3 anemia 11% G≥3 febrile neutropenia 11% G≥3 fatigue 7.1%	Davids <i>et al.</i> (293) ¹ NCT01822509

TABLE 4 | Continued

Drug regimen	Setting	Efficacy	Toxicities	References
			G≥3 rash 3.6% G≥3 transaminitis 7.1% G≥3 fever 3.6% G≥3 lipase elevation 14% G≥3 pneumonitis 3.6% G≥3 abdominal pain 3.6% G≥3 nausea 3.6% G≥3 arthralgia 3.6% G≥3 bilirubin elevation 11% G 5 acute GVHD (liver and gut) 7.1% G 5 APS complicated by thrombotic CVA 3.6% G 5 sepsis with ARDS 3.6%	
Jmbralisib and pembrolizumab	Phase I R/R CLL	ND	ND	NCT03283137
Pembrolizumab	Phase II R/R CLL with Richter Syrndrome	ND	ND	NCT02576990
Ublituximab and umbralisib in combination with targeted immunotherapy	Phase I R/R CLL or Richter syndrome	ND	ND	NCT02535286
Ibrutinib, fludarabine and pembrolizumab	Phase II high-risk or R/R CLL/SLL	ND	ND	NCT03204188
Atezolizumab, obinutuzumab and venetoclax	Phase II CLL, SLL, R/R Richter syndrome	ND	ND	NCT02846623
Durvalumab monotherapy and in combination (with lenalidomide and rituximab; with ibrutinib; with bendamustine and rituximab)	Phase I-II lymphoma or CLL	ND	ND	NCT02733042
Anti-LAG-3 (BMS-986016) single agent and in combination with nivolumab	Phase I/Ila R/R CLL	ND	ND	NCT02061761

AE, adverse events; APS, anti-phospholipid antibody syndrome; ARDS, acute respiratory distress syndrome; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CR, complete response; CVA, cerebral vascular accident; G≥3, grade ≥3; GVHD, graft-versus-host disease; HSCT, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation; ND, no data; ORR, overall response rate; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression free survival; PR, partial response; R/R, relapsed or refractory; SD, stable disease; SLL, small lymphocytic lymphoma. ¹Data for CLL patients only non-available.

immunomodulatory properties—such as IMiDs and checkpoint inhibitors—are currently under evaluation for their ability to potentiate the efficacy of other immunotherapeutic strategies. In this context, combination trials of ibrutinib and T-cell directed immunotherapies, such as anti-CD19 CAR T cells, have already provided promising results and support the potential of this approach.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VG and FP reviewed the literature and wrote the manuscript. VG and FP equally contributed to this work. CS and EB contributed to literature review. MB contributed to manuscript revision. CV and MC designed the review and revised the manuscript. CV and MC equally contributed to this work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research received no external funding. VG is a recipient of a fellowship from the "Associazione Damiano per l'Ematologia".

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank for the support Fondazione EMN Italy Onlus, Torino, Italy. MC would like to express her gratitude for the support given by Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio di Torino (CRT) while contributing to this collection of articles.

REFERENCES

- Hallek M. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia: 2020 update on diagnosis, risk stratification and treatment. Am J Hematol (2019) 94(11):1266–87. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25595
- Bosch F, Dalla-Favera R. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: from genetics to treatment. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2019) 16(11):684–701. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0239-8
- Purroy N, Wu CJ. Coevolution of Leukemia and Host Immune Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspect Med* (2017) 7 (4):1–19. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a026740
- van Attekum MH, Eldering E, Kater AP. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells are active participants in microenvironmental cross-talk. *Haematologica* (2017) 102(9):1469–76. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.142679
- 5. Forconi F, Moss P. Perturbation of the normal immune system in patients with CLL. *Blood* (2015) 126(5):573–81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-03-567388
- Lanasa MC, Allgood SD, Bond KM, Gockerman JP, Levesque MC, Weinberg JB. Oligoclonal TRBV gene usage among CD8(+) T cells in monoclonal B lymphocytosis and CLL. *Br J Haematol* (2009) 145(4):535–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07635.x
- Criado I, Rodríguez-Caballero A, Gutiérrez ML, Pedreira CE, Alcoceba M, Nieto W, et al. Low-count monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis persists after seven years of follow up and is associated with a poorer outcome. *Haematologica* (2018) 103(7):1198–208. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2017.183954
- Lanasa MC, Weinberg JB. Immunologic aspects of monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis. *Immunol Res* (2011) 49(1-3):269–80. doi: 10.1007/s12026-010-8188-4
- Maitre E, Troussard X. Monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol (2019) 32(3):229–38. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2019.06.002
- Moreira J, Rabe KG, Cerhan JR, Kay NE, Wilson JW, Call TG, et al. Infectious complications among individuals with clinical monoclonal Bcell lymphocytosis (MBL): a cohort study of newly diagnosed cases compared to controls. *Leukemia* (2013) 27(1):136–41. doi: 10.1038/ leu.2012.187
- Solomon BM, Chaffee KG, Moreira J, Schwager SM, Cerhan JR, Call TG, et al. Risk of non-hematologic cancer in individuals with high-count monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis. *Leukemia* (2016) 30(2):331–6. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.235
- Dasanu CA, Alexandrescu DT. Risk for second nonlymphoid neoplasms in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Med Gen Med Medscape Gen Med* (2007) 9 (4):35.
- Morrison VA. Infectious complications of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: pathogenesis, spectrum of infection, preventive approaches. *Best Pract Res Clin Haematol* (2010) 23(1):145–53. doi: 10.1016/j.beha.2009.12.004
- Falchi L, Vitale C, Keating MJ, Lerner S, Wang X, Elhor Gbito KY, et al. Incidence and prognostic impact of other cancers in a population of longterm survivors of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Ann Oncol* (2016) 27 (6):1100–6. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw072
- 15. Hilal T, Gea-Banacloche JC, Leis JF. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia and infection risk in the era of targeted therapies: Linking mechanisms with infections. *Blood Rev* (2018) 32(5):387–99. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2018.03.004
- Hamblin TJ. Autoimmune complications of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Semin Oncol (2006) 33(2):230–9. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2006.01.011
- Vitale C, Montalbano MC, Salvetti C, Boccellato E, Griggio V, Boccadoro M, et al. Autoimmune Complications in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia in the Era of Targeted Drugs. *Cancers* (2020) 12(2):1–21. doi: 10.3390/ cancers12020282
- Thompson PA, Tam CS, O'Brien SM, Wierda WG, Stingo F, Plunkett W, et al. Fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab treatment achieves long-term disease-free survival in IGHV-mutated chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2016) 127(3):303–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-09-667675
- Jain N, Keating M, Thompson P, Ferrajoli A, Burger J, Borthakur G, et al. Ibrutinib and Venetoclax for First-Line Treatment of CLL. N Engl J Med (2019) 380(22):2095–103. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1900574
- 20. Rogers KA, Huang Y, Ruppert AS, Abruzzo LV, Andersen BL, Awan FT, et al. Phase II Study of Combination Obinutuzumab, Ibrutinib, and Venetoclax in Treatment-Naïve and Relapsed or Refractory Chronic

Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Clin Oncol (2020) 38(31):3626–37. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.20.00491

- Hillmen P, Rawstron AC, Brock K, Muñoz-Vicente S, Yates FJ, Bishop R, et al. Ibrutinib Plus Venetoclax in Relapsed/Refractory Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: The CLARITY Study. J Clin Oncol (2019) 37 (30):2722–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.00894
- 22. Gribben JG, Riches JC. Immunotherapeutic strategies including transplantation: eradication of disease. *Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Prog* (2013) 2013:151–7. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2013.1.151
- Arruga F, Gyau BB, Iannello A, Vitale N, Vaisitti T, Deaglio S. Immune Response Dysfunction in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Dissecting Molecular Mechanisms and Microenvironmental Conditions. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(5):1–22. doi: 10.3390/ijms21051825
- Haseeb M, Anwar MA, Choi S. Molecular Interactions Between Innate and Adaptive Immune Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia and Their Therapeutic Implications. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2720. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.02720
- Man S, Henley P. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: the role of T cells in a B cell disease. Br J Haematol (2019) 186(2):220–33. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15918
- Roessner PM, Seiffert M. T-cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Guardians or drivers of disease? *Leukemia* (2020) 34(8):2012–24. doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0873-2
- Wang WT, Zhu HY, Wu YJ, Xia Y, Wu JZ, Wu W, et al. Elevated absolute NK cell counts in peripheral blood predict good prognosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol (2018) 144(3):449–57. doi: 10.1007/s00432-017-2568-2
- Hadadi L, Hafezi M, Amirzargar AA, Sharifian RA, Abediankenari S, Asgarian-Omran H. Dysregulated Expression of Tim-3 and NKp30 Receptors on NK Cells of Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Oncol Res Treat (2019) 42(4):202–8. doi: 10.1159/000497208
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez AP, Contesti J, Huergo-Zapico L, Lopez-Soto A, Fernandez-Guizan A, Acebes-Huerta A, et al. Prognostic significance of CD8 and CD4 T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2010) 51(10):1829–36. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2010.503820
- 30. Palmer S, Hanson CA, Zent CS, Porrata LF, Laplant B, Geyer SM, et al. Prognostic importance of T and NK-cells in a consecutive series of newly diagnosed patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* (2008) 141(5):607–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07070.x
- MacFarlane A, Jillab M, Smith MR, Alpaugh RK, Cole ME, Litwin S, et al. NK cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia is associated with loss of the mature cells expressing inhibitory killer cell Ig-like receptors. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 6(7):e1330235. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1330235
- 32. Huergo-Zapico L, Acebes-Huerta A, Gonzalez-Rodriguez AP, Contesti J, Gonzalez-Garcia E, Payer AR, et al. Expansion of NK cells and reduction of NKG2D expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Correlation Progress Dis PLoS One* (2014) 9(10):e108326. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108326
- Costello RT, Knoblauch B, Sanchez C, Mercier D, Le Treut T, Sebahoun G. Expression of natural killer cell activating receptors in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Immunology* (2012) 135(2):151–7. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2567.2011.03521.x
- 34. Le Garff-Tavernier M, Herbi L, de Romeuf C, Nguyen-Khac F, Davi F, Grelier A, et al. Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity of the optimized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody ublituximab on chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells with the 17p deletion. *Leukemia* (2014) 28(1):230–3. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.240
- Lowdell MW, Lamb L, Hoyle C, Velardi A, Prentice HG. Non-MHCrestricted cytotoxic cells: their roles in the control and treatment of leukaemias. *Br J Haematol* (2001) 114(1):11–24. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2001.02906.x
- Ziegler HW, Kay NE, Zarling JM. Deficiency of natural killer cell activity in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Int J Cancer* (1981) 27(3):321– 7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910270310
- 37. Katrinakis G, Kyriakou D, Papadaki H, Kalokyri I, Markidou F, Eliopoulos GD. Defective natural killer cell activity in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia is associated with impaired release of natural killer cytotoxic factor(s) but not of tumour necrosis factor-alpha. *Acta Haematol* (1996) 96 (1):16–23. doi: 10.1159/000203709

- Maki G, Hayes GM, Naji A, Tyler T, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, et al. NK resistance of tumor cells from multiple myeloma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients: implication of HLA-G. *Leukemia* (2008) 22(5):998–1006. doi: 10.1038/leu.2008.15
- Jewell AP, Worman CP, Giles FJ, Goldstone AH, Lydyard PM. Resistance of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells to interferon-alpha generated lymphokine activated killer cells. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (1992) 7(5-6):473– 80. doi: 10.3109/10428199209049804
- Spitz DL, Zucker-Franklin D, Nabi ZF. Unmasking of cryptic natural killer (NK) cell recognition sites on chronic lymphocytic leukemia lymphocytes. *Am J Hematol* (1988) 28(3):155–61. doi: 10.1002/ajh.2830280305
- Veuillen C, Aurran-Schleinitz T, Castellano R, Rey J, Mallet F, Orlanducci F, et al. Primary B-CLL resistance to NK cell cytotoxicity can be overcome in vitro and in vivo by priming NK cells and monoclonal antibody therapy. *J Clin Immunol* (2012) 32(3):632–46. doi: 10.1007/s10875-011-9624-5
- McWilliams EM, Mele JM, Cheney C, Timmerman EA, Fiazuddin F, Strattan EJ, et al. Therapeutic CD94/NKG2A blockade improves natural killer cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(10):e1226720. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1226720
- Villa-Alvarez M, Lorenzo-Herrero S, Gonzalez-Rodriguez AP, Lopez-Soto A, Payer AR, Gonzalez-Garcia E, et al. Ig-like transcript 2 (ILT2) suppresses T cell function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 6 (10):e1353856. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1353856
- 44. Wagner B, da Silva Nardi F, Schramm S, Kraemer T, Celik AA, Durig J, et al. HLA-E allelic genotype correlates with HLA-E plasma levels and predicts early progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer* (2017) 123 (5):814–23. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30427
- 45. Rizzo R, Audrito V, Vacca P, Rossi D, Brusa D, Stignani M, et al. HLA-G is a component of the chronic lymphocytic leukemia escape repertoire to generate immune suppression: impact of the HLA-G 14 base pair (rs66554220) polymorphism. *Haematologica* (2014) 99(5):888–96. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.095281
- 46. Hofland T, Endstra S, Gomes CKP, de Boer R, de Weerdt I, Bobkov V, et al. Natural Killer Cell Hypo-responsiveness in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia can be Circumvented In Vitro by Adequate Activating Signaling. *HemaSphere* (2019) 3(6):e308. doi: 10.1097/HS9.000000000000308
- Parry HM, Stevens T, Oldreive C, Zadran B, McSkeane T, Rudzki Z, et al. NK cell function is markedly impaired in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia but is preserved in patients with small lymphocytic lymphoma. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(42):68513–26. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12097
- Nuckel H, Switala M, Sellmann L, Horn PA, Durig J, Duhrsen U, et al. The prognostic significance of soluble NKG2D ligands in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2010) 24(6):1152–9. doi: 10.1038/ leu.2010.74
- Sanchez-Martinez D, Lanuza PM, Gomez N, Muntasell A, Cisneros E, Moraru M, et al. Activated Allogeneic NK Cells Preferentially Kill Poor Prognosis B-Cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells. Front Immunol (2016) 7:454. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00454
- Reiners KS, Topolar D, Henke A, Simhadri VR, Kessler J, Sauer M, et al. Soluble ligands for NK cell receptors promote evasion of chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells from NK cell anti-tumor activity. *Blood* (2013) 121(18):3658–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-01-476606
- 51. Laprevotte E, Voisin G, Ysebaert L, Klein C, Daugrois C, Laurent G, et al. Recombinant human IL-15 trans-presentation by B leukemic cells from chronic lymphocytic leukemia induces autologous NK cell proliferation leading to improved anti-CD20 immunotherapy. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2013) 191(7):3634–40. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300187
- 52. Hemati M, Rasouli Nejad Z, Shokri MR, Ghahremanfard F, Mir Mohammadkhani M, Kokhaei P. IL-27 impact on NK cells activity: Implication for a robust anti-tumor response in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2020) 82:106350. doi: 10.1016/ j.intimp.2020.106350
- Eskelund CW, Nederby L, Thysen AH, Skovbo A, Roug AS, Hokland ME. Interleukin-21 and rituximab enhance NK cell functionality in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Leukemia Res* (2011) 35(7):914–20. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2011.02.006
- 54. Lin H, Nieda M, Rozenkov V, Nicol AJ. Analysis of the effect of different NKT cell subpopulations on the activation of CD4 and CD8 T cells, NK cells,

and B cells. Exp Hematol (2006) 34(3):289-95. doi: 10.1016/ j.exphem.2005.12.008

- 55. Lynch L, Michelet X, Zhang S, Brennan PJ, Moseman A, Lester C, et al. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T(reg) cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(1):85–95. doi: 10.1038/ni.3047
- O'Reilly A, Murphy J, Rawe S, Garvey M. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Review of Front-line Treatment Options, With a Focus on Elderly CLL Patients. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leukemia* (2018) 18(4):249–56. doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2018.02.003
- Vincent MS, Leslie DS, Gumperz JE, Xiong X, Grant EP, Brenner MB. CD1dependent dendritic cell instruction. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(12):1163–8. doi: 10.1038/ni851
- Weinkove R, Brooks CR, Carter JM, Hermans IF, Ronchese F. Functional invariant natural killer T-cell and CD1d axis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: implications for immunotherapy. *Haematologica* (2013) 98 (3):376–84. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.072835
- Ghnewa YG, O'Reilly VP, Vandenberghe E, Browne PV, McElligott AM, Doherty DG. Retinoic acid induction of CD1d expression primes chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells for killing by CD8(+) invariant natural killer T cells. *Clin Immunol (Orlando Fla)* (2017) 183:91–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.clim.2017.08.002
- Gorini F, Azzimonti L, Delfanti G, Scarfo L, Scielzo C, Bertilaccio MT, et al. Invariant NKT cells contribute to chronic lymphocytic leukemia surveillance and prognosis. *Blood* (2017) 129(26):3440–51. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-11-751065
- Bojarska-Junak A, Hus I, Chocholska S, Tomczak W, Wos J, Czubak P, et al. CD1d expression is higher in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients with unfavorable prognosis. *Leukemia Res* (2014) 38(4):435–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.leukres.2013.12.015
- 62. Zaborsky N, Gassner FJ, Asslaber D, Reinthaler P, Denk U, Flenady S, et al. CD1d expression on chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells affects disease progression and induces T cell skewing in CD8 positive and CD4CD8 double negative T cells. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(31):49459–69. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.10372
- Bojarska-Junak A, Waldowska M, Wos J, Chocholska S, Hus I, Tomczak W, et al. Intracellular IL-4 and IFN-gamma expression in iNKT cells from patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncol Lett* (2018) 15(2):1580– 90. doi: 10.3892/ol.2017.7484
- 64. Fais F, Morabito F, Stelitano C, Callea V, Zanardi S, Scudeletti M, et al. CD1d is expressed on B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells and mediates alphagalactosylceramide presentation to natural killer T lymphocytes. *Int J Cancer* (2004) 109(3):402–11. doi: 10.1002/ijc.11723
- Poggi A, Venturino C, Catellani S, Clavio M, Miglino M, Gobbi M, et al. Vdelta1 T lymphocytes from B-CLL patients recognize ULBP3 expressed on leukemic B cells and up-regulated by trans-retinoic acid. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(24):9172–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2417
- 66. Correia DV, Fogli M, Hudspeth K, da Silva MG, Mavilio D, Silva-Santos B. Differentiation of human peripheral blood Vdelta1+ T cells expressing the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp30 for recognition of lymphoid leukemia cells. *Blood* (2011) 118(4):992–1001. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-02-339135
- Almeida AR, Correia DV, Fernandes-Platzgummer A, da Silva CL, da Silva MG, Anjos DR, et al. Delta One T Cells for Immunotherapy of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Clinical-Grade Expansion/Differentiation and Preclinical Proof of Concept. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(23):5795–804. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0597
- Castella B, Vitale C, Coscia M, Massaia M. Vγ9Vδ2 T cell-based immunotherapy in hematological malignancies: from bench to bedside. *Cell Mol Life Sci CMLS* (2011) 68(14):2419–32. doi: 10.1007/s00018-011-0704-8
- 69. Coscia M, Vitale C, Peola S, Foglietta M, Rigoni M, Griggio V, et al. Dysfunctional Vgamma9Vdelta2 T cells are negative prognosticators and markers of dysregulated mevalonate pathway activity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Blood* (2012) 120(16):3271–9. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2012-03-417519
- 70. de Weerdt I, Hofland T, Lameris R, Endstra S, Jongejan A, Moerland PD, et al. Improving CLL Vgamma9Vdelta2-T-cell fitness for cellular therapy by

ex vivo activation and ibrutinib. *Blood* (2018) 132(21):2260–72. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2017-12-822569

- Orsini E, Guarini A, Chiaretti S, Mauro FR, Foa R. The circulating dendritic cell compartment in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia is severely defective and unable to stimulate an effective T-cell response. *Cancer Res* (2003) 63(15):4497–506.
- Toniolo PA, Liu S, Yeh JE, Ye DQ, Barbuto JA, Frank DA. Deregulation of SOCS5 suppresses dendritic cell function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(29):46301–14. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10093
- Junevik K, Werlenius O, Fogelstrand L, Karlsson-Parra A, Andersson PO. High functional CD70 expression on α-type 1-polarized dendritic cells from patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Scand J Immunol* (2014) 79 (6):415–22. doi: 10.1111/sji.12172
- 74. Palma M, Hansson L, Choudhury A, Nasman-Glaser B, Eriksson I, Adamson L, et al. Vaccination with dendritic cells loaded with tumor apoptotic bodies (Apo-DC) in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: effects of various adjuvants and definition of immune response criteria. *Cancer Immunol Immunother CII* (2012) 61(6):865–79. doi: 10.1007/s00262-011-1149-5
- Palma M, Hansson L, Mulder TA, Adamson L, Nasman-Glaser B, Eriksson I, et al. Lenalidomide as immune adjuvant to a dendritic cell vaccine in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *Eur J Haematol* (2018) 101(1):68–77. doi: 10.1111/ejh.13065
- 76. Gustafsson K, Junevik K, Werlenius O, Holmgren S, Karlsson-Parra A, Andersson PO. Tumour-loaded α-type 1-polarized dendritic cells from patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia produce a superior NK-, NKT- and CD8+ T cell-attracting chemokine profile. *Scand J Immunol* (2011) 74(3):318–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02580.x
- 77. Adamson L, Palma M, Choudhury A, Eriksson I, Näsman-Glaser B, Hansson M, et al. Generation of a dendritic cell-based vaccine in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia using CliniMACS platform for large-scale production. *Scand J Immunol* (2009) 69(6):529–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2009.02249.x
- Matutes E, Wechsler A, Gomez R, Cherchi M, Catovsky D. Unusual T-cell phenotype in advanced B-chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* (1981) 49(4):635–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1981.tb07274.x
- Platsoucas CD, Galinski M, Kempin S, Reich L, Clarkson B, Good RA. Abnormal T lymphocyte subpopulations in patients with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: an analysis by monoclonal antibodies. *J Immunol* (*Baltimore Md 1950*) (1982) 129(5):2305–12.
- Herrmann F, Lochner A, Philippen H, Jauer B, Ruhl H. Imbalance of T cell subpopulations in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia of the B cell type. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1982) 49(1):157–62.
- Catovsky D, Miliani E, Okos A, Galton DA. Clinical significance of T-cells in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Lancet (London England)* (1974) 2 (7883):751–2. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(74)90944-1
- 82. Nunes C, Wong R, Mason M, Fegan C, Man S, Pepper C. Expansion of a CD8(+)PD-1(+) replicative senescence phenotype in early stage CLL patients is associated with inverted CD4:CD8 ratios and disease progression. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(3):678-87. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2630
- Wu J, Xu X, Lee EJ, Shull AY, Pei L, Awan F, et al. Phenotypic alteration of CD8+ T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia is associated with epigenetic reprogramming. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(26):40558–70. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.9941
- Guarini A, Gaidano G, Mauro FR, Capello D, Mancini F, De Propris MS, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients with highly stable and indolent disease show distinctive phenotypic and genotypic features. *Blood* (2003) 102 (3):1035–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-12-3639
- Palma M, Gentilcore G, Heimersson K, Mozaffari F, Nasman-Glaser B, Young E, et al. T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia display dysregulated expression of immune checkpoints and activation markers. *Haematologica* (2017) 102(3):562–72. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.151100
- Podhorecka M, Dmoszynska A, Rolinski J, Wasik E. T type 1/type 2 subsets balance in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia-the three-color flow cytometry analysis. *Leukemia Res* (2002) 26(7):657–60. doi: 10.1016/ S0145-2126(01)00194-1

- Roessner PM, Hanna BS, Öztürk S, Schulz R, Llaó Cid L, Yazdanparast H, et al. TBET-expressing Th1 CD4(+) T cells accumulate in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia without affecting disease progression in Eμ-TCL1 mice. *Br J Haematol* (2020) 189(1):133–45. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16316
- Manna A, Kellett T, Aulakh S, Lewis-Tuffin LJ, Dutta N, Knutson K, et al. Targeting CD38 is lethal to Breg-like chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells and Tregs, but restores CD8+ T-cell responses. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4(10):2143–57. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019001091
- Brusa D, Serra S, Coscia M, Rossi D, D'Arena G, Laurenti L, et al. The PD-1/ PD-L1 axis contributes to T-cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2013) 98(6):953-63. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2012.077537
- Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Yazdanparast H, Colomer D, Campo E, Kugler S, et al. Control of chronic lymphocytic leukemia development by clonallyexpanded CD8(+) T-cells that undergo functional exhaustion in secondary lymphoid tissues. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(3):625–37. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0250-6
- Serrano D, Monteiro J, Allen SL, Kolitz J, Schulman P, Lichtman SM, et al. Clonal expansion within the CD4+CD57+ and CD8+CD57+ T cell subsets in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950)* (1997) 158(3):1482–9.
- 92. Van den Hove LE, Vandenberghe P, Van Gool SW, Ceuppens JL, Demuynck H, Verhoef GE, et al. Peripheral blood lymphocyte subset shifts in patients with untreated hematological tumors: evidence for systemic activation of the T cell compartment. *Leukemia Res* (1998) 22(2):175–84. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2126(97) 00152-5
- 93. Riches JC, Davies JK, McClanahan F, Fatah R, Iqbal S, Agrawal S, et al. T cells from CLL patients exhibit features of T-cell exhaustion but retain capacity for cytokine production. *Blood* (2013) 121(9):1612–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-457531
- 94. Tonino SH, van de Berg PJ, Yong SL, ten Berge IJ, Kersten MJ, van Lier RA, et al. Expansion of effector T cells associated with decreased PD-1 expression in patients with indolent B cell lymphomas and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2012) 53(9):1785–94. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2012.673224
- 95. te Raa GD, Pascutti MF, García-Vallejo JJ, Reinen E, Remmerswaal EB, ten Berge IJ, et al. CMV-specific CD8+ T-cell function is not impaired in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2014) 123(5):717–24. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-08-518183
- 96. Vardi A, Agathangelidis A, Stalika E, Karypidou M, Siorenta A, Anagnostopoulos A, et al. Antigen Selection Shapes the T-cell Repertoire in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(1):167–74. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-3017
- Blanco G, Vardi A, Puiggros A, Gomez-Llonin A, Muro M, Rodriguez-Rivera M, et al. Restricted T cell receptor repertoire in CLL-like monoclonal B cell lymphocytosis and early stage CLL. Oncoimmunology (2018) 7(6): e1432328. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1432328
- Gorgun G, Holderried TA, Zahrieh D, Neuberg D, Gribben JG. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce changes in gene expression of CD4 and CD8 T cells. J Clin Invest (2005) 115(7):1797–805. doi: 10.1172/JCI24176
- 99. Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple inhibitory ligands induce impaired T-cell immunologic synapse function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia that can be blocked with lenalidomide: establishing a reversible immune evasion mechanism in human cancer. *Blood* (2012) 120 (7):1412–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-411678
- 100. Ramsay AG, Johnson AJ, Lee AM, Gorgun G, Le Dieu R, Blum W, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia T cells show impaired immunological synapse formation that can be reversed with an immunomodulating drug. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(7):2427–37. doi: 10.1172/JCI35017
- 101. Kabanova A, Sanseviero F, Candi V, Gamberucci A, Gozzetti A, Campoccia G, et al. Human Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Form Dysfunctional Immune Synapses with B Cells Characterized by Non-Polarized Lytic Granule Release. *Cell Rep* (2016) 15(1):9–18. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.02.084
- 102. Ramsay AG, Evans R, Kiaii S, Svensson L, Hogg N, Gribben JG. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce defective LFA-1-directed T-cell motility by altering Rho GTPase signaling that is reversible with lenalidomide. *Blood* (2013) 121(14):2704–14. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-08-448332

- 103. van Bruggen JAC, Martens AWJ, Fraietta JA, Hofland T, Tonino SH, Eldering E, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells impair mitochondrial fitness in CD8(+) T cells and impede CAR T-cell efficacy. *Blood* (2019) 134(1):44–58. doi: 10.1182/blood.2018885863
- 104. Motta M, Rassenti L, Shelvin BJ, Lerner S, Kipps TJ, Keating MJ, et al. Increased expression of CD152 (CTLA-4) by normal T lymphocytes in untreated patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2005) 19(10):1788–93. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403907
- 105. Novak M, Prochazka V, Turcsanyi P, Papajik T. Numbers of CD8+PD-1+ and CD4+PD-1+ Cells in Peripheral Blood of Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Are Independent of Binet Stage and Are Significantly Higher Compared to Healthy Volunteers. Acta Haematol (2015) 134(4):208-14. doi: 10.1159/000381468
- 106. Rusak M, Eljaszewicz A, Bolkun L, Luksza E, Lapuc I, Piszcz J, et al. Prognostic significance of PD-1 expression on peripheral blood CD4+ T cells in patients with newly diagnosed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Polskie Archiwum Medycyny Wewnetrznej* (2015) 125(7-8):553–9. doi: 10.20452/ pamw.2967
- 107. Shapiro M, Herishanu Y, Katz BZ, Dezorella N, Sun C, Kay S, et al. Lymphocyte activation gene 3: a novel therapeutic target in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2017) 102(5):874–82. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2016.148965
- 108. Taghiloo S, Allahmoradi E, Tehrani M, Hossein-Nataj H, Shekarriz R, Janbabaei G, et al. Frequency and functional characterization of exhausted CD8(+) T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Eur J Haematol* (2017) 98 (6):622–31. doi: 10.1111/ejh.12880
- 109. Catakovic K, Gassner FJ, Ratswohl C, Zaborsky N, Rebhandl S, Schubert M, et al. TIGIT expressing CD4+T cells represent a tumor-supportive T cell subset in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 7(1): e1371399. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1371399
- 110. Wierz M, Janji B, Berchem G, Moussay E, Paggetti J. High-dimensional mass cytometry analysis revealed microenvironment complexity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7(8):e1465167. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1465167
- 111. Taghiloo S, Allahmoradi E, Ebadi R, Tehrani M, Hosseini-Khah Z, Janbabaei G, et al. Upregulation of Galectin-9 and PD-L1 Immune Checkpoints Molecules in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev APJCP (2017) 18(8):2269-74. doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2017.18.8.2269
- 112. Ciszak L, Frydecka I, Wolowiec D, Szteblich A, Kosmaczewska A. Patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL) differ in the pattern of CTLA-4 expression on CLL cells: the possible implications for immunotherapy with CTLA-4 blocking antibody. *Tumour Biol J Int Soc Oncodevelopment Biol Med* (2016) 37(3):4143–57. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4217-1
- 113. Elston L, Fegan C, Hills R, Hashimdeen SS, Walsby E, Henley P, et al. Increased frequency of CD4(+) PD-1(+) HLA-DR(+) T cells is associated with disease progression in CLL. *Br J Haematol* (2020) 188(6):872–80. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16260
- 114. de Weerdt I, Hofland T, de Boer R, Dobber JA, Dubois J, van Nieuwenhuize D, et al. Distinct immune composition in lymph node and peripheral blood of CLL patients is reshaped during venetoclax treatment. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3(17):2642–52. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances. 2019000360
- 115. Serra S, Vaisitti T, Audrito V, Bologna C, Buonincontri R, Chen SS, et al. Adenosine signaling mediates hypoxic responses in the chronic lymphocytic leukemia microenvironment. *Blood Adv* (2016) 1(1):47–61. doi: 10.1182/ bloodadvances.2016000984
- 116. D'Arena G, Laurenti L, Minervini MM, Deaglio S, Bonello L, De Martino L, et al. Regulatory T-cell number is increased in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients and correlates with progressive disease. *Leukemia Res* (2011) 35 (3):363–8. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2010.08.010
- 117. Jadidi-Niaragh F, Yousefi M, Memarian A, Hojjat-Farsangi M, Khoshnoodi J, Razavi SM, et al. Increased frequency of CD8+ and CD4+ regulatory T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: association with disease progression. *Cancer Invest* (2013) 31(2):121–31. doi: 10.3109/07357907.2012.756110
- 118. Dasgupta A, Mahapatra M, Saxena R. A study for proposal of use of regulatory T cells as a prognostic marker and establishing an optimal threshold level for their expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia.

Leukemia Lymphoma (2015) 56(6):1831-8. doi: 10.3109/10428194. 2014.966245

- 119. D'Arena G, Vitale C, Coscia M, Festa A, Di Minno NMD, De Feo V, et al. Regulatory T Cells and Their Prognostic Relevance in Hematologic Malignancies. J Immunol Res (2017) 2017:1832968. doi: 10.1155/2017/ 1832968
- 120. Mpakou VE, Ioannidou HD, Konsta E, Vikentiou M, Spathis A, Kontsioti F, et al. Quantitative and qualitative analysis of regulatory T cells in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia Res* (2017) 60:74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2017.07.004
- 121. Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Scheffold A, Jebaraj BMC, Demerdash Y, Ozturk S, et al. PI3Kdelta inhibition modulates regulatory and effector T-cell differentiation and function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(6):1427–38. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0318-3
- 122. Jak M, Mous R, Remmerswaal EB, Spijker R, Jaspers A, Yague A, et al. Enhanced formation and survival of CD4+ CD25hi Foxp3+ T-cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2009) 50(5):788– 801. doi: 10.1080/10428190902803677
- 123. Beyer M, Kochanek M, Darabi K, Popov A, Jensen M, Endl E, et al. Reduced frequencies and suppressive function of CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia after therapy with fludarabine. *Blood* (2005) 106(6):2018–25. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-02-0642
- 124. Chellappa S, Kushekhar K, Munthe LA, Tjonnfjord GE, Aandahl EM, Okkenhaug K, et al. The PI3K p110delta Isoform Inhibitor Idelalisib Preferentially Inhibits Human Regulatory T Cell Function. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2019) 202(5):1397-405. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1701703
- 125. Lindqvist CA, Christiansson LH, Thörn I, Mangsbo S, Paul-Wetterberg G, Sundström C, et al. Both CD4+ FoxP3+ and CD4+ FoxP3- T cells from patients with B-cell malignancy express cytolytic markers and kill autologous leukaemic B cells in vitro. *Immunology* (2011) 133(3):296–306. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2567.2011.03439.x
- 126. De Matteis S, Molinari C, Abbati G, Rossi T, Napolitano R, Ghetti M, et al. Immunosuppressive Treg cells acquire the phenotype of effector-T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *J Trans Med* (2018) 16(1):172. doi: 10.1186/s12967-018-1545-0
- 127. Gorczynski RM. IL-17 Signaling in the Tumor Microenvironment. Adv Exp Med Biol (2020) 1240:47–58. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-38315-2_4
- 128. Lad DP, Varma S, Varma N, Sachdeva MU, Bose P, Malhotra P. Regulatory T-cell and T-helper 17 balance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia progression and autoimmune cytopenias. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2015) 56(8):2424–8. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.986479
- 129. Hus I, Bojarska-Junak A, Chocholska S, Tomczak W, Wos J, Dmoszynska A, et al. Th17/IL-17A might play a protective role in chronic lymphocytic leukemia immunity. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(11):e78091. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0078091
- 130. Jadidi-Niaragh F, Ghalamfarsa G, Memarian A, Asgarian-Omran H, Razavi SM, Sarrafnejad A, et al. Downregulation of IL-17-producing T cells is associated with regulatory T cell expansion and disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Tumour Biol J Int Soc Oncodevelopment Biol Med* (2013) 34(2):929–40. doi: 10.1007/s13277-012-0628-4
- 131. Jain P, Javdan M, Feger FK, Chiu PY, Sison C, Damle RN, et al. Th17 and non-Th17 interleukin-17-expressing cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: delineation, distribution, and clinical relevance. *Haematologica* (2012) 97 (4):599–607. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2011.047316
- 132. Pang N, Zhang R, Li J, Zhang Z, Yuan H, Chen G, et al. Increased IL-10/IL-17 ratio is aggravated along with the prognosis of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2016) 40:57–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.intimp.2016.07.008
- 133. Sherry B, Jain P, Chiu PY, Leung L, Allen SL, Kolitz JE, et al. Identification and characterization of distinct IL-17F expression patterns and signaling pathways in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and normal B lymphocytes. *Immunol Res* (2015) 63(1-3):216–27. doi: 10.1007/s12026-015-8722-5
- 134. Zhu F, McCaw L, Spaner DE, Gorczynski RM. Targeting the IL-17/IL-6 axis can alter growth of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia in vivo/in vitro. *Leukemia Res* (2018) 66:28–38. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2018.01.006
- Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells. Cancer Immunol Res (2017) 5(1):3–8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0297
- Hanna BS, Öztürk S, Seiffert M. Beyond bystanders: Myeloid cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Mol Immunol* (2019) 110:77–87. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2017.11.014
- 137. Gustafson MP, Abraham RS, Lin Y, Wu W, Gastineau DA, Zent CS, et al. Association of an increased frequency of CD14+HLA-DRlo/neg monocytes with decreased time to progression in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL). *Br J Haematol* (2012) 156(5):674–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08902.x
- 138. Jitschin R, Braun M, Buttner M, Dettmer-Wilde K, Bricks J, Berger J, et al. CLL-cells induce IDOhi CD14+HLA-DRlo myeloid-derived suppressor cells that inhibit T-cell responses and promote TRegs. *Blood* (2014) 124(5):750– 60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-12-546416
- Liu J, Zhou Y, Huang Q, Qiu L. CD14(+)HLA-DR(low/-) expression: A novel prognostic factor in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncol Lett* (2015) 9 (3):1167–72. doi: 10.3892/ol.2014.2808
- 140. Zahran AM, Moeen SM, Thabet AF, Rayan A, Abdel-Rahim MH, Mohamed WMY, et al. Monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients: a single center experience. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2020) 61(7):1645–52. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2020.1728747
- 141. Hanna BS, McClanahan F, Yazdanparast H, Zaborsky N, Kalter V, Rossner PM, et al. Depletion of CLL-associated patrolling monocytes and macrophages controls disease development and repairs immune dysfunction in vivo. *Leukemia* (2016) 30(3):570–9. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.305
- 142. Haderk F, Schulz R, Iskar M, Cid LL, Worst T, Willmund KV, et al. Tumorderived exosomes modulate PD-L1 expression in monocytes. *Sci Immunol* (2017) 2(13):1–11. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aah5509
- 143. Bruns H, Bottcher M, Qorraj M, Fabri M, Jitschin S, Dindorf J, et al. CLLcell-mediated MDSC induction by exosomal miR-155 transfer is disrupted by vitamin D. *Leukemia* (2017) 31(4):985–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.378
- 144. Borge M, Nannini PR, Morande PE, Jancic C, Bistmans A, Bezares RF, et al. CXCL12 is a costimulator for CD4+ T cell activation and proliferation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother CII* (2013) 62(1):113–24. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1320-7
- 145. Visentin A, Compagno N, Cinetto F, Imbergamo S, Zambello R, Piazza F, et al. Clinical profile associated with infections in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Protective role of immunoglobulin replacement therapy. *Haematologica* (2015) 100(12):e515-8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.126763
- 146. Reda G, Cassin R, Gentile M, Mauro FR, Giannarelli D, Fattizzo B, et al. IgA hypogammaglobulinemia predicts outcome in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(6):1519–22. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0344-1
- 147. Mauro FR, Morabito F, Vincelli ID, Petrucci L, Campanelli M, Salaroli A, et al. Clinical relevance of hypogammaglobulinemia, clinical and biologic variables on the infection risk and outcome of patients with stage A chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia Res* (2017) 57:65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2017.02.011
- 148. Crassini KR, Zhang E, Balendran S, Freeman JA, Best OG, Forsyth CJ, et al. Humoral immune failure defined by immunoglobulin class and immunoglobulin G subclass deficiency is associated with shorter treatment-free and overall survival in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia. Br J Haematol (2018) 181(1):97–101. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15146
- 149. Sampalo A, Navas G, Medina F, Segundo C, Cámara C, Brieva JA. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells inhibit spontaneous Ig production by autologous bone marrow cells: role of CD95-CD95L interaction. *Blood* (2000) 96(9):3168–74. doi: 10.1182/blood.V96.9.3168.h8003168_3168_3174
- 150. Motta M, Chiarini M, Ghidini C, Zanotti C, Lamorgese C, Caimi L, et al. Quantification of newly produced B and T lymphocytes in untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *J Trans Med* (2010) 8:111. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-8-111
- Hamblin TJ, Oscier DG, Young BJ. Autoimmunity in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. J Clin Pathol (1986) 39(7):713–6.
- Kipps TJ, Carson DA. Autoantibodies in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and related systemic autoimmune diseases. *Blood* (1993) 81(10):2475–87. doi: 10.1182/blood.V81.10.2475.bloodjournal81102475
- 153. Griggio V, Mandili G, Vitale C, Capello M, Macor P, Serra S, et al. Humoral immune responses toward tumor-derived antigens in previously untreated patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(2):3274– 88. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13712

- 154. Middleton O, Cosimo E, Dobbin E, McCaig AM, Clarke C, Brant AM, et al. Complement deficiencies limit CD20 monoclonal antibody treatment efficacy in CLL. *Leukemia* (2015) 29(1):107–14. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.146
- 155. Lee BN, Gao H, Cohen EN, Badoux X, Wierda WG, Estrov Z, et al. Treatment with lenalidomide modulates T-cell immunophenotype and cytokine production in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer* (2011) 117(17):3999–4008. doi: 10.1002/cncr.25983
- 156. Kipps TJ, Choi MY. Targeted Therapy in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Cancer J (Sudbury Mass) (2019) 25(6):378-85. doi: 10.1097/ PPO.0000000000000416
- 157. Lampson BL, Kasar SN, Matos TR, Morgan EA, Rassenti L, Davids MS, et al. Idelalisib given front-line for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia causes frequent immune-mediated hepatotoxicity. *Blood* (2016) 128(2):195– 203. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-707133
- 158. Thompson PA, Stingo F, Keating MJ, Ferrajoli A, Burger JA, Wierda WG, et al. Outcomes of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia treated with first-line idelalisib plus rituximab after cessation of treatment for toxicity. *Cancer* (2016) 122(16):2505–11. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30069
- 159. Coutré SE, Barrientos JC, Brown JR, de Vos S, Furman RR, Keating MJ, et al. Management of adverse events associated with idelalisib treatment: expert panel opinion. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2015) 56(10):2779–86. doi: 10.3109/ 10428194.2015.1022770
- 160. Stock S, Übelhart R, Schubert ML, Fan F, He B, Hoffmann JM, et al. Idelalisib for optimized CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 145(5):1312–24. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32201
- 161. Niemann CU, Herman SE, Maric I, Gomez-Rodriguez J, Biancotto A, Chang BY, et al. Disruption of in vivo Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Tumor-Microenvironment Interactions by Ibrutinib–Findings from an Investigator-Initiated Phase II Study. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(7):1572–82. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-15-1965
- 162. Barrientos JC, O'Brien S, Brown JR, Kay NE, Reddy NM, Coutre S, et al. Improvement in Parameters of Hematologic and Immunologic Function and Patient Well-being in the Phase III RESONATE Study of Ibrutinib Versus Ofatumumab in Patients With Previously Treated Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia/Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leukemia* (2018) 18(12):803–13.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2018.08.007
- 163. Podhorecka M, Goracy A, Szymczyk A, Kowal M, Ibanez B, Jankowska-Lecka O, et al. Changes in T-cell subpopulations and cytokine network during early period of ibrutinib therapy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients: the significant decrease in T regulatory cells number. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(21):34661–9. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16148
- 164. Parry HM, Mirajkar N, Cutmore N, Zuo J, Long H, Kwok M, et al. Long-Term Ibrutinib Therapy Reverses CD8(+) T Cell Exhaustion in B Cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2832. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02832
- 165. Long M, Beckwith K, Do P, Mundy BL, Gordon A, Lehman AM, et al. Ibrutinib treatment improves T cell number and function in CLL patients. *J Clin Invest* (2017) 127(8):3052–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI89756
- 166. Yin Q, Sivina M, Robins H, Yusko E, Vignali M, O'Brien S, et al. Ibrutinib Therapy Increases T Cell Repertoire Diversity in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2017) 198 (4):1740–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601190
- 167. Palma M, Krstic A, Pena Perez L, Berglof A, Meinke S, Wang Q, et al. Ibrutinib induces rapid down-regulation of inflammatory markers and altered transcription of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia-related genes in blood and lymph nodes. *Br J Haematol* (2018) 183(2):212–24. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15516
- 168. Kondo K, Shaim H, Thompson PA, Burger JA, Keating M, Estrov Z, et al. Ibrutinib modulates the immunosuppressive CLL microenvironment through STAT3-mediated suppression of regulatory B-cell function and inhibition of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway. *Leukemia* (2018) 32(4):960–70. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.304
- 169. Solman IG, Blum LK, Hoh HY, Kipps TJ, Burger JA, Barrientos JC, et al. Ibrutinib restores immune cell numbers and function in first-line and relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia Res* (2020) 97:106432. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2020.106432

- 170. Hanna BS, Yazdanparast H, Demerdash Y, Roessner PM, Schulz R, Lichter P, et al. Combining ibrutinib and checkpoint blockade improves CD8+ T-cell function and control of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in Em-TCL1 mice. *Haematologica* (2020) haematol.2019.238154. doi: 10.3324/haematol. 2019.238154
- 171. Gauthier J, Hirayama AV, Purushe J, Hay KA, Lymp J, Li DH, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of CD19-targeted CAR T cells with concurrent ibrutinib for CLL after ibrutinib failure. *Blood* (2020) 135(19):1650–60. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019002936
- 172. Gill SI, Vides V, Frey NV, Metzger S, O'Brien M, Hexner E, et al. Prospective Clinical Trial of Anti-CD19 CAR T Cells in Combination with Ibrutinib for the Treatment of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Shows a High Response Rate. *Blood* (2018) 132(Supplement 1):298–. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-115418
- 173. Dubovsky JA, Beckwith KA, Natarajan G, Woyach JA, Jaglowski S, Zhong Y, et al. Ibrutinib is an irreversible molecular inhibitor of ITK driving a Th1-selective pressure in T lymphocytes. *Blood* (2013) 122(15):2539–49. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-507947
- 174. Zou YX, Zhu HY, Li XT, Xia Y, Miao KR, Zhao SS, et al. The impacts of zanubrutinib on immune cells in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma. *Hematol Oncol* (2019) 37(4):392– 400. doi: 10.1002/hon.2667
- 175. Murakami S, Suzuki S, Hanamura I, Yoshikawa K, Ueda R, Seto M, et al. Combining T-cell-based immunotherapy with venetoclax elicits synergistic cytotoxicity to B-cell lines in vitro. *Hematol Oncol* (2020). doi: 10.1002/ hon.2794
- 176. Kohlhapp FJ, Haribhai D, Mathew R, Duggan R, Ellis PA, Wang R, et al. Venetoclax increases intra-tumoral effector T cells and anti-tumor efficacy in combination with immune checkpoint blockade. *Cancer Discovery* (2020) Sep 4:CD-19-0759. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0759
- 177. Chanan-Khan A, Miller KC, Musial L, Lawrence D, Padmanabhan S, Takeshita K, et al. Clinical efficacy of lenalidomide in patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia: results of a phase II study. J Clin Oncol (2006) 24(34):5343–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.05.0401
- 178. Ferrajoli A, Lee BN, Schlette EJ, O'Brien SM, Gao H, Wen S, et al. Lenalidomide induces complete and partial remissions in patients with relapsed and refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2008) 111 (11):5291–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-12-130120
- 179. Chen CI, Bergsagel PL, Paul H, Xu W, Lau A, Dave N, et al. Single-Agent Lenalidomide in the Treatment of Previously Untreated Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Clin Oncol (2010) 29(9):1175–81. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2010.29.8133
- 180. Badoux XC, Keating MJ, Wen S, Lee BN, Sivina M, Reuben J, et al. Lenalidomide as initial therapy of elderly patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2011) 118(13):3489–98. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-03-339077
- 181. Wendtner CM, Hallek M, Fraser GAM, Michallet A-S, Hillmen P, Dürig J, et al. Safety and efficacy of different lenalidomide starting doses in patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia: results of an international multicenter double-blinded randomized phase II trial*. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2016) 57(6):1291–9. doi: 10.3109/10428194. 2015.1128540
- 182. Chanan-Khan A, Egyed M, Robak T, Martinelli de Oliveira FA, Echeveste MA, Dolan S, et al. Randomized phase 3 study of lenalidomide versus chlorambucil as first-line therapy for older patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (the ORIGIN trial). *Leukemia* (2017) 31(5):1240–3. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.47
- 183. Badoux XC, Keating MJ, Wen S, Wierda WG, O'Brien SM, Faderl S, et al. Phase II study of lenalidomide and rituximab as salvage therapy for patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(5):584–91. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.42.8623
- 184. James DF, Werner L, Brown JR, Wierda WG, Barrientos JC, Castro JE, et al. Lenalidomide and rituximab for the initial treatment of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a multicenter clinical-translational study from the chronic lymphocytic leukemia research consortium. *J Clin Oncol* (2014) 32 (19):2067–73. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.51.5890
- 185. Strati P, Takahashi K, Peterson CB, Keating MJ, Thompson PA, Daver NG, et al. Efficacy and predictors of response of lenalidomide and rituximab in

patients with treatment-naive and relapsed CLL. Blood Adv (2019) 3 (9):1533–9. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019031336

- 186. Costa LJ, Fanning SR, Stephenson JJr., Afrin LB, Kistner-Griffin E, Bentz TA, et al. Sequential ofatumumab and lenalidomide for the treatment of relapsed and refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2015) 56(3):645–9. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.935369
- 187. Vitale C, Falchi L, Ten Hacken E, Gao H, Shaim H, Van Roosbroeck K, et al. Ofatumumab and Lenalidomide for Patients with Relapsed or Refractory Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Correlation between Responses and Immune Characteristics. *Clin Cancer Res* (2016) 22(10):2359–67. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2476
- 188. Brown JR, Abramson J, Hochberg E, Mikler E, Dalton V, Werner L, et al. A phase I study of lenalidomide in combination with fludarabine and rituximab in previously untreated CLL/SLL. *Leukemia* (2010) 24(11):1972– 5. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.199
- 189. Maurer C, Pflug N, Bahlo J, Kluth S, Rhein C, Cramer P, et al. Bendamustine and rituximab in combination with lenalidomide in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Eur J Haematol* (2016) 97(3):253–60. doi: 10.1111/ ejh.12714
- 190. Mauro FR, Carella AM, Molica S, Paoloni F, Liberati AM, Zaja F, et al. Fludarabine, cyclophosphamide and lenalidomide in patients with relapsed/ refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. A multicenter phase I–II GIMEMA trial. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2017) 58(7):1640–7. doi: 10.1080/ 10428194.2016.1258698
- 191. Ujjani C, Wang H, Skarbnik A, Trivedi N, Ramzi P, Khan N, et al. A phase 1 study of lenalidomide and ibrutinib in combination with rituximab in relapsed and refractory CLL. *Blood Adv* (2018) 2(7):762–8. doi: 10.1182/ bloodadvances.2017015263
- 192. Kater AP, van Oers MHJ, van Norden Y, van der Straten L, Driessen J, Posthuma WFM, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of addition of individualizeddose lenalidomide to chlorambucil and rituximab as first-line treatment in elderly and FCR-unfit patients with advanced chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2019) 104(1):147–54. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.193854
- 193. Soumerai JD, Davids MS, Werner L, Fisher DC, Armand P, Amrein PC, et al. Phase 1 study of lenalidomide, bendamustine, and rituximab in previously untreated patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2019) 60(12):2931–8. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2019.1608533
- 194. Chen CI, Paul H, Snitzler S, Kakar S, Le LW, Wei EN, et al. A phase 2 study of lenalidomide and dexamethasone in previously untreated patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2019) 60 (4):980–9. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2018.1508669
- 195. Itchaki G, Brown JR. Lenalidomide in the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Expert Opin Invest Drugs (2017) 26(5):633–50. doi: 10.1080/ 13543784.2017.1313230
- 196. Kater AP, Tonino SH, Egle A, Ramsay AG. How does lenalidomide target the chronic lymphocytic leukemia microenvironment? *Blood* (2014) 124 (14):2184–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-578286
- 197. Blocksidge J, Glenn M, Gandhi AK, Klippel A, Pourdehnad M, Chopra R, et al. CC-122 Has Robust Anti-Proliferative Activity in a Primary Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL) Co-Culture Model and Is Superior to Lenalidomide. *Blood* (2014) 124(21):4682–. doi: 10.1182/blood.V124.21. 4682.4682
- 198. Ioannou N, Hagner PR, Towfic F, Gandhi AK, Stamatopoulos K, Patten PEM, et al. Eliciting Anti-Tumor T Cell Immunity in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL) with PD-L1/PD-1 Blockade Is Enhanced By Avadomide Immunotherapy through the Triggering of Immunogenic Interferon Signaling. *Blood* (2018) 132(Supplement 1):237–. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-111605
- 199. Hus I, Salomon-Perzynski A, Robak T. The up-to-date role of biologics for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* (2020) 20(7):799–812. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2020.1734557
- 200. Manshouri T, Do KA, Wang X, Giles FJ, O'Brien SM, Saffer H, et al. Circulating CD20 is detectable in the plasma of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia and is of prognostic significance. *Blood* (2003) 101 (7):2507–13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-06-1639
- Vyas M, Schneider AC, Shatnyeva O, Reiners KS, Tawadros S, Kloess S, et al. Mono- and dual-targeting triplebodies activate natural killer cells and have

anti-tumor activity in vitro and in vivo against chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(9):e1211220. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1211220

- 202. Qi J, Chen SS, Chiorazzi N, Rader C. An IgG1-like bispecific antibody targeting CD52 and CD20 for the treatment of B-cell malignancies. *Methods* (*San Diego Calif*) (2019) 154:70–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2018.08.008
- 203. Fischer K, Bahlo J, Fink AM, Goede V, Herling CD, Cramer P, et al. Longterm remissions after FCR chemoimmunotherapy in previously untreated patients with CLL: updated results of the CLL8 trial. *Blood* (2016) 127 (2):208–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-06-651125
- 204. Hallek M, Fischer K, Fingerle-Rowson G, Fink AM, Busch R, Mayer J, et al. Addition of rituximab to fludarabine and cyclophosphamide in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: a randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet (London England)* (2010) 376(9747):1164–74. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61381-5
- 205. Eichhorst B, Fink AM, Bahlo J, Busch R, Kovacs G, Maurer C, et al. First-line chemoimmunotherapy with bendamustine and rituximab versus fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab in patients with advanced chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL10): an international, open-label, randomised, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2016) 17(7):928– 42. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30051-1
- 206. Shanafelt TD, Wang V, Kay NE, Hanson CA, O'Brien SM, Barrientos JC, et al. A Randomized Phase III Study of Ibrutinib (PCI-32765)-Based Therapy Vs. Standard Fludarabine, Cyclophosphamide, and Rituximab (FCR) Chemoimmunotherapy in Untreated Younger Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL): A Trial of the ECOG-ACRIN Cancer Research Group (E1912). *Blood* (2018) 132(Supplement 1):LBA–4-LBA-. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-120779
- 207. Woyach JA, Ruppert AS, Heerema NA, Zhao W, Booth AM, Ding W, et al. Ibrutinib Regimens versus Chemoimmunotherapy in Older Patients with Untreated CLL. N Engl J Med (2018) 379(26):2517–28. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1812836
- 208. Wu Y, Wang Y, Gu Y, Xia J, Kong X, Qian Q, et al. Safety and efficacy of Ofatumumab in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hematol (Amsterdam Netherlands)* (2017) 22(10):578–84. doi: 10.1080/10245332.2017.1333974
- Casan JML, Wong J, Northcott MJ, Opat S. Anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies: reviewing a revolution. *Hum Vaccines Immunother* (2018) 14 (12):2820–41. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1508624
- 210. Al-Sawaf O, Fischer K, Engelke A, Pflug N, Hallek M, Goede V. Obinutuzumab in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: design, development and place in therapy. *Drug Design Dev Ther* (2017) 11:295–304. doi: 10.2147/ DDDT.S104869
- 211. Hillmen P, Robak T, Janssens A, Babu KG, Kloczko J, Grosicki S, et al. Chlorambucil plus ofatumumab versus chlorambucil alone in previously untreated patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (COMPLEMENT 1): a randomised, multicentre, open-label phase 3 trial. *Lancet (London England)* (2015) 385(9980):1873–83. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60027-7
- 212. Cortelezzi A, Sciumè M, Liberati AM, Vincenti D, Cuneo A, Reda G, et al. Bendamustine in combination with ofatumumab in relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a GIMEMA Multicenter Phase II Trial. *Leukemia* (2014) 28(3):642–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.334
- 213. Jones JA, Robak T, Brown JR, Awan FT, Badoux X, Coutre S, et al. Efficacy and safety of idelalisib in combination with ofatumumab for previously treated chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Haematol* (2017) 4(3):e114–e26. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(17) 30019-4
- 214. Moreno C, Greil R, Demirkan F, Tedeschi A, Anz B, Larratt L, et al. Ibrutinib plus obinutuzumab versus chlorambucil plus obinutuzumab in first-line treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (iLLUMINATE): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20(1):43–56. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30788-5
- 215. Sharman JP, Egyed M, Jurczak W, Skarbnik A, Pagel JM, Flinn IW, et al. Acalabrutinib with or without obinutuzumab versus chlorambucil and obinutuzmab for treatment-naive chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (ELEVATE TN): a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* (London England) (2020) 395(10232):1278–91. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (20)30262-2

- 216. Fischer K, Al-Sawaf O, Bahlo J, Fink AM, Tandon M, Dixon M, et al. Venetoclax and Obinutuzumab in Patients with CLL and Coexisting Conditions. N Engl J Med (2019) 380(23):2225–36. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1815281
- 217. Sawas A, Farber CM, Schreeder MT, Khalil MY, Mahadevan D, Deng C, et al. A phase 1/2 trial of ublituximab, a novel anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody, in patients with B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma or chronic lymphocytic leukaemia previously exposed to rituximab. Br J Haematol (2017) 177 (2):243–53. doi: 10.1111/bjh.14534
- 218. Lunning M, Vose J, Nastoupil L, Fowler N, Burger JA, Wierda WG, et al. Ublituximab and umbralisib in relapsed/refractory B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2019) 134(21):1811– 20. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019002118
- 219. Nastoupil LJ, Lunning MA, Vose JM, Schreeder MT, Siddiqi T, Flowers CR, et al. Tolerability and activity of ublituximab, umbralisib, and ibrutinib in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a phase 1 dose escalation and expansion trial. *Lancet Haematol* (2019) 6(2): e100–e9. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(18)30216-3
- 220. Scheuermann RH, Racila E. CD19 antigen in leukemia and lymphoma diagnosis and immunotherapy. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (1995) 18(5-6):385– 97. doi: 10.3109/10428199509059636
- 221. Ohmachi K, Ogura M, Suehiro Y, Ando K, Uchida T, Choi I, et al. A multicenter phase I study of inebilizumab, a humanized anti-CD19 monoclonal antibody, in Japanese patients with relapsed or refractory B-cell lymphoma and multiple myeloma. *Int J Hematol* (2019) 109(6):657–64. doi: 10.1007/s12185-019-02635-9
- 222. Staber PB, Jurczak W, Brugger W, Chanan-Khan AA, Greil R, Hellmann A, et al. Primary Analysis of Anti-CD19 Tafasitamab (MOR208) Treatment in Combination with Idelalisib or Venetoclax in R/R CLL Patients Who Failed Prior BTK Inhibitor Therapy (COSMOS Trial). *Blood* (2019) 134 (Supplement_1):1754–. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-128388
- 223. Robak T, Robak P. Anti-CD37 antibodies for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Expert Opin Biol Ther (2014) 14(5):651-61. doi: 10.1517/ 14712598.2014.890182
- 224. Robak T, Robak P, Smolewski P. TRU-016, a humanized anti-CD37 IgG fusion protein for the potential treatment of B-cell malignancies. *Curr Opin Invest Drugs (London Engl 2000)* (2009) 10(12):1383–90.
- 225. Byrd JC, Pagel JM, Awan FT, Forero A, Flinn IW, Deauna-Limayo DP, et al. A phase 1 study evaluating the safety and tolerability of otlertuzumab, an anti-CD37 mono-specific ADAPTIR therapeutic protein in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2014) 123(9):1302–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-512137
- 226. Robak T, Hellmann A, Kloczko J, Loscertales J, Lech-Maranda E, Pagel JM, et al. Randomized phase 2 study of otlertuzumab and bendamustine versus bendamustine in patients with relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* (2017) 176(4):618–28. doi: 10.1111/bjh.14464
- 227. Stilgenbauer S, Aurran Schleinitz T, Eichhorst B, Lang F, Offner F, Rossi JF, et al. Phase 1 first-in-human trial of the anti-CD37 antibody BI 836826 in relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2019) 33 (10):2531–5. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0475-z
- 228. Cui B, Ghia EM, Chen L, Rassenti LZ, DeBoever C, Widhopf GF,2, et al. High-level ROR1 associates with accelerated disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2016) 128(25):2931–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-04-712562
- 229. Choi MY, Widhopf GF,2, EM G, RL K, MK H, Yu J, et al. Phase I Trial: Cirmtuzumab Inhibits ROR1 Signaling and Stemness Signatures in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Cell Stem Cell* (2018) 22(6):951–9.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.05.018
- 230. Vyas M, Müller R, Pogge von Strandmann E. Antigen Loss Variants: Catching Hold of Escaping Foes. Front Immunol (2017) 8:175. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00175
- 231. Kontermann RE, Brinkmann U. Bispecific antibodies. Drug Discov Today (2015) 20(7):838–47. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2015.02.008
- 232. Goebeler ME, Bargou RC. T cell-engaging therapies BiTEs and beyond. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2020) 17(7):418–34. doi: 10.1038/s41571-020-0347-5
- 233. Topp MS, Gökbuget N, Stein AS, Zugmaier G, O'Brien S, Bargou RC, et al. Safety and activity of blinatumomab for adult patients with relapsed or refractory B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a multicentre, single-

arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol (2015) 16(1):57-66. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71170-2

- 234. Wong R, Pepper C, Brennan P, Nagorsen D, Man S, Fegan C. Blinatumomab induces autologous T-cell killing of chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Haematologica* (2013) 98(12):1930–8. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.082248
- 235. Goebeler ME, Knop S, Viardot A, Kufer P, Topp MS, Einsele H, et al. Bispecific T-Cell Engager (BiTE) Antibody Construct Blinatumomab for the Treatment of Patients With Relapsed/Refractory Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma: Final Results From a Phase I Study. J Clin Oncol (2016) 34(10):1104–11. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.59.1586
- 236. Martens AWJ, Janssen SR, Derks IAM, Adams Iii HC, Izhak L, van Kampen R, et al. CD3xCD19 DART molecule treatment induces non-apoptotic killing and is efficient against high-risk chemotherapy and venetoclax-resistant chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *J Immunother Cancer* (2020) 8(1):e000218. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2019-000218
- 237. Liu L, Lam CK, Long V, Widjaja L, Yang Y, Li H, et al. MGD011, A CD19 x CD3 Dual-Affinity Retargeting Bi-specific Molecule Incorporating Extended Circulating Half-life for the Treatment of B-Cell Malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(6):1506–18. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0666
- 238. Robinson HR, Qi J, Cook EM, Nichols C, Dadashian EL, Underbayev C, et al. A CD19/CD3 bispecific antibody for effective immunotherapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in the ibrutinib era. *Blood* (2018) 132(5):521–32. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-02-830992
- 239. Gohil SH, Evans R, Harasser M, El-Kholy M, Paredes-Moscosso SR, Della Peruta M, et al. Ibrutinib enhances the efficacy of ROR1 bispecific T cell engager mediated cytotoxicity in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol (2019) 186(2):380–2. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15911
- 240. Gleason MK, Verneris MR, Todhunter DA, Zhang B, McCullar V, Zhou SX, et al. Bispecific and trispecific killer cell engagers directly activate human NK cells through CD16 signaling and induce cytotoxicity and cytokine production. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2012) 11(12):2674–84. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-12-0692
- 241. Kato K, Cantwell MJ, Sharma S, Kipps TJ. Gene transfer of CD40-ligand induces autologous immune recognition of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. *J Clin Invest* (1998) 101(5):1133–41. doi: 10.1172/JCI1472
- 242. Wierda WG, Castro JE, Aguillon R, Sampath D, Jalayer A, McMannis J, et al. A phase I study of immune gene therapy for patients with CLL using a membrane-stable, humanized CD154. *Leukemia* (2010) 24(11):1893–900. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.191
- 243. Takahashi S, Rousseau RF, Yotnda P, Mei Z, Dotti G, Rill D, et al. Autologous antileukemic immune response induced by chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells expressing the CD40 ligand and interleukin 2 transgenes. *Hum Gene Ther* (2001) 12(6):659–70. doi: 10.1089/104303401300057360
- 244. Biagi E, Dotti G, Yvon E, Lee E, Pule M, Vigouroux S, et al. Molecular transfer of CD40 and OX40 ligands to leukemic human B cells induces expansion of autologous tumor-reactive cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Blood* (2005) 105(6):2436–42. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2556
- 245. Zhu F, Khatri I, Spaner D, Gorczynski RM. An autologous tumor vaccine for CLL. Leukemia Res (2018) 68:40–7. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2018.03.002
- 246. Vantourout P, Hayday A. Six-of-the-best: unique contributions of $\gamma\delta$ T cells to immunology. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(2):88–100. doi: 10.1038/nri3384
- 247. Correia DV, Lopes A, Silva-Santos B. Tumor cell recognition by $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes: T-cell receptor vs. NK-cell receptors. *Oncoimmunology* (2013) 2(1):e22892. doi: 10.4161/onci.22892
- Shifrin N, Raulet DH, Ardolino M. NK cell self tolerance, responsiveness and missing self recognition. *Semin Immunol* (2014) 26(2):138–44. doi: 10.1016/ j.smim.2014.02.007
- 249. Gross G, Waks T, Eshhar Z. Expression of immunoglobulin-T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibody-type specificity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1989) 86(24):10024–8. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.86.24.10024
- 250. Coscia M, Vitale C, Cerrano M, Maffini E, Giaccone L, Boccadoro M, et al. Adoptive immunotherapy with CAR modified T cells in cancer: current landscape and future perspectives. *Front Biosci (Landmark ed)* (2019) 24:1284–315. doi: 10.2741/4780
- 251. Cerrano M, Ruella M, Perales MA, Vitale C, Faraci DG, Giaccone L, et al. The Advent of CAR T-Cell Therapy for Lymphoproliferative Neoplasms:

Integrating Research Into Clinical Practice. Front Immunol (2020) 11:888. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00888

- 252. Vitale C, Strati P. CAR T-Cell Therapy for B-Cell non-Hodgkin Lymphoma and Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Clinical Trials and Real-World Experiences. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:849. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00849
- 253. Kalos M, Levine BL, Porter DL, Katz S, Grupp SA, Bagg A, et al. T cells with chimeric antigen receptors have potent antitumor effects and can establish memory in patients with advanced leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2011) 3 (95):95ra73. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002842
- 254. Porter DL, Hwang WT, Frey NV, Lacey SF, Shaw PA, Loren AW, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells persist and induce sustained remissions in relapsed refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Sci Transl Med* (2015) 7 (303):303ra139. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac5415
- 255. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Feldman SA, Wilson WH, Spaner DE, Maric I, et al. B-cell depletion and remissions of malignancy along with cytokineassociated toxicity in a clinical trial of anti-CD19 chimeric-antigen-receptortransduced T cells. *Blood* (2012) 119(12):2709–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-10-384388
- 256. Kochenderfer JN, Dudley ME, Kassim SH, Somerville RP, Carpenter RO, Stetler-Stevenson M, et al. Chemotherapy-refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and indolent B-cell malignancies can be effectively treated with autologous T cells expressing an anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor. *J Clin Oncol* (2015) 33(6):540–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.56.2025
- 257. Cruz CR, Micklethwaite KP, Savoldo B, Ramos CA, Lam S, Ku S, et al. Infusion of donor-derived CD19-redirected virus-specific T cells for B-cell malignancies relapsed after allogeneic stem cell transplant: a phase 1 study. *Blood* (2013) 122(17):2965–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-506741
- Fraietta JA, Beckwith KA, Patel PR, Ruella M, Zheng Z, Barrett DM, et al. Ibrutinib enhances chimeric antigen receptor T-cell engraftment and efficacy in leukemia. *Blood* (2016) 127(9):1117–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-11-679134
- 259. Ramos CA, Savoldo B, Torrano V, Ballard B, Zhang H, Dakhova O, et al. Clinical responses with T lymphocytes targeting malignancy-associated κ light chains. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(7):2588–96. doi: 10.1172/JCI86000
- 260. Brudno JN, Somerville RP, Shi V, Rose JJ, Halverson DC, Fowler DH, et al. Allogeneic T Cells That Express an Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor Induce Remissions of B-Cell Malignancies That Progress After Allogeneic Hematopoietic Stem-Cell Transplantation Without Causing Graft-Versus-Host Disease. J Clin Oncol (2016) 34(10):1112–21. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2015.64.5929
- 261. Turtle CJ, Hanafi L-A, Berger C, Gooley T, Chaney C, Cherian S, et al. Rate of durable complete response in ALL, NHL, and CLL after immunotherapy with optimized lymphodepletion and defined composition CD19 CAR-T cells. J Clin Oncol (2016) 34(15_suppl):102-. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2016.34.15_suppl.102
- 262. Turtle CJ, Hay KA, Hanafi LA, Li D, Cherian S, Chen X, et al. Durable Molecular Remissions in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Treated With CD19-Specific Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells After Failure of Ibrutinib. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35(26):3010–20. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2017.72.8519
- 263. Geyer MB, Rivière I, Sénéchal B, Wang X, Wang Y, Purdon TJ, et al. Autologous CD19-Targeted CAR T Cells in Patients with Residual CLL following Initial Purine Analog-Based Therapy. *Mol Ther J Am Soc Gene Ther* (2018) 26(8):1896–905. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.05.018
- 264. Enblad G, Karlsson H, Gammelgård G, Wenthe J, Lövgren T, Amini RM, et al. A Phase I/IIa Trial Using CD19-Targeted Third-Generation CAR T Cells for Lymphoma and Leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(24):6185–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0426
- 265. Ramos CA, Rouce R, Robertson CS, Reyna A, Narala N, Vyas G, et al. In Vivo Fate and Activity of Second- versus Third-Generation CD19-Specific CAR-T Cells in B Cell Non-Hodgkin's Lymphomas. *Mol Ther J Am Soc Gene Ther* (2018) 26(12):2727–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.09.009
- 266. Siddiqi T, Soumerai JD, Wierda WG, Dubovsky JA, Gillenwater HH, Gong L, et al. Rapid MRD-Negative Responses in Patients with Relapsed/Refractory CLL Treated with Liso-Cel, a CD19-Directed CAR T-Cell Product: Preliminary Results from Transcend CLL 004, a Phase 1/2 Study Including Patients with High-Risk Disease Previously Treated with Ibrutinib. *Blood* (2018) 132(Supplement 1):300–. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-110462

- 267. Siddiqi T, Soumerai JD, Dorritie KA, Stephens DM, Riedell PA, Arnason JE, et al. (uMRD) Responses in Patients with Relapsed/Refractory (R/R) Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia/Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma (CLL/SLL) Treated with Lisocabtagene Maraleucel (liso-cel), a CD19-Directed CAR T Cell Product: Updated Results from Transcend CLL 004, a Phase 1/2 Study Including Patients with High-Risk Disease Previously Treated with Ibrutinib. Blood (2019) 134(Supplement_1):503–. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-127603
- Delgado J, Caballero-Baños M, Ortiz-Maldonado V, Castellà M, Magnano L, Juan M, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Targeting CD19 and Ibrutinib for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *HemaSphere* (2019) 3(2):e174. doi: 10.1097/HS9.00000000000174
- 269. Brentjens RJ, Rivière I, Park JH, Davila ML, Wang X, Stefanski J, et al. Safety and persistence of adoptively transferred autologous CD19-targeted T cells in patients with relapsed or chemotherapy refractory B-cell leukemias. *Blood* (2011) 118(18):4817–28. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-04-348540
- 270. Geyer MB, Rivière I, Sénéchal B, Wang X, Wang Y, Purdon TJ, et al. Safety and tolerability of conditioning chemotherapy followed by CD19-targeted CAR T cells for relapsed/refractory CLL. JCI Insight (2019) 5(9):e122627. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.122627
- 271. Schubert M-L, Schmitt A, Neuber B, Hückelhoven-Krauss A, Kunz A, Wang L, et al. Third-Generation CAR T Cells Targeting CD19 Are Associated with an Excellent Safety Profile and Might Improve Persistence of CAR T Cells in Treated Patients. *Blood* (2019) 134(Supplement_1):51–. doi: 10.1182/blood-2019-125423
- 272. Batlevi CL, Palomba ML, Park J, Mead E, Santomasso B, Riviere I, et al. PHASE I CLINICAL TRIAL OF CD19-TARGETED 19-28Z/4-1BBL "ARMORED" CAR T CELLS IN PATIENTS WITH RELAPSED OR REFRACTORY NHL AND CLL INCLUDING RICHTER TRANSFORMATION. *Hematol Oncol* (2019) 37 (S2):166–7. doi: 10.1002/hon.124_2629
- 273. Shah NN, Zhu F, Schneider D, Taylor C, Krueger W, Worden A, et al. Results of a phase I study of bispecific anti-CD19, anti-CD20 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) modified T cells for relapsed, refractory, non-Hodgkin lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2019) 37(15_suppl):2510-. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2019.37.15_suppl.2510
- 274. Liu E, Marin D, Banerjee P, Macapinlac HA, Thompson P, Basar R, et al. Use of CAR-Transduced Natural Killer Cells in CD19-Positive Lymphoid Tumors. N Engl J Med (2020) 382(6):545–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1910607
- 275. Fraietta JA, Lacey SF, Orlando EJ, Pruteanu-Malinici I, Gohil M, Lundh S, et al. Determinants of response and resistance to CD19 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(5):563–71. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0010-1
- 276. Qin JS, Johnstone TG, Baturevych A, Hause RJ, Ragan SP, Clouser CR, et al. Antitumor Potency of an Anti-CD19 Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy, Lisocabtagene Maraleucel in Combination With Ibrutinib or Acalabrutinib. J Immunother (Hagerstown Md 1997) (2020) 43(4):107–20. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000307
- 277. Herrera L, Santos S, Vesga MA, Anguita J, Martin-Ruiz I, Carrascosa T, et al. Adult peripheral blood and umbilical cord blood NK cells are good sources for effective CAR therapy against CD19 positive leukemic cells. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):18729. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-55239-y
- 278. Suck G, Odendahl M, Nowakowska P, Seidl C, Wels WS, Klingemann HG, et al. NK-92: an 'off-the-shelf therapeutic' for adoptive natural killer cellbased cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother CII* (2016) 65 (4):485–92. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1761-x
- 279. Jacoby E, Yang Y, Qin H, Chien CD, Kochenderfer JN, Fry TJ. Murine allogeneic CD19 CAR T cells harbor potent antileukemic activity but have the potential to mediate lethal GVHD. *Blood* (2016) 127(10):1361–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-08-664250
- 280. Shah N, Li L, McCarty J, Kaur I, Yvon E, Shaim H, et al. Phase I study of cord blood-derived natural killer cells combined with autologous stem cell transplantation in multiple myeloma. *Br J Haematol* (2017) 177(3):457–66. doi: 10.1111/bjh.14570
- 281. Liu E, Tong Y, Dotti G, Shaim H, Savoldo B, Mukherjee M, et al. Cord blood NK cells engineered to express IL-15 and a CD19-targeted CAR show longterm persistence and potent antitumor activity. *Leukemia* (2018) 32(2):520– 31. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.226
- 282. He X, Xu C. Immune checkpoint signaling and cancer immunotherapy. *Cell Res* (2020) 30(8):660–9. doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0343-4

- 283. McClanahan F, Hanna B, Miller S, Clear AJ, Lichter P, Gribben JG, et al. PD-L1 checkpoint blockade prevents immune dysfunction and leukemia development in a mouse model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2015) 126(2):203–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-622936
- 284. Wierz M, Pierson S, Guyonnet L, Viry E, Lequeux A, Oudin A, et al. Dual PD1/LAG3 immune checkpoint blockade limits tumor development in a murine model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2018) 131(14):1617– 21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-792267
- Ding W, LaPlant BR, Call TG, Parikh SA, Leis JF, He R, et al. Pembrolizumab in patients with CLL and Richter transformation or with relapsed CLL. *Blood* (2017) 129(26):3419–27.
- 286. Jain N, Basu S, Thompson PA, Ohanian M, Ferrajoli A, Pemmaraju N, et al. Nivolumab Combined with Ibrutinib for CLL and Richter Transformation: A Phase II Trial. *Blood* (2016) 128(22):59–. doi: 10.1182/blood.V128.22.59.59
- 287. Berger R, Rotem-Yehudar R, Slama G, Landes S, Kneller A, Leiba M, et al. Phase I safety and pharmacokinetic study of CT-011, a humanized antibody interacting with PD-1, in patients with advanced hematologic malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2008) 14(10):3044–51. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4079
- 288. Mahadevan D, Lanasa MC, Farber C, Pandey M, Whelden M, Faas SJ, et al. Phase I study of samalizumab in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and multiple myeloma: blockade of the immune checkpoint CD200. *J Immunother Cancer* (2019) 7(1):227. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0710-1
- 289. Younes A, Brody J, Carpio C, Lopez-Guillermo A, Ben-Yehuda D, Ferhanoglu B, et al. Safety and activity of ibrutinib in combination with nivolumab in patients with relapsed non-Hodgkin lymphoma or chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: a phase 1/2a study. *Lancet Haematol* (2019) 6(2): e67–78. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(18)30217-5
- 290. Mato AR, Svoboda J, Luning Prak ET, Schuster SJ, Tsao P, Dorsey C, et al. Phase I/II Study of Umbralisib (TGR-1202) in Combination with Ublituximab (TG-1101) and Pembrolizumab in Patients with Relapsed/ Refractory CLL and Richter's Transformation. *Blood* (2018) 132 (Supplement 1):297-. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-117526
- 291. Rogers KA, Huang Y, Dotson E, Lundberg J, Andritsos LA, Awan FT, et al. Use of PD-1 (PDCD1) inhibitors for the treatment of Richter syndrome: experience at a single academic centre. *Br J Haematol* (2019) 185(2):363–6. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15508
- 292. Khouri IF, Fernandez Curbelo I, Turturro F, Jabbour EJ, Milton DR, Bassett RL Jr., et al. Ipilimumab plus Lenalidomide after Allogeneic and Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation for Patients with Lymphoid Malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(5):1011–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2777
- 293. Davids MS, Kim HT, Costello C, Herrera AF, Locke FL, Maegawa RO, et al. A multicenter phase 1 study of nivolumab for relapsed hematologic malignancies after allogeneic transplantation. *Blood* (2020) 135(24):2182– 91. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019004710

Conflict of Interest: MB has received honoraria from Sanofi, Celgene, Amgen, Janssen, Novartis, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and AbbVie; has served on the advisory boards for Janssen and GSK; has received research funding from Sanofi, Celgene, Amgen, Janssen, Novartis, Bristol-Myers Squibb, and Mundipharma. CV has received consultancy fees from Janssen. MC received honoraria from Janssen, Gilead, Abbvie, Shire and research support from Janssen and Karyopharm Therapeutics.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer AK declared a past co-authorship with several of the authors CV and MC to the handling editor.

Copyright © 2020 Griggio, Perutelli, Salvetti, Boccellato, Boccadoro, Vitale and Coscia. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Microenvironment Remodeling and Subsequent Clinical Implications in Diffuse Large B-Cell Histologic Variant of Richter Syndrome

Hélène Augé^{1,2}, Anne-Béatrice Notarantonio^{2,3}, Romain Morizot^{1,2}, Anne Quinquenel^{4,5}, Luc-Matthieu Fornecker^{6,7}, Sébastien Hergalant¹, Pierre Feugier^{1,2} and Julien Broséus^{1,8*}

¹ Inserm UMRS1256 Nutrition-Génétique et Exposition aux Risque Environnementaux (N-GERE), Université de Lorraine, Nancy, France, ² Université de Lorraine, CHRU-Nancy, service d'hématologie clinique, pôle spécialités médicales, Nancy, France, ³ UMR7365 Ingénierie Moléculaire et Physiopathologie Articulaire (IMOPA), CNRS, Université de Lorraine, Nancy, France, ⁴ Département d'hématologie, Université de Reims Champagne-Ardenne, Reims, France, ⁵ Département d'hématologie clinique, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Reims, Reims, France, ⁶ Université de Strasbourg, Inserm, IRFAC/UMR-S1113, Strasbourg, France, ⁷ Département d'hématologie clinique, Institut de Cancérologie Strasbourg Europe, Strasbourg, France, ⁸ Université de Lorraine, CHRU-Nancy, service d'hématologie biologique, pôle laboratoires, Nancy, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Etienne Moussay, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Tiziana Vaisitti, University of Turin, Italy Moritz Bewarder, Saarland University Hospital, Germany

*Correspondence:

Julien Broséus julien.broseus@univ-lorraine.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 August 2020 Accepted: 03 November 2020 Published: 14 December 2020

Citation:

Augé H, Notarantonio A-B, Morizot R, Quinquenel A, Fornecker L-M, Hergalant S, Feugier P and Broséus J (2020) Microenvironment Remodeling and Subsequent Clinical Implications in Diffuse Large B-Cell Histologic Variant of Richter Syndrome. Front. Immunol. 11:594841. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.594841 **Introduction:** Richter Syndrome (RS) is defined as the development of an aggressive lymphoma in the context of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL), with a Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma (DLBCL) histology in 95% cases. RS genomic landscape shares only a few features with *de novo* DLBCLs and is marked by a wide spectrum of cytogenetic abnormalities. Little is known about RS microenvironment. Therapeutic options and efficacy are limited, leading to a 12 months median overall survival. The new targeted treatments usually effective in CLL fail to obtain long-term remissions in RS.

Methods: We reviewed available PubMed literature about RS genomics, PD-1/PD-L1 (Programmed Death 1/Programmed Death Ligand 1) pathway triggering and subsequent new therapeutic options.

Results: Data from about 207 patients from four landmark papers were compiled to build an overview of RS genomic lesions and point mutations. A number of these abnormalities may be involved in tumor microenvironment reshaping. T lymphocyte exhaustion through PD-L1 overexpression by tumor cells and subsequent PD-1/PD-L1 pathway triggering is frequently reported in solid cancers. This immune checkpoint inhibitor is also described in B lymphoid malignancies, particularly CLL: PD-1 expression is reported in a subset of prolymphocytes from the CLL lymph node proliferation centers. However, there is only few data about PD-1/PD-L1 pathway in RS. In RS, PD-1 expression is a hallmark of recently described « Regulatory B-cells », which interact with tumor microenvironment by producing inhibiting cytokines such as TGF- β and IL-10, impairing T lymphocytes anti-tumoral function. Based upon the discovery of high PD-1 expression on tumoral B lymphocyte from RS, immune checkpoint blockade therapies such as anti-PD-1 antibodies have been tested on small RS cohorts and provided heterogeneous but encouraging results.

Conclusion: RS genetic landscape and immune evasion mechanisms are being progressively unraveled. New protocols using targeted treatments such as checkpoint inhibitors as single agents or in combination with immunochemotherapy are currently being evaluated.

Keywords: Richter syndrome, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, genomics, microenvironment, immune checkpoint, immune checkpoint inhibitor

INTRODUCTION

Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL) is the most frequent leukemia in Western countries (1). Although considered to be an indolent B-cell neoplasm, CLL actually represents a wide spectrum of diseases from a clinical, biological and prognostic point of view, ranging from non-progressive or poorly progressive to aggressive courses (2). CLL prognosis was first assessed using clinical classifications (3, 4) to which cytogenetic and molecular data were later added. CLLs are distributed among 2 major molecular subtypes that differ in their degree of somatic hypermutations in the IGHV (Immunoglobulin Heavy chain Variable domain) gene. The IGHV unmutated CLLs (U-CLLs), share more than 98% homology with germline sequence and are associated with a worse prognosis than the IGHV mutated CLLs (M-CLLs) (5, 6). The combinatorial diversity of VDJ segments at the origin of rearrangements of the IGHV gene continuously generates a vast repertoire of B lymphocytes, all different, characterized by a single B-Cell receptor (BCR). A third of the CLLs have been shown to have a stereotypic BCR, meaning that a significant part of B lymphocytes express a restricted immunoglobulin gene repertoire leading to the expression of highly similar BCRs, at a higher rate than statistically expected, indicating a non-random distribution, probably due to chronic antigenic stimulation (7). Certain stereotypic BCR are associated

with a poor prognosis (8). Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization (FISH), allows identification of the main CLL-associated cvtogenetic abnormalities. About 80% of CLLs are associated with at least one of the four most frequent anomalies: deletion 13q (del 13q), deletion 11q (del 11q), deletion 17p (del 17p), and trisomy 12, encompassing miRNA 15a/16-1 (del 13q), ATM and BIRC3 (del 11q), or TP53 (del 17p). These abnormalities define different prognostic subgroups (9). The advent of Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) array allowed the discovery of smaller and less frequent Copy Number Variations (CNV) (10, 11). Next generation sequencing techniques made it possible to precisely define the CLL mutational landscape. This appears to be highly heterogeneous regarding pathway deregulation mechanisms, with a broad spectrum of mutations affecting: i) response to DNA damage and cell cycle control (TP53, ATM, POT1, ATRX), ii) RNA maturation and export (SF3B1, XPO1, RPS15, DDX3X, ZNF292, MED12, NXF1), iii) NOTCH pathway (NOTCH1, FBXW7), iv) BCR pathway (EGR2, KLHL6, BCOR, IRF4, IKZF3, ITKB, CARD11), v) chromatin remodeling (CHD2, BAZ2A, SETD2, ASXL1, ZMYM3, HIST1H1E, ARID1A), vi) NFKB pathway (BIRC3, MYD88, TRAF3, NFKB1E), vii) inflammatory response (SAMHD1, RIPK1), viii) early B-cell development (IKZF3, PAX5), ix) MAPK-ERK pathway (MAPK, MAP2K1, ERK, BRAF, KRAS), and x) MYC-associated signaling (MGA, PTPN11). The distribution and frequencies of these abnormalities are different among U-CLLs and M-CLLs (11-15).

Richter Syndrome (RS) is defined as the transformation of CLL or Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma (SLL) into a more aggressive histology (16). Two histopathological variants are described: Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma (DLBCL, for 90%-95% of cases) and Hodgkin Lymphoma (HL, for 5-10% cases). Here we will focus on the DLBCL subtype. In more than 90% of cases, RS presents the immunohistochemical profile of non-Germinal Center-like DLBCL (17-22). RS incidence is very variable, ranging from 2% to 9% of unselected CLLs to more than 20% in the case of refractory and/or 17p deleted CLLs. Cumulative impact is estimated at 2.1% at 5 years and 4.8% at 10 years, representing a transformation risk of 0.5% per year. Median time between CLL diagnosis and RS transformation is 23 months (7, 19, 20, 22). Certain abnormality combinations systematically lead to the CLL transformation into RS, like the co-occurrence of an activating mutation of NOTCH1, trisomy 12,

Abbreviations: APC, Antigen Presenting Cell; BCL2, B-Cell Lymphoma 2; BCR, B-Cell Receptor; Bregs, Regulatory B lymphocytes; BTK, Bruton Tyrosine Kinase; CLL, Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia; CTLA-4, Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-Associated protein 4; CNV, Copy Number Variation; CR, Complete Response; DC, Dendritic Cells; DLBCL, Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; FL, Follicular Lymphoma; HL, Hodgkin Lymphoma; ICPIs, Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors; IHC, Immunohistochemistry; IFNy, Interferon Gamma; IGHV, Immunoglobulin Heavy chain Variable domain; IL-2, Interleukine 2; IL-4, Interleukine 4; IL-10, Interleukine 10; M-CLL, Mutated-CLL; MHC, Major Histocompatibility Complex; OFAR, Oxiplatin, Fludarabine, Aracytine, Rituximab; OS, Overall Survival; PD-1, Programmed Death 1; PD-L1, Programmed Death Ligand 1; PD-L2, Programmed Death Ligand 2; PFS, Progression-free Survival; PR, Partial Response; R-CHOP, Rituximab, Cyclophosphamide, Hydroxydaunorubicin, Oncovin, Prednisone; R/R, Relapsed or Refractory; RS, Richter Syndrome; SCT, Stem Cell Transplantation; SLL, Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma; TCR, T-Cell Receptor; TGF-B, Transforming Growth Factor Beta; TL, T Lymphocyte/T-Cell; TIL, Tumor-infiltrating Lymphocytes; TNFa, Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha; Tregs, Regulatory T Lymphocytes; U-CLL, Unmutated CLL.

and an IGHV₄₋₃₉ stereotypic BCR. Combination of an SF3B1 mutation and a stereotypical BCR of the IGHV₃₋₂₁ type leads to an increased risk of transformation into RS (23). Influence of CLL treatment on the risk of RS transformation is not established as half RS cases occur in the context of an untreated CLL. CLL treatment is associated with a RS risk of 1% per year (5% at 5 years, 15.2% at 10 years) (19). In a large retrospective study, a combination of purine analogs with alkylating agents increased the transformation risk to 1.5% per year. But the use of these different molecules in monotherapy (purine analog, alkylating agents or immunotherapy) does not increase RS risk (22). The impact of conventional chemotherapy on the risk of developing RS remains controversial because this risk is equivalent with Fludarabine alone, Chlorambucil alone or a combination of the two treatments (24). Similarly, after a median follow-up period of 3.5 years, the RS risk was equivalent between Chlorambucil alone, Fludarabine alone and the combination of Fludarabine + Cyclophosphamide (25). Recently, CLL management has been considerably modified with the availability of new BCR (26, 27) and B-cell Lymphoma 2 (BCL2) inhibitors (28). Unfortunately, these drugs do not preserve from RS, accounting for 30 to 50% of CLL progression cases. Transformation is now the principal obstacle for long-term control of the disease and remains a crucial unmet medical need (29, 30).

RICHTER SYNDROME MOLECULAR EVENTS

Exome sequencing shows that RS mutational landscape shares only a few common features with DLBCLs, except for CARD11, MYD88, CDKN2A/B, and MYC alterations (23, 31, 32). The genomic complexity of RS is intermediate between that of CLL and de novo DLBCL (32). Surprisingly, 64.7% of RS harbors an unmutated IGHV sequence, all de novo DLBCLs having a mutated IGHV profile. This is in line with the fact that U-CLL have a four-time higher RS transformation risk than M-CLL (33). RS exhibits an IGHV hypervariable CDR3 region identical to that of the initial CLL in 80-90% cases, proving a clonal relationship between the two stages (7). These clonally related RS have a median survival of 14.2 months. In contrast, the 10 to 20% clonally unrelated RS have a median survival comparable to de novo DLBCLs (62.5 months) and are considered by most authors as independent neoplasms (20, 21). Clonal relationship is therefore the most significant prognostic factor. Half RS harbor a stereotypic BCR (20), with an overrepresentation of $IGHV_{4-39}$ in RS, suggesting a relationship with disease development.

TP53 disruptions (partial or total deletions of the gene, loss of function mutations) are highly frequent at RS stage, with a prevalence of up to 34.4%-60% of cases in documented large cohorts (33). In most cases, *TP53* disruptions are acquired at RS transformation (20). In a large cohort of 131 RS patients, 45 (34.4%) had del (17p) or *TP53* mutation (34). The high proportion of these abnormalities at RS stage could reflect a selective advantage and the conferred chemoresistance. TP53

pathway is also disrupted through other abnormalities affecting related effectors such as *MDM2*, *MDM4*, *ATM*, *BCL2*, *CREBBP*, and *PRDM1* or *TP53* promoter hypermethylation (35).

NOTCH1 mutations located in exon 34 are identified in up to 30%–40% of RS cases (36). Dominant positive variants devoid of the PEST degradation domain lead to a NOTCH1 protein with extended lifespan and a constitutive pathway activation, constantly triggering the transcription of many genes involved in cell proliferation and therefore uncontrolled cell growth. Trisomy 12 is present in 30% of RS and is frequently associated with *NOTCH1* mutations. Other RS recurrent abnormalities lead to NOTCH pathway deregulation, such as *NCOR1* deletions, *SPEN* mutations, *NLK* deletions, and *MYCN* amplifications.

MYC abnormalities, whether translocations or amplifications, affect 26.5%–35% of RS and are acquired at RS stage in 75% of cases. *MYC* and *TP53* abnormalities are described together in 50% of RS cases (20, 32, 34). An SNP study on a group of 13 RS, 8 of which were clonally related to the initial CLL, identified deletions of miR 17-92, a microRNA cluster regulating *MYC* expression. These anomalies are also acquired at RS stage (31). Last, other MYC pathway effectors are affected in RS, including deletions of negative regulator *MGA*, and mutations of *PIM1* and *PAX5*.

The study of CNVs by Comparative Genomic Hybridization array identified 9p21 deletions in 30% of RS cases. These are systematically acquired at transformation and encompass *CDKN2A/B* genes, encoding distinct negative regulators of cell cycle progression through inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinases 4 and 6 and cyclin D. Silencing through gene promoter hypermethylation is also described (35). These anomalies are biallelic in 30% of cases. This study confirmed the large proportion of linear evolutions of the CLL clone and the acquisition of an average of 22 new anomalies between the CLL and RS stage (36).

In the current molecular model, the evolution of the CLL clone into RS is associated with deregulation of cell proliferation, apoptosis and the cell cycle progression, mainly due to abnormalities of *TP53*, *NOTCH1*, *MYC*, and *CDKN2A/B* (37). Half RS cases are associated with the newly acquired *TP53* inactivation, *MYC* activation or *CDKN2A/B* deletion. In 30% of cases, the transformation is associated with trisomy 12 and a mutation of *NOTCH1*. These anomalies are mutually exclusive with *TP53* or *CDKN2A/B* disruptions. The remaining 20% RS are related to other genetic abnormalities (32, 36, 38).

To get a deeper understanding about RS genomic characteristics, we compiled the available data regarding DNA mutations from articles aiming at expanding knowledge about RS genomic features by exploring previously unknown genomic alterations on unselected cases. Richter cohorts documented with only previously known CLL-associated genomic alterations were not retrieved. This led us to select 4 landmark papers, gathering a total of 207 RS (20, 31, 32, 36) and retained: i) the CNVs described in at least 5% cases (with at least five positive cases and series of 50 samples minimal) and ii) SNPs described in at least 5% cases (with at least two positive cases and series of 10 samples minimal). This led to a list of 100 abnormalities affecting 95 different genes, which were annotated functionally with a compilation of gene ontologies (http://geneontology.org/) (39)





Microenvironment Remodeling in Richter Syndrome

FIGURE 1 | Genomic landscape of Richter syndrome. Genes recurrently mutated and related cellular functions altered in RS as a manually curated heat map of available data from 4 landmark papers, gathering a total of 207 RS patients. From left to right (for each gene): gene name, functional annotations and related pathways (according various databases and literature), cytogenetic band, nature of the reported abnormality (deletion, gain, translocation, or single nucleotide variant) and full gene name written according to a color-code indicating biotype (black: protein coding gene; red: miRNA and blue: IncRNA). Selection thresholds: 5% occurrence in cohorts of at least 50 samples for CNVs and 10 samples for SNPs. BCR, B-cell Receptor; CNV, Copy Number Variation; GPCR, G Protein-Coupled Receptor; IncRNA, Long Non-Coding RNA; MAPK, Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase; miRNA, MicroRNA; NS, Nervous System; RS, Richter Syndrome; RTK, Receptor Tyrosine Kinase; SNP, Single Nucleotide Polymorphism; TGF, Transforming Growth Factor; TNF, Tumor Necrosis Factor.

80

and enriched pathways according to Reactome (https://reactome. org/) (40) and retrieved with BioMart (https://www.ensembl.org/ biomart) (41). We also added the corresponding literature from OMIM (https://omim.org/) (42), and extensive lists of transcription factors obtained from a recent review on the topic (43), together with tumor suppressor candidates from the Tumor Suppressor Database (https://bioinfo.uth.edu/TSGene/) (44). All these were manually curated and used to complete a detailed heat map of RS genomic abnormalities (**Figure 1**).

According to this compilation, a wide range of cellular functions are deregulated in RS, including cell cycle regulation, cell proliferation, cell survival, senescence, DNA and RNA processing, epigenetic regulation of transcription, nuclear export, signal transduction, ion transport, cytoskeleton, cell adhesion, and migration, as well as numerous essential signaling pathways, implicating TP53, NOTCH, MYC, BCR, NF-KB, JAK-STAT, Toll-like receptors, MAPK, TNF, TGF, Insulin like growth factor, Wnt, Ras, ERK, and PI3K-Akt-mTOR. However, RS mutational landscape does not only affect cell cycle-related functions. Indeed, the alterations described may also disturb the microenvironment, B-cell development, and T-cell expansion/activation, promoting tumor progression by immune response reprogramming.

PTPRO (protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O) has been described as highly expressed in the microenvironment of breast cancer, associated with increased tumor growth, angiogenesis, and metastatic spreading (45). It also plays a role in T-cell-mediated anti-tumor immunity, with involvement in regulation of effector T-cells/regulatory T-cells ratio in the tumor microenvironment (46). Besides their known tumor suppressive properties in CLL, miR-29 family members are also regulators of the adaptive immune system, since they regulate helper T-cell development and interferon gamma (IFNy) secretion by Type 1 helper T-cells (47). Another micro-RNA cluster, miR-15a/16 does not harbor functions restricted to tumor suppressive properties, since it also regulates T-cell expansion and differentiation (48), B cell proliferation (49), contributes to the balance between T-cell activation and T-cell anergy (50), regulates PD-1 (Programmed Death 1) expression and IFNy excretion by tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T-cells (51), and indirectly governs regulatory T-cell development (52). TGF- β (Transforming Growth Factor β) receptor deregulation through TGF-B receptor 2 abnormalities (53), decreased expression of surface HLA class II molecules due to CD58 locus deletions (54) and impairment of Tumor-Associated Macrophages related to XPO1 and NRF1 abnormalities (55, 56) may also represent another player in immune evasion in RS.

XPO1-blocking drug Selinexor has been shown to slow down tumor growth in murine primary central nervous system lymphoma by shifting TAM polarization from PD-1 expressing M2-like macrophages toward PD-1 low-expressing M1 macrophages, providing evidence for the role of microenvironment remodeling in lymphoma (56). The central role of immune checkpoint hijacking through PD-1/PD-L1/PD-L2 pathway deregulation in RS is supported by abnormalities of PD-L1 (Programmed Death Ligand 1) expression-regulating miR-34 cluster (57) and high proportions of alterations of *PDCD1LG2*, encoding PD-L2 (Programmed Death Ligand 2).

ACTIVATION AND LIMITATION OF THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSE: IMMUNE CHECKPOINT DEREGULATION THROUGH PD-1/PD-L1/PD-L2 PATHWAY HIJACKING IN ONCOLOGY

Three signals are required for T-cell/T lymphocyte (TL) activation: i) specific recognition by the T-cell receptor (TCR) of an antigen processed by professional antigen presenting cells (APCs), ii) co-stimulation signals, either through the binding of TL co-stimulatory receptor CD28 with its ligands, CD80 and CD86 expressed on APCs, or the binding of CD40 (receptor) to CD40L (ligand), and iii) TL cytokine production (IL-2 in particular) and expression of their specific receptors, leading to autocrine activation, clonal expansion, TL differentiation, and cytotoxic activity of antigen-specific TL. Co-stimulation is essential for TL activation, since antigen recognition by the TCR without co-stimulation signal leads to an anergy state and/or tolerance to this antigen (Figure 2) (58) Three to 5 days after activation, TLs physiologically express co-inhibitory receptors (immune checkpoint inhibitors; ICPIs) on their surface, such as PD-1, CTLA-4 (Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte-Associated protein 4), LAG-3 (Lymphocyte-Activation Gene 3), and TIM-3 (T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin containing protein-3), which bind to their respective ligand, leading to the regulation of the immune response. Once the antigen is eliminated, expression of these checkpoint inhibitors decreases to normal levels (Figure 2) (59, 60). The most explored immune checkpoint inhibitors to date are CTLA-4 and PD-1, both members of the B7 receptor family.

TL-specific surface marker CTLA-4 is a CD28 homologue expressed 48 hours after TL activation, with a greater affinity for CD80/86 (61). In lymph node, it acts as a central negative regulator on the surface of naive TLs (CD4+ FOXP3- CD8+), where it competes with CD28 and interacts with CD80/86, enabling the minute regulation of TL activation level, thus limiting early immune response. CTLA-4 is also expressed on CD4+ FOXP3+ regulatory T lymphocytes (Tregs) (62).

PD-1 is a transmembrane protein receptor that functions as a key negative regulator of cellular immunity, orchestrating the delicate balance between immune defense and the protection of healthy tissues from persistent inflammation and autoimmunity through various signaling pathways (59-61, 63-65). PD-1 is expressed on TL, but also on natural killer cells, pro-B cells, macrophages, monocytes, Dendritic Cells (DC), and Innate Lymphoid Cells (66), and has two ligands: Programmed Death Ligand 1 (PD-L1; CD274; B7-H1) and Programmed Death Ligand 2 (PD-L2; CD273; B7-DC). PD-L1 is more widely expressed than PD-L2 (67), notably on non-hematopoietic cells (including epithelial cells, vascular endothelial cells and stromal cells) and is induced by pro-inflammatory cytokines (including type I and type II interferons, $TNF\alpha$ and vascular endothelial growth factor). PD-L2 is mainly expressed on DC and macrophages and is induced by many of the same cytokines as PD-L1, plus IL-4 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-

APC

PD-L

PD-1

Time (days)

мнс

• **•**

Antigen clearance

TCR

Antigen persistent

30

FIGURE 2 | Activation and limitation of the adaptive immune response: physiological concepts. To activate a naive TL during adaptive immune response, APC must present an antigen through MHC to the TCR (signal 1), but also provide an essential co-stimulation signal (signal 2). These co-stimulation molecules, whose expression are induced during innate immune response, are mainly CD80/CD86 (expressed on APC), and CD28 (expressed on T lymphocyte). The activated TL can then proliferate, differentiate into an effector TL, leave the lymph node and move into peripheral tissues to the inflammatory site. Without this co-stimulation, the TL becomes anergic. To limit the immune response to a pathogenic antigen, both central and peripheral immune control checkpoints exist. Three to 5 days after activation, TLs physiologically express co-inhibitory receptors (immune checkpoint inhibitors; ICPIs) on their surface, such as CTLA-4 and PD-1. CTLA-4 is expressed by naive TLs residing in the lymph nodes, competes with CD28 and interacts with CD80/86: this regulates the amplitude of TL activation and limits the initial immune response. PD-1 is expressed on effector T lymphocytes and interacts with its ligands (PD-L1/PD-L2). PD-1 expression occurs within 24 h after T-cell activation and decreases with antigen clearance. Unlike CTLA-4, its role is to limit, through various signaling pathways, the immune response in peripheral tissues during the active phase of inflammation by decreasing TL activity (exhaustion). TL exhaustion is a progressive process consisting in an effector TL dysfunctional state upon repeated or prolonged stimulation by an antigen, happening in a context of chronic inflammation (chronic infection or cancer) with persistent TL stimulation. The expression of

CD80/86

CTLA-4

Exhausted T cell



In a chronic inflammatory context, TL may enter a dysfunctional state called lymphocyte exhaustion, a progressive process consisting in an effector-TL function loss upon repeated activations, coinciding with increasing expression levels of ICPIs and particularly PD-1, considered as the leading inhibitory

SIGNAL 2

Transcripti

Activated T cell

Naive T cell

5

SIGNAL 3

CD80/86

мнс

זיוייז ז

TCR CD28

SIGNAL 1

0

regulator of TL function. TL are ineffective at eradicating pathogens or tumors, so there is a real interest in reversing the depletion phenomenon (70).

Oncogenic processes begin with an acute inflammatory response, with tumor infiltration by non-specific innate immune cells and increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, followed by an activating cascade specific of adaptive immune cells (71, 72). In the microenvironment of solid cancers, the co-stimulatory molecules regulating TL activation are not necessarily overexpressed. The inhibitory molecules that regulate TL functions (and notably the PD-1/PD-L1 axis) are generally overexpressed in tumor cells or in the microenvironment cells such as Tumor-infiltrating Lymphocytes (TIL) and Tregs in melanoma, breast, prostate, ovary, hepatocellular carcinoma



proliferate (68, 69).

and small cell lung carcinoma (65, 73). PD-1 overexpression in TILs affects the prognosis of several solid cancers (74), and the increased PD-1 expression among tumor-infiltrating CD4+ TLs reflects a usually high level of PD-1 expression on Tregs, which may represent a large proportion of intra-tumor CD4+ TLs (59). In a melanoma mouse model consisting in B16.SIY melanoma cells subcutaneously transplanted into immunocompetent 6-week old wild-type C57BL/6 mice, TL from the tumor microenvironment express very high levels of PD-L1 and indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase, both induced by IFNy production by CD8+ TLs (75). This adaptive tumor resistance mechanism uses large quantities of IFNy from the tumor microenvironment (76, 77): such a negative feedback loop induces PD-L1 expression on the tumor cell surface, which in turn suppresses PD-1+ TLs activity (59, 63, 78). In many cancers, upregulation of PD-L1 appears to be correlated with poorer outcomes (Figure 3) (73). PD-L1 is also involved in the maintenance and induction of tumor-associated Tregs by inhibiting the Akt/mTOR signaling cascade, which promotes differentiation and switch from naive CD4+ TL to induced CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ Tregs (59, 62, 68, 79). The function of these Tregs is to attenuate the response of effector TLs and PD-1 (59,

78). By overexpressing PD-L1, tumor cells inhibit anti-tumor immune responses in the tumor microenvironment (59).

Blocking the PD-1/PD-L1 signaling pathway can therefore induce a targeted anti-tumor response (73). The presumed mechanism for blocking PD-1/PD-L1 in cancer is that it unleashes the anti-tumor TL response at the tumor site. To date, many monoclonal antibodies targeting PD-1 or its ligand has been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and are available with marketing authorizations in oncology (59, 63, 78, 80, 81).

IMMUNE ESCAPE THROUGH PD-1/PD-L1/PD-L2 PATHWAY IN B-CELL MALIGNANCIES

The model used in oncology is not applicable here because the B lymphocyte tumor cell is also an APC (82, 83). This is because the tumoral microenvironment is usually the lymph node, where immune cells practically reside. In this environment, B lymphocyte interaction is different in each lymphoma subtype.



FIGURE 3 | PD-1/PD-L1/PD-L2 pathway hijacking in oncology. Immune checkpoints are exploited by solid tumors to evade or suppress the immune system. The PD-1/ PD-L1 co-inhibition axis, within the tumor microenvironment, will allow many PD-L1 tumor cells to escape the immune system through multiple mechanisms. One of these is the decrease of effector functions of cytotoxic TLs, directed against the tumor antigen by inducing their functional depletion (exhaustion), reducing their cytokines (IL-2) production ability, their high proliferation capacity, their cytotoxic activity and consequently the resistance to tumor cell lysis. The second step is the functional alterations in the production of TNF α , IFN γ , β -chemokines, and degranulation. In the most terminal stages of depletion, these cells may enter apoptosis, probably as a consequence of over-stimulation. PD-L1 role is also to maintain and induce tumor-associated regulatory T-cells (induced Tregs), by promoting their switching from naive CD4+ TLs. Infiltration of their microenvironment by activated TLs producing pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN γ enhances PD-L1 upregulation in tumor cells. This feedback loop is thought to be a mechanism of adaptive immune resistance by the tumor. APC, Antigen Presenting Cell; CTLA-4, Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated Antigen 4; IFN γ , Interferon Gamma; IL-2, Interleukine 2; MHC, Major Histocompatibility Complex; PD-1, Programmed Death 1; PD-L1, Programmed Death Ligand 1; TCR, T-cell Receptor; TIL, Tumor-infiltrating Lymphocyte; TNF α , Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha; Treg, Regulatory T lymphocyte.



FIGURE 4 | Immune escape through PD-1/PD-L1 pathway in B-cell malignancies. As opposed to solid cancers, the malignant B lymphoma cell is also an immune cell, and its tumor microenvironment contains highly variable numbers of immune cells. B-cell malignancies arise in lymphoid tissues, and more precisely germinal center of lymph nodes (82). Molecular dissection of the malignant B-cell allows to understand the progressive behavior of different B-cell lymphoma subtypes. Among genetic alterations contributing to immune escape is the 9p24.1 copy gain or amplification, described many times in inflammatory lymphomas such as HL or Primary Mediastinal B Lymphorma (84), and correlated with overexpression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 on the surface of malignant cells (85). Two other mechanisms responsible for the malignant B lymphocyte inability to present tumor antigen to the CD8+ or CD4+ TLs are, respectively, loss of function of the gae encoding the β 2-microglobulin (MHC I complex dysfunction) (54, 86) and the dysfunction of *CllTA* (encoding MHC II) (87). PD-L1 is highly expressed on tumor-infiltrating macrophages and the surface of tumor cells and APCs in the tumor microenvironment (76). In a HL model, PD-L1 + macrophages were frequently in contact with PD-1 CD4+ TLs, suggesting that macrophages drive CD4+ TL dysfunction *via* PD-1/PD-L1 interactions, and/or by preventing direct access to Hodgkin Reed-Sternberg cells (88). Tumor cells upregulate PD-L1 to dampen cytotoxic TL attack. This upregulation is a consequence of pro-inflammatory cytokine production by tumor infiltrating immune cells: IFN₇ is produced by CD4+ and CD8+ TLs and acts as a potent PD-L1 upregulator (76). In a CLL model, Beyer et al. observed a significantly increased expression of TGF- β and IL-10 in Tregs from patients. Both cytokines play an important role for the CD8+ TL inhibitory function of these cells (89). For example, in FL, malignant cells guide differentiation of CD4+ TLs, skewing the population within the tumor towards Tregs. APC, Antigen

Malignant B-cells attract non-malignant cells and modulate their plasticity, converting their environment into a supportive niche. It is therefore essential to understand how the dynamic interaction between these B-cells triggers the setting of a supportive niche, and consequently the mechanisms of B-cell immune escape (**Figure 4**) (90).

As in any adaptive immune response, lymphocyte activation requires the three signals described above (58). The B lymphoid tumor cell expresses class II MHC (Major Histocompatibility Complex) and the CD80/86 co-stimulation molecules which are functionally active and allow the tumor lymphocyte to act as an APC (83). An aberrant expression of PD-1 and its ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 has been detected in many lymphoma subtypes, with a higher frequency for PD-L1. As was the case with solid cancers, PD-L1 reported levels vary highly between studies and within the same lymphoma subtype (58). Potential methodological issues may lead to this variability in PD-1 and PD-L1 expression measurements, and therefore, in the predictive value of these

potential biomarkers. In particular, the detection method used (immunohistochemistry/IHC), flow cytometry or RNA sequencing), the specific antibody used for PD-1 or PD-L1 detection, the analyzed cell type, the sample type (bone marrow, blood, lymph node, peripheral organ), and the minimum threshold values to define PD-1 or PD-L1 expression are of consequence (58, 83). Thus, PD-L1 expression appears to be an imperfect predictor of PD-1/PD-L1 pathway inhibition efficacy, although response rates are significantly higher in patients with PD-L1-positive tumors.

Clinico-pathological studies (91–93) have investigated the expression of PD-1, PD-L1, and PD-L2 in a large number of tumor-cells or tumor-microenvironment-cells (403, 899, and 702 biopsies, respectively) in various B-cell neoplasms, whether Hodgkin or non-Hodgkin lymphoma: Burkitt Lymphoma, DLBCL, Follicular Lymphoma (FL), Mantle Cell Lymphoma, Marginal Zone Lymphoma, Primary Mediastinal Lymphoma, and CLL). In these studies, the expression of these tumor markers and

their prognostic values vary in accordance with the lymphoma subtype.

PD-1/PD-L1/PD-L2 IMPAIRMENT IN CLL

In CLL, malignant B-cells interact with neighboring cells in the lymph node, creating a microenvironment that promotes their proliferation and survival by inhibiting apoptosis and protecting them from immune system (94). One of the potential mechanisms responsible for immune escape from cytotoxic TLs in CLL is through PD-1 and both its ligands, PD-L1 and PD-L2. The neoplastic B-cells of the SLL/LLC lymph node weakly express PD-1 in most cases and series (95, 96), but more intensely and predominantly in prolymphocytes and paraimmunoblasts located in the proliferative centers of the lymph node. When expressing PD-1, circulating CLL cells also overexpress PD-L1, allowing tumor escape (94, 96, 97). Brusa et al. found a diffuse expression of PD-L1 in 9/20 samples of nodal B lymphocytes in CLL (96). This PD-L1 overexpression, by CLL B-cells exclusively, was comparable in the lymph node, the circulating blood and the bone marrow (94, 98). It was also significantly greater than that of B lymphocytes in healthy patients. This PD-1/PD-L1 increase is discordant in the literature, as some authors report no (91, 92) or feeble (92, 95)

expression of PD-L1/PD-L2 on circulating CLL cells/lymph node SLL (**Table 1A**).

In this neoplastic context, CD4+ and CD8+ TLs circulating or infiltrating the tumor exhibit exhaustion profile since they also express PD-1 (101), either slightly (1/4 cases) (91, 96) or significantly increased (104), and are in close contact with CD23+ CLL cells expressing PD-L1 within the lymph nodes. These CD4+ and CD8+ TLs exhibit the features of chronic activation, with an overexpression of CD69, HLA-DR and CD57 and an underexpression of CD28 and CD62L (104). Exhaustion markers CD244, CD160 and PD-1 (101). These exhausted TLs may be the result of chronic stimulation by low affinity auto-antigens. Due to exhaustion, CD8+ TLs lose their cytotoxicity and become unable to lyse target cells. However, in CLL, and unlike TLs exhausted after chronic stimulation by a high affinity viral antigen, CD8+ TLs keep their ability to produce IFNy and Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α), with normal IL-2 production potentially protecting CLL cells from apoptosis) (104). There is a specific cytokinic context in CLL proliferative centers where IFNy production by TL promotes PD-L1 expression on leukemia cells. Conversely, PD-1/PD-L1 interaction triggers a negative feedback loop, with PD-1-mediated significant decrease in IL-4 and IFNy production by CD4+ and CD8+ TLs, respectively (96). Investigations using human and murine CLL models showed alterations of the immunological synapse between tumor B-cells and CD4+ and CD8+ TLs,

TABLE 1 | PD-1 and PD-L1 expression changes on malignant B-cells and tumor microenvironment TL surfaces, in CLL (Table 1A) or RS (Table 1B) context.

Ref.	Number of patients	PD-1 expression				PD-L1 expression			
		Lymph n	ode	Bone Marrow/Pe	eripheral Blood	Lymph N	ode	Bone Marrow/Perip	heral Blood
		B-CLL	TIL	B-CLL	TIL	B-CLL	TIL	B-CLL	TIL
(95)	13	Yes	Yes	Yes (PB)	UD	No	UD	UD	UD
(96)	117	Yes	Yes	Yes (PB)	Yes (PB)	Yes	UD	Yes (PB)	UD
(94)	68	Yes	Yes	UD	UD	Yes	UD	Yes (PB)	UD
(99)	16	Yes	UD	UD	UD	UD	UD	UD	UD
(100)	39	Yes	Yes	UD	UD	No	UD	UD	UD
(91)	58	No	Yes	UD	UD	UD	UD	UD	UD
(98)	58	Yes	Yes	Yes	UD	Yes	UD	No	UD
(92)	37	UD	UD	UD	UD	No	UD	UD	UD
(97)	112	UD	UD	UD	UD	UD	UD	Only on MNC	UD
(101)	39	UD	UD	UD	Yes	UD	UD	UD	UD
(102)	16 (4 with tumor-invaded tissues)	Yes	Yes	UD	UD	Yes	Yes	UD	UD
(103)	18	UD	UD	UD	UD	No	UD	No	UD

B (Richter Syndrome)

Ref.	Number of patients	PD-1 expression				PD-L1 expression			
		Lymph noo	de	Bone Marrow/Peri	oheral Blood	Lymph Node		Bone Marrow/Peripl	heral Blood
		Richter cells	TIL	Richter cells	TIL	Richter cells	TIL	Richter cells	TIL
(100)	15	Yes	Yes	UD	UD	Yes	No	UD	UD
(99)	17	Yes	UD	UD	UD	Yes	UD	UD	UD
(102)	9 (6 with tumor-invaded tissues)	Yes	Yes	UD	UD	Yes	No	UD	UD
(103)	15 (5 with tumor-invaded tissues)	UD	UD	UD	UD	Yes	No	UD	UD

PD-1, programmed death 1; PD-L1, programmed death ligand 1; B-CLL, CLL malignant B-cells; BM, bone marrow; LN, lymph node; MNC, mononuclear cells; PB, peripheral blood; RS-MO, RS microenvironment; TIL, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes; UD, undetermined.



primarily due to the disorganization of the TL cytoskeleton through inhibition of TCR components by CLL cells (105). This leads to a decrease in TCR signaling and subsequent proliferation (decrease in production of IL-2 by CD4+ TL) and cytotoxic activity (decrease in cytokines) (**Figure 5**) (92, 101).

To study the CLL microenvironment, particularly the PD-1/ PD-L1/PD-L2 axis, and to assess the functional impact of PD-1 expression on the effector function of TLs in CLL, different mouse models have been established (107). In these murine models (which compare an elderly mouse having spontaneously developed CLL to a young one with experimentally induced CLL, and to a healthy aged mouse), CD8+ PD-1+ infiltrating TLs retained their cytotoxicity capabilities but did not maintain a correct immunological synapse. IFN γ production was effectively altered but did not make these TLs exhausted. The ability of CD4+ TLs to switch from a naive phenotype to a memory TL phenotype after meeting the CLL tumor antigen was demonstrated in a similar mouse model, where CD4+ TLs that underwent phenotypic switching were able to protect tumor B-cells from apoptosis *in vitro*, and were associated with a more aggressive disease (106).

In addition to the increased expression of the PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitory receptors, an increase in CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ Tregs

is observed in CLL, particularly in previously untreated advanced-stage CLL (89). Tregs also induce CTLA-4, another inhibitory receptor. Therefore, CTLA-4 signaling is likely to be another pathway mediating TL dysfunction in CLL.

PD-1/PD-L1/PD-L2 INTERPLAY DEREGULATION BY MALIGNANT B-CELLS PROMOTES IMMUNE ESCAPE IN RS

To date, few data are available on RS regarding the cellular interactions mediating the immunological synapse around the molecular surface marker PD-1 and its ligand PD-L1 (83, 104, 108). Here we will focus on PD-1 and PD-L1 deregulations in the context of RS, both on tumor B-cells and microenvironment cells, and the diagnostic and prognostic impact of the negative bi-directional interaction between these cells.

In a cohort of 80 patients including 39 CLLs, 15 RS, and 26 *de novo* DLBCLs, PD-1 expression in RS is significantly higher than in *de novo* DLBCLs. Only prolymphocytes and paraimmunoblasts

86

from proliferation centers expressed PD-1 in CLL (100) and even more markedly in "accelerated" CLLs (109). A CLL-Richter clonal relationship, assessed by *IGHV* rearrangement comparison, has been recognized as an adverse prognostic factor in RS (19). In this cohort, He et al. (100). demonstrated that PD-1 expression by large B-cells from RS was highly correlated (90%) with clonally related RS. *IGHV* sequencing is the reference method for assessing CLL-RS clonal relationship (20, 100), but this test is expensive and dependent on the availability of the CLL component at RS diagnosis. It could advantageously be replaced by PD-1 estimation with IHC, which is more accessible for routine practice (101). In contrast, PD-L1 expression was only observed in 1/17 RS samples and 1/26 cases of *de novo* DLBCLs, in the surrounding immune environment consisting of histiocytes and DC.

Evaluation of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression on tumor B-cells from 10 biopsies (6 RS and 4 CLL) available beforehand showed a slight PD-L1 increase in patients with complete response (CR) or partial response (PR) after Pembrolizumab treatment and a tendency to PD-1 overexpression in these same patients versus non-responders (102). In tumor-infiltrating CD3+ CD8+ TLs, PD-1 and PD-L1 levels were similar in treatment responders versus non-responders. With confocal microscopy, PD-1 expression was observed mainly on tumor B-cells, while PD-L1 expression was observed on histiocytes/monocytes. Of note, FISH analysis did not find amplification or duplication of the 9p24 segment, which is the chromosomal location of PD-L1 and PD-L2. In another study, PD-L1 expression was high (> or equal to 5%) on 3 out of 5 evaluable RS biopsies (103). The study did not specify whether this expression was predominant on lymphoma B-cells or on cells of the microenvironment. PD-1 expression was not measured. These results were confirmed on a 58-patient cohort including 16 CLLs, 17 RS and 25 de novo DLBCLs (99), with i) a high correlation between CLL-RS clonal relationship and PD-1 expression (8/9 RS clonally related with matched CLL strongly expressing PD-1) and ii) a difference in PD-1 expression between RS (14/17 positive) and de novo DLBCL (2/25 weakly and locally positive). These results highlight the potential role of PD-1 in distinguishing RS from de novo DLBCLs or from a clonally unrelated RS. In line with what is described for CLL, PD-1 and PD-L1 expressions are variable within the tumor, either predominant on TIL or on malignant B-cells.

PD-1 positive B-cells in RS share the characteristics of the widely described regulatory B lymphocytes (Bregs) (110, 111), which interact with PD-L1-expressing immune-cells of the tumor stroma and subsequently with inhibitory cytokines (TGF- β and IL-10) from adjacent TL (**Table 1B**). Bregs are described as a B lymphocyte subtype representing less than 10% of total B-cells in a healthy patient but essential for the maintenance of immunotolerance (111). Consistent pre-clinical and clinical studies suggest several distinct Bregs phenotypes involved in autoimmune diseases and cancers (112). Immune suppression mediated by CD19+ CD1d+ CD5+ or CD19+ CD24+ CD3+ Breg subtypes is mediated by IL-10 production, which in turn inhibits Th1 cell activation, Th17 cell differentiation and promotes CD4+

TL conversion into suppressive Tregs. In metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma, a new Breg subtype has been identified within tumor PD-1+ B-cells, presenting a specific phenotype. In the course of hepatocellular carcinoma progression, PD-1 is strongly expressed by tumor-infiltrating B lymphocytes and interacts with PD-L1, expressed by tumor-associated macrophages, leading to IL-10 production by B lymphocytes, inhibition of TL cytotoxic activity and tumor expansion (110). This mechanism could synergistically work with the mechanisms of lymphocyte exhaustion mediated by the interaction of TLs expressing PD-1 with cancer cells expressing PD-L1. This observation is in accordance with similar results in thyroid cancers where tumor-infiltrating PD-1+ B-cells also express PD-L1. However, unlike PD-1+ Bregs, these PD-1+ Bcells do not increase IL-10 production and here, the immunosuppressive effect is mainly mediated by PD-L1 interaction with PD-1+ TLs (113). Several remaining hypothesis need to be explored: a) Bregs expressing IL-10 could also use this PD-1/PD-L1 pathway to neutralize TL activity and b) these Bregs could play an important role in B-cell lymphomas and more particularly in RS.

In B-cell malignancies, tumor B-cells acquire Breg properties through different mechanisms, including the expression of coinhibitory ligands, such as PD-L1/PD-L2, allowing TL exhaustion, but also the ability to induce FOXP3+ Treg expansion, to recruit myeloid-derived suppressor cells or monocytes/macrophages. Tumor B-cells can also directly express a variety of ligands and suppressive cytokines such as a) TGF- β , which promotes Treg development and inhibits CD4+ TL differentiation into Th1 or Th17, or b) IL-10 which promotes CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ Tregs development and CD5+ B-cell expression of Fas-L, leading to cell death *in vitro* (**Figure 6**) (112).

ENSUING THERAPEUTIC OPTIONS IN RS

In B-cell neoplasms, the PD-1/PD-L1 axis has been widely explored. There is a correlation between PD-1 and PD-L1 expression levels and prognosis (58, 83, 91, 93, 108) as well as potential for therapeutic purposes (58, 74, 83, 114). The first indication in which PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors have been approved to date is relapsed or refractory classical HL after autologous stem cell transplantation (SCT) and treatment with Brentuximab-Vedotin. Nivolumab was approved by FDA in 2018 (115, 116). In the same indication, Pembrolizumab obtained approval in 2017 (117). Nivolumab is a human monoclonal IgG4 kappa anti-PD-1 antibody. Pembrolizumab is also a humanized monoclonal IgG4 kappa anti-PD-1 antibody, that is devoid of any cytotoxic activity because binding of pembrolizumab to PD-1 does not engage Fc receptors or activate complement. Nivolumab and Pembrolizumab block interactions between PD-1, which is a negative regulator of TL activation, and its ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 (118). Numerous therapeutic trials concentrate on blocking the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway to modulate anti-cancer immunity are currently ongoing (76).



FIGURE 6 | Lymphoma B cell-mediated immune synapse in Richter syndrome. This figure focuses on mechanism of tumoral escape in the germinal center of lymph nodes. PD-1 delivers inhibitory signals to TLs after binding with its ligands PD-L1 or PD-L2, on the surface of malignant B lymphocytes, in the tumor microenvironment. Behdad et al. (99). hypothesize that in RS, tumoral B lymphocytes share characteristics with Bregs: i) expression of co-inhibitory ligands such as PD-L1/PD-L2, allowing TL exhaustion, ii) the ability to induce FOXP3+ Treg expansion, and iii) the ability to recruit Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell (MDSC) or monocytes/macrophages (TAMs). Malignant B-cells can also directly express a variety of suppressive ligands and cytokines: i) TGF-β to promote Treg development and inhibit the differentiation of CD4+ TLs into Th1 or Th17 lymphocytes, and ii) IL-10 to promote CD4+ CD25+ FOXP3+ Treg development and Fas-L production (particularly for CD5+ B lymphocytes), leading to cell death *in vitro*. Bregs, Regulatory B Lymphocytes; IL-10, Interleukine 10; IFNγ, Interferon Gamma; MDSC, Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell; MHC, Major Histocompatibility Complex; PD-1, Programmed Death 1; PD-L1, Programmed Death Ligand 1; PD-L2, Programmed Death Ligand 2; RS-DLBCL, Richter Syndrome, Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma subtype; TAM, Tumor Associated Macrophage; TCR, T-cell Receptor; TGF-β, Transforming Growth Factor Beta; TL, T Lymphocyte; Tregs, Regulatory T Lymphocytes.

Improved knowledge on tumor microenvironment and particularly on the PD-1/PD-L1 axis in RS context, raises potential therapeutic options with targeted immunotherapies that blocks the interaction between PD-1 and its ligand to restore the activity of the tumor cell/TL immunological synapse. Effectiveness of immune checkpoint blockade therapies, including Pembrolizumab and Nivolumab, are demonstrated and approved for the treatment of many solid cancers (81), and relapsed or refractory HL (115, 116). Clinical trials are ongoing for other hematological malignancies (119).

In RS, three large cohorts of more than one hundred patients showed that median overall survival (OS) of RS patients is short, ranging from 5.9 to 12 months (34, 120, 121). In a large cohort of 103 RS patients, factors associated with RS development were del (17p), elevated thymidine kinase > 10 U/L, and presence of Bsymptoms at the first-line treatment of CLL (119). The prognosis of RS patients who did not receive prior CLL therapy is better, with a median OS of 46.3 months versus 7.8 months (p < 0.001) (34). RS diagnosis is always an indication to start treatment. There is no randomized study comparing different therapeutic approaches in RS, but different treatment combinations have been individually tested. R-CHOP (Rituximab, Cyclophosphamide, Hydroxydaunorubicin, Oncovin, Prednisone) or R-CHOP-like regimens are widely used as a first-line option, with a response rate of around 67% (7% CR rate) but a progression-free survival (PFS) of only 10 months and a median survival of 15 months in eligible patients (38, 122). More intensive OFAR-type chemotherapy protocols (Oxiplatin, Fludarabine, Aracytine, Rituximab) only resulted in a CR rate of 6.5% and a median

survival of 6-8 months (123, 124). These first-line protocols achieved a PR or a CR of short duration in 10%-15% cases and offered a median survival of 12 months (27% survival at 3 years). SCT can improve remission duration, usually short with chemotherapy regimens. Consolidation by an autologous or allogeneic SCT in a small subset of patients selected for their response to chemotherapy makes it possible to obtain a longer survival (75% at 3 years) (19, 125). A European retrospective study has compiled series of patients treated by autologous or allogeneic SCT: at 3 years, relapse-free survival is 27% after allogeneic SCT and 45% after autologous SCT (the non-relapse mortality at 3 years is 26% and 12%, respectively). However, most patients (85%–90%) are unfit or do not achieve an adequate response to be eligible for transplantation (126). Improving response rate to frontline therapy remains critical and new therapeutic approaches, such as Bruton Tyrosine Kinase (BTK) inhibitors yielded encouraging results (127). In this context, immune checkpoint inhibitors could therefore have a great therapeutic interest in RS.

A monocentric phase 2 clinical study tested the humanized anti-PD-1 antibody Pembrolizumab in a small cohort of 25 patients (16 relapsed CLLs and 9 RS). In RS, global response rate was 44%, PFS duration was 5.4 months, and OS was 10.7 months *versus* 3.5 months after classical immunochemotherapy courses. Patients previously treated with Ibrutinib (4/6) were still in clinical response after 11 months. About 20% of hematological adverse events above grade 3 were observed (102). However, none of the 16 CLL patients responded to Pembrolizumab. Notably, and despite a partial RS response, 3 CLLs progressed. Outside clinical trial, 10 patients with active RS and without new therapeutic options were treated either by Pembrolizumab (n=3)or by Nivolumab (n=7). This "real life" experience showed a time to treatment failure of 1.2 months, with 9/10 patients relapsing (128).

Nivolumab was used in combination with Ibrutinib in a phase II trial on 13 patients, including 5 relapsed or refractory (R/R) CLLs, 5 RS and 3 persistent CLLs after 9 months of Ibrutinib. This study showed PR and CR in 3 and 2 RS, respectively. However, this treatment had minor effects on CLL, with 1 CR and 3 PR in R/ R CLLs and none in persistent CLLs (129). The Ibrutinib + Nivolumab association was tested in a second therapeutic trial conducted in 2 steps on 141 patients (103). The first phase (n=14) aimed at evaluating safety and toxicity parameters of the combined Ibrutinib + Nivolumab, administered to patients with high risk R/R CLL/SLL with del(17p) or del(11q), de novo DLBCL or FL. The main objective of the second phase (n=127) was to investigate the preliminary activity of this association in 4 patients subgroups: a) 36 high risk R/R CLL/SLL with del (17p) or del (11q); b) 40 FL; c) 45 de novo DLBCL and d) 20 RS. None of the 20 RS patients had been previously exposed to Ibrutinib as part of the underlying CLL. In the RS cohort, grade 3-5 adverse events were mainly hematological. 11/141 (8%) patients died, including four from the RS cohort, but none were attributable to Nivolumab-Ibrutinib. In RS, the overall response rate was 65% (13/20), including 10% (2/20) CR and 55% (11/20) PR. One patient had a stable disease and 5 patients (25%) progressed. PFS was 5 months and OS 10.3 months for a median follow-up of 8.7 months; 11 patients either progressed (n=3) or died (n=8). In summary, clinical responses were observed in all cohorts, but the overall response rate was the highest in the RS group. Of note, no CR was observed in the CLL/SLL cohort, but only PR (22/36, 61%). Although the treatment under evaluation was an anti-PD-1, Younes et al. (103) measured PD-L1 expression in five patients (out of 15 available RS samples). PR associated with prolonged OS was observed in the 3/5 patients who had a high (> or equal to 5%) PD-L1 expression, in line with previous results (Table 2) (102).

PD-L2 is expressed in a large panel of cancers and is upregulated in various B-cell lymphoma subtypes (130, 131). This may explain PD-1 inhibitors efficacy in the context of PD-L1 negative tumors. In addition, PD-L2 expression in tumor tissues is significantly associated with PFS under Pembrolizumab treatment, regardless of PD-L1 expression (132). On the other hand PD-L2 expression is involved in resistance to anti-PD-L1 monotherapy. In this context, antitumor immunity can be restored either by replacing the anti-PD-L1 therapy by an anti-PD-1 therapy or by combining an anti-PD-L1 with an anti-PD-L2 treatment (133).

Numerous clinical trials are ongoing in RS, combining an anti-PD-1 antibody to other drugs (Jain N et al., NCT02846623 and NCT02420912; Eichhorst B et al., NCT04271956; Danilov A et al., NCT03884998; Ding W et al., NCT02332980; Woyach JA et al., NCT03892044; Acerta Clinical Trials, NCT02362035) or an anti-PD-L1 antibody (Tedeschi A et al., NCT04082897; Herrera AF et al., NCT03321643; Mato AR et al., NCT02535286). Most of these phase II studies are currently evaluating the toxicity and safety of these combinations, with efficacy endpoints as secondary objectives (Table 3).

 TABLE 2
 Published clinical studies in RS

Ref	Drugs	Study features	Number of patients	Schedule	CB (%)	-	ORR OS PFS (%) (months) (months)	PFS (months)	Grade 3/4 adverse events
(102)	Pembrolizumab Phase II unicentri trial	Phase II unicentric clinical trial	Phase II 25, including: unicentric clinical - Relapsed CLL: 16 trial - RS: 9	200 mg/ 3 weeks	11 44	44	10.7	5.4	Thrombocytopenia (20%) Anemia (20%) Neutropenia (20%) dyspnea (8%) Hypoxia (8%)
(128)	Pembrolizumab Single center (128) or Nivolumab experience	Single center experience	10 RS: Nivolumab: 7 Pembrolizumab: 3	Doses according to their US label	10 UD	D	4.2	1.2	â
(129)	Nivolumab and (129) Ibrutinib	Phase II clinical trial	 including: - Relapsed/ refractory CLL: 5 - CLL treated with ibrutinib for ≥ 9 months with parcietary disease: 3 - BS: 6 	Nivolumab 3mg/kg/15 weeks (cycle 1) Nivolumab 3mg/kg/15 weeks + Derititish 4.00mc/dav (cycle 2)	60	D	B	Ŋ	
(103)	Nivolumab and (103) Ibrutinib	Phase 1/2a open-label multicentric clinical trial	141, including: - CLL/SLL: 36 - de novo DLBCL: 45 - FL: 40 - RS: 20	Nivolumab 3mg/kg / 15weeks + Nivolumab 3mg/kg / 15weeks + Ibrutinib 420 or 560 mg/day.	10	65	10.3	QJ	Neutropenia (25%), Anemia (35%), Thrombocytopenia (10%) Pneumoniae (10%) Rash (10%) Dyspnea (10%) hypotension (15%)
CLL, c	thronic lymphocytic sma; RS, Richter sy	CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; CR, complete res lymphoma; RS, Richter syndrome; UD, undetermined.	olete response; DLBCL, diffuse large B-cell lymphi smined.	oma; FL, follicular lymphoma; ORR, overal	l respo	nse rate	; OS, overall	survival; PFS	CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukernia; CR, complete response; DLBCL, diffuse large B-cell lymphoma; FL, follicular lymphoma; ORR, overall response rate; OS, overall survival; PFS, progression-free survival; SLL, small lymphocytic lymphoma; RS, Richter syndrome; UD, undetermined.

TABLE 3 | Ongoing clinical trials in RS.

Reference	Drugs	Study features	Patients enroll- ment	Protocol	Primary outcome	Secondary outcome
NCT02846623	Atezolizumab + Obinutuzumab + Venetoclax	Phase II open label clinical trial	65 R/R CLL/SLL and RS	A + O + V for 14 cycles of 28 days vs A+ O + V for 25 cycles of 28 days.	Minimal residual disease negative rate	AEs, best ORR, CRR, duration of response, PFS, OS
NCT04271956	Zanubrutinib + Tislelizumab	Prospective phase II open label multicenter clinical trial	45 RS	T + Z for induction and consolidation (6 cycles each), then maintenance until DP or allo-SCT	ORR after induction according to the Lugano Classification	ORR after induction therapy (IWCLL criteria) ORR after consolidation therapy, PFS, OS, TTNT, duration of response, AEs
NCT03884998	Copanlisib+ Nivolumab	Phase I open label clinical trial	15 RS or Transformed Indolent NHL	C + N for 12 cycles of 28 days in the absence of DP or UT.	Incidence of dose- limiting toxicities & AEs	ORR, duration of treatment, PFS, OS
NCT02332980	Pembrolizumab + Idelalisib or Pembrolizumab + Ibrutinib or Pembrolizumab alone	Phase II open label clinical trial	68 R/R CLL or other low-grade B NHL	P for 12 cycles, or P + I or P + Id for 12-24 cycles in the absence of DP or UT.	Confirmed response	CRR, AEs incidence, ORR, PFS, survival
NCT03892044	Duvelisib and Nivolumab	Phase I open label clinical trial	44 RS or transformed FL	N. + D for 28 days cycles until DP or UT.	Maximal Tolerated Dose	ORR, PFS, OS
NCT04082897	Atezolizumab and Obinituzumab and Venetoclax	Phase II open-labeled, uncontrolled, multicenter clinical trial	28 RS	A + O + V from cycle 1 to 8; A + V from cycle 9 to 18; V only from cycle 19 to 35	ORR	AEs (CTCAE v4), CRR, duration of response, PFS, OS
NCT02420912	Nivolumab and Ibrutinib	Phase II open-labelled non-randomized clinical trial	72 R/R or high- risk untreated CLL, SLL, or RS	For RS: N+ I for 1 or 2-24 cycles if no DP or UT.	CR or CR with incomplete BM recovery	AEs (CTCAE v4), OS, PFS
NCT03321643	Atezolizumab and Rituximab and Oxaliplatin and Gemcitabine	Phase I open-label sign group assignment clinical trial	30 transformed DLBCL (including RS)	Induction: [R + Ox + Gem] + A starting cycle 2. Maintenance: R + A	AEs (CTCAE v5), Maximal Tolerated Dose	CRR, best ORR, biomarker analysis
NCT02362035	Acalabrutinib and Pembrolizumab	Phase Ib/II open label clinical trial	161 B-cell malignancies	UD	AEs	UD
NCT02535286	Ublituximab and Umbralisib and Cosibelimab	Phase I open label clinical trial	20 R/R CLL or RS	Ub followed by maintenance infusions of Um. + Cos	AEs	ORR
NCT03121534	Blinatumomab	Phase II open label clinical trial	10 RS	Induction 8 weeks. If objective response: consolidation 4 weeks	ORR	Toxicity
NCT03931642	R-CHOP and Blinatumomab	Phase II open label clinical trial	35 RS (DLBCL)	2 R-CHOP cycles then Bl if CR and no measurable lesion	CRR	AEs (CTCAE v4), OR, CR
NCT02924402	XmAb13676	Phase I open label clinical trial	66 non B-cell NHL, CLL/SLL/RS.	XmAb13676 administered weekly up to 8 weeks	AEs (CTCAE v4), max tolerated or recommended dose	1

A, atezolizumab (anti-PD-L1); Ac, acalabrutinib (BTK inhibitor); AEs, adverse events; CTCAE, Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events; allo-SCT, allogeneic stem cell transplantation; BM, bone marrow; BI, blinatumomab (anti-CD19 and anti-CD3 bispecific antibody); BTK; Bruton tyrosine kinase; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia; Cop, copanilisib (PI3Kα, δ inhibitor); Cos, cosibelimab (anti-PD-L1); CR, complete response; CRR, complete response rate; D, duvelisib (inhibitor of PI3Kδ and PI3Ky); DLBCL, diffuse large B cell lymphoma; FL, follicular lymphoma; DP, disease progression; Gem, gemcitabine; I, ibrutinib (BTK inhibitor); Id, idelalisib (PI3Kδ Inhibitor); IWCLL, International Workshop on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia; N, nivolumab (anti-PD-1); NHL, non-Hodgkin lymphoma; O, obinutuzumab (anti-CD20); ORR, overall response rate; OS, overall survival; Ox, oxaliplatin; P, pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1); PFS, progression-free survival; R, rituximab (anti-CD20); R-CHOP, rituximab, cyclophosphamide, hydroxydaunorubicin, oncovin, prednisone; R/R, relapsed or refractory; RS, Richter syndrome; SLL, small lymphoma; T, tislelizumab (anti-PD-1); TTNT, time to next treatment; Ub, ublituximab (anti-CD20); UD, undetermined; Um, umbralisib (anti-PI3Kδ and CK1e); UT, unacceptable toxicity; V, venetoclax (anti-BCL-2); X, XmAb13676 (anti-CD20 and anti-CD2 bispecific antibody); Z, zanubrutinib (BTK inhibitor). Augé et al.

Microenvironment Remodeling in Richter Syndrome

Other immunotherapies have already been successfully tested in hematological diseases such as bispecific CD19-CD3 antibodies (Blinatumomab). Bispecific antibodies transiently induce a synapse between target cancer B-cells and cytotoxic TLs, resulting in TL activation and lysis of the malignant B-cell. This molecule provided a CR at 35 days of treatment in a case report: it involved a 63-year-old man whose RS was refractory to two courses of R-ICE (Rituximab- Ifosfamide-Cisplatine-Etoposide) followed by a course of R-DHAP (Rituximab-Cytarabine-Cisplatine-Dexamethasone) + Ibrutinib. In the aftermath, he was able to benefit from an allogeneic SCT and remained in CR for 130 days of treatment. Of note is the occurrence of grade 3 encephalopathy on day 16, which resolved after a dose reduction (134). A phase II clinical trial evaluating the overall response rate and potential toxicity of Blinatumomab in 10 RS patients is currently underway and results will be available in 2021 (Thompson PA et al., NCT03121534). In the BLINART clinical trial, also currently underway (NCT03931642), Blinatumomab is administered after 2 courses of debulking R-CHOP in 35 RS cases. The hypothesis proposed is the improvement of the CR rate at 8 weeks of treatment. New bispecific antibodies are currently tested. An anti-CD20 combined with an anti-CD3 antibody (XmAb13676) is currently in a phase I study in two groups: patients with non-CLL B-cell malignancies and patients with CLL/SLL/RS (NCT02924402) (Table 3, Figure 7). Finally, Ipilimumab, an anti-CTLA-4 antibody, has been used in phase I studies in a few

relapsed HL cases (135), and in R/R Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma cases (136). There is no ongoing clinical trial or published clinical trial about RS to date.

CONCLUSION

A deeper characterization of RS is ongoing with the advent of novel sequencing and staining technologies, which can lead to a better understanding of this difficult-to-treat entity. Recent data enlighten the role of TL infiltration and immune system in RS specimens. TL exhaustion is driven in part by immune checkpoint deregulation, including high expression levels of checkpoint inhibitory molecules on TLs, such as PD-1, and expression of ligands for these molecules on CLL cells. Recent data showed that PD-1 expression by neoplastic B-cell was weak in both CLL and *de novo* DLBCL and strong in RS. Interestingly, this observation was linked to clinical responses to the PD-1 blocking antibody Pembrolizumab in RS, whereas no clear activity was observed in CLL. Furthermore, high tumor cell mutational burden is emerging as a predictor of improved therapeutic response to these agents. This could increase the neoantigens load at RS, leading to an immune response.

Exploring the expression of the PD-1/PD-L1/PD-L2 axis components in the immune ecosystem of RS at diagnosis is of importance, both for evaluating these potential biomarkers and to initiate a therapy specifically targeting the checkpoint inhibitors.



FIGURE 7 | Monoclonal antibodies targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis (checkpoint inhibitors) and bispecific antibodies commercially available or in published/ongoing clinical trials in RS. Monoclonal antibodies targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis can be divided into two groups: i) against PD-1 receptor and ii) against its ligands PD-L1 or PD-L2. Anti-PD-1 antibodies are mainly represented by Nivolumab: a full human IgG4, and Pembrolizumab: a humanized IgG4. Tislelizumab (BGB-A317) is a new humanized IgG4 anti-PD-1 antibody. Anti-PD-L1 antibodies are mainly represented by Atezolizumab, a humanized antibody. Cosibelimab (TG-1501) is a novel, fully humanized anti-PD-L1 antibody. Bispecific antibodies are designed to direct cytotoxic TLs expressing CD3 towards B-cells expressing CD19 (Blinatumomab) or CD20 (XmAb13676). Breg, Regulatory B Lymphocyte; MHC, Major Histocompatibility Complex; PD-1, Programmed Death 1; PD-L1, Programmed Death Ligand 1; PD-L2, Programmed Death Ligand 2; TL, T Lymphocyte. ¹: commercially approved in other hemopathies (relapsed Hodgkin Lymphoma for Nivolumab and Pembrolizumab, relapsed/refractory Acute B Lymphoid Leukemia for Blinatumomab). ²: clinical trials published in RS. ³: clinical trials underway in RS.

These immunotherapies are already approved in relapsed HL and are currently under evaluation in multiple therapeutic trials focusing on B-cell malignancies. Positive results in CLL, DLBCL, FL, and HL make them prone to be included in future therapeutic strategies. Regarding RS, the expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 is variable according to the series, and the data are discordant concerning the location of these membrane proteins. Regarding therapeutic trials, they seem rather encouraging, with better overall response rates than in CLL. PD-1/PD-L1 level measurements using IHC should be systematic at RS diagnosis to tailor the use of these immunotherapies, already widely used in

REFERENCES

- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin (2018) 68(1):7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21442
- Campo E, Swerdlow SH, Harris NL, Pileri S, Stein H, Jaffe ES. The 2008 WHO classification of lymphoid neoplasms and beyond: evolving concepts and practical applications. *Blood* (2011) 117(19):5019–32. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2011-01-293050
- Rai KR, Sawitsky A, Cronkite EP, Chanana AD, Levy RN, Pasternack BS. Clinical staging of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (1975) 46(2):219– 34. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-737650
- Binet JL, Auquier A, Dighiero G, Chastang C, Piguet H, Goasguen J, et al. A new prognostic classification of chronic lymphocytic leukemia derived from a multivariate survival analysis. *Cancer* (1981) 48(1):198–206. doi: 10.1002/ 1097-0142(19810701)48:1<198
- Damle RN, Wasil T, Fais F, Ghiotto F, Valetto A, Allen SL, et al. Ig V gene mutation status and CD38 expression as novel prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (1999) 94(6):1840–7. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V94.6.1840.418k06_1840_1847
- Hamblin TJ, Davis Z, Gardiner A, Oscier DG, Stevenson FK. Unmutated Ig V(H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (1999) 94(6):1848–54.
- Rossi D, Spina V, Cerri M, Rasi S, Deambrogi C, De Paoli L, et al. Stereotyped B-Cell Receptor Is an Independent Risk Factor of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Transformation to Richter Syndrome. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(13):4415–22. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-3266
- Stamatopoulos K, Belessi C, Moreno C, Boudjograh M, Guida G, Smilevska T, et al. Over 20% of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia carry stereotyped receptors: Pathogenetic implications and clinical correlations. *Blood* (2007) 109(1):259–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-012948
- Döhner H, Stilgenbauer S, Benner A, Leupolt E, Kröber A, Bullinger L, et al. Genomic aberrations and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med (2000) 343(26):1910–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200012283432602
- Edelmann J, Holzmann K, Miller F, Winkler D, Bühler A, Zenz T, et al. High-resolution genomic profiling of chronic lymphocytic leukemia reveals new recurrent genomic alterations. *Blood* (2012) 120(24):4783–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-423517
- Puente XS, Pinyol M, Quesada V, Conde L, Ordóñez GR, Villamor N, et al. Whole-genome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Nature* (2011) 475(7354):101–5. doi: 10.1038/ nature10113
- Quesada V, Conde L, Villamor N, Ordóñez GR, Jares P, Bassaganyas L, et al. Exome sequencing identifies recurrent mutations of the splicing factor SF3B1 gene in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Nat Genet* (2011) 44(1):47– 52. doi: 10.1038/ng.1032
- Landau DA, Carter SL, Stojanov P, McKenna A, Stevenson K, Lawrence MS, et al. Evolution and Impact of Subclonal Mutations in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Cell* (2013) 152(4):714–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.019
- Landau DA, Tausch E, Taylor-Weiner AN, Stewart C, Reiter JG, Bahlo J, et al. and their evolution in progression and relapse. *Nature* (2015) 526 (7574):525–30. doi: 10.1038/nature15395
- 15. Puente XS, Beà S, Valdés-Mas R, Villamor N, Gutiérrez-Abril J, Martín-Subero JI, et al. Non-coding recurrent mutations in chronic

oncology in the context of new clinical trials precisely developed for this indication.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB and PF supervised the manuscript. JB, HA, and RM selected and reviewed the papers. JB, HA, SH, and ABN made the figures and tables. JB, HA, SH, PF, and ABN wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

lymphocytic leukaemia. Nature (2015) 526(7574):519-24. doi: 10.1038/ nature14666

- Hallek M, Cheson BD, Catovsky D, Caligaris-Cappio F, Dighiero G, Döhner H, et al. iwCLL guidelines for diagnosis, indications for treatment, response assessment, and supportive management of CLL. *Blood* (2018) 131 (25):2745–60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-09-806398
- 17. Tsimberidou A-M, Keating MJ. Richter syndrome. Cancer (2005) 103 (2):216-28. doi: 10.1002/cncr.20773
- Tsimberidou A-M, O'Brien S, Khouri I, Giles FJ, Kantarjian HM, Champlin R, et al. Clinical outcomes and prognostic factors in patients with Richter's syndrome treated with chemotherapy or chemoimmunotherapy with or without stem-cell transplantation. *J Clin Oncol* (2006) 24(15):2343–51. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.05.0187
- Rossi D, Cerri M, Capello D, Deambrogi C, Rossi FM, Zucchetto A, et al. Biological and clinical risk factors of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia transformation to Richter syndrome. *Br J Haematol* (2008) 142(2):202–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2008.07166.x
- Rossi D, Spina V, Deambrogi C, Rasi S, Laurenti L, Stamatopoulos K, et al. The genetics of Richter syndrome reveals disease heterogeneity and predicts survival after transformation. *Blood* (2011) 117(12):3391–401. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2010-09-302174
- Rossi D, Spina V, Forconi F, Capello D, Fangazio M, Rasi S, et al. Molecular history of Richter syndrome: origin from a cell already present at the time of chronic lymphocytic leukemia diagnosis. *Int J Cancer* (2012) 130(12):3006– 10. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26322
- 22. Parikh SA, Rabe KG, Call TG, Zent CS, Habermann TM, Ding W, et al. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (Richter syndrome) in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL): a cohort study of newly diagnosed patients. *Br J Haematol* (2013) 162(6):774–82. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12458
- Fangazio M, De Paoli L, Rossi D, Gaidano G. Predictive markers and driving factors behind Richter syndrome development. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther* (2011) 11(3):433–42. doi: 10.1586/era.10.237
- 24. Solh M, Rai KR, Peterson BL, Kolitz JE, Appelbaum FR, Tallman MS, et al. The impact of initial fludarabine therapy on transformation to Richter syndrome or prolymphocytic leukemia in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia: analysis of an intergroup trial (CALGB 9011). *Leuk Lymphoma* (2013) 54(2):252–4. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2012.710327
- 25. Catovsky D, Richards S, Matutes E, Oscier D, Dyer M, Bezares RF, et al. Assessment of fludarabine plus cyclophosphamide for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (the LRF CLL4 Trial): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2007) 370(9583):230–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61125-8
- Byrd JC, Furman RR, Coutre SE, Flinn IW, Burger JA, Blum KA, et al. Targeting BTK with ibrutinib in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369(1):32–42. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1215637
- Furman RR, Sharman JP, Coutre SE, Cheson BD, Pagel JM, Hillmen P, et al. Idelalisib and rituximab in relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med (2014) 370(11):997–1007. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1315226
- Roberts AW, Davids MS, Pagel JM, Kahl BS, Puvvada SD, Gerecitano JF, et al. Targeting BCL2 with Venetoclax in Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2016) 374(4):311–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1513257
- Woyach JA, Ruppert AS, Guinn D, Lehman A, Blachly JS, Lozanski A, et al. BTKC481S-Mediated Resistance to Ibrutinib in Chronic Lymphocytic

Leukemia. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35(13):1437-43. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2016.70.2282

- Anderson MA, Tam C, Lew TE, Juneja S, Juneja M, Westerman D, et al. Clinicopathological features and outcomes of progression of CLL on the BCL2 inhibitor venetoclax. *Blood* (2017) 129(25):3362–70. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2017-01-763003
- Scandurra M, Rossi D, Deambrogi C, Rancoita PM, Chigrinova E, Mian M, et al. Genomic profiling of Richter's syndrome: recurrent lesions and differences with de novo diffuse large B-cell lymphomas. *Hematol Oncol* (2010) 28(2):62–7. doi: 10.1002/hon.932
- Chigrinova E, Rinaldi A, Kwee I, Rossi D, Rancoita PMV, Strefford JC, et al. Two main genetic pathways lead to the transformation of chronic lymphocytic leukemia to Richter syndrome. *Blood* (2013) 122(15):2673– 82. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-489518
- 33. Mao Z, Quintanilla-Martinez L, Raffeld M, Richter M, Krugmann J, Burek C, et al. IgVH Mutational Status and Clonality Analysis of Richter's Transformation: diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and Hodgkin lymphoma in association with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) represent 2 different pathways of disease evolution. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2007) 31 (10):1605–14. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e31804bdaf8
- 34. Wang Y, Tschautscher MA, Rabe KG, Call TG, Leis JF, Kenderian SS, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of Richter transformation: experience of 204 patients from a single center. *Haematologica* (2020) 105(3):765–73. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2019.224121
- 35. Rinaldi A, Mensah AA, Kwee I, Forconi F, Orlandi EM, Lucioni M, et al. Promoter methylation patterns in Richter syndrome affect stem-cell maintenance and cell cycle regulation and differ from de novo diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Br J Haematol (2013) 163(2):194–204. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12515
- 36. Fabbri G, Khiabanian H, Holmes AB, Wang J, Messina M, Mullighan CG, et al. Genetic lesions associated with chronic lymphocytic leukemia transformation to Richter syndrome. J Exp Med (2013) 210(11):2273–88. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131448
- Rossi D. XIII. Molecular pathogenesis of transformed lymphomas. *Hematol Oncol* (2015) 33 Suppl 1:70–4. doi: 10.1002/hon.2221
- Parikh SA, Kay NE, Shanafelt TD. How we treat Richter syndrome. *Blood* (2014) 123(11):1647–57. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-516229
- Zeeberg BR, Feng W, Wang G, Wang MD, Fojo AT, Sunshine M, et al. GoMiner: a resource for biological interpretation of genomic and proteomic data. *Genome Biol* (2003) 4(4):R28. doi: 10.1186/gb-2003-4-4-r28
- Yu G, He Q-Y. ReactomePA: an R/Bioconductor package for reactome pathway analysis and visualization. *Mol Biosyst* (2016) 12(2):477–9. doi: 10.1039/c5mb00663e
- Cunningham F, Achuthan P, Akanni W, Allen J, Amode MR, Armean IM, et al. Ensembl 2019. Nucleic Acids Res (2019) 47(D1):D745–51. doi: 10.1093/ nar/gky1113
- Amberger JS, Bocchini CA, Schiettecatte F, Scott AF, Hamosh A. OMIM.org: Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM[®]), an online catalog of human genes and genetic disorders. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2015) 43(Database issue):D789–98. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku1205
- Lambert SA, Jolma A, Campitelli LF, Das PK, Yin Y, Albu M, et al. The Human Transcription Factors. *Cell* (2018) 172(4):650–65. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2018.01.029
- Zhao M, Sun J, Zhao Z. TSGene: a web resource for tumor suppressor genes. Nucleic Acids Res (2013) 41(Database issue):D970–6. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gks937
- 45. Liu Z, Hou J, Ren L, He J, Sun B, Sun L-Z, et al. Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type O expression in the tumor niche correlates with reduced tumor growth, angiogenesis, circulating tumor cells and metastasis of breast cancer. *Oncol Rep* (2015) 33(4):1908–14. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.3772
- Hou J, Deng L, Zhuo H, Lin Z, Chen Y, Jiang R, et al. PTPROt maintains T cell immunity in the microenvironment of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Mol Cell Biol* (2015) 7(4):338–50. doi: 10.1093/jmcb/mjv047
- Steiner DF, Thomas MF, Hu JK, Yang Z, Babiarz JE, Allen CDC, et al. MicroRNA-29 regulates T-box transcription factors and interferon-γ production in helper T cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35(2):169–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2011.07.009

- Gagnon JD, Kageyama R, Shehata HM, Fassett MS, Mar DJ, Wigton EJ, et al. miR-15/16 Restrain Memory T Cell Differentiation, Cell Cycle, and Survival. Cell Rep (2019) 28(8):2169–81.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep. 2019.07.064
- Liu Q, Fu H, Sun F, Zhang H, Tie Y, Zhu J, et al. miR-16 family induces cell cycle arrest by regulating multiple cell cycle genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2008) 36(16):5391–404. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn522
- Marcais A, Blevins R, Graumann J, Feytout A, Dharmalingam G, Carroll T, et al. microRNA-mediated regulation of mTOR complex components facilitates discrimination between activation and anergy in CD4 T cells. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(11):2281–95. doi: 10.1084/jem.20132059
- Yang J, Liu R, Deng Y, Qian J, Lu Z, Wang Y, et al. MiR-15a/16 deficiency enhances anti-tumor immunity of glioma-infiltrating CD8+ T cells through targeting mTOR. *Int J Cancer* (2017) 141(10):2082–92. doi: 10.1002/ ijc.30912
- Singh Y, Garden OA, Lang F, Cobb BS. MicroRNA-15b/16 Enhances the Induction of Regulatory T Cells by Regulating the Expression of Rictor and mTOR. *J Immunol* (2015) 195(12):5667–77. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401875
- Ibrahim M, Scozzi D, Toth KA, Ponti D, Kreisel D, Menna C, et al. Naive CD4+ T Cells Carrying a TLR2 Agonist Overcome TGF-β-Mediated Tumor Immune Evasion. J Immunol (2018) 200(2):847–56. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1700396
- 54. Challa-Malladi M, Lieu YK, Califano O, Holmes AB, Bhagat G, Murty VV, et al. Combined genetic inactivation of β2-Microglobulin and CD58 reveals frequent escape from immune recognition in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20(6):728–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.11.006
- 55. Biao M, Hongcheng C, Chenglong M, Guangfeng G, Tian Z, Qian L, et al. The SIAH2-NRF1 axis spatially regulates tumor microenvironment remodeling for tumor progression. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):1034. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08618-y
- 56. Jiménez I, Carabia J, Bobillo S, Palacio C, Abrisqueta P, Pagès C, et al. Repolarization of tumor infiltrating macrophages and increased survival in mouse primary CNS lymphomas after XPO1 and BTK inhibition. *J Neurooncol* (2020) 149(1):13–25. doi: 10.1007/s11060-020-03580-y
- Cortez MA, Ivan C, Valdecanas D, Wang X, Peltier HJ, Ye Y, et al. PDL1 Regulation by p53 via miR-34. J Natl Cancer Inst (2016) 108(1):djv303. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv303
- Goodman A, Patel SP, Kurzrock R. PD-1-PD-L1 immune-checkpoint blockade in B-cell lymphomas. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2017) 14(4):203–20. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.168
- Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):252-64. doi: 10.1038/ nrc3239
- Baumeister SH, Freeman GJ, Dranoff G, Sharpe AH. Coinhibitory Pathways in Immunotherapy for Cancer. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2016) 34(1):539–73. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112049
- Ribas A. Tumor Immunotherapy Directed at PD-1. N Engl J Med (2012) 366 (26):2517–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1205943
- Fenwick C, Joo V, Jacquier P, Noto A, Banga R, Perreau M, et al. T-cell exhaustion in HIV infection. *Immunol Rev* (2019) 292(1):149–63. doi: 10.1111/imr.12823
- Zou W, Chen L. Inhibitory B7-family molecules in the tumour microenvironment. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(6):467-77. doi: 10.1038/ nri2326
- Buchbinder EI, Desai A. CTLA-4 and PD-1 Pathways: Similarities, Differences, and Implications of Their Inhibition. *Am J Clin Oncol* (2016) 39(1):98–106. doi: 10.1097/COC.00000000000239
- Pauken KE, Wherry EJ. Overcoming T cell exhaustion in infection and cancer. *Trends Immunol* (2015) 36(4):265–76. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015. 02.008
- Mallett G, Laurence A, Amarnath S. Programmed Cell Death-1 Receptor (PD-1)-Mediated Regulation of Innate Lymphoid Cells. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(11):2836. doi: 10.3390/ijms20112836
- 67. Ishida M, Iwai Y, Tanaka Y, Okazaki T, Freeman GJ, Minato N, et al. Differential expression of PD-L1 and PD-L2, ligands for an inhibitory receptor PD-1, in the cells of lymphohematopoietic tissues. *Immunol Lett* (2002) 84(1):57–62. doi: 10.1016/s0165-2478(02)00142-6

- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:677-704. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090331
- 69. Yokosuka T, Takamatsu M, Kobayashi-Imanishi W, Hashimoto-Tane A, Azuma M, Saito T. Programmed cell death 1 forms negative costimulatory microclusters that directly inhibit T cell receptor signaling by recruiting phosphatase SHP2. J Exp Med (2012) 209(6):1201–17. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20112741
- Wherry EJ, Kurachi M. Molecular and cellular insights into T cell exhaustion. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(8):486–99. doi: 10.1038/nri3862
- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The three Es of cancer immunoediting. Annu Rev Immunol (2004) 22:329–60. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104803
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(11):836–48. doi: 10.1038/nri1961
- Dong H, Strome SE, Salomao DR, Tamura H, Hirano F, Flies DB, et al. Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: A potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nat Med* (2002) 8(8):793–800. doi: 10.1038/nm730
- Greaves P, Gribben JG. The role of B7 family molecules in hematologic malignancy. *Blood* (2013) 121(5):734–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-10-385591
- 75. Spranger S, Spaapen RM, Zha Y, Williams J, Meng Y, Ha TT, et al. Upregulation of PD-L1, IDO, and T(regs) in the melanoma tumor microenvironment is driven by CD8(+) T cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5 (200):200ra116. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006504
- Shi L, Chen S, Yang L, Li Y. The role of PD-1 and PD-L1 in T-cell immune suppression in patients with hematological malignancies. *J Hematol Oncol* (2013) 6(1):74. doi: 10.1186/1756-8722-6-74
- 77. Hashimoto M, Kamphorst AO, Im SJ, Kissick HT, Pillai RN, Ramalingam SS, et al. CD8 T Cell Exhaustion in Chronic Infection and Cancer: Opportunities for Interventions. *Annu Rev Med* (2018) 69(1):301–18. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-012017-043208
- Nguyen LT, Ohashi PS. Clinical blockade of PD1 and LAG3 potential mechanisms of action. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(1):45–56. doi: 10.1038/ nri3790
- Francisco LM, Salinas VH, Brown KE, Vanguri VK, Freeman GJ, Kuchroo VK, et al. PD-L1 regulates the development, maintenance, and function of induced regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(13):3015–29. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090847
- Gatalica Z, Snyder C, Maney T, Ghazalpour A, Holterman DA, Xiao N, et al. Programmed cell death 1 (PD-1) and its ligand (PD-L1) in common cancers and their correlation with molecular cancer type. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2014) 23(12):2965–70. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0654
- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. N Engl J Med (2012) 366(26):2443–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Scott DW, Gascoyne RD. The tumour microenvironment in B cell lymphomas. Nat Rev Cancer (2014) 14(8):517–34. doi: 10.1038/nrc3774
- Xu-Monette ZY, Zhou J, Young KH. PD-1 expression and clinical PD-1 blockade in B-cell lymphomas. *Blood* (2018) 131(1):68–83. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2017-07-740993.82
- 84. Green MR, Monti S, Rodig SJ, Juszczynski P, Currie T, O'Donnell E, et al. Integrative analysis reveals selective 9p24.1 amplification, increased PD-1 ligand expression, and further induction via JAK2 in nodular sclerosing Hodgkin lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2010) 116(17):3268–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-282780
- Roemer MGM, Advani RH, Ligon AH, Natkunam Y, Redd RA, Homer H, et al. PD-L1 and PD-L2 Genetic Alterations Define Classical Hodgkin Lymphoma and Predict Outcome. J Clin Oncol (2016) 34(23):2690–7. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.66.4482
- Roemer MGM, Advani RH, Redd RA, Pinkus GS, Natkunam Y, Ligon AH, et al. Classical Hodgkin Lymphoma with Reduced β2M/MHC Class I Expression Is Associated with Inferior Outcome Independent of 9p24.1 Status. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4(11):910–6. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0201
- Cycon KA, Rimsza LM, Murphy SP. Alterations in CIITA constitute a common mechanism accounting for downregulation of MHC class II expression in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). *Exp Hematol* (2009) 37(2):184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2008.10.001

- Kline J, Godfrey J, Ansell SM. The Immune Landscape and Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy in Lymphoma. *Blood* (2020) 135 (8):523–33. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000847
- Beyer M, Kochanek M, Darabi K, Popov A, Jensen M, Endl E, et al. Reduced frequencies and suppressive function of CD4+CD25hi regulatory T cells in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia after therapy with fludarabine. *Blood* (2005) 106(6):2018–25. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-02-0642
- 90. Tarte K. Role of the microenvironment across histological subtypes of NHL. Hematol Am Soc Hematol Educ Program (2017) 2017(1):610–7. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2017.1.610
- Muenst S, Hoeller S, Willi N, Dirnhofer S, Tzankov A. Diagnostic and Prognostic Utility of PD-1 In B Cell Lymphomas. *Dis Markers* (2010) 29 (1):47–53. doi: 10.3233/DMA-2010-0725
- 92. Menter T, Bodmer-Haecki A, Dirnhofer S, Tzankov A. Evaluation of the diagnostic and prognostic value of PDL1 expression in Hodgkin and B-cell lymphomas. *Hum Pathol* (2016) 54:17–24. doi: 10.1016/ j.humpath.2016.03.005
- Panjwani PK, Charu V, DeLisser M, Molina-Kirsch H, Natkunam Y, Zhao S. Programmed death-1 ligands PD-L1 and PD-L2 show distinctive and restricted patterns of expression in lymphoma subtypes. *Hum Pathol* (2018) 71:91–9. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2017.10.029
- 94. Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple inhibitory ligands induce impaired T-cell immunologic synapse function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia that can be blocked with lenalidomide: establishing a reversible immune evasion mechanism in human cancer. *Blood* (2012) 120 (7):1412–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-411678
- 95. Xerri L, Chetaille B, Seriari N, Attias C, Guillaume Y, Arnoulet C, et al. Programmed death 1 is a marker of angioimmunoblastic T-cell lymphoma and B-cell small lymphocytic lymphoma/chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Hum Pathol* (2008) 39(7):1050–8. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2007.11.012
- Brusa D, Serra S, Coscia M, Rossi D, D'Arena G, Laurenti L, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis contributes to T-cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2013) 98(6):953–63. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.077537
- 97. Grzywnowicz M, Karczmarczyk A, Skorka K, Zajac M, Zaleska J, Chocholska S, et al. Expression of Programmed Death 1 Ligand in Different Compartments of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Acta Haematol (2015) 134(4):255–62. doi: 10.1159/000430980
- Grzywnowicz M, Zaleska J, Mertens D, Tomczak W, Wlasiuk P, Kosior K, et al. Programmed Death-1 and Its Ligand Are Novel Immunotolerant Molecules Expressed on Leukemic B Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *PloS One* (2012) 7(4):e35178. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035178
- Behdad A, Griffin B, Chen Y-H, Ma S, Kelemen K, Lu X, et al. PD-1 is highly expressed by neoplastic B-cells in Richter transformation. *Br J Haematol* (2019) 185(2):370–3. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15514
- 100. He R, Ding W, Viswanatha DS, Chen D, Shi M, Van Dyke D, et al. PD-1 Expression in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia/Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma (CLL/SLL) and Large B-cell Richter Transformation (DLBCL-RT): A Characteristic Feature of DLBCL-RT and Potential Surrogate Marker for Clonal Relatedness. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2018) 42(7):843–54. doi: 10.1097/ PAS.000000000001077
- 101. Riches JC, Davies JK, McClanahan F, Fatah R, Iqbal S, Agrawal S, et al. T cells from CLL patients exhibit features of T-cell exhaustion but retain capacity for cytokine production. *Blood* (2013) 121(9):1612–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-457531
- 102. Ding W, LaPlant BR, Call TG, Parikh SA, Leis JF, He R, et al. Pembrolizumab in patients with CLL and Richter transformation or with relapsed CLL. *Blood* (2017) 129(26):3419–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-765685
- 103. Younes A, Brody J, Carpio C, Lopez-Guillermo A, Ben-Yehuda D, Ferhanoglu B, et al. Safety and activity of ibrutinib in combination with nivolumab in patients with relapsed non-Hodgkin lymphoma or chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: a phase 1/2a study. *Lancet Haematol* (2019) 6(2): e67–78. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(18)30217-5
- 104. Burger JA, Gribben JG. The microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and other B cell malignancies: Insight into disease biology and new targeted therapies. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2014) 24:71–81. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2013.08.011
- 105. Ramsay AG, Johnson AJ, Lee AM, Gorgün G, Dieu RL, Blum W, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia T cells show impaired immunological

synapse formation that can be reversed with an immunomodulating drug. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(7):2427–37. doi: 10.1172/JCI35017

- 106. Hofbauer JP, Heyder C, Denk U, Kocher T, Holler C, Trapin D, et al. Development of CLL in the TCL1 transgenic mouse model is associated with severe skewing of the T-cell compartment homologous to human CLL. *Leukemia* (2011) 25(9):1452–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.111
- 107. McClanahan F, Hanna B, Miller S, Clear AJ, Lichter P, Gribben JG, et al. PD-L1 checkpoint blockade prevents immune dysfunction and leukemia development in a mouse model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2015) 126(2):203–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-622936
- 108. McClanahan F, Sharp TG, Gribben JG. Catching up with solid tumor oncology: what is the evidence for a prognostic role of programmed cell death-ligand 1/programmed cell death-1 expression in B-cell lymphomas? *Haematologica* (2016) 101(10):1144–58. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.145904
- 109. Giné E, Martinez A, Villamor N, López-Guillermo A, Camos M, Martinez D, et al. Expanded and highly active proliferation centers identify a histological subtype of chronic lymphocytic leukemia ("accelerated" chronic lymphocytic leukemia) with aggressive clinical behavior. *Haematologica* (2010) 95 (9):1526–33. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2010.022277
- 110. Xiao X, Lao X-M, Chen M-M, Liu R-X, Wei Y, Ouyang F-Z, et al. PD-1 ^{hi} Identifies a Novel Regulatory B-cell Population in Human Hepatoma That Promotes Disease Progression. *Cancer Discov* (2016) 6(5):546–59. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1408
- Mauri C, Menon M. Human regulatory B cells in health and disease: therapeutic potential. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(3):772–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI85113
- 112. Zhang Y, Gallastegui N, Rosenblatt JD. Regulatory B cells in anti-tumor immunity. Int Immunol (2015) 27(10):521–30. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxv034
- 113. Wang X, Wang G, Wang Z, Liu B, Han N, Li J, et al. PD-1-expressing B cells suppress CD4+ and CD8+ T cells via PD-1/PD-L1-dependent pathway. *Mol Immunol* (2019) 109:20–6. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2019.02.009
- Jelinek T, Mihalyova J, Kascak M, Duras J, Hajek R. PD-1/PD-L1 inhibitors in haematological malignancies: update 2017. *Immunology* (2017) 152 (3):357–71. doi: 10.1111/imm.12788
- Ansell SM. Hodgkin Lymphoma: Diagnosis and Treatment. Mayo Clin Proc (2015) 90(11):1574–83. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2015.07.005
- 116. Younes A, Santoro A, Shipp M, Zinzani PL, Timmerman JM, Ansell S, et al. Nivolumab for classical Hodgkin's lymphoma after failure of both autologous stem-cell transplantation and brentuximab vedotin: a multicentre, multicohort, single-arm phase 2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2016) 17 (9):1283–94. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30167-X
- 117. Chen R, Zinzani PL, Fanale MA, Armand P, Johnson NA, Brice P, et al. Phase II Study of the Efficacy and Safety of Pembrolizumab for Relapsed/ Refractory Classic Hodgkin Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2017) 35(19):2125–32. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.72.1316
- Kwok G, Yau TCC, Chiu JW, Tse E, Kwong Y-L. Pembrolizumab (Keytruda). *Hum Vaccin Immunother* (2016) 12(11):2777–89. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2016.1199310
- 119. Wang L, Qin W, Huo Y-J, Li X, Shi Q, Rasko JEJ, et al. Advances in targeted therapy for malignant lymphoma. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2020) 5 (1):15. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-0113-2
- 120. Abrisqueta P, Delgado J, Alcoceba M, Oliveira AC, Loscertales J, Hernández-Rivas JA, et al. Clinical outcome and prognostic factors of patients with Richter syndrome: real-world study of the Spanish Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Study Group (GELLC). *Br J Haematol* (2020). doi: 10.1111/bjh.16748
- 121. Al-Sawaf O, Robrecht S, Bahlo J, Fink AM, Cramer P, v Tresckow J, et al. Richter transformation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)—a pooled analysis of German CLL Study Group (GCLLSG) front line treatment trials. *Leukemia* (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0797-x
- 122. Langerbeins P, Busch R, Anheier N, Dürig J, Bergmann M, Goebeler M-E, et al. Poor efficacy and tolerability of R-CHOP in relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia and Richter transformation. *Am J Hematol* (2014) 89 (12):E239–43. doi: 10.1002/ajh.23841
- 123. Tsimberidou AM, Wierda WG, Plunkett W, Kurzrock R, O'Brien S, Wen S, et al. Phase I-II study of oxaliplatin, fludarabine, cytarabine, and rituximab combination therapy in patients with Richter's syndrome or fludarabine-

refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *J Clin Oncol* (2008) 26(2):196–203. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.11.8513

- 124. Tsimberidou AM, Wierda WG, Wen S, Plunkett W, O'Brien S, Kipps TJ, et al. Phase I-II clinical trial of oxaliplatin, fludarabine, cytarabine, and rituximab therapy in aggressive relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia or Richter syndrome. *Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk* (2013) 13 (5):568–74. doi: 10.1016/j.clml.2013.03.012
- 125. Cwynarski K, van Biezen A, de Wreede L, Stilgenbauer S, Bunjes D, Metzner B, et al. Autologous and allogeneic stem-cell transplantation for transformed chronic lymphocytic leukemia (Richter's syndrome): A retrospective analysis from the chronic lymphocytic leukemia subcommittee of the chronic leukemia working party and lymphoma working party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30 (18):2211–7. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.37.4108
- 126. Rossi D, Spina V, Gaidano G. Biology and treatment of Richter syndrome. Blood (2018) 131(25):2761–72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-01-791376
- 127. Tsang M, Shanafelt TD, Call TG, Ding W, Chanan-Khan A, Leis JF, et al. The efficacy of ibrutinib in the treatment of Richter syndrome. *Blood* (2015) 125 (10):1676–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-12-610782
- 128. Rogers KA, Huang Y, Dotson E, Lundberg J, Andritsos LA, Awan FT, et al. Use of PD-1 (PDCD1) inhibitors for the treatment of Richter syndrome: experience at a single academic centre. Br J Haematol (2019) 185(2):363–6. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15508
- 129. Jain N, Basu S, Thompson PA, Ohanian M, Ferrajoli A, Pemmaraju N, et al. Nivolumab Combined with Ibrutinib for CLL and Richter Transformation: A Phase II Trial. *Blood* (2016) 128(22):59–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.V128.22.59.59
- Rosenwald A, Staudt LM. Gene expression profiling of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2003) 44 Suppl 3:S41–7. doi: 10.1080/ 10428190310001623775
- 131. Shi M, Roemer MGM, Chapuy B, Liao X, Sun H, Pinkus GS, et al. Expression of programmed cell death 1 ligand 2 (PD-L2) is a distinguishing feature of primary mediastinal (thymic) large B-cell lymphoma and associated with PDCD1LG2 copy gain. Am J Surg Pathol (2014) 38(12):1715–23. doi: 10.1097/PAS.00000000000297
- 132. Yearley JH, Gibson C, Yu N, Moon C, Murphy E, Juco J, et al. PD-L2 Expression in Human Tumors: Relevance to Anti-PD-1 Therapy in Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(12):3158–67. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1761
- 133. Tanegashima T, Togashi Y, Azuma K, Kawahara A, Ideguchi K, Sugiyama D, et al. Immune Suppression by PD-L2 against Spontaneous and Treatment-Related Antitumor Immunity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(15):4808–19. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-3991
- 134. Alderuccio JP, Mackrides N, Chapman JR, Vega F, Lossos IS. Rapid complete response to blinatumomab as a successful bridge to allogeneic stem cell transplantation in a case of refractory Richter syndrome. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2019) 60(1):230–3. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2018.1461862
- 135. Sakamuri D, Glitza IC, Betancourt Cuellar SL, Subbiah V, Fu S, Tsimberidou AM, et al. Phase I Dose-Escalation Study of Anti-CTLA-4 Antibody Ipilimumab and Lenalidomide in Patients with Advanced Cancers. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2018) 17(3):671–6. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0673
- 136. Tuscano JM, Maverakis E, Groshen S, Tsao-Wei D, Luxardi G, Merleev AA, et al. A Phase I Study of the Combination of Rituximab and Ipilimumab in Patients with Relapsed/Refractory B-Cell Lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2019) 25(23):7004–13. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0438

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Augé, Notarantonio, Morizot, Quinquenel, Fornecker, Hergalant, Feugier and Broséus. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Toward Therapeutic Targeting of Bone Marrow Leukemic Niche Protective Signals in B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

Marjorie C. Delahaye[‡], Kaoutar-Insaf Salem[‡], Jeoffrey Pelletier, Michel Aurrand-Lions[†] and Stéphane J. C. Mancini^{*†}

Aix Marseille University, CNRS, INSERM, Institut Paoli-Calmettes, CRCM, Marseille, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Rima Haddad, Université Paris-Saclay, France Simon Mendez-Ferrer, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Stéphane J. C. Mancini stephane.mancini@inserm.fr

[†]These authors share senior authorship

[‡]These authors share junior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematologic Malignancies, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 15 September 2020 Accepted: 23 November 2020 Published: 08 January 2021

Citation:

Delahaye MC, Salem K-I, Pelletier J, Aurrand-Lions M and Mancini SJC (2021) Toward Therapeutic Targeting of Bone Marrow Leukemic Niche Protective Signals in B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. Front. Oncol. 10:606540. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.606540 B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) represents the malignant counterpart of bone marrow (BM) differentiating B cells and occurs most frequently in children. While new combinations of chemotherapeutic agents have dramatically improved the prognosis for young patients, disease outcome remains poor after relapse or in adult patients. This is likely due to heterogeneity of B-ALL response to treatment which relies not only on intrinsic properties of leukemic cells, but also on extrinsic protective cues transmitted by the tumor cell microenvironment. Alternatively, leukemic cells have the capacity to shape their microenvironment towards their needs. Most knowledge on the role of protective niches has emerged from the identification of mesenchymal and endothelial cells controlling hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal or B cell differentiation. In this review, we discuss the current knowledge about B-ALL protective niches and the development of therapies targeting the crosstalk between leukemic cells and their microenvironment.

Keywords: B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia, bone marrow, leukemic niches, targeted treatments, B cell development

INTRODUCTION

B cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (B-ALL) is characterized by differentiation arrest and malignant transformation of developing bone marrow (BM) B cells. B-ALL is the most common cancer during childhood and is relatively well treated, with a 5-year overall survival reaching 90% (1). The treatment is largely based on chemotherapy and despite the good prognosis, 20% of children relapse with a survival rate of 30% (2). The incidence of B-ALL for adults is lower than for children but concerns a similar number of patients. While adult patient management has also improved and allowed the mortality rate to decrease, prognosis remains poor with 60% of relapse and a median survival of 3 to 6 months following salvage chemotherapies (3–5). Furthermore, there is a high risk to develop long term sequelae related to chemotherapy, including secondary neoplasms, chronic health conditions, or endocrine dysfunctions (6).

Leukemia transformation is driven by a combination of genetic abnormalities including translocations, MLL rearrangements, hyper and hypodiploid karyotypes, gene deletions, point mutations, which lead to aberrant expression of constitutively active or inactive regulatory proteins (7). In addition to cellautonomous alterations of key regulatory pathways, growing evidences support the influence of non-cell autonomous cues on tumor progression and resistance to therapies that are transmitted by cells of the BM microenvironment (8). These supportive cellular niches are composed of endothelial, immune, and mesenchymal cells [including C-X-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 12 (CXCL12) abundant reticular (CAR) cells, osteolineage cells, adipocytes] which have the capacity to secrete soluble factors and to establish direct contacts with leukemic cells. Adrenergic nerves were also found to regulate early hematopoiesis as the $\beta 2$ and $\beta 3$ adrenergic receptors expressed by the microenvironment are oppositely involved in myeloid and lymphoid skewing of hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) respectively (9, 10). Finally, noncell autonomous cues related to the hypoxic nature of the BM also play an important role in lymphoid development. However, despite tremendous progress made in the cellular and molecular characterization of normal differentiating B cell niches (11), the knowledge on B-ALL supportive niches remains relatively limited. Therefore, because of the influence of the microenvironment on leukemic growth and chemoresistance, targeting the leukemic niche could represent an attractive therapeutic adjuvant therapy to improve current treatments.

In this review, we present how the BM microenvironment can influence development and survival of normal and leukemic B cells. We also discuss the potential of new innovative therapeutic strategies targeting the crosstalk between leukemic cells and their microenvironment.

NORMAL B CELL NICHES

The organization of the different steps of B lymphopoiesis in the BM is conserved between mouse and human and allows the acquisition of a diverse repertoire of non-autoreactive B cell receptors (BCR). B cell commitment is definitive upon B cell progenitor (pre-pro-B cell) entry in the pro-B cell stage and Pax5 upregulation (12). In mouse and human, pre-pro-B cells are marked by the early expression of pre-BCR and BCR components (CD79a, VpreB) (13, 14). Upon Pax5 expression, pro-B cells upregulate CD19, RAG (recombination activating gene) proteins, and the terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) involved in immunoglobulin heavy chain (IgH) gene recombination. As recombination is a random process forming imprecise junctions between variable gene segments coding for the IgH chain, an initial step of interleukin-7 (IL7)-dependent proliferation increases the odds to express a functional IgH chain and thus increases diversity (15). The IgH chain is then expressed at the pre-B cell stage as part of a pre-BCR, following association with the surrogate light chain (SLC), composed of the invariant $\lambda 5$ (λ -like in human) and VpreB proteins, and with the CD79a/CD79b signaling complex. Again to increase diversity, Pre-BCR signaling induces clonal expansion of pre-B cells before the initiation of rearrangements of genes coding for the Ig light chain (IgL) in late pre-B cells. Finally, functional IgL chains are associated to the IgH chain at the immature B cell stage to form the BCR. Immature B cells expressing a non-autoreactive BCR can leave the BM to finish their maturation.

Different cellular niches control these differentiation steps through secretion of growth factors and direct cell-cell interactions. Among soluble factors, CXCL12 and IL7 are essential for early B cell development. The main function of CXCL12 is to retain early B cells in the BM, close to their nurturing niches, although a role on lymphopoiesis cannot be excluded as it synergizes with IL7 to induce early B cell proliferation and survival *in vitro* (16–19). In addition to its role as a chemoattractant, CXCL12 induces adhesion of pro-B and pre-B cells by activating the interaction of α 4 β 1-integrin (VLA-4) to VCAM-1 through a focal adhesion kinase (FAK)dependent pathway (20, 21). VLA-4 expression was indeed shown to be crucial for early B cell development in VLA4 deficient mice (22). Importantly, the decreased expression of CXCR4, receptor for CXCL12, favors immature B cells egress to the periphery through downregulation of VCAM-1-mediated adhesion (23).

In mouse, IL7 is responsible for pre-pro-B and early pro-B cell proliferation (24). In human, as B cells were still found in the peripheral blood of patients presenting defects in IL7 receptor (IL7R) signaling, it was first proposed that IL7 was not required for B cell development (25). However, recent results have demonstrated that IL7 induces human B cell development (26–28). This discrepancy is probably due to the presence of IL7-independent B cells originating from fetal life in patients compromised for IL7R signaling, similarly to what was observed for IL7^{-/-} mice (29).

BM niches for early differentiating B cells have been identified recently (Figure 1). The presence of CXCL12 expressing stromal cells associated to BM sinusoids was demonstrated using mice with a knock-in of Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) under the control of the Cxcl12 promoter (30, 31). Pre-pro-B cells were found in contact with these peri-sinusoidal stromal (PSS) cells (Figure 1) (30). Later on, PSS cells were found to co-express IL7 and to support the development of pro-B cells (32-34). Importantly, human pro-B cells identified based on TdT expression were also found to be located close to similar peri-vascular stromal cells expressing both CXCL12 and IL7 (34). The specific interactions of pro-B cells with their supportive niche were further deciphered through the analysis of the trans-interactome between the partner cells and led to the identification of the ligand-receptor pair Plxdc1/Nid1 (34). Plxdc1 is an adhesion molecule regulated by Pax5 (35) and specifically expressed by pro-B cells as compared to other B cell subsets, while Nidogen-1 is part of the extra-cellular matrix secreted by PSS cells. The analysis of $Nid1^{-/-}$ mice showed that this interaction was important for the retention in the supportive niche and consequently for the IL7-dependent proliferation of early pro-B cells. This result suggests that CXCL12/CXCR4 dependent chemoattraction and VLA-4/VCAM-1-dependent firm adhesion of pro-B cells to PSS cells depend on initial Plxdc1/Nidogen-1 interaction.

Upon differentiation towards the pre-B cell stage, cells were shown to be located in close vicinity to Galectin-1 (GAL1) expressing mesenchymal cells which are away from the sinusoids and IL7-expressing PSS cells (32). This result is consistent with the fact that pro-B cells need high IL7 concentrations to be maintained and proliferate, while a low dose favors pre-B cell differentiation and expansion (36). GAL1 is a ligand for the pre-BCR identified in both human and mouse which binds the λ 5 subunit through direct protein-protein interactions (37, 38). GAL1 is also a lectin that binds specifically β -galactosides and particularly glycosylated chains of the VLA-4, VLA-5, and LFA-1 integrins expressed by pre-B cells (39). Efficient differentiation of pre-B cells depends on specific



FIGURE 1 | Normal early B cell niches in the bone marrow. Both pre-pro-B and pro-B cells are in contact with peri-sinusoidal stromal cells which express high levels of CXCL12 and IL-7. Upon expression of the pre-BCR, pre-B cells move to IL-7^{low} regions close to Galectin-1 (GAL1) expressing stromal cells. GAL1- dependent cross-linking of the pre-BCR induces proliferation of pre-B cells before the initiation of IgL rearrangements. After expression of the BCR, non-autoreactive immature B cells leave the BM to achieve their maturation in the periphery.

contacts with stromal cells, involving tri-partite interactions between pre-BCR, GAL1, and integrins, and then binding of integrins with their respective ligands expressed at the surface of stromal cells (37–39).

The BM is a highly hypoxic organ with a local oxygen tension (pO₂) ranging from 1.3% away from the endosteum to 1.8% close to it (40). Hypoxia induces a cellular response through the stabilization of the hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1 α and -2 α and then activation of downstream effectors (41). It has been shown for human lymphoid-primed multipotent progenitors (LMPPs) that in vitro cultures in hypoxic versus normoxic conditions stabilize HIF- 1α and HIF- 2α and favor a lymphoid gene expression program (42). In mouse and human, hypoxia-dependent genes are highly expressed from pre-pro-B to pre-B cells and decreased in immature B cells (43). The B cell specific deletion of the Vhl (von Hippel-Lindau) gene, a E3 ubiquitin ligase which drives HIF proteins to degradation in presence of oxygen, leads to a constitutive activation of HIF proteins and a severe decrease in peripheral B cells. This phenotype was found to be HIF-1 α -dependent and linked to a decrease in IgH repertoire diversity from the pro-B cell stage, a block at the immature B cell stage and a lower BCR editing. Dysregulation of HIF-1α in immature B cells leads to a decreased BCR and CD19 expression and to a higher cell death related to an increased expression of the pro-apoptotic protein BIM. Consequently, HIF- 1α and more generally hypoxia contributes to the normal development of B cells.

LEUKEMIC B CELL NICHES

For a long time, it has been considered that tumorigenesis was a cell-autonomous process. However, it has been observed 50 years ago in the case of hematopoietic cell transplantation that some patients could develop donor cell leukemia although the donor

was presumably healthy and did not develop leukemia in the following months either (44). These observations were in accordance with the seed and soil theory which stands that similarly to plants, malignant cells ("seeds") likely need a favorable or permissive microenvironment ("soil") to grow (45).

B-ALL in co-culture with stromal cells were indeed found to be protected from apoptosis, confirming that genetic alterations are not sufficient for the maintenance of leukemic cells (46). Stromal cells were further shown to protect leukemic cells from chemotherapeutic drugs in vitro (47). More recent studies have highlighted in vivo the presence of dormant cells, called leukemia initiating cells (LIC), protected by the microenvironment, which are resistant to therapy and involved in relapse (48, 49). These cells, which were identified following transplantation of primary B-ALL to immunodeficient mice, are similar to leukemic cells isolated from patients with minimal residual disease (MRD). Furthermore, they present gene expression signatures of quiescent cells and most particularly of hematopoietic stem cells (HSC). These LIC are latent sub-clones, in a dormant state, which may be rare and present at the time of diagnosis or may be the result of sub-clonal evolution (48). Their quiescence is probably induced by interactions with the microenvironment as they start proliferating and become sensitive to chemotherapy in in vitro cultures, similarly to bulk leukemic cells (49). The influence of stromal cells was confirmed in patient derived xenograft (PDX) mice. Upon transplantation of B-ALL cells, the invasion of BM by blast cells led to progressive damages in the vascular structure and a loss in N-Cadherin⁺ cells likely composed of stromal and osteoblastic cells (50, 51). Interestingly, following Ara-C treatment, resistant leukemic cells were found associated to stromal cells phenotypically similar to CD51⁺LepR⁺NG2⁻ PSS cells (34). Furthermore, specific expression of the chemoattractant CCL3 by the resistant leukemic cells favored migration of the

CCR1⁺ protective stromal cells in their vicinity (**Figure 2**). These results confirm the existence of protective leukemic niches and that leukemic cells actively shape their own supportive niches under the pressure of chemotherapeutic treatments.

Stromal cells have the capacity to directly inhibit the effect of therapeutic agents used for B-ALL treatment. B-ALL strongly relies on extracellular sources of asparagine (Asn) related to their low expression level of Asn synthetase (ASNS) (52). Therapeutic treatments therefore take advantage of L-asparaginase to deprive leukemic cells from this crucial amino acid. Stromal cells were shown to express 20 times higher levels of ASNS than B-ALL and to be an important source of Asn probably at the origin of L-asparaginase treatment resistance (53). Interestingly, it has been observed that B-ALL in co-culture with stromal cells produce insulin-like growth factor (IGF) binding protein 7 (IGFBP7) associated with L-asparaginase resistance (54). In this study, the authors found that IGFBP7 enhanced ASNS expression and Asn secretion by stromal cells in an insulin/IGF dependent manner (**Figure 2**).

B-ALL subtypes still possess features of their normal differentiating B cell counterparts and their survival and

development therefore partly rely on similar signals transmitted by stromal cell niches. B-ALL express VLA-4 and the importance of the VLA-4/VCAM-1 pair in adhesion to stromal cells was first shown in vitro using blocking antibodies (47, 55). Furthermore, VCAM-1 over-expression in stromal cell lines enhanced B-ALL resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs in vitro while VLA-4 negative variants of the B-ALL cell line Nalm6 had a decreased capacity to engraft in immunodeficient mice (56, 57). Finally, the outcome was poorer in MRD⁺ childhood B-ALL with a high expression of VLA-4 (58). Integrin mediated adhesion involves the reciprocal activation of the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/AKT signaling pathway. In B-ALL, AKT activation is responsible for the inhibition of chemotherapy-induced apoptosis and was shown to be sustained by stromal cells in vitro (59). In addition, the PI3K inhibitors wortmannin or LY294002 impaired the protective effect of stromal cells (56, 59). Activation of AKT was associated with a poor prognosis and to chemoresistance in childhood B-ALL (60). Finally, VLA-4/VCAM-1 interaction also induces the activation of nuclear factor (NF)-KB in both leukemic cells and stromal cells in vitro (61). Importantly, inhibition of the NF-kB signaling pathway in stromal cells affects their chemoprotective function in vitro and in vivo,





99

indicating that the reciprocal activation of leukemic cells and stromal cells by integrins is a key event in chemoresistance mechanisms.

Similarly to their normal counterparts, B-ALL integrin β1dependent adhesion to stromal cells was shown to be increased through the activation of the CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling pathway (62). However, the influence of CXCL12 as a pro-survival factor per se remains controversial (63, 64). The chemoattractive function of CXCL12 on B-ALL cell lines and patient samples was first demonstrated with transmigration assays in vitro (65). Furthermore, homing to the BM of immunodeficient mice was decreased after desensitization of CXCR4 with an in vitro exposure to CXCL12 but also after pre-treatment with pertussis toxin-inhibitor of the chemokine receptor Gaimediated signaling-or with the CXCR4 inhibitor AMD3100 (62, 66). As expected, Nalm6 cells injected to immunodeficient mice home to BM peri-sinusoidal regions in the vicinity of the CXCL12-expressing PSS cells (66). Importantly, in childhood B-ALL, higher levels of CXCR4 were correlated to an increased extramedullary organ infiltration and to a poor outcome. However, it is not clear whether high CXCR4 is a prognosis factor for extramedullary relapse (67, 68). In adult, overall survival was correlated to phosphorylated CXCR4 but not to CXCR4 expression, indicating that activated CXCR4 may be a better prognosis factor (69). Larger cohorts will be needed to confirm these results.

The pre-BCR is expressed by a B-ALL subset equivalent to pre-B cells which is identified as being intracellular Igµ positive $(ic\mu^+)$ (70). Importantly, phosphorylation of key tyrosine kinases downstream of the pre-BCR in $ic\mu^+$ patient samples is increased and treatment with an anti IgH antibody effectively stimulates pre-BCR signaling (71). In addition, similarly to normal mouse pre-B cells, co-culture of the human pre-BCR⁺ cell line Nalm6 with stromal cells induced a GAL1-dependent clustering of the pre-BCR at the leukemic/stromal cell synapse and activation of the pre-BCR (37–39). Stromal cells are therefore likely to give a proliferative advantage to pre-BCR⁺ leukemic cells through direct contacts and production of GAL1.

In addition to stromal cells, adipocytes were also shown to play protective roles in B-ALL. CXCL12 produced by adipocytes induces the migration of leukemic cells into adipose tissue (72, 73). Interestingly, co-cultures of B-ALL cell lines with the 3T3-L1 cell line differentiated in adipocytes or with adipose tissue induce a resistance to chemotherapeutic treatments (72, 74). Furthermore, while the overall survival of obese C57Bl/6 mice transplanted with the murine leukemic 8093 cell line was similar to control mice, their survival upon Vincristine treatment was decreased (74). The 8083 cell line treated in vitro with Vincristine was found to upregulate the anti-apoptotic proteins Pim2 and Bcl2 when co-cultured in presence of the 3T3-L1 fibroblasts differentiated in adipocytes as compared to undifferentiated cells. It has been further demonstrated in the case of human T-ALL transplanted to immunodeficient mice, that leukemic cells are more quiescent and metabolically less active in the BM of adipocyte-rich tail vertebrae or in gonadal adipose tissue than in the BM of adipocyte-poor femur or thoracic vertebrae (75). Adipocytedependent molecular cues controlling leukemic cell survival and

quiescence remain to be identified. Although these different results point to a role of adipose tissue and adipocytes in the resistance to treatments, the correlation between obesity and outcome remains controversial and needs to be confirmed through the analysis of large cohorts of patients (76).

Finally, the cross-talk between endothelial cells and B-ALL has been poorly studied. B-ALL patients show an increased microvascularization in the BM associated to an increase in most of the cases of the pro-angiogenic factor basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) but not of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (77, 78). The importance of angiogenesis in B-ALL prognosis is still controversial and has been described in details elsewhere (79). It has been however shown in vitro that endothelial cells protect B-ALL blasts from apoptosis through over-expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (78). Further investigations will be needed to confirm this result and identify the molecular interactions taking place. Vascular remodeling is a feature of leukemia progression. It has been shown in a murine model of BCR-ABL1 B-ALL that during leukemia progression, there is an increase in blood vessel density and therefore a higher oxygen supply (80). However, because of high O₂ consumption by leukemic blasts and despite an important extracellular O2 supply, intracellular hypoxia is elevated. In advanced disease stages, the O₂ supply becomes limited and the extracellular space highly hypoxic. As a consequence of hypoxia, HIF-1 α was found to be stabilized in B-ALL and high HIF-1 α levels were related to a poor outcome and resistance to chemotherapy through a decrease in pro-apoptotic and an increase in antiapoptotic proteins (81, 82). Interestingly, co-culture of B-ALL cells with the MS-5 mesenchymal cell line further enhanced HIF- 1α protein levels through AKT phosphorylation in hypoxic conditions, and through ERK phosphorylation independently of hypoxia (81).

IMMUNE CELLS IN THE LEUKEMIC NICHE

Tumor progression relies on the capacity of malignant cells to evade the immune system. In the BM, immune protection is supported by regulatory T cells (Tregs), which were shown to protect allogeneic HSC from rejection (83). Furthermore, Treg depletion in mouse leads to a differentiation arrest at the pre-proB stage (84). Tregs were found to control B cell differentiation through the regulation of IL7 production by PSS cells. Therefore, BM can be considered as an immune-privileged site. In the case of B-ALL, the proportion of CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs was found to be slightly but significantly increased for B-ALL patients at diagnosis in two independent studies (85, 86). Furthermore, Tregs from B-ALL (and T-ALL) patients secreted lower levels of the T cell stimulating cytokine IL-2 in vitro, and higher levels of the immunosuppressive IL-10 and TGF β , as compared to healthy individuals (85). In contradiction with these results, another study showed a decrease in CD4⁺CD25⁺ Tregs (87). However, by refining the immunophenotyping the authors found a strong increase in the proportion of functional FoxP3⁺ and IL-10⁺ Tregs. Furthermore, Tregs from B-ALL patients secreted higher levels of IL-10 and TGFB, and inhibited T cell proliferation *in vitro* more strongly than Tregs from healthy individuals. Altogether these results suggest that B-ALL may escape immune-surveillance by activating Tregs.

Natural Killer (NK) cells are cells of the innate immune system which have the capacity to kill their target cell and are involved in tumor immune surveillance (88). Accordingly, B-ALL patients with a higher proportion of NK cells in the BM respond better to treatment (89). However, the frequency of CD56⁺CD3⁻ NK cells is decreased for most patients as compared to healthy individuals (90, 91). Interestingly, expression of the activating receptor NKp46 was decreased while the inhibitory receptor NKG2A was increased (91). Furthermore, NK cells from patients had a decreased capacity to degranulate, to secrete IFN γ and to induce the lysis of target cells compared to NK cells from healthy controls. Leukemic cells were further shown to directly inhibit NK cell cytotoxic activity and thus to drive immune evasion partly through the secretion of TGF β and the activation of the Smad2/3 signaling pathway in NK cells.

B-ALL also has the capacity to evade the immune system by inhibiting macrophage phagocytosis. CD47, an inhibitor of phagocytosis by macrophages (92), is overexpressed by a subset of B-ALL, and was found to be an indicator of poor survival and associated with a high risk of refractory disease (93). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated in a humanized mouse model of leukemia/ lymphoma that leukemic cells expressing a shRNA specific for the prostaglandin synthetase 3 gene (PTGES3) were more sensitive to antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (94). This result is in agreement with the fact that PTGES3 is involved in the catalysis of prostaglandin E2, an inhibitor of macrophage phagocytosis (95).

Finally, a recent study performed an in depth analysis of the immune microenvironment of B-ALL patient samples by single cell RNAseq (96). Although the myeloid compartment was strongly diminished in the BM of B-ALL patients at diagnosis compared to healthy individuals, the frequency of CD14⁺CD16⁺ non-classical monocytes was increased at the expense of CD14⁺CD16⁻ classical monocytes. Importantly, the frequency of this population strongly decreased upon remission but re-emerged at relapse. Furthermore, the authors found that a high monocyte count in both adult and childhood B-ALL was associated with a lower overall survival (OS) and relapse free survival (RFS). Finally, in a murine model of BCR-ABL1⁺ B-ALL, mice transplanted with leukemic cells were treated with an antibody specific for CSF1R, highly expressed by nonclassical monocytes (antibody AFS98), with Nilotinib, a BCR-ABL1 tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) or a combination of both. The antibody-induced depletion of the non-classical monocyte subset had no effect on survival, however, the antibody improved the responsiveness of mice to Nilotinib. This result suggests that the non-classical monocyte subpopulation may promote leukemic blast survival and protect them from treatment.

TREATMENTS TARGETING THE LEUKEMIC NICHE

Novel therapeutics, have been introduced in the standard treatment regimens based on multiagent chemotherapies. TKIs

which target dysregulated signaling pathways have given promising results with improved overall survival (97). Immune cells can also be addressed to leukemic cells through the use of monoclonal antibodies targeting surface receptors. As an example, Blinatumomab is a CD3-CD19 bispecific T-cell engaging antibody able to activate T-cells without the need for additional costimulatory signals. Blinatumomab is FDA approved for the treatment of MRD⁺ or relapsed/refractory B-ALL (98, 99). However, part of the patients does not respond to Blinatumomab treatment. Exhaustion markers including PD-1 and CTLA-4 were upregulated by T cells following treatment, together with an upregulation of their respective ligands PDL-1 and CD86 at the surface of leukemic cells (100, 101). The in vitro Blinatumomab-mediated T cell response was inhibited when patient T cells as compared to healthy donor T cells were incubated with ALL cells. However, this block was relieved by using an anti-PD-1 alone or together with an anti CTLA-4. Blinatumomab non responders were also found to have an increased proportion of Tregs which impair T cell response in a contact-dependent manner (102). Clinical trials are currently underway to determine the relevance of combining Blinatumomab with checkpoint inhibitors like the anti PD-1 Pembrolizumab (103).

Immunotherapies have moved a step forward with the advance on chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell treatments. CAR-T cells are amplified from autologous T cells from the patient. They are engineered to express a single-chain variable fragment (scFv) of an antibody specific for a tumor cell marker (e.g. anti CD19 antibody), fused to the CD3 ζ stimulatory domain and to an additional costimulatory domain in the case of second-generation therapies. CAR-T cells have been approved in 2017 by the FDA for the management of refractory or second/later relapsed ALL (104).

Mechanisms involved in the evasion from innate immune response can also be targeted. CD47, shown to be overexpressed by B-ALL, inhibits phagocytosis by macrophages. Treatment with the anti CD47 neutralizing antibody B6H12.2 relieved the block on phagocytosis in vitro and impaired leukemia engraftment in vivo (Figure 2) (93). In a humanized mouse model of leukemia, resistance to the anti CD52 antibody Alemtuzumab used to target CD52⁺ lymphoid leukemia by ADCC was observed in the BM but not in periphery (94). This resistance was linked to a decrease in macrophage numbers at the time of BM invasion by leukemic cells. Importantly, most mice treated with a combination of Alemtuzumab and the alkylating agent cyclophosphamide (CTX) survived for at least 6 months while all mice under monotherapies died in about 2 months. CTX was found to specifically induce production by the BM microenvironment of TNFa, VEGF, and CCL4, at the origin of an increased penetrance of macrophages in the BM as well as the activation of their phagocytic properties. Altogether these results clearly demonstrated that reactivation of the immune microenvironment of the BM can improve the therapeutic outcome.

As leukemic niches have the capacity to give pro-survival and quiescence signals through direct interactions, it has been postulated that targeting the crosstalk between non immune cells of the BM microenvironment and leukemic cells could improve current therapies. A high expression of VLA-4 in a cohort of MRD⁺ patient is of bad prognosis (58). In a PDX model of B-ALL, the use of Natalizumab, an anti-VLA-4 monoclonal antibody, in combination with a multi-agent chemotherapy led to a complete remission of all animals for at least 4 months after treatment, while mice with the chemotherapy alone died less than 2 months after treatment (58). The anti VLA-4 alone marginally or did not improve survival (57, 58) therefore supporting that the loss of adhesion of leukemic cells with their niche sensitizes them to chemotherapy.

CXCR4 inhibitors have also been tested in B-ALL. The T140 and AMD3100 (Plerixafor) inhibitors impaired *in vitro* migration of the Nalm6 cell line and patient samples towards a CXCL12 gradient and into stromal layers (105). Furthermore, the loss of contact with stromal cells induced by the inhibitors increased the proliferative status of leukemic cells and their sensitivity to chemotherapeutic drugs. Treatment of mice engrafted with B-ALL from patients with plerixafor induced mobilization of leukemic cells in the circulation with a decreased tumor burden in the spleen but not in the BM (106, 107). Nevertheless, treatment of PDX mice with a combination of Plerixafor and the antimetabolite Ara-C led to a significant decrease in the tumor burden of the spleen as well as the BM compared to the Ara-C monotherapy (107).

Finally, pre-BCR signaling has been shown to be effective in $c\mu^+$ B-ALL and to rely on contacts with stromal cells (37, 39, 71). As a consequence, *in vitro* treatment of patient samples with TKIs specific for kinases involved in pre-BCR signaling (Ibrutinib and Dasatinib: BTK inhibitors; PRT062607: Syk inhibitor) induces a strong death at low half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50) (71). Furthermore, survival of mice xenografted with pre-BCR⁺ B-ALL is increased upon treatment with Ibrutinib or Dasatinib, and a synergistic effect of Ibrutinib was observed *in vitro* in combination with either Dexamethasone or Vincristine (71, 108).

CONCLUSION

B-ALL mutational status has been extensively studied; however, the crosstalk of B-ALL with their immune and non-immune microenvironment remains poorly characterized despite their known function in the control of residual disease and relapse. Chemotherapy toxicity and secondary effects are also a heavy burden for survivors, and there would be a strong benefit to develop adjuvant targeted therapies. Tremendous progress has been made in the outcome of patients by reactivating the immune tumor microenvironment through the development of immunotherapies. Nevertheless resistance and relapse in B-ALL still concerns an important number of patients, particularly among elderly. One of the main challenges remains to understand how the interactions between partner cells are orchestrated into the leukemic microenvironment in order to find which of these interactions could be inhibited to lead to the collapse of the leukemic cell ecosystem. Mouse models have been essential in understanding the organization of the BM nonimmune microenvironment and its importance in normal and pathological hematopoietic progenitor maintenance and development. Thanks to advances in single cell transcriptomics and high resolution microscopy, the spatial organization of the BM starts to be resolved (109). However, the translation to human BM organization is more difficult due to the paucity of BM samples. PDX models are valuable for the analysis of the non-immune microenvironment, but the simultaneous contribution of immune cells cannot be evaluated. In addition, one has to consider that B-ALL are composed of different subtypes with diverse mutational landscapes. The composition of their supportive microenvironment and their dependence towards it may therefore be strongly dependent on their intrinsic properties. Therefore, future studies may consist in the establishment of experimental immunocompetent models in which new adjuvant therapies may be tested. This will require to better understand the natural history of microenvironment shaping during leukemic development starting from LIC in order to identify key steps in B-ALL ecosystem establishment. No doubts that mathematical modeling and new technological breakthroughs such as single cell technology will lead to the identification of cellular crosstalks constituting the Achilles heel for the development of efficient innovative therapies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SM and MA-L conceptualized and finalized the manuscript. MD and K-IS provided the content and prepared the figures. JP provided the content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer (EL2020). MD is supported by the Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer (IP/SC-16060) and K-IS by the Algerian "Ministère de l'enseignement supérieur et de la recherche scientifique" (MESRS). JP was the recipient of a conjoint PhD grant from the Région PACA/ Inserm/Innate Pharma and from la Ligue Nationale contre le Cancer (#TDCU19117).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all the members of the lab and to the GDR 3697 Micronit for fruitful discussions. **Figures 1** and **2** were created from Servier Medical Art by Servier, licensed under a Creative Common Attribution 3.0 Unported License.

REFERENCES

- Hunger SP, Lu X, Devidas M, Camitta BM, Gaynon PS, Winick NJ, et al. Improved survival for children and adolescents with acute lymphoblastic leukemia between 1990 and 2005: a report from the children's oncology group. *J Clin Oncol* (2012) 30(14):1663–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011. 37.8018
- Einsiedel HG, von Stackelberg A, Hartmann R, Fengler R, Schrappe M, Janka-Schaub G, et al. Long-term outcome in children with relapsed ALL by risk-stratified salvage therapy: results of trial acute lymphoblastic leukemiarelapse study of the Berlin-Frankfurt-Munster Group 87. *J Clin Oncol* (2005) 23(31):7942–50. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.01.1031
- Beldjord K, Chevret S, Asnafi V, Huguet F, Boulland ML, Leguay T, et al. Oncogenetics and minimal residual disease are independent outcome predictors in adult patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* (2014) 123(24):3739–49. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-01-547695
- Gokbuget N, Stanze D, Beck J, Diedrich H, Horst HA, Huttmann A, et al. Outcome of relapsed adult lymphoblastic leukemia depends on response to salvage chemotherapy, prognostic factors, and performance of stem cell transplantation. *Blood* (2012) 120(10):2032–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-12-399287
- Gokbuget N, Dombret H, Ribera JM, Fielding AK, Advani A, Bassan R, et al. International reference analysis of outcomes in adults with B-precursor Phnegative relapsed/refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2016) 101(12):1524–33. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.144311
- Mody R, Li S, Dover DC, Sallan S, Leisenring W, Oeffinger KC, et al. Twenty-five-year follow-up among survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Blood* (2008) 111(12):5515–23. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-117150
- Pui CH, Robison LL, Look AT. Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. Lancet (2008) 371(9617):1030–43. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60457-2
- Lane SW, Scadden DT, Gilliland DG. The leukemic stem cell niche: current concepts and therapeutic opportunities. *Blood* (2009) 114(6):1150–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-01-202606
- Maryanovich M, Zahalka AH, Pierce H, Pinho S, Nakahara F, Asada N, et al. Adrenergic nerve degeneration in bone marrow drives aging of the hematopoietic stem cell niche. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(6):782–91. doi: 10.1038/ s41591-018-0030-x
- Ho YH, Del Toro R, Rivera-Torres J, Rak J, Korn C, Garcia-Garcia A, et al. Remodeling of Bone Marrow Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niches Promotes Myeloid Cell Expansion during Premature or Physiological Aging. *Cell Stem Cell* (2019) 25407-418(3):e406. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2019.06.007
- Aurrand-Lions M, Mancini SJC. Murine Bone Marrow Niches from Hematopoietic Stem Cells to B Cells. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19(8):E2353. doi: 10.3390/ijms19082353
- Nutt SL, Heavey B, Rolink AG, Busslinger M. Commitment to the Blymphoid lineage depends on the transcription factor Pax5. *Nature* (1999) 401(6753):556–62. doi: 10.1038/44076
- Li YS, Wasserman R, Hayakawa K, Hardy RR. Identification of the earliest B lineage stage in mouse bone marrow. *Immunity* (1996) 5(6):527–35. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80268-X
- Blom B, Spits H. Development of human lymphoid cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:287–320. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090612
- Hardy RR, Li YS, Allman D, Asano M, Gui M, Hayakawa K. B-cell commitment, development and selection. *Immunol Rev* (2000) 175:23–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2000.imr017517.x
- Ma Q, Jones D, Springer TA. The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is required for the retention of B lineage and granulocytic precursors within the bone marrow microenvironment. *Immunity* (1999) 10(4):463–71. doi: 10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)80046-1
- Nie Y, Waite J, Brewer F, Sunshine MJ, Littman DR, Zou YR. The role of CXCR4 in maintaining peripheral B cell compartments and humoral immunity. J Exp Med (2004) 200(9):1145–56. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041185
- Egawa T, Kawabata K, Kawamoto H, Amada K, Okamoto R, Fujii N, et al. The earliest stages of B cell development require a chemokine stromal cellderived factor/pre-B cell growth-stimulating factor. *Immunity* (2001) 15 (2):323–34. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00185-6

- Nagasawa T, Kikutani H, Kishimoto T. Molecular cloning and structure of a pre-B-cell growth-stimulating factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1994) 91 (6):2305–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.6.2305
- Glodek AM, Honczarenko M, Le Y, Campbell JJ, Silberstein LE. Sustained activation of cell adhesion is a differentially regulated process in B lymphopoiesis. J Exp Med (2003) 197(4):461–73. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021477
- Park SY, Wolfram P, Canty K, Harley B, Nombela-Arrieta C, Pivarnik G, et al. Focal adhesion kinase regulates the localization and retention of pro-B cells in bone marrow microenvironments. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(3):1094– 102. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202639
- Arroyo AG, Yang JT, Rayburn H, Hynes RO. Differential requirements for alpha4 integrins during fetal and adult hematopoiesis. *Cell* (1996) 85(7):997– 1008. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81301-X
- Beck TC, Gomes AC, Cyster JG, Pereira JP. CXCR4 and a cell-extrinsic mechanism control immature B lymphocyte egress from bone marrow. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211(13):2567–81. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140457
- Namen AE, Lupton S, Hjerrild K, Wignall J, Mochizuki DY, Schmierer A, et al. Stimulation of B-cell progenitors by cloned murine interleukin-7. *Nature* (1988) 333(6173):571–3. doi: 10.1038/333571a0
- Russell SM, Tayebi N, Nakajima H, Riedy MC, Roberts JL, Aman MJ, et al. Mutation of Jak3 in a patient with SCID: essential role of Jak3 in lymphoid development. *Science* (1995) 270(5237):797–800. doi: 10.1126/science. 270.5237.797
- Johnson SE, Shah N, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, LeBien TW. Murine and human IL-7 activate STAT5 and induce proliferation of normal human pro-B cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(11):7325–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.11.7325
- Bendall SC, Davis KL, Amir el AD, Tadmor MD, Simonds EF, Chen TJ, et al. Single-cell trajectory detection uncovers progression and regulatory coordination in human B cell development. *Cell* (2014) 157(3):714–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.04.005
- Milford TA, Su RJ, Francis OL, Baez I, Martinez SR, Coats JS, et al. TSLP or IL-7 provide an IL-7Ralpha signal that is critical for human B lymphopoiesis. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46(9):2155–61. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646307
- Carvalho TL, Mota-Santos T, Cumano A, Demengeot J, Vieira P. Arrested B lymphopoiesis and persistence of activated B cells in adult interleukin 7(-/)mice. J Exp Med (2001) 194(8):1141–50. doi: 10.1084/jem.194.8.1141
- Tokoyoda K, Egawa T, Sugiyama T, Choi BI, Nagasawa T. Cellular niches controlling B lymphocyte behavior within bone marrow during development. *Immunity* (2004) 20(6):707–18. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2004.05.001
- Sugiyama T, Kohara H, Noda M, Nagasawa T. Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. *Immunity* (2006) 25(6):977–88. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.10.016
- Mourcin F, Breton C, Tellier J, Narang P, Chasson L, Jorquera A, et al. Galectin-1-expressing stromal cells constitute a specific niche for pre-BII cell development in mouse bone marrow. *Blood* (2011) 117(24):6552–61. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-323113
- Cordeiro Gomes A, Hara T, Lim VY, Herndler-Brandstetter D, Nevius E, Sugiyama T, et al. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niches Produce Lineage-Instructive Signals to Control Multipotent Progenitor Differentiation. *Immunity* (2016) 45(6):1219–31. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.11.004
- 34. Balzano M, De Grandis M, Vu Manh TP, Chasson L, Bardin F, Farina A, et al. Nidogen-1 Contributes to the Interaction Network Involved in Pro-B Cell Retention in the Peri-sinusoidal Hematopoietic Stem Cell Niche. *Cell Rep* (2019) 26(12):3257–71.e3258. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.02.065
- 35. Revilla IDR, Bilic I, Vilagos B, Tagoh H, Ebert A, Tamir IM, et al. The B-cell identity factor Pax5 regulates distinct transcriptional programmes in early and late B lymphopoiesis. *EMBO J* (2012) 31(14):3130–46. doi: 10.1038/ emboj.2012.155
- Marshall AJ, Fleming HE, Wu GE, Paige CJ. Modulation of the IL-7 doseresponse threshold during pro-B cell differentiation is dependent on pre-B cell receptor expression. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(11):6038–45.
- 37. Gauthier L, Rossi B, Roux F, Termine E, Schiff C. Galectin-1 is a stromal cell ligand of the pre-B cell receptor (BCR) implicated in synapse formation between pre-B and stromal cells and in pre-BCR triggering. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2002) 99(20):13014–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.202323999
- Espeli M, Mancini SJ, Breton C, Poirier F, Schiff C. Impaired B-cell development at the pre-BII-cell stage in galectin-1-deficient mice due to

inefficient pre-BII/stromal cell interactions. *Blood* (2009) 113(23):5878-86. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-01-198465

- Rossi B, Espeli M, Schiff C, Gauthier L. Clustering of pre-B cell integrins induces galectin-1-dependent pre-B cell receptor relocalization and activation. *J Immunol* (2006) 177(2):796–803. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.2.796
- Spencer JA, Ferraro F, Roussakis E, Klein A, Wu J, Runnels JM, et al. Direct measurement of local oxygen concentration in the bone marrow of live animals. *Nature* (2014) 508(7495):269–73. doi: 10.1038/nature13034
- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress. *Mol Cell* (2010) 40(2):294–309. doi: 10.1016/ j.molcel.2010.09.022
- Chabi S, Uzan B, Naguibneva I, Rucci J, Fahy L, Calvo J, et al. Hypoxia Regulates Lymphoid Development of Human Hematopoietic Progenitors. *Cell Rep* (2019) 29(8):2307–20.e2306. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.10.050
- Burrows N, Bashford-Rogers RJM, Bhute VJ, Penalver A, Ferdinand JR, Stewart BJ, et al. Dynamic regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha activity is essential for normal B cell development. *Nat Immunol* (2020) 21 (11):1408–20. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0772-8
- Fialkow PJ, Thomas ED, Bryant JI, Neiman PE. Leukaemic transformation of engrafted human marrow cells in vivo. *Lancet* (1971) 1(7693):251–5. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(71)90998-6
- 45. Paget S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. *Lancet* (1889) 133(3421):571–3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)49915-0
- Manabe A, Coustan-Smith E, Behm FG, Raimondi SC, Campana D. Bone marrow-derived stromal cells prevent apoptotic cell death in B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* (1992) 79(9):2370–7. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V79.9.2370.bloodjournal7992370
- Mudry RE, Fortney JE, York T, Hall BM, Gibson LF. Stromal cells regulate survival of B-lineage leukemic cells during chemotherapy. *Blood* (2000) 96 (5):1926–32. doi: 10.1182/blood.V96.5.1926.h8001926_1926_1932
- Dobson SM, Garcia-Prat L, Vanner RJ, Wintersinger J, Waanders E, Gu Z, et al. Relapse-Fated Latent Diagnosis Subclones in Acute B Lineage Leukemia Are Drug Tolerant and Possess Distinct Metabolic Programs. *Cancer Discovery* (2020) 10(4):568–87. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-1059
- Ebinger S, Ozdemir EZ, Ziegenhain C, Tiedt S, Castro Alves C, Grunert M, et al. Characterization of Rare, Dormant, and Therapy-Resistant Cells in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 30(6):849–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.11.002
- Duan CW, Shi J, Chen J, Wang B, Yu YH, Qin X, et al. Leukemia propagating cells rebuild an evolving niche in response to therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25(6):778–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.04.015
- Zhao M, Tao F, Venkatraman A, Li Z, Smith SE, Unruh J, et al. N-Cadherin-Expressing Bone and Marrow Stromal Progenitor Cells Maintain Reserve Hematopoietic Stem Cells. *Cell Rep* (2019) 26(3):652–69.e656. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2018.12.093
- Chiu M, Taurino G, Bianchi MG, Kilberg MS, Bussolati O. Asparagine Synthetase in Cancer: Beyond Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Front Oncol* (2019) 9:1480. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01480
- Iwamoto S, Mihara K, Downing JR, Pui CH, Campana D. Mesenchymal cells regulate the response of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to asparaginase. *J Clin Invest* (2007) 117(4):1049–57. doi: 10.1172/JCI30235
- 54. Laranjeira AB, de Vasconcellos JF, Sodek L, Spago MC, Fornazim MC, Tone LG, et al. IGFBP7 participates in the reciprocal interaction between acute lymphoblastic leukemia and BM stromal cells and in leukemia resistance to asparaginase. *Leukemia* (2012) 26(5):1001–11. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.289
- Bradstock K, Makrynikola V, Bianchi A, Byth K. Analysis of the mechanism of adhesion of precursor-B acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to bone marrow fibroblasts. *Blood* (1993) 82(11):3437–44. doi: 10.1182/blood.V82. 11.3437.bloodjournal82113437
- Hall BM, Fortney JE, Taylor L, Wood H, Wang L, Adams S, et al. Stromal cells expressing elevated VCAM-1 enhance survival of B lineage tumor cells. *Cancer Lett* (2004) 207(2):229–39. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2003.10.033
- Filshie R, Gottlieb D, Bradstock K. VLA-4 is involved in the engraftment of the human pre-B acute lymphoblastic leukaemia cell line NALM-6 in SCID mice. Br J Haematol (1998) 102(5):1292–300. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.1998.00899.x
- 58. Hsieh YT, Gang EJ, Geng H, Park E, Huantes S, Chudziak D, et al. Integrin alpha4 blockade sensitizes drug resistant pre-B acute lymphoblastic

leukemia to chemotherapy. Blood (2013) 121(10):1814-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-01-406272

- Wang L, Fortney JE, Gibson LF. Stromal cell protection of B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemic cells during chemotherapy requires active Akt. *Leuk Res* (2004) 28(7):733–42. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2003.10.033
- 60. Morishita N, Tsukahara H, Chayama K, Ishida T, Washio K, Miyamura T, et al. Activation of Akt is associated with poor prognosis and chemotherapeutic resistance in pediatric B-precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Pediatr Blood Cancer* (2012) 59(1):83–9. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24034
- Jacamo R, Chen Y, Wang Z, Ma W, Zhang M, Spaeth EL, et al. Reciprocal leukemia-stroma VCAM-1/VLA-4-dependent activation of NF-kappaB mediates chemoresistance. *Blood* (2014) 123(17):2691–702. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2013-06-511527
- 62. Shen W, Bendall LJ, Gottlieb DJ, Bradstock KF. The chemokine receptor CXCR4 enhances integrin-mediated in vitro adhesion and facilitates engraftment of leukemic precursor-B cells in the bone marrow. *Exp Hematol* (2001) 29(12):1439–47. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(01)00741-X
- 63. Nishii K, Katayama N, Miwa H, Shikami M, Masuya M, Shiku H, et al. Survival of human leukaemic B-cell precursors is supported by stromal cells and cytokines: association with the expression of bcl-2 protein. Br J Haematol (1999) 105(3):701–10. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999.01380.x
- Juarez J, Baraz R, Gaundar S, Bradstock K, Bendall L. Interaction of interleukin-7 and interleukin-3 with the CXCL12-induced proliferation of B-cell progenitor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2007) 92 (4):450–9. doi: 10.3324/haematol.10621
- Bradstock KF, Makrynikola V, Bianchi A, Shen W, Hewson J, Gottlieb DJ. Effects of the chemokine stromal cell-derived factor-1 on the migration and localization of precursor-B acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells within bone marrow stromal layers. *Leukemia* (2000) 14(5):882–8. doi: 10.1038/ sj.leu.2401729
- Sipkins DA, Wei X, Wu JW, Runnels JM, Cote D, Means TK, et al. In vivo imaging of specialized bone marrow endothelial microdomains for tumour engraftment. *Nature* (2005) 435(7044):969–73. doi: 10.1038/nature03703
- 67. Crazzolara R, Kreczy A, Mann G, Heitger A, Eibl G, Fink FM, et al. High expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 predicts extramedullary organ infiltration in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br J Haematol* (2001) 115(3):545–53. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2001.03164.x
- Schneider P, Vasse M, Al Bayati A, Lenormand B, Vannier JP. Is high expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR-4 of predictive value for early relapse in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia? *Br J Haematol* (2002) 119(2):579–80. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03835_6.x
- Konoplev S, Jorgensen JL, Thomas DA, Lin E, Burger J, Kantarjian HM, et al. Phosphorylated CXCR4 is associated with poor survival in adults with Bacute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer* (2011) 117(20):4689–95. doi: 10.1002/ cncr.26113
- Bene MC, Castoldi G, Knapp W, Ludwig WD, Matutes E, Orfao A, et al. Proposals for the immunological classification of acute leukemias. European Group for the Immunological Characterization of Leukemias (EGIL). *Leukemia* (1995) 9(10):1783–6.
- Geng H, Hurtz C, Lenz KB, Chen Z, Baumjohann D, Thompson S, et al. Selfenforcing feedback activation between BCL6 and pre-B cell receptor signaling defines a distinct subtype of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Cell* (2015) 27(3):409–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.02.003
- Pramanik R, Sheng X, Ichihara B, Heisterkamp N, Mittelman SD. Adipose tissue attracts and protects acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells from chemotherapy. *Leuk Res* (2013) 37(5):503–9. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2012.12.013
- Battula VL, Chen Y, Cabreira Mda G, Ruvolo V, Wang Z, Ma W, et al. Connective tissue growth factor regulates adipocyte differentiation of mesenchymal stromal cells and facilitates leukemia bone marrow engraftment. *Blood* (2013) 122(3):357–66. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-437988
- Behan JW, Yun JP, Proektor MP, Ehsanipour EA, Arutyunyan A, Moses AS, et al. Adipocytes impair leukemia treatment in mice. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69 (19):7867–74. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0800
- 75. Cahu X, Calvo J, Poglio S, Prade N, Colsch B, Arcangeli ML, et al. Bone marrow sites differently imprint dormancy and chemoresistance to T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood Adv* (2017) 1(20):1760–72. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017004960

- Sheng X, Mittelman SD. The role of adipose tissue and obesity in causing treatment resistance of acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Front Pediatr* (2014) 2:53. doi: 10.3389/fped.2014.00053
- Perez-Atayde AR, Sallan SE, Tedrow U, Connors S, Allred E, Folkman J. Spectrum of tumor angiogenesis in the bone marrow of children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Am J Pathol* (1997) 150(3):815–21.
- Veiga JP, Costa LF, Sallan SE, Nadler LM, Cardoso AA. Leukemiastimulated bone marrow endothelium promotes leukemia cell survival. *Exp Hematol* (2006) 34(5):610–21. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2006.01.013
- Schneider P, Dubus I, Gouel F, Legrand E, Vannier JP, Vasse M. What role for angiogenesis in childhood acute lymphoblastic leukaemia? *Adv Hematol* (2011) 2011:274628. doi: 10.1155/2011/274628
- Rytelewski M, Harutyunyan K, Baran N, Mallampati S, Zal MA, Cavazos A, et al. Inhibition of Oxidative Phosphorylation Reverses Bone Marrow Hypoxia Visualized in Imageable Syngeneic B-ALL Mouse Model. *Front* Oncol (2020) 10:991. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00991
- Frolova O, Samudio I, Benito JM, Jacamo R, Kornblau SM, Markovic A, et al. Regulation of HIF-1alpha signaling and chemoresistance in acute lymphocytic leukemia under hypoxic conditions of the bone marrow microenvironment. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2012) 13(10):858–70. doi: 10.4161/ cbt.20838
- Petit C, Gouel F, Dubus I, Heuclin C, Roget K, Vannier JP. Hypoxia promotes chemoresistance in acute lymphoblastic leukemia cell lines by modulating death signaling pathways. *BMC Cancer* (2016) 16(1):746. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2776-1
- Fujisaki J, Wu J, Carlson AL, Silberstein L, Putheti P, Larocca R, et al. In vivo imaging of Treg cells providing immune privilege to the haematopoietic stem-cell niche. *Nature* (2011) 474(7350):216–9. doi: 10.1038/nature10160
- Pierini A, Nishikii H, Baker J, Kimura T, Kwon HS, Pan Y, et al. Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells maintain the bone marrow microenvironment for B cell lymphopoiesis. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:15068. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15068
- Wu CP, Qing X, Wu CY, Zhu H, Zhou HY. Immunophenotype and increased presence of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells in patients with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Oncol Lett* (2012) 3(2):421–4. doi: 10.3892/ ol.2011.499
- Idris SZ, Hassan N, Lee LJ, Md Noor S, Osman R, Abdul-Jalil M, et al. Increased regulatory T cells in acute lymphoblastic leukaemia patients. *Hematology* (2016) 21(4):206–12. doi: 10.1080/10245332.2015.1101965
- Bhattacharya K, Chandra S, Mandal C. Critical stoichiometric ratio of CD4 (+) CD25(+) FoxP3(+) regulatory T cells and CD4(+) CD25(-) responder T cells influence immunosuppression in patients with B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Immunology* (2014) 142(1):124–39. doi: 10.1111/ imm.12237
- Bald T, Krummel MF, Smyth MJ, Barry KC. The NK cell-cancer cycle: advances and new challenges in NK cell-based immunotherapies. *Nat Immunol* (2020) 21(8):835–47. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0728-z
- Mizia-Malarz A, Sobol-Milejska G. NK Cells as Possible Prognostic Factor in Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Dis Markers* (2019) 2019:3596983. doi: 10.1155/2019/3596983
- 90. Stabile H, Nisti P, Morrone S, Pagliara D, Bertaina A, Locatelli F, et al. Multifunctional human CD56 low CD16 low natural killer cells are the prominent subset in bone marrow of both healthy pediatric donors and leukemic patients. *Haematologica* (2015) 100(4):489–98. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2014.116053
- Rouce RH, Shaim H, Sekine T, Weber G, Ballard B, Ku S, et al. The TGFbeta/SMAD pathway is an important mechanism for NK cell immune evasion in childhood B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2016) 30 (4):800–11. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.327
- Okazawa H, Motegi S, Ohyama N, Ohnishi H, Tomizawa T, Kaneko Y, et al. Negative regulation of phagocytosis in macrophages by the CD47-SHPS-1 system. J Immunol (2005) 174(4):2004–11. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.4.2004
- Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Tang C, Jan M, Weissman-Tsukamoto R, Zhao F, et al. Therapeutic antibody targeting of CD47 eliminates human acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(4):1374–84. doi: 10.1158/ 0008-5472.CAN-10-2238
- Pallasch CP, Leskov I, Braun CJ, Vorholt D, Drake A, Soto-Feliciano YM, et al. Sensitizing protective tumor microenvironments to antibody-mediated therapy. *Cell* (2014) 156(3):590–602. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.041

- Kalinski P. Regulation of immune responses by prostaglandin E2. J Immunol (2012) 188(1):21–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101029
- Witkowski MT, Dolgalev I, Evensen NA, Ma C, Chambers T, Roberts KG, et al. Extensive Remodeling of the Immune Microenvironment in B Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Cancer Cell* (2020) 37(6):867–82.e812. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2020.04.015
- 97. Samra B, Jabbour E, Ravandi F, Kantarjian H, Short NJ. Evolving therapy of adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia: state-of-the-art treatment and future directions. *J Hematol Oncol* (2020) 13(1):70. doi: 10.1186/s13045-020-00905-2
- 98. Short NJ, Jabbour E, Albitar M, de Lima M, Gore L, Jorgensen J, et al. Recommendations for the assessment and management of measurable residual disease in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: A consensus of North American experts. Am J Hematol (2019) 94(2):257–65. doi: 10.1002/ajh.25338
- Pulte ED, Vallejo J, Przepiorka D, Nie L, Farrell AT, Goldberg KB, et al. FDA Supplemental Approval: Blinatumomab for Treatment of Relapsed and Refractory Precursor B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia. *Oncologist* (2018) 23(11):1366–71. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2018-0179
- 100. Kohnke T, Krupka C, Tischer J, Knosel T, Subklewe M. Increase of PD-L1 expressing B-precursor ALL cells in a patient resistant to the CD19/CD3bispecific T cell engager antibody blinatumomab. J Hematol Oncol (2015) 8:111. doi: 10.1186/s13045-015-0213-6
- 101. Feucht J, Kayser S, Gorodezki D, Hamieh M, Doring M, Blaeschke F, et al. T-cell responses against CD19+ pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia mediated by bispecific T-cell engager (BiTE) are regulated contrarily by PD-L1 and CD80/CD86 on leukemic blasts. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(47):76902–19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12357
- 102. Duell J, Dittrich M, Bedke T, Mueller T, Eisele F, Rosenwald A, et al. Frequency of regulatory T cells determines the outcome of the T-cellengaging antibody blinatumomab in patients with B-precursor ALL. *Leukemia* (2017) 31(10):2181–90. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.41
- 103. Cassaday RD, Garcia KA, Fromm JR, Percival MM, Turtle CJ, Nghiem PT, et al. Phase 2 study of pembrolizumab for measurable residual disease in adults with acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4(14):3239–45. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2020002403
- 104. Jacoby E, Shahani SA, Shah NN. Updates on CAR T-cell therapy in B-cell malignancies. *Immunol Rev* (2019) 290(1):39–59. doi: 10.1111/imr.12774
- 105. Juarez J, Bradstock KF, Gottlieb DJ, Bendall LJ. Effects of inhibitors of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 on acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells in vitro. *Leukemia* (2003) 17(7):1294–300. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402998
- 106. Juarez J, Dela Pena A, Baraz R, Hewson J, Khoo M, Cisterne A, et al. CXCR4 antagonists mobilize childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells into the peripheral blood and inhibit engraftment. *Leukemia* (2007) 21(6):1249–57. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2404684
- 107. Sison EA, Magoon D, Li L, Annesley CE, Rau RE, Small D, et al. Plerixafor as a chemosensitizing agent in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia: efficacy and potential mechanisms of resistance to CXCR4 inhibition. *Oncotarget* (2014) 5(19):8947–58. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2407
- 108. Kim E, Hurtz C, Koehrer S, Wang Z, Balasubramanian S, Chang BY, et al. Ibrutinib inhibits pre-BCR(+) B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia progression by targeting BTK and BLK. *Blood* (2017) 129(9):1155–65. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-06-722900
- 109. Baccin C, Al-Sabah J, Velten L, Helbling PM, Grunschlager F, Hernandez-Malmierca P, et al. Combined single-cell and spatial transcriptomics reveal the molecular, cellular and spatial bone marrow niche organization. *Nat Cell Biol* (2020) 22(1):38–48. doi: 10.1038/s41556-019-0439-6

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Delahaye, Salem, Pelletier, Aurrand-Lions and Mancini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





T Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Two-Edged Sword

Elisavet Vlachonikola^{1,2}, Kostas Stamatopoulos^{1,3*} and Anastasia Chatzidimitriou^{1,3}

¹ Centre for Research and Technology Hellas, Institute of Applied Biosciences, Thessaloniki, Greece, ² Department of Genetics and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Biology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece, ³ Department of Molecular Medicine and Surgery, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Alan G. Ramsay, King's College London, United Kingdom Silvia Deaglio, University of Turin, Italy

*Correspondence:

Kostas Stamatopoulos kostas.stamatopoulos@certh.gr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 September 2020 Accepted: 08 December 2020 Published: 20 January 2021

Citation:

Vlachonikola E, Stamatopoulos K and Chatzidimitriou A (2021) T Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: A Two-Edged Sword. Front. Immunol. 11:612244. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.612244 Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is a malignancy of mature, antigen-experienced B lymphocytes. Despite great progress recently achieved in the management of CLL, the disease remains incurable, underscoring the need for further investigation into the underlying pathophysiology. Microenvironmental crosstalk has an established role in CLL pathogenesis and progression. Indeed, the malignant CLL cells are strongly dependent on interactions with other immune and non-immune cell populations that shape a highly orchestrated network, the tumor microenvironment (TME). The composition of the TME, as well as the bidirectional interactions between the malignant clone and the microenvironmental elements have been linked to disease heterogeneity. Mounting evidence implicates T cells present in the TME in the natural history of the CLL as well as in the establishment of certain CLL hallmarks e.g. tumor evasion and immune suppression. CLL is characterized by restrictions in the T cell receptor gene repertoire, T cell oligoclonal expansions, as well as shared T cell receptor clonotypes amongst patients, strongly alluding to selection by restricted antigenic elements of as yet undisclosed identity. Further, the T cells in CLL exhibit a distinctive phenotype with features of "exhaustion" likely as a result of chronic antigenic stimulation. This might be relevant to the fact that, despite increased numbers of oligoclonal T cells in the periphery, these cells are incapable of mounting effective anti-tumor immune responses, a feature perhaps also linked with the elevated numbers of T regulatory subpopulations. Alterations of T cell gene expression profile are associated with defects in both the cytoskeleton and immune synapse formation, and are generally induced by direct contact with the malignant clone. That said, these abnormalities appear to be reversible, which is why therapies targeting the T cell compartment represent a reasonable therapeutic option in CLL. Indeed, novel strategies, including CAR T cell immunotherapy, immune checkpoint blockade and immunomodulation, have come to the spotlight in an attempt to restore the functionality of T cells and enhance targeted cytotoxic activity against the malignant clone.

Keywords: chronic lymphocytic leukemia, T lymphocytes, anti-tumor immunity, tumor microenvironment, T cellbased therapies

INTRODUCTION

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is an age-related malignancy characterized by the accumulation of monoclonal mature B cells expressing CD5, CD19 and CD23 on their surface (1). Numerous studies support that the clonotypic B cell receptor immunoglobulin (BcR IG) is critically implicated in disease pathophysiology (2). Indeed, the intensity of intracellular signaling downstream of the BcR in CLL cells is associated with cell proliferation and disease severity (3), whereas restrictions in the gene repertoire of the clonotypic BcR IG strongly highlight the role of antigenic triggering in disease pathogenesis (4, 5).

Different lines of evidence suggest that interactions with two main categories of microenvironmental components i.e. soluble factors and other extracellular elements as well as bystander cells are implicated in shaping a supportive tumor microenvironment (TME) in CLL (6–8). The former category includes various extracellular molecules (e.g.) cytokines, chemokines, antigens but also, in a broader sense, products of metabolic processes. Indeed, although cellular metabolism in CLL remains largely unexplored, increasing evidence implicates oxidative stress in the natural history of CLL by showing e.g. that the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) may hold prognostic significance (9, 10).

Turning to bystander cells, different subpopulations of T cells as well as natural killer (NK) cells accumulate *in vivo* along with mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) and nurse-like cells (NLCs), forming a complex network that favors clonal expansion and proliferation of the malignant clone (11–13). Ongoing crosstalk of CLL malignant cells with these other cell populations in the TME affects the function of both parties. On the one hand, this leads to immunosuppression, a hallmark of CLL associated with increased susceptibility to infections, autoimmune manifestations, and a higher incidence of secondary malignancies (14). On the other hand, external triggers support the survival and proliferation of the neoplastic cells (15); this was first made evident when it was found that CLL cells undergo apoptosis in suspension cultures, which can be partially rescued by co-cultures with stromal cells or NLC (11).

T cells are major contributors to adaptive immunity, actively engaged in defense against pathogens and tumor cells through a great variety of accessory and effector functions. Upon encounter with a specific antigen, T cells are activated and eventually differentiate into various distinct subpopulations, acquiring either cytotoxic or helper properties. Pathogen clearance, mediated by cytotoxic T cells or through the activation of other cell types induced by cytokines secreted from T helper cells, is followed by the apoptosis of the effector T cells as a homeostatic mechanism that restores the immune system at the pre-activation state. Simultaneously, a small fraction of antigenspecific memory T cells are resting in the body, ready to generate an immediate and effective secondary response (16, 17). This homeostatic balance is perturbed in CLL, where, similar to various solid or hematological malignancies, T cells exhibit a number of phenotypic and functional defects undermining their normal immune responses (18). Moreover, T cells appear to have an active involvement in CLL development and evolution, as

supported by experimental evidence that the transfer of autologous activated T cells in NOD/Shi-scid, ycnull (NSG) mice is a prerequisite for successful engraftment of CLL cells in murine models (19, 20). Interestingly, the post-transfer outgrowth of functionally competent Th1 T cells seen in NSG mice highlights the suppressive and inhibitory TME in CLL patients, particularly considering reports that these T cells can regain their functionality and promote B cell diversification and differentiation (18). It has been proposed that this phenomenon may reflect selection for Th1 cells in vivo, release from various inhibitory mechanisms operating within the human host or a special effect of the distinct NSG microenvironment. Arguably, similar mechanisms may also act in CLL patients, however, strong correlations remain elusive (20), highlighting the need for caution when attempting extrapolations based on findings deriving from model systems.

In CLL, as in other cancers, genomic instability leads to various alterations that serve as a source of cognate antigens, sufficient for the induction of tumor-reactive T cell responses (21-24). Although tumor-/antigen-specific T cells have been identified in CLL patients, these are incapable of effectively eliminating neoplastic cells due to several intertwined immunosuppressive mechanisms that establish T cell dysfunction (25, 26), thus, favoring escape from immune surveillance (27). Evidence suggests that this tolerogenic TME is actively induced by the CLL cells themselves through the secretion of cytokines and chemokines that affect cellular functions in the bystander cells (15). As a matter of fact, a recent study demonstrated that shared peptides from the highly conserved BcR IG of patients belonging to CLL stereotyped subsets 1 and 2 could generate antigen-specific T cells upon presentation in HLA-restricted manner. Furthermore, that study reported T cell specific reactivity against CLL cells, while also showing that immunization of Eµ-TCL1 mice with BcR IG-derived peptides led to anti-leukemic T cell responses, implying that targeted T cell immunotherapy against the clonotypic BcR IG represents an appealing treatment option (28). Along similar lines, the identification of the unique set of neo-epitopes of each patient could lead to the isolation of leukemia-specific T cells, that can be used as a novel treatment approach (29).

Taken together, deciphering the cross-talk mechanisms between CLL cells and bystander T cells as well as the implicated signaling pathways is reasonably anticipated to offer insights into disease pathophysiology, and, potentially, a great opportunity for designing microenvironment-directed treatment approaches.

T CELL SUBPOPULATION IMBALANCES IN CLL

Alterations in the T cell composition have been extensively described in CLL, however the exact impact of these changes on disease development and progression remains controversial. The first described T cell abnormality in a CLL-specific context concerned the finding of increased numbers of T cells in the
periphery, accounting mostly for CD8⁺ T cell expansion that leads to inversion of the normal CD4⁺/CD8⁺ cell ratio (30). Of note, these CD8⁺ T cells are severely compromised as to their capacity to exert cytotoxicity (31). Regarding the potential clinical relevance of these findings, it has been reported that elevated numbers of CD8⁺ cells are associated with disease progression as well as shorter time to first treatment and progression-free survival, perhaps partly due to co-expression of the inhibitory receptor of programmed death-1 (PD-1) (32). However, under different conditions oligoclonal expansion of CD8⁺ effector cells in the Eµ-TCL1 mouse model of CLL has been associated with disease control, whereas conversely, ablation of CD4⁺ T cells did not affect disease progression (33).

Expansions of different CD4⁺ T cell subpopulations that exert either pro-tumoral activity or immunosuppression have been reported in CLL. Early studies have shown that IFN-y secreting Th1 cells can provide trophic signal for CLL cells inhibiting programmed cell death and supporting survival (34). On the other hand, T cell-mediated immune responses have been linked with disease control in cases of autologous CLL regression, highlighting the multi-dimensional T cell activity into the CLL TME (35). Further, expansion of a novel CD4⁺ T subpopulation characterized by the expression of the TIGIT (T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains) inhibitory receptor has been recently observed in patients at advanced stages of CLL; these cells were shown to support CLL survival in in vitro experiments (36). Finally, CD4⁺PD-1⁺HLA-DR⁺ T cells that co-express inhibitory and activation markers have been associated with aggressive disease (37). Altogether, these apparently conflicting findings clearly indicate the need for delving deeper into the distinct subsets and functions of the T cell compartment in CLL.

A well-characterized finding in CLL concerns the elevated numbers of T regulatory cells (Tregs) (30, 38) that are generally known to contribute to cancer progression through dampened antitumor responses and immunosuppression (39, 40). Of note, CLL Tregs are more suppressive than normal Tregs, whereas depletion of these cells led to efficient anti-tumor responses in animal models of CLL (41, 42). Additionally, interleukin 4 (IL-4) secreted from Tregs also induces anti-apoptotic pathways in CLL cells through the overexpression of the anti-apoptotic protein BCL2, which is therapeutically targeted by venetoclax, an effective agent for the treatment of CLL (43-46). Hence, efforts to inhibit Tregs through targeting the FoxP3 transcription factor, that is critical for their function (47, 48), or other interacting molecules in the downstream pathway could be clinically useful, at least in principle, similar to what has been proposed for other cancers (49, 50).

Th17 cells represent another T cell subpopulation with a critical role in immune homeostasis, actively participating in inflammatory processes. Imbalances in Th17 populations have been linked with autoimmune disorders, however their role in cancer remains to be fully elucidated (51). In CLL, Th17 cells are increased compared to healthy individuals; however, increased Th17 cells in cases at early disease stages have been reported to be associated with a favorable clinical outcome, conceivably

through controlling the expansion of Tregs (52, 53). Altogether, the aforementioned evidence suggests that the balance between Tregs and Th17 cells may impact on the clinical outcome through as yet unknown mechanisms (14, 51).

FUNCTIONAL IMPAIRMENT OF T CELLS IN CLL: CAUSES, FUNCTIONAL CONSEQUENCES, AND CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

T cell activation starts when an antigen-presenting cell (APC) introduces an epitope bound on an HLA molecule to a specific TR. A second signal from the CD28 receptor, constitutively expressed on T cells, enhances cell proliferation, generation of cytotoxic lymphocytes, and cytokine production (54). In CLL, *in vitro* T cell activation through CD28 followed by infusion of the activated autologous T cells to the patients was shown to lead to competent anti-leukemic effects and decreased TR clonality. Based on this evidence, *ex vivo* T cell activation and expansion was proposed as a valid treatment option in CLL, however failed to gain ground (55).

Effective activation of naïve T cells through normal interactions with APCs requires the formation of the immune synapse, a specialized contact area between T cells and APCs (56). Impaired immune synapse formation has been documented as a hallmark of CLL and shown to be mechanistically linked to alterations in the expression of genes associated with actin polymerization, cytoskeletal organization and vesicle trafficking (57). Of note, immune synapse defects appear to be contact-dependent, as shown in both *ex vivo* studies of primary patient samples and *in vivo* studies of animal models of CLL (58, 59).

Such effects may dampen effective antitumor responses, through a complex network of inhibitory signals and immunosuppressive interactions amongst CLL cells and T cells into TME. Importantly, signals delivered through the CTLA-4 and PD-1 receptors modulate T cell activation status through reduction of TR signaling and cytolytic functions. These inhibitory molecules are overexpressed in T cells of patients with CLL, while their ligands are also overexpressed by the malignant cells, hence putting the brakes on anti-tumor activity (60). Specifically, CLL cells express inhibitory surface molecules from B7 and TNF-receptor families, namely CD200, CD274 (PD-L1), CD276 and CD270 which are implicated in synapse formation defects in both autologous and allogeneic T cells, suggesting a novel evasion mechanism (61).

On these grounds, research into these receptors and ligands could pave the way to novel treatment modalities for CLL, whereby T cell-driven immune responses could be reinvigorated through targeting the interactions between inhibitory receptors and their ligands. However, despite encouraging pre-clinical results, the clinical application of antibodies against these receptors (immune checkpoint inhibitors [ICI]) has been frustratingly disappointing in CLL, with only minimal effectiveness when administered as monotherapy (62, 63). Evidently, more research is warranted in order to define the precise role of ICIs in the management of CLL and also better understand the mechanisms underlying the emergence of severe adverse events reported for these agents (64, 65).

In CLL, immune synapse defects were found to be reversible by the administration of lenalidomide, an immunomodulatory drug (IMiD) that appears to reshape the expression of cytokines and orchestrate cell-mediated responses, mobilizing the T cell compartment (66, 67). In addition, lenalidomide treatment invigorates T cell motility and migration through activation of integrin lymphocyte function–associated antigen-1 (LFA-1), also affected by direct contact with CLL cells (68). Relevant to mention, clinical studies of lenalidomide as monotherapy or consolidation therapy after chemoimmunotherapy have reported restored immune synapse formation and downstream signaling and well as improved quality of clinical responses (69, 70).

T cells in CLL display features of exhaustion, a functional state initially described in the setting of chronic infections but later also recognized in various cancer types (25, 71–75). In such conditions, exhaustion has been postulated to arise as a result of persistent antigenic stimulation, leading to gradual loss of T cell effector functions (76–78). Similar to other contexts, exhausted T cells in CLL are characterized by low proliferative rates, reduced cytotoxicity, altered cytokine production and, as already mentioned, expression of multiple inhibitory receptors on their surfaces, including CTLA-4, PD-1 and LAG-3 (25, 79, 80).

The functional analogies between T cells in individuals exposed to persistent antigenic stimulation due to a chronic infection and individuals affected by CLL allows arguing that antigenic pressure is key to shaping the T cell repertoire and functionality also in CLL. That notwithstanding, the exact nature of the cognate antigens/epitopes implicated in T cell selection in CLL is yet to be defined. However, the most prominent (classes of) candidates concern: (i) the same antigens that are implicated in the selection of the CLL progenitors or the malignant cells themselves; (ii) tumor-derived epitopes from aberrant proteins expressed by the malignant cells e.g. due to a pathogenic mutation or other genomic aberration; and (iii) the clonotypic IG, perhaps the most abundant clone-specific molecule (81–84) (**Figure 1**).

ANTIGEN SELECTION SHAPES THE T CELL COMPARTMENT IN CLL: IMMUNOGENETIC EVIDENCE

The clonotypic BcR IG is critically implicated in the natural history of CLL, a fact amply supported by the therapeutic efficacy of agents interfering with BcR IG signaling, which have changed dramatically the therapeutic landscape of CLL (85–87). This clinical evidence complements immunogenetic evidence that the BcR IG is a key driver in disease ontogeny and evolution. In more detail, the BcR IG gene repertoire is characterized by remarkable restrictions (88), culminating in BcR IG stereotypy where, at



clear odds with serendipity, different clones share (quasi) identical IG (4, 5, 89). Moreover, the molecular characteristics of the clonotypic BcR IG have established prognostic and predictive significance since patients with a significant imprint of somatic hypermutation (SHM) display indolent disease, in contrast to those with few or no SHM who generally follow a more aggressive clinical course (90, 91). Taken together, these features emphasize the links between BcR IG structure and clonal behavior, while also highlighting the importance of antigen selection in CLL pathophysiology (92, 93).

Considering the importance of extracellular cues for CLL cell survival and proliferation, as well the T cell compartment defects in CLL patients, the interest in the TR gene repertoire of T cells in CLL and the implicated antigens is hardly surprising. Immunophenotypic studies in the 1990s described T cell clonal expansions in CLL patients, prompting speculations that these cells could be possibly related to the host immune response against CLL-derived antigens, or emerged as a result of a longitudinal interplay between CLL and T cells in the proliferative centers (94). Moreover, analyses of the TR beta (TRB) chain gene rearrangements by Southern blotting offered the first molecular evidence for skewed TRBV gene repertoire and oligoclonality in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells of CLL patients compared to healthy aged-matched controls (95-97). Additionally, stimulation of isolated T cells from CLL patients with autologous malignant cells resulted in monoclonal TR expansions, prompting speculations that CLL patients could bear a pool of T cells that specifically recognize leukemiaassociated antigens (95, 98). Similar findings of decreased clonal diversity were also reported in Eµ-TCL1 mice supporting the notion of CLL-dependent antigen-driven selection pressure on the TR gene repertoire (99).

These initial studies were followed by significantly more extended examinations of the TR gene repertoire by our group, first through subcloning of TRBV-TRBD-TRBJ gene rearrangements followed by Sanger sequencing (100) and, more recently, by high-throughput approaches using next generation sequencing (NGS) (101, 102). Summarizing our findings: (i) the TRBV gene repertoire is skewed; (ii) oligoclonal T cell expansions feature prominently, particularly amongst cytotoxic T cells; (iii) such expansions persist and may even increase during the disease course; and, (iv) identical or highly similar TR clonotypes were shared between different patients, especially those belonging to the same stereotyped subset, and these appeared to be CLL-biased as they were not present in other contexts. Altogether, these findings allow arguing that antigen selection has a key role in shaping the TR repertoire in CLL, while also favoring the intriguing hypothesis that the relevant antigens are most likely CLL-related (101). However, the exact mechanism that underlies T cell clonality and retains these expanded populations during the disease course remains elusive.

In order to further understand T cell compartment dynamics in CLL, we extended our studies to longitudinal investigation (pre/ post-treatment) of patients treated with chemoimmunotherapy with the fludarabine-cyclophosphamide-rituximab (FCR) regimen or the BcR signaling inhibitors (BcRi) ibrutinib (IB) and idelalisib (the latter in combination with rituximab, R-ID). We found that T-cell clonality significantly increased at (i) 3 months in the FCR and R-ID treatment groups, and (ii) over deepening clinical response in the R-ID group, with a similar trend detected in the IB group. Perhaps more importantly, in contrast to FCR that induced T-cell repertoire reconstitution, BcRi retained pretreatment clones. Extensive comparisons of the CLL dataset against external TR sequence databases showed little similarity with other entities, but instead revealed major TR clonotypes shared exclusively by patients with CLL, supporting selection by conserved CLL-associated antigens. In addition, we assessed the functional impact of these treatments on T cells and found that (i) R-ID upregulated the expression of activation markers in effector memory T cells, and (ii) both BcRi improved antitumor T-cell immune synapse formation, in marked contrast to FCR (102). Here, it is worth mentioning the contradictory findings of an another NGS-based longitudinal study of the TR gene repertoire in IB-treated patients, where this therapy resulted in TR repertoire diversification (103). However, major differences in the experimental and analytical procedures render these two studies incomparable, highlighting the need for further harmonization of the NGS protocols and bioinformatics workflows. A limitation inherent to both studies concerns the fact that total CD3⁺ T cells rather than particular T cell subpopulations were investigated, which could lead to misinterpretation due to a "dilution effect" by bulk T cell analysis. Finally, robust conclusions regarding the links, if any, between T cell dynamics overtime and clinical outcome are still not possible: hence studies on larger, well-characterized cohorts remain of paramount importance.

Considering mounting evidence that the TR gene repertoire in CLL is antigen selected, identifying the cognate antigens is an obvious line of research, not least because it would assist in designing effective antigen-specific immunotherapy. Studies of HLA-presented antigenome and computational models for tumor-associated antigen prediction proposed the existence of disease specific antigens, deriving from CLL-related genomic aberrations, that were identified exclusively on neoplastic cells of CLL patients (104-106). Additionally, the broad representation of BcR IG-derived epitopes in patients across different disease (Binet) stages and through various treatments suggest them as potential candidates for peptide vaccines and objectives of neoantigen-targeting immunotherapies. However, immune tolerance mechanisms can turn the BcR IG-derived peptides, a potentially significant pool of cognate neo-antigens in B cell lymphomas (107, 108), into ineffective targets for T cells. This phenomenon, known as immunoediting, has been described in different contexts (including cancer and viral infections) and can neutralize an immunogenic phenotype favoring cells to survive and proliferate (27, 109).

TREATMENT OPTIONS IN CLL AND IMPLICATION OF THE T CELL COMPARTMENT

T cells in the CLL TME exhibit a number of phenotypic and functional defects, acquired through persistent crosstalk with the

neoplastic cells. The T cell compartment aberrations appear to be CLL-specific and induced by the CLL cells, leading to functional exhaustion, reduced activation and proliferation of effector subpopulations and decreased cytotoxic responses. Thus, CLL cells have the ability to amend alter T cell functions in order to evade immune-surveillance, proliferate and further expand overtime.

Despite the severe T cell deficiencies identified in CLL patients and models, studies demonstrate that subsets of these defective T cells can restore their functionality and mount anti-tumor responses under particular therapeutic interventions (**Figure 2**). Moreover, the identification of tumor-derived antigens implicated in T cell clonal expansions that may harbor antitumor properties can pave the way for therapeutic peptide vaccination strategies and adoptive T-cell transfer protocols in order to augment efficacy and guide the specificities of anticancer immune responses. Consequently, deep understanding of tumorderived T cell dysfunction is highly significant for the development of new therapeutic modalities to restore antitumor immunity and result in tumor control.

In recent years, the advent of BCRi has led to a major paradigm change in the treatment of CLL. Due to structural and functional similarities of kinases between T and B cells, cross-reactivity of these agents has been described, highlighting an additional immunomodulatory mechanism of action in TME. In more detail, besides inhibiting the Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) that is implicated in signal transduction of the activated BcR in CLL cells (110), ibrutinib targets also the T-cell associated kinase ITK, modulating T cell immunity. This is made manifest by effective immune synapse formation, shift towards Th1 polarization, and expansion of functionally competent specific-T clones, possibly contributing in deepening clinical response (102, 111, 112). In addition, ibrutinib-induced down-regulation of the PD-1/PD-L1 axis and inhibition of the STAT3 pathway modulates the immunosuppressive TME: on these grounds, combination protocols with lenalidomide or checkpoint inhibitors hold promises for reactivation of anti-tumor immunity (113-115). Similar effects have been demonstrated by treatment with idelalisib that also targets other PI3K isoforms in T cells, enhancing anti-tumor functions through modulation of Tregs (74). This is unsurprising considering that intracellular signaling that leads to suppression of T cell effector functions is extensively dependent on pathways implicating an isoform of PI3K δ that constitutes an excellent target for idelalisib. At a first glance, this effect might be considered as an alternative mechanism to reduce immunosuppression and invigorate T cell responses; however, the described severe autoimmune adverse effects cannot be overlooked (116). Effects on the CLL TME are not restricted to BCRi though, since treatment with the BCL2 inhibitor venetoclax has been associated with reduced numbers of PD-1⁺ T cells and expression of inflammatory cytokines, suggesting a mechanism of immune recovery (117). Collectively, thorough investigation of the possible immunomodulatory effects of novel agents in CLL is of great relevance for future development of new combination therapeutic strategies.



As already mentioned, interactions between inhibitory receptors and their ligands, including the PD-1/PD-L1 axis, enable CLL cells to evade T cell immunosurveillance, thus proposing a new area for therapeutic targeting. Preclinical studies in a murine CLL model showed that immune checkpoint inhibition of PD-1/PD-L1 led to prevention of immune dysfunction and leukemia development, hence offering a rationale for the clinical testing of these regiments (58). Despite the promising results of PD-1 blockade in clinical trials for metastatic melanoma (MM), non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and renal cell cancer (RCC) (118), anti–PD-1 monotherapy benefits only a small fraction of CLL patients who developed Richter syndrome (64). Nevertheless, combination therapies with regimens targeting different inhibitory pathways may offer better outcomes (71, 119).

Adoptive T cell therapy is an evolving field that shows promises in recent trials. The protocol is based on the infusion of genetically modified T lymphocytes with a particular specificity for antigen recognition on the malignant cells. In CLL, the expression of the CD19 surface molecule is used as a selective B cell target and autologous cytotoxic T cells are modified ex vivo to express a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) with affinity to CD19 of CLL cells. The engagement of a CAR-T cell with a CD19⁺ B cell leads to T cell activation in a MHCindependent manner, redirecting cytotoxic effects towards CLL cells (120). Encouraging results from adoptive T cell therapy in B acute lymphoblastic leukemia have paved the way for trials in CLL: initial results were deemed positive, but the overall efficiency of the approach was limited in patients with bulky lymph node involvement (121). Attempts to induce the antitumor properties and the efficiency of the CAR-T cells are based on, amongst others, modifications for constitutive expression of the CD40 ligand that lead to proliferation and Th1 immune responses, whereas also combination with PD-1 blockade has been used in order to bypass CAR-T exhaustion (121, 122).

A major challenge for effective CAR-T cell designs is to enhance and guide specificity towards the malignant cells. Thus, identification and in-depth characterization of T cell clones bearing anti-tumor properties emerge as highly relevant. In parallel, detailed studies on the HLA-lingadome highlight tumor-derived antigens that are exclusively expressed on the leukemic cells and represent possible effective targets for adoptive T cell therapy (107, 123). Additionally, the identification of anti-CLL T clones and the respective diseasespecific cognate antigens offers a rationale for peptide vaccination strategies in order to induce anti-tumor responses, but also for target recognition for T-cell based immunotherapy. Indeed, spectrometric studies on the naturally presented HLA ligands in CLL identified a pool of antigens exclusively expressed in CLL patients, providing information regarding the

REFERENCES

 Kipps TJ, Stevenson FK, Wu CJ, Croce CM, Packham G, Wierda WG, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Nat Rev Dis Prim* (2017) 3:1–22. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.96 immunogenicity of the malignant cells while also offering new treatment targets (107). However, clinical studies targeting neoepitopes expressed in the malignant cells demonstrate enhanced rejection of tumor cells, underling the safety profile of these approaches (124, 125).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

CLL cells have the ability to transform the effector functions of the bystander T cells in the TME, thus rendering them a source of trophic signals for the survival and proliferation of the malignant clone. Moreover, alterations in the T cell transcriptome combined with functional exhaustion undermine cytotoxic responses against tumor cells, establishing tumor evasion and escape of CLL cells from immunosurveillance. That said, despite the observed defects in the T cell compartment, several studies have identified subsets of T cells bearing anti-tumor properties that can be unleashed under the proper stimulation. This binary, contradicting role of T lymphocytes in CLL TME supports the analogy with a twoedged sword. Based on the observations discussed in the current review, the mobilization of exhausted T cells and the invigoration of anti-tumor pathways could be translated to clinical efficiency, tumor control and durable remissions. However, in order for this objective to be met, detailed characterization of the implicated mechanisms at the molecular and cellular level is urgently warranted.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version. EV wrote the manuscript. KS and AC edited the text and gave final approval.

FUNDING

This work is supported in part by the ERANET Transcan-2, Project Acronym: Novel, and the Hellenic Precision Medicine Network in Oncology.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the work of past and current group members, particularly Drs Anna Vardi, Fotis Psomopoulos, Kostas Pasentsis, and Niki Stavroyianni.

- Burger JA, Chiorazzi N. B cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:592–601. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2013.07.002
- Chiorazzi N, Stevenson FK. Celebrating 20 Years of IGHV Mutation Analysis in CLL. *HemaSphere* (2020) 4:e334. doi: 10.1097/hs9. 00000000000334

- Agathangelidis A, Chatzidimitriou A, Gemenetzi K, Giudicelli V, Karypidou M, Plevova K, et al. Higher-order connections between stereotyped subsets: Implications for improved patient classification in CLL. *Blood* (2020). doi: 10.1182/blood.2020007039
- Stamatopoulos K, Belessi C, Moreno C, Boudjograh M, Guida G, Smilevska T, et al. Over 20% of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia carry stereotyped receptors: Pathogenetic implications and clinical correlations. *Blood* (2007) 109:259–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-03-012948
- Shain KH, Dalton WS, Tao J. The tumor microenvironment shapes hallmarks of mature B-cell malignancies. Oncogene (2015) 34:4673–82. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.403
- Ghia P, Chiorazzi N, Stamatopoulos K. Microenvironmental influences in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: The role of antigen stimulation. J Internal Med (J Intern Med) (2008) 549–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.02030.x
- Herishanu Y, Katz BZ, Lipsky A, Wiestner A. Biology of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia in Different Microenvironments. Clinical and Therapeutic Implications. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am* (2013) 27:173– 206. doi: 10.1016/j.hoc.2013.01.002
- D'Arena G, Vitale C, Perbellini O, Coscia M, La Rocca F, Ruggieri V, et al. Prognostic relevance of oxidative stress measurement in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Eur J Haematol* (2017) 99:306–14. doi: 10.1111/ejh.12918
- D'Arena G, Seneca E, Migliaccio I, De Feo V, Giudice A, La Rocca F, et al. Oxidative stress in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: still a matter of debate. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2019) 60:867–75. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2018.1509317
- 11. Burger JA, Gribben JG. The microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) and other B cell malignancies: Insight into disease biology and new targeted therapies. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2014) 24:71-81. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.08.011
- Plander M, Seegers S, Ugocsai P, Diermeier-Daucher S, Iványi J, Schmitz G, et al. Different proliferative and survival capacity of CLL-cells in a newly established in vitro model for pseudofollicles. *Leukemia* (2009) 23:2118–28. doi: 10.1038/leu.2009.145
- Ghamlouch H, Ouled-Haddou H, Damaj G, Royer B, Gubler B, Marolleau J-P. A Combination of Cytokines Rescues Highly Purified Leukemic CLL B-Cells from Spontaneous Apoptosis In Vitro. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e60370. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060370
- Long M, Beckwith K, Do P, Mundy BL, Gordon A, Lehman AM, et al. Ibrutinib treatment improves T cell number and function in CLL patients. J Clin Invest (2017) 127:3052–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI89756
- van Attekum MHA, Eldering E, Kater AP. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells are active participants in microenvironmental cross-talk. *Haematologica* (2017) 102:1469–76. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.142679
- Kaech SM, Ahmed R. Memory CD8+ T cell differentiation: Initial antigen encounter triggers a developmental program in naïve cells. *Nat Immunol* (2001) 2:415–22. doi: 10.1038/87720
- Bajénoff M, Granjeaud S, Guerder S. The strategy of T cell antigen-presenting cell encounter in antigen-draining lymph nodes revealed by imaging of initial T cell activation. J Exp Med (2003) 198:715–24. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030167
- Lamble AJ, Lind EF. Targeting the immune microenvironment in acute myeloid leukemia: A focus on T cell immunity. *Front Oncol* (2018) 8:213. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00213
- Bagnara D, Kaufman MS, Calissano C, Marsilio S, Patten PEM, Simone R, et al. A novel adoptive transfer model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia suggests a key role for T lymphocytes in the disease. *Blood* (2011) 117:5463– 72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-324210
- Patten PEM, Ferrer G, Chen S-S, Simone R, Marsilio S, Yan X-J, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells diversify and differentiate in vivo via a nonclassical Th1-dependent, Bcl-6–deficient process. *JCI Insight* (2016) 1(4): e86288. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.86288
- Baliakas P, Jeromin S, Iskas M, Puiggros A, Plevova K, Nguyen-Khac F, et al. Cytogenetic complexity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Definitions, associations, and clinical impact. *Blood* (2019) 133:1205–16. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2018-09-873083
- Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science (80-) (2015) 348:69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971
- Tausch E, Mertens D, Stilgenbauer S. Genomic features: Impact on pathogenesis and treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncol Res Treat* (2016) 39:34–40. doi: 10.1159/000443906

- Gaidano G, Rossi D. The mutational landscape of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and its impact on prognosis and treatment. *Hematology* (2017) 2017:329–37. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2017.1.329
- Riches JC, Davies JK, McClanahan F, Fatah R, Iqbal S, Agrawal S, et al. T cells from CLLpatients exhibit features of T-cell exhaustion but retain capacity for cytokine production. *Blood* (2013) 121:1612–21. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2012-09-457531
- Gitelson E, Hammond C, Mena J, Lorenzo M, Buckstein R, Berinstein NL, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia-reactive T cells during disease progression and after autologous tumor cell vaccines. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) 9:1656–65.
- Nicholas NS, Apollonio B, Ramsay AG. Tumor microenvironment (TME)driven immune suppression in B cell malignancy. *Biochim Biophys Acta* -*Mol Cell Res* (2016) 1863:471–82. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.11.003
- Rovida A, Maccalli C, Scarfò L, Dellabona P, Stamatopoulos K, Ghia P. Exploiting B Cell Receptor Stereotypy to design Tailored Immunotherapy in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020). doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1632
- Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Haabeth OAW, Chen B, Swaminathan K, et al. Antigen presentation profiling reveals recognition of lymphoma immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Nature* (2017) 543:723–7. doi: 10.1038/nature21433
- Scrivener S, Goddard RV, Kaminski ER, Prentice AG. Abnormal T-cell function in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2003) 44:383–9. doi: 10.1080/1042819021000029993
- Görgün G, Holderried TAW, Zahrieh D, Neuberg D, Gribben JG. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce changes in gene expression of CD4 and CD8 T cells. J Clin Invest (2005) 115:1797–805. doi: 10.1172/JCI24176
- 32. Nunes C, Wong R, Mason M, Fegan C, Man S, Pepper C. Expansion of a CD8 +PD-1 + replicative senescence phenotype in early stage CLL patients is associated with inverted CD4:CD8 ratios and disease progression. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18:678–87. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2630
- Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Yazdanparast H, Colomer D, Campo E, Kugler S, et al. Control of chronic lymphocytic leukemia development by clonallyexpanded CD8 + T-cells that undergo functional exhaustion in secondary lymphoid tissues. *Leukemia* (2019) 33:625–37. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0250-6
- 34. Buschle M, Campana D, Carding SR, Richard C, Victor Hoffbrand A, Brenner MK. Interferon γ inhibits apoptotic cell death in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Exp Med (1993) 177:213–8. doi: 10.1084/ jem.177.1.213
- 35. Del Giudice I, Chiaretti S, Tavolaro S, De Propris MS, Maggio R, Mancini F, et al. Spontaneous regression of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Clinical and biologic features of 9 cases. *Blood* (2009) 114:638–46. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-12-196568
- 36. Catakovic K, Gassner FJ, Ratswohl C, Zaborsky N, Rebhandl S, Schubert M, et al. TIGIT expressing CD4+T cells represent a tumor-supportive T cell subset in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7(1): e1371399. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1371399
- Elston L, Fegan C, Hills R, Hashimdeen SS, Walsby E, Henley P, et al. Increased frequency of CD4+PD-1+HLA-DR+ T cells is associated with disease progression in CLL. *Br J Haematol* (2020) 188:872–80. doi: 10.1111/ bjh.16260
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez AP, Contesti J, Huergo-Zapico L, Lopez-Soto A, Fernández-Guizn A, Acebes-Huerta A, et al. Prognostic significance of CD8 and CD4 T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2010) 51:1829–36. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2010.503820
- Takeuchi Y, Nishikawa H. Roles of regulatory T cells in cancer immunity. Int Immunol (2016) 28:401–9. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxw025
- 40. Piper KP, Karanth M, McLarnon A, Kalk E, Khan N, Murray J, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells drive the global CD4 + T cell repertoire towards a regulatory phenotype and leads to the accumulation of CD4 + forkhead box P3 + T cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2011) 166:154–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2011.04466.x
- Lad D, Hoeppli R, Huang Q, Garcia R, Xu L, Toze C, et al. Regulatory T-cells drive immune dysfunction in CLL. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2018) 59:486–9. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2017.1330475
- 42. Beyer M, Classen S, Endl E, Kochanek M, Weihrauch MR, Debey-Pascher S, et al. Comparative approach to define increased regulatory T cells in different

cancer subtypes by combined assessment of CD127 and FOXP3. Clin Dev Immunol (2011) 11:734036. doi: 10.1155/2011/734036

- Sakaguchi S. Regulatory T Cells: Key Controllers of Immunologic Self-Tolerance. Cell (2000) 101:455–8. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80856-9
- 44. Jak M, Mous R, Remmerswaal EBM, Spijker R, Jaspers A, Yagüe A, et al. Enhanced formation and survival of CD4+ CD25hi Foxp3+ T-cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2009) 50:788–801. doi: 10.1080/10428190902803677
- Roberts AW, Davids MS, Pagel JM, Kahl BS, Puvvada SD, Gerecitano JF, et al. Targeting BCL2 with Venetoclax in Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2016) 374:311–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1513257
- Fischer K, Al-Sawaf O, Bahlo J, Fink A-M, Tandon M, Dixon M, et al. Venetoclax and Obinutuzumab in Patients with CLL and Coexisting Conditions. N Engl J Med (2019) 380:2225–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1815281
- Triulzi T, Tagliabue E, Balsari A, Casalini P. FOXP3 expression in tumor cells and implications for cancer progression. *J Cell Physiol* (2013) 228:30–5. doi: 10.1002/jcp.24125
- Karanikas V, Speletas M, Zamanakou M, Kalala F, Loules G, Kerenidi T, et al. Foxp3 expression in human cancer cells. J Transl Med (2008) 6:19. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-6-19
- Nagai Y, Lam L, Greene MI, Zhang H. FOXP3 and Its Cofactors as Targets of Immunotherapies. *Engineering* (2019) 5:115–21. doi: 10.1016/j.eng. 2019.01.001
- Lozano T, Gorraiz M, Lasarte-Cía A, Ruiz M, Rabal O, Oyarzabal J, et al. Blockage of FOXP3 transcription factor dimerization and FOXP3/AML1 interaction inhibits T regulatory cell activity: sequence optimization of a peptide inhibitor. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:71709–24. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.17845
- Yousefi M, Movassaghpour AA, Shamsasenjan K, Ghalamfarsa G, Sadreddini S, Jadidi-Niaragh F, et al. The skewed balance between Tregs and Th17 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Futur Oncol* (2015) 11:1567–82. doi: 10.2217/fon.14.298
- Hus I, Bojarska-Junak A, Chocholska S, Tomczak W, Woś J, Dmoszyńska A, et al. Th17/IL-17A might play a protective role in chronic lymphocytic leukemia immunity. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:1–8. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0078091
- 53. Jadidi-Niaragh F, Ghalamfarsa G, Memarian A, Asgarian-Omran H, Razavi SM, Sarrafnejad A, et al. Downregulation of IL-17-producing T cells is associated with regulatory T cell expansion and disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Tumor Biol* (2013) 34:929–40. doi: 10.1007/s13277-012-0628-4
- Boćko D, Kosmaczewska A, Ciszak L, Teodorowska R, Frydecka I. CD28 costimulatory molecule–expression, structure and function. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)* (2020) 50(3):169–77.
- Bonyhadi M, Frohlich M, Rasmussen A, Ferrand C, Grosmaire L, Robinet E, et al. In Vitro Engagement of CD3 and CD28 Corrects T Cell Defects in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Immunol (2005) 174:2366–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.4.2366
- Reichardt P, Dornbach B, Gunzer M. APC, T cells, and the immune synapse. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2010) 340:229–49. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-03858-7_12
- Riches J C, Ramsay A G, G. Gribben J. Immune Dysfunction in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: The Role for Immunotherapy. *Curr Pharm Des* (2012) 18:3389–98. doi: 10.2174/138161212801227023
- McClanahan F, Hanna B, Miller S, Clear AJ, Lichter P, Gribben JG, et al. PD-L1 checkpoint blockade prevents immune dysfunction and leukemia development in a mouse model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2015) 126:203–11. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-622936
- 59. Gorgun G, Ramsay AG, Holderried TAW, Zahrieh D, Dieu R, Liu F, et al. Eμ- TCL1 mice represent a model for immunotherapeutic reversal of chronic lymphocytic leukemia-induced T-cell dysfunction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:6250–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901166106
- 60. Palma M, Gentilcore G, Heimersson K, Mozaffari F, Näsman-Glaser B, Young E, et al. Mellstedt H. T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia display dysregulated expression of immune checkpoints and activation markers. *Haematologica* (2017) 102:562–72. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.151100
- 61. Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple inhibitory ligands induce impaired T-cell immunologic synapse function in chronic

lymphocytic leukemia that can be blocked with lenalidomide: establishing a reversible immune evasion mechanism in human cancer. *Blood* (2012) 120 (7):1412–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-411678

- Darvin P, Toor SM, Sasidharan Nair V, Elkord E. Immune checkpoint inhibitors: recent progress and potential biomarkers. *Exp Mol Med* (2018) 50:165. doi: 10.1038/s12276-018-0191-1
- Hu B, Jacobs R, Ghosh N. Checkpoint Inhibitors Hodgkin Lymphoma and Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Curr Hematol Malig Rep* (2018) 13:543–54. doi: 10.1007/s11899-018-0484-4
- Ding W, LaPlant BR, Call TG, Parikh SA, Leis JF, He R, et al. Pembrolizumab in patients with CLL and Richter transformation or with relapsed CLL. *Blood* (2017) 129:3419–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-765685
- Xu-Monette ZY, Zhou J, Young KH. PD-1 expression and clinical PD-1 blockade in B-cell lymphomas. *Blood* (2018) 131:68–83. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-07-740993
- Chanan-Khan A, Porter CW. Immunomodulating drugs for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Lancet Oncol* (2006) 7:480–8. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(06)70723-9
- Carballido E, Veliz M, Komrokji R, Pinilla-Ibarz J. Immunomodulatory drugs and active immunotherapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer Control* (2012) 19(1):54–67. doi: 10.1177/107327481201900106
- Ramsay AG, Evans R, Kiaii S, Svensson L, Hogg N, Gribben JG. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce defective LFA-1-directed T-cell motility by altering Rho GTPase signaling that is reversible with lenalidomide. *Blood* (2013) 121:2704–14. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-08-448332
- 69. Ramsay AG, Johnson AJ, Lee AM, Gorgün G, Le Dieu R, Blum W, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia T cells show impaired immunological synapse formation that can be reversed with an immunomodulating drug. *J Clin Invest* (2008) 118(7):2427–37. doi: 10.1172/jci35017
- 70. Shanafelt TD, Ramsay AG, Zent CS, Leis JF, Tun HW, Call TG, et al. Longterm repair of T-cell synapse activity in a phase II trial of chemoimmunotherapy followed by lenalidomide consolidation in previously untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Blood* (2013) 121:4137–41. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-12-470005
- Sakuishi K, Apetoh L, Sullivan JM, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC. Targeting Tim-3 and PD-1 pathways to reverse T cell exhaustion and restore anti-tumor immunity. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:2187–94. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20100643
- Blank C, Kuball J, Voelkl S, Wiendl H, Becker B, Walter B, et al. Blockade of PD-L1 (B7-H1) augments human tumor-specific T cell responses in vitro. *Int J Cancer* (2006) 119:317–27. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21775
- Klebanoff CA, Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Prospects for gene-engineered T cell immunotherapy for solid cancers. *Nat Med* (2016) 22:26–36. doi: 10.1038/nm.4015
- 74. Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Scheffold A, Jebaraj BMC, Demerdash Y, Öztürk S, et al. PI3K δ inhibition modulates regulatory and effector T-cell differentiation and function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2019) 33:1427–38. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0318-3
- Norde WJ, Hobo W, Van Der Voort R, Dolstra H. Coinhibitory molecules in hematologic malignancies: Targets for therapeutic intervention. *Blood* (2012) 120:728–36. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-412510
- Virgin HW, Wherry EJ, Ahmed R. Redefining Chronic Viral Infection. Cell (2009) 138:30–50. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.036
- Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. Nat Immunol (2011) 12:492–9. doi: 10.1038/ ni.2035
- Zenz T. Exhausting T cells in CLL. Blood (2013) 121:1485–6. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2013-01-475939
- Llaó Cid L, Hanna BS, Iskar M, Roessner PM, Öztürk S, Lichter P, et al. CD8+ T-cells of CLL-bearing mice acquire a transcriptional program of T-cell activation and exhaustion. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2020) 61:351–6. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2019.1660972
- Shapiro M, Herishanu Y, Ben-Zion-katz, Dezorella N, Sun C, Kay S, et al. Lymphocyte activation gene 3: A novel therapeutic target in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2017) 102:874–82. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2016.148965
- Vardi A, Stamatopoulos K, Hadzidimitriou A. T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Can they fight? *Oncotarget* (2017) 8:99209–10. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.22277

- Greaves M. Clonal expansion in B-CLL: Fungal drivers or self-service. J Exp Med (2013) 210:1–3. doi: 10.1084/jem.20122739
- Os A, Bürgler S, Ribes AP, Funderud A, Wang D, Thompson KM, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells are activated and proliferate in response to specific T helper cells. *Cell Rep* (2013) 4:566–77. doi: 10.1016/ j.celrep.2013.07.011
- Minici C, Gounari M, Übelhart R, Scarfò L, Dühren-von Minden M, Schneider D, et al. Distinct homotypic B-cell receptor interactions shape the outcome of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8 (1):15746. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15746
- Burger JA, Tedeschi A, Barr PM, Robak T, Owen C, Ghia P, et al. Ibrutinib as Initial Therapy for Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2015) 373:2425–37. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1509388
- Brown JR, Byrd JC, Coutre SE, Benson DM, Flinn IW, Wagner-Johnston ND, et al. Idelalisib, an inhibitor of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase p110δ, for relapsed/refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2014) 123:3390–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-535047
- Wiestner A. BCR pathway inhibition as therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia and lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma. *Hematology* (2014) 2014:125– 34. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2014.1.125
- Fais F, Ghiotto F, Hashimoto S, Sellars B, Valetto A, Allen SL, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells express restricted sets of mutated and unmutated antigen receptors. J Clin Invest (1998) 102:1515–25. doi: 10.1172/JCI3009
- Baliakas P, Hadzidimitriou A, Sutton LA, Minga E, Agathangelidis A, Nichelatti M, et al. Clinical effect of stereotyped B-cell receptor immunoglobulins in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: A retrospective multicentre study. *Lancet Haematol* (2014) 1:e74–84. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(14)00005-2
- Damle RN, Wasil T, Fais F, Ghiotto F, Valetto A, Allen SL, et al. Ig V Gene Mutation Status and CD38 Expression As Novel Prognostic Indicators in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (1999) 94:1840–7. doi: 10.1182/ blood.v94.6.1840
- Hamblin TJ, Davis Z, Gardiner A, Oscier DG, Stevenson FK. Unmutated Ig V (H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (1999) 94:1848–54. doi: 10.1182/blood.v94.6.1848
- 92. Degan M, Bomben R, Bo MD, Zucchetto A, Nanni P, Rupolo M, et al. Analysis of IgVH gene mutations in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia according to antigen-driven selection identifies subgroups with different prognosis and usage of the canonical somatic hypermutation machinery. Br J Haematol (2004) 126:29–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.04985.x
- Stamatopoulos K, Agathangelidis A, Rosenquist R, Ghia P. Antigen receptor stereotypy in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:282–91. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.322
- Wen T, Mellstedt H, Jondal M. Presence of clonal T cell populations in chronic B lymphocytic leukemia and smoldering myeloma. J Exp Med (1990) 171:659–66. doi: 10.1084/jem.171.3.659
- Rezvany MR, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Österborg A, Kimby E, Wigzell H, Mellstedt H. Oligoclonal TCRBV gene usage in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Major perturbations are preferentially seen within the CD4 T-cell subset. *Blood* (1999) 94:1063–9. doi: 10.1182/blood.v94.3.1063.415a17_1063_1069
- 96. Farace F, Orlanducci F, Dietrich PY, Gaudin C, Angevin E, Courtier MH, et al. T cell repertoire in patients with B chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Evidence for multiple in vivo T cell clonal expansions. *J Immunol* (1994) 153:4281–90.
- Alatrakchi N, Farace F, Frau E, Carde P, Munck JN, Triebel F. T-cell clonal expansion in patients with B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders. *J Immunother* (1998) 21:363–70. doi: 10.1097/00002371-199809000-00004
- Rezvany MR, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Wigzell H, Österborg A, Mellstedt H. Leukemia-associated monoclonal and oligoclonal TCR-BV use in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2003) 101:1063–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-03-0746
- 99. Hofbauer JP, Heyder C, Denk U, Kocher T, Holler C, Trapin D, et al. Development of CLL in the TCL1 transgenic mouse model is associated with severe skewing of the T-cell compartment homologous to human CLL. *Leukemia* (2011) 25:1452–8. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.111
- 100. Vardi A, Agathangelidis A, Stalika E, Karypidou M, Siorenta A, Anagnostopoulos A, et al. Antigen Selection Shapes the T-cell Repertoire

in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Clin Cancer Res (2016) 22:167-74. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-3017

- 101. Vardi A, Vlachonikola E, Karypidou M, Stalika E, Bikos V, Gemenetzi K, et al. Restrictions in the T-cell repertoire of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: High-throughput immunoprofiling supports selection by shared antigenic elements. *Leukemia* (2017) 31:1555–61. doi: 10.1038/leu.2016.362
- 102. Vardi A, Vlachonikola E, Papazoglou D, Psomopoulos F, Kotta K, Ioannou N, et al. T cell dynamics in chronic lymphocytic leukemia under different treatment modalities. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26:clincanres.3827.2019. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-3827
- 103. Yin Q, Sivina M, Robins H, Yusko E, Vignali M, O'Brien S, et al. Ibrutinib Therapy Increases T Cell Repertoire Diversity in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Immunol (2017) 198:1740–7. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1601190
- 104. Rajasagi M, Shukla SA, Fritsch EF, Keskin DB, DeLuca D, Carmona E, et al. Systematic identification of personal tumor-specific neoantigens in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2014) 124:453–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-04-567933
- 105. Fritsch EF, Rajasagi M, Ott PA, Brusic V, Hacohen N, Wu CJ. HLA-binding properties of tumor neoepitopes in humans. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2014) 2:522–9. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0227
- 106. Kowalewski DJ, Stevanovic S, Rammensee HG, Stickel JS. Antileukemia Tcell responses in CLL – We don't need no aberration. *Oncoimmunology* (2015) 4:1–3. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1011527
- 107. Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Backert L, Berlin C, Kahn S, Kanz L, et al. HLA ligandome analysis identifies the underlying specificities of spontaneous antileukemia immune responses in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:E116–75. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1416389112
- 108. Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Chen B, Sworder B, Shree T, Liu CL, et al. B-cell lymphomas present immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Blood* (2019) 133:878–81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-06-845156
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Ikeda H, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. Cancer immunoediting: From immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:991–8. doi: 10.1038/ni1102-991
- Parmar S, Patel K, Pinilla-Ibarz J. Ibrutinib (Imbruvica): A novel targeted therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia(2014). Available at: https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4103574/ (Accessed August 10, 2020).
- 111. Mhibik M, Wiestner A, Sun C. Harnessing the effects of BTKI on T cells for effective immunotherapy against CLL. Int J Mol Sci (2020) 21(1):68. doi: 10.3390/ijms21010068
- 112. Dubovsky JA, Beckwith KA, Natarajan G, Woyach JA, Jaglowski S, Zhong Y, et al. Ibrutinib is an irreversible molecular inhibitor of ITK driving a Th1-selective pressure in T lymphocytes. *Blood* (2013) 122:2539–49. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-507947
- 113. Kondo K, Shaim H, Thompson PA, Burger JA, Keating M, Estrov Z, et al. Ibrutinib modulates the immunosuppressive CLL microenvironment through STAT3-mediated suppression of regulatory B-cell function and inhibition of the PD-1/PD-L1 pathway. *Leukemia* (2018) 32:960–70. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.304
- 114. Sagiv-Barfi I, Kohrt HEK, Czerwinski DK, Ng PP, Chang BY, Levy R. Therapeutic antitumor immunity by checkpoint blockade is enhanced by ibrutinib, an inhibitor of both BTK and ITK. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:E966–72. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1500712112
- 115. Ujjani C, Wang H, Skarbnik A, Trivedi N, Ramzi P, Khan N, et al. A phase 1 study of lenalidomide and ibrutinib in combination with rituximab in relapsed and refractory CLL. *Blood Adv* (2018) 2:762–8. doi: 10.1182/ bloodadvances.2017015263
- 116. Chellappa S, Kushekhar K, Munthe LA, Tjønnfjord GE, Aandahl EM, Okkenhaug K, et al. The PI3K p110δ Isoform Inhibitor Idelalisib Preferentially Inhibits Human Regulatory T Cell Function. J Immunol (2019) 202:1397–405. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701703
- 117. De Weerdt I, Hofland T, De Boer R, Dobber JA, Dubois J, Van Nieuwenhuize D, et al. Distinct immune composition in lymph node and peripheral blood of CLL patients is reshaped during venetoclax treatment. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3:2642–52. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000360
- 118. Gandini S, Massi D, Mandalà M. PD-L1 expression in cancer patients receiving anti PD-1/PD-L1 antibodies: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* (2016) 100:88–98. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2016.02.001

- 119. Wierz M, Pierson S, Guyonnet L, Viry E, Lequeux A, Oudin A, et al. Dual PD1/LAG3 immune checkpoint blockade limits tumor development in a murine model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2018) 131:1617–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-792267
- 120. Abken H, Koehler P, Schmidt P, Hombach AA, Hallek M. Engineered T cells for the adoptive therapy of b-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Adv Hematol (2012) 2012:595060. doi: 10.1155/2012/595060
- 121. Curran KJ, Seinstra BA, Nikhamin Y, Yeh R, Usachenko Y, Van Leeuwen DG, et al. Enhancing antitumor efficacy of chimeric antigen receptor T cells through constitutive CD40L expression. *Mol Ther* (2015) 23:769–78. doi: 10.1038/ mt.2015.4
- 122. Gargett T, Yu W, Dotti G, Yvon ES, Christo SN, Hayball JD, et al. GD2specific CAR T Cells Undergo Potent Activation and Deletion Following Antigen Encounter but can be Protected from Activation-induced Cell Death by PD-1 Blockade. *Mol Ther* (2016) 24:1135–49. doi: 10.1038/mt.2016.63
- 123. Torikai H, Reik A, Liu PQ, Zhou Y, Zhang L, Maiti S, et al. A foundation for universal T-cell based immunotherapy: T cells engineered to express a CD19specific chimeric-antigen-receptor and eliminate expression of endogenous TCR. *Blood* (2012) 119:5697–705. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-01-405365
- 124. Giannopoulos K, Własiuk P, Dmoszyńska A, Roliński J, Schmitt M. Peptide vaccination induces profound changes in the immune system in patients

with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Folia Histochem Cytobiol* (2011) 49:161–7. doi: 10.5603/FHC.2011.0023

125. Van Rooij N, Van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(32):e439–e42. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521

Conflict of Interest: KS and AC have received unrestricted grant support from Jannsen Pharmaceutica and Abbvie.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Vlachonikola, Stamatopoulos and Chatzidimitriou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in the Tumor Microenvironment: What Do We Need to Consider When Treating Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia With PI3K Inhibitors?

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dominik Wolf, Innsbruck Medical University, Austria

Reviewed by:

Dimitar G. Efremov, International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, Italy Elisa Ten Hacken, Dana–Farber Cancer Institute, United States Yair Herishanu, Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center, Israel

> *Correspondence: Philipp M. Roessner p.roessner@dkfz.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 August 2020 Accepted: 07 December 2020 Published: 20 January 2021

Citation:

Aydin E, Faehling S, Saleh M, Llaó Cid L, Seiffert M and Roessner PM (2021) Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in the Tumor Microenvironment: What Do We Need to Consider When Treating Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia With PI3K Inhibitors? Front. Immunol. 11:595818. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.595818 Ebru Aydin^{1,2}, Sebastian Faehling^{1,3}, Mariam Saleh^{1,4}, Laura Llaó Cid^{1,5}, Martina Seiffert¹ and Philipp M. Roessner^{1*}

¹ Molecular Genetics, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Heidelberg, Germany, ² Institute of Clinical Sciences, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, ³ Medical Faculty, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany, ⁴ Faculty of Molecular Medicine, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, ⁵ Faculty of Bioscience, University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Phosphoinositide 3-kinases (PI3Ks) and their downstream proteins constitute a signaling pathway that is involved in both normal cell growth and malignant transformation of cells. Under physiological conditions, PI3K signaling regulates various cellular functions such as apoptosis, survival, proliferation, and growth, depending on the extracellular signals. A deterioration of these extracellular signals caused by mutational damage in oncogenes or growth factor receptors may result in hyperactivation of this signaling cascade, which is recognized as a hallmark of cancer. Although higher activation of PI3K pathway is common in many types of cancer, it has been therapeutically targeted for the first time in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), demonstrating its significance in B-cell receptor (BCR) signaling and malignant B-cell expansion. The biological activity of the PI3K pathway is not only limited to cancer cells but is also crucial for many components of the tumor microenvironment, as PI3K signaling regulates cytokine responses, and ensures the development and function of immune cells. Therefore, the success or failure of the PI3K inhibition is strongly related to microenvironmental stimuli. In this review, we outline the impacts of PI3K inhibition on the tumor microenvironment with a specific focus on CLL. Acknowledging the effects of PI3K inhibitor-based therapies on the tumor microenvironment in CLL can serve as a rationale for improved drug development, explain treatment-associated adverse events, and suggest novel combinatory treatment strategies in CLL.

Keywords: phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), chronic lymphocytic leukemia, tumor microenvironment, idelalisib, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) inhibition

PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE SIGNALING PATHWAY

The phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) family mediates nutrient sensing and metabolic control to prevent cell growth and proliferation in conditions of energy or nutrient deficiency. Several roles are ascribed to PI3K signaling both in normal cell function and cancer. The four best-characterized pathways that activate PI3K are cytokine/chemokine receptors, receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK), B-cell receptor (BCR), and G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) (**Figure 1**). Stimulation of these receptors causes the autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues on immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) that are important mediators of signal transduction in immune cells, leading to the activation of a PI3K p110 catalytic isoform.

PI3Ks phosphorylate the 3-position hydroxy group of the phosphatidylinositol ring. The resulting products are the secondary messengers phosphatidylinositol_(4,5)P2 (PIP2) and phosphatidylinositol_(3,4,5)P3 (PIP3), which trigger important physiological changes in cells through AKT/Protein Kinase B (PKB) phosphorylation and downstream kinases. One of those, mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1), which is a central mediator of the metabolic control, combines signals from nutrients and PI3K to induce cell growth and

proliferation. Major components of this pathway are outlined in **Figure 1**.

When a ligand binds to RTK, two RTK monomers dimerize, which results in the activation of intracellular tyrosine kinase domain and auto phosphorylation followed by indirect PI3K activation via adapter molecules such as the insulin receptor substrate (IRS). Alternatively, BCR-dependent activation of PI3Ks is mediated by Src and Syk family of receptor-associated tyrosine kinases. First, Srcfamily proteins phosphorylate the tyrosine residues of ITAMs that reside on the cytoplasmic part of the signal transducing subunits of the BCR-associated Ig- α and Ig- β . Phosphorylated ITAMs serve as binding sites for Src-homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing proteins such as B-cell PI3K adaptor protein (BCAP) and CD19 (Figure 2). With the help of these proteins, PI3Ks are recruited to the BCR signalosome (2, 3). Next, the regulatory subunit interacts with the intracellular section of the activated receptor via its SH2 domain and this event leads to the activation of catalytic p110 isoform which triggers a lipid membrane-associated cascade of phosphorylations (PIP2 to PIP3). The PI3K pathway is mediated mainly by PIP3, which is a secondary messenger that acts as a docking site. In the PI3K-AKT pathway, PIP3 can bind to both downstream effector proteins phosphoinositide dependent kinase (PDK1) and AKT. AKT modification activates the mTORC1 by direct phosphorylation, which results in synthesis of growth, proliferation-, and survivalrelated proteins (1).



FIGURE 1 | Class I PI3K signaling pathway simplified. Class I PI3Ks reside as dimers in the cells. After receiving an external stimulus, the regulatory p85 subunit interacts with the intracellular section of the activated receptor. The activation of a catalytic p110 isoform triggers a lipid membrane-associated cascade of phosphorylations (PIP2 to PIP3). The PI3K pathway is mediated mainly by PIP3, which is a secondary messenger that acts as a docking site. In the PI3K-AKT pathway, PIP3 can bind to both downstream effector proteins PDK1 and AKT. AKT modification activates the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) by direct phosphorylation, which results in synthesis of growth-, proliferation-, and survival-related proteins (1).



Isoforms of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinases

There are eight different isoforms of PI3Ks that are grouped into three classes (class I, II, and III) based on their primary structure and regulation. Class I PI3Ks, which this review is focused on, consist of four catalytic isoforms, namely p110 α , - β , - γ , and - δ . Class IA PI3Ks are dimers of a p110 catalytic protein and a p85 or p55 regulatory adapter subunit as detailed in **Figure 2** (4). Each regulatory subunit can associate with any of the three catalytic class IA isoforms: p110 α , p110 β , and p110 δ (5).

The expression of distinct catalytic isoforms is cell type specific. P110 α and - β are expressed in all cell types. In mice, homozygous knockouts of p110 α and p110 β are embryonic lethal, emphasizing their physiological importance (6–8). In contrast, p110 δ expression is mainly confined to leukocytes (4). Genetically modified mice expressing catalytically inactive PI3K δ (PI3K δ ^{KI}), manifest impaired B-cell, NK cell, and T-cell function (9, 10).

Class IB PI3Ks, which are built by a p110 γ catalytic and a p101 regulatory subunit, are selectively expressed by leukocytes (4, 11) and their activation is mediated by GPCRs (4). Knockdown of p110 γ in mice causes altered migration and recruitment of myeloid cell populations (12–14), which is in concordance with other reports indicating that the PI3K γ isoform is expressed mostly in the myeloid cell lineage (15–17).

PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE SIGNALING IN CANCER AND CHRONIC LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA

Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in Cancer

One of the best-characterized hallmarks of cancer cells is their ability to sustain chronic proliferation (18). While healthy cells can strictly regulate the production and release of growthpromoting signals, cancer cells often fail to do so and malignant transformation occurs as a result of mutations in one or more components of these signaling pathways (18). There are several pathways that influence each other through multifaceted interactions and contribute to tumor development. Some of the major signaling pathways whose components are likely to be cancer drivers include proteins like growth factor receptor tyrosine kinases (e.g., EGFR), lipid kinases (e.g., PI3K), small GTPases (e.g., RAS), oncogenes and tumor suppressors (e.g., MYC, P53), serine/threonine kinases (e.g., RAF, AKT), and cytoplasmic tyrosine kinases (e.g., SRC, ABL) (19-24). Among these, involvement of the PI3K signaling pathway in cancer has been revealed first when PI3K signaling was found to be hyperactive in phosphatase and tensin homologue (PTEN)-deficient tumors (25). Independent of stimulating receptors, PI3Ks can be activated directly via oncogenes like RAS (26) and their activity is negatively regulated by the tumor suppressor PTEN, that acts as a PI3K phosphatase (Figure 1) (27).

Altered PI3K/AKT signaling has been associated with many types of cancer (28). Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), breast, ovarian, liver, lung cancers, and glioblastomas are well-studied examples in which altered PI3K activity was observed (29–32). Genetic alterations such as amplifications, gain of copy numbers and increased gene expression have been observed for all class I PI3Ks in many different cancer entities (26). P110 α (*PIK3CA*) is affected most frequently and a direct oncogenic potential was attributed to it (33), as the signaling of mutant p110 α is active and less dependent on external stimuli (34).

Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells

Compared to the mutation rates in other cancer entities, activating mutations of PI3K are scarce in CLL (35, 36). Genomic analysis revealed an amplification of *PIK3CA* in 3.5%

of CLL patients, which is perhaps surprising when all the significant pharmaceutical effort to inhibit the PI3K pathway in this malignancy is considered (37). However, PI3K signaling is constitutively active in CLL cells, even in the absence of genetic drivers (38, 39). There are three well-studied pathways that are capable of activating and maintaining PI3K signaling in CLL cells; BCR, RTKs and cytokine/chemokine receptors (40-42). Although the stimulation of these pathways initiates different cascades of downstream events, they converge at a final point, that is, generation of a domain that can bind to the SH2 region of the regulatory p85 subunit. If the SH2 domain remains occupied, p85 fails to bind a p110 catalytic isoform and inactivate it, which results in constitutively active PI3K (43). The importance of these three pathways varies for different cell types, however, BCR is shown to be the dominant contributor to PI3K activity in Bcell malignancies. Autonomous events or continuous BCR activation by autoantigens have been reasoned for tonic BCR stimulation in CLL (44, 45).

In conclusion, the highly active PI3K signaling pathway in CLL serves as an ideal therapeutic target to inhibit CLL cell proliferation and survival directly.

PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE SIGNALING IN THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

Although CLL is a genetically heterogeneous disease, it is widely accepted that CLL cells are highly dependent on supporting stimuli of bystander cells in their microenvironment for their survival, proliferation, homing to lymphoid tissues as well as chemo-resistance. Different types of stromal cells, myeloid, NK and T-cells were shown to have dual functions in the tumor microenvironment (TME) of CLL both in patient samples and more recently the E μ -TCL1 mouse model as reviewed extensively by us and others (46, 47).

In the last 20 years, many mouse models were generated in which different components of the PI3Ks were knocked out (6, 48-51). The results of the studies using these mice need careful interpretation as the alteration of one isoform's expression can impact on those of other isoforms. As the different catalytic and regulatory subunits have the ability to interact in various combinations (4), the outcome of the expression variations in these knockout models might be far from reflecting the true functions of these proteins. For instance, an increased expression of p85 β in addition to decreased expression of the three p110 isoforms (α , β , δ) has been shown in NK cells from p85 $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice (5, 52). In another study where p110 δ was knocked out, levels of p85 α were decreased, p110 β and - γ were increased but p110 α remained unchanged in NK cells (53). Methodologies involving the generation of point mutations that completely inactivate the catalytic function of isoforms without altering the normal expression levels may provide more reliable conclusions compared to the knockout models that alter the expression of all isoforms, as the former may mimic the normal physiological state better and make it easier to assign functions directly.

Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in Non-Immune Components of the Tumor Microenvironment

In the TME, complex interactions between cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs), immune cells, signaling molecules, extracellular matrix (ECM), vasculature-associated cells, and malignant cells take place (54). Cancer cells are known to orchestrate the host tissue to facilitate tumor progression and regulate the recruitment of immune cells to the TME. PI3K signaling is engaged in almost all these components, including the stromal compartment. As discussed above, CLL cells require strong support from stromal cells for their proliferation and survival (55). Similarly, Bertrand et al. have shown that stromal cells protect the B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) cells from apoptosis *via* PI3K and MEK pathway dependent mechanisms and co-inhibition of these pathways can synergistically break this apoptotic resistance (56).

The ability of solid tumors to grow depends strictly on oxygen and nutrient delivery through newly developing blood vessels. Accumulating evidence indicates that angiogenesis is also important in hematologic malignancies, including CLL (57). Neovascularization is a cooperative event involving endothelial cells, myeloid cells, and the tumor cells that secrete angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Inhibitors of different PI3K isoforms were shown to generate different vascular responses as the dominant PI3K isoform diverges among these cells (58). Up to date, most of the research that investigates the effect of PI3K inhibition on tumor vascular function was performed with high doses of pan-PI3K inhibitors and these studies are pointing towards a vascular dysfunction which is associated with decreased blood flow and vessel density (59-61). As the anti-angiogenic effect of PI3K inhibition is outcompeted by anti-VEGF therapies (62, 63), PI3K inhibition has not been considered specifically for targeting tumor neoangiogenesis. However, recent preclinical studies show that low doses of PI3K inhibition contribute to vessel normalization which might enable more efficient delivery of chemotherapy drugs and immune infiltration to the tumor sites (64, 65). Overall, these studies support that targeting PI3Ks in tumor and endothelial cells selectively hold the potential to synergize with conventional therapies.

CAFs constitute one of the most abundant but poorly defined cell populations in the TME. A commonly held view is that CAFs promote tumorigenesis via remodeling of ECM components, facilitating metastasis, promoting vascularization, and secreting cytokines and growth factors (66). This view is supported also for CLL, where leukemic cells are able to induce the transformation of stromal cells to a CAF-like phenotype by an exosomemediated fashion (67). In this study, it has been shown that the CLL-derived exosomes are actively taken up by stromal cells both in vitro and in vivo. Upon uptake, stromal cells gained protumoral characteristics, evident by enhanced proliferation, migration, angiogenesis, and secretion of inflammatory cytokines via mechanisms involving activation of AKT and NF-KB. These events are known to be partly involving PI3K signaling (68-70). Thus, it is expected that PI3K inhibition might dampen the pro-tumoral activity of CAFs.

Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling Pathway in Immune Cells

All immune cells express receptors that can initiate PI3K signaling, but the components and wiring of the pathway are different in several aspects compared to other cells (1). The major difference is the expression of the catalytic isoform. P110δ and p110γ comprise the dominantly expressed isoforms while p110 α and p110 β are rarely engaged in immune cells (71). In non-immune cells, a higher degree of PI3K activation usually correlates with an increased downstream function such as apoptosis, survival, proliferation, and growth. However, in immune cells, an increased activation of the PI3K pathway does not necessarily mean a stronger immune reaction. Depending on the cell type, the pathway has the potential to augment or alleviate the response to pathogens as well as tumors. The network of the PI3K pathway downstream of AKT seems to be different for lymphoid cells subsets. MTORC1 phosphorylates a wide range of downstream proteins when stimulated via PI3K/AKT and RAS/ERK pathways but it also requires signals delivered through nutrient-sensing pathways to ensure that cells do not intent to proliferate under stress conditions like nutrient deprivation (72, 73). In lymphocytes, mTORC1 was shown to be more dependent on nutrient inputs than on PI3K/AKT activity (74-77). The two best-characterized mTORC1 substrates in mammals are p70 ribosomal S6 kinase 1 (S6K1) and eukaryotic initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1 (4E-BP1) (78). 4E-BP/ Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) arm is known to be responsible for regulation of growth and proliferation in lymphocytes (79), whereas in other cell types, S6Ks are the main mediators of cell growth (80). It has also been hypothesized that S6Ks might be involved in lymphocyte differentiation, but to our knowledge this has not been validated yet (81-83) (Figure 1). Overall, considering these immune cell-specific features might be useful while estimating the overall impact of PI3K-mTOR inhibition on the TME.

Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in Myeloid Cells

Innate immune cells such as monocytes, neutrophils, DCs, mast cells, and macrophages are the key components that mediate the initial phase of acute inflammation via cytokine/chemokine secretion, extravasation, migration, and phagocytosis. Each of these events requires class I PI3K activation (84). Upon detection of a stimulus, tissue resident macrophages immediately start producing cytokines and chemokines to attract neutrophils and macrophages to the site of infection, which requires $p110\delta$ expression (84). These chemoattractants are known to activate neutrophil p110y through GPCR (14). After reaching the site of inflammation, macrophages and neutrophils phagocyte and lyse the pathogens with nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase (NOX)-derived ROS. It has been shown that p110 β and p110 δ are involved in the regulation of phagocytosis (85–87). In line with this, p110 β -deficient mice fail to mediate Fc gamma receptor (FcyR)-dependent activation of neutrophils and produce ROS (88). In addition to initiating ROS production, maintenance of NOX activity for ROS production also requires the activation of $p110\delta$ (89).

All class I PI3K catalytic unit isoforms are expressed in myeloid cells. However, current literature suggests that $p110\delta$ and p110y are the critical isoforms for mediating their immune functions. Deficiency of these two isoforms has been reported to induce neutrophilia in mice (90), while inhibition of only one of them did not have a striking effect. Although the p110y isoform is expressed in many hematopoietic cells, highest level of expression was detected in cells of the myeloid lineage and the inhibition of p110 γ resulted in dampened inflammatory responses (14, 91). Of note, neither neutrophil nor macrophage development was impaired in p110 $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice. However, chemoattractant-stimulated neutrophils failed to produce PIP3 and implement respiratory burst (14). Motility and migration mechanisms have also been noted to be defective, both in neutrophils and macrophages (14). Similarly, the migration of antigen-loaded DCs from the tissue to draining lymph nodes was impaired demonstrating the non-redundant functions of p110γ (92).

Effect of PI3K Inhibition in Myeloid Cells in Cancer

PI3K signaling mediates an immunosuppressive phenotype in myeloid cells to prevent excessive innate immunity in chronic infections and inflammation (89, 93–95). This phenomenon supported the idea to pharmacologically target the PI3K p110 γ isoform with specific inhibitors for the treatment of inflammatory diseases but the possibility of dampening the host defense has slowed down the development of this idea.

However, the pro-inflammatory potential of PI3K inhibitors might provide new opportunities in cancer treatment. In many cancer entities, pro-inflammatory cytokine expression is correlated with better prognosis. High expression levels of p110y that induces immunosuppression in TAMs, were reported in several studies (15, 96, 97). Selective inhibition of PI3Ky in mouse models of melanoma and breast cancer revealed a downregulation of M2 markers (Tgfb1, Arg1, Ido1) and an upregulation of M1 markers (Il12a and Nos2) (98), demonstrating the influence of this isoform on the phenotype and polarization of TAMs. Interestingly, reduced tumor growth as well as enhanced anti-tumoral T-cell responses have been noted upon genetic or pharmacological p110y inhibition (15, 96, 98). Of note, cancer cells of most solid tumors do not express p110y and anti-tumoral effects of p110y inhibition might be attributed to TAMs and the TME.

Recently, the immune microenvironment has gained attention in cancer therapy. Although the approval of checkpoint inhibitors has been a significant breakthrough in immunotherapy, multiple resistance mechanisms exist, and the presence of tumor infiltrating myeloid cells are among these. Following encouraging pre-clinical results, a phase 1 trial combining immune checkpoint blockade and inhibition of p110 γ has been initiated, but results are pending (NCT02637531) (98).

Inactivation of $p110\delta$ isoforms mostly interferes with the functions of adaptive immune cells but this isoform has also been implicated in controlling the pro-tumorigenic effect of myeloid cells in cancer (99, 100). In one study, histological analysis of patient breast tumors demonstrated a correlation between the

disease progression and levels of PI3K\delta in tumor cells. In addition to the tumor cells, CD68⁺ macrophages also manifested strong PI3K\delta staining (101). Treatment with a PI3Kδ-specific inhibitor, IC87114, reduced the volume of human breast tumors in xenograft models when administered intratumorally or orally (101). Intratumoral treatment only slowed down tumor growth, as a small but significant proliferation of tumor cells was still detectable (101). However, oral administration of the inhibitor totally stopped tumor growth and reduced macrophage infiltration (101), suggesting that PI3K δ inhibition in these cells might be a contributing factor to the anti-tumoral effect. To further evaluate the impact of macrophage PI3K\delta inhibition on tumor growth, the authors adoptively transferred either PI3Kδ-knockout (KO) or wildtype (WT) macrophages to tumor bearing NOD/SCID-gamma null (NSG) mice (101). Tumor growth was significantly reduced in the mice that received PI3Kδ-KO macrophages compared to the ones that received WT macrophages (101). In addition, PI3Kδ-KO macrophages were less competent in infiltrating the tumors compared to WT macrophages (101), demonstrating that inhibition of macrophage PI3K\delta might be sufficient to reduce the infiltration of macrophages to tumors and thereby impact on tumor growth. In the final set of experiments, the researchers inoculated PI3K\delta expressing tumors to macrophage-deficient NSG mice and PI3Kδ-deficient tumors to Balb/c nude mice with functional and PI3Kδ-proficient macrophages. While treatment with the PI3K δ inhibitor IC87114 reduced tumor growth in both groups, complete abrogation was only seen in mice with PI3Kδexpressing tumors and WT macrophages (101). Overall, these results suggest that targeting PI3K\delta both in tumor cells and TAMs is likely to be a promising strategy for treatment of breast cancer.

The exact function of PI3K isoforms in DCs is unclear. To study the impact of PI3K inhibition in DCs, Marshall et al. have employed different mouse tumor models and reported that either broad or β -, δ -, or γ -isoform-specific inhibition reduced levels of IL-10 and TGF β but enhanced IL-12 expression (99). This caused a less immunosuppressive TME and facilitated the priming of Th1 T-cells in vivo. An important finding of this study is that selective inhibition of PI3K β and - δ isoforms reduced IL-10 and TGFB expression in toll-like receptor (TLR)-activated DCs pulsed with dead tumor cells in vitro. Adoptive transfer of pulsed DCs into tumor-bearing mice in combination with pan-PI3K inhibition resulted in a significant increase in anti-tumoral T-cell response, decrease in tumor growth and prolonged overall survival, demonstrating the potential of PI3K inhibitors for the development of tumor DCbased vaccines.

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Inhibition on Myeloid Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Twenty years ago, Burger et al. discovered that peripheral blood monocytes differentiate in co-culture with CLL cells to adherent cells that support the survival of CLL cells *in vitro* (102). These cells were named as nurse-like cells (NLCs), and only later on, it was understood that they resembled tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) in solid tumors (103, 104). NLCs exhibit an M2-like phenotype and besides delivering survival signals, they were suggested to have immunosuppressive functions (55, 105).

Research investigating the effect of PI3K inhibition on myeloid cells in CLL is scarce. Thus far, efforts have been dedicated to identifying the effect of clinically approved PI3K inhibitors in modulating the effect of type I anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (e.g., rituximab and ofatumumab) treatment. More specifically, the role of PI3K in regulating antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) and antibody-dependent phagocytosis (ADP) responses has been investigated. Da Roit et al. described an effect of the PI3K δ inhibitor idelalisib on inhibiting activation of polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN) and phagocytosis of anti-CD20 opsonized CLL cells by macrophages (106). Based on these observations, Enva Chen et al. investigated the role of PI3K-p110 in modulating antibody-mediated responses by macrophages in CLL (107). The authors demonstrated that class I PI3K p110 isoforms α , β , γ , and δ are expressed in nurse-like cells (NLCs) of both anti-CD20 antibody-sensitive and -resistant CLL patients (107). The effect of PI3K inhibition on ADCC and ADP was found to be FcyR-mediated and independent of downstream spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK) and Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) signaling. Inhibition of p110δ, both pharmacologically and via siRNA knockdown, decreased ADCC and ADP in CLL-derived NLCs (107), suggesting that this catalytic isoform is essential for CLL-derived NLC as well as macrophage response to therapeutic antibodies.

In a recent study, idelalisib has been shown to prevent AKTdependent phosphorylation of the p47^{phox} subunit of NOX2, resulting in suppressed rituximab-induced ROS formation in human monocytes (108). In co-cultures of monocytes and NK cells, idelalisib rescued NK cells from ROS-induced toxicity and thus improved NK cell ADCC against primary CLL cells and 221 B-lymphoblastoid cells (108).

In addition to its role in regulating ADCC, the PI3K pathway is also involved in migration and homing of CLL cells which circulate between peripheral blood and secondary lymphoid organs (109). Trafficking of CLL cells is regulated by stromal cells and NLCs in the lymph nodes that secrete chemokines including C-X-C motif chemokine ligand (CXCL)12, CXCL13, C-C motif ligand (CCL)19, and CCL21 (110). Upon the activation of chemokine receptors, PI3K signaling directs the CLL cells towards stromal cells that provide tumor supportive stimuli (111). As expected, inhibition of the PI3K pathway *in vitro* with PI3K δ -specific idelalisib was shown to result in impaired homing of CLL cells to stromal cells, due to their reduced response to CXCL12 and CXCL13 (109). These findings partly explain the rapid lymph node shrinkage in CLL patients treated with PI3K δ inhibitor idelalisib (112).

Overall, current research highlights the importance of PI3K activity in immune responses to therapeutic antibodies and suggests that both enhancing and inhibiting this pathway might improve these responses (**Figure 3**). Nevertheless, further *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies are needed to unravel the

diverse and complex effects of PI3K inhibition in the myeloid compartment of CLL.

Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in Natural Killer Cells

Information about how NK cells are affected by PI3K inhibition is relatively sparse and derived mainly from knockouts of PI3K isoforms in mice. NK cells are critical mediators of innate immunity that do not require prior sensitization or antigenic stimulation. Upon activation by tumor cells, they can exert their cytolytic functions via granzyme (Gzm)- or receptor-mediated fashion (113, 114). They are also producers of an array of cytokines including interferon gamma (IFNy) and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α), which act on other immune cells to enhance the immune response. There are several studies providing evidence that PI3K isoforms control signaling checkpoints in cytokine expression and secretion in mouse NK cells (115). PI3Ks are involved in the signaling downstream of different NK cell activation receptors such as NKG2D, CD16, and CD28. In addition, PI3K-mTOR pathway is indispensable for efficient NK cell activity, specifically for cytokine responses in IL-15 primed NK cells (116). PI3K inhibitors were also shown to have an impact on NK cell granule polarization. Upon tumor contact, NK cells start to mobilize perforins and GzmB towards the tumor cells (117). Zhong et al. have shown that pre-treatment of NK cells with pan-PI3K inhibitors (wortmannin or LY294002) effectively stopped this intracellular polarization of cytotoxic granules (118). A complementary study has also shown that mice lacking the regulatory p85a subunit and its alternatively spliced variants ($p55\alpha/p50\alpha$) had impaired lineage commitment

leading to reduced NK cell numbers in the bone marrow and liver. In addition to genetic inhibition, broad pharmacological PI3K inhibition with wortmannin also reduced the cytotoxicity against EL-4 lymphoma cells and cytokine/chemokine generation was significantly compromised (119). Other studies that support these findings exist, in which treatment with different PI3K inhibitors (wortmannin, LY294002, IPI-145) quenched mouse and human NK cell cytotoxicity against tumor cells (120-122) while inhibition of a single p110 isoform did not have a profound effect. This phenomenon brings up the question whether different p110 isoforms can compensate for/ replace each other in NK cells. Kim et al. have investigated the relative contribution of p110 δ and - γ isoforms on NK cell antitumor cytotoxicity and provided an answer to this question to some extent (123). They reported a reduction in NK cell numbers and production of the cytokines IFN γ , TNF α , and granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) in p1108deficient, but not p110 γ -deficient NK cells. When both p110 δ and p110y isoforms were inactivated by a combination of genetic and biochemical approaches, NK cell cytotoxicity was attenuated, which was not observed upon inhibition of a single isoform (123). Therefore, it is likely that cooperation of isoforms can compensate for the maintenance of cytotoxic function in NK cells. However, the overall results suggest that $p110\delta$ is the dominant PI3K isoform for cytokine secretion by NK cells. In line with this study, Saudemont et al., have also proposed that P110 δ is the dominantly expressed and preferentially activated isoform in NK cells (124).

Using a murine model of catalytically inactive $p110\delta$ (PI3K $\delta^{\rm KI}$), Guo et al. have shown that $p110\delta$ plays a crucial



role in NK cell terminal maturation and cytokine/chemokine generation (10). Moreover, the PI3K δ^{KI} mice had reduced NK cell numbers and maturation. NK-mediated cytotoxicity was slightly impaired against EL-4, YAC-1, and RMA-S tumor cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. However, cytokine and chemokine generation by NK cells was severely affected accompanied by a reduced c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) 1/2 phosphorylation in response to NKG2D-mediated activation. The study provides evidence for the role of PI3K δ in downstream JNK activation that regulates NK cell cytokine generation (10).

Another study using the same mouse model showed that the NK cells derived from PI3K δ^{KI} mice showed comparable cytotoxicity to WT NK cells, suggesting that p110 δ is not indispensable to kill RMA-S lymphoma cells *in vitro* (115). On the contrary, mice lacking a functional p110 δ failed to eliminate *i.p.* administered syngeneic tumor cells. The authors hypothesized that the failure might be specific to the intraperitoneal model they have used, or it may possibly indicate a defect of NK cell migration to the tumor site (115). Two years later, the same group has tested whether the p110 δ isoform was essential for NK cell trafficking. Using genetically modified mice, they observed that p110 δ was indispensable for chemotaxis to sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) and CXCL10, NK cell distribution throughout lymphoid and non-lymphoid tissues and for extravasation to tumors (124).

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Inhibition on Natural Killer Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

NK cells are not able to kill CLL cells directly, however they contribute substantially to ADCC (125, 126). Rituximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody that targets CD20, was approved in 2010 and served as standard therapy in combination with chemotherapy for the treatment of CLL. Fc region of the antibody communicates with the NK cell surface Fc- γ -receptor CD16 (Fc γ RIIIA) (127). Fc receptor ligation leads to PI3K activation in NK cells, triggering release of cytotoxic granules and ADCC (123, 128). Earlier *in vitro* studies using idelalisib have not reported any significant cytotoxicity towards NK cells (38). Interestingly, pre-treatment of NK cells with idelalisib inhibited their production of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF α and IFN γ but did not alter their ADCC against CLL cells (38) (**Figure 3**).

Considering that the ADCC of NK cells is mediated through PI3K activation, it might be expected that inhibition of PI3K δ would limit the clinical efficacy of rituximab. For clinical use, idelalisib is only approved in the combination with α CD20 antibodies and this treatment is efficacious (129). To investigate whether idelalisib dampens NK cell mediated ADCC, a direct comparison of idelalisib *versus* idelalisib + rituximab would be necessary.

Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Signaling in T-Cells

PI3K signaling is involved in several T-cell specific functions spanning from their activation to apoptosis. The activity of PI3K is regulated by the co-stimulatory receptors CD28 (4, 9) and

inducible T-cell co-stimulator (ICOS) (4). Activation of these receptors results in subsequent activation of PI3K δ , the dominantly expressed PI3K isoform, which leads to proliferation and differentiation into regulatory, effector, and memory T-cell phenotypes (4, 9). In addition, PI3Ks regulate survival and apoptosis by increase of B-cell lymphoma-extra large (BCL-XL) expression or IL-2 secretion in response to T-cell receptor (TCR) activation (4). These functions of T-cells involve calcium flux, in which PI3Ks are also involved (4). Resting T-cells sustain a low level of Ca²⁺. Upon TCR activation, the cells experience an influx of Ca²⁺ (130). It is reported that PI3Ks are involved in the regulation of calcium signaling *via* IL-2-inducible T-cell kinase (ITK), indicating the significance of the crosstalk between these pathways (4).

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ Inhibition on T-Cells

PI3Kδ is crucial for the function of T-cells, as reduced activity of PI3Kδ has been shown to diminish TCR signaling of murine (9, 131–134) as well as human T-cells (135–137) *in vitro*, including all major CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cell subsets. Subsequently, reduced proliferation of murine (9, 132, 133, 135, 137, 138) as well as human T-cells (134–137) has been observed upon abrogated PI3Kδ signaling, without induction of apoptosis (133). Of note, some combinatory approaches targeting the TCR as well as the co-stimulatory receptor CD28 or supplying IL-2 have been shown to overcome the negative effects of PI3Kδ inhibition on T-cell activation (9, 133, 135).

T-cells differentiate after the activation of their TCR into antigen-experienced effector and memory cells (139, 140). During this process, surface marker expression as well as transcriptional programs change, which for example enables effector and memory T-cells to home to distinct organs. Memory T-cells are equipped to provide fast cytotoxic functions and proliferation upon secondary recall infections (140, 141). In line with reduced TCR-activation, impaired PI3K δ signaling has been shown to result in a higher expression of CD62L (138, 142, 143), CD127 (143) as well as CCR7 (9, 143), and therefore, less terminally differentiated T-cells. Long-term culture of T-cells using repeated TCR stimulations in the presence of PI3K δ inhibitors resulted in higher proliferation rates and IL-2 secretion (138), likely caused by initial blockade of T-cell activation and differentiation. The typical memory T-cell markers such as CD62L or CCR7 are important mediators of migration and homing. In contrast to the higher expression of these markers in PI3Kδ-defective T-cells, transfer of WT, or PI3Kδ^{KI} T-cells into syngeneic hosts did result in comparable homing to lymph nodes (133), suggesting that the expression of naïve/memory markers does not affect the migration of these cells.

Following the clonal expansion of T-cells, particularly their production of effector molecules is essential to control pathogens as well as cancer. After *in vitro* or *in vivo* stimulation of PI3K δ -defective T-cells, a lower cytokine production of IFN γ , IL-2, IL-17, and TNF α (135) has been observed compared to WT cells. This was confirmed using an antigen-specific stimulation of

T-cells of WT or PI3K δ^{KI} mice, in which a reduced expansion as well as IFN γ production of mutant T-cells was noted (133).

In conclusion, PI3K δ is essential for TCR signaling and subsequent activation, proliferation, and cytokine production of T-cells. However, it is likely that the negative effects of PI3K δ inhibition in T-cells can be partially overcome by applying strong or combinatory stimuli.

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ Inhibition on CD4 $^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$ T-Cells

CD4⁺ helper T-cells (Th cells) are involved in multiple immune functions, such as control of immune reactions by Tregs as well as providing help in the clearance of pathogens by Th cells (46).

IFN γ , IL-4 and IL-17 are the key cytokines of Th1-, Th2-, and Th17-mediated responses, respectively (46). Following *in vitro* stimulation in the presence of PI3K δ inhibitors, a reduced production of IFN γ (133, 135), IL-4 (133), and IL-17 have been noted (135). Of interest, memory CD4⁺ T-cells were more susceptible to abrogated PI3K δ signaling than their naïve counterparts (135). These data highlight that PI3K δ inhibition affects the function of Th cell subsets and suggest that antigenexperienced T-cell subsets might be more dependent on PI3K δ signaling than naïve T-cells.

Tregs are crucial in maintaining orchestrated immune reactions by paracrine secretion of IL-10 or direct, contactmediated inhibition of effector responses (46). In line with the reduced proliferation of this cell type upon PI3Kδ inhibition in vitro (136, 137), lower frequencies of Tregs in lymphoid organs and blood of p110 δ^{KI} mice have been observed (100, 144), and shown to be most likely due to an increased rate of apoptosis (137). In line with reduced TCR activation upon PI3Kδ inhibition, lower expression levels of FOXP3, CD25, ICOS, and PD-1 have been noted in human Tregs in vitro (136), indicating a reduced activation state and immunosuppressive potential of this cell type. Accordingly, PI3Kδ-inhibited murine (144) as well as human Tregs (136) were reported to be less efficient in suppressing effector T-cell proliferation in vitro, and lower concentrations of the Treg-specific cytokine IL-10 but higher concentrations of the effector cytokines IL-2 and TNFa have been observed in the culture supernatants upon PI3K δ inhibition (136). Interestingly, the negative effect of PI3K δ inhibition could be overcome upon co-culture with antigen-presenting cells (APCs) (144), which could provide strong co-stimulatory signals to compensate for the inhibitory effects of abrogated PI3K8 signaling. Comparing the sensitivity of Tregs and effector T-cell populations to PI3K\delta inhibition, in vitro assays showed that Tregs seem to be more sensitive (134, 136, 137). In sum, the functions of helper T-cells as well as Tregs are dependent on PI3Kδ signaling. Moreover, it is likely that Tregs are more sensitive to PI3K\delta inhibition than effector T-cells, which could unleash immunosuppressive bonds from effector cells and enhance their effector function.

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ Inhibition on CD8+ T-Cells

CD8⁺ T-cells are important for the control of pathogens as well as anti-tumoral immunity (46). In addition to the previously

mentioned reduced *in vitro* proliferation of T-cells, the numbers of pathogen-specific CD8⁺ T-cells was also reduced in PI3K δ -deficient mouse models of infections (131, 132). Therefore, a thorough analysis of CD8⁺ T-cell function upon PI3K δ inhibition is essential, as enhanced effector functions could compensate for the reduced expansion of these cells and result in similar immunological properties.

The expression of early activation markers is often used to analyze TCR signaling activity and the activation status of Tcells. Upon TCR stimulation reduced expression of the activation markers CD25 (132), CD69 (132, 134, 143), killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily G member 1 (KLRG1) (143) as well as PD-1 (143) have been noted in murine, PI3Kô-inhibited CD8⁺ T-cells compared to untreated cells. Similarly, abrogated PI3Kô signaling resulted in a reduced expression of CD69 (134, 135) as well as T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (TIM-3) (143), a marker of activation-induced dysfunction, on human CD8⁺ T-cells after TCR engagement in comparison to PI3Kô-proficient T-cells, suggesting that not only numbers, but also activation of CD8⁺ T-cells could be altered by PI3Kô inhibitors.

Once activated, CD8⁺ T-cells secrete granzymes and cytokines such as IFN γ or TNF α , which is essential for their immune control of pathogens and cancer (46). *In vitro* analysis of CD8⁺ T-cell function after antigen-specific or antibody-mediated TCR stimulation revealed lower expression of the effector molecules IFN γ (131, 135), TNF α (132), GzmB (100, 131), GzmA (100, 142), perforin (100), and IL-2 (135) upon PI3K δ inhibition.

In summary, PI3K δ is essential for the activation and cytotoxic function of CD8⁺ T-cells, which could in turn result in a reduced immune surveillance and anti-tumoral immunity in individuals that are treated with PI3K δ inhibitors.

Targeting Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ in T-Cells in Cancer

The function of PI3K δ in T-cells has extensively been investigated in many murine cancer models. According to previously mentioned results, global PI3K\delta abrogation in mice caused a reduced frequency and absolute number of Tregs at tumor sites (137, 142, 145) and in draining lymph nodes (100). Of interest, reduced frequencies of Tregs have already been found in spleens of mice as early as 3 days after a single dose of idelalisib (137), suggesting a very fast reaction to PI3K\delta inhibition. Concomitantly with reduced Treg numbers, improved tumor control has been noted in various tumor models using either pharmacological or genetic inhibition of PI3K δ (100, 142, 145). Utilizing FoxP3^{Cre} x $\delta^{\text{flox/flox}}$ mice, in which PI3Kô-deficiency is specific to Tregs, a reduced tumor growth and improved survival was noted in comparison to systemic PI3Kδ-deficient or PI3Kδ-proficient mice (100). The improved tumor control in the presence of PI3Kδ-deficient Tregs was further confirmed by transfer of WT or PI3K δ^{KI} Tregs into PI3K δ^{KI} -mice (100). This data highlight that inhibition of Treg-PI3K8 reduces the accumulation and immunosuppressive function of Tregs which results in an enhanced anti-tumoral immunity in mouse models of cancer.

Supported by reduced Treg functions upon PI3K δ inhibition, enhanced tumor-infiltration, and cytotoxic function of CD8⁺ Tcells were expected. Accordingly, systemic PI3K δ inhibition resulted in an increased ratio of CD8⁺ T-cells to Tregs and increased numbers of CD8⁺ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) in mouse models of carcinoma (100, 145). Further, transfer of WT but not PI3K δ^{KI} Tregs into PI3K δ^{KI} mice resulted in reduced infiltration of CD8⁺ TILs (100). These data strongly support the hypothesis that reduced Treg function, caused by defective PI3K δ signaling, increases TIL infiltration and enhances anti-tumoral immunity.

Seminal work by Lim et al. investigated several tumor models expressing the ovalbumin (OVA) antigen, namely EL-4 lymphoma, MC-38 colon, and LLC lung carcinoma (142). For EL-4 and MC-38 cancer models, tumor growth was dependent on Treg-PI3K\delta, as depletion of Tregs using FoxP3^{DTR} mice, as well as Treg-specific, genetic PI3K δ deficiency resulted in a reduced tumor burden (142). In line, transfer of WT or PI3K δ^{KI} , tumor-specific CD8⁺ T-cells into EL-4 tumor-bearing mice did not impact on the disease progression (100). This data suggest that CD8⁺ T-cells are not sufficient to mediate disease control in the EL4 model while targeting PI3K δ in Tregs has a high potential.

In contrast, growth of LLC- and MC-38 tumors was neither altered by depletion of Tregs, nor using a systemic PI3K δ^{KI} model (142), suggesting that tumor control in these models relies at least partially on functional PI3K δ in other immune cells, likely CD8⁺ T-cells. In line, LLC tumor cells were most susceptible to CD8⁺ T-cell mediated killing *in vitro*, followed by MC-38 and EL-4 tumors (142). This anti-tumoral immunity was abolished if CD8⁺ T-cells harbored a PI3K δ^{KI} mutation (142). Similarly, *ex vivo* analysis of CD8⁺ TILs of LLC-OVA or MC-38 tumors revealed a reduced expression of the cytotoxic molecules GzmA and GzmB if PI3K δ -signaling was abrogated (142).

In conclusion, the effects of PI3K δ inhibition on T-cells and subsequently on tumor control are highly contextual. In tumors that are controlled by an immunosuppressive, Treg-dependent microenvironment, PI3K δ inhibition can succumb the protumoral TME and result in slowed tumor progression. On the contrary, in tumors that are controlled by CD8⁺ T-cells, PI3K δ inhibition reduces the tumor infiltration, activity as well as tumor control of this cell type. Of note, even though PI3K δ deficiency does not have a significant impact on tumors that are resistant to CD8⁺ T-cell mediated killing, it is likely that abolished CD8⁺ Tcell function could cause a reduced response to pathogens and therefore, limit the success of combining immunotherapeutic treatment approaches and PI3K δ inhibitors.

Effects of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ Inhibition on T-Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

T-cells, their subsets and function are profoundly altered in CLL and known to be of pathological relevance, as recently reviewed by us (46), emphasizing the need to evaluate the effect of PI3K inhibitors on these cells.

Similar as in the above-mentioned tumor models, $PI3K\delta$ inhibition by idelalisib treatment of CLL patient-derived T-

cells *in vitro* also resulted in reduced proliferation, expression of activation markers (CD69, CD25) (146), and cytokine production, including IL-2, TNF α , and IFN γ (146). Using Boyden-chamber migration assays, a reduced migration of idelalisib pre-treated T-cells obtained from CLL patients has been observed (146). This data highlight that idelalisib pre-treatment reduces the function of CLL patient-derived T-cells, emphasizing the need for more detailed investigations.

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ Inhibition on Tregs in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Tregs have repeatedly been reported to be more abundant in CLL patients than healthy individuals, as recently reviewed by us (46). As expected, PI3K δ inhibition decreased TCR signaling of Tregs, which were isolated from TCL1-leukemia bearing mice, in a dose-dependent manner (134). Accordingly, reduced proliferation and numbers of Tregs have been noted *in vivo* using either pharmacological PI3K δ inhibition in the TCL1 AT model of CLL, in which leukemic splenocytes of Eµ-TCL1 mice were transplanted into syngeneic WT mice (134) or PI3K δ ^{KI} x Eµ-TCL1 mice (147). Functionally, PI3K δ inhibition reduced the expression of activation markers and their immunosuppressive function, as a reduced secretion of GzmB was noted (134). These findings indicate that preclinical PI3K δ inhibition in CLL results not only in defects of Treg proliferation but also induces their reduced activation and immunosuppressive phenotype.

Until now, reports analyzing Tregs in samples of CLL patients undergoing idelalisib treatment are scarce. Comparison of blood samples before idelalisib treatment initiation and during the treatment revealed a reduced frequency of circulating Tregs (148) as well as a reduced fraction of KI-67⁺, proliferating Tregs, in comparison to pre-treatment samples (136), implicating that idelalisib treatment of CLL patients likely reduces accumulation and proliferation of Tregs (**Figure 3**). Although effects of reduced CLL burden cannot be excluded to contribute to these observations, these results are concordant with the findings of other pre-clinical models of different cancer entities.

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ Inhibition on CD8⁺ T-Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

In CLL, CD8⁺ T-cells have been proposed to contribute to the control of disease progression (46, 149), thus, their function has to be maintained during treatment. As suggested by other models, PI3K& inhibition ex vivo decreased TCR signaling of CD8⁺ T-cells, which were isolated from TCL1-leukemia bearing mice, in a dose-dependent manner (134). And a reduced proliferation of CD8⁺ T-cells has been observed after PI3Kδ inhibitor treatment in vivo in the preclinical TCL1 AT model of CLL (134) as well as in another model, in which OVA-expressing TCL1 leukemic cells were transplanted into PI3K δ^{KI} mice (147). Concomitantly with their reduced TCR signaling activity and proliferation upon defective PI3Kδ signaling, a reduced expression of the activation markers CD137 and CD69 and an enrichment of naïve CD8⁺ T-cells have been noted in the TCL1 AT model (134). Functionally, PI3Kδ inhibition caused a reduced effector molecule production of CD8⁺ T-cells, as less

IFN γ , GzmB, and CD107a were detected, even if focusing the analysis on the antigen-experienced effector population (134). In conclusion, preclinical PI3K δ inhibition in the TCL1 AT mouse model of CLL reduces the proliferation, expression of activation markers, differentiation, as well as effector function of CD8⁺ T-cells, which likely contributes to a diminished CLL-control by this cell type.

In contrast to these results, Dong et al. performed a transplantation study of TCL1 leukemic cells into PI3K δ^{KI} mice, which resulted in reduced TCL1 leukemia growth in comparison to WT recipient mice (147). Of importance, tumor cell transplantation in mice with genetic differences between the donor and recipient has been shown to cause tumor rejection in the TCL1 mouse model of CLL (150) as well as a model of multiple myeloma (151), which seems a likely explanation for the lower TCL1 tumor burden in PI3K8KI versus WT mice. Rechallenge of these PI3K δ^{KI} mice, which previously rejected TCL1-leukemia, with tumor cells resulted again in tumor rejection and expansion of CD44⁺ effector/memory CD4⁺ as well as CD8⁺ T-cells (147). Rather than providing evidence on the role of PI3K δ for CD8⁺ T-cell function in CLL, these results suggest that PI3K δ^{KI} mice are still proficient in a recall, memory T-cell response. Moreover, graft-rejection of TCL1-leukemia is based on a strong T-cell stimulus which potentially overcomes inhibitory effects of abrogated PI3K8 signaling.

Most evidence about the impact of PI3K δ inhibition on CD8⁺ T-cells in CLL patients is derived from preclinical studies. In the clinical study by Chellappa et al. analysis of blood samples of idelalisib-treated CLL patient showed a reduced frequency of KI-67 expressing, proliferating CD8⁺ effector T-cells during idelalisib treatment for two out of three patients (136), suggesting that PI3K δ inhibition might not be beneficial for CD8⁺ T-cell mediated tumor control as well as their clearance of pathogens. But based on the very small patient cohort in this study and recent findings showing that CD8⁺ T-cells derived from lymphoid organs of CLL patients are more active than their blood-derived counterparts (149, 152), the provided analysis of blood T-cells during idelalisib-treatment allows only for very limited conclusions.

In summary, although there is evidence suggesting that preclinical as well as clinical PI3K δ inhibition in CLL diminishes CD8⁺ T-cell function (**Figure 3**), further studies investigating patient samples are needed to fully elucidate the effects of inhibited PI3K δ signaling on CD8⁺ T-cells in CLL.

Impact of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase δ Inhibition on Adoptive Cell Transfers and Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

Adoptive cell transfer-based therapies such as chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy, are new approaches to specifically target tumor cells that are currently also investigated in CLL, as recently reviewed by us (46). So far, the effect of PI3Kô inhibition on T-cells during the generation of the infusion T-cell product on anti-tumor activity has been investigated in different cancer entities, including CLL. Transplantation of PI3Kô inhibitor pretreated CD8⁺ T-cells into B16 melanoma-bearing WT mice, resulted in a better tumor control (138, 143), which could be further enhanced by vaccination with the tumor antigen (138). Similarly to beforehand mentioned, *in vitro* PI3K δ inhibition results in a less differentiated phenotype of T-cells (143) and in increased proliferation rates of T-cells after long-term cultivation (138). Accordingly, the frequency of PI3K δ inhibitor pre-treated T-cells within the tumor site trended to be higher in comparison to vehicle-treated controls (143). Of interest, transfer of naïve Tcells similarly reduced the tumor size as seen for PI3K δ inhibitor pre-treated CD8⁺ T-cells (143). This data suggest that PI3K δ inhibition during the generation of the T-cell product results in their reduced differentiation, activation, and subsequently higher proliferation *in vivo* as well as a better tumor control.

In comparison to other B-cell malignancies, the remission rates of CD19 CAR T-cell therapies in CLL have been disappointing (46). Therefore, different efforts were taken to improve treatment efficacy. Among them, pre-treatment of CAR T-cells with ibrutinib (153) or idelalisib (154) have been explored. PI3K\delta inhibition during CAR T-cell production of patient derived T-cells resulted in lower proliferation rates of CD4⁺ T-cells, while proliferation of CD8⁺ T-cells was enhanced (154). Of note, in healthy donor-derived T-cells, no difference in the proliferation between PI3K δ inhibited and control cells was observed (154). Phenotypically, an expansion of naïve and effector T-cells, accompanied by a reduction of memory cell populations (143, 154), and lower levels of PD-1 and TIM-3 expression of idelalisib-treated compared to untreated CAR T-cells of CLL patients were seen (154). This lower state of pre-activation resulted in an increased TNF α and IFN γ production ex vivo (154). And chromium release assays showed that cytotoxicity of idelalisib-treated CAR T-cells was not altered in vitro compared to untreated CAR T-cells (154). This data suggest that priming of CAR T-cells by idelalisib causes a less differentiated and activated phenotype of the T-cell product, which could result in an enhanced anti-tumoral activity in vivo. Investigating their function in vivo, two independent groups showed an enhanced tumor control and prolonged survival of PI3Kδ inhibitor pre-treated CAR T-cells in xenograft mouse models of CLL (143, 154) (Figure 3).

In conclusion, pre-treatment of cells for adoptive transfer therapies, such as CAR T-cells, with PI3K δ inhibitors results in a less differentiated and activated cell product accompanied by an enhanced *in vivo* efficiency in xenograft models. Further studies are needed to assess the long-term persistence and tumor control of PI3K δ inhibitor-primed CAR T-cells in an immunocompetent TME. Ultimately, a confirmation of these results in patients is still pending.

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase α and β Inhibition on T-Cells

PI3K δ is the most studied isoform in T-cells. To investigate the role of other PI3K subtypes in CD4⁺ as well as CD8⁺ T-cells, initially pan-class IA PI3K inhibitors were utilized. These studies showed a similar effect as p110 δ isoform specific inhibition, such as reduced TCR signaling, proliferation, and higher expression of

naïve/memory T-cell markers (137, 138). Intriguingly, neither the specific inhibition of PI3K α nor - β did result in an altered TCR signaling, proliferation (137, 138), or affected the phenotype or cytokine production of CD8⁺ T-cells in vitro (138). This data suggest that neither PI3K α nor - β alone are indispensable for T-cell function. To elucidate whether PI3K α or - β inhibition have additive effects to PI3K8 inhibition on T-cells, combinations of Class IA inhibitors and genetically inactive isoforms have been investigated. Treatment of PI3K δ -deficient cells with PI3K α or - β inhibitors further reduced TCR signaling as well as proliferation of CD4⁺ T-cells in vitro (137, 145) and in vivo (145). Concomitantly, higher frequencies of CD8⁺ T-cells with lower PD-1 expression at the tumor site have been noted upon PI3Ka and $-\delta$ inhibition (145). Of importance, all results were comparable to single δ -specific inhibition (145), and differences in T-cell phenotype as well as function have not been observed upon combination of PI3K α and - β inhibition (137).

These results highlight that PI3K δ is indispensable for T-cell activation and proliferation and its loss of function cannot be compensated by class IA PI3K isoforms. Dual inhibition of PI3K α and - δ likely does not have additive effects, although a direct head to head comparison is missing.

Effect of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase γ Inhibition on T-Cells

PI3Ky inhibition is mostly targeting myeloid cells, as detailed above. Interestingly, an increased frequency of T-cells in tumorbearing animals with either pharmacological or genetical PI3Ky inhibition has been noted (96). To exclude bystander effects via the myeloid cell compartment, which is affected by dysfunctional PI3Ky, myeloid cells of LLC-tumor bearing mice were depleted using clodronate liposomes and mice were treated with PI3Ky inhibitors. In comparison to vehicle-treated animals, PI3Ky inhibition did not result in altered T-cell numbers suggesting that it does not affect T-cell function markedly (96). In line, genetical or antibody-mediated depletion of CD8⁺ T-cells in PI3K $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice caused a reduced tumor control but no alterations in proliferation or production of IFNy or GzmB of PI3Kydeficient T-cells isolated from either naïve or tumor bearing mice have been observed ex vivo (96). In conclusion, PI3Ky inhibition is likely not affecting T-cell function directly. Nevertheless, the effects of PI3Ky inhibition on other components of the TME, such as myeloid cells, can enhance the recruitment and anti-tumoral of T-cells.

RESISTANCE TO PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE INHIBITION IN CANCER AND CHRONIC LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA

Although both isoform-specific and pan-PI3K inhibitors show promising clinical efficacy in certain human cancers, there are several intrinsic and acquired resistance mechanisms that challenge their use. The PI3K/AKT pathway involves numerous feedback loops and converges with other signaling pathways at several points. This crosstalk mechanism enables the tumors to adapt by directing the signaling to an alternative path and thereby influencing the therapeutic outcomes (155, 156). *RAS* oncogene that activates both RAF-MAPK and PI3K signaling is one of the striking examples. The two pathways converge at early points after the growth factor receptor stimulation and interestingly, they evolved as antagonists (156). It has been shown that inhibition of the PI3K pathway can cause over-activation of the RAF-MAPK pathway, which induces tumor growth and quenches the efficacy of PI3K inhibition (156). Dual inhibition strategies have strong potential to overcome this dilemma but likely to result in high toxicities and a narrow therapeutic window.

Presence of a genetic alteration that leads to over-activation of the targeted kinase usually predicts the success of the inhibition therapy, as proven in different malignancies (28). However, cancer cells are genetically complex and mutations downstream of the targeted node might also influence the cellular responses to inhibition resulting in reduced sensitivity. In line, activating mutations of the NOTCH pathway induced resistance to PI3K inhibition in breast cancer (157).

Besides pathway-related mutations, so-called "gatekeeper" mutations that deteriorate the sensitivity of tumor cells to the inhibitor can be acquired during the therapy. A common feature of these "gatekeeper" mutations is their presence in the kinase domain of the targeted protein kinase which hinders its binding to the inhibitor. Similar mutations in PI3K are likely to exist. However, studies analyzing the resistance mutations are scarce. Zunder et al. have detected a potential hotspot mutation in $p110\alpha$ that confers resistance by inhibiting the potency of several PI3K inhibitors 5- to 30-fold (158). To our knowledge, other PI3K isoforms have not been analyzed but these results might serve as a start point for the development of new generation, isoform selective PI3K inhibitors since the hotspot is conserved in the entire PI3K family (158). The nature of PI3K inhibition itself is likely to provide a supportive environment for new mutations to occur, as PI3K inhibition in vitro is not cytotoxic but mostly cytostatic for cancer cells (58, 159, 160). Upon inhibition, it has been shown that cells enter a dormant state and can survive with subtle amount of PI3K activity for a significant time (161) during which the accumulation of new mutations might be facilitated.

In CLL, treatment failure of idelalisib caused by de-novo mutations seems to be a rather rare event but disease progression is observed (162). Overall response rates (ORR) are in general relatively high in phase III trials of relapsed/refractory CLL patients with 83.6% for idelalisib/rituximab (median progression-free survival (PFS) 19.4 months) (129), and 70.0% for idelalisib/ bendamustine + rituximab (median PFS 20.8 months) (163), but results of long-term follow-ups are still pending. Nevertheless, activating mutations of the BRAF-MAPK pathway have been observed in 10 non-responders to idelalisib (N=7) or voxtalisib (N=3), which targets the PI3K/mTOR pathway. Recurrent mutations were identified in BRAF (N=5), MAP2K1 (N=2), and KRAS (N=2), but no information is provided whether these mutations resulted in resistance to idelalisib or voxtalisib (164). To investigate acquired resistance to idelalisib, samples of 13 CLL patients that initially responded to idelalisib treatment and developed progressive disease were analyzed by whole exome sequencing across three phase III trials (165). Intriguingly, neither recurrent, nor "gatekeeper" mutations or genomic alterations of any other related signaling pathways were identified that could confer resistance to idelalisib treatment. Similarly, in a preclinical mouse model, long-term PI3K δ inhibition and serial tumor transplantations caused resistance to the treatment, but no recurrent mutations were identified by whole exome sequencing (166). Intriguingly, expression of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF1R) was upregulated due to enhanced activity of forkhead box protein O1 (FOXO1) and glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta (GSK3 β) which resulted in pronounced MAPK signaling pathway activity (166).

Despite all the challenges and resistance mechanisms, pharmacological targeting of the PI3K pathway is an efficient strategy. It is highly likely that long-term follow up data of CLL patients will provide more information about resistance mechanisms and combination strategies to achieve a durable effect with minimum toxicity.

ON-TARGET SIDE EFFECTS OF PHOSPHOINOSITIDE 3-KINASE INHIBITION IN CANCER AND CHRONIC LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA

As PI3Ks are involved in many different cellular functions and crucial signaling pathways, off-target effects need to be considered when treating patients, which has been extensively reviewed (167-169). In brief, inhibition of the α -isoform with alpelisib in breast cancer frequently caused hyperglycemia, rash, diarrhea or stomatitis (167). In CLL, PI3K& inhibition using idelalisib caused immune-cell mediated adverse events like pneumonitis, neutropenia, diarrhea, colitis or transaminitis, and an infiltration of T-cells to inflamed tissues has been observed. These adverse events were more frequent when combining idelalisib with rituximab-bendamustine or ofatumumab (129, 148, 168, 169). Recently, Kienle and Stilgenbauer raised optimism that i) the development of more specific PI3K\delta inhibitors like umbralisib, ii) the adaptation of the scheduling of PI3K inhibitors (e.g., intermittent dosing), and iii) combinatory treatment approaches could result in a more favorable toxicity profile and deep treatment responses with PI3K inhibitors (169).

CONCLUSION

Initial success of idelalisib, the first approved PI3K-inhibitor for CLL, paved the development of a plethora of PI3K inhibitors, as recently reviewed by Kienle and Stilgenbauer (169). However already in 2016, concerns arose that clinical PI3Kδ inhibition can be associated with an increased frequency of immune-related adverse events (AE), such as colitis, pneumonitis, neutropenia as well as elevated hepatic transaminases (129, 168). This highlights the need for a detailed review of the expression as well as function of PI3Ks in components of the TME of CLL, which

could serve as potential explanation for the observed AE during idelalisib treatment.

PI3Ks are involved in crucial signaling cascades of both, the nonimmune and immune compartment of the TME in CLL. Some PI3K isoforms are expressed by all cell types whereas others are specific for distinct leukocyte subsets. The use of selective inhibitors gives the opportunity to enhance anti-tumoral immune responses of some cell types. An example is the effect of PI3K γ inhibition on myeloid cells. Therefore, the challenge of subtype specific PI3K inhibition is not to dampen the function of other immune cells that are essential for tumor or pathogen control.

PI3Kô-selective inhibition and its effect on the immune environment has so far been studied most in CLL. Apart its great success in controlling the CLL progression (129, 163, 170), adverse events, such as immune cell-mediated liver toxicities are a drawback. Reduced frequencies of circulating Tregs accompanied by an enhanced CD8⁺ T-cell infiltration to liver tissues have been reasoned to be involved in those cases (148). For Tregs, accumulating pre-clinical as well as clinical evidence supports that PI3K δ inhibition reduces this population in numbers and dampens their immunosuppressive function. In contrast, the effect of PI3k δ inhibition on CD8⁺ T-cells is still under debate. On the one hand, diminished Treg-mediated immunosuppression was suggested to unleash CD8⁺ T-cell function, but on the other hand direct, negative effects of PI3K δ inhibition on the function of this cell type have been observed. The latter could be causative for compromised clearance of pathogens, especially viruses, as well as a reduced anti-tumor control.

Neutrophils are important for the clearance of extracellular pathogens such as bacteria and fungi. Therefore, neutropenia, an AE observed in idelalisib-treated CLL patients, could be reasoned for higher rates of infections such as pneumonia. *In vitro* treatment of neutrophils with PI3K δ inhibitors hindered their activation and their ADCC, supporting that inhibition of PI3K δ in neutrophils could be involved in reduced immune function of idelalisib-treated CLL patients.

Today, little is known about the effect of other PI3K isoforms on the function of the TME in CLL. In contrast, many clinical trials investigating novel PI3K δ inhibitors, dual inhibitors of PI3K δ and - γ , as well as pan-Class IA inhibitors have been initiated (169). Therefore, thorough investigations of the TME in these trials are essential to elucidate the role of PI3K class I isoforms on the function of distinct cell types and to reassure that PI3K inhibitors can serve as a highly active, safe, and tolerable treatment option in CLL.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EA reviewed the literature, prepared the figures, wrote and revised the manuscript. SF, MSa, and LC reviewed the literature and prepared a draft of the manuscript. MSe reviewed the literature and revised the final version of the manuscript. PMR reviewed the literature, wrote and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Fruman DA, Chiu H, Hopkins BD, Bagrodia S, Cantley LC, Abraham RT. The PI3K Pathway in Human Disease. *Cell* (2017) 170(4):605–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.029
- Werner M, Hobeika E, Jumaa H. Role of PI3K in the generation and survival of B cells. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 237(1):55–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00934.x
- Lauenstein JU, Udgata A, Bartram A, De Sutter D, Fisher DI, Halabi S, et al. Phosphorylation of the multifunctional signal transducer B-cell adaptor protein (BCAP) promotes recruitment of multiple SH2/SH3 proteins including GRB2. J Biol Chem (2019) 294(52):19852–61. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.RA119.009931
- Okkenhaug K, Vanhaesebroeck B. PI3K in lymphocyte development, differentiation and activation. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2003) 3(4):317–30. doi: 10.1038/nri1056
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Ali K, Bilancio A, Geering B, Foukas LC. Signalling by PI3K isoforms: insights from gene-targeted mice. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2005) 30(4):194–204. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2005.02.008
- Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Wynshaw-Boris A, Nussbaum RL. Proliferative defect and embryonic lethality in mice homozygous for a deletion in the p110alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. J Biol Chem (1999) 274 (16):10963–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.16.10963
- Ciraolo E, Iezzi M, Marone R, Marengo S, Curcio C, Costa C, et al. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110beta activity: key role in metabolism and mammary gland cancer but not development. *Sci Signal* (2008) 1(36):ra3. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.1161577
- Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Nussbaum RL. Early embryonic lethality in mice deficient in the p110beta catalytic subunit of PI 3-kinase. *Mamm Genome* (2002) 13(3):169–72. doi: 10.1007/BF02684023
- 9. Okkenhaug K, Bilancio A, Farjot G, Priddle H, Sancho S, Peskett E, et al. and T cell antigen receptor signaling in p110delta PI 3-kinase mutant mice. *Science* (2002) 297(5583):1031–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1073560
- Guo H, Samarakoon A, Vanhaesebroeck B, Malarkannan S. The p110 delta of PI3K plays a critical role in NK cell terminal maturation and cytokine/ chemokine generation. *J Exp Medicine* (2008) 205(10):2419–35. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20072327
- Cantrell DA. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase signalling pathways. J Cell Science (2001) 114(Pt 8):1439–45.
- Sasaki T, Irie-Sasaki J, Jones RG, Oliveira-dos-Santos AJ, Stanford WL, Bolon B, et al. Function of PI3Kgamma in thymocyte development, T cell activation, and neutrophil migration. *Science* (2000) 287(5455):1040–6. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5455.1040
- Li Z, Jiang H, Xie W, Zhang Z, Smrcka AV, Wu D. Roles of PLC-beta2 and -beta3 and PI3Kgamma in chemoattractant-mediated signal transduction. *Science* (2000) 287(5455):1046–9. doi: 10.1126/science.287.5455.1046
- Hirsch E, Katanaev VL, Garlanda C, Azzolino O, Pirola L, Silengo L, et al. Central role for G protein-coupled phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma in inflammation. *Science* (2000) 287(5455):1049–53. doi: 10.1126/ science.287.5455.1049
- Kaneda MM, Cappello P, Nguyen AV, Ralainirina N, Hardamon CR, Foubert P, et al. Macrophage PI3Kgamma Drives Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma Progression. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6(8):870–85. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1346
- Monaco G, Lee B, Xu W, Mustafah S, Hwang YY, Carre C, et al. RNA-Seq Signatures Normalized by mRNA Abundance Allow Absolute Deconvolution of Human Immune Cell Types. *Cell Reports* (2019) 26 (6):1627–40.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.041
- Schmiedel BJ, Singh D, Madrigal A, Valdovino-Gonzalez AG, White BM, Zapardiel-Gonzalo J, et al. Impact of Genetic Polymorphisms on Human Immune Cell Gene Expression. *Cell* (2018) 175(6):1701–15.e16. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2018.10.022
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* (2011) 144(5):646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Capra M, Nuciforo PG, Confalonieri S, Quarto M, Bianchi M, Nebuloni M, et al. Frequent alterations in the expression of serine/threonine kinases in human cancers. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(16):8147–54. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3489

- Downward J. Targeting RAS signalling pathways in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer (2003) 3(1):11–22. doi: 10.1038/nrc969
- Fresno Vara JA, Casado E, de Castro J, Cejas P, Belda-Iniesta C, Gonzalez-Baron M. PI3K/Akt signalling pathway and cancer. *Cancer Treat Rev* (2004) 30(2):193–204. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2003.07.007
- 22. Hantschel O. Structure, regulation, signaling, and targeting of abl kinases in cancer. *Genes Cancer* (2012) 3(5-6):436–46. doi: 10.1177/1947601912458584
- Paul MK, Mukhopadhyay AK. Tyrosine kinase Role and significance in Cancer. Int J Med Sci (2004) 1(2):101–15. doi: 10.7150/ijms.1.101
- Seshacharyulu P, Ponnusamy MP, Haridas D, Jain M, Ganti AK, Batra SK. Targeting the EGFR signaling pathway in cancer therapy. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* (2012) 16(1):15–31. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2011.648617
- Cantley LC, Neel BG. New insights into tumor suppression: PTEN suppresses tumor formation by restraining the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/ AKT pathway. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(8):4240–5. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.96.8.4240
- Thorpe LM, Yuzugullu H, Zhao JJ. PI3K in cancer: divergent roles of isoforms, modes of activation and therapeutic targeting. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2015) 15(1):7–24. doi: 10.1038/nrc3860
- Bunney TD, Katan M. Phosphoinositide signalling in cancer: beyond PI3K and PTEN. Nat Rev Cancer (2010) 10(5):342–52. doi: 10.1038/nrc2842
- Liu P, Cheng H, Roberts TM, Zhao JJ. Targeting the phosphoinositide 3kinase pathway in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discover (2009) 8(8):627–44. doi: 10.1038/nrd2926
- Samuels Y, Wang Z, Bardelli A, Silliman N, Ptak J, Szabo S, et al. High frequency of mutations of the PIK3CA gene in human cancers. *Science* (2004) 304(5670):554. doi: 10.1126/science.1096502
- Levine DA, Bogomolniy F, Yee CJ, Lash A, Barakat RR, Borgen PI, et al. Frequent mutation of the PIK3CA gene in ovarian and breast cancers. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2005) 11(8):2875–8. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-04-2142
- Lee JW, Soung YH, Kim SY, Lee HW, Park WS, Nam SW, et al. PIK3CA gene is frequently mutated in breast carcinomas and hepatocellular carcinomas. *Oncogene* (2005) 24(8):1477–80. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208304
- Ma YY, Wei SJ, Lin YC, Lung JC, Chang TC, Whang-Peng J, et al. PIK3CA as an oncogene in cervical cancer. *Oncogene* (2000) 19(23):2739–44. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203597
- 33. Kang S, Bader AG, Vogt PK. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase mutations identified in human cancer are oncogenic. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102(3):802–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408864102
- Samuels Y, Diaz LAJr., Schmidt-Kittler O, Cummins JM, Delong L, Cheong I, et al. Mutant PIK3CA promotes cell growth and invasion of human cancer cells. *Cancer Cell* (2005) 7(6):561–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2005.05.014
- 35. Wang L, Lawrence MS, Wan Y, Stojanov P, Sougnez C, Stevenson K, et al. SF3B1 and other novel cancer genes in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med (2011) 365(26):2497–506. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1109016
- Seiffert M, Dietrich S, Jethwa A, Glimm H, Lichter P, Zenz T. Exploiting biological diversity and genomic aberrations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2012) 53(6):1023–31. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2011.631638
- 37. Brown JR, Hanna M, Tesar B, Werner L, Pochet N, Asara JM, et al. Integrative genomic analysis implicates gain of PIK3CA at 3q26 and MYC at 8q24 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2012) 18(14):3791–802. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2342
- Herman SE, Gordon AL, Wagner AJ, Heerema NA, Zhao W, Flynn JM, et al. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-delta inhibitor CAL-101 shows promising preclinical activity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia by antagonizing intrinsic and extrinsic cellular survival signals. *Blood* (2010) 116(12):2078– 88. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-271171
- Ringshausen I, Schneller F, Bogner C, Hipp S, Duyster J, Peschel C, et al. Constitutively activated phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI-3K) is involved in the defect of apoptosis in B-CLL: association with protein kinase Cdelta. *Blood* (2002) 100(10):3741–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-02-0539
- Ramadani F, Bolland DJ, Garcon F, Emery JL, Vanhaesebroeck B, Corcoran AE, et al. The PI3K isoforms p110alpha and p110delta are essential for pre-B cell receptor signaling and B cell development. *Sci Signal* (2010) 3(134):ra60. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2001104
- Koyasu S. The role of PI3K in immune cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(4):313– 9. doi: 10.1038/ni0403-313

- Davids MS, Brown JR. Phosphoinositide 3'-kinase inhibition in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am* (2013) 27(2):329–39. doi: 10.1016/j.hoc.2012.12.002
- Chantry D, Vojtek A, Kashishian A, Holtzman DA, Wood C, Gray PW, et al. p110delta, a novel phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic subunit that associates with p85 and is expressed predominantly in leukocytes. J Biol Chem (1997) 272(31):19236–41. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.31.19236
- Burger JA, Chiorazzi N. B cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34(12):592–601. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2013.07.002
- Okkenhaug K, Burger JA. PI3K Signaling in Normal B Cells and Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL). B Cell Receptor Signaling. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2016). p. 123–42.
- Roessner PM, Seiffert M. T-cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Guardians or drivers of disease? *Leukemia* (2020) 34(8):2012–24. doi: 10.1038/s41375-020-0873-2
- Hanna BS, Ozturk S, Seiffert M. Beyond bystanders: Myeloid cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Mol Immunol* (2019) 110:77–87. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2017.11.014
- Fruman DA, Snapper SB, Yballe CM, Davidson L, Yu JY, Alt FW, et al. Impaired B cell development and proliferation in absence of phosphoinositide 3-kinase p85alpha. *Science* (1999) 283(5400):393-7. doi: 10.1126/science.283.5400.393
- Suzuki H, Terauchi Y, Fujiwara M, Aizawa S, Yazaki Y, Kadowaki T, et al. Xid-like immunodeficiency in mice with disruption of the p85alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Science* (1999) 283(5400):390–2. doi: 10.1126/ science.283.5400.390
- Clayton E, Bardi G, Bell SE, Chantry D, Downes CP, Gray A, et al. A crucial role for the p110delta subunit of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in B cell development and activation. J Exp Medicine (2002) 196(6):753–63. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020805
- Jou ST, Carpino N, Takahashi Y, Piekorz R, Chao JR, Carpino N, et al. Essential, nonredundant role for the phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110delta in signaling by the B-cell receptor complex. *Mol Cell Biol* (2002) 22(24):8580– 91. doi: 10.1128/mcb.22.24.8580-8591.2002
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Rohn JL, Waterfield MD. Gene targeting: attention to detail. Cell (2004) 118(3):274–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2004.07.018
- 53. Tassi I, Cella M, Gilfillan S, Turnbull I, Diacovo TG, Penninger JM, et al. p110gamma and p110delta phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling pathways synergize to control development and functions of murine NK cells. *Immunity* (2007) 27(2):214–27. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.07.014
- Gajewski TF, Schreiber H, Fu YX. Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(10):1014–22. doi: 10.1038/ni.2703
- Boissard F, Laurent C, Ramsay AG, Quillet-Mary A, Fournie JJ, Poupot M, et al. Nurse-like cells impact on disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood Cancer J* (2016) 6(1):e381. doi: 10.1038/bcj.2015.108
- Bertrand FE, Spengemen JD, Shelton JG, McCubrey JA. Inhibition of PI3K, mTOR and MEK signaling pathways promotes rapid apoptosis in B-lineage ALL in the presence of stromal cell support. *Leukemia* (2005) 19(1):98–102. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403560
- Han Y, Wang X, Wang B, Jiang G. The progress of angiogenic factors in the development of leukemias. *Intractable Rare Dis Res* (2016) 5(1):6–16. doi: 10.5582/irdr.2015.01048
- Okkenhaug K, Graupera M, Vanhaesebroeck B. Targeting PI3K in Cancer: Impact on Tumor Cells, Their Protective Stroma, Angiogenesis, and Immunotherapy. *Cancer Discovery* (2016) 6(10):1090–105. doi: 10.1158/ 2159-8290.CD-16-0716
- Kong D, Okamura M, Yoshimi H, Yamori T. Antiangiogenic effect of ZSTK474, a novel phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase inhibitor. *Eur J Cancer* (2009) 45(5):857–65. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2008.12.007
- Murillo MM, Zelenay S, Nye E, Castellano E, Lassailly F, Stamp G, et al. RAS interaction with PI3K p110alpha is required for tumor-induced angiogenesis. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(8):3601–11. doi: 10.1172/JCI74134
- Soler A, Serra H, Pearce W, Angulo A, Guillermet-Guibert J, Friedman LS, et al. Inhibition of the p110alpha isoform of PI 3-kinase stimulates nonfunctional tumor angiogenesis. *J Exp Medicine* (2013) 210(10):1937– 45. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121571

- 62. Soler A, Figueiredo AM, Castel P, Martin L, Monelli E, Angulo-Urarte A, et al. Therapeutic Benefit of Selective Inhibition of p110alpha PI3-Kinase in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2016) 22(23):5805–17. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-3051
- Paez-Ribes M, Allen E, Hudock J, Takeda T, Okuyama H, Vinals F, et al. Antiangiogenic therapy elicits malignant progression of tumors to increased local invasion and distant metastasis. *Cancer Cell* (2009) 15(3):220–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.01.027
- 64. Qayum N, Im J, Stratford MR, Bernhard EJ, McKenna WG, Muschel RJ. Modulation of the tumor microvasculature by phosphoinositide-3 kinase inhibition increases doxorubicin delivery in vivo. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2012) 18(1):161–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-1413
- Fokas E, Im JH, Hill S, Yameen S, Stratford M, Beech J, et al. Dual inhibition of the PI3K/mTOR pathway increases tumor radiosensitivity by normalizing tumor vasculature. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(1):239–48. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2263
- Hirsch E, Ciraolo E, Franco I, Ghigo A, Martini M. PI3K in cancer-stroma interactions: bad in seed and ugly in soil. *Oncogene* (2014) 33(24):3083–90. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.265
- Paggetti J, Haderk F, Seiffert M, Janji B, Distler U, Ammerlaan W, et al. Exosomes released by chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce the transition of stromal cells into cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Blood* (2015) 126(9):1106–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-12-618025
- Ding X, Xi W, Ji J, Cai Q, Jiang J, Shi M, et al. HGF derived from cancerassociated fibroblasts promotes vascularization in gastric cancer via PI3K/AKT and ERK1/2 signaling. Oncol Rep (2018) 40(2):1185–95. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6500
- 69. Li H, Zhang Q, Wu Q, Cui Y, Zhu H, Fang M, et al. Interleukin-22 secreted by cancer-associated fibroblasts regulates the proliferation and metastasis of lung cancer cells via the PI3K-Akt-mTOR signaling pathway. *Am J Transl Res* (2019) 11(7):4077–88.
- 70. Tian B, Chen X, Zhang H, Li X, Wang J, Han W, et al. Urokinase plasminogen activator secreted by cancer-associated fibroblasts induces tumor progression via PI3K/AKT and ERK signaling in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(26):42300-13. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.15857
- Okkenhaug K. Two birds with one stone: dual p110delta and p110gamma inhibition. *Chem Biol* (2013) 20(11):1309–10. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol. 2013.11.002
- Dibble CC, Cantley LC. Regulation of mTORC1 by PI3K signaling. Trends Cell Biol (2015) 25(9):545–55. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2015.06.002
- 73. Saxton RA, Sabatini DM. mTOR Signaling in Growth, Metabolism, and Disease. *Cell* (2017) 168(6):960–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.02.004
- Donahue AC, Fruman DA. Distinct signaling mechanisms activate the target of rapamycin in response to different B-cell stimuli. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37 (10):2923–36. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737281
- 75. Włodarski P, Kasprzycka M, Liu X, Marzec M, Robertson ES, Słupianek A, et al. Activation of mammalian target of rapamycin in transformed B lymphocytes is nutrient dependent but independent of Akt, mitogenactivated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase, insulin growth factor-I, and serum. *Cancer Res* (2005) 65(17):7800–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4180
- Sinclair LV, Rolf J, Emslie E, Shi YB, Taylor PM, Cantrell DA. Control of amino-acid transport by antigen receptors coordinates the metabolic reprogramming essential for T cell differentiation. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14 (5):500–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2556
- Macintyre AN, Finlay D, Preston G, Sinclair LV, Waugh CM, Tamas P, et al. Protein kinase B controls transcriptional programs that direct cytotoxic T cell fate but is dispensable for T cell metabolism. *Immunity* (2011) 34 (2):224–36. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.01.012
- Tatebe H, Shiozaki K. Evolutionary Conservation of the Components in the TOR Signaling Pathways. *Biomolecules* (2017) 7(4). doi: 10.3390/biom7040077
- Dowling RJ, Topisirovic I, Alain T, Bidinosti M, Fonseca BD, Petroulakis E, et al. mTORC1-mediated cell proliferation, but not cell growth, controlled by the 4E-BPs. *Science* (2010) 328(5982):1172–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1187532
- So L, Lee J, Palafox M, Mallya S, Woxland CG, Arguello M, et al. The 4E-BPeIF4E axis promotes rapamycin-sensitive growth and proliferation in lymphocytes. *Sci Signal* (2016) 9(430):ra57. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aad8463

- Kurebayashi Y, Nagai S, Ikejiri A, Ohtani M, Ichiyama K, Baba Y, et al. PI3K-Akt-mTORC1-S6K1/2 axis controls Th17 differentiation by regulating Gfi1 expression and nuclear translocation of RORgamma. *Cell Reports* (2012) 1 (4):360–73. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.02.007
- Pai C, Walsh CM, Fruman DA. Context-Specific Function of S6K2 in Th Cell Differentiation. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2016) 197(8):3049–58. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600167
- Sasaki CY, Chen G, Munk R, Eitan E, Martindale J, Longo DL, et al. p((7)(0) S(6)K(1)) in the TORC1 pathway is essential for the differentiation of Th17 Cells, but not Th1, Th2, or Treg cells in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46 (1):212–22. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445422
- Hawkins PT, Stephens LR. PI3K signalling in inflammation. Biochim Biophys Acta (2015) 1851(6):882–97. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2014.12.006
- Boyle KB, Gyori D, Sindrilaru A, Scharffetter-Kochanek K, Taylor PR, Mocsai A, et al. Class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinase beta and delta regulate neutrophil oxidase activation in response to Aspergillus fumigatus hyphae. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2011) 186(5):2978–89. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002268
- Leverrier Y, Okkenhaug K, Sawyer C, Bilancio A, Vanhaesebroeck B, Ridley AJ. Class I phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110beta is required for apoptotic cell and Fcgamma receptor-mediated phagocytosis by macrophages. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278(40):38437–42. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M306649200
- Shimizu-Hirota R, Xiong W, Baxter BT, Kunkel SL, Maillard I, Chen XW, et al. MT1-MMP regulates the PI3Kdelta.Mi-2/NuRD-dependent control of macrophage immune function. *Genes Dev* (2012) 26(4):395–413. doi: 10.1101/gad.178749.111
- Kulkarni S, Sitaru C, Jakus Z, Anderson KE, Damoulakis G, Davidson K, et al. PI3Kbeta plays a critical role in neutrophil activation by immune complexes. *Sci Signal* (2011) 4(168):ra23. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2001617
- Condliffe AM, Davidson K, Anderson KE, Ellson CD, Crabbe T, Okkenhaug K, et al. Sequential activation of class IB and class IA PI3K is important for the primed respiratory burst of human but not murine neutrophils. *Blood* (2005) 106(4):1432–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-0944
- Bucher K, Schmitt F, Mothes B, Blumendeller C, Schall D, Piekorz R, et al. Deficiency of PI3-Kinase catalytic isoforms p110gamma and p110delta in mice enhances the IL-17/G-CSF axis and induces neutrophilia. *Cell Commun Signal* (2017) 15(1):28. doi: 10.1186/s12964-017-0185-y
- Costa C, Martin-Conte EL, Hirsch E. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110gamma in immunity. *IUBMB Life* (2011) 63(9):707-13. doi: 10.1002/ iub.516
- Del Prete A, Vermi W, Dander E, Otero K, Barberis L, Luini W, et al. Defective dendritic cell migration and activation of adaptive immunity in PI3Kgamma-deficient mice. *EMBO J* (2004) 23(17):3505–15. doi: 10.1038/ sj.emboj.7600361
- Steinbach EC, Kobayashi T, Russo SM, Sheikh SZ, Gipson GR, Kennedy ST, et al. Innate PI3K p110delta regulates Th1/Th17 development and microbiota-dependent colitis. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950)* (2014) 192 (8):3958–68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301533
- 94. Aksoy E, Taboubi S, Torres D, Delbauve S, Hachani A, Whitehead MA, et al. The p110delta isoform of the kinase PI(3)K controls the subcellular compartmentalization of TLR4 signaling and protects from endotoxic shock. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(11):1045–54. doi: 10.1038/ni.2426
- Fukao T, Koyasu S. PI3K and negative regulation of TLR signaling. Trends Immunol (2003) 24(7):358–63. doi: 10.1016/s1471-4906(03)00139-x
- Kaneda MM, Messer KS, Ralainirina N, Li H, Leem CJ, Gorjestani S, et al. PI3Kgamma is a molecular switch that controls immune suppression. *Nature* (2016) 539(7629):437–42. doi: 10.1038/nature19834
- Usman MW, Gao J, Zheng T, Rui C, Li T, Bian X, et al. Macrophages confer resistance to PI3K inhibitor GDC-0941 in breast cancer through the activation of NF-kappaB signaling. *Cell Death Disease* (2018) 9(8):809. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0849-6
- De Henau O, Rausch M, Winkler D, Campesato LF, Liu C, Cymerman DH, et al. Overcoming resistance to checkpoint blockade therapy by targeting PI3Kgamma in myeloid cells. *Nature* (2016) 539(7629):443–7. doi: 10.1038/ nature20554
- Marshall NA, Galvin KC, Corcoran AM, Boon L, Higgs R, Mills KH. Immunotherapy with PI3K inhibitor and Toll-like receptor agonist induces IFN-gamma+IL-17+ polyfunctional T cells that mediate rejection

of murine tumors. Cancer Res (2012) 72(3):581–91. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0307

- 100. Ali K, Soond DR, Pineiro R, Hagemann T, Pearce W, Lim EL, et al. Inactivation of PI(3)K p110delta breaks regulatory T-cell-mediated immune tolerance to cancer. *Nature* (2014) 510(7505):407-11. doi: 10.1038/nature13444
- 101. Goulielmaki E, Bermudez-Brito M, Andreou M, Tzenaki N, Tzardi M, de Bree E, et al. Pharmacological inactivation of the PI3K p110delta prevents breast tumour progression by targeting cancer cells and macrophages. *Cell Death Disease* (2018) 9(6):678. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0717-4
- 102. Burger JA, Tsukada N, Burger M, Zvaifler NJ, Dell, Aquila M, et al. Bloodderived nurse-like cells protect chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells from spontaneous apoptosis through stromal cell-derived factor-1. *Blood* (2000) 96(8):2655–63. doi: 10.1182/blood.V96.8.2655.h8002655_2655_2663
- 103. Tsukada N, Burger JA, Zvaifler NJ, Kipps TJ. Distinctive features of "nurselike" cells that differentiate in the context of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2002) 99(3):1030–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.v99.3.1030
- Boissard F, Fournie JJ, Laurent C, Poupot M, Ysebaert L. Nurse like cells: chronic lymphocytic leukemia associated macrophages. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2015) 56(5):1570–2. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.991731
- Cutucache CE. Tumor-induced host immunosuppression: special focus on CLL. Int Immunopharmacol (2013) 17(1):35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp. 2013.05.021
- 106. Da Roit F, Engelberts PJ, Taylor RP, Breij EC, Gritti G, Rambaldi A, et al. Ibrutinib interferes with the cell-mediated anti-tumor activities of therapeutic CD20 antibodies: implications for combination therapy. *Haematologica* (2015) 100(1):77–86. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2014.107011
- 107. Enya Chen YC, Burgess M, Mapp S, Mollee P, Gill D, Blumenthal A, et al. PI3K-p110delta contributes to antibody responses by macrophages in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2020) 34(2):451–61. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0556-z
- 108. Akhiani AA, Hallner A, Kiffin R, Aydin E, Werlenius O, Aurelius J, et al. Idelalisib Rescues Natural Killer Cells from Monocyte-Induced Immunosuppression by Inhibiting NOX2-Derived Reactive Oxygen Species. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2020) 8(12):1232–41. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-20-0055
- 109. Hoellenriegel J, Meadows SA, Sivina M, Wierda WG, Kantarjian H, Keating MJ, et al. The phosphoinositide 3'-kinase delta inhibitor, CAL-101, inhibits B-cell receptor signaling and chemokine networks in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2011) 118(13):3603–12. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-05-352492
- 110. Burger JA, Okkenhaug K. Haematological cancer: idelalisib-targeting PI3Kdelta in patients with B-cell malignancies. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2014) 11(4):184–6. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.42
- 111. Davids MS, Burger JA. Cell Trafficking in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Open J Hematol (2012) 3(S1). doi: 10.13055/ojhmt_3_s1_03.120221
- 112. Fruman DA, Cantley LC. Idelalisib–a PI3Kdelta inhibitor for B-cell cancers. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 370(11):1061–2. doi: 10.1056/NEJMe1400055
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science* (2011) 331(6013):44–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1198687
- 114. Orange JS. Formation and function of the lytic NK-cell immunological synapse. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(9):713–25. doi: 10.1038/nri2381
- 115. Saudemont A, Okkenhaug K, Colucci F. p110delta is required for innate immunity to transplantable lymphomas. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2007) 35(Pt 2):183–5. doi: 10.1042/BST0350183
- 116. Nandagopal N, Ali AK, Komal AK, Lee SH. The Critical Role of IL-15-PI3KmTOR Pathway in Natural Killer Cell Effector Functions. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:187. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00187
- 117. Voskoboinik I, Smyth MJ, Trapani JA. Perforin-mediated target-cell death and immune homeostasis. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(12):940–52. doi: 10.1038/nri1983
- 118. Zhong B, Liu JH, Gilvary DL, Jiang K, Kasuga M, Ritchey CA, et al. Functional role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in direct tumor lysis by human natural killer cells. *Immunobiology* (2002) 205(1):74–94. doi: 10.1078/0171-2985-00112
- 119. Awasthi A, Samarakoon A, Dai X, Wen R, Wang D, Malarkannan S. Deletion of PI3K-p85alpha gene impairs lineage commitment, terminal maturation,

cytokine generation and cytotoxicity of NK cells. *Genes Immun* (2008) 9 (6):522-35. doi: 10.1038/gene.2008.45

- 120. Dong S, Guinn D, Dubovsky JA, Zhong Y, Lehman A, Kutok J, et al. IPI-145 antagonizes intrinsic and extrinsic survival signals in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. *Blood* (2014) 124(24):3583–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-07-587279
- 121. Colucci F, Schweighoffer E, Tomasello E, Turner M, Ortaldo JR, Vivier E, et al. Natural cytotoxicity uncoupled from the Syk and ZAP-70 intracellular kinases. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(3):288–94. doi: 10.1038/ni764
- 122. Jiang K, Zhong B, Gilvary DL, Corliss BC, Hong-Geller E, Wei S, et al. Pivotal role of phosphoinositide-3 kinase in regulation of cytotoxicity in natural killer cells. *Nat Immunol* (2000) 1(5):419–25. doi: 10.1038/80859
- 123. Kim N, Saudemont A, Webb L, Camps M, Ruckle T, Hirsch E, et al. The p110delta catalytic isoform of PI3K is a key player in NK-cell development and cytokine secretion. *Blood* (2007) 110(9):3202–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-02-075366
- 124. Saudemont A, Colucci F. PI3K signaling in lymphocyte migration. Cell Cycle (2009) 8(20):3307–10. doi: 10.4161/cc.8.20.9692
- 125. Werlenius O, Aurelius J, Hallner A, Akhiani AA, Simpanen M, Martner A, et al. Reactive oxygen species induced by therapeutic CD20 antibodies inhibit natural killer cell-mediated antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity against primary CLL cells. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(22):32046–53. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.8769
- 126. Hofland T, Endstra S, Gomes CKP, de Boer R, de Weerdt I, Bobkov V, et al. Natural Killer Cell Hypo-responsiveness in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia can be Circumvented In Vitro by Adequate Activating Signaling. *Hemasphere* (2019) 3(6):e308. doi: 10.1097/HS9.000000000000308
- Weiner GJ. Rituximab: mechanism of action. Semin Hematol (2010) 47 (2):115–23. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2010.01.011
- 128. Bonnema JD, Karnitz LM, Schoon RA, Abraham RT, Leibson PJ. Fc receptor stimulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase in natural killer cells is associated with protein kinase C-independent granule release and cellmediated cytotoxicity. J Exp Medicine (1994) 180(4):1427–35. doi: 10.1084/ jem.180.4.1427
- 129. Sharman JP, Coutre SE, Furman RR, Cheson BD, Pagel JM, Hillmen P, et al. Final Results of a Randomized, Phase III Study of Rituximab With or Without Idelalisib Followed by Open-Label Idelalisib in Patients With Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Clin Oncol Off J Am Soc Clin Oncol (2019) 37(16):1391–402. doi: 10.1200/JCO.18.01460
- 130. Friedmann KS, Bozem M, Hoth M. Calcium signal dynamics in T lymphocytes: Comparing in vivo and in vitro measurements. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2019) 94:84–93. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2019.01.004
- 131. Pearce VQ, Bouabe H, MacQueen AR, Carbonaro V, Okkenhaug K. PI3Kdelta Regulates the Magnitude of CD8+ T Cell Responses after Challenge with Listeria monocytogenes. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2015) 195(7):3206–17. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501227
- 132. Gracias DT, Boesteanu AC, Fraietta JA, Hope JL, Carey AJ, Mueller YM, et al. Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase p110delta Isoform Regulates CD8+ T Cell Responses during Acute Viral and Intracellular Bacterial Infections. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2016) 196(3):1186–98. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1501890
- 133. Okkenhaug K, Patton DT, Bilancio A, Garcon F, Rowan WC, Vanhaesebroeck B. The p110delta isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase controls clonal expansion and differentiation of Th cells. *J Immunol* (*Baltimore Md 1950*) (2006) 177(8):5122–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 177.8.5122
- 134. Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Scheffold A, Jebaraj BMC, Demerdash Y, Ozturk S, et al. PI3Kdelta inhibition modulates regulatory and effector T-cell differentiation and function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(6):1427–38. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0318-3
- 135. Soond DR, Bjorgo E, Moltu K, Dale VQ, Patton DT, Torgersen KM, et al. PI3K p110delta regulates T-cell cytokine production during primary and secondary immune responses in mice and humans. *Blood* (2010) 115 (11):2203–13. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-232330
- 136. Chellappa S, Kushekhar K, Munthe LA, Tjonnfjord GE, Aandahl EM, Okkenhaug K, et al. The PI3K p110delta Isoform Inhibitor Idelalisib Preferentially Inhibits Human Regulatory T Cell Function. J Immunol

(Baltimore Md 1950) (2019) 202(5):1397-405. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1701703

- 137. Ahmad S, Abu-Eid R, Shrimali R, Webb M, Verma V, Doroodchi A, et al. Differential PI3Kdelta Signaling in CD4(+) T-cell Subsets Enables Selective Targeting of T Regulatory Cells to Enhance Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77(8):1892–904. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1839
- 138. Abu Eid R, Ahmad S, Lin Y, Webb M, Berrong Z, Shrimali R, et al. Enhanced Therapeutic Efficacy and Memory of Tumor-Specific CD8 T Cells by Ex Vivo PI3K-delta Inhibition. *Cancer Res* (2017) 77(15):4135–45. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1925
- Snook JP, Kim C, Williams MA. TCR signal strength controls the differentiation of CD4(+) effector and memory T cells. *Sci Immunol* (2018) 3(25). doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aas9103
- 140. Akondy RS, Fitch M, Edupuganti S, Yang S, Kissick HT, Li KW, et al. Origin and differentiation of human memory CD8 T cells after vaccination. *Nature* (2017) 552(7685):362–7. doi: 10.1038/nature24633
- 141. Youngblood B, Hale JS, Kissick HT, Ahn E, Xu X, Wieland A, et al. Effector CD8 T cells dedifferentiate into long-lived memory cells. *Nature* (2017) 552 (7685):404–9. doi: 10.1038/nature25144
- 142. Lim EL, Cugliandolo FM, Rosner DR, Gyori D, Roychoudhuri R, Okkenhaug K. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase delta inhibition promotes antitumor responses but antagonizes checkpoint inhibitors. *JCI Insight* (2018) 3(11). doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.120626
- 143. Bowers JS, Majchrzak K, Nelson MH, Aksoy BA, Wyatt MM, Smith AS, et al. PI3Kdelta Inhibition Enhances the Antitumor Fitness of Adoptively Transferred CD8(+) T Cells. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1221. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2017.01221
- 144. Patton DT, Garden OA, Pearce WP, Clough LE, Monk CR, Leung E, et al. Cutting edge: the phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 delta is critical for the function of CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950) (2006) 177(10):6598–602. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.10.6598
- 145. Carnevalli LS, Sinclair C, Taylor MA, Gutierrez PM, Langdon S, Coenen-Stass AML, et al. PI3Kalpha/delta inhibition promotes anti-tumor immunity through direct enhancement of effector CD8(+) T-cell activity. *J Immunother Cancer* (2018) 6(1):158. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0457-0
- 146. Martinelli S, Maffei R, Fiorcari S, Quadrelli C, Zucchini P, Benatti S, et al. Idelalisib impairs T-cell-mediated immunity in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2018) 103(12):e598–601. doi: 10.3324/ haematol.2017.187070
- 147. Dong S, Harrington BK, Hu EY, Greene JT, Lehman AM, Tran M, et al. PI3K p110delta inactivation antagonizes chronic lymphocytic leukemia and reverses T cell immune suppression. J Clin Invest (2019) 129(1):122–36. doi: 10.1172/JCI99386
- 148. Lampson BL, Kasar SN, Matos TR, Morgan EA, Rassenti L, Davids MS, et al. Idelalisib given front-line for treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia causes frequent immune-mediated hepatotoxicity. *Blood* (2016) 128(2):195– 203. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-707133
- 149. Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Yazdanparast H, Colomer D, Campo E, Kugler S, et al. Control of chronic lymphocytic leukemia development by clonallyexpanded CD8(+) T-cells that undergo functional exhaustion in secondary lymphoid tissues. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(3):625–37. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0250-6
- 150. Ozturk S, Roessner PM, Schulze-Edinghausen L, Yazdanparast H, Kalter V, Lichter P, et al. Rejection of adoptively transferred Emicro-TCL1 chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells in C57BL/6 substrains or knockout mouse lines. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(6):1514–39. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0332-5
- 151. Friend NL, Hewett DR, Panagopoulos V, Noll JE, Vandyke K, Mrozik KM, et al. Characterization of the role of Samsn1 loss in multiple myeloma development. FASEB Bioadv (2020) 2(9):554–72. doi: 10.1096/fba.2020-00027
- 152. de Weerdt I, Hofland T, de Boer R, Dobber JA, Dubois J, van Nieuwenhuize D, et al. Distinct immune composition in lymph node and peripheral blood of CLL patients is reshaped during venetoclax treatment. *Blood Advances* (2019) 3(17):2642–52. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000360
- 153. Fraietta JA, Beckwith KA, Patel PR, Ruella M, Zheng Z, Barrett DM, et al. Ibrutinib enhances chimeric antigen receptor T-cell engraftment and efficacy in leukemia. *Blood* (2016) 127(9):1117–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-11-679134

- 154. Stock S, Ubelhart R, Schubert ML, Fan F, He B, Hoffmann JM, et al. Idelalisib for optimized CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. *Int J Cancer* (2019) 145(5):1312–24. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32201
- 155. O'Reilly KE, Rojo F, She QB, Solit D, Mills GB, Smith D, et al. mTOR inhibition induces upstream receptor tyrosine kinase signaling and activates Akt. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66(3):1500–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2925
- 156. Jun T, Gjoerup O, Roberts TM. Tangled webs: evidence of cross-talk between c-Raf-1 and Akt. Sci STKE (1999) 1999(13):PE1. doi: 10.1126/ stke.1999.13.pe1
- 157. Muellner MK, Uras IZ, Gapp BV, Kerzendorfer C, Smida M, Lechtermann H, et al. A chemical-genetic screen reveals a mechanism of resistance to PI3K inhibitors in cancer. *Nat Chem Biol* (2011) 7(11):787–93. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.695
- 158. Zunder ER, Knight ZA, Houseman BT, Apsel B, Shokat KM. Discovery of drug-resistant and drug-sensitizing mutations in the oncogenic PI3K isoform p110 alpha. *Cancer Cell* (2008) 14(2):180–92. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccr.2008.06.014
- 159. Fruman DA, Rommel C. PI3K and cancer: lessons, challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Drug Discover (2014) 13(2):140–56. doi: 10.1038/ nrd4204
- 160. Yap TA, Bjerke L, Clarke PA, Workman P. Drugging PI3K in cancer: refining targets and therapeutic strategies. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2015) 23:98–107. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2015.05.016
- 161. Foukas LC, Berenjeno IM, Gray A, Khwaja A, Vanhaesebroeck B. Activity of any class IA PI3K isoform can sustain cell proliferation and survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2010) 107(25):11381–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906461107
- 162. Sedlarikova L, Petrackova A, Papajik T, Turcsanyi P, Kriegova E. Resistance-Associated Mutations in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Patients Treated With Novel Agents. Front Oncol (2020) 10:894. doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2020.00894
- 163. Zelenetz AD, Barrientos JC, Brown JR, Coiffier B, Delgado J, Egyed M, et al. Idelalisib or placebo in combination with bendamustine and rituximab in patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: interim results from a phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2017) 18(3):297–311. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30671-4
- 164. Murali I, Kasar S, McWilliams EM, Itchaki G, Tyekucheva S, Livitz D, et al. Activating MAPK Pathway Mutations Mediate Primary Resistance to PI3K

Inhibitors in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL). Blood (2018) 132 (Supplement 1):587-. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-115304

- 165. Ghia P, Ljungström V, Tausch E, Agathangelidis A, Scheffold A, Scarfo L, et al. Whole-Exome Sequencing Revealed No Recurrent Mutations within the PI3K Pathway in Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Patients Progressing Under Idelalisib Treatment. *Blood* (2016) 128(22):2770–. doi: 10.1182/blood.V128.22.2770.2770
- 166. Scheffold A, Jebaraj BMC, Tausch E, Bloehdorn J, Ghia P, Yahiaoui A, et al. IGF1R as druggable target mediating PI3K-delta inhibitor resistance in a murine model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2019) 134(6):534– 47. doi: 10.1182/blood.2018881029
- 167. Nunnery SE, Mayer IA. Management of toxicity to isoform α-specific PI3K inhibitors. Ann Oncol (2019) 30:x21-x6. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz440
- 168. Coutre SE, Barrientos JC, Brown JR, de Vos S, Furman RR, Keating MJ, et al. Management of adverse events associated with idelalisib treatment: expert panel opinion. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2015) 56(10):2779–86. doi: 10.3109/ 10428194.2015.1022770
- 169. Kienle DL, Stilgenbauer S. Approved and emerging PI3K inhibitors for the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* (2020) 21(8):917–29. doi: 10.1080/ 14656566.2020.1737010
- 170. Jones JA, Robak T, Brown JR, Awan FT, Badoux X, Coutre S, et al. Efficacy and safety of idelalisib in combination with ofatumumab for previously treated chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: an open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Haematol* (2017) 4(3):e114–e26. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3026(17) 30019-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Aydin, Faehling, Saleh, Llaó Cid, Seiffert and Roessner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Heat Shock Proteins in Lymphoma Immunotherapy

Zarema Albakova^{1,2*}, Yana Mangasarova³ and Alexander Sapozhnikov^{1,2}

¹ Department of Biology, Lomonosov Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia, ² Department of Immunology, Shemyakin and Ovchinnikov Institute of Bioorganic Chemistry RAS, Moscow, Russia, ³ National Research Center for Hematology, Moscow, Russia

Immunotherapy harnessing the host immune system for tumor destruction revolutionized oncology research and advanced treatment strategies for lymphoma patients. Lymphoma is a heterogeneous group of cancer, where the central roles in pathogenesis play immune evasion and dysregulation of multiple signaling pathways. Immunotherapy-based approaches such as engineered T cells (CAR T), immune checkpoint modulators and NK cell-based therapies are now in the frontline of lymphoma research. Even though emerging immunotherapies showed promising results in treating lymphoma patients, low efficacy and on-target/off-tumor toxicity are of a major concern. To address that issue it is suggested to look into the emerging role of heat shock proteins. Heat shock proteins (HSPs) showed to be highly expressed in lymphoma cells. HSPs are known for their abilities to modulate immune responses and inhibit apoptosis, which made their successful entry into cancer clinical trials. Here, we explore the role of HSPs in Hodgkin and Non-Hodgkin lymphoma and their involvement in CAR T therapy, checkpoint blockade and NK cell- based therapies. Understanding the role of HSPs in lymphoma pathogenesis and the ways how HSPs may enhance anti-tumor responses, may help in the development of more effective, specific and safe immunotherapy.

Keywords: heat shock proteins, lymphoma, CAR T, CAR NK, checkpoint inhibitors

INTRODUCTION

Lymphoma is a heterogeneous cancer divided into two major types such as Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) and Non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) (1, 2). In oncology research, management of lymphoma stands out as the choice of treatment is largely based on the results obtained from prospective clinical trials (1). Standard treatment regimen includes chemotherapy and radiation therapy for the treatment of HL and chemotherapy combined with anti-CD20 antibodies for NHL patients, reaching the cure rate of 80-90% (1, 2). Even though the response rate is high, treatment-related toxicity such as induction of second malignancy and cardiotoxicity is of a major concern (1). Following initial treatment, 10-30% of lymphoma patients develop refractory or recurrent (r/r) disease which is treated with high-dose chemotherapy followed by an autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (ASCT) (1, 2). The overall goal of current and emerging treatments for HL and NHL is to cure disease and minimize treatment-related toxicity (1, 2). Current treatments for lymphoma patients are summarized in **Table 1**. Recently approved treatments for r/r HL and NHL subtypes include anti-CD30 antibody-drug conjugate brentuximab vedotin, PD1 inhibitors

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Gabriele Multhoff, Technical University of Munich, Germany Carmen Garrido, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

*Correspondence:

Zarema Albakova zarema.albakova14@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 January 2021 Accepted: 26 February 2021 Published: 18 March 2021

Citation:

Albakova Z, Mangasarova Y and Sapozhnikov A (2021) Heat Shock Proteins in Lymphoma Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 12:660085. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.660085

135

(pembrolizumab and nivolumab), Bruton's tyrosine kinase inhibitors (ibrutinib and acalabrutinib), phosphoinositide 3-kinase γ and/or δ inhibitors (idelalisib, copanlisib and duvelisib) and CD19 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy (tisagenlecleucel and axicabtagene ciloleucel) (**Table 1**) (1, 2, 29).

Heat shock proteins (HSPs) are molecular chaperones highly expressed in various types of cancer. HSPs are classified into several families such as HSP110, HSP90, HSP70, HSP40, chaperonins and HSPB (30). HSPs are largely known for their role in blocking apoptosis which was further translated into development of HSP inhibitors (31-49). Along this line, Kamal and colleagues showed that HSP90 inhibitor 17-allylamino-17demethoxy-geldanamycin (17-AAG) selectively targets cancer cells (50). In light of the reported, several HSP90 inhibitors such as alvespimycin (NCT01126502), luminespib (NCT01485536), PU-H71 (NCT01581541) and SNX-5422 (NCT02914327) currently are assessed in clinical trials for the treatment of lymphoma patients. Furthermore, HSPs showed to be potent immune system activators through the induction of cytotoxic CD8+T cell response (51-56). Several HSP-based vaccines have been evaluated in clinical trials (57-61). Specifically, the efficacy and safety of HSPPC-96 vaccine, which is an autologous gp96 heat shock protein-peptide complex vaccine, was assessed in patients with indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma (62). Inspired by the ability of HSPs to induce immune responses, Li and colleagues developed a novel nanovaccine that mimics HSPs, so it can be used to stimulate anti-tumor immune responses (55). Additionally, numerous studies have assessed extracellular HSPs derived from various liquid biopsies (serum, plasma, urine, plasma/serum/urine-derived exosomes) as potential cancer biomarkers [reviewed in (31)] (63-71).

Novel emerging immunotherapy approaches involve CAR T cell therapy, checkpoint inhibitors and NK cell-based therapies that are aimed at improving effectiveness in treating of lymphoma patients. In this review, we focus on the role of HSP family in Hodgkin and Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Since the mechanism of apoptosis and immune modulation are the key features in lymphoma pathogenesis, it is of particular interest to explore the contribution of HSPs in this process. We explain how the understanding of the cross-talk between tumor microenvironment (TME) and malignant cells and the role of HSPs in this process may help to improve emerging treatments for lymphoma patients.

HSPs IN HODGKIN LYMPHOMA

Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) is a B cell lymphoma divided into classic HL (cHL) which accounts for the majority of the cases and nodular lymphocyte-predominant HL (NLPHL) (1). Histologically, cHL is classified into four types such as nodular sclerosis HL (NSHL), mixed cellularity HL (MCHL), lymphocyte-rich HL (LRHL) and lymphocyte-depleted HL (LDHL) (1).

cHL is characterized by the presence of malignant Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg (HRS) cells that constitute minor population (~1%) of the tumor mass (72). The majority of infiltrate surrounding HRS cells is represented by different types of nonmalignant immune cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages, lymphocytes, mast cells, neutrophils, eosinophils and fibroblasts which form tumor microenvironment (TME) (1, 72). Even though, HRS cells are germinal center (GC)- derived B cells, they resemble immunophenotype that does not associate with any known cells of hematopoietic origin (Figure 1) (74). Specifically, HRS cells rarely express typical B-cell lineage markers such as CD19, CD20, CD22, CD79, CD79B and instead express markers of dendritic cells (CD83), myeloid markers (CD15) and T cell markers (CD2, CD3, CD4) (1, 74, 75, 81). Additionally, members of tumor necrosis factor family namely CD30 and CD40 are expressed on HRS cells (75). It is interesting to point out that cHL TME is composed of variable cellularity that is different in each cHL subtype (1). As an example, NSHL is rich in fibroblast-like cells and fibrosis, MCHL is composed of B cells, T cells, neutrophils, histiocytes, plasma cells and mast cells, LRHL is characterized by HRS cells surrounded by mantle zone B cells and histiocytes whereas LDHL predominantly consists of CD4⁺T cells, histiocytes and fibrosis (1).

Nuclear factor- kappa B (NF-kB) is constitutively activated in HRS cells (1, 82). Engagement of CD40, CD30, RANK and BCMA/TACI with their cognate ligands showed to activate NFkB leading to increased production of IL-6, IL-8, CCL5, IFN γ and IL-13 (75). During activation process, the IKK complex, which is composed of two kinase subunits IKK α , IKK β and a regulatory subunit IKK γ , phosphorylates IkB α , an inhibitor of NF-kB, allowing NF-kB translocation to the nucleus and activation of genes responsible for B-cell proliferation and survival (73). Notably, treatment with HSP90 inhibitor geldanamycin resulted in inactivation of NF-kB and IKK activity in HRS cell lines (83). HSP90 showed to stabilize subunits of IKK complex (IKK α and IKK β) and protect them from proteasomal degradation (83).

Another important signaling cascade which is constitutively activated in HRS cells is Janus kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) (1). Activation of JAK-STAT pathway leads to hyperphosphorylation of STAT proteins (1). In particular, STAT3, STAT6 and STAT5 showed to be constitutively phosphorylated in cHL cell lines (84–86). Intriguingly, Schoof and coworkers reported that pharmacological blocking of HSP90 inhibited the phosphorylation of STAT1, STAT3, STAT5 and STAT6 in cHL cell lines (84). Overall, HSP90-targeting agents may be a promising strategies in cHL where deregulated NF-kB and JAK-STAT signaling pathways play a major role in cHL pathogenesis.

Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-serine/threonine protein kinase (AKT) pathway is also constitutively activated in HRS cells as a result of activation of multiple receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) (1, 87). RTKs such as platelet-derived growth factor receptor A (PDGFRA), discoidin domain-containing receptor 2(DDR2),tyrosine kinase receptor A (TRKA) and



FIGURE 1 | Tumor microenvironment in cHL. HRS cells are surrounded by non-malignant immune and stromal cells. Inflammatory cells secrete cytokines, tumor necrosis family members (CD40L, CD30L) and other molecules (APRIL, BAFF) that bind to the proteins on the surface of HRS cells to promote growth and survival of HRS cells (1, 73). HRS cells express various markers of B cells, T cells, myeloid markers, markers of dendritic cells (74). HRS cells express PD-L1 to escape anti-tumor responses (75). HRS cells express Fas, but avoid FasL-mediated apoptosis by overexpressing c-FLIP (75–77). HRS cells express FasL leading to apoptosis of Fas-expressing NK cells (76, 78). HSP chaperones and their corresponding co-chaperones are highly expressed in HRS cells, which further contribute to immunosuppressive TME (79, 80). HRS, Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells; BCMA, B cell maturation antigen; APRIL, a proliferation-inducing ligand; BAFF, B-cell activating factor; PD-L1, programmed death 1; CD30L, CD30 ligand; CD40L, CD40 ligand; CCL5, CC-chemokine ligand 5; IL-3R, interleukin-3 receptor; TACI, transmembrane activator and calcium-modulator and cyclophilin ligand interactor; HSP, Heat shock protein; MSC, mesenchymal stromal cells; mBAFF, membrane-bound B-cell activating factor; MHC II, Major histocompatibility complex class II; HLA-E/G, Human leukocyte antigen- E/G; KIR2DL4, killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor family member; c-FLIP, cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein; CHL, classic Hodgkin lymphoma; NK cells, natural killer cells.

TRKB showed to be aberrantly expressed in HRS cells of HL patients, while no expression of these RTKs was observed in normal B cells or B-cell NHL cells (87). Furthermore, aberrant expression of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/ERK has been reported in HL (88).In light of the reported, HSP90 inhibitor 17-AAG showed to deplete AKT and inhibit extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) phosphorylation, leading to growth arrest and apoptosis in HL cell lines (89) (88). This was further supported by the finding that HSP90 inhibitor celastrol induced anti-tumor effects in HRS cells by downregulating RAS, ERK1/2 and c-Fos (90). In another experiment, inhibition of HSP90 by geldanamycin induced apoptosis in HRS cells with wild-type $IkB\alpha$ in p53independent manner (91). Taken together, these observations suggest that targeting AKT, NF-kB and MAPK/ERK pathways with HSP90 inhibitors may prove effective in HL treatment.

In addition to unique immunophenotype and multiple deregulated signaling pathways, HRS cells express high level of HSPs. Hsu and colleagues assessed HSP expression of formalinfixed, paraffin-embedded tissues derived from patients with different cHL subtypes (80). High cytoplasmic expression of HSP90 and HSP60 in HRS cells was found in NSHL, MCHL, LRHL and LDHL (80). By contrast, no cytosolic HSP27 expression was found in HRS cells in LRHL and low expression in LDLH while 20% of patients with NSHL and MCHL showed strong HSP27 expression (80). Later, Santon and co-workers used tissue microarray to analyze immunohistochemical expression of HSPs in HRS cells of cHL patients (79). More than 90 percent of cHL patients in HRS cells showed high cytoplasmic expression of HSP60, HSP10, HSP90, and CDC37, nuclear HSF1 whereas HSP110 showed to be highly expressed in nucleus and cytoplasm of HRS cells (79). Positive cytoplasmic staining of HSP70 and cytoplasmic/nuclear expression of HSP40 was observed in 78% of cHL patients whereas 54% had positive cytoplasmic expression of HSP27 (79). Expression of HSP90 and HSP70 positively correlated with expression of their co-chaperones CDC37 and HSP40, respectively (79). Furthermore, expression of HSP40 positively correlated with p53, caspase 9 and cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein (c-FLIP) whereas HSP70 expression correlated with caspase 3 (79). In another study, high cytoplasmic expression of HSP60 was observed in HRS cells in 100% of NSHL and MCHL cases (92).

HSPs IN NON-HODGKIN LYMPHOMA

Non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL) is comprised of B-cell lymphoma, accounting for the majority of the NHL lymphoma subtypes, while other NHLs include T-cell lymphoma and NKcell lymphoma (93). NHL is classified into indolent (slowgrowing) and aggressive (fast-growing) lymphoma. The most common indolent lymphoma is follicular lymphoma (FL), while other slow-growing lymphoma subtypes include marginal zone lymphoma (MZL), chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)/small lymphocytic lymphoma (SLL) and lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (94). The most common aggressive NHL subtype is represented by diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL), while other aggressive lymphoma subtypes include mantle cell lymphoma (MCL), Burkitt lymphoma (BL) and primary effusion lymphoma (94).

Lymphoma cells largely depend on microenvironment for their growth and survival (95). Continuous signaling from B cell receptor (BCR), immune and stromal cells are required to support proliferation activity and survival of lymphoma cells. BCR is required for B cell survival and the loss of BCR results in B cell death (95, 96). BCR activation by self-antigens showed to be a driving force in various NHL subtypes (97-99). Moreover, some subtypes of DLBCL carry genetic mutations that activate BCR signaling, including mutation in CD79B and CARD11, where the latter mutation leads to constitutive activation of NF-kB in activated B cell-like (ABC) subtype of DLBCL (95, 97, 100-102). Notably, Walter and colleagues demonstrated that HSP90 and its client protein spleen tyrosine kinase (SYK) are required for tonic BCR signaling in BL lymphoma, suggesting potential use of HSP90 as potential target for BL lymphoma treatment (103, 104). Additionally, HSP90 showed to stabilize BCR kinases such as Bruton tyrosine kinase (BTK), SYK, LYN and AKT in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells (105). Recent studies have added more insight into the role of HSP90 in BCR signaling in NHL subtypes. Jacobson and colleagues reported that HSP90 inhibition led to the complete loss of BTK and IKK α and downstream loss of phosphorylated ERK1/2 in mantle cell lymphoma cell lines (106). Moreover, HSP90 inhibitor showed to downregulate BTK in cells expressing BTK C481S mutation, which was found to be associated with resistance to BTK inhibitor ibrutinib in MCL and CLL patients (106-108). Importantly, Cerchietti and colleagues showed that HSP90 interacts with B-cell lymphoma-6 (Bcl-6) which was further supported by the finding that HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 selectively killed Bcl-6-dependent DLBCL cells (109). Subsequently, Goldstein and co-workers used PU-H71 and tumor-enriched HSP90 (teHSP90) complexes derived from DLBCL cell lines to show that LYN, SYK, BTK and phospholipase C γ 2(PLC γ 2) are dependent on teHSP90 (110). Furthermore, treatment with PU-H71 showed to disrupt BCR signaling, calcium influx and NF-kB activity, resulting in cell growth inhibition (110). Additionally, PU-H71 in combination with ibrutinib led to the killing of lymphoma cells, suggesting that combinatorial therapeutic approach may be more effective in NHL patients (110).

In addition to continuous BCR signaling, lymphoma cells require additional signals to survive. Early experiments in establishing NHL cell lines showed that FL cells require signals from T cells for CD40-mediated interaction and IL-4 stimulation for sustained proliferation of lymphoma cells (95, 111–113). Furthermore, in NHL subtypes myeloid cells secrete high level of B cell- activating factor (BAFF) and a proliferation inducing ligand (APRIL) that are critical for survival and differentiation of B cells (73, 95, 114–117). In addition to the signals provided by immune cells, the cross-talk between stromal cells and FL cells plays important role for the growth of FL B cells [reviewed in (118)].

Members of HSP family showed to be highly expressed in NHL subtypes. Valbuena and colleagues reported moderate-to-

strong cytoplasmic expression of HSP90 in 100% of cases of BL,61% of FL patients, 59% of DLBCL, 38% of nodal MZL and 33% of cases with SLL/CLL and 30% of lymphoplasmacytic lymphoma (119). Weak cytoplasmic expression of HSP90 was observed in 43% of cases with extranodal marginal zone B-cell lymphoma of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (119). Patients with T-cell lymphoma showed moderate/strong cytoplasmic expression of HSP90 (119). HSP60 also showed to be highly expressed in DLBCL and high-grade FL whereas no HSP60 was detected in low-grade FL (92). NK/T-cell lymphomas showed positive cytoplasmic expression of HSP60 (92).

Recent studies have emphasized the role of HSP110 in aggressive subtypes of B-cell NHLs such as DLBCL and BL (120). Zappasodi and colleagues demonstrated that inactivation of HSP105/HSPH1 leads to downregulation of c-Myc and Bcl-6 (120).Mechanistically, HSP105 showed to interact with c-Myc and Bcl-6 in nucleus in primary human DLBCL and BL cells, suggesting that HSP105 may function as a chaperone for both c-Myc and Bcl-6 (120).Additionally, higher expression of HSP105 was found in DLBCL expressing c-Myc compared to c-Myc low/ negative counterparts (120). In light of the reported, Boudesco and co-workers showed that overexpression of HSP110 resulted in upregulation of NF-kB, whereas silencing of HSP110 donwregulated NF-kB, suggesting that there is an interplay between HSP110 and NF-kB (121). Mechanistically, HSP110 showed to stabilize myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88), leading to chronic NF-kB activation in ABC-DLBCL (121). Therefore, targeting HSP110 may be a promising strategy for the treatment of B-cell NHLs.

Phase II clinical trial was conducted to assess the safety and efficacy of HSP90 inhibitor AUY922 in patients with r/r DLBCL and peripheral T-cell lymphoma (PTCL) (92). Overall, 14 patients with DLBCL and 6 with PTCL were enrolled, 1 patient with DLBCL reached complete response (CR) and 1 patient with PTCL achieved partial response (122). Treatment-related adverse effects included fatigue, visual disturbance that was fully reversible and anemia (122). Authors concluded that HSP90 inhibitors may be a good target in some cases, though, combination with chemotherapeutic agents and histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors may be used to improve anti-tumor activity (122). Several studies assessing combination of HSP90 inhibitors with chemotherapeutic drugs such as fludarabine, doxorubicin, cytarabine, melphalan, or HDAC inhibitors demonstrated promising results in hematological malignancies (122-126). Taken together, NHL subtypes have high expression of specific HSP members, however, use of combinatorial approach in NHL patients warrants further investigation.

HSPs AND EMERGING LYMPHOMA IMMUNOTHERAPY

HSPs and CAR T

CAR T therapy involves *ex vivo* expansion and genetic modification of an autologous (self) or allogeneic (donor) T

cells that specifically identify and eliminate cognate target ligand (127, 128). CAR consists of antigen-recognition domain represented by a single-chain variable fragment (scFv), hinge, transmembrane and intracellular signaling domains (127). Majority of CARs contain CD3 ζ which is critical for T cell receptor (TCR) signaling (129). Due to low CAR T cell activity and persistence, second generation CARs have been developed that integrated co-stimulatory domains derived from CD28 or 4-1BB into the CAR design (128, 129). Importantly, CAR T cells that contain CD28 domains differentiate into effector memory T cells whereas 4-1BB-domain CAR T cells differentiate into central memory T cells (128, 130).

CAR T showed to be effective in the treatment of B-cell malignancies (129). In 2017 the first CAR T immunotherapy tisagenlecleucel (CD19-specific 4-1BB-CAR) was approved by FDA for the treatment of r/r B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) (128). Later, in 2018, axicabtagene ciloucel (CD19specific CD28-CAR) was approved for the treatment of r/r DLBCL (93). Nevertheless, the main challenge in CAR T therapy now is to find an antigen universally expressed on tumor cells that can be targeted by CAR T. Since HRS cells almost exclusively express CD30, CD30 was proposed as an attractive target for the CAR T therapy. Up till now only 3 studies assessed the efficacy and safety of CD30 CAR T immunotherapy for the treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma (129). Recently, Ramos and colleagues have conducted two phase I/II clinical trials where autologous CD30 CAR Ts were administered to patients with r/r Hodgkin lymphoma after lymphodepletion with fludarabine in combination with either bendamustine or cyclophosphamide (131). The overall response rate (ORR) for 32 patients was 72%, 19 (59%) of which achieved a complete remission (131). It is encouraging that no neurotoxicity was observed. Cytokine release syndrome (CRS) and skin rash that occurred in 10 and 20 patients, respectively, were found to be associated with cyclophosphamide rather than with bendamustine and both spontaneously resolved (131). In another study, Wang and colleagues designed anti-CD30 CAR and conducted a pilot study in patients with r/r Hodgkin lymphoma (132). After lymphodepletion, patients were infused with anti-CD30 CAR Ts. A total of 9 patients received CD30 CAR T infusion, 3

achieved CR, six experienced CRS from which 4 were low-grade and no neurotoxicity was observed (132). Authors also demonstrated promising results in combination therapy where CD30 CAR T treatment was combined with anti-PD-1 antibody (132). Notably, Watanabe and colleagues showed that CD30 induces expression of HSP90 α and HSP90 β in cHL by activating heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) (133). Since CD30 and HSP90 are overexpressed in cHL, future studies should explore the effect of anti-CD30 CAR T therapy on HSP90 (133).

The use of CARs against HSP70 was proposed by Smith and colleagues (134). Their invention particularly aims to target membrane-bound form of HSP70, so that specifically HSP70-surface positive tumor cells can be killed (134). Similar to the Smith group, Claffey and co-workers identified heavy chain antibody (HCAb2) that selectively targets HSP90 on malignant cells (135). Based on their findings, authors described an antibody that specifically binds to the cell surface HSP90 β isoform (135, 136). Therefore, targeting surface expression of HSPs can be a new promising strategy for the development of more efficient CAR T therapy (**Figure 2**).

Due to on-target/off-tumor toxicity that associated with the use of CAR T therapy, several investigators proposed that the activity of CAR T cells can be controlled by thermal regulation with the use of HSP-based promoters (pHSP) (141, 142). Shapiro and colleagues used genetically engineered circuits pHSP-CAR to induce CAR expression in T cells in response to thermal stimuli (142). Studies assessing the use of pHSP for thermal control of CAR T highlighted that, despite their names, HSP members respond to various cellular stresses such as heat, hypoxia, radiation, heavy metal toxicity and cytokines (142–144). Therefore, the choice of HSP-based promoter should largely depend on the context in which these promoters will be used (142).

Several investigators demonstrated that HSP90 is crucial for the functional activity of T lymphocytes. For example, Bae and coworkers demonstrated that HSP90 inhibition downregulates the expression of CD3, CD4, CD8 as well as CD28, CD40L and $\alpha\beta$ receptors and cripples T cell proliferation and interferon- γ (IFN- γ) secretion (145). In another study, pharmacological blocking of HSP90 resulted in decreased expression of Linker



bound forms of HSP70 and HSP90 (134, 136).

TABLE 1 | Current treatments for HL and NHL.

Hodgkin lymphoma Lymphoma type	Standard treatment regimen	Refs
cHL	Chemotherapy + ISRT	(1, 3, 4)
r/r cHL	High-dose chemotherapy +ASCT	(1, 4-7)
NLPHL	Rituximab	(3, 8)
	New agents	
cHL, including r/r cHL	Brentuximab vedotin	(1, 3, 9)
	Nivolumab	(3, 10)
	Pembrolizumab	(3, 11)
Non-Hodgkin lymphoma		
	Standard treatment regimen	
NHL, including r/r NHL	Rituximab+chemotherapy	(2)
	Lenalidomide+Rituximab	(2)
	High-dose chemotherapy +ASCT	(2)
	New agents	
PTCL	Brentuximab vedotin	(12)
CLL/SLL	lbrutinib+rituximab	(13, 14)
CLL/SLL; MCL	Acalabrutinib	(15–20)
FL and SLL	Idelalisib	(21)
FL	Copanlisib	(22)
r/r CLL/SLL	Duvelisib	(23)
r/r primary mediastinal BCL	Pembrolizumab	(24, 25)
r/r DLBCL	Tisagenlecleucel	(26)
r/r DLBCL	Axicabtagene ciloucel	(27, 28)

ISRT, Involved site radiation therapy; ASCT, autologous haemotopoietic stem cell transplantation; cHL, classic Hodgkin lymphoma; NLPHL, nodular lymphocytepredominant Hodgkin lymphoma;r/r, Refractory or recurrent disease; PTCL, peripheral T-cell lymphoma; CLL, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL); SLL, small lymphocytic lymphoma; MCL, mantle cell lymphoma.

for activation of T cells (LAT) in activated T cells (146). Therefore, taking into account that HSP90 is important for the T cell function and phenotype, and that CAR T-containing CD28 and CD3 domains may affect intracellular and extracellular HSP90 expression, further studies should address the effect of CAR T on HSP90 expression.

HSPs and NK Cell-Based Immunotherapy

The immunosuppressive TME specifically inhibits functional activity and proliferation of NK cells (76). Several investigators reported deficiency in the number of NK cells in the biopsies of cHL patients (76, 147). Moreover, lower number of circulating NK cells were detected in peripheral blood of cHL patients (76, 148, 149). The main goal of NK-based immunotherapy in HL is to reactivate NK cells (150). Boll and colleagues demonstrated that HSP90 inhibitor called BIIB021 combined with doxorubicin and gemcitabine selectively killed Hodgkin lymphoma cells by inhibiting NF-kB activation (150). Moreover, HSP90 inhibition resulted in upregulation of NKG2D ligands such as MHC class I chain-related A (MICA), MICB and ULBP2 on HL cells, making HL cells susceptible to NK-mediated killing (150). In line with that, Fionda and colleagues demonstrated that HSP90 inhibition upregulates MICA and MICB and leads to increased NK cell degranulation in myeloma cell lines (151).

Contrary to T cells, NK cells do not recognize an antigen in the form of MHC-peptide complex, but rather sense the absence of self-MHC class I on tumor cells. HSP90 and HSP70 chaperones showed to be crucial for antigen presentation by MHC I molecule. Binder and colleagues reported that peptide antigens bound to HSPs, such as HSP90, HSP70, gp96, were presented 100 fold more efficiently by MHC I compared to free peptides (152, 153). Callahan and co-workers demonstrated that HSP90 inhibition disrupts the loading of peptides on MHC I (153). Furthermore, Kunizawa and Shastri showed that TCP-1 ring complex (TRiC/CCT) chaperonin is required for the expression of peptide-loaded MHC I on the cell surface (154). Later the same team found that inhibition of HSP90 α or cochaperone carboxyl terminus of Hsc70-interacting protein (CHIP) reduced presentation of peptide-bound MHC I on the cell surface (155).

Several investigators proposed the use of engineered NK cells as promising strategy for adoptive cell therapy in hematological malignancies (156). NK cells that are used in adoptive transfer can be allogeneic, autologous or immortalized such as NK-92 (156, 157). For research studies, NK cells can be isolated from peripheral blood or differentiated from stem cells, ex vivo expanded, activated with cytokines (IL-2, IL-15) and cocultured with γ -irradiated feeder cells. It is important to point out that NK cells derived from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) differ from NK cells differentiated from stem cells (156). For example, NK cells derived from cord blood showed no expression of CD57, high expression of NKG2A, lower expression of killer-immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) and lower secretion of interferon- γ (156, 158). Several studies showed that NK cells can also be activated by HSP70 protein or 14-mer HSP70-derived peptide (TKD) in combination with IL-2 or IL-15 (Figure 2) (137-139). Multhoff and colleagues demonstrated that aggressive tumors have high expression of membranebound HSP70 (mHSP70) and that radio and/or- chemotherapy further increases surface expression of HSP70 (159-161). Furthermore, they reported that NK cells pre-activated with TKD and IL-2 recognize mHSP70 on tumor cells (137). Translating this to clinical trial, Multhoff et al. showed that four cycles of adoptive transfer of autologous NK cells prestimulated with TKD and IL-2 was well-tolerated and resulted in increase in the number of NK cells in peripheral blood of patients with mHSP70-positive non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) following radiochemotherapy in phase II clinical trial (140). Earlier, same research team demonstrated that NK cells activated with IL-2 and TKD and combined with anti-PD-1 antibody increased cytolytic activity of NK cells toward cancer cells and delayed tumor growth in vivo (162).

NK cells that express tumor-specific CARs showed to be efficiently applied in B cell malignancies (156). Currently, six CAR-NK therapies (CD19-CAR NK, CD22-CAR NK, CD19/CD22, CD7-CAR NK,CD19-t-haNK) are assessed in clinical trials for the treatment of lymphoma patients (156). Liu and colleagues used NK cells from the cord blood (CB) for incorporation of genes for CAR-CD19, IL-15 cytokine and caspase 9 as safety switch (iC9/CAR.19/IL15) to efficiently kill CD19-positive leukemia/lymphoma cells lines (156, 163). Same research group further assessed administration of HLA-mismatched iC9/CAR.19/IL15-transduced CB-NK cells in Phase I/II clinical trial to patients with r/r CD19- positive

NHL and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (164). Overall, 11 patients were administrated with anti-CD19-CAR NK cells, 8 patients (73%) achieved clinical response from which 4 patients with lymphoma and 3 patients with CLL had a complete remission (164). Notably, no neurotoxicity, CRS or increase in IL-6 were observed, which are frequently associated with the administration of CAR T therapies (156, 164).

HSPs and Immune Checkpoints

Immunotherapy in the form of checkpoint modulation has advanced cancer research (165). In 2011, the first monoclonal antibody targeting immune checkpoint cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) called ipilimumab received FDA approval. Later, monoclonal antibodies that target programmed death 1 (PD-1) such as pembrolizumab and nivolumab, and antibodies against PD-L1 such as atezolizumab and durvalumab were developed (165). Novel combinatorial approaches currently emerge, where the use of immune checkpoint modulators in combination with other anti-cancer therapies may further improve clinical response (166).

Taking into account that a major challenge in immunotherapy is a loss of tumor-associated antigens, HSP90 inhibitors were proposed as complementary approach to checkpoint inhibitors for cancer treatment (167). Rao and colleagues reported that inhibition of HSP90 resulted in proteasome-dependent degradation of its client oncoprotein EphA2 and, hence, increased tumor recognition by EphA2specific CD8+T lymphocytes (168, 169). Haggerty and colleagues demonstrated that HSP90 inhibitors showed to upregulate the expression of tumor antigens such as Melan-A/ MART-1, TPR-2, gp100 and enhance T cell recognition in melanoma cell lines (170). HSP90 client protein nucleophosmin-anaplastic lymphoma kinase (NPM/ALK) showed to induce PD-L1 via STAT3 activation in T cell lymphoma (171). Notably, administration of anti-PD-L1 antibody in combination with HSP90 inhibitor ganetespib showed significantly higher anti-tumor activity than when treated with anti-PD-L1 alone in syngeneic mouse models of melanoma and colon carcinoma (167). Furthermore, Mbofung and colleagues demonstrated that ganetespib in combination with anti-CTLA4 and anti-PD-1 antibodies improved survival and anti-tumor response in mice bearing MC38/gp100 tumors (172). Authors also showed that combinatorial treatment of HSP90 inhibitors and checkpoint blockade therapy decreased number of T regulatory cells and increased the expression of CXCL9, CXCL10 and IFN- γ (172). Combinatorial treatment also increased the number of CD8+T cells producing granzyme A and granzyme B, suggesting that combination of anti-CTLA4 and HSP90 inhibition enhances cytotoxic activity of CD8+T cells (172).

CD47 is an innate immune checkpoint highly expressed on the surface of tumor cells (93, 173). CD47 forms complex with signal regulatory protein α (SIRP α), which is expressed on phagocytic cells such as monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells (93). CD47/SIRP α sends 'don't eat me" signals to innate immune cells, thus, inhibiting phagocytosis (174). Chao and colleagues reported that CD47 was overexpressed on samples derived from patients with various NHL subtypes (DLBCL,B-CLL, MCL, FL, MZL, pre-B ALL) and high CD47 expression correlated with poor clinical prognosis in NHL patients (173, 175). Blocking of CD47/SIRPa with anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody resulted in phagocytosis of acute myeloid leukemia cells (173). Combination of anti-CD47 monoclonal antibody (Hu5F9-G4) and rituximab showed promising results in patients with r/r DLBCL and FL in phase I clinical trial (176). Interestingly, Cook et al. demonstrated that inhibition of glucose-regulated protein-78 (GRP78), a member of HSP70 family, downregulated CD47 expression in tumor cells, leading to enhanced macrophage infiltration (177). Moreover, coexpression of CD47 and GRP78 showed to associate with poor survival in breast cancer patients (177). HSP90 also showed to play a role in CD47 regulation as inactivation of Myc, a client protein of HSP90, resulted in reduced expression of CD47 and PD-L1 (178, 179). It is interesting to note that HSP90 inhibitor PU-H71 induced apoptosis and inhibited tumor growth in patient-derived xenograft model of MCL via downregulating Myc (179, 180). Therefore, further studies are required to understand the HSP90-MYC-CD47/PD-L1 relationship and the role of GRP78 in CD47 regulation for the development of more specific and effective CD47-based therapies.

DISCUSSION

Lymphoma represents a unique group of cancer derived from major effector cells of an immune system such as B cells, T and NK cells (81, 93). Immunotherapy-based approaches showed encouraging results for patients with HL and NHL, however, severe toxicity and low efficacy profiles restrict the use of immunotherapy in lymphoma patients (2, 81). To overcome these limitations, various therapeutic strategies are developed that include the use of HSPs.

HSPs belong to evolutionally conserved family of chaperones that assist client proteins in folding, trafficking, degradation and showed to be involved in the most stages of cancer development (56, 181–184). High expression of HSPs on the surface correlates with the aggressiveness and resistance to therapy in many types of cancer (185, 186). Furthermore, HSPs are largely known for their critical role in regulating cell death mechanisms and immune responses (187–189).

Lymphoma cells create a complex and unique immunemodulatory tumor microenvironment, where inflammatory and stromal cells provide essential signals for growth, proliferation and survival of tumor cells (75, 95, 118). One of the major hallmark of lymphoma is represented by the deregulated critical signaling pathways including NF-kB, JAK-STAT, BCR signaling, PI3K/AKT, MAPK/ERK and apoptosis signaling pathways (82, 85–88, 190).Noticeably, specific members of HSP families, in particular, HSP90 showed to interfere with all these signaling cascades (83, 89, 103). Based on positive results from preclinical studies, several researchers proposed the use of HSP90 inhibitors for the treatment of lymphoma (122). However, result from phase II clinical trial of HSP90 inhibitor revealed low efficacy, but durable response, and acceptable toxicity profile in patients with r/r NHL (122). Taking into account critical role of HSP90 in lymphoma pathogenesis, further studies should be performed to assess the role of HSP90 in different subtypes of HL and NHL lymphomas.

For effective development of HSP-based therapy in lymphoma, it is critical to bear in mind that different HSP members reside in different cellular compartments where they perform specific functions (30, 191, 192). For example, mitochondrial HSP90 homolog known as tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated protein 1 (TRAP1) is involved in mitochondrial bioenergetics while endoplasmic reticulum (ER) HSP90 member referred to as glucose-regulated protein 94 (GRP94/gp96/Endoplasmin/HSP90B1) is critical for the unfolded protein response (193-196). It also appears that cell has some form of a balance of HSP distribution across compartments and cancer seems to impair this equilibrium, leading to the translocation of HSPs, which further reflects their functions (197-199). For example, surface expression of GRP94 showed to increase tumor immunogenicity and stabilize plasma membrane HER2 in breast cancer cells (200-202). So whether HSP-based immunotherapy also affects distribution of HSPs in HL and NHL, shifting HSPs from their primary locations is not yet clear and requires further investigation.

It is also important to point out that HSPs in extracellular milieu exist in several forms either secreted or membrane-bound and each form has distinct function (203-208). For example, dying tumor cells secrete HSP70s that serve as damage-associated molecular patters (DAMPs) and showed to elicit strong T cell response which with long-term exposure leads to the induction of immune tolerance and tumor growth (209-212). Conversely, viable tumor cells export HSP70 in exosomes which showed to activate myeloidderived suppressor cells (MDSCs) and macrophages for the production of IL-6 and TNF- α , respectively (213, 214). Additionally, HSP70 on the surface of tumor cells serves as a recognition structure for NK cells (199, 215). In light of the reported, extracellular HSP70 activates T regulatory cells leading to the downregulation of interferon- γ and TNF- α section and upregulation of IL-10 and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) production (216). Along this line, interaction of extracellular HSP70 with antigen-presenting cells resulted in activation of NF-kB, leading to the production of TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-12 (56, 217-220). Figueiredo and colleagues reported that soluble HSP70 alone or in combination with IL-2 resulted in increased production of IFN- γ by T cells (221). Furthermore, stimulation of T cells with HSP70 and IL-2 or IL-7/IL-12/IL-15 resulted in upregulation of Granzyme B in CD4+T cells in target-independent manner, suggesting that extracellular HSP70 can induce targetindependent cytotoxicity in T- helper cells (221). In light of the reported, extracellular HSP110 induce pro-inflammatory phenotype in macrophages (222). Along this line, HSP27-positive tumor -derived exosomes enhance immunosuppressive activity of MDSCs whereas soluble HSP27 induces tolerogenic phenotype in macrophages (223, 224). Furthermore, extracellular HSP27 inhibits differentiation of monocytes to DCs (225). Therefore, taking into account immunologic role of extracellular HSPs, it is important to study their functions in lymphoma pathogenesis and further

monitor expression of HSPs in different stages and subtypes of HL and NHL.

Despite their extracellular roles in tumor immunology, HSP members have also distinct intracellular immunologic functions. For example, ER HSP90 homolog GRP94 plays important role in immunosuppressive activity of T regulatory cells, in lymphopoiesis of T and B cells, in production of proinflammatory cytokines by tumor-associated macrophages, in the regulation of platelet GPIba subunit of GPIb-IX-V complex and maturation of dendritic cells (195, 201, 202, 226-231). Along this line, mitochondrial HSP70 homolog GRP75/mtHSP70/mortalin/HSPA9 showed to interact with complement C9 and protect tumor cell from complementdependent cytotoxicity (232-234).Furthermore, HSPs regulate an important component of innate immune response- the Nod-like receptor protein-3 (NLRP3) inflammasome (235, 236). Therefore, taking into account that central role in lymphoma pathogenesis play immune evasion mechanisms, intracellular immunologic roles of HSPs should also be considered for the development of more effective and safe HSP-based immunotherapy for the HL and NHL treatment.

HSP chaperones also showed to interact with each other. For example, mortalin interacts with HSP60 and HSP90 whereas GRP94 interacts with binding immunoglobulin protein (BiP/ GRP78/HSPA5) (234, 237-239). Furthermore, individual homologs may have specific client networks. For example, ER HSP90 member GRP94 has client network that does not overlap with client network of cytosolic HSP90 homologs (195, 240, 241). Conversely, members from different HSP families may have overlapping client network. For example, HSP110 and HSP90 showed to stabilize c-Myc and Bcl-6 (109, 120, 179). Therefore, it is critical to note that blocking HSP member may further affect its co-chaperones, its client network and other HSP chaperones. Therefore, further studies should explore what happens on the level of individual HSP members in different subtypes of HL and NHL lymphoma and whether specific blocking of a particular homolog and, hence, its client and co-chaperone network, will be more advantageous for the lymphoma treatment.

HSP90 showed to affect CD3 and CD28, thus, the effect of HSP90 on CAR- containing CD3 and CD28-derived domains requires further investigation (133). From the other hand, HSP70-derived peptide TKD has been used for *ex vivo* activation of NK cells for adoptive transfer therapy and, since no severe toxicity was observed for NK-based immunotherapy, this strategy may be exploited for the development of lymphoma immunotherapy (140). In light of the reported, two research teams proposed to target membrane-bound HSP70 and HSP90 isoforms on tumors by CARs (134, 136).

Evidently, HSP90 *via* its client network (NPM/ALK and Myc) showed to be involved in the regulation of immune checkpoints such as PD-L1 and CD47 whereas HSP70 ER member GRP78 showed to be co-expressed with CD47 (171, 177–179). Since combination of HSP90 inhibitors with either anti-PD-1, anti-PD-L1 or anti-CTLA-4 antibodies showed anti-tumor effect in mouse models, combinatorial approaches of using HSP90 inhibitors and checkpoint inhibitors or HSP70 inhibitors coupled with anti-CD47 antibodies may further improve anti-tumor response (167, 172).

Another strategy to improve therapy responses involves the use of biomarkers that can predict clinical outcome. Large body of evidence suggests that extracellular HSPs can be used as predictive, prognostic and diagnostic biomarkers of cancer (31, 63, 64, 242–244). Further studies should be performed to assess expression of HSPs in extracellular milieu in their potential to predict clinical response in patients with HL and NHL. Recently, Dunphy and colleagues have conducted phase I clinical trial to test the safety and feasibility of administering ¹²⁴I-PU-H71 radiologic agent followed by positron emission tomography (PET) to detect HSP90 within epichaperome complex in various types of tumors, thus supporting further development of HSP90-based targeted- therapeutics (245).

Taken together, members of HSP family may be exploited for the development of more efficacious treatment, though, further studies are required to understand the effect of HSP expression in various lymphoma subtypes and their use in the development of T/NK-based immunotherapies and combination approaches. Moreover, the role of HSPs as biomarker to predict clinical outcome in lymphoma patients warrants further investigation.

CONCLUSION

Lymphoma is a heterogeneous group of cancer, derived from immune cells and characterized into two major subtypes such as

REFERENCES

- Connors JM, Cozen W, Steidl C, Carbone A, Hoppe RT, Flechtner H-H, et al. Hodgkin lymphoma. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2020) 6(1):61. doi: 10.1038/ s41572-020-0189-6
- Andrew DZ, Leo IG, Jeremy SA, Ranjana HA, Nancy LB, Paolo FC, et al. NCCN Guidelines Insights: B-Cell Lymphomas, Version 3.2019. J Natl Compr Cancer Netw J Natl Compr Canc Netw (2019) 17(6):650–61. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2019.0029
- National Comprehensive Cancer Network. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines. Hodgkin lymphoma (2019). NCCN. Available at: https://www. nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/default.aspx#site (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- Eichenauer DA, Engert A, André M, Federico M, Illidge T, Hutchings M, et al. Hodgkin's lymphoma: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol* (2014) 25:iii70–5. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdu181
- Kuruvilla J, Keating A, Crump M. How I treat relapsed and refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2011) 117(16):4208–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-09-288373
- Linch DC, Goldstone AH, McMillan A, Chopra R, Vaughan Hudson G, Winfield D, et al. Dose intensification with autologous bone-marrow transplantation in relapsed and resistant Hodgkin's disease: results of a BNLI randomised trial. *Lancet* (1993) 341(8852):1051–4. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(93)92411-L
- Schmitz N, Pfistner B, Sextro M, Sieber M, Carella AM, Haenel M, et al. Aggressive conventional chemotherapy compared with high-dose chemotherapy with autologous haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation for relapsed chemosensitive Hodgkin's disease: a randomised trial. *Lancet* (2002) 359(9323):2065–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08938-9
- Advani RH, Hoppe RT. How I treat nodular lymphocyte predominant Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2013) 122(26):4182–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-07-453241

Hodgkin and Non-Hodgkin lymphoma. HSP members in particular HSP90, HSP60 and HSP70 are highly expressed in most subtypes of HL and NHL lymphoma. Evidently, HSPs play a major role in hallmarks of lymphoma pathogenesis including their involvement in immune evasion and dysregulation of key signaling cascades. Exploiting HSPs in immunotherapy-based approaches and as biomarkers for the lymphoma therapy may prove effective, however, requires further investigation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZA: conceptualization and manuscript writing. YM: manuscript editing. AS: Resources. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was funded by RFBR, project number 20-315-90081. YM was supported by the RAKFOND grant 2020-02.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The figures were created with BioRender.com.

- U.S.Food and Drug Administration. FDA expands approval of Adcetris for first-line treatment of Stage III or IV classical Hodgkin lymphoma in combination with chemotherapy (2018). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ news-events/press-announcements/fda-expands-approval-adcetris-firstline-treatment-stage-iii-or-iv-classical-hodgkin-lymphoma (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Nivolumab (Opdivo) for Hodgkin Lymphoma (2016). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resourcesinformation-approved-drugs/nivolumab-opdivo-hodgkin-lymphoma (Accessed 21 Feb 2021).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA extends approval of pembrolizumab for classical Hodgkin lymphoma (2020). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-approvals-and-databases/fda-extendsapproval-pembrolizumab-classical-hodgkin-lymphoma (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- 12. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *FDA approves first-line treatment for peripheral T-cell lymphoma under new review pilot* (2018). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-first-line-treatment-peripheral-t-cell-lymphoma-under-new-review-pilot (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves ibrutinib plus rituximab for chronic lymphocytic leukemia (2020). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ drugs/drug-approvals-and-databases/fda-approves-ibrutinib-plusrituximab-chronic-lymphocytic-leukemia (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- Shanafelt TD, Wang XV, Kay NE, Hanson CA, O'Brien S, Barrientos J, et al. Ibrutinib–Rituximab or Chemoimmunotherapy for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *New Engl J Med* (2019) 381(5):432–43. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1817073
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Project Orbis: FDA approves acalabrutinib for CLL and SLL (2019). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/ drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/project-orbis-fda-approvesacalabrutinib-cll-and-sll (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- 16. Sharman JP, Egyed M, Jurczak W, Skarbnik A, Pagel JM, Flinn IW, et al. Acalabrutinib with or without obinutuzumab versus chlorambucil and
obinutuzumab for treatment-naive chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (ELEVATE-TN): a randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* (2020) 395(10232):1278–91. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30262-2

- Ghia P, Pluta A, Wach M, Lysak D, Kozak T, Simkovic M, et al. ASCEND: Phase III, Randomized Trial of Acalabrutinib Versus Idelalisib Plus Rituximab or Bendamustine Plus Rituximab in Relapsed or Refractory Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Clin Oncol (2020) 38(25):2849–61. doi: 10.1200/JCO.19.03355
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA grants accelerated approval to acalabrutinib for mantle cell lymphoma (2017). Available at: https://www. fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-grantsaccelerated-approval-acalabrutinib-mantle-cell-lymphoma (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- Wang M, Rule S, Zinzani PL, Goy A, Casasnovas O, Smith SD, et al. Durable response with single-agent acalabrutinib in patients with relapsed or refractory mantle cell lymphoma. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(11):2762–6. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0575-9
- Wang M, Rule S, Zinzani PL, Goy A, Casasnovas O, Smith SD, et al. Acalabrutinib in relapsed or refractory mantle cell lymphoma (ACE-LY-004): a single-arm, multicentre, phase 2 trial. *Lancet* (2018) 391(10121):659– 67. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33108-2
- Miller BW, Przepiorka D, de Claro RA, Lee K, Nie L, Simpson N, et al. FDA Approval: Idelalisib Monotherapy for the Treatment of Patients with Follicular Lymphoma and Small Lymphocytic Lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21(7):1525. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2522
- 22. U.S.Food and Drug Administration. *FDA grants accelerated approval to copanlisib for relapsed follicular lymphoma* (2017). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-grants-accelerated-approval-copanlisib-relapsed-follicular-lymphoma (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- 23. U.S.Food and Drug Administration. duvelisib (COPIKTRA, Verastem, Inc.) for adult patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) or small lymphocytic lymphoma (SLL) (2018). Available at: https:// www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/duvelisibcopiktra-verastem-inc-adult-patients-relapsed-or-refractory-chroniclymphocytic-leukemia (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- 24. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *FDA approves pembrolizumab for treatment of relapsed or refractory PMBCL* (2018). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-approves-pembrolizumab-treatment-relapsed-or-refractory-pmbcl (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- 25. Zinzani PL, Thieblemont C, Melnichenko V, Bouabdallah K, Walewski J, Majlis A, et al. Efficacy and Safety of Pembrolizumab in Relapsed/Refractory Primary Mediastinal Large B-Cell Lymphoma (rrPMBCL): Updated Analysis of the Keynote-170 Phase 2 Trial. *Blood* (2017) 130 (Supplement1):2833–3. doi: 10.1182/blood.V130.Suppl_1.2833.2833
- 26. U.S.Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves tisagenlecleucel for adults with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma (2018). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/fdaapproves-tisagenlecleucel-adults-relapsed-or-refractory-large-b-celllymphoma (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- Locke FL, Ghobadi A, Jacobson CA, Miklos DB, Lekakis LJ, Oluwole OO, et al. Long-term safety and activity of axicabtagene ciloleucel in refractory large B-cell lymphoma (ZUMA-1): a single-arm, multicentre, phase 1-2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20(1):31–42. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30864-7
- U.S.Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves axicabtagene ciloleucel for large B-cell lymphoma (2017). Available at: https://www.fda.gov/drugs/ resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-approves-axicabtageneciloleucel-large-b-cell-lymphoma (Accessed 21 February 2021).
- Chaudhari K, Rizvi S, Syed B. Non-Hodgkin lymphoma therapy landscape. Nat Rev Drug Discovery (2019) 18:663–4. doi: 10.1038/d41573-019-00051-6
- Kampinga HH, Hageman J, Vos MJ, Kubota H, Tanguay RM, Bruford EA, et al. Guidelines for the nomenclature of the human heat shock proteins. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (2009) 14(1):105–11. doi: 10.1007/s12192-008-0068-7
- Albakova Z, Siam MKS, Sacitharan PK, Ziganshin RH, Ryazantsev DY, Sapozhnikov AM. Extracellular heat shock proteins and cancer: New perspectives. *Trans Oncol* (2021) 14(2):100995. doi: 10.1016/ j.tranon.2020.100995

- Antonoff MB, Chugh R, Skube SJ, Dudeja V, Borja-Cacho D, Clawson KA, et al. Role of Hsp-70 in triptolide-mediated cell death of neuroblastoma. J Surg Res (2010) 163(1):72–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2010.04.047
- Braunstein MJ, Scott SS, Scott CM, Behrman S, Walter P, Wipf P, et al. Antimyeloma Effects of the Heat Shock Protein 70 Molecular Chaperone Inhibitor MAL3-101. J Oncol (2011) 2011:232037. doi: 10.1155/2011/232037
- 34. Ernst K, Liebscher M, Mathea S, Granzhan A, Schmid J, Popoff MR, et al. A novel Hsp70 inhibitor prevents cell intoxication with the actin ADPribosylating Clostridium perfringens iota toxin. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6(1):20301. doi: 10.1038/srep20301
- Fewell SW, Smith CM, Lyon MA, Dumitrescu TP, Wipf P, Day BW, et al. Small molecule modulators of endogenous and co-chaperone-stimulated Hsp70 ATPase activity. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(49):51131–40. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M404857200
- Howe MK, Bodoor K, Carlson DA, Hughes PF, Alwarawrah Y, Loiselle DR, et al. Identification of an allosteric small-molecule inhibitor selective for the inducible form of heat shock protein 70. *Chem Biol* (2014) 21(12):1648–59. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2014.10.016
- 37. Hung C-M, Su Y-H, Lin H-Y, Lin J-N, Liu L-C, Ho C-T, et al. Demethoxycurcumin Modulates Prostate Cancer Cell Proliferation via AMPK-Induced Down-regulation of HSP70 and EGFR. J Agric Food Chem (2012) 60(34):8427–34. doi: 10.1021/jf302754w
- Huryn DM, Brodsky JL, Brummond KM, Chambers PG, Eyer B, Ireland AW, et al. Chemical methodology as a source of small-molecule checkpoint inhibitors and heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) modulators. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U.S.A. (2011) 108(17):6757–62. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1015251108
- 39. Jacobson BA, Chen EZ, Tang S, Belgum HS, McCauley JA, Evenson KA, et al. Triptolide and its prodrug minnelide suppress Hsp70 and inhibit in vivo growth in a xenograft model of mesothelioma. *Genes Cancer* (2015) 6(3-4):144–52. doi: 10.18632/genesandcancer.55
- Jung JH, Lee JO, Kim JH, Lee SK, You GY, Park SH, et al. Quercetin suppresses HeLa cell viability via AMPK-induced HSP70 and EGFR downregulation. J Cell Physiol (2010) 223(2):408–14. doi: 10.1002/jcp.22049
- 41. Ko S-K, Kim J, Na Deuk C, Park S, Park S-H, Hyun Ji Y, et al. A Small Molecule Inhibitor of ATPase Activity of HSP70 Induces Apoptosis and Has Antitumor Activities. *Chem Biol* (2015) 22(3):391–403. doi: 10.1016/ j.chembiol.2015.02.004
- Leu JI, Pimkina J, Frank A, Murphy ME, George DL. A small molecule inhibitor of inducible heat shock protein 70. *Mol Cell* (2009) 36(1):15–27. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2009.09.023
- 43. Phillips PA, Sangwan V, Borja-Cacho D, Dudeja V, Vickers SM, Saluja AK. Myricetin induces pancreatic cancer cell death via the induction of apoptosis and inhibition of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling pathway. *Cancer Lett* (2011) 308(2):181–8. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2011.05.002
- 44. Rérole A-L, Gobbo J, De Thonel A, Schmitt E, Pais de Barros JP, Hammann A, et al. Peptides and Aptamers Targeting HSP70: A Novel Approach for Anticancer Chemotherapy. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(2):484. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1443
- 45. Rodina A, Patel PD, Kang Y, Patel Y, Baaklini I, Wong MJ, et al. Identification of an allosteric pocket on human hsp70 reveals a mode of inhibition of this therapeutically important protein. *Chem Biol* (2013) 20 (12):1469–80. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2013.10.008
- 46. Rousalova I, Banerjee S, Sangwan V, Evenson K, McCauley JA, Kratzke R, et al. Minnelide: a novel therapeutic that promotes apoptosis in non-small cell lung carcinoma in vivo. *PloS One* (2013) 8(10):e77411. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077411
- 47. Schmitt E, Maingret L, Puig PE, Rerole AL, Ghiringhelli F, Hammann A, et al. Heat shock protein 70 neutralization exerts potent antitumor effects in animal models of colon cancer and melanoma. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66 (8):4191–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-05-3778
- Williams DR, Ko S-K, Park S, Lee M-R, Shin I. An Apoptosis-Inducing Small Molecule That Binds to Heat Shock Protein 70. Angewandte Chemie Int Edition (2008) 47(39):7466–9. doi: 10.1002/anie.200802801
- Speranza G, Anderson L, Chen AP, Do K, Eugeni M, Weil M, et al. First-inhuman study of the epichaperome inhibitor PU-H71: clinical results and metabolic profile. *Invest New Drugs* (2018) 36(2):230–9. doi: 10.1007/ s10637-017-0495-3

- Kamal A, Thao L, Sensintaffar J, Zhang L, Boehm MF, Fritz LC, et al. A highaffinity conformation of Hsp90 confers tumour selectivity on Hsp90 inhibitors. *Nature* (2003) 425(6956):407–10. doi: 10.1038/nature01913
- Udono H, Srivastava PK. Comparison of tumor-specific immunogenicities of stress-induced proteins gp96, hsp90, and hsp70. *J Immunol* (1994) 152 (11):5398.
- Srivastava P. Interaction of heat shock proteins with peptides and antigen presenting cells: chaperoning of the innate and adaptive immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2002) 20:395–425. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol. 20.100301.064801
- Blachere NE, Li Z, Chandawarkar RY, Suto R, Jaikaria NS, Basu S, et al. Heat shock protein-peptide complexes, reconstituted in vitro, elicit peptidespecific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response and tumor immunity. *J Exp Med* (1997) 186(8):1315–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.8.1315
- Weng D, Calderwood SK, Gong J. Preparation of a heat-shock protein 70based vaccine from DC-tumor fusion cells. *Methods Mol Biol* (2011) 787:255–65. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-295-3_19
- 55. Li X, Cai X, Zhang Z, Ding Y, Ma R, Huang F, et al. Mimetic Heat Shock Protein Mediated Immune Process to Enhance Cancer Immunotherapy. *Nano Lett* (2020) 20(6):4454–63. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.0c01230
- Albakova Z, Armeev GA, Kanevskiy LM, Kovalenko EI, Sapozhnikov AM. HSP70 Multi-Functionality in Cancer. *Cells* (2020) 9:(3). doi: 10.3390/ cells9030587
- Milani V, Stangl S, Issels R, Gehrmann M, Wagner B, Hube K, et al. Antitumor activity of patient-derived NK cells after cell-based immunotherapy–a case report. J Transl Med (2009) 7:50. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-7-50
- Krause SW, Gastpar R, Andreesen R, Gross C, Ullrich H, Thonigs G, et al. Treatment of colon and lung cancer patients with ex vivo heat shock protein 70-peptide-activated, autologous natural killer cells: a clinical phase i trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(11):3699–707. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-03-0683
- Maeda Y, Yoshimura K, Matsui H, Shindo Y, Tamesa T, Tokumitsu Y, et al. Dendritic cells transfected with heat-shock protein 70 messenger RNA for patients with hepatitis C virus-related hepatocellular carcinoma: a phase 1 dose escalation clinical trial. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2015) 64 (8):1047–56. doi: 10.1007/s00262-015-1709-1
- 60. Kokowski K, Stangl S, Seier S, Hildebrandt M, Vaupel P, Multhoff G. Radiochemotherapy combined with NK cell transfer followed by secondline PD-1 inhibition in a patient with NSCLC stage IIIb inducing long-term tumor control: a case study. *Strahlenther Onkol* (2019) 195(4):352–61. doi: 10.1007/s00066-019-01434-9
- 61. Specht HM, Ahrens N, Blankenstein C, Duell T, Fietkau R, Gaipl US, et al. Heat Shock Protein 70 (Hsp70) Peptide Activated Natural Killer (NK) Cells for the Treatment of Patients with Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC) after Radiochemotherapy (RCTx) - From Preclinical Studies to a Clinical Phase II Trial. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:162. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00162
- Oki Y, McLaughlin P, Fayad LE, Pro B, Mansfield PF, Clayman GL, et al. Experience with heat shock protein-peptide complex 96 vaccine therapy in patients with indolent non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cancer* (2007) 109(1):77– 83. doi: 10.1002/cncr.22389
- Balázs M, Zsolt H, László G, Gabriella G, Lilla T, Gyula O, et al. Serum Heat Shock Protein 70, as a Potential Biomarker for Small Cell Lung Cancer. Pathol Oncol Res (2017) 23(2):377–83. doi: 10.1007/s12253-016-0118-x
- 64. Chanteloup G, Cordonnier M, Isambert N, Bertaut A, Hervieu A, Hennequin A, et al. Monitoring HSP70 exosomes in cancer patients' follow up: a clinical prospective pilot study. J Extracell Vesicles (2020) 9 (1):1766192–1766192. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2020.1766192
- 65. Gehrmann M, Specht HM, Bayer C, Brandstetter M, Chizzali B, Duma M, et al. Hsp70–a biomarker for tumor detection and monitoring of outcome of radiation therapy in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. *Radiat Oncol (London England)* (2014) 9:131–1. doi: 10.1186/1748-717X-9-131
- Rong B, Zhao C, Liu H, Ming Z, Cai X, Gao W, et al. Erratum: Identification and verification of Hsp90-beta as a potential serum biomarker for lung cancer. Am J Cancer Res (2016) 6(6):1460–0.
- Rong B, Zhao C, Liu H, Ming Z, Cai X, Gao W, et al. Identification and verification of Hsp90-beta as a potential serum biomarker for lung cancer. *Am J Cancer Res* (2014) 4(6):874–85.

- Tas F, Bilgin E, Erturk K, Duranyildiz D. Clinical Significance of Circulating Serum Cellular Heat Shock Protein 90 (HSP90) Level in Patients with Cutaneous Malignant Melanoma. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev* (2017) 18(3):599– 601. doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2017.18.3.599
- Wyciszkiewicz A, Kalinowska-Łyszczarz A, Nowakowski B, Kaźmierczak K, Osztynowicz K, Michalak S. Expression of small heat shock proteins in exosomes from patients with gynecologic cancers. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):9817. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46221-9
- Bodzek P, Partyka R, Damasiewicz-Bodzek A. Antibodies against Hsp60 and Hsp65 in the sera of women with ovarian cancer. J Ovarian Res (2014) 7:30– 0. doi: 10.1186/1757-2215-7-30
- Hallal S, Russell BP, Wei H, Lee MYT, Toon CW, Sy J, et al. Extracellular Vesicles from Neurosurgical Aspirates Identifies Chaperonin Containing TCP1 Subunit 6A as a Potential Glioblastoma Biomarker with Prognostic Significance. *PROTEOMICS* (2019) 19(1-2):1800157. doi: 10.1002/ pmic.201800157
- 72. Steidl C. The ecosystem of classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2017) 130 (22):2360–1. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-10-807172
- 73. Chiu A, Xu W, He B, Dillon SR, Gross JA, Sievers E, et al. Hodgkin lymphoma cells express TACI and BCMA receptors and generate survival and proliferation signals in response to BAFF and APRIL. *Blood* (2007) 109 (2):729–39. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-04-015958
- Küppers R, Hansmann M-L. The Hodgkin and Reed/Sternberg cell. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2005) 37(3):511–7. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2003.10.025
- Aldinucci D, Celegato M, Casagrande N. Microenvironmental interactions in classical Hodgkin lymphoma and their role in promoting tumor growth, immune escape and drug resistance. *Cancer Lett* (2016) 380(1):243–52. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.10.007
- Chiu J, Ernst DM, Keating A. Acquired Natural Killer Cell Dysfunction in the Tumor Microenvironment of Classic Hodgkin Lymphoma. Front Immunol (2018) 9:267. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00267
- 77. Metkar SS, Naresh KN, Redkar AA, Soman CS, Advani SH, Nadkarni JJ. Expression of Fas and Fas Ligand in Hodgkin's Disease. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (1999) 33(5-6):521–30. doi: 10.3109/10428199909058456
- Verbeke CS, Wenthe U, Grobholz R, Zentgraf H. Fas Ligand Expression in Hodgkin Lymphoma. Am J Surg Pathol (2001) 25:(3). doi: 10.1097/ 00000478-200103000-00014
- 79. Santón A, García-Cosío M, Cristóbal E, Pascual A, Muriel A, García-Laraña J. Expression of heat shock proteins in classical Hodgkin lymphoma: correlation with apoptotic pathways and prognostic significance. *Histopathology* (2011) 58(7):1072-80. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.03803.x
- Hsu P-L, Hsu S-M. Abundance of Heat Shock Proteins (hsp89, hsp60, and hsp27) in Malignant Cells of Hodgkin's Disease. *Cancer Res* (1998) 58 (23):5507.
- Küppers R, Engert A, Hansmann M-L. Hodgkin lymphoma. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(10):3439–47. doi: 10.1172/JCI61245
- Bargou RC, Emmerich F, Krappmann D, Bommert K, Mapara MY, Arnold W, et al. Constitutive nuclear factor-kappaB-RelA activation is required for proliferation and survival of Hodgkin's disease tumor cells. *J Clin Invest* (1997) 100(12):2961–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI119849
- Broemer M, Krappmann D, Scheidereit C. Requirement of Hsp90 activity for IκB kinase (IKK) biosynthesis and for constitutive and inducible IKK and NF-κB activation. Oncogene (2004) 23(31):5378–86. doi: 10.1038/ sj.onc.1207705
- Schoof N, von Bonin F, Trümper L, Kube D. HSP90 is essential for Jak-STAT signaling in classical Hodgkin lymphoma cells. *Cell Commun Signal* (2009) 7 (1):17. doi: 10.1186/1478-811X-7-17
- Holtick U, Vockerodt M, Pinkert D, Schoof N, Stürzenhofecker B, Kussebi N, et al. STAT3 is essential for Hodgkin lymphoma cell proliferation and is a target of tyrphostin AG17 which confers sensitization for apoptosis. *Leukemia* (2005) 19(6):936–44. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403750
- Skinnider BF, Elia AJ, Gascoyne RD, Patterson B, Trumper L, Kapp U, et al. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 6 is frequently activated in Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells of Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2002) 99 (2):618–26. doi: 10.1182/blood.V99.2.618
- Renné C, Willenbrock K, Kppers R, Hansmann M-L, Bräuninger A. Autocrine- and paracrine-activated receptor tyrosine kinases in classic

Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood (2005) 105(10):4051-9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-10-4008

- Zheng B, Fiumara P, Li YV, Georgakis G, Snell V, Younes M, et al. MEK/ ERK pathway is aberrantly active in Hodgkin disease: a signaling pathway shared by CD30, CD40, and RANK that regulates cell proliferation and survival. *Blood* (2003) 102(3):1019–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-11-3507
- 89. Georgakis GV, Li Y, Rassidakis GZ, Martinez-Valdez H, Medeiros LJ, Younes A. Inhibition of Heat Shock Protein 90 Function by 17-Allylamino-17-Demethoxy-Geldanamycin in Hodgkin's Lymphoma Cells Down-Regulates Akt Kinase, Dephosphorylates Extracellular Signal– Regulated Kinase, and Induces Cell Cycle Arrest and Cell Death. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12(2):584. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1194
- Segges P, Corrêa S, Du Rocher B, Vera-Lozada G, Krsticevic F, Arce D, et al. Targeting Hodgkin and Reed–Sternberg Cells with an Inhibitor of Heat-Shock Protein 90: Molecular Pathways of Response and Potential Mechanisms of Resistance. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19(3):836. doi: 10.3390/ ijms19030836
- Janz M, Stühmer T, Vassilev LT, Bargou RC. Pharmacologic activation of p53-dependent and p53-independent apoptotic pathways in Hodgkin/ Reed-Sternberg cells. *Leukemia* (2007) 21(4):772–9. doi: 10.1038/ sj.leu.2404565
- 92. Jin H, Yoshino T, Jin Z, Oka T, Kobayashi K, Yamasaki R, et al. Expression of Heat Shock Protein 60 in Normal and Neoplastic Human Lymphoid Tissues. *J Clin Exp Hematopathol* (2002) 42:25–32. doi: 10.3960/jslrt.42.25
- Wang L, Qin W, Huo Y-J, Li X, Shi Q, Rasko JEJ, et al. Advances in targeted therapy for malignant lymphoma. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* (2020) 5 (1):15. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-0113-2
- Armengol M, Santos JC, Fernández-Serrano M, Profitós-Pelejà N, Ribeiro ML, Roué G. Immune-Checkpoint Inhibitors in B-Cell Lymphoma. *Cancers* (*Basel*) (2021) 13(2):214. doi: 10.3390/cancers13020214
- Scott DW, Gascoyne RD. The tumour microenvironment in B cell lymphomas. Nat Rev Cancer (2014) 14(8):517–34. doi: 10.1038/nrc3774
- 96. Lam K-P, Kühn R, Rajewsky K. In Vivo Ablation of Surface Immunoglobulin on Mature B Cells by Inducible Gene Targeting Results in Rapid Cell Death. *Cell* (1997) 90(6):1073–83. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674 (00)80373-6
- Myklebust JH, Brody J, Kohrt HE, Kolstad A, Czerwinski DK, Wälchli S, et al. Distinct patterns of B-cell receptor signaling in non-Hodgkin lymphomas identified by single-cell profiling. *Blood* (2017) 129(6):759–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-05-718494
- Cha S-C, Qin H, Kannan S, Rawal S, Watkins LS, Baio FE, et al. Nonstereotyped lymphoma B cell receptors recognize vimentin as a shared autoantigen. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950)* (2013) 190(9):4887– 98. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300179
- Young RM, Wu T, Schmitz R, Dawood M, Xiao W, Phelan JD, et al. Survival of human lymphoma cells requires B-cell receptor engagement by selfantigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(44):13447–54. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1514944112
- 100. Compagno M, Lim WK, Grunn A, Nandula SV, Brahmachary M, Shen Q, et al. Mutations of multiple genes cause deregulation of NF-kappaB in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Nature* (2009) 459(7247):717–21. doi: 10.1038/ nature07968
- 101. Lenz G, Davis RE, Ngo VN, Lam L, George TC, Wright GW, et al. Oncogenic <em<CARD11</em< Mutations in Human Diffuse Large B Cell Lymphoma. *Science* (2008) 319(5870):1676. doi: 10.1126/science.1153629
- 102. Davis RE, Ngo VN, Lenz G, Tolar P, Young RM, Romesser PB, et al. Chronic active B-cell-receptor signalling in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Nature* (2010) 463(7277):88–92. doi: 10.1038/nature08638
- 103. Walter R, Pan K-T, Doebele C, Comoglio F, Tomska K, Bohnenberger H, et al. HSP90 promotes Burkitt lymphoma cell survival by maintaining tonic B-cell receptor signaling. *Blood* (2017) 129(5):598–608. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-06-721423
- 104. ten Hacken E, Burger JA. HSP90, a chaperone that can make you SYK. Blood (2017) 129(5):542–4. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-12-753152
- 105. Guo A, Lu P, Lee J, Zhen C, Chiosis G, Wang YL. HSP90 stabilizes B-cell receptor kinases in a multi-client interactome: PU-H71 induces CLL apoptosis in a cytoprotective microenvironment. Oncogene (2017) 36 (24):3441–9. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.494

- 106. Jacobson C, Kopp N, Layer JV, Redd RA, Tschuri S, Haebe S, et al. HSP90 inhibition overcomes ibrutinib resistance in mantle cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2016) 128(21):2517–26. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-04-711176
- 107. Woyach JA, Furman RR, Liu T-M, Ozer HG, Zapatka M, Ruppert AS, et al. Resistance Mechanisms for the Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Ibrutinib. *New Engl J Med* (2014) 370(24):2286–94. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1400029
- 108. Furman RR, Cheng S, Lu P, Setty M, Perez AR, Guo A, et al. Ibrutinib resistance in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med (2014) 370 (24):2352–4. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc1402716
- 109. Cerchietti LC, Lopes EC, Yang SN, Hatzi K, Bunting KL, Tsikitas LA, et al. A purine scaffold Hsp90 inhibitor destabilizes BCL-6 and has specific antitumor activity in BCL-6-dependent B cell lymphomas. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(12):1369–76. doi: 10.1038/nm.2059
- 110. Goldstein RL, Yang SN, Taldone T, Chang B, Gerecitano J, Elenitoba-Johnson K, et al. Pharmacoproteomics identifies combinatorial therapy targets for diffuse large B cell lymphoma. J Clin Invest (2015) 125 (12):4559–71. doi: 10.1172/JCI80714
- 111. Umetsu DT, Esserman L, Donlon TA, DeKruyff RH, Levy R. Induction of proliferation of human follicular (B type) lymphoma cells by cognate interaction with CD4+ T cell clones. *J Immunol* (1990) 144(7):2550.
- 112. Calvo KR, Dabir B, Kovach A, Devor C, Bandle R, Bond A, et al. IL-4 protein expression and basal activation of Erk in vivo in follicular lymphoma. *Blood* (2008) 112(9):3818–26. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-02-138933
- 113. Johnson PWM, Watt SM, Betts DR, Davies D, Jordan S, Norton AJ, et al. Isolated Follicular Lymphoma Cells Are Resistant to Apoptosis and Can Be Grown In Vitro in the CD40/Stromal Cell System. *Blood* (1993) 82(6):1848– 57. doi: 10.1182/blood.V82.6.1848.1848
- 114. Munari F, Lonardi S, Cassatella MA, Doglioni C, Cangi MG, Amedei A, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages as major source of APRIL in gastric MALT lymphoma. *Blood* (2011) 117(24):6612–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-293266
- 115. Schwaller J, Schneider P, Mhawech-Fauceglia P, McKee T, Myit S, Matthes T, et al. Neutrophil-derived APRIL concentrated in tumor lesions by proteoglycans correlates with human B-cell lymphoma aggressiveness. *Blood* (2006) 109(1):331–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-02-001800
- 116. Schiemann B, Gommerman JL, Vora K, Cachero TG, Shulga-Morskaya S, Dobles M, et al. An Essential Role for BAFF in the Normal Development of B Cells Through a BCMA-Independent Pathway. *Science* (2001) 293 (5537):2111. doi: 10.1126/science.1061964
- 117. Ogden CA, Pound JD, Batth BK, Owens S, Johannessen I, Wood K, et al. Enhanced Apoptotic Cell Clearance Capacity and B Cell Survival Factor Production by IL-10-Activated Macrophages: Implications for Burkitt's Lymphoma. J Immunol (2005) 174(5):3015. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 174.5.3015
- Mourcin F, Pangault C, Amin-Ali R, Amé-Thomas P, Tarte K. Stromal cell contribution to human follicular lymphoma pathogenesis. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:280. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00280
- Valbuena JR, Rassidakis GZ, Lin P, Atwell C, Georgakis GV, Younes A, et al. Expression of heat-shock protein-90 in non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. *Modern Pathol* (2005) 18(10):1343–9. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3800459
- 120. Zappasodi R, Ruggiero G, Guarnotta C, Tortoreto M, Tringali C, Cavanè A, et al. HSPH1 inhibition downregulates Bcl-6 and c-Myc and hampers the growth of human aggressive B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2015) 125(11):1768–71. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-07-590034
- 121. Boudesco C, Verhoeyen E, Martin L, Chassagne-Clement C, Salmi L, Mhaidly R, et al. HSP110 sustains chronic NF-κB signaling in activated Bcell diffuse large B-cell lymphoma through MyD88 stabilization. *Blood* (2018) 132(5):510–20. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-12-819706
- 122. Yasuhiro O, Anas Y, Javier K, Felipe S, Loretta N, Fredrick H, et al. Experience with HSP90 inhibitor AUY922 in patients with relapsed or refractory non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Haematologica* (2015) 100(7):e272–4. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2015.126557
- 123. Walsby EJ, Lazenby M, Pepper CJ, Knapper S, Burnett AK. The HSP90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922-AG inhibits the PI3K and IKK signalling pathways and synergizes with cytarabine in acute myeloid leukaemia cells. *Br J Haematol* (2013) 161(1):57–67. doi: 10.1111/bjh.12215
- 124. Best OG, Mulligan SP. Heat shock protein-90 inhibitor, NVP-AUY922, is effective in combination with fludarabine against chronic lymphocytic

leukemia cells cultured on CD40L-stromal layer and inhibits their activated/ proliferative phenotype. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (2012) 53(11):2314–20. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2012.698278

- 125. Kaiser M, Lamottke B, Mieth M, Jensen MR, Quadt C, Garcia-Echeverria C, et al. Synergistic action of the novel HSP90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 with histone deacetylase inhibitors, melphalan, or doxorubicin in multiple myeloma. *Eur J Haematol* (2010) 84(4):337–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0609.2009.01403.x
- 126. Rao R, Fiskus W, Yang Y, Lee P, Joshi R, Fernandez P, et al. HDAC6 inhibition enhances 17-AAG-mediated abrogation of hsp90 chaperone function in human leukemia cells. *Blood* (2008) 112(5):1886-93. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-03-143644
- 127. Chavez JC, Bachmeier C, Kharfan-Dabaja MA. CAR T-cell therapy for B-cell lymphomas: clinical trial results of available products. *Ther Adv Hematol* (2019) 10:2040620719841581–2040620719841581. doi: 10.1177/2040620719841581
- Rafiq S, Hackett CS, Brentjens RJ. Engineering strategies to overcome the current roadblocks in CAR T cell therapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2020) 17 (3):147–67. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0297-y
- 129. Halim L, Maher J. CAR T-cell immunotherapy of B-cell malignancy: the story so far. Ther Adv Vaccines Immunother (2020) 8:2515135520927164– 2515135520927164. doi: 10.1177/2515135520927164
- 130. Kawalekar OU, O'Connor RS, Fraietta JA, Guo L, McGettigan SE, Posey AD Jr, et al. Distinct Signaling of Coreceptors Regulates Specific Metabolism Pathways and Impacts Memory Development in CAR T Cells. *Immunity* (2016) 44(2):380–90. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.01.021
- 131. Ramos CA, Grover NS, Beaven AW, Lulla PD, Wu M-F, Ivanova A, et al. Anti-CD30 CAR-T Cell Therapy in Relapsed and Refractory Hodgkin Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2020) 38(32):3794–804. doi: 10.1200/jco.20.01342
- 132. Wang D, Zeng C, Xu B, Xu JH, Wang J, Jiang LJ, et al. Anti-CD30 chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy for relapsed/refractory CD30+ lymphoma patients. *Blood Cancer J* (2020) 10(1):8. doi: 10.1038/s41408-020-0274-9
- 133. Watanabe M, Nakano K, Kadin ME, Higashihara M, Watanabe T, Horie R. CD30 Induces Heat Shock Protein 90 and Signal Integration in Classic Hodgkin Lymphoma Cells. Am J Pathol (2017) 187(1):163–75. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajpath.2016.09.007
- 134. Smith J VJ, Juillerat A, Duchateau P, Sasu BJ, Rajpal A. Anti-hsp70 specific chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) for cancer immunotherapy. U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (2016), US Patent. Available at: https://patentscope.wipo. int/search/en/detail.jsf?docId=US209520457
- Devarakonda CV, Kita D, Phoenix KN, Claffey KP. Patient-derived heavy chain antibody targets cell surface HSP90 on breast tumors. *BMC Cancer* (2015) 15:614–4. doi: 10.1186/s12885-015-1608-z
- 136. Claffey KP, Devarakonda C, Kita D. ANTIBODY AND ANTIGEN-BINDING FRAGMENT COMPOSITIONS TARGETING CELL SURFACE ANTIGENS IN TUMORS AND METHODS OF USE THEREOF. U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. (2019) Available at: https://patentscope.wipo.int/search/en/detail.jsf? docId=US278926324&docAn=16533937
- 137. Multhoff G, Pfister K, Gehrmann M, Hantschel M, Gross C, Hafner M, et al. A 14-mer Hsp70 peptide stimulates natural killer (NK) cell activity. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (2001) 6(4):337–44. doi: 10.1379/1466-1268(2001) 006<0337:AMHPSN>2.0.CO;2
- 138. Hromadnikova I, Li S, Kotlabova K, Dickinson AM. Influence of In Vitro IL-2 or IL-15 Alone or in Combination with Hsp 70 Derived 14-Mer Peptide (TKD) on the Expression of NK Cell Activatory and Inhibitory Receptors on Peripheral Blood T Cells, B Cells and NKT Cells. *PloS One* (2016) 11(3): e0151535–e0151535. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151535
- 139. Stangl S, Gross C, Pockley AG, Asea AA, Multhoff G. Influence of Hsp70 and HLA-E on the killing of leukemic blasts by cytokine/Hsp70 peptide-activated human natural killer (NK) cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (2008) 13(2):221–30. doi: 10.1007/s12192-007-0008-y
- 140. Multhoff G, Seier S, Stangl S, Sievert W, Shevtsov M, Werner C, et al. Targeted Natural Killer Cell-Based Adoptive Immunotherapy for the Treatment of Patients with NSCLC after Radiochemotherapy: A Randomized Phase II Clinical Trial. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26(20):5368. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1141
- 141. Gamboa L, Zamat AH, Kwong GA. Synthetic immunity by remote control. *Theranostics* (2020) 10(8):3652–67. doi: 10.7150/thno.41305

- 142. Abedi MH, Lee J, Piraner DI, Shapiro MG. Thermal Control of Engineered T-cells. ACS Synthetic Biol (2020) 9(8):1941–50. doi: 10.1021/ acssynbio.0c00238
- 143. Kregel KC. Invited Review: Heat shock proteins: modifying factors in physiological stress responses and acquired thermotolerance. J Appl Physiol (2002) 92(5):2177–86. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01267.2001
- 144. Morimoto RI. Regulation of the heat shock transcriptional response: cross talk between a family of heat shock factors, molecular chaperones, and negative regulators. *Genes Dev* (1998) 12(24):3788–96. doi: 10.1101/ gad.12.24.3788
- 145. Bae J, Munshi A, Li C, Samur M, Prabhala R, Mitsiades C, et al. Heat shock protein 90 is critical for regulation of phenotype and functional activity of human T lymphocytes and NK cells. *J Immunol (Baltimore Md 1950)* (2013) 190(3):1360–71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200593
- 146. Hayashi K, Kamikawa Y. HSP90 is crucial for regulation of LAT expression in activated T cells. *Mol Immunol* (2011) 48(6):941–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.molimm.2010.12.014
- 147. Gattringer G, Greil R, Radaszkiewicz T, Huber H. In situ quantification of Tcell subsets, NK-like cells and macrophages in hodgkin's disease: Quantity and quality of infiltration density depends on histopathological subtypes. *Blut* (1986) 53(1):49–58. doi: 10.1007/BF00320582
- 148. Ayoub J-P, Palmer JL, Huh Y, Cabanillas F, Younes A. Therapeutic and Prognostic Implications of Peripheral Blood Lymphopenia in Patients with Hodgkin's Disease. *Leukemia Lymphoma* (1999) 34(5-6):519–27. doi: 10.3109/10428199909058479
- 149. Konjević G, Jurišić V, Banićević B, Spužić I. The difference in NK-cell activity between patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphomas and Hodgkin's disease. Br J Haematol (1999) 104(1):144–51. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.1999.01129.x
- 150. Böll B, Eltaib F, Reiners KS, von Tresckow B, Tawadros S, Simhadri VR, et al. Heat Shock Protein 90 Inhibitor BIIB021 (CNF2024) Depletes NF-κB and Sensitizes Hodgkin's Lymphoma Cells for Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity. *Clin Cancer Res* (2009) 15(16):5108–16. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-09-0213
- 151. Fionda C, Soriani A, Malgarini G, Iannitto ML, Santoni A, Cippitelli M. Heat Shock Protein-90 Inhibitors Increase MHC Class I-Related Chain A and B Ligand Expression on Multiple Myeloma Cells and Their Ability to Trigger NK Cell Degranulation. J Immunol (2009) 183(7):4385. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0901797
- 152. Binder RJ, Blachere NE, Srivastava PK. Heat Shock Protein-chaperoned Peptides but Not Free Peptides Introduced into the Cytosol Are Presented Efficiently by Major Histocompatibility Complex I Molecules*. J Biol Chem (2001) 276(20):17163–71. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M011547200
- 153. Callahan MK, Garg M, Srivastava PK. Heat-shock protein 90 associates with N-terminal extended peptides and is required for direct and indirect antigen presentation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U States America* (2008) 105(5):1662–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711365105
- 154. Kunisawa J, Shastri N. The Group II Chaperonin TRiC Protects Proteolytic Intermediates from Degradation in the MHC Class I Antigen Processing Pathway. *Mol Cell* (2003) 12(3):565–76. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2003.08.009
- 155. Kunisawa J, Shastri N. Hsp90α Chaperones Large C-Terminally Extended Proteolytic Intermediates in the MHC Class I Antigen Processing Pathway. *Immunity* (2006) 24(5):523–34. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.03.015
- 156. Franks SE, Wolfson B, Hodge JW. Natural Born Killers: NK Cells in Cancer Therapy. Cancers (Basel) (2020) 12:(8). doi: 10.3390/cancers12082131
- 157. Gong JH, Maki G, Klingemann HG. Characterization of a human cell line (NK-92) with phenotypical and functional characteristics of activated natural killer cells. *Leukemia* (1994) 8(4):652–8.
- Luevano M, Daryouzeh M, Alnabhan R, Querol S, Khakoo S, Madrigal A, et al. The unique profile of cord blood natural killer cells balances incomplete maturation and effective killing function upon activation. *Hum Immunol* (2012) 73(3):248–57. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2011.12.015
- 159. Gehrmann M, Marienhagen J, Eichholtz-Wirth H, Fritz E, Ellwart J, Jäättelä M, et al. Dual function of membrane-bound heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70), Bag-4, and Hsp40: protection against radiation-induced effects and target structure for natural killer cells. *Cell Death Different* (2005) 12(1):38–51. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401510

- 160. Multhoff G, Botzler C, Wiesnet M, Müller E, Meier T, Wilmanns W, et al. A stress-inducible 72-kDa heat-shock protein (HSP72) is expressed on the surface of human tumor cells, but not on normal cells. *Int J Cancer* (1995) 61 (2):272–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910610222
- 161. Botzler C, Schmidt J, Luz A, Jennen L, Issels R, Multhoff G. Differential Hsp70 plasma-membrane expression on primary human tumors and metastases in mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. *Int J Cancer* (1998) 77(6):942–8. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19980911)77:6<942:: AID-IJC25>3.0.CO;2-1
- 162. Shevtsov M, Pitkin E, Ischenko A, Stangl S, Khachatryan W, Galibin O, et al. Ex vivo Hsp70-Activated NK Cells in Combination With PD-1 Inhibition Significantly Increase Overall Survival in Preclinical Models of Glioblastoma and Lung Cancer. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:454. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2019.00454
- 163. Liu E, Tong Y, Dotti G, Shaim H, Savoldo B, Mukherjee M, et al. Cord blood NK cells engineered to express IL-15 and a CD19-targeted CAR show longterm persistence and potent antitumor activity. *Leukemia* (2018) 32(2):520– 31. doi: 10.1038/leu.2017.226
- 164. Liu E, Marin D, Banerjee P, Macapinlac HA, Thompson P, Basar R, et al. Use of CAR-Transduced Natural Killer Cells in CD19-Positive Lymphoid Tumors. N Engl J Med (2020) 382(6):545–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1910607
- Robert C. A decade of immune-checkpoint inhibitors in cancer therapy. Nat Commun (2020) 11(1):3801. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-17670-y
- 166. Proia DA, Kaufmann GF. Targeting Heat-Shock Protein 90 (HSP90) as a Complementary Strategy to Immune Checkpoint Blockade for Cancer Therapy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(6):583–9. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.Cir-15-0057
- 167. Proia DA, Kaufmann GF. Targeting Heat-Shock Protein 90 (HSP90) as a Complementary Strategy to Immune Checkpoint Blockade for Cancer Therapy. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2015) 3(6):583. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0057
- 168. Kryeziu K, Bruun J, Guren TK, Sveen A, Lothe RA. Combination therapies with HSP90 inhibitors against colorectal cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA)* - *Rev Cancer* (2019) 1871(2):240–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2019.01.002
- 169. Rao A, Taylor JL, Chi-Sabins N, Kawabe M, Gooding WE, Storkus WJ. Combination therapy with HSP90 inhibitor 17-DMAG reconditions the tumor microenvironment to improve recruitment of therapeutic T cells. *Cancer Res* (2012) 72(13):3196–206. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-0538
- 170. Haggerty TJ, Dunn IS, Rose LB, Newton EE, Pandolfi F, Kurnick JT. Heat Shock Protein-90 Inhibitors Enhance Antigen Expression on Melanomas and Increase T Cell Recognition of Tumor Cells. *PloS One* (2014) 9(12): e114506. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114506
- 171. Marzec M, Zhang Q, Goradia A, Raghunath PN, Liu X, Paessler M, et al. Oncogenic kinase NPM/ALK induces through STAT3 expression of immunosuppressive protein CD274 (PD-L1, B7-H1). Proc Natl Acad Sci U States America (2008) 105(52):20852–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810958105
- 172. Mbofung RM, McKenzie JA, Malu S, Zhang M, Peng W, Liu C, et al. HSP90 inhibition enhances cancer immunotherapy by upregulating interferon response genes. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):451–1. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00449-z
- 173. Majeti R, Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Pang WW, Jaiswal S, Gibbs KD Jr, et al. CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and therapeutic antibody target on human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Cell* (2009) 138(2):286–99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.045
- 174. McCracken MN, Cha AC, Weissman IL. Molecular Pathways: Activating T Cells after Cancer Cell Phagocytosis from Blockade of CD47 "Don't Eat Me" Signals. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2015) 21(16):3597– 601. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-2520
- 175. Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Tang C, Myklebust JH, Varghese B, Gill S, et al. Anti-CD47 antibody synergizes with rituximab to promote phagocytosis and eradicate non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cell* (2010) 142(5):699–713. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.044
- 176. Advani R, Flinn I, Popplewell L, Forero A, Bartlett NL, Ghosh N, et al. CD47 Blockade by Hu5F9-G4 and Rituximab in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. New Engl J Med (2018) 379(18):1711–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1807315
- 177. Cook KL, Soto-Pantoja DR. "UPRegulation" of CD47 by the endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway controls anti-tumor immune responses. *Biomark Res* (2017) 5(1):26. doi: 10.1186/s40364-017-0105-8

- Casey SC, Tong L, Li Y, Do R, Walz S, Fitzgerald KN, et al. MYC regulates the antitumor immune response through CD47 and PD-L1. *Sci (New York NY)* (2016) 352(6282):227–31. doi: 10.1126/science.aac9935
- 179. Lee J, Zhang LL, Wu W, Guo H, Li Y, Sukhanova M, et al. Activation of MYC, a bona fide client of HSP90, contributes to intrinsic ibrutinib resistance in mantle cell lymphoma. *Blood Adv* (2018) 2(16):2039–51. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018016048
- 180. Zhang L, Nomie K, Zhang H, Bell T, Pham L, Kadri S, et al. B-Cell Lymphoma Patient-Derived Xenograft Models Enable Drug Discovery and Are a Platform for Personalized Therapy. *Clin Cancer Res an Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res* (2017) 23(15):4212–23. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2703
- Pearl LH, Prodromou C. Structure and Mechanism of the Hsp90 Molecular Chaperone Machinery. Annu Rev Biochem (2006) 75(1):271–94. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.75.103004.142738
- 182. Kaul SC, Deocaris CC, Wadhwa R. Three faces of mortalin: A housekeeper, guardian and killer. *Exp Gerontol* (2007) 42(4):263–74. doi: 10.1016/ j.exger.2006.10.020
- 183. Kang BH, Plescia J, Dohi T, Rosa J, Doxsey SJ, Altieri DC. Regulation of Tumor Cell Mitochondrial Homeostasis by an Organelle-Specific Hsp90 Chaperone Network. *Cell* (2007) 131(2):257–70. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2007.08.028
- 184. Young JC, Hoogenraad NJ, Hartl FU. Molecular Chaperones Hsp90 and Hsp70 Deliver Preproteins to the Mitochondrial Import Receptor Tom70. *Cell* (2003) 112(1):41–50. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01250-3
- Balogi Z, Multhoff G, Jensen TK, Lloyd-Evans E, Yamashima T, Jäättelä M, et al. Hsp70 interactions with membrane lipids regulate cellular functions in health and disease. *Prog Lipid Res* (2019) 74:18–30. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2019.01.004
- 186. Juhasz K, Lipp A-M, Nimmervoll B, Sonnleitner A, Hesse J, Haselgruebler T, et al. The Complex Function of Hsp70 in Metastatic Cancer. *Cancers (Basel)* (2014) 6(1):42–66. doi: 10.3390/cancers6010042
- 187. Mosser DD, Caron AW, Bourget L, Denis-Larose C, Massie B. Role of the human heat shock protein hsp70 in protection against stress-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol* (1997) 17(9):5317–27. doi: 10.1128/mcb.17.9.5317
- Calderwood SK, Gong J, Murshid A. Extracellular HSPs: The Complicated Roles of Extracellular HSPs in Immunity. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:159. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00159
- 189. van Eden W, Jansen MAA, Ludwig I, van Kooten P, van der Zee R, Broere F. The Enigma of Heat Shock Proteins in Immune Tolerance. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1599. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01599
- 190. Sun R-F, Yu Q-Q, Young KH. Critically dysregulated signaling pathways and clinical utility of the pathway biomarkers in lymphoid malignancies. *Chronic Dis Transl Med* (2018) 4(1):29–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cdtm.2018.02.001
- Johnson JL. Evolution and function of diverse Hsp90 homologs and cochaperone proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta (BBA) - Mol Cell Res* (2012) 1823(3):607-13. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.09.020
- 192. Southworth DR, Agard DA. Species-dependent ensembles of conserved conformational states define the Hsp90 chaperone ATPase cycle. *Mol Cell* (2008) 32(5):631–40. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2008.10.024
- 193. Sciacovelli M, Guzzo G, Morello V, Frezza C, Zheng L, Nannini N, et al. The mitochondrial chaperone TRAP1 promotes neoplastic growth by inhibiting succinate dehydrogenase. *Cell Metab* (2013) 17(6):988–99. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2013.04.019
- 194. Matassa DS, Agliarulo I, Avolio R, Landriscina M, Esposito F. TRAP1 Regulation of Cancer Metabolism: Dual Role as Oncogene or Tumor Suppressor. *Genes (Basel)* (2018) 9(4):195. doi: 10.3390/genes9040195
- 195. Marzec M, Eletto D, Argon Y. GRP94: An HSP90-like protein specialized for protein folding and quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2012) 1823(3):774–87. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.10.013
- 196. Brewer JW, Diehl JA. PERK mediates cell-cycle exit during the mammalian unfolded protein response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97(23):12625–30. doi: 10.1073/pnas.220247197
- 197. Melendez K, Wallen ES, Edwards BS, Mobarak CD, Bear DG, Moseley PL. Heat shock protein 70 and glycoprotein 96 are differentially expressed on the surface of malignant and nonmalignant breast cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (2006) 11(4):334–42. doi: 10.1379/csc-187.1
- 198. Ryu J, Kaul Z, Yoon AR, Liu Y, Yaguchi T, Na Y, et al. Identification and functional characterization of nuclear mortalin in human carcinogenesis. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289(36):24832–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.565929

- 199. Multhoff G, Botzler C, Wiesnet M, Muller E, Meier T, Wilmanns W, et al. A stress-inducible 72-kDa heat-shock protein (HSP72) is expressed on the surface of human tumor cells, but not on normal cells. *Int J Cancer* (1995) 61 (2):272–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910610222
- Patel PD, Yan P, Seidler PM, Patel HJ, Sun W, Yang C, et al. Paralog-selective Hsp90 inhibitors define tumor-specific regulation of HER2. *Nat Chem Biol* (2013) 9(11):677–84. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1335
- 201. Wu BX, Hong F, Zhang Y, Ansa-Addo E, Li Z. Chapter Seven GRP94/gp96 in Cancer: Biology, Structure, Immunology, and Drug Development. In: J Isaacs and L Whitesell, editors. *Advances in Cancer Research*, vol. 129. SANDIEGO, USA: Elsevier Academic Press (2016). p. 165–90. doi: 10.1016/ bs.acr.2015.09.001
- 202. Zheng H, Dai J, Stoilova D, Li Z. Cell Surface Targeting of Heat Shock Protein gp96 Induces Dendritic Cell Maturation and Antitumor Immunity. *J Immunol* (2001) 167(12):6731. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.12.6731
- 203. Tang X, Chang C, Guo J, Lincoln V, Liang C, Chen M, et al. Tumour-Secreted Hsp90α on External Surface of Exosomes Mediates Tumour -Stromal Cell Communication via Autocrine and Paracrine Mechanisms. Sci Rep (2019) 9(1):15108. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-51704-w
- Ono K, Eguchi T, Sogawa C, Calderwood SK, Futagawa J, Kasai T, et al. HSPenriched properties of extracellular vesicles involve survival of metastatic oral cancer cells. J Cell Biochem (2018) 119(9):7350–62. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27039
- Noonan EJ, Place RF, Rasoulpour RJ, Giardina C, Hightower LE. Cell numberdependent regulation of Hsp70B' expression: Evidence of an extracellular regulator. J Cell Physiol (2007) 210(1):201–11. doi: 10.1002/jcp.20875
- 206. Eguchi T, Sogawa C, Okusha Y, Uchibe K, Iinuma R, Ono K, et al. Organoids with cancer stem cell-like properties secrete exosomes and HSP90 in a 3D nanoenvironment. *PloS One* (2018) 13(2):e0191109–e0191109. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0191109
- 207. Caruso Bavisotto C, Cappello F, Macario AJL, Conway de Macario E, Logozzi M, Fais S, et al. Exosomal HSP60: a potentially useful biomarker for diagnosis, assessing prognosis, and monitoring response to treatment. *Expert Rev Mol Diagnostics* (2017) 17(9):815-22. doi: 10.1080/ 14737159.2017.1356230
- 208. Gunther S, Ostheimer C, Stangl S, Specht HM, Mozes P, Jesinghaus M, et al. Correlation of Hsp70 Serum Levels with Gross Tumor Volume and Composition of Lymphocyte Subpopulations in Patients with Squamous Cell and Adeno Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:556:556. doi: 10.3389/fmmu.2015.00556
- 209. Rothammer A, Sage EK, Werner C, Combs SE, Multhoff G. Increased heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) serum levels and low NK cell counts after radiotherapy - potential markers for predicting breast cancer recurrence? *Radiat Oncol* (2019) 14(1):78. doi: 10.1186/s13014-019-1286-0
- 210. Hulina A, Grdić Rajković M, Jakšić Despot D, Jelić D, Dojder A, Čepelak I, et al. Extracellular Hsp70 induces inflammation and modulates LPS/LTA-stimulated inflammatory response in THP-1 cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (2018) 23(3):373–84. doi: 10.1007/s12192-017-0847-0
- Breloer M, Fleischer B, Bonin AV. In Vivo and In Vitro Activation of T Cells After Administration of Ag-Negative Heat Shock Proteins. *J Immunol* (1999) 162(6):3141.
- 212. Daniels GA, Sanchez-Perez L, Diaz RM, Kottke T, Thompson J, Lai M, et al. A simple method to cure established tumors by inflammatory killing of normal cells. *Nat Biotechnol* (2004) 22(9):1125–32. doi: 10.1038/nbt1007
- 213. Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Mignot G, Vincent J, Bruchard M, Remy-Martin JP, et al. Membrane-associated Hsp72 from tumor-derived exosomes mediates STAT3-dependent immunosuppressive function of mouse and human myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Clin Invest (2010) 120(2):457–71. doi: 10.1172/jci40483
- 214. Vega VL, Rodríguez-Silva M, Frey T, Gehrmann M, Diaz JC, Steinem C, et al. Hsp70 Translocates into the Plasma Membrane after Stress and Is Released into the Extracellular Environment in a Membrane-Associated Form that Activates Macrophages. J Immunol (2008) 180(6):4299. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.180.6.4299
- 215. Multhoff G, Botzler C, Jennen L, Schmidt J, Ellwart J, Issels R. Heat shock protein 72 on tumor cells: a recognition structure for natural killer cells. *J Immunol* (1997) 158(9):4341.
- 216. Wachstein J, Tischer S, Figueiredo C, Limbourg A, Falk C, Immenschuh S, et al. HSP70 enhances immunosuppressive function of CD4(+)CD25(+)

FoxP3(+) T regulatory cells and cytotoxicity in CD4(+)CD25(-) T cells. *PloS One* (2012) 7(12):e51747-7. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051747

- 217. Asea A, Kraeft SK, Kurt-Jones EA, Stevenson MA, Chen LB, Finberg RW, et al. HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependant pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(4):435–42. doi: 10.1038/74697
- Asea A, Rehli M, Kabingu E, Boch JA, Bare O, Auron PE, et al. Novel signal transduction pathway utilized by extracellular HSP70: role of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4. J Biol Chem (2002) 277(17):15028–34. doi: 10.1074/ jbc.M200497200
- Asea A. Initiation of the Immune Response by Extracellular Hsp72: Chaperokine Activity of Hsp72. Curr Immunol Rev (2006) 2(3):209–15. doi: 10.2174/157339506778018514
- 220. Asea A. Chaperokine-induced signal transduction pathways. *Exerc Immunol Rev* (2003) 9:25–33.
- 221. Figueiredo C, Wittmann M, Wang D, Dressel R, Seltsam A, Blasczyk R, et al. Heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) induces cytotoxicity of T-helper cells. *Blood* (2009) 113(13):3008–16. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-162727
- 222. Berthenet K, Boudesco C, Collura A, Svrcek M, Richaud S, Hammann A, et al. Extracellular HSP110 skews macrophage polarization in colorectal cancer. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5(7):e1170264–e1170264. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1170264
- 223. Banerjee S, Lin C-FL, Skinner KA, Schiffhauer LM, Peacock J, Hicks DG, et al. Heat Shock Protein 27 Differentiates Tolerogenic Macrophages That May Support Human Breast Cancer Progression. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71 (2):318. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1778
- 224. Chalmin F, Ladoire S, Mignot G, Vincent J, Bruchard M, Remy-Martin J-P, et al. Membrane-associated Hsp72 from tumor-derived exosomes mediates STAT3-dependent immunosuppressive function of mouse and human myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120(2):457–71. doi: 10.1172/JCI40483
- 225. Laudanski K, De A, Miller-Graziano C. Exogenous heat shock protein 27 uniquely blocks differentiation of monocytes to dendritic cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(10):2812–24. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636993
- 226. Staron M, Wu S, Hong F, Stojanovic A, Du X, Bona R, et al. Heat-shock protein gp96/grp94 is an essential chaperone for the platelet glycoprotein Ib-IX-V complex. *Blood* (2011) 117(26):7136–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-01-330464
- 227. Zhang Y, Ansa-Addo E, Li Z. GP96: safeguarding Treg. Oncotarget (2015) 6 (24):19936–7. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4582
- 228. Morales C, Rachidi S, Hong F, Sun S, Ouyang X, Wallace C, et al. Immune Chaperone gp96 Drives the Contributions of Macrophages to Inflammatory Colon Tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(2):446. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1677
- 229. Li R, Emsley J. The organizing principle of the platelet glycoprotein Ib–IX–V complex. *J Thromb Haemostasis* (2013) 11(4):605–14. doi: 10.1111/jth.12144
- 230. Wiest DL, Burkhardt JK, Hester S, Hortsch M, Meyer DI, Argon Y. Membrane biogenesis during B cell differentiation: most endoplasmic reticulum proteins are expressed coordinately. *J Cell Biol* (1990) 110 (5):1501–11. doi: 10.1083/jcb.110.5.1501
- 231. Gass JN, Gifford NM, Brewer JW. Activation of an Unfolded Protein Response during Differentiation of Antibody-secreting B Cells *. J Biol Chem (2002) 277(50):49047–54. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M205011200
- Pilzer D, Fishelson Z. Mortalin/GRP75 promotes release of membrane vesicles from immune attacked cells and protection from complement-mediated lysis. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17(9):1239–48. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh300
- Pilzer D, Saar M, Koya K, Fishelson Z. Mortalin inhibitors sensitize K562 leukemia cells to complement-dependent cytotoxicity. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 126(6):1428–35. doi: 10.1002/ijc.24888
- 234. Rozenberg P, Ziporen I, Gancz D, Saar-Ray M, Fishelson Z. Cooperation between Hsp90 and mortalin/GRP75 in resistance to cell death induced by complement C5b-9. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9(2):150. doi: 10.1038/s41419-017-0240-z
- Martine P, Rébé C. Heat Shock Proteins and Inflammasomes. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20(18):4508. doi: 10.3390/ijms20184508
- 236. Martine P, Chevriaux A, Derangère V, Apetoh L, Garrido C, Ghiringhelli F, et al. HSP70 is a negative regulator of NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Cell Death Dis* (2019) 10(4):256–6. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1491-7
- 237. Yaguchi T, Aida S, Kaul SC, Wadhwa R. Involvement of Mortalin in Cellular Senescence from the Perspective of its Mitochondrial Import, Chaperone,

and Oxidative Stress Management Functions. *Ann New York Acad Sci* (2007) 1100(1):306–11. doi: 10.1196/annals.1395.032

- 238. Wadhwa R, Takano S, Kaur K, Aida S, Yaguchi T, Kaul Z, et al. Identification and characterization of molecular interactions between mortalin/mtHsp70 and HSP60. *Biochem J* (2005) 391(Pt 2):185–90. doi: 10.1042/bj20050861
- Custer CD, Kaul SC, Wadhwa R. On the Brotherhood of the Mitochondrial Chaperones Mortalin and Heat Shock Protein 60. *Cell Stress Chaperones* (2006) 11(2):116–28. doi: 10.1379/CSC-144R.1
- Goetz MP, Toft DO, Ames MM, Erlichman C. The Hsp90 chaperone complex as a novel target for cancer therapy. Ann Oncol (2003) 14 (8):1169-76. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdg316
- 241. Zhang H, Chung D, Yang Y-C, Neely L, Tsurumoto S, Fan J, et al. Identification of new biomarkers for clinical trials of Hsp90 inhibitors. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2006) 5(5):1256. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-05-0537
- 242. Zhao M, Ding JX, Zeng K, Zhao J, Shen F, Yin YX, et al. Heat shock protein 27: a potential biomarker of peritoneal metastasis in epithelial ovarian cancer? *Tumor Biol* (2014) 35(2):1051-6. doi: 10.1007/s13277-013-1139-7
- 243. Suzuki K, Ito Y, Wakai K, Kawado M, Hashimoto S, Seki N, et al. Serum Heat Shock Protein 70 Levels and Lung Cancer Risk: A Case-Control Study Nested

in a Large Cohort Study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers & Prev* (2006) 15 (9):1733. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-0005

- 244. Gunaldi M, Afsar CU, Okuturlar Y, Gedikbasi A, Kocoglu H, Kural A, et al. Elevated Serum Levels of Heat Shock Protein 70 Are Associated with Breast Cancer. *Tohoku J Exp Med* (2015) 236(2):97–102. doi: 10.1620/ tjem.236.97
- 245. Dunphy MPS, Pressl C, Pillarsetty N, Grkovski M, Modi S, Jhaveri K, et al. First-in-Human Trial of Epichaperome-Targeted PET in Patients with Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26(19):5178. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-3704

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Albakova, Mangasarova and Sapozhnikov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Understanding the Immune-Stroma Microenvironment in B Cell Malignancies for Effective Immunotherapy

Benedetta Apollonio[†], Nikolaos Ioannou[†], Despoina Papazoglou[†] and Alan G. Ramsay^{*}

Faculty of Life Sciences & Medicine, School of Cancer and Pharmaceutical Sciences, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jérôme Paggetti, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Reviewed by:

Marek Mraz, Central European Institute of Technology (CEITEC), Czechia Eric Eldering, Amsterdam University Medical Center (UMC), Netherlands Philipp M. Roessner, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany

> ***Correspondence:** Alan G. Ramsay alan.ramsay@kcl.ac.uk

[†]These authors share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Hematologic Malignancies, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 06 November 2020 Accepted: 04 January 2021 Published: 25 March 2021

Citation:

Apollonio B, Ioannou N, Papazoglou D and Ramsay AG (2021) Understanding the Immune-Stroma Microenvironment in B Cell Malignancies for Effective Immunotherapy. Front. Oncol. 11:626818. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2021.626818 Cancers, including lymphomas, develop in complex tissue environments where malignant cells actively promote the creation of a pro-tumoral niche that suppresses effective antitumor effector T cell responses. Research is revealing that the tumor microenvironment (TME) differs between different types of lymphoma, covering inflamed environments, as exemplified by Hodgkin lymphoma, to non-inflamed TMEs as seen in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) or diffuse-large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). In this review we consider how T cells and interferon-driven inflammatory signaling contribute to the regulation of antitumor immune responses, as well as sensitivity to anti-PD-1 immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. We discuss tumor intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms critical to antitumor immune responses, as well as sensitivity to immunotherapies, before adding an additional layer of complexity within the TME: the immunoregulatory role of nonhematopoietic stromal cells that co-evolve with tumors. Studying the intricate interactions between the immune-stroma lymphoma TME should help to design nextgeneration immunotherapies and combination treatment strategies to overcome complex TME-driven immune suppression.

Keywords: immunotherapy, tumor microenviroment, stroma, anti-PD1, lymphoma, interferon, T cells, CAR T

INTRODUCTION

There is a clinical need to identify novel treatments for lymphoid malignancies (1). Effective immunotherapy promotes the killing of cancer cells by cytotoxic T cells. Immune checkpoint blockade has demonstrated that reinvigorating anti-tumor immune activity can induce durable responses across multiple cancer types and serves as an illustrative example of therapeutically targeting the tumor microenvironment (TME) (2). The most promising clinical responses to PD-1 blockade have been seen in classical Hodgkin lymphoma (cHL) and primary mediastinal B cell lymphoma (PMBL) with up to 87% overall response rate (ORR) detected in relapsed/refractory (R/R) cHL (3). However, the efficacy of anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHLs) including diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) and follicular lymphoma (FL) has been more modest (4). Unexpectedly, no activity was seen in a trial of anti-PD-1 therapy for R/R chronic

lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) although PD-L1-PD-1-mediated T cell dysfunction has been described (5–7). This clinical experience suggests that profound immunosuppressive barriers operate within the TME.

The current immuno-oncology era is directing attention towards the relevance of studying the composition and function of the immune TME, together with genomic analysis. In this review, we discuss the current understanding concerning the role of T cells and inflammatory signaling ("inflamed" versus "non-inflamed" immune TMEs) in generating both endogenous anti-tumor immune responses, as well as sensitivity to immunotherapy. We describe how cancer immunology has been the subject of intense research in the solid tumor field but has been comparatively ill-defined in the lymphomas. We highlight tumor intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms of resistance in generating an effective anti-tumor immune response, before introducing an understudied area of lymphoma research-the role of non-hematopoietic stromal cell types in regulating anti-tumor immunity, that could also represent a targetable obstacle that immune cells face in the cancer-immunity cycle.

THE IMMUNE TME AND ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNITY

It is known that the immune system can paradoxically both inhibit and promote tumor development through a dynamic process where complex interactions between malignant cells and the immune system determine the fate of tumors, termed cancer immunoediting, which progresses through three phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape (8, 9). During the elimination phase, the immune system recognizes and eradicates transformed cells; however, some tumor clones can avoid elimination leading to the equilibrium phase during which tumor growth is kept in check (10). However, chronic inflammation as well as evolutionary pressure from immune cells, can allow tumor subclones to escape immune surveillance, leading to tumor outgrowth and disease (10). Although cancer immunoediting has been defined using murine models, next generation technology is now in a position to shed light on the relevance of these concepts for human patients and clinical observations (11).

The immune composition of the TME is a major determinant of tumor progression through these phases and includes innate (natural killer cells, macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells and dendritic cells), and adaptive (T and B cells) immune cells. The composition of the TME in B cell lymphomas that arise in secondary lymphoid tissues, can vary from resembling normal reactive lymph nodes with germinal centers as seen in FL, to tumor effacement as exemplified by CLL and DLBCL (12). In common with solid cancers, malignant cells actively influence the composition of the TME and educate surrounding immune and stromal cells that can acquire pro-tumorigenic and immunomodulatory activity.

Particular cell types of the innate and the adaptive immune system can function in a tumor-promoting or inhibitory way

with neutrophils, M2-polarized tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), T_{H2} CD4⁺ T cells and T_{Regs} generally considered as pro-tumor cells, whereas, M1-macrophages/TAMs, T_{H1} CD4⁺ T cells and cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells are associated with anti-tumor functions (13). Importantly, in a significant proportion of cancer patients, including the lymphomas, there is evidence of an active anti-tumor immune response directed against tumor-specific (neoantigens) (14, 15) or tumor-associated antigens (16). However, although acute inflammatory signals can stimulate adaptive immunity, chronic inflammation can be antagonistic and promote immune suppression. Numerous studies in solid cancer have shown that an activated adaptive immune response involving effective antigen presentation and interferon (IFN) signaling, as well as sufficient numbers of T cells in the TME, is associated with a favorable prognosis (13, 17, 18).

T Cells and Anti-Tumor Immunity

The crucial role of T cell lymphocytes as the main regulators and effectors in anti-tumor immunity has been well established. Seminal studies have revealed the role of immune surveillance and the vital contribution made by adaptive immune cells in suppressing the formation of tumors (19-21). Murine models have shown that tumor killing is mainly mediated by cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells in both solid (13) and B cell lymphomas (22). Elegant studies using the transgenic Eµ-TCL1 mouse model of CLL have shown that CD8⁺ T cells play an important role in controlling disease development in an IFN γ -dependent manner (23). CD8⁺ T cells, following successful priming, recognize antigens presented by tumor cells on their surface in complexes with HLA class I molecules and kill their targets, primarily via the release of cytotoxic molecules such as perforin and granzymes (24, 25). While the anti-tumor role of $CD8^+$ is generally accepted, the role of CD4⁺ T cells in cancer immunity is controversial. T_H1 CD4⁺ T cells, via the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines such as IFN γ and IL-2, can activate antigen presentation and costimulatory function on antigenpresenting cells (APCs), promote the effector differentiation of $CD8^+$ T cells and enhance their migration (26). However, as mentioned above, some subsets of CD4⁺ cells can exhibit protumor functions. T_H2-polarized CD4⁺ T cells secrete cytokines that can limit CTL differentiation and proliferation such as IL-10 and IL-4, while CD4⁺ T_{Regs} (FOXP3⁺) have significant immunosuppressive functions through various mechanisms and their pro-tumor role has been described in both solid tumors and lymphomas (13, 27-29). In CLL, in vitro and xenograft murine models have demonstrated a pro-tumor effect of the CD4⁺ T cell compartment in patients, with correlations of CD4⁺ subset counts and clinical outcome supporting this role (28, 30). However, research using Eµ-TCL1-based murine models has suggested a more complex role of CD4⁺ T cells with some studies showing an anti-tumor function (31), while others demonstrating a dispensable role (23). Such differences likely reflect differences in the assay systems used, and the degree to which they model complex immune TMEs, as well as highlighting the divergent role of T_H1 versus T_H2-polarized CD4⁺ T cell subsets and their plasticity. Interestingly, CD4⁺ T cells specific for immunoglobulin-derived

neoantigens in mantle cell lymphoma (MCL) were shown to express granzyme B and possess cytolytic function against autologous tumor cells following their engagement and expansion (14, 15), as previously described for granzyme B⁺ tumor-reactive CD4⁺ T cells in solid cancer (32). However, despite their crucial roles in controlling tumor growth, T cells become dysfunctional due to exhaustion in the chronically inflamed TME. T cell exhaustion is characterized by low proliferative capacity and limited effector function, due to chronic tumor antigen exposure (33, 34). This, in combination with a multitude of additional mechanisms covered later in this review, allow some tumors to escape both endogenous and therapy-mediated anti-tumor responses.

The Importance of Type I and II IFNs in the Immune TME

Numerous studies have established the important role of the type II IFN, IFN γ as a key player in host anti-tumor immunity through direct anti-tumor and indirect immunoregulatory actions (19, 35-39). IFNs can suppress tumors directly by triggering pro-apoptotic signaling or inhibiting their proliferation, while increasing MHC expression (40), antigen presentation (41) and promoting tumor immunogenicity, a critical process for effective tumor recognition and elimination by the immune system (19). IFN γ strongly promotes inflammatory responses and has been shown to augment the function of tumor-infiltrating immune cells including CD4⁺ T_H1 cells, CD8⁺ T cells, dendritic cells and macrophages, while suppressing T_H2 cells and T_{regs} (20, 39). Despite its pleiotropic effects, it has been demonstrated that IFN y-expressing T cells play a dominant role in mediating effective anti-tumor activity (42).

Although the majority of studies have used solid tumor models, the importance of IFN γ in anti-tumor immunity has also been shown in B cell malignancy models. Effective lymphoma immune surveillance using murine models was shown to be mediated by tumor-specific CD4⁺ T cells and associated with proinflammatory cytokines, particularly those that promote a $T_{\rm H}$ phenotype including IFN χ IL-2, and IL-12 (43). As discussed above, a non-redundant role of IFN γ expressing CD8⁺ T cells in suppressing CLL progression was demonstrated using a murine transgenic model (23). Recent work has revealed that a subset of DLBCL harboring a T cellinflamed TME (discussed later in this review) expressed a number of inflammatory and effector cytokine pathways including IFN γ and TNF α (44). Moreover, a T_H1 cytokine profile including type II IFN T cell responses has been associated with a favorable prognosis and response to traditional chemotherapy, the immunomodulatory drug lenalidomide and anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in NHL patients (44 - 48).

Type I interferons (including IFN α and IFN β) can be produced by all nucleated cells and act on both tumor and immune cells (38, 49). Even though some decades-old studies had suggested an anti-tumor activity for IFN α/β , only recently, their role in the elimination of tumor cells and immunoediting

has started to be elucidated (50, 51). Several studies have established their direct anti-tumor effect which is mediated through growth inhibition and/or induction of apoptosis by the regulation of the cell cycle (G1 phase arrest) and activation of both intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways (TRAIL, FAS and FASL among others) (52, 53). Moreover, type I IFNs have been shown to increase both HLA class I and tumor antigen expression and consequently, increase immune recognition and successful generation of an anti-tumor response (54, 55).

In addition to direct effects on tumor cells, there is substantial evidence showing that type I IFNs mainly function through stimulating anti-tumor immune responses that is relevant for both natural and therapy-induced immunity. The autocrine and paracrine circuits within the immune TME that are triggered by type I IFN show similarity with IFN γ signaling but they do not overlap completely (50, 56). Type I IFN deficient dendritic cells (DCs) in murine TME models have been correlated with ineffective T cell priming (57, 58). In common with IFN γ , the ability of type I IFN to promote immune-mediated anti-tumor activity is also through their effects on T cells. More specifically, type I IFNs have been reported to play an important role in T_{H1} CD4⁺ T cell polarization as well as promoting the survival and effector function of CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells by increasing granzyme expression (51, 59, 60). In addition, type I IFNs have been shown to negatively regulate the numbers and activity of T_{Regs} (61) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (62).

Remarkably, in the context of hematological malignancies, one of the earliest studies indicating a role of type I IFNs in promoting immune-mediated anti-tumor responses was reported in a mouse lymphocytic leukemia model (63). Recent work has demonstrated that avadomide, a cereblon E3 ligase modulator (CELMoD), can induce IFN signaling in DLBCL B cells that triggered tumor apoptosis (64). In addition, the immunomodulatory drug lenalidomide has been shown to induce IFN β signaling in DLBCL that promotes tumor cell death (65). In contrast, lenalidomide and avadomide have antiproliferative effects on CLL cells that are likely a direct effect of IFN signaling induction but does not induce direct tumor B cell apoptosis (66, 67). Interestingly, the fusion of IFN α to anti-CD20 antibody induced a superior anti-lymphoma effect than anti-CD20 alone by direct and potent killing of type I IFNa receptorpositive lymphoma cells (68). It was further demonstrated that an important additional mechanism of action of tumor-directed antibodies, in addition to direct anti-tumor effects, was the induction of type I IFN in the TME that activated DC crosspresentation and T cell activation (69). This work highlights the potential of next-generation Ab-based immunotherapy (Ab-IFN fusion) (70) to induce direct anti-tumor effects and reconnect suppressed innate and adaptive immune responses in the TME (69). However, it is worth noting that earlier work in CLL has described conflicting data regarding a pro-survival effect when treating CLL cells with recombinant type I (71-73) or type II IFNs (74), that may be associated with studies using peripheral blood-derived CLL cells, rather than tissue culture or in vivo models that mimic activated CLL TME biology (75). Recently, impaired IFN signaling in CLL B cells (loss of IFN regulatory

factor 4, IRF4 using a murine model or its reduced expression in human CLL cells) has been linked to downregulated antigen presentation and co-stimulatory molecules that prevented the generation of activated, exhausted T cell responses and was associated with accelerated disease progression. In addition to this tumor immune evasion mechanism, T cells from treatment naïve CLL patients have been shown to express deregulated IFN type I and II signaling genes compared to healthy age-matched control T cells (67), in keeping with impaired IFN signaling in T cells representing a common immune defect in cancer (76). Together these recent findings provide evidence that reduced IFN signaling in the CLL TME could contribute the development of an immunosuppressive/non-inflamed TME.

Inflamed *Versus* Non-Inflamed Immune TMEs

Analysis of solid cancer tumors including colorectal, melanoma, and ovarian cancer among others has established the prognostic significance of the type, density, and localization (immune contexture) of immune cells that reside within the TME for predicting a patient's overall survival (77-80). The prognostic power of these variables is so powerful that they led to the development of a new scoring system termed the 'immunoscore', which has been internationally validated for colorectal carcinomas (CRC) (81). The immunoscore is based on the quantification and localization of CD3⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes within tumors and their invasive margin and evidence so far suggests that this alternative scoring system is a more robust classification system for CRC for predicting survival than the classical tumor-node-metastasis staging system (81, 82). This was the first attempt of cancer classification/stratification through a system which was not tumor-based but rather immune-based, leading to a basic distinction of TMEs as T cell inflamed (or hot) that contain high numbers of infiltrated T cells, versus non-inflamed (or cold) phenotypes that are noninfiltrated (3, 18).

Transcriptome profiling studies have revealed additional molecular characteristics of T cell inflamed TMEs including the number of tumor-infiltrating T cells and the expression of IFN-inducible activated T cell biology gene signatures including granzymes, chemokines, PD-L1, as well as tumor mutational burden and neoantigen load (83, 84). In contrast, non-inflamed TMEs are generally characterized by low or absent infiltration of CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells, low frequency of neoantigen expression, and a paucity of IFN signaling (18, 85). It should be noted that solid cancer and B cell lymphoma subtype TMEs fall into a spectrum of T cell inflamed to non-inflamed phenotypes reflecting expected heterogeneity, and can include "excluded" phenotypes where understudied stromal cells may present a barrier to infiltrating T cells (18). Applying the concept of inflamed versus non-inflamed TME phenotypes to lymphoma is challenging due to two major characteristics of these cancers. First, lymphomas are cancers of immune cells and as a consequence, tumor cells can regulate immunological functions themselves, making the tumor-immune cell interaction significantly more complex than solid tumors. Secondly, the

origin and residence of malignant cells in most B cell lymphomas are secondary lymphoid organs that serve as sites of immune cell surveillance. Therefore, the presence of T cell subsets or inflammatory signatures in the TME may also represent active non-tumor immune responses. For example, cytomegalovirus causes a marked expansion of virus-specific T cells in CLL patients (86). However, the role of Epstein–Barr virus (EBV) in the pathogenesis of some lymphomas may also be a source of antigens for tumor T cell recognition (87). Regardless, a classification of lymphomas based on inflamed versus noninflamed immune landscapes ('immune contexture') and responsiveness to immune checkpoint blockade has been described (3).

In the current era of immunotherapy, the characterization of tumors according to their immune landscape is more relevant than ever (88), as IFN γ -expressing T cell inflamed tumors have shown increased sensitivity to anti-PD-1 therapy with both predictive and prognostic significance (83, 89-91). PD-1 has been shown to be a negative regulator of pre-existing immune responses in tumors, thus blocking the interaction of PD-1 with its ligands (PD-L1 or PD-L2) prevents this inhibitory signaling and allows tumor-specific T cells to remain activated and kill tumor cells. Pre-clinical studies in solid cancer have suggested that anti-PD-1 therapy cannot function in the absence of primed tumor antigen-specific CD8⁺ cytotoxic T cells which express high levels of PD-1 (exhausted phenotype) (2, 92, 93). However, high-dimensional correlative analysis of circulating immune cells from melanoma patients receiving anti-PD-1 immunotherapy has revealed a more complex role of the T cell compartment during therapy. In particular, higher numbers of PD-1⁺, CTLA-4⁺, IL-17A⁺, IFN γ^{+} activated memory CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells including granzyme B⁺ CD4⁺ T cells were detected after therapy and in responding patients (94). Interestingly, the frequency of classical CD14⁺ HLA-DR⁺ monocytes prior to therapy was found to be a strong predictor of response, thought to reflect myeloid expansion triggered by IFN γ produced by activated tumor-specific and infiltrated T cells in patients who are more likely to become responders.

Inflamed lymphomas such as cHL tumors have shown increased sensitivity to anti-PD-1 blockade therapy and are characterized by an unusually high immune cell infiltrate, an inflammatory PD-L1⁺ TME, a high mutational burden (95) and genetic alterations that facilitate cancer immunoediting escape including aberrant MHC class I molecule expression (96). Intriguingly, the majority of T cells that infiltrate HL tumors are IFN γ -expressing T_H1-polarized CD4⁺ T cells (96, 97), which is again at odds with the concept that PD-1 inhibition works solely through the reactivation of MHC class I-restricted CD8⁺ T cells (98), given that cHL is sensitive to this immunotherapy. Indeed, recent immune monitoring studies have shown that circulating cytotoxic granzyme B⁺, PD-1⁺ CD4⁺ T cells, as well as PD-1⁺ differentiated effector CD8⁺ T cells are detected in HL patients. Interestingly, only CD4⁺ T cell receptor (TCR) diversity at baseline and during therapy correlated with responses to anti-PD-1 therapy (99). Additionally, the study identified an IFNexperienced circulating CD68⁺ CD4⁺ Granzyme B⁺ innate

effector subset in patients who responded to therapy. This correlative data highlights the potential cytotoxic anti-tumor capability of specific CD4⁺ T cell subsets that is relevant for both solid cancers (94) and lymphomas (99-102). It is also interesting to note that the presence of a baseline T cell inflamed TME has correlated with improved responses to other therapies including adoptive cell therapy in solid cancer models (103), that may have relevance for CAR T therapy in lymphoma (104), and the CELMoD avadomide which induced higher responses in immune-rich DLBCL TMEs (105). However, although a proportion of DLBCL (44) and FL tumors (106, 107) exhibit features of T cell inflamed TMEs, the immune landscape of the NHLs is more heterogenous with most harboring a cold or non-inflamed environment, and are typically resistant to anti-PD-1 therapy. A recent phase 2 study of anti-PD-1 in R/R DLBCL following autologous transplant reported an ORR of 10%, although some patients did show encouraging disease stabilization and durable responses (108). Non-inflamed lymphomas are thought to contain fewer infiltrating immune cells, particularly T cells, that can predict poor survival in DLBCL (109). Sparse infiltration of immune cells is linked to lymphoma intrinsic oncogenic pathways that prevent the recruitment or retention of immune cells in TME lymphoid tissues or downregulate APC capability (110). Interestingly, noninflamed lymphomas typically lack genetic aberrations that facilitate immune escape (111). We have recently demonstrated that CLL lymph nodes show salient features of non-inflamed tumors including sparse numbers of CD8⁺ T cells relative to reactive non-malignant tissues and low PD-L1 expression in the TME, as well as profound T cell functional exhaustion (67).

TUMOR INTRINSIC AND EXTRINSIC MECHANISMS THAT INFLUENCE RESPONSE TO IMMUNOTHERAPY

It is now clear that distinct mechanisms may confer sensitivity and resistance to different types of immunotherapy in tumors that show a large degree of heterogeneity in their immune TMEs, falling within the extremes of the inflamed versus non-inflamed classification. The key factors that shape the TME include tumor immunogenicity, oncogenic pathways, and genetic alterations that regulate T cell infiltration and function (3, 112). The sculpting of the immune TME is inherently interconnected with the cancer immunoediting process. Available evidence from studies of patients treated with immune checkpoint blockade drugs suggests that immunoediting takes place not only during tumor progression but, at least in some form, also in response to therapy (9). Several factors of immune escape and resistance to immunotherapy (innate or acquired) that have been characterized to date, can be broadly divided in tumor-intrinsic and tumor-extrinsic mechanisms (113, 114). While the bulk of evidence regarding the role of these processes in regulating antitumor immunity and response to immunotherapy comes from solid tumor research, recent studies are revealing similar mechanisms operative in the lymphomas.

Tumor Cell-Intrinsic Mechanisms That Shape the Immune TME

Tumor intrinsic mechanisms generally include genetic aberrations that can affect antigen recognition and influence immune function and immune contexture in TMEs including neoantigen load (Figure 1). HLA class I and II are required for the display and presentation of tumor-associated antigens and consequently an effective adaptive anti-tumor response. Several studies have reported HLA class I and II molecule loss or downregulation in lymphomas through genetic, epigenetic or transcriptional mechanisms. Intriguingly, acquisition of recurrent genetic alterations in genes encoding antigen presentation machinery appears to be a shared characteristic of T cell inflamed lymphomas such as cHL (115) and a subset of DLBCLs (44). This likely represents a critical cancer immunoediting escape mechanism used by lymphoma cells to evade the effector activity of lymphoma-specific CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells. Impaired or loss of expression of HLA class I molecules is frequently detected in HL and DLBCL but has not been reported or is extremely rare in indolent lymphomas such as MCL, marginal zone lymphoma and CLL (16, 115-118). The most common mechanism leading to this altered HLA expression is caused by mutations and deletions in the β 2-microglobulin gene, although direct genetic alterations of the HLA I genes have also been reported (115, 117, 119). HLA class II molecule downregulation is also observed in HL and DLBCL and mediated mainly at a transcriptional level through inactivating mutations CIITA, as well as homozygous deletions of chromosome 6p21.3 (116, 136-139).

Another mechanism contributing to immune evasion in lymphoma is the genetic overexpression of PD-L1, that is also a common feature of checkpoint blockade-sensitive T cell inflamed TMEs including cHL and PMBL (3). Upregulated expression of PD-1 ligands has been found to be driven by genetic alterations driving amplification of structural variations (SVs) of the chromosome region 9p24.1 which contains the loci for PD-L1, PD-L2 and JAK2 (termed the PDJ amplicon) (120-122). PD-L1 expression is less prevalent in DLBCL, but PD-L1 gene alterations have also been detected in a subset of DLBCLs, particularly the non-germinal center B cell (GCB) subtypes, harboring T cell inflamed phenotypes with high numbers of infiltrating T cells, downregulated HLA expression and upregulation of inflammatory NF-kB, TNF α and IFN γ gene pathways (44, 120, 140). Recurrent SVs in the 3' UTR of the PD-L1 gene, which are thought to stabilize PD-L1 transcripts leading to increased protein expression, have also been uniquely described in DLBCL (141).

As mentioned earlier, type I and II IFNs are important mediators of both innate and adaptive anti-tumor immune function and are key players in cancer immunoediting. Importantly, defective IFN signaling in tumor cells has emerged as a major tumor-intrinsic resistance mechanism during immune checkpoint blockade therapy (114, 142, 143). Loss-of-function mutations in IFN γ receptor signaling pathway genes *JAK1* and *JAK2* have been seen in melanoma patients who developed late relapses after initial successful anti-PD-1 therapy



(144), as well as patients with primary resistance to this immunotherapy (145). Mutations in IFN γ -related genes were also observed in non-responsive patients following anti-CTLA-4 checkpoint therapy (146). This loss of IFN γ receptor signaling allows the tumor to evade the effects of IFN γ produced by antitumor T cells that would reduce tumor antigen presentation capability, decrease the expression of IFN-associated chemoattractants and promote insensitivity to the antiproliferative and pro-apoptotic effects of IFN γ in tumor cells. Several studies have found evidence of deregulation of tumorintrinsic IFN signaling in lymphoma but this has not yet been directly linked to immunotherapy resistance. Suppression of type I interferon by STAT3 has been described in non-GCB DLBCL, with inhibition of STAT3 activity using ruxolitinib inducing a synergistic growth inhibition effect when combined with the IFNinducing immunomodulatory drug lenalidomide (147). Evidence for a CLL cell-intrinsic IFN signaling defect was described earlier in this review with low expression of IRF4 associated with inferior prognosis and associated studies supporting a novel tumor

immune evasion mechanism (148). This IFN signaling defect reduced expression of tumor genes required to activate T cells including antigen processing and presentation, that could contribute to resistance to immunotherapies in this disease.

In addition to altering intrinsic tumor cell properties, oncogenic signaling has been found to contribute to the immune contexture of inflamed and non-inflamed TMEs. Genetic aberrations affecting MYC, p53 and NF-kB among other genetic events can dictate the immune landscape (84, 149). Importantly, pathways including WNT- β -catenin and MAPK signaling, as well as those associated with loss of PTEN, have all been implicated in driving intrinsic resistance to immune checkpoint blockade in solid tumors (114). Recent genomic studies in DLBCL have revealed associations between alterations in oncogenes or tumor suppressors including *PTEN*, *EZH2* and *TP53* and reduced expression of genes linked to immune cell activation (150). However, mechanistic data on how oncogenic alterations promote a non-inflamed immune TME or immunotherapy resistance in lymphomas is currently lacking. Double hit GCB DLBCLs with MYC, BCL2, and/or BCL6 gene rearrangements have been shown to contain low number of infiltrating T cells (111). These lymphomas are enriched for EZH2 activating mutations that have recently been shown to underlie acquired deficiency in MHC I and II expression and low T cell infiltrates in murine lymphoid TMEs (110). Interestingly, MYC has been shown to regulate the anti-tumor immune response in murine models of T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and liver cancer by inducing the expression of CD47 and/or PD-L1 immune checkpoint molecules and recruiting TAMs, while excluding T cells among other mechanisms (151-153). However, it should be noted that the ability of oncogenes like MYC to control the recruitment and function of immune cells in tumors can be counteracted by other genetic aberrations as has been seen using the $E\mu$ -MYC lymphoma model (149, 154), that highlights the complexity of defining the roles of oncogenic alterations in modulating immune cell landscapes both within and between complex molecular lymphoma subtypes. Conversely, oncogenes and tumor suppression genes can equally foster an inflammatory immune TME. One notable example in solid cancer is NF-kB that controls cell survival and proliferation, but also production of inflammatory cytokines (149). In common, recurrent genetic modifications that lead to NF-kB activation have been described in inflamed lymphomas including cHL, PMBL and a subset of T cell-rich DLBCLs that contain PD-L1 SVs and downregulated HLA expression (44, 155, 156). In addition, oncogenic NOTCH signaling has been implicated in the regulation of inflammatory DLBCLs that harbor genetic immune escape mechanisms including inactivating CD70 and FAS mutations (157-159). Overall, further studies involving pre-clinical murine models will be required to define the how specific oncogenic signaling pathways contribute to tumor-immune cell interactions and T cell recruitment in lymphoma TMEs.

Several studies have shown that tumor neoantigens can function as targets for anti-tumor T cells and there is a positive correlation between tumor mutational burden and response to immune checkpoint blockade across cancers (160-162). In particular, deficiency in DNA repair mechanisms has been found to be the main driver of genomic instability and has been associated with response to immunotherapy (163). Interestingly, mutations that lead to DNA mismatch repair defects and microsatellite instability, as well as APOBEC mutational signatures have been identified in PD-1 blockade sensitive "inflamed" lymphomas such as cHL and PMBL; however, these seem more rare in other B cell malignancies (164-166). On the other hand, low tumor immunogenicity with low frequency of neoantigen generation as is seen in CLL, is linked to reduced intrinsic sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade (5, 167). However, recent antigen-presentation profiling work is revealing that B cell lymphomas including CLL can present immunoglobulin neoantigens (15), with preferential MHC-II presentation that has implications for promoting the cytolytic T_H1 differentiation of neoantigenspecific CD4⁺ T cells with immunotherapy, as has been demonstrated in solid cancer (168).

Recent studies have demonstrated that metabolically active tumor cells chronically deprive the TME of essential nutrients that affect T cell effector function and promote the creation of a tolerogenic TME [metabolic reprogramming in the lymphomas has been reviewed elsewhere (169–171)].

Tumor Cell Extrinsic Mechanisms That Shape the Immune TME

Tumor cell extrinsic factors that regulate anti-tumor immunity, immune evasion or resistance to immunotherapy involve nontumor cellular and molecular components within the immune TME including inhibitory immune checkpoints, TAMs, MDSCs, T_{Regs} and stromal cells (Figure 1). Although tumor extrinsic components have been linked to cold or non-inflamed TMEs and response to therapy, it should be noted that their roles in cancer immunology are highly dynamic and context dependent, including the nature and duration of the driving forces implicated. For example, cytokines within immune TMEs including IL-10 (131), IL-6 (132) and TGFB (133) or extracellular vesicles (EVs) (134, 135) are known to have complex, context-dependent effects on both immune and cancer cells. Although there is evidence that these secreted factors have relevant immunomodulatory activity in B cell malignancies including CLL (172-176) and FL (177), our understanding of the hierarchy and cooperation required between cytokines and chemokines or EVs and their cellular sources for the licensing of immune evasion or the promotion of anti-tumor immune responses is currently ill-defined.

Type I and II IFNs can act as double-edged swords in cancer, promoting both feedforward immune activation responses described earlier, as well as feedback inhibitory mechanisms. Importantly, persistent IFN signaling in cancer, in common with chronic virus infection, can be immunosuppressive by inducing PD-L1, IDO and LAG-3 in the immune TME (123-125). Indeed, prolonged type I and II IFN-driven expression of multiple immune checkpoint ligands, receptors and inhibitory pathways linked to exhaustion including PD-1, LAG-3 and TIM-3, have been shown to be upregulated on T cell subsets during adaptive or acquired resistance to immune checkpoint therapy (125, 178, 179). It is plausible that combination checkpoint inhibition may be able to bypass negative feedback and multiple inhibitory receptors as has been demonstrated using a CLL murine model with dual anti-PD-1 and LAG-3 blockade (180). Interestingly, CD8⁺ CAR T cells co-expressing PD-1 with either LAG-3 or TIM-3 were associated with poor responses in CLL, whereas patients who had complete and durable remissions were infused with CAR T cells containing lower frequencies of these exhausted phenotypes. Moreover, the clinical effectiveness of CAR T cells in CLL was increased when co-stimulatory receptor CD27⁺ was expressed on CAR T cells that may reflect a less exhausted and functionally competent T cell phenotype ('intrinsic T cell fitness') (181). This data supports the relevance of multiple inhibitory pathways induced by IFN signaling that could hinder CAR T therapy and promote therapy resistance.

TAMs are an important subset of terminally differentiated myeloid cells that regulate anti-tumor immunity and response to

Immune-Stroma Microenvironment in Lymphoma

therapy in many cancers including lymphoma (126, 127). Early work demonstrated that TAMs promoted chemotherapy resistance in cHL and in DLBCL in the pre-rituximab treatment era (182, 183). However, TAMs have been shown to mediate antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis of rituximab engaged malignant B cells, highlighting therapeutic context. Studies have demonstrated the capability of TAMs to directly suppress T cells through PD-L1 expression, as well as the production of cytokines such as IL-10 and TGF- β or enzymes that can limit effector activity (126). Interestingly, inflamed cHLs harbor high numbers of PD-L1⁺ TAMs, that presumably represent an active immune evasive strategy elicited within the TME to suppress lymphoma-specific $PD-1^+$ CD4⁺ T cells (184). In addition, it has been shown that lymphoma cells can upregulate expression of the membrane anti-phagocytic protein CD47 that allows them to escape elimination by TAMs. Combining anti-CD47 blocking antibody with rituximab has elicited synergistic anti-tumor activity in preclinical models and early clinical results have been promising (185, 186). These studies highlight the potential to harness antilymphoma TAM activity that could be combined with immune checkpoint blockade therapy to re-educate their pro-tumor, immunosuppressive activity and optimize immunotherapy. In addition, MDSCs have also emerged as potentially important regulators of immune responses, through the production of several immunosuppressive factors (ARG1, NO, PGE2) (187), and their presence in solid cancer TMEs correlates with decreased efficacy of immunotherapies including checkpoint blockade and adoptive T cell therapy (128, 129). However, a role in contributing to immunotherapy resistance in B cell malignancy has not been defined to date (188). Notably, in CLL it has been demonstrated that MDSCs, characterized by a CD14⁺HLA-DR^{lo} phenotype, can be induced by malignant B cells in vitro to suppress T cell effector function and promote T_{Reg}-differentiation mediated by upregulation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) (189).

T_{Regs} comprise a subtype of CD4⁺ cells which are mainly defined by the expression of FOXP3 and play an important role in maintaining self-tolerance (190). TRegs suppress effector T cells by secretion of inhibitory cytokines including IL-10 and TGF β , as well as direct cell contact. Indeed, many murine studies of solid cancer have shown that the depletion of T_{Regs} cells from the TME can enhance or restore anti-tumor immunity (130). Studies in CLL using the TCL1 transgenic model indicated that partial depletion of T_{Regs} numbers did not impact on CLL disease progression but did result in enhanced CD8⁺ T cell functional capacity (191). Increased numbers of circulating T_{regs} have been found in CLL patients and correlated with disease progression (192, 193), and lymph node tissue was shown to harbor twice the number of these suppressive cells than the peripheral blood compartment (194). Most immune checkpoint molecules including PD-1 and CTLA-4 are expressed on T_{Regs} but the effects of checkpoint inhibitors on this T cell subset and treatment response remain unclear. Intriguingly, studies have suggested that anti-PD-1 immunotherapy might enhance the immunosuppressive function of T_{Regs} (130, 195), whereas antiCTLA-4 inhibitors might deplete these cells (196). It is possible that T_{Regs} cells may coincide with lymphoma-specific T cells, indicating a potentially immune-responsive tumor. Correlative studies to determine the impact of T_{Regs} on clinical outcomes for lymphoma patients receiving immunotherapies should be informative, as well as the development of targeted treatment approaches to deplete these cells in order to activate anti-tumor immunity (130).

STROMA CELLS AS A KEY TUMOR CELL EXTRINSIC MECHANISM THAT REGULATE IMMUNE RESPONSES IN THE TME

Emerging evidence has now demonstrated that the creation of a "cold" TME requires the coordinated intervention of several other non-immune cell types that co-evolve with the tumor. Cancer-reprogrammed stromal cells [endothelial cells (ECs) and fibroblasts] acquire altered features that promote tumor progression and contribute to immunosuppression (197). This is achieved by a plethora of tightly orchestrated mechanisms influencing both spatial organization and function of immune subsets within the TME.

Evidence That Stromal Cells Regulate Anti-Tumor Immunity in Solid Tumors

Extensive studies of tumor-associated endothelial cells (TECs) in solid cancer are highlighting not only the significance of angiogenesis in disease progression but also the role of tumorreprogrammed ECs in recruiting and polarizing immune cells in the TME (198). EC-mediated T cell trafficking, a crucial and highly dynamic process, is initiated by the release of chemokines, to attract circulating leukocytes, followed by selectin-dependent leukocyte rolling on the endothelium and integrin-induced trans-endothelial migration (199). Multiple steps in this tightly controlled process are disrupted in tumors.

The tumor vasculature has been found to be less functional with abnormal 'leaky' vessels (200), contributing to the hypoxic state that characterizes the majority of solid tumors. In this hypoxic environment, ECs release nitric oxide (NO) that suppresses the expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules (VCAM-1, ICAM-1) (201). Decreased ICAM-1 expression on TECs has been shown to impair T cell extravasation and has been associated with decreased numbers of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) (202).

Together with ECs, cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), the resident fibroblasts activated in a chronic inflamed TME, have been shown to actively shape the immune infiltrate. The CAF secretome promotes recruitment and polarization of regulatory cells from both the innate and adaptive immune arms (203). Recently, a subpopulation of immunoregulatory CAFs (CAF-S1) has been functionally involved in the attraction, retention and activation of T_{Regs} in the breast cancer TME through the secretion of CXCL12 (204). Moreover, other CAF-derived

factors like Chi3L1, MCP-1 and SDF-1 drive the recruitment of monocytes and their polarization into pro-tumoral, immunosuppressive M2-macrophages in breast and prostate cancers (205–207), while CAF-derived IL-6 has been shown to promote immunosuppressive neutrophils in hepatocellular carcinoma (208). In addition, CAF-driven abnormal extracellular matrix (ECM) deposition and remodeling have been shown to induce the physical trapping of anti-tumor T cells to prevent effective tumor access (209).

Besides their role in mapping the spatial organization of immune cells in the TME, stromal cells can also directly influence or suppress endogenous anti-tumor immune responses through additional mechanisms, including antigen presentation. ECs upregulate both MHC-I and MHC-II in response to inflammatory cytokines (such as INFy) acting as semi-professional non-hematopoietic APCs (210). As a consequence, ECs can mediate Ag-specific stimulation of effector memory CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (211-215). Interestingly, Motz and colleagues found that FasL expression on the vasculature of human and mouse solid tumors induced specific killing of CD8⁺ TILs, but not T_{regs}, thus skewing the lymphocyte infiltrate towards a more regulatory phenotype (216). Moreover, ECs can upregulate PD-L1 and PD-L2 molecules inhibiting T cell activation and cytotoxic capacity (217 - 220).

Along the same lines, CAFs also directly impact the cytolytic activity of anti-tumor effector T cells through a number of different mechanisms. Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and NO produced by tumor-associated fibroblasts dampen CD8⁺ T cells proliferation in pancreatic and breast cancer respectively (221, 222) and CAFs expressing tumor antigens promote CD8⁺ apoptosis *via* PD-L2 and FasL expression (223). Overall, these intricate studies have shown that stromal cells shape the TME by affecting the recruitment and function of different adaptive and innate immune cells in solid tumors, but accumulating evidence is now revealing that similar mechanisms are operative in B cell malignancies.

The Importance of Stromal Cells in B Cell Malignancies

In lymphoid organs [lymph nodes (LNs), spleen and bone marrow (BM)] resident stromal cells engage in bidirectional interactions with lymphocytes that directly contribute to the shaping and function of the immune system (224, 225). Lymphocytes enter the LN via both afferent lymphatics formed by lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) and peripheral circulation through high endothelial venues (HEVs). Lymphocyte homing to secondary lymphoid organs is coordinated by the expression of integrin and adhesion molecules, as well as chemokinechemokine receptors on ECs lining HEVs (199). Emerging evidence also shows that LN ECs also acquire distinct immunomodulatory roles such as priming T cells (226), while BM ECs critically influence bone marrow remodeling and hematopoiesis, also contributing to the differentiation of immature B cells (225). Besides ECs, lymphocytes also closely interact with stromal cells of mesenchymal origin: mesenchymal

stromal cells (MSCs) in the BM and both fibroblastic reticular cells (FRCs) and follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) in the LNs. MSCs primarily function to create a reticular network in the BM and to produce factors essential to lymphoid lineage development and differentiation. MSCs are also a key component of the regenerative system and they possess the ability to migrate to a damaged tissue, promote its repair and suppress the associated inflammation through a number of immunomodulatory factors (227). In the LN, FRCs and FDCs maintain immune system homeostasis by guiding the correct compartmentalization of immune cells through the display and secretion of chemokines and cytokines. They also actively participate in the control of immune responses by regulating the recruitment and the activation status of mveloid cells and lymphocytes using similar mechanisms to the ones described for MSCs (228). Thus, it is reasonable to hypothesize that stromal cells could similarly participate in shaping the immune TME, with potential contribution to the immunosuppressive state in B cell malignancies.

Several studies have shown that stromal cell architecture is altered in both the BM and LN tissue compartments of patients with different hematological malignancies (229, 230). Increased proliferation of VEGFR-1⁺ neovasculature has been observed in aggressive lymphomas (DLBCL and Burkitt's lymphoma), and an elevated numbers of α SMA⁺ mesenchymal cells described in indolent NHLs including CLL and small lymphocytic lymphoma (SLL) (231). Despite this general distinction, the stromal landscape of hematological malignancies is far more complex, with evidence that both ECs and fibroblasts cooperate in shaping disease biology and promoting tumor progression. Angiogenesis contributes to CLL development and correlates with disease progression (232-234). In line with this observation, overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in tissue biopsies has been shown to be a promising prognostic factor for NHL (235). In aggressive DLBCL, Lenz and colleagues described two different stromal gene signatures (stromal 1 and stromal 2) associated with patient survival following CHOP and R-CHOP treatment. The 'stromal-2' signature comprised of angiogenesis-associated genes (including CD31, VEGF), increased tumor blood-vessel density and correlated with poor prognosis following R-CHOP. On the other hand, the prognostically favorable stromal-1 signature showed enrichment for fibroblasts and ECM-associated genes (236). The importance of fibroblasts in aggressive lymphoma was functionally demonstrated in the Eµ-Myc mouse model, where expanded FRCs created a pro-tumor niche directing the homing and survival of lymphoma cells in the spleen (237). It has also been demonstrated in CLL using the Em-TCL1 murine model, that splenic stromal cells co-evolve with disease, in particular an expansion and reprogramming of splenic fibroblasts that produce the pro-B cell cytokine CXCL13 (238). To complicate the picture further, endothelial and mesenchymal cells are intimately linked to each other as exemplified by PDGFactivated MSCs in CLL that were shown to up-regulate VEGF production and promote the 'angiogenic switch' associated with disease progression (239). The importance of crosstalk in CLL

between tumor cells and stroma cells has been recently reviewed by Dubois et al. (240).

Malignant B Cells Hijack Stromal Cells in the Lymphoma TME

Altered vascular patterns and angiogenesis characterize aggressive and indolent lymphomas (241, 242). Tumor B cells secrete pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF (243, 244), that promote the activation of endothelial cells and neoangiogenesis. In turn, as highlighted by numerous studies in CLL (245–248) and other hematological malignancies (249, 250), activated ECs critically contribute to malignant B cell survival through factors such as B-cell activating factor (BAFF) (245, 251, 252) (**Figure 2A**).

Moreover, CLL and HL cells secrete EVs that promote the acquisition of a CAF-like phenotype in previously healthy ECs and fibroblasts from different origins (267, 268). Importantly, tumor-derived EVs can also modulate other cellular components of the TME (269), and their role in B-cell malignancies has been recently reviewed (135).

In multiple myeloma (MM), the combination of both soluble (SDF-1 α) and membrane-bound factors (integrins) induce stroma activation (ECs and BM-MSCs) (263), while in FL and CLL, tumor-derived TNF α and lymphotoxin (LT) are involved in the remodeling of BM-MSCs and LN-FDCs respectively (253, 254). These tumor-specific factors ultimately converge in the activation of NF-kB-dependent transcriptional programs (253, 263) that promote the secretion of pro-inflammatory soluble mediators involved in the enhancement of cancer survival (255) and in the modulation of TME immune infiltration (**Figure 2A**).

Evidence for the Immunomodulatory Roles of Reprogrammed Stromal Cells in B Cell Malignancies

As described above, tumor-activated stroma has a direct impact on the retention of tumor B cells and could therefore impact the recruitment or exclusion of other lymphocytes *via* similar mechanisms. The upregulation of adhesion molecules on EC surfaces (250) may negatively impact T cell trans-endothelial migration, which is a critical step of T cell homing into the LNs (270). In CLL, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells exhibit impaired integrin lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1)–driven migration (271). Altered expression of adhesion molecules on TECs, together with T cell motility defects, could therefore block effective T cell trafficking into LN tissues.

Although studies showing a direct impact of activated endothelium on T cell recruitment in hematological malignancies are lacking, recently de Weerdt et al. revealed that CLL LNs contained twice the amount of T_{Regs} and a lower frequency of cytotoxic lymphocytes compared to the peripheral blood compartment (194). Under inflammatory conditions, activated ECs induce the expansion of T_{Regs} (215, 216) and the proliferation of memory CD4⁺ T cells (272), and it could be speculated that similar mechanisms occur in the CLL TME.

Despite the lack of evidence for ECs, several studies have demonstrated the contribution of mesenchymal cells in the

regulation of immune infiltration in B cell malignancies. In a mouse model of aggressive lymphoma, where tumor cells rely less on the TME for survival, the co-injection of MSCs with tumor cells induced a marked increase of immune cells including $CD4^+$ T cells, $CD11b^+$ cells, $CD4^+Foxp3^+$ T_{Regs}, and $CD11b^+Ly6C^+Ly6G^-$ MDSCs (256), demonstrating that the CAF secretome can modulate the recruitment and/or polarization of different immune subpopulations. In another model of aggressive lymphoma (Eµ-Myc), T cell zone resident stromal cells were shown to selectively retain CD4⁺ T cells in the TME to support tumor progression *via* CD40L signaling (237).

In FL, where tumor cells strongly depend on TME interactions, stromal-derived IL-6 supports the survival of T-follicular helper (T_{FH}) and T-follicular regulatory (T_{FR}) cells (257). T_{FH} cells, that sustain lymphoma through a number of mechanisms (258), were also shown to establish a feedback loop with stromal cells. IL-4, the predominant cytokine produced by T_{FH}, was shown to trigger production of CXCL12 by FRC-like stromal cells, thus supporting FL tumor cell activation and survival (259). Additionally, FLassociated stroma (BM-MSCs) derived CCL2 and IL-8 were shown to promote the recruitment of monocytes/TAMs and neutrophils respectively, using in vitro assays (253, 260). Once in contact with FL-MSCs, monocytes/TAMs have been demonstrated to acquire an immunosuppressive phenotype with a reduced capacity to respond to pro-inflammatory stimuli such as LPS, while neutrophils supported the inflammatory stromal phenotype. Also in MM, malignant B cells have been shown to induce MSCs to secrete pro-tumor cytokines, as well thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) that activated T_H2-type inflammation in the BM TME resulting in tumor progression (261) (Figure 2B).

Another important mechanism of how stromal cells contribute to an immunosuppressive TME is through the expression of immune checkpoint molecules. Lymphomaderived ECs preferentially express TIM-3. Expression levels of TIM-3 in the B-cell lymphoma endothelium has been correlated with poor prognosis and TIM-3⁺ ECs suppressed the activation of CD4⁺ T cells inhibiting T_H1 polarization in vitro and in vivo (273). In DLBCL, besides its expression on tumor and immune cells described earlier in this review, PD-L1 has also been associated to the non-malignant cellular compartment ("microenvironmental PD-L1" or mPD-L1) (262). Our own work has reported that PD-L1 upregulation on lymphomaeducated stromal cells can dampen TIL cytolytic killing activity against DLBCL tumor cells, highlighting that stromal cells expressing inhibitory ligands can directly modulate anti-tumor immune responses (274).

In addition to expression of immunomodulatory immune checkpoints, both LN and BM-derived stromal cells can adopt a number of other immunosuppressive mechanisms to modulate immune responses (**Figure 2B**). In MM, MSCs exhibit a distinctive gene expression profile compared to healthy MSCs, characterized by the expression of a number of immunoregulatory factors and cytokines including NOS2, IL-10, IL-6 and TGF- β , involved in the generation and activation of MDSCs (263, 264). In FL, MSCs also produce prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) that not only



FIGURE 2 | Stroma cells as key players in regulating immune responses in the TME of B cell malignancies. (A) Tumor cells and tissue-resident stroma (endothelial cells (ECs) and FRCs [fibroblastic reticular cells//MSCs (mesenchymal stromal cells)] engage into complex bidirectional interactions that promote cancer progression while simultaneously altering the stroma cell phenotype which can then further contribute to resistance to therapy. Tumor B cells induce neoangiogensis and the upregulation of adhesion molecules on ECs (243–245, 248, 252). Similarly, lymphoma cells through cell-to-cell contact interactions, secretion of soluble factors and extracellular vesicles (EVs) promote the activation of FRCs and MSCs that contribute to increased tumor survival and neoangiogensis (135, 253–255). (B) Unlike solid tumors the investigation of the immunosuppressive roles of stroma cells in the lymphoma TME is still in its infancy. Stromal cells play a crucial role in spatial organization of the TME as they can retain immunoregulatory cells and possibly actively exclude anti-tumor effector cell populations (237, 253, 256–261). Additionally, lymphoma ECs and FRCs upregulate immune checkpoints such as TIM-3 and PD-L1 (261, 262) and secrete immunoregulatory factors such as IDO and IL-10 that block T cell proliferation, while activating immunosuppressive cells (263–266). FRCs have been also found to drive the survival of pro-tumoral immune subsets such as T_{FH} , T_{H2} and TAMs (257–260). (*Created with Biorender.com*).

promotes neutrophil survival, but can have additional effect on other immune subpopulations (260). In physiological conditions, MSCs and LN-fibroblasts produce IDO to keep activated immune responses in check by inhibiting T cell proliferation, a mechanism also described in solid tumors (265). In FL, MSCs-derived IDO was also shown to repress not only T cell proliferation, but also the pro-lymphoma activity of stromal cells, highlighting the complex effects of cytokines in the TME (266). Clearly, our understanding of the immunomodulatory function of the different stromal cell populations that reside within lymphoma TMEs is still in its

infancy. However, it is becoming clear that different nonhemopoietic cells within lymphoid TMEs can alter the recruitment, polarization and function of immune cells, suggesting that the tumor stroma may also influence immune responses elicited by current immunotherapy.

IMMUNE AND STROMA TARGETED IMMUNOTHERAPY TO ACTIVATE ANTI-LYMPHOMA ACTIVITY

A number of studies have shown that the TME can interfere with clinical response to tumor-targeting therapy *via* different mechanisms. Reduced macrophage infiltration in the BM of ALL mice limits the response to anti-CD20 antibodies (alemtuzumab) (275), while adhesion to BM-derived stromal cells provides protection to CLL cells from rituximab-induced apoptosis (276). On the other side, tumor-targeting drugs can have indirect effects on the TME that may boost clinical responses. In CLL, there is evidence that ibrutinib treatment alleviates T cell exhaustion (277), while chemotherapy-induced cancer cell death promotes the exposure of tumor neoantigens and could re-invigorate anti-tumor immune responses (278). Understanding how the TME is shaped by currently available treatments can help to understand resistance mechanisms and to design combination therapies to boost clinical responses.

The immuno-oncology era has introduced a vast array of drugs designed to engage and promote innate and adaptive immune responses within the TME. Thus, lymphoma therapy is changing dramatically with the introduction of several new therapeutic approaches, including the use of checkpoint inhibitors (3). However, as described here, only a subset of patients achieve long-lasting responses to anti-PD-1 monotherapy even if they harbor inflamed TMEs. This clinical experience, together with the lack of clinical activity of anti-PD-1 in NHL (108) and CLL (5), has highlighted the need to incorporate checkpoint blockade therapies into more powerful combinations to unleash the power of anti-tumor immune cells, with potential therapeutic partners including CELMoDs and immunomodulatory drugs, CAR T cells and bispecific antibodies (**Figure 3**).

As discussed earlier, there is substantial evidence demonstrating that type I and II IFN signaling is required within TMEs to prevent development of an immunosuppressive state (37, 49). Recent work by our group has demonstrated that the CELMoD avadomide can induce type I and II IFN signaling in the T cell compartment that sensitizes CLL to anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 checkpoint blockers (67). Avadomide was shown to trigger a feedforward cascade of reinvigorated T cell responses, as well as IFN-inducible feedback inhibition through upregulation of PD-L1. Patient-derived xenograft tumor models revealed that inducing IFN-driven T cell responses with avadomide could convert noninflamed CLL tumors into CD8⁺ T cell-inflamed TMEs that responded to anti-PD-L1/PD-1-based combination therapy. This pre-clinical study provides encouraging proof of concept that inducing inflammatory IFN type I and II signaling in patient T cells can successfully re-shape anti-tumor T cell responses and sensitize CLL to immunotherapy (67).

The re-activation of autologous anti-tumor immune responses has been also demonstrated in a number of different hematological malignancies by using "off the shelf" bispecific T cell engager (BiTE) antibodies. This dual binding of both neoplastic cells and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is providing an attractive therapeutic approach for B cell malignancies (279). Blinatumumab, a BiTE with dual specificity for CD3 and CD19, has shown activity in ALL and in different NHL, and has been approved by FDA in 2014 (280). However, due to its short halflife, Blinatumumab requires continuous infusion for weeks, causing patients discomfort. Moreover, the occurrence of different resistance mechanisms described for ALL patients (effector T cell exhaustion/dysfunction and expansion of T_{Regs}), prompted the optimization and testing of alternative BiTE drugs in recent years [reviewed in (288)]. Among them, the T cell bispecific (TCB) antibody drug CD20-TCB (RG6026), with its 2:1 CD20-CD3 binding format, has shown superior potency in T cell activation and increased half-life in pre-clinical settings (281). CD20-TCB can be efficiently combined with the bispecific antibody fusion protein CD19-4-1BBL, that provides co-stimulatory signals to tumor-engaged immune cells (T cells or NK cells) and this combination immunotherapy has been shown to promote intratumoral TILs accumulation and increased antitumor efficacy in preclinical models of NHL (282). These preclinical results suggest that combination immunotherapy may achieve better clinical responses and overcome immune suppression in the TME. Currently, BiTEs and CD20 TCBs, including RG6026, are being evaluated in B cell malignancy patients with activity detected.

CD19-directed CAR-T cells have shown remarkable efficiency in the treatment of ALL and aggressive NHL (283, 289, 290) and, along the same line, new CD19-CAR-NK cells are showing effective anti-tumor activity with minor side effects (291). Indeed, CAR-T cell therapy has been the first FDA-approved cellular therapy in lymphoma [covered in a recent review (4)]. Despite this clinical success, emerging data is showing that durable responses induced by CAR Ts are seen in only a subset of patients and their anti-tumor activity depends on the persistence of CARs (181). While peripheral blood analysis of treated patients has shown that CAR-T concentrations peak at 14 days post-infusion (292), recent data has demonstrated that only a minimal amount of CAR-T cells infiltrate TME tissue at 5 days post-infusion, and that virtually no CAR-Ts were present in the TME 10 days following infusion (104). These results support the concept that the stroma-rich TME may contain ill-defined immunosuppressive mechanisms that interfere with the effective trafficking and optimal activation of anti-tumor immune cells using current immunotherapies.

Combining immunotherapy with drugs that target stromal cells is an attractive, next-generation treatment strategy. Different approaches can be adopted to target stromal cells in cancer including the direct targeting of fibroblasts/ECs or their associated proteins, activated signaling pathways or secreted factors. The majority of studies to date targeting tumor stroma



tumor regression (284). Tumor stroma can also be 'normalized' by blocking or neutralizing cancer-secreted factors that promote stromal cell activation (Endostatin, Imatinib, anti-TGF*f*) (285–287). Moreover, the presence of cancer-stroma-specific proteins can be used to activate tissue resident anti-tumor T cells using stromaspecific/T cells co-stimulatory fusion proteins (FAP-4-1BBL) (282). (*Created with Biorender.com*). have used solid cancer models, establishing a strong rationale for developing therapies for hematological malignancies. A strong case in point is fibroblast activating protein (FAP), a cell-surface mice was shown to delay tumor growth (285). Imatinib

case in point is fibroblast activating protein (FAP), a cell-surface serine protease which is expressed at high levels on tumor stroma and has been considered a suitable therapeutic candidate on CAFs for some time. Several FAP-specific pharmacological approaches (vaccines, CAR-T cells) designed to selectively target CAFs, were shown to induce tumor regression in different murine models (284). However, depletion of FAP⁺ fibroblasts has been shown to cause profound systemic immune-mediated toxicity, indicating their importance not only in cancer but also in physiological tissue functions (293). This example suggests that caution should be taken in considering direct elimination of stromal cells forming the TME given their critical functions in tissue architecture and immune homeostasis. Therefore, therapies designed to 'normalize' or 're-educate' aberrant stromal cells by targeting or overcoming their pro-tumor, immune evasive pathways could be more clinically relevant (Figure 3).

To this direction, stromal cell normalization can be achieved by directly blocking or neutralizing cancer-secreted factors that promote stromal cell activation. To date, in lymphoma this approach has been exploited through the use of endostatin, an endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis which inhibits matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) activity and blocks VEGF binding to VEGFR-2. Administration of endostatin in lymphoma-bearing mice was shown to delay tumor growth (285). Imatinib, a PDGFR β inhibitor, has also been shown to disrupt lymphoma angiogenesis by targeting vascular pericytes (286). Moreover, as PDGFR ligation also has a role in promoting fibroblast activation, the use of specific inhibitors can also affect fibroblast differentiation and function in the TME. As described above, TGF β , TNF α and LT are all master regulators of immunosuppressive fibroblast function in hematological malignancies, and the use of neutralizing antibodies against these molecules could provide an interesting approach for stroma normalization, as already demonstrated in solid tumors (294). Combined blockade of TGF β and anti-PD-1 in MM has been shown to promote antitumor T cell activation and proliferation, indicating that targeting the different immunosuppressive pathways occurring in the TME can reactivate endogenous anti-tumor immune responses and favor tumor clearance (287).

In conclusion, understanding the functional role of stroma and its specific features will help to design new combination immunotherapies to improve clinical responses. An example of effective immune-stroma dual targeting therapy comes from recent work from Claus and colleagues in solid tumors (282), where the combination of tumor antigen-TCB (CEA-TCB) with a stroma-specific/T cell co-stimulatory fusion protein (FAP-4-1BBL) promoted tumor remission and accumulation of activated $CD8^+$ in the TME (**Figure 3**).

CONCLUSIONS

Immunotherapy has revolutionized cancer treatment, achieving significant responses in patients with B cell malignancies, although sensitivity and resistance remain major challenges. Despite the extreme inflamed *vs* non-inflamed classification of immune TMEs, most B cell malignancies and their subtypes show a high degree of heterogeneity that likely influences responses to immunotherapy. For this reason, it is crucial for further research

REFERENCES

- 1. Weinstock DM, Dalla-Favera R, Gascoyne RD, Leonard JP, Levy R, Lossos IS, et al. A roadmap for discovery and translation in lymphoma. *Blood* (2015) 125(13):2175–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-01-623777
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Science (2018) 359(6382):1350–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar4060
- Kline J, Godfrey J, Ansell SM. The immune landscape and response to immune checkpoint blockade therapy in lymphoma. *Blood* (2020) 135 (8):523–33. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000847
- Ansell SM, Lin Y. Immunotherapy of lymphomas. J Clin Invest (2020) 130 (4):1576–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI129206
- Ding W, LaPlant BR, Call TG, Parikh SA, Leis JF, He R, et al. Pembrolizumab in patients with CLL and Richter transformation or with relapsed CLL. *Blood* (2017) 129(26):3419–27. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-02-765685
- Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple inhibitory ligands induce impaired T-cell immunologic synapse function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia that can be blocked with lenalidomide: establishing a reversible immune evasion mechanism in human cancer. *Blood* (2012) 120 (7):1412–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-411678
- Brusa D, Serra S, Coscia M, Rossi D, D'Arena G, Laurenti L, et al. The PD-1/PD-L1 axis contributes to T-cell dysfunction in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Haematologica* (2013) 98(6):953–63. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2012.077537
- de Visser KE, Eichten A, Coussens LM. Paradoxical roles of the immune system during cancer development. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2006) 6(1):24–37. doi: 10.1038/nrc1782
- O'Donnell JS, Teng MWL, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting and resistance to T cell-based immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol* (2019) 16(3):151–67. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0142-8
- Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases–elimination, equilibrium and escape. Curr Opin Immunol (2014) 27:16–25. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.01.004
- Teng MW, Galon J, Fridman WH, Smyth MJ. From mice to humans: developments in cancer immunoediting. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(9):3338– 46. doi: 10.1172/JCI80004
- Scott DW, Gascoyne RD. The tumour microenvironment in B cell lymphomas. Nat Rev Cancer (2014) 14(8):517–34. doi: 10.1038/nrc3774
- Disis ML. Immune regulation of cancer. J Clin Oncol (2010) 28(29):4531–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.2146
- Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Haabeth OA, Chen B, Swaminathan K, et al. Antigen presentation profiling reveals recognition of lymphoma immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Nature* (2017) 543(7647):723–7. doi: 10.1038/ nature21433
- Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Chen B, Sworder B, Shree T, Liu CL, et al. B-cell lymphomas present immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Blood* (2019) 133(8):878– 81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-06-845156

to fully unravel TME complexity including the major tumor intrinsic and extrinsic drivers of immune composition and spatial organization of immune and stromal cell subsets. Defining how malignant B cells alter both immune and stromal cells, as well as how these reprogrammed cells contribute to the creation of a pro-tumor and immunosuppressive TME will be essential to design next-generation immunotherapies and combination treatment strategies to overcome TME-driven immune suppression and optimize therapy for patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- 16. Kowalewski DJ, Schuster H, Backert L, Berlin C, Kahn S, Kanz L, et al. HLA ligandome analysis identifies the underlying specificities of spontaneous antileukemia immune responses in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(2):E166–75. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1416389112
- Steer HJ, Lake RA, Nowak AK, Robinson BWS. Harnessing the immune response to treat cancer. Oncogene (2010) 29(48):6301–13. doi: 10.1038/ onc.2010.437
- Galon J, Bruni D. Approaches to treat immune hot, altered and cold tumours with combination immunotherapies. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2019) 18(3):197– 218. doi: 10.1038/s41573-018-0007-y
- Shankaran V, Ikeda H, Bruce AT, White JM, Swanson PE, Old LJ, et al. IFNgamma and lymphocytes prevent primary tumour development and shape tumour immunogenicity. *Nature* (2001) 410(6832):1107–11. doi: 10.1038/35074122
- Alspach E, Lussier DM, Schreiber RD. Interferon gamma and Its Important Roles in Promoting and Inhibiting Spontaneous and Therapeutic Cancer Immunity. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2019) 11(3). doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a028480
- Albert ML, Darnell RB. Paraneoplastic neurological degenerations: keys to tumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer (2004) 4(1):36–44. doi: 10.1038/nrc1255
- Smyth MJ, Thia KY, Street SE, MacGregor D, Godfrey DI, Trapani JA. Perforin-mediated cytotoxicity is critical for surveillance of spontaneous lymphoma. J Exp Med (2000) 192(5):755–60. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.5.755
- Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Yazdanparast H, Colomer D, Campo E, Kugler S, et al. Control of chronic lymphocytic leukemia development by clonallyexpanded CD8(+) T-cells that undergo functional exhaustion in secondary lymphoid tissues. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(3):625–37. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0250-6
- Groscurth P, Filgueira L. Killing Mechanisms of Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes. *Physiology* (1998) 13(1):17–21. doi: 10.1152/physiologyonline.1998.13.1.17
- Farhood B, Najafi M, Mortezaee K. CD8(+) cytotoxic T lymphocytes in cancer immunotherapy: A review. J Cell Physiol (2019) 234(6):8509–21. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27782
- Ahrends T, Borst J. The opposing roles of CD4+ T cells in anti-tumour immunity. *Immunology* (2018) 154(4):582–92. doi: 10.1111/imm.12941
- 27. Wang J, Ke X-Y. The Four types of Tregs in malignant lymphomas. *J Hematol Oncol* (2011) 4(1):50. doi: 10.1186/1756-8722-4-50
- Bagnara D, Kaufman MS, Calissano C, Marsilio S, Patten PEM, Simone R, et al. A novel adoptive transfer model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia suggests a key role for T lymphocytes in the disease. *Blood* (2011) 117 (20):5463–72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-12-324210
- Lad DP, Varma S, Varma N, Sachdeva MU, Bose P, Malhotra P. Regulatory T-cells in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: their role in disease progression and autoimmune cytopenias. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2013) 54 (5):1012–9. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2012.728287

- Elston L, Fegan C, Hills R, Hashimdeen SS, Walsby E, Henley P, et al. Increased frequency of CD4(+) PD-1(+) HLA-DR(+) T cells is associated with disease progression in CLL. *Br J Haematol* (2020) 188(6):872–80. doi: 10.1111/bjh.16260
- Kocher T, Asslaber D, Zaborsky N, Flenady S, Denk U, Reinthaler P, et al. CD4+ T cells, but not non-classical monocytes, are dispensable for the development of chronic lymphocytic leukemia in the TCL1-tg murine model. *Leukemia* (2016) 30(6):1409–13. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.307
- 32. Quezada SA, Simpson TR, Peggs KS, Merghoub T, Vider J, Fan X, et al. Tumor-reactive CD4(+) T cells develop cytotoxic activity and eradicate large established melanoma after transfer into lymphopenic hosts. J Exp Med (2010) 207(3):637–50. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091918
- Xia A, Zhang Y, Xu J, Yin T, Lu X-J. T Cell Dysfunction in Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1719–. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01719
- Wherry EJ, Kurachi M. Molecular and cellular insights into T cell exhaustion. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(8):486–99. doi: 10.1038/nri3862
- 35. Kaplan DH, Shankaran V, Dighe AS, Stockert E, Aguet M, Old LJ, et al. Demonstration of an interferon gamma-dependent tumor surveillance system in immunocompetent mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1998) 95 (13):7556–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.13.7556
- Street SE, Cretney E, Smyth MJ. Perforin and interferon-gamma activities independently control tumor initiation, growth, and metastasis. *Blood* (2001) 97(1):192–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.1.192
- Dunn GP, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6(11):836–48. doi: 10.1038/ nri1961
- Parker BS, Rautela J, Hertzog PJ. Antitumour actions of interferons: implications for cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2016) 16(3):131–44. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.14
- Ivashkiv LB. IFNgamma: signalling, epigenetics and roles in immunity, metabolism, disease and cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2018) 18(9):545–58. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0029-z
- Propper DJ, Chao D, Braybrooke JP, Bahl P, Thavasu P, Balkwill F, et al. Low-dose IFN-gamma induces tumor MHC expression in metastatic malignant melanoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2003) 9(1):84–92.
- 41. Boyer CM, Dawson DV, Neal SE, Winchell LF, Leslie DS, Ring D, et al. Differential induction by interferons of major histocompatibility complexencoded and non-major histocompatibility complex-encoded antigens in human breast and ovarian carcinoma cell lines. *Cancer Res* (1989) 49 (11):2928–34.
- Koebel CM, Vermi W, Swann JB, Zerafa N, Rodig SJ, Old LJ, et al. Adaptive immunity maintains occult cancer in an equilibrium state. *Nature* (2007) 450(7171):903–7. doi: 10.1038/nature06309
- Haabeth OA, Lorvik KB, Hammarstrom C, Donaldson IM, Haraldsen G, Bogen B, et al. Inflammation driven by tumour-specific Th1 cells protects against B-cell cancer. *Nat Commun* (2011) 2:240. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1239
- 44. Godfrey J, Tumuluru S, Bao R, Leukam M, Venkataraman G, Phillip J, et al. PD-L1 gene alterations identify a subset of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma harboring a T-cell-inflamed phenotype. *Blood* (2019) 133(21):2279–90. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-10-879015
- Jones EA, Pringle JH, Angel CA, Rees RC. Th1/Th2 cytokine expression and its relationship with tumor growth in B cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL). Leuk Lymphoma (2002) 43(6):1313–21. doi: 10.1080/ 10428190290026385
- 46. Monti S, Savage KJ, Kutok JL, Feuerhake F, Kurtin P, Mihm M, et al. Molecular profiling of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma identifies robust subtypes including one characterized by host inflammatory response. *Blood* (2005) 105(5):1851–61. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-07-2947
- Mori T, Takada R, Watanabe R, Okamoto S, Ikeda Y. T-helper (Th)1/Th2 imbalance in patients with previously untreated B-cell diffuse large cell lymphoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2001) 50(10):566–8. doi: 10.1007/s00262-001-0232-8
- Aue G, Sun C, Liu D, Park JH, Pittaluga S, Tian X, et al. Activation of Th1 Immunity within the Tumor Microenvironment Is Associated with Clinical Response to Lenalidomide in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *J Immunol* (2018) 201(7):1967–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800570

- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(7):405–14. doi: 10.1038/ nri3845
- Kim R, Emi M, Tanabe K. Cancer immunoediting from immune surveillance to immune escape. *Immunology* (2007) 121(1):1–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02587.x
- Musella M, Manic G, De Maria R, Vitale I, Sistigu A. Type-I-interferons in infection and cancer: Unanticipated dynamics with therapeutic implications. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 6(5):e1314424–e. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1314424
- Sangfelt, Strander H. Apoptosis and cell growth inhibition as antitumor effector functions of interferons. *Med Oncol* (2001) 18(1):3–14. doi: 10.1385/ MO:18:1:3
- Thyrell L, Erickson S, Zhivotovsky B, Pokrovskaja K, Sangfelt O, Castro J, et al. Mechanisms of Interferon-alpha induced apoptosis in malignant cells. *Oncogene* (2002) 21(8):1251–62. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1205179
- Dunn IS, Haggerty TJ, Kono M, Durda PJ, Butera D, Macdonald DB, et al. Enhancement of human melanoma antigen expression by IFN-beta. *J Immunol* (2007) 179(4):2134–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.4.2134
- 55. Lanza L, Peirano L, Bosco O, Contini P, Filaci G, Setti M, et al. Interferons up-regulate with different potency HLA class I antigen expression in M14 human melanoma cell line. Possible interaction with glucocorticoid hormones. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (1995) 41(1):23–8. doi: 10.1007/ BF01788956
- Dunn GP, Bruce AT, Sheehan KC, Shankaran V, Uppaluri R, Bui JD, et al. A critical function for type I interferons in cancer immunoediting. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(7):722–9. doi: 10.1038/ni1213
- Fuertes MB, Kacha AK, Kline J, Woo SR, Kranz DM, Murphy KM, et al. Host type I IFN signals are required for antitumor CD8+ T cell responses through CD8{alpha}+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med (2011) 208(10):2005–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101159
- Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. *J Exp Med* (2011) 208 (10):1989–2003. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101158
- 59. Guillot B, Portales P, Thanh AD, Merlet S, Dereure O, Clot J, et al. The expression of cytotoxic mediators is altered in mononuclear cells of patients with melanoma and increased by interferon-alpha treatment. *Br J Dermatol* (2005) 152(4):690–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.06512.x
- Katlinski KV, Gui J, Katlinskaya YV, Ortiz A, Chakraborty R, Bhattacharya S, et al. Inactivation of Interferon Receptor Promotes the Establishment of Immune Privileged Tumor Microenvironment. *Cancer Cell* (2017) 31 (2):194–207. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.01.004
- Bacher N, Raker V, Hofmann C, Graulich E, Schwenk M, Baumgrass R, et al. Interferon-alpha suppresses cAMP to disarm human regulatory T cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(18):5647–56. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3788
- Zoglmeier C, Bauer H, Noerenberg D, Wedekind G, Bittner P, Sandholzer N, et al. CpG blocks immunosuppression by myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *Clin Cancer Res* (2011) 17(7):1765–75. doi: 10.1158/ 1078-0432.CCR-10-2672
- Gresser I, Maury C, Brouty-Boyé D. Mechanism of the antitumour effect of interferon in mice. *Nature* (1972) 239(5368):167–8. doi: 10.1038/239167a0
- Hagner PR, Man HW, Fontanillo C, Wang M, Couto S, Breider M, et al. CC-122, a pleiotropic pathway modifier, mimics an interferon response and has antitumor activity in DLBCL. *Blood* (2015) 126(6):779–89. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2015-02-628669
- 65. Yang Y, Shaffer AL,3, Emre NC, Ceribelli M, Zhang M, Wright G, et al. Exploiting synthetic lethality for the therapy of ABC diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Cancer Cell* (2012) 21(6):723–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.05.024
- Kater AP, Tonino SH, Egle A, Ramsay AG. How does lenalidomide target the chronic lymphocytic leukemia microenvironment? *Blood* (2014) 124 (14):2184–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-05-578286
- Ioannou N, Hagner PR, Stokes M, Gandhi AK, Apollonio B, Fanous M, et al. Triggering interferon signaling in T cells with avadomide sensitizes CLL to anti-PD-L1/PD-1 immunotherapy. *Blood* (2020). doi: 10.1182/ blood.2020006073
- 68. Xuan C, Steward KK, Timmerman JM, Morrison SL. Targeted delivery of interferon-alpha via fusion to anti-CD20 results in potent antitumor activity

against B-cell lymphoma. Blood (2010) 115(14):2864-71. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2009-10-250555

- 69. Yang X, Zhang X, Fu ML, Weichselbaum RR, Gajewski TF, Guo Y, et al. Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment with Interferon-β Bridges Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses. *Cancer Cell* (2014) 25(1):37–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.12.004
- Zhang L, Tai Y-T, Ho MZG, Qiu L, Anderson KC. Interferon-alpha-based immunotherapies in the treatment of B cell-derived hematologic neoplasms in today's treat-to-target era. *Exp Hematol Oncol* (2017) 6(1):20. doi: 10.1186/s40164-017-0081-6
- 71. Jewell AP, Worman CP, Lydyard PM, Yong KL, Giles FJ, Goldstone AH. Interferon-alpha up-regulates bcl-2 expression and protects B-CLL cells from apoptosis in vitro and in vivo. *Br J Haematol* (1994) 88(2):268–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1994.tb05017.x
- Tomic J, Lichty B, Spaner DE. Aberrant interferon-signaling is associated with aggressive chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2011) 117(9):2668– 80. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-285999
- Ngo VN, Young RM, Schmitz R, Jhavar S, Xiao W, Lim K-H, et al. Oncogenically active MYD88 mutations in human lymphoma. *Nature* (2011) 470(7332):115–9. doi: 10.1038/nature09671
- Buschle M, Campana D, Carding SR, Richard C, Hoffbrand AV, Brenner MK. Interferon gamma inhibits apoptotic cell death in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Exp Med (1993) 177(1):213–8. doi: 10.1084/ jem.177.1.213
- 75. Herishanu Y, Perez-Galan P, Liu D, Biancotto A, Pittaluga S, Vire B, et al. The lymph node microenvironment promotes B-cell receptor signaling, NFkappaB activation, and tumor proliferation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2011) 117(2):563–74. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-284984
- Critchley-Thorne RJ, Simons DL, Yan N, Miyahira AK, Dirbas FM, Johnson DL, et al. Impaired interferon signaling is a common immune defect in human cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(22):9010–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901329106
- Mlecnik B, Tosolini M, Kirilovsky A, Berger A, Bindea G, Meatchi T, et al. Histopathologic-based prognostic factors of colorectal cancers are associated with the state of the local immune reaction. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) 29(6):610–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.30.5425
- Galon J, Costes A, Sanchez-Cabo F, Kirilovsky A, Mlecnik B, Lagorce-Pagès C, et al. Type, Density, and Location of Immune Cells Within Human Colorectal Tumors Predict Clinical Outcome. *Science* (2006) 313 (5795):1960–4. doi: 10.1126/science.1129139
- Jacquelot N, Roberti MP, Enot DP, Rusakiewicz S, Semeraro M, Jégou S, et al. Immunophenotyping of Stage III Melanoma Reveals Parameters Associated with Patient Prognosis. J Invest Dermatol (2016) 136(5):994– 1001. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2015.12.042
- Rådestad E, Klynning C, Stikvoort A, Mogensen O, Nava S, Magalhaes I, et al. Immune profiling and identification of prognostic immune-related risk factors in human ovarian cancer. *OncoImmunology* (2019) 8(2):e1535730. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1535730
- 81. Pages F, Mlecnik B, Marliot F, Bindea G, Ou FS, Bifulco C, et al. International validation of the consensus Immunoscore for the classification of colon cancer: a prognostic and accuracy study. *Lancet* (2018) 391(10135):2128–39. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30789-X
- Galon J, Mlecnik B, Bindea G, Angell HK, Berger A, Lagorce C, et al. Towards the introduction of the 'Immunoscore' in the classification of malignant tumours. J Pathol (2014) 232(2):199–209. doi: 10.1002/path.4287
- Ayers M, Lunceford J, Nebozhyn M, Murphy E, Loboda A, Kaufman DR, et al. IFN-gamma-related mRNA profile predicts clinical response to PD-1 blockade. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(8):2930–40. doi: 10.1172/JCI91190
- Trujillo JA, Sweis RF, Bao R, Luke JJ. T Cell-Inflamed versus Non-T Cell-Inflamed Tumors: A Conceptual Framework for Cancer Immunotherapy Drug Development and Combination Therapy Selection. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6(9):990–1000. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0277
- Gajewski TF. The Next Hurdle in Cancer Immunotherapy: Overcoming the Non-T-Cell-Inflamed Tumor Microenvironment. *Semin Oncol* (2015) 42 (4):663–71. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.05.011
- 86. Pourgheysari B, Bruton R, Parry H, Billingham L, Fegan C, Murray J, et al. The number of cytomegalovirus-specific CD4+ T cells is markedly expanded in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and determines the

total CD4+ T-cell repertoire. *Blood* (2010) 116(16):2968-74. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2009-12-257147

- Keane C, Gould C, Jones K, Hamm D, Talaulikar D, Ellis J, et al. The T-cell Receptor Repertoire Influences the Tumor Microenvironment and Is Associated with Survival in Aggressive B-cell Lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2017) 23(7):1820–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1576
- Bruni D, Angell HK, Galon J. The immune contexture and Immunoscore in cancer prognosis and therapeutic efficacy. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-0285-7
- Fehrenbacher L, Spira A, Ballinger M, Kowanetz M, Vansteenkiste J, Mazieres J, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel for patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (POPLAR): a multicentre, open-label, phase 2 randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2016) 387 (10030):1837–46. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00587-0
- Cristescu R, Mogg R, Ayers M, Albright A, Murphy E, Yearley J, et al. Pantumor genomic biomarkers for PD-1 checkpoint blockade-based immunotherapy. *Science* (2018) 362(6411). doi: 10.1126/science.aar3593
- Grasso CS, Tsoi J, Onyshchenko M, Abril-Rodriguez G, Ross-Macdonald P, Wind-Rotolo M, et al. Conserved Interferon-γ Signaling Drives Clinical Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy in Melanoma. *Cancer Cell* (2020) 38(4):500–15.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2020.08.005
- Fife BT, Guleria I, Gubbels Bupp M, Eagar TN, Tang Q, Bour-Jordan H, et al. Insulin-induced remission in new-onset NOD mice is maintained by the PD-1-PD-L1 pathway. J Exp Med (2006) 203(12):2737–47. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20061577
- Wei SC, Levine JH, Cogdill AP, Zhao Y, Anang N-AAS, Andrews MC, et al. Distinct Cellular Mechanisms Underlie Anti-CTLA-4 and Anti-PD-1 Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* (2017) 170(6):1120–33.e17. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2017.07.024
- Krieg C, Nowicka M, Guglietta S, Schindler S, Hartmann FJ, Weber LM, et al. High-dimensional single-cell analysis predicts response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(2):144–53. doi: 10.1038/nm.4466
- Wienand K, Chapuy B, Stewart C, Dunford AJ, Wu D, Kim J, et al. Genomic analyses of flow-sorted Hodgkin Reed-Sternberg cells reveal complementary mechanisms of immune evasion. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3(23):4065–80. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019001012
- Cader FZ, Schackmann RCJ, Hu X, Wienand K, Redd R, Chapuy B, et al. Mass cytometry of Hodgkin lymphoma reveals a CD4(+) regulatory T-cellrich and exhausted T-effector microenvironment. *Blood* (2018) 132(8):825– 36. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-04-843714
- Greaves P, Clear A, Owen A, Iqbal S, Lee A, Matthews J, et al. Defining characteristics of classical Hodgkin lymphoma microenvironment T-helper cells. *Blood* (2013) 122(16):2856–63. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-06-508044
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Combining cancer immunotherapy and targeted therapy. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2013) 25(2):291–6. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2013.02.011
- 99. Cader FZ, Hu X, Goh WL, Wienand K, Ouyang J, Mandato E, et al. A peripheral immune signature of responsiveness to PD-1 blockade in patients with classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *Nat Med* (2020) 26(9):1468–79. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1006-1
- 100. Lindqvist CA, Christiansson LH, Thorn I, Mangsbo S, Paul-Wetterberg G, Sundstrom C, et al. Both CD4+ FoxP3+ and CD4+ FoxP3- T cells from patients with B-cell malignancy express cytolytic markers and kill autologous leukaemic B cells in vitro. *Immunology* (2011) 133(3):296–306. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2567.2011.03439.x
- 101. Porakishvili N, Roschupkina T, Kalber T, Jewell AP, Patterson K, Yong K, et al. Expansion of CD4+ T cells with a cytotoxic phenotype in patients with B-chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (B-CLL). *Clin Exp Immunol* (2001) 126 (1):29–36. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2001.01639.x
- 102. Yang ZZ, Kim HJ, Villasboas JC, Chen YP, Price-Troska T, Jalali S, et al. Expression of LAG-3 defines exhaustion of intratumoral PD-1(+) T cells and correlates with poor outcome in follicular lymphoma. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8 (37):61425–39. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.18251
- 103. Spranger S, Dai D, Horton B, Gajewski TF. Tumor-Residing Batf3 Dendritic Cells Are Required for Effector T Cell Trafficking and Adoptive T Cell Therapy. *Cancer Cell* (2017) 31(5):711–23 e4. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.04.003
- 104. Chen PH, Lipschitz M, Weirather JL, Jacobson C, Armand P, Wright K, et al. Activation of CAR and non-CAR T cells within the tumor

microenvironment following CAR T cell therapy. JCI Insight (2020) 5(12). doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.134612

- 105. Carpio C, Bouabdallah R, Ysebaert L, Sancho JM, Salles G, Cordoba R, et al. Avadomide monotherapy in relapsed/refractory DLBCL: safety, efficacy, and a predictive gene classifier. *Blood* (2020) 135(13):996–1007. doi: 10.1182/ blood.2019002395
- 106. Dave SS, Wright G, Tan B, Rosenwald A, Gascoyne RD, Chan WC, et al. Prediction of survival in follicular lymphoma based on molecular features of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. N Engl J Med (2004) 351(21):2159–69. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa041869
- 107. Byers RJ, Sakhinia E, Joseph P, Glennie C, Hoyland JA, Menasce LP, et al. Clinical quantitation of immune signature in follicular lymphoma by RT-PCR-based gene expression profiling. *Blood* (2008) 111(9):4764–70. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-10-115915
- 108. Ansell SM, Minnema MC, Johnson P, Timmerman JM, Armand P, Shipp MA, et al. Nivolumab for Relapsed/Refractory Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma in Patients Ineligible for or Having Failed Autologous Transplantation: A Single-Arm, Phase II Study. J Clin Oncol (2019) 37 (6):481–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.18.00766
- 109. Xu-Monette ZY, Xiao M, Au Q, Padmanabhan R, Xu B, Hoe N, et al. Immune Profiling and Quantitative Analysis Decipher the Clinical Role of Immune-Checkpoint Expression in the Tumor Immune Microenvironment of DLBCL. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2019) 7(4):644–57. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0439
- 110. Ennishi D, Takata K, Béguelin W, Duns G, Mottok A, Farinha P, et al. Molecular and Genetic Characterization of MHC Deficiency Identifies EZH2 as Therapeutic Target for Enhancing Immune Recognition. *Cancer Discov* (2019) 9(4):546–63. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1090
- 111. Ennishi D, Jiang A, Boyle M, Collinge B, Grande BM, Ben-Neriah S, et al. Double-Hit Gene Expression Signature Defines a Distinct Subgroup of Germinal Center B-Cell-Like Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol (2019) 37(3):190–201. doi: 10.1200/JCO.18.01583
- Zappasodi R, Merghoub T, Wolchok JD. Emerging Concepts for Immune Checkpoint Blockade-Based Combination Therapies. *Cancer Cell* (2018) 33 (4):581–98. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.03.005
- 113. Pitt JM, Vetizou M, Daillere R, Roberti MP, Yamazaki T, Routy B, et al. Resistance Mechanisms to Immune-Checkpoint Blockade in Cancer: Tumor-Intrinsic and -Extrinsic Factors. *Immunity* (2016) 44(6):1255–69. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.06.001
- 114. Kalbasi A, Ribas A. Tumour-intrinsic resistance to immune checkpoint blockade. Nat Rev Immunol (2020) 20(1):25–39. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0218-4
- 115. Reichel J, Chadburn A, Rubinstein PG, Giulino-Roth L, Tam W, Liu Y, et al. Flow sorting and exome sequencing reveal the oncogenome of primary Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells. *Blood* (2015) 125(7):1061–72. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-11-610436
- 116. Riemersma SA, Jordanova ES, Schop RF, Philippo K, Looijenga LH, Schuuring E, et al. Extensive genetic alterations of the HLA region, including homozygous deletions of HLA class II genes in B-cell lymphomas arising in immune-privileged sites. *Blood* (2000) 96(10):3569– 77. doi: 10.1182/blood.V96.10.3569.h8003569_3569_3577
- 117. Challa-Malladi M, Lieu YK, Califano O, Holmes AB, Bhagat G, Murty VV, et al. Combined genetic inactivation of beta2-Microglobulin and CD58 reveals frequent escape from immune recognition in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Cancer Cell* (2011) 20(6):728-40. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccr.2011.11.006
- 118. Roemer MG, Advani RH, Redd RA, Pinkus GS, Natkunam Y, Ligon AH, et al. Classical Hodgkin Lymphoma with Reduced beta2M/MHC Class I Expression Is Associated with Inferior Outcome Independent of 9p24.1 Status. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4(11):910–6. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0201
- 119. Drenou B, Tilanus M, Semana G, Alizadeh M, Birebent B, Grosset JM, et al. Loss of heterozygosity, a frequent but a non-exclusive mechanism responsible for HLA dysregulation in non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Br J Haematol (2004) 127(1):40–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2004.05151.x
- 120. Green MR, Monti S, Rodig SJ, Juszczynski P, Currie T, O'Donnell E, et al. Integrative analysis reveals selective 9p24.1 amplification, increased PD-1 ligand expression, and further induction via JAK2 in nodular sclerosing

Hodgkin lymphoma and primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2010) 116(17):3268–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-282780

- 121. Roemer MG, Advani RH, Ligon AH, Natkunam Y, Redd RA, Homer H, et al. PD-L1 and PD-L2 Genetic Alterations Define Classical Hodgkin Lymphoma and Predict Outcome. *J Clin Oncol* (2016) 34(23):2690–7. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2016.66.4482
- 122. Twa DD, Chan FC, Ben-Neriah S, Woolcock BW, Mottok A, Tan KL, et al. Genomic rearrangements involving programmed death ligands are recurrent in primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2014) 123(13):2062–5. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-10-535443
- 123. Snell LM, McGaha TL, Brooks DG. Type I Interferon in Chronic Virus Infection and Cancer. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38(8):542–57. doi: 10.1016/ j.it.2017.05.005
- 124. Castro F, Cardoso AP, Gonçalves RM, Serre K, Oliveira MJ. Interferon-Gamma at the Crossroads of Tumor Immune Surveillance or Evasion. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9(847). doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00847
- 125. Benci JL, Xu B, Qiu Y, Wu TJ, Dada H, Twyman-Saint Victor C, et al. Tumor Interferon Signaling Regulates a Multigenic Resistance Program to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. *Cell* (2016) 167(6):1540–54.e12. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2016.11.022
- Noy R, Pollard JW. Tumor-associated macrophages: from mechanisms to therapy. *Immunity* (2014) 41(1):49–61. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.010
- 127. Cassetta L, Pollard JW. Targeting macrophages: therapeutic approaches in cancer. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2018) 17(12):887–904. doi: 10.1038/ nrd.2018.169
- 128. Kodumudi KN, Weber A, Sarnaik AA, Pilon-Thomas S. Blockade of myeloid-derived suppressor cells after induction of lymphopenia improves adoptive T cell therapy in a murine model of melanoma. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(11):5147–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200274
- 129. Meyer C, Cagnon L, Costa-Nunes CM, Baumgaertner P, Montandon N, Leyvraz L, et al. Frequencies of circulating MDSC correlate with clinical outcome of melanoma patients treated with ipilimumab. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2014) 63(3):247–57. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1508-5
- Togashi Y, Shitara K, Nishikawa H. Regulatory T cells in cancer immunosuppression - implications for anticancer therapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2019) 16(6):356–71. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0175-7
- 131. Zhang H, Wang Y, Hwang ES, He YW. Interleukin-10: An Immune-Activating Cytokine in Cancer Immunotherapy. J Clin Oncol (2016) 34 (29):3576–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.69.6435
- 132. Fisher DT, Appenheimer MM, Evans SS. The two faces of IL-6 in the tumor microenvironment. Semin Immunol (2014) 26(1):38–47. doi: 10.1016/ j.smim.2014.01.008
- Yang L. TGFbeta, a potent regulator of tumor microenvironment and host immune response, implication for therapy. *Curr Mol Med* (2010) 10(4):374– 80. doi: 10.2174/156652410791317039
- Möller A, Lobb RJ. The evolving translational potential of small extracellular vesicles in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41568-020-00299-w
- 135. Gargiulo E, Morande PE, Largeot A, Moussay E, Paggetti J. Diagnostic and Therapeutic Potential of Extracellular Vesicles in B-Cell Malignancies. *Front* Oncol (2020) 10:580874. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.580874
- 136. Steidl C, Shah SP, Woolcock BW, Rui L, Kawahara M, Farinha P, et al. MHC class II transactivator CIITA is a recurrent gene fusion partner in lymphoid cancers. *Nature* (2011) 471(7338):377–81. doi: 10.1038/nature09754
- 137. Tada K, Maeshima AM, Hiraoka N, Yamauchi N, Maruyama D, Kim S-W, et al. Prognostic significance of HLA class I and II expression in patients with diffuse large B cell lymphoma treated with standard chemoimmunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2016) 65(10):1213–22. doi: 10.1007/s00262-016-1883-9
- 138. Rimsza LM, Roberts RA, Miller TP, Unger JM, LeBlanc M, Braziel RM, et al. Loss of MHC class II gene and protein expression in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma is related to decreased tumor immunosurveillance and poor patient survival regardless of other prognostic factors: a follow-up study from the Leukemia and Lymphoma Molecular Profiling Project. *Blood* (2004) 103 (11):4251–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-07-2365
- Cycon KA, Rimsza LM, Murphy SP. Alterations in CIITA constitute a common mechanism accounting for downregulation of MHC class II expression in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). *Exp Hematol* (2009) 37(2):184–94. doi: 10.1016/j.exphem.2008.10.001

- 140. Tanaka Y, Maeshima AM, Nomoto J, Makita S, Fukuhara S, Munakata W, et al. Expression pattern of PD-L1 and PD-L2 in classical Hodgkin lymphoma, primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma, and gray zone lymphoma. *Eur J Haematol* (2018) 100(5):511–7. doi: 10.1111/ejh.13033
- 141. Kataoka K, Shiraishi Y, Takeda Y, Sakata S, Matsumoto M, Nagano S, et al. Aberrant PD-L1 expression through 3'-UTR disruption in multiple cancers. *Nature* (2016) 534(7607):402–6. doi: 10.1038/nature18294
- 142. Budhwani M, Mazzieri R, Dolcetti R. Plasticity of Type I Interferon-Mediated Responses in Cancer Therapy: From Anti-tumor Immunity to Resistance. Front Oncol (2018) 8:322–. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00322
- 143. Sucker A, Zhao F, Pieper N, Heeke C, Maltaner R, Stadtler N, et al. Acquired IFNγ resistance impairs anti-tumor immunity and gives rise to T-cellresistant melanoma lesions. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:15440. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms15440
- 144. Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Mutations Associated with Acquired Resistance to PD-1 Blockade in Melanoma. N Engl J Med (2016) 375(9):819–29. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1604958
- 145. Shin DS, Zaretsky JM, Escuin-Ordinas H, Garcia-Diaz A, Hu-Lieskovan S, Kalbasi A, et al. Primary Resistance to PD-1 Blockade Mediated by JAK1/2 Mutations. *Cancer Discov* (2017) 7(2):188–201. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-1223
- 146. Gao J, Shi LZ, Zhao H, Chen J, Xiong L, He Q, et al. Loss of IFN-gamma Pathway Genes in Tumor Cells as a Mechanism of Resistance to Anti-CTLA-4 Therapy. *Cell* (2016) 167(2):397–404.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell. 2016.08.069
- 147. Lu L, Zhu F, Zhang M, Li Y, Drennan AC, Kimpara S, et al. Gene regulation and suppression of type I interferon signaling by STAT3 in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2018) 115(3):E498–505. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1715118115
- 148. Asslaber D, Qi Y, Maeding N, Steiner M, Denk U, Hopner JP, et al. B-cellspecific IRF4 deletion accelerates chronic lymphocytic leukemia development by enhanced tumor immune evasion. *Blood* (2019) 134 (20):1717–29. doi: 10.1182/blood.2019000973
- Wellenstein MD, de Visser KE. Cancer-Cell-Intrinsic Mechanisms Shaping the Tumor Immune Landscape. *Immunity* (2018) 48(3):399–416. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.004
- Reddy A, Zhang J, Davis NS, Moffitt AB, Love CL, Waldrop A, et al. Genetic and Functional Drivers of Diffuse Large B Cell Lymphoma. *Cell* (2017) 171 (2):481–94.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.09.027
- 151. Casey SC, Tong L, Li Y, Do R, Walz S, Fitzgerald KN, et al. MYC regulates the antitumor immune response through CD47 and PD-L1. *Science* (2016) 352 (6282):227–31. doi: 10.1126/science.aac9935
- 152. Xu Y, Poggio M, Jin HY, Shi Z, Forester CM, Wang Y, et al. Translation control of the immune checkpoint in cancer and its therapeutic targeting. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(2):301–11. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0321-2
- Filip D, Mraz M. The role of MYC in the transformation and aggressiveness of 'indolent' B-cell malignancies. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2020) 61(3):510–24. doi: 10.1080/10428194.2019.1675877
- 154. Schuster C, Berger A, Hoelzl MA, Putz EM, Frenzel A, Simma O, et al. The cooperating mutation or "second hit" determines the immunologic visibility toward MYC-induced murine lymphomas. *Blood* (2011) 118(17):4635–45. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-10-313098
- Liu WR, Shipp MA. Signaling pathways and immune evasion mechanisms in classical Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2017) 130(21):2265–70. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2017-06-781989
- 156. Feuerhake F, Kutok JL, Monti S, Chen W, LaCasce AS, Cattoretti G, et al. NFkappaB activity, function, and target-gene signatures in primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma subtypes. *Blood* (2005) 106(4):1392–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-12-4901
- 157. Compagno M, Lim WK, Grunn A, Nandula SV, Brahmachary M, Shen Q, et al. Mutations of multiple genes cause deregulation of NF-kappaB in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Nature* (2009) 459(7247):717–21. doi: 10.1038/ nature07968
- 158. Chapuy B, Stewart C, Dunford AJ, Kim J, Kamburov A, Redd RA, et al. Molecular subtypes of diffuse large B cell lymphoma are associated with distinct pathogenic mechanisms and outcomes. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(5):679– 90. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0016-8

- 159. Schmitz R, Wright GW, Huang DW, Johnson CA, Phelan JD, Wang JQ, et al. Genetics and Pathogenesis of Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2018) 378(15):1396–407. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1801445
- 160. Kim JY, Kronbichler A, Eisenhut M, Hong SH, van der Vliet HJ, Kang J, et al. Tumor Mutational Burden and Efficacy of Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11(11). doi: 10.3390/cancers11111798
- 161. Goodman AM, Kato S, Bazhenova L, Patel SP, Frampton GM, Miller V, et al. Tumor Mutational Burden as an Independent Predictor of Response to Immunotherapy in Diverse Cancers. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2017) 16(11):2598– 608. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0386
- 162. Rooney MS, Shukla SA, Wu CJ, Getz G, Hacohen N. Molecular and genetic properties of tumors associated with local immune cytolytic activity. *Cell* (2015) 160(1-2):48–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.12.033
- 163. Bever KM, Le DT. DNA repair defects and implications for immunotherapy. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(10):4236–42. doi: 10.1172/JCI122010
- 164. Chapuy B, Stewart C, Dunford AJ, Kim J, Wienand K, Kamburov A, et al. Genomic analyses of PMBL reveal new drivers and mechanisms of sensitivity to PD-1 blockade. *Blood* (2019) 134(26):2369–82. doi: 10.1182/blood. 2019002067
- 165. de Miranda NFCC, Peng R, Georgiou K, Wu C, Falk Sörqvist E, Berglund M, et al. DNA repair genes are selectively mutated in diffuse large B cell lymphomas. J Exp Med (2013) 210(9):1729–42. doi: 10.1084/jem.20122842
- 166. Volpe G, Gamberi B, Pastore C, Roetto A, Pautasso M, Parvis G, et al. Analysis of microsatellite instability in chronic lymphoproliferative disorders. Ann Hematol (1996) 72(2):67–71. doi: 10.1007/BF00641310
- 167. Schumacher TN, Schreiber RD. Neoantigens in cancer immunotherapy. Science (2015) 348(6230):69–74. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4971
- 168. Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. *Science* (2014) 344(6184):641–5. doi: 10.1126/science. 1251102
- Franchina DG, He F, Brenner D. Survival of the fittest: Cancer challenges T cell metabolism. *Cancer Lett* (2018) 412:216–23. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet. 2017.10.014
- 170. Arruga F, Gyau BB, Iannello A, Vitale N, Vaisitti T, Deaglio S. Immune Response Dysfunction in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Dissecting Molecular Mechanisms and Microenvironmental Conditions. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(5). doi: 10.3390/ijms21051825
- 171. Bottcher M, Baur R, Stoll A, Mackensen A, Mougiakakos D. Linking Immunoevasion and Metabolic Reprogramming in B-Cell-Derived Lymphomas. Front Oncol (2020) 10:594782. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.594782
- 172. Alhakeem SS, McKenna MK, Oben KZ, Noothi SK, Rivas JR, Hildebrandt GC, et al. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia-Derived IL-10 Suppresses Antitumor Immunity. J Immunol (2018) 200(12):4180–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1800241
- 173. Buggins AG, Patten PE, Richards J, Thomas NS, Mufti GJ, Devereux S. Tumor-derived IL-6 may contribute to the immunological defect in CLL. *Leukemia* (2008) 22(5):1084–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2405015
- 174. Smallwood DT, Apollonio B, Willimott S, Lezina L, Alharthi A, Ambrose AR, et al. Extracellular vesicles released by CD40/IL-4-stimulated CLL cells confer altered functional properties to CD4+ T cells. *Blood* (2016) 128 (4):542–52. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-11-682377
- 175. Lotz M, Ranheim E, Kipps TJ. Transforming growth factor beta as endogenous growth inhibitor of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. *J Exp Med* (1994) 179(3):999–1004. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.3.999
- 176. Manna A, Kellett T, Aulakh S, Lewis-Tuffin LJ, Dutta N, Knutson K, et al. Targeting CD38 is lethal to Breg-like chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells and Tregs, but restores CD8+ T-cell responses. *Blood Adv* (2020) 4(10):2143–57. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019001091
- 177. Yang ZZ, Grote DM, Xiu B, Ziesmer SC, Price-Troska TL, Hodge LS, et al. TGF-β upregulates CD70 expression and induces exhaustion of effector memory T cells in B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Leukemia* (2014) 28 (9):1872–84. doi: 10.1038/leu.2014.84
- 178. Koyama S, Akbay EA, Li YY, Herter-Sprie GS, Buczkowski KA, Richards WG, et al. Adaptive resistance to therapeutic PD-1 blockade is associated with upregulation of alternative immune checkpoints. *Nat Commun* (2016) 7:10501. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10501

- 179. Jacquelot N, Yamazaki T, Roberti MP, Duong CPM, Andrews MC, Verlingue L, et al. Sustained Type I interferon signaling as a mechanism of resistance to PD-1 blockade. *Cell Res* (2019) 29(10):846–61. doi: 10.1038/ s41422-019-0224-x
- 180. Wierz M, Pierson S, Guyonnet L, Viry E, Lequeux A, Oudin A, et al. Dual PD1/LAG3 immune checkpoint blockade limits tumor development in a murine model of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2018) 131(14):1617– 21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-792267
- 181. Fraietta JA, Lacey SF, Orlando EJ, Pruteanu-Malinici I, Gohil M, Lundh S, et al. Determinants of response and resistance to CD19 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Nat Med* (2018) 24(5):563–71. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0010-1
- 182. Steidl C, Lee T, Shah SP, Farinha P, Han G, Nayar T, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages and survival in classic Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2010) 362(10):875–85. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0905680
- 183. Cai QC, Liao H, Lin SX, Xia Y, Wang XX, Gao Y, et al. High expression of tumor-infiltrating macrophages correlates with poor prognosis in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Med Oncol* (2012) 29(4):2317–22. doi: 10.1007/s12032-011-0123-6
- 184. Carey CD, Gusenleitner D, Lipschitz M, Roemer MGM, Stack EC, Gjini E, et al. Topological analysis reveals a PD-L1-associated microenvironmental niche for Reed-Sternberg cells in Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2017) 130 (22):2420–30. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-03-770719
- 185. Advani R, Flinn I, Popplewell L, Forero A, Bartlett NL, Ghosh N, et al. CD47 Blockade by Hu5F9-G4 and Rituximab in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2018) 379(18):1711–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1807315
- 186. Jaiswal S, Chao MP, Majeti R, Weissman IL. Macrophages as mediators of tumor immunosurveillance. *Trends Immunol* (2010) 31(6):212–9. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2010.04.001
- 187. Veglia F, Perego M, Gabrilovich D. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells coming of age. Nat Immunol (2018) 19(2):108–19. doi: 10.1038/s41590-017-0022-x
- 188. Betsch A, Rutgeerts O, Fevery S, Sprangers B, Verhoef G, Dierickx D, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in lymphoma: The good, the bad and the ugly. *Blood Rev* (2018) 32(6):490–8. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2018.04.006
- 189. Jitschin R, Braun M, Buttner M, Dettmer-Wilde K, Bricks J, Berger J, et al. CLL-cells induce IDOhi CD14+HLA-DRlo myeloid-derived suppressor cells that inhibit T-cell responses and promote TRegs. *Blood* (2014) 124(5):750– 60. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-12-546416
- Plitas G, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T Cells: Differentiation and Function. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2016) 4(9):721–5. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0193
- 191. Hanna BS, Roessner PM, Scheffold A, Jebaraj BMC, Demerdash Y, Öztürk S, et al. PI3Kδ inhibition modulates regulatory and effector T-cell differentiation and function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Leukemia* (2019) 33(6):1427–38. doi: 10.1038/s41375-018-0318-3
- 192. Palma M, Gentilcore G, Heimersson K, Mozaffari F, Nasman-Glaser B, Young E, et al. T cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia display dysregulated expression of immune checkpoints and activation markers. *Haematologica* (2017) 102(3):562–72. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.151100
- 193. D'Arena G, Laurenti L, Minervini MM, Deaglio S, Bonello L, De Martino L, et al. Regulatory T-cell number is increased in chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients and correlates with progressive disease. *Leuk Res* (2011) 35(3):363–8. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2010.08.010
- 194. de Weerdt I, Hofland T, de Boer R, Dobber JA, Dubois J, van Nieuwenhuize D, et al. Distinct immune composition in lymph node and peripheral blood of CLL patients is reshaped during venetoclax treatment. *Blood Adv* (2019) 3 (17):2642–52. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2019000360
- 195. Kamada T, Togashi Y, Tay C, Ha D, Sasaki A, Nakamura Y, et al. PD-1+ regulatory T cells amplified by PD-1 blockade promote hyperprogression of cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2019) 116(20):9999–10008. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.1822001116
- 196. Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, et al. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells codefines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(9):1695–710. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130579
- 197. Blonska M, Agarwal NK, Vega F. Shaping of the tumor microenvironment: Stromal cells and vessels. *Semin Cancer Biol* (2015) 34:3–13. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2015.03.002

- Lanitis E, Irving M, Coukos G. Targeting the tumor vasculature to enhance T cell activity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2015) 33:55–63. doi: 10.1016/ j.coi.2015.01.011
- 199. von Andrian UH, Mempel TR. Homing and cellular traffic in lymph nodes. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(11):867–78. doi: 10.1038/nri1222
- 200. Carmeliet P, Jain RK. Principles and mechanisms of vessel normalization for cancer and other angiogenic diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2011) 10(6):417–27. doi: 10.1038/nrd3455
- 201. Takahashi M, Ikeda U, Masuyama J, Funayama H, Kano S, Shimada K. Nitric oxide attenuates adhesion molecule expression in human endothelial cells. *Cytokine* (1996) 8(11):817–21. doi: 10.1006/cyto.1996.0109
- 202. Buckanovich RJ, Facciabene A, Kim S, Benencia F, Sasaroli D, Balint K, et al. Endothelin B receptor mediates the endothelial barrier to T cell homing to tumors and disables immune therapy. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(1):28–36. doi: 10.1038/nm1699
- 203. Erez N, Truitt M, Olson P, Arron ST, Hanahan D. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Are Activated in Incipient Neoplasia to Orchestrate Tumor-Promoting Inflammation in an NF-kappaB-Dependent Manner. *Cancer Cell* (2010) 17(2):135–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.041
- 204. Costa A, Kieffer Y, Scholer-Dahirel A, Pelon F, Bourachot B, Cardon M, et al. Fibroblast Heterogeneity and Immunosuppressive Environment in Human Breast Cancer. *Cancer Cell* (2018) 33(3):463–79.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell. 2018.01.011
- 205. Gok Yavuz B, Gunaydin G, Gedik ME, Kosemehmetoglu K, Karakoc D, Ozgur F, et al. Cancer associated fibroblasts sculpt tumour microenvironment by recruiting monocytes and inducing immunosuppressive PD-1(+) TAMs. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):3172. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39553-z
- 206. Cohen N, Shani O, Raz Y, Sharon Y, Hoffman D, Abramovitz L, et al. Fibroblasts drive an immunosuppressive and growth-promoting microenvironment in breast cancer via secretion of Chitinase 3-like 1. Oncogene (2017) 36(31):4457-68. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.65
- 207. Comito G, Giannoni E, Segura CP, Barcellos-de-Souza P, Raspollini MR, Baroni G, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts and M2-polarized macrophages synergize during prostate carcinoma progression. *Oncogene* (2014) 33 (19):2423–31. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.191
- 208. Cheng Y, Li H, Deng Y, Tai Y, Zeng K, Zhang Y, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts induce PDL1+ neutrophils through the IL6-STAT3 pathway that foster immune suppression in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9(4):422. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0458-4
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. *Science* (2015) 348(6230):74–80. doi: 10.1126/science. aaa6204
- 210. Carman CV, Martinelli R. T Lymphocyte-Endothelial Interactions: Emerging Understanding of Trafficking and Antigen-Specific Immunity. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:603. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00603
- 211. Berg M, Wingender G, Djandji D, Hegenbarth S, Momburg F, Hammerling G, et al. Cross-presentation of antigens from apoptotic tumor cells by liver sinusoidal endothelial cells leads to tumor-specific CD8+ T cell tolerance. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36(11):2960–70. doi: 10.1002/eji.200636033
- 212. Bordry N, Broggi MAS, de Jonge K, Schaeuble K, Gannon PO, Foukas PG, et al. Lymphatic vessel density is associated with CD8(+) T cell infiltration and immunosuppressive factors in human melanoma. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7(8):e1462878. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1462878
- Dengler TJ, Pober JS. Human vascular endothelial cells stimulate memory but not naive CD8+ T cells to differentiate into CTL retaining an early activation phenotype. J Immunol (2000) 164(10):5146–55. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.164.10.5146
- 214. Khayyamian S, Hutloff A, Buchner K, Grafe M, Henn V, Kroczek RA, et al. ICOS-ligand, expressed on human endothelial cells, costimulates Th1 and Th2 cytokine secretion by memory CD4+ T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(9):6198–203. doi: 10.1073/pnas.092576699
- Lim WC, Olding M, Healy E, Millar TM. Human Endothelial Cells Modulate CD4(+) T Cell Populations and Enhance Regulatory T Cell Suppressive Capacity. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:565. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00565
- 216. Motz GT, Santoro SP, Wang LP, Garrabrant T, Lastra RR, Hagemann IS, et al. Tumor endothelium FasL establishes a selective immune barrier promoting tolerance in tumors. *Nat Med* (2014) 20(6):607–15. doi: 10.1038/nm.3541

- Dieterich LC, Ikenberg K, Cetintas T, Kapaklikaya K, Hutmacher C, Detmar M. Tumor-Associated Lymphatic Vessels Upregulate PDL1 to Inhibit T-Cell Activation. Front Immunol (2017) 8:66. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00066
- 218. Lane RS, Femel J, Breazeale AP, Loo CP, Thibault G, Kaempf A, et al. IFNgamma-activated dermal lymphatic vessels inhibit cytotoxic T cells in melanoma and inflamed skin. J Exp Med (2018) 215(12):3057–74. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180654
- 219. Nambiar DK, Aguilera T, Cao H, Kwok S, Kong C, Bloomstein J, et al. Galectin-1-driven T cell exclusion in the tumor endothelium promotes immunotherapy resistance. J Clin Invest (2019) 129(12):5553–67. doi: 10.1172/JCI129025
- 220. Rodig N, Ryan T, Allen JA, Pang H, Grabie N, Chernova T, et al. Endothelial expression of PD-L1 and PD-L2 down-regulates CD8+ T cell activation and cytolysis. *Eur J Immunol* (2003) 33(11):3117–26. doi: 10.1002/ eji.200324270
- 221. Gorchs L, Fernandez Moro C, Bankhead P, Kern KP, Sadeak I, Meng Q, et al. Human Pancreatic Carcinoma-Associated Fibroblasts Promote Expression of Co-inhibitory Markers on CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-Cells. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:847. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00847
- 222. Cremasco V, Astarita JL, Grauel AL, Keerthivasan S, MacIsaac K, Woodruff MC, et al. FAP Delineates Heterogeneous and Functionally Divergent Stromal Cells in Immune-Excluded Breast Tumors. *Cancer Immunol Res* (2018) 6(12):1472–85. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0098
- 223. Lakins MA, Ghorani E, Munir H, Martins CP, Shields JD. Cancer-associated fibroblasts induce antigen-specific deletion of CD8 (+) T Cells to protect tumour cells. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):948. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03347-0
- 224. Krishnamurty AT, Turley SJ. Lymph node stromal cells: cartographers of the immune system. Nat Immunol (2020) 21(4):369–80. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0635-3
- 225. Nombela-Arrieta C, Isringhausen S. The Role of the Bone Marrow Stromal Compartment in the Hematopoietic Response to Microbial Infections. Front Immunol (2016) 7:689. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00689
- 226. Vokali E, Yu SS, Hirosue S, Rincon-Restrepo M, VD F, Scherer S, et al. Lymphatic endothelial cells prime naive CD8(+) T cells into memory cells under steady-state conditions. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11(1):538. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-019-14127-9
- 227. Poggi A, Varesano S, Zocchi MR. How to Hit Mesenchymal Stromal Cells and Make the Tumor Microenvironment Immunostimulant Rather Than Immunosuppressive. Front Immunol (2018) 9:262. doi: 10.3389/ fmmu.2018.01342
- Fletcher AL, Acton SE, Knoblich K. Lymph node fibroblastic reticular cells in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2015) 15(6):350–61. doi: 10.1038/ nri3846
- 229. Kadowaki I, Ichinohasama R, Harigae H, Ishizawa K, Okitsu Y, Kameoka J, et al. Accelerated lymphangiogenesis in malignant lymphoma: possible role of VEGF-A and VEGF-C. *Br J Haematol* (2005) 130(6):869–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2005.05695.x
- 230. Vega F, Medeiros LJ, Lang WH, Mansoor A, Bueso-Ramos C, Jones D. The stromal composition of malignant lymphoid aggregates in bone marrow: variations in architecture and phenotype in different B-cell tumours. *Br J Haematol* (2002) 117(3):569–76. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2002.03497.x
- 231. Ruan J, Hyjek E, Kermani P, Christos PJ, Hooper AT, Coleman M, et al. Magnitude of stromal hemangiogenesis correlates with histologic subtype of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12(19):5622–31. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1204
- 232. Ibrahim S, Jilani I, O'Brien S, Rogers A, Manshouri T, Giles F, et al. Clinical relevance of the expression of the CD31 ligand for CD38 in patients with Bcell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer* (2003) 97(8):1914–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.11264
- 233. McCabe D, Bacon L, O'Regan K, Condron C, O'Donnell JR, Murphy PT. CD38 expression on B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemic cells is strongly correlated with vascular endothelial growth factor expression. *Leukemia* (2004) 18(3):649–50. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403282
- 234. Molica S, Vacca A, Ribatti D, Cuneo A, Cavazzini F, Levato D, et al. Prognostic value of enhanced bone marrow angiogenesis in early B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* (2002) 100(9):3344–51. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2002-01-0084

- 235. Yang J, Li W, He X, Zhang G, Yue L, Chai Y. VEGF overexpression is a valuable prognostic factor for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma evidence from a systemic meta-analysis. *Dis Markers* (2015) 2015:786790. doi: 10.1155/2015/ 786790
- 236. Lenz G, Wright G, Dave SS, Xiao W, Powell J, Zhao H, et al. Stromal gene signatures in large-B-cell lymphomas. N Engl J Med (2008) 359(22):2313–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0802885
- 237. Rehm A, Mensen A, Schradi K, Gerlach K, Wittstock S, Winter S, et al. Cooperative function of CCR7 and lymphotoxin in the formation of a lymphoma-permissive niche within murine secondary lymphoid organs. *Blood* (2011) 118(4):1020–33. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-11-321265
- 238. Farinello D, Wozinska M, Lenti E, Genovese L, Bianchessi S, Migliori E, et al. A retinoic acid-dependent stroma-leukemia crosstalk promotes chronic lymphocytic leukemia progression. *Nat Commun* (2018) 9(1):1787. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-04150-7
- 239. Ding W, Knox TR, Tschumper RC, Wu W, Schwager SM, Boysen JC, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)-PDGF receptor interaction activates bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells derived from chronic lymphocytic leukemia: implications for an angiogenic switch. *Blood* (2010) 116(16):2984–93. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-02-269894
- 240. Dubois N, Crompot E, Meuleman N, Bron D, Lagneaux L, Stamatopoulos B. Importance of Crosstalk Between Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells and the Stromal Microenvironment: Direct Contact, Soluble Factors, and Extracellular Vesicles. *Front Oncol* (2020) 10:1422. doi: 10.3389/fonc. 2020.01422
- 241. Passalidou E, Stewart M, Trivella M, Steers G, Pillai G, Dogan A, et al. Vascular patterns in reactive lymphoid tissue and in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Br J Cancer* (2003) 88(4):553–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6600742
- 242. Song G, Li Y, Jiang G. Role of VEGF/VEGFR in the pathogenesis of leukemias and as treatment targets (Review). Oncol Rep (2012) 28 (6):1935–44. doi: 10.3892/or.2012.2045
- 243. Badoux X, Bueso-Ramos C, Harris D, Li P, Liu Z, Burger J, et al. Cross-talk between chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells and bone marrow endothelial cells: role of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. *Hum Pathol* (2011) 42(12):1989–2000. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2011.02.027
- 244. Kay NE, Bone ND, Tschumper RC, Howell KH, Geyer SM, Dewald GW, et al. B-CLL cells are capable of synthesis and secretion of both pro- and antiangiogenic molecules. *Leukemia* (2002) 16(5):911–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu. 2402467
- 245. Buggins AG, Pepper C, Patten PE, Hewamana S, Gohil S, Moorhead J, et al. Interaction with vascular endothelium enhances survival in primary chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells via NF-kappaB activation and de novo gene transcription. *Cancer Res* (2010) 70(19):7523–33. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1634
- 246. Cols M, Barra CM, He B, Puga I, Xu W, Chiu A, et al. Stromal endothelial cells establish a bidirectional crosstalk with chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells through the TNF-related factors BAFF, APRIL, and CD40L. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(12):6071–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102066
- 247. Enzler T, Kater AP, Zhang W, Widhopf GF,2, HY C, Lee J, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia of Emu-TCL1 transgenic mice undergoes rapid cell turnover that can be offset by extrinsic CD257 to accelerate disease progression. *Blood* (2009) 114(20):4469–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-06-230169
- 248. Maffei R, Fiorcari S, Bulgarelli J, Martinelli S, Castelli I, Deaglio S, et al. Physical contact with endothelial cells through beta1- and beta2- integrins rescues chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells from spontaneous and druginduced apoptosis and induces a peculiar gene expression profile in leukemic cells. *Haematologica* (2012) 97(6):952–60. doi: 10.3324/haematol. 2011.054924
- 249. Drusbosky L, Gars E, Trujillo A, McGee C, Meacham A, Wise E, et al. Endothelial cell derived angiocrine support of acute myeloid leukemia targeted by receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition. *Leuk Res* (2015) 39(9):984–9. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2015.05.015
- 250. Pezeshkian B, Donnelly C, Tamburo K, Geddes T, Madlambayan GJ. Leukemia Mediated Endothelial Cell Activation Modulates Leukemia Cell Susceptibility to Chemotherapy through a Positive Feedback Loop Mechanism. *PloS One* (2013) 8(4):e60823. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0060823

- 251. Parameswaran R, Lim M, Fei F, Abdel-Azim H, Arutyunyan A, Schiffer I, et al. Effector-mediated eradication of precursor B acute lymphoblastic leukemia with a novel Fc-engineered monoclonal antibody targeting the BAFF-R. *Mol Cancer Ther* (2014) 13(6):1567–77. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-13-1023
- 252. Qin H, Wei G, Sakamaki I, Dong Z, Cheng WA, Smith DL, et al. Novel BAFF-Receptor Antibody to Natively Folded Recombinant Protein Eliminates Drug-Resistant Human B-cell Malignancies In Vivo. Clin Cancer Res (2018) 24(5):1114–23. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-1193
- 253. Guilloton F, Caron G, Menard C, Pangault C, Ame-Thomas P, Dulong J, et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells orchestrate follicular lymphoma cell niche through the CCL2-dependent recruitment and polarization of monocytes. *Blood* (2012) 119(11):2556–67. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-08-370908
- 254. Heinig K, Gatjen M, Grau M, Stache V, Anagnostopoulos I, Gerlach K, et al. Access to follicular dendritic cells is a pivotal step in murine chronic lymphocytic leukemia B-cell activation and proliferation. *Cancer Discov* (2014) 4(12):1448–65. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-14-0096
- 255. Lutzny G, Kocher T, Schmidt-Supprian M, Rudelius M, Klein-Hitpass L, Finch AJ, et al. Protein kinase c-beta-dependent activation of NF-kappaB in stromal cells is indispensable for the survival of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells in vivo. *Cancer Cell* (2013) 23(1):77–92. doi: 10.1016/ j.ccr.2012.12.003
- 256. Lee MJ, Park SY, Ko JH, Lee HJ, Ryu JS, Park JW, et al. Mesenchymal stromal cells promote B-cell lymphoma in lacrimal glands by inducing immunosuppressive microenvironment. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(39):66281–92. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19971
- 257. Brady MT, Hilchey SP, Hyrien O, Spence SA, Bernstein SH. Mesenchymal stromal cells support the viability and differentiation of follicular lymphomainfiltrating follicular helper T-cells. *PloS One* (2014) 9(5):e97597. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097597
- 258. Ame-Thomas P, Le Priol J, Yssel H, Caron G, Pangault C, Jean R, et al. Characterization of intratumoral follicular helper T cells in follicular lymphoma: role in the survival of malignant B cells. *Leukemia* (2012) 26 (5):1053–63. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.301
- 259. Pandey S, Mourcin F, Marchand T, Nayar S, Guirriec M, Pangault C, et al. IL-4/CXCL12 loop is a key regulator of lymphoid stroma function in follicular lymphoma. *Blood* (2017) 129(18):2507–18. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-08-737239
- 260. Gregoire M, Guilloton F, Pangault C, Mourcin F, Sok P, Latour M, et al. Neutrophils trigger a NF-kappaB dependent polarization of tumorsupportive stromal cells in germinal center B-cell lymphomas. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6(18):16471–87. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4106
- 261. Nakajima S, Fujiwara T, Ohguchi H, Onishi Y, Kamata M, Okitsu Y, et al. Induction of thymic stromal lymphopoietin in mesenchymal stem cells by interaction with myeloma cells. *Leuk Lymphoma* (2014) 55(11):2605–13. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2014.881478
- 262. Kiyasu J, Miyoshi H, Hirata A, Arakawa F, Ichikawa A, Niino D, et al. Expression of programmed cell death ligand 1 is associated with poor overall survival in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2015) 126 (19):2193–201. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-02-629600
- 263. Frassanito MA, Rao L, Moschetta M, Ria R, Di Marzo L, De Luisi A, et al. Bone marrow fibroblasts parallel multiple myeloma progression in patients and mice: in vitro and in vivo studies. *Leukemia* (2014) 28(4):904–16. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.254
- 264. Giallongo C, Tibullo D, Parrinello NL, La Cava P, Di Rosa M, Bramanti V, et al. Granulocyte-like myeloid derived suppressor cells (G-MDSC) are increased in multiple myeloma and are driven by dysfunctional mesenchymal stem cells (MSC). Oncotarget (2016) 7(52):85764–75. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7969
- 265. Gieniec KA, Butler LM, Worthley DL, Woods SL. Cancer-associated fibroblasts-heroes or villains? Br J Cancer (2019) 121(4):293–302. doi: 10.1038/s41416-019-0509-3
- 266. Maby-El Hajjami H, Ame-Thomas P, Pangault C, Tribut O, DeVos J, Jean R, et al. Functional alteration of the lymphoma stromal cell niche by the cytokine context: role of indoleamine-2,3 dioxygenase. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69(7):3228–37. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3000
- 267. Dorsam B, Bosl T, Reiners KS, Barnert S, Schubert R, Shatnyeva O, et al. Hodgkin Lymphoma-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Change the Secretome

of Fibroblasts Toward a CAF Phenotype. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1358. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01358

- 268. Paggetti J, Haderk F, Seiffert M, Janji B, Distler U, Ammerlaan W, et al. Exosomes released by chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce the transition of stromal cells into cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Blood* (2015) 126(9):1106–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-12-618025
- 269. Haderk F, Schulz R, Iskar M, Cid LL, Worst T, Willmund KV, et al. Tumorderived exosomes modulate PD-L1 expression in monocytes. *Sci Immunol* (2017) 2(13). doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aah5509
- Denucci CC, Mitchell JS, Shimizu Y. Integrin function in T-cell homing to lymphoid and nonlymphoid sites: getting there and staying there. *Crit Rev Immunol* (2009) 29(2):87–109. doi: 10.1615/CritRevImmunol.v29.i2.10
- 271. Ramsay AG, Evans R, Kiaii S, Svensson L, Hogg N, Gribben JG. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce defective LFA-1-directed T-cell motility by altering Rho GTPase signaling that is reversible with lenalidomide. *Blood* (2013) 121(14):2704–14. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-08-448332
- 272. Taflin C, Favier B, Baudhuin J, Savenay A, Hemon P, Bensussan A, et al. Human endothelial cells generate Th17 and regulatory T cells under inflammatory conditions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(7):2891–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011811108
- 273. Huang X, Bai X, Cao Y, Wu J, Huang M, Tang D, et al. Lymphoma endothelium preferentially expresses Tim-3 and facilitates the progression of lymphoma by mediating immune evasion. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(3):505– 20. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090397
- 274. Apollonio B JP, Phillips B, Kuhnl A, Salisbury J, Zacharioudakis G, Sutto LA, et al. Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma Remodels the Fibroblastic Reticular Network That Acquires Aberrant Immunosuppressive Capabilities; Implications for the Regulation of Anti-Tumor Immunity in the Immuno-Oncology Era. *Blood* (2018) 132. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-99-116409
- Pallasch CP, Leskov I, Braun CJ, Vorholt D, Drake A, Soto-Feliciano YM, et al. Sensitizing protective tumor microenvironments to antibody-mediated therapy. *Cell* (2014) 156(3):590–602. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.041
- 276. Mraz M, Zent CS, Church AK, Jelinek DF, Wu X, Pospisilova S, et al. Bone marrow stromal cells protect lymphoma B-cells from rituximab-induced apoptosis and targeting integrin alpha-4-beta-1 (VLA-4) with natalizumab can overcome this resistance. *Br J Haematol* (2011) 155(1):53–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08794.x
- 277. Long M, Beckwith K, Do P, Mundy BL, Gordon A, Lehman AM, et al. Ibrutinib treatment improves T cell number and function in CLL patients. *J Clin Invest* (2017) 127(8):3052–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI89756
- Cook KW, Durrant LG, Brentville VA. Current Strategies to Enhance Anti-Tumour Immunity. *Biomedicines* (2018) 6(2). doi: 10.3390/ biomedicines6020037
- Labrijn AF, Janmaat ML, Reichert JM, Parren P. Bispecific antibodies: a mechanistic review of the pipeline. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2019) 18(8):585– 608. doi: 10.1038/s41573-019-0028-1
- 280. Przepiorka D, Ko CW, Deisseroth A, Yancey CL, Candau-Chacon R, Chiu HJ, et al. FDA Approval: Blinatumomab. *Clin Cancer Res* (2015) 21 (18):4035–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0612
- 281. Bacac M, Colombetti S, Herter S, Sam J, Perro M, Chen S, et al. CD20-TCB with Obinutuzumab Pretreatment as Next-Generation Treatment of Hematologic Malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res* (2018) 24(19):4785–97. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0455
- 282. Claus C, Ferrara C, Xu W, Sam J, Lang S, Uhlenbrock F, et al. Tumortargeted 4-1BB agonists for combination with T cell bispecific antibodies as off-the-shelf therapy. *Sci Transl Med* (2019) 11(496). doi: 10.1126/ scitranslmed.aav5989
- 283. Locke FL, Ghobadi A, Jacobson CA, Miklos DB, Lekakis LJ, Oluwole OO, et al. Long-term safety and activity of axicabtagene ciloleucel in refractory large B-cell lymphoma (ZUMA-1): a single-arm, multicentre, phase 1-2 trial. *Lancet Oncol* (2019) 20(1):31–42. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30864-7
- 284. Jiang GM, Xu W, Du J, Zhang KS, Zhang QG, Wang XW, et al. The application of the fibroblast activation protein alpha-targeted immunotherapy strategy. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(22):33472-82. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8098
- 285. Bertolini F, Fusetti L, Mancuso P, Gobbi A, Corsini C, Ferrucci PF, et al. Endostatin, an antiangiogenic drug, induces tumor stabilization after chemotherapy or anti-CD20 therapy in a NOD/SCID mouse model of

human high-grade non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood* (2000) 96(1):282–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V96.1.282.013k09_282_287

- 286. Ruan J, Luo M, Wang C, Fan L, Yang SN, Cardenas M, et al. Imatinib disrupts lymphoma angiogenesis by targeting vascular pericytes. *Blood* (2013) 121(26):5192–202. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-490763
- 287. Kwon M, Kim CG, Lee H, Cho H, Kim Y, Lee EC, et al. PD-1 Blockade Reinvigorates Bone Marrow CD8(+) T Cells from Patients with Multiple Myeloma in the Presence of TGFbeta Inhibitors. *Clin Cancer Res* (2020) 26 (7):1644–55. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-0267
- Velasquez MP, Bonifant CL, Gottschalk S. Redirecting T cells to hematological malignancies with bispecific antibodies. *Blood* (2018) 131 (1):30–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-741058
- 289. Schuster SJ, Bishop MR, Tam CS, Waller EK, Borchmann P, McGuirk JP, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Adult Relapsed or Refractory Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2019) 380(1):45–56. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1804980
- 290. Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, et al. Tisagenlecleucel in Children and Young Adults with B-Cell Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med (2018) 378(5):439–48. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709866
- 291. Liu E, Marin D, Banerjee P, Macapinlac HA, Thompson P, Basar R, et al. Use of CAR-Transduced Natural Killer Cells in CD19-Positive Lymphoid Tumors. N Engl J Med (2020) 382(6):545–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1910607
- 292. Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL, Lekakis LJ, Miklos DB, Jacobson CA, et al. Axicabtagene Ciloleucel CAR T-Cell Therapy in Refractory Large B-Cell

Lymphoma. N Engl J Med (2017) 377(26):2531-44. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1707447

- 293. Tran E, Chinnasamy D, Yu Z, Morgan RA, Lee CC, Restifo NP, et al. Immune targeting of fibroblast activation protein triggers recognition of multipotent bone marrow stromal cells and cachexia. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210 (6):1125–35. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130110
- 294. Gascard P, Tlsty TD. Carcinoma-associated fibroblasts: orchestrating the composition of malignancy. *Genes Dev* (2016) 30(9):1002–19. doi: 10.1101/ gad.279737.116

Conflict of Interest: AGR has received research funding to Institution from Bristol-Myers Squibb Roche Glycart AG and AstraZeneca.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Apollonio, Ioannou, Papazoglou and Ramsay. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

GLOSSARY

CLL	chronic lymphocytic leukemia
SLL	small lymphocytic lymphoma
DLBCL	diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
cHL	classical non-Hodgkin lymphoma
NHL	non-Hodgkin lymphoma
MM	multiple myeloma
PMBL	primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma
FL	follicular lymphoma
MCL	mantle-cell lymphoma
ALL	acute lymphoblastic leukemia
CRC	colorectal carcinomas
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
GCB	non-germinal center B-cell subtype
R/R	relapsed/refractory
ORR	overall response rate
TME	tumor microenvironment
LN(s)	lymph nodes
BM	bone marrow
TILS	tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes
TAMs	tumor-associated macrophages
APCs DCs	antigen-presenting cells dendritic cells
	natural killer cells
NK(s) FDCs	follicular dendritic cells
MDSCs	myeloid-derived suppressor cells
ECs	endothelial cells
TECs	tumor-associated endothelial cells
LECs	lymphatic endothelial cells
BECs	blood endothelial cells
HEVs	high endothelial venules
FRCs	fibroblastic reticular cells
CAFs	cancer-associated fibroblasts
MSCs	mesenchymal stromal cells
PD-1	programmed cell death protein 1
IFN	interferon
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
IL-	Interleukin-
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
CELMoD	cereblon E3 ligase modulator
IRF4	IFN regulatory factor 4
CTLA-4	cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4
CAR T	chimeric antigen receptor T cells
cells	
JAK2	Janus kinase 2
NF-kB	nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
STAT3	signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
EZH2	enhancer of zeste homolog 2
TP53	tumor protein P53
BCL2	B-cell lymphoma 2
TGF- β	transforming growth factor beta
EVs	extracellular vesicles
ARG1	arginase 1
IDO	indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase
LAG-3	lymphocyte activation gene-3
TIM-3	T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3
FOXP3	forkhead box p3
NO	nitric oxide
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule 1
VCAM-1 CXCL	vascular cell adhesion protein 1 C-X-C motif chemokine ligand

Continued	
CXCR	C-X-C motif chemokine receptor
CCR	(C-C motif) chemokine receptor
SDF-1	stromal cell-derived factor 1
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
Chi3L1	chitinase 3 like 1
ECM	extracellular matrix
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
αSMA	alpha smooth muscle actin
R-)	(rituximab-) cyclophosphamide doxorubicin hydrochloride
CHOP	(hydroxydaunorubicin) vincristine sulfate (Oncovin) and prednisone
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
BAFF	B-cell activating factor
LT	lymphotoxin
TSLP	thymic stromal lymphopoietin
NOS2	nitric oxide synthase 2
FAP	fibroblast activating protein

(Continued)





Intrinsic Resistance of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells to NK Cell-Mediated Lysis Can Be Overcome *In Vitro* by Pharmacological Inhibition of Cdc42-Induced Actin Cytoskeleton Remodeling

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Benjamin Frey, University Hospital Erlangen, Germany

Reviewed by:

Salem Chouaib, Institut Gustave Roussy, France Alan G. Ramsay, King's College London, United Kingdom Silvia Deaglio, University of Turin, Italy

*Correspondence:

Clément Thomas clement.thomas@lih.lu

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 October 2020 Accepted: 23 April 2021 Published: 24 May 2021

Citation:

Wurzer H, Filali L, Hoffmann C, Krecke M, Biolato AM, Mastio J, De Wilde S, François JH, Largeot A, Berchem G, Paggetti J, Moussay E and Thomas C (2021) Intrinsic Resistance of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells to NK Cell-Mediated Lysis Can Be Overcome In Vitro by Pharmacological Inhibition of Cdc42-Induced Actin Cytoskeleton Remodeling. Front. Immunol. 12:619069. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.619069 Hannah Wurzer^{1,2}, Liza Filali^{1†}, Céline Hoffmann^{1†}, Max Krecke^{1,2}, Andrea Michela Biolato^{1,2}, Jérôme Mastio¹, Sigrid De Wilde³, Jean Hugues François⁴, Anne Largeot⁵, Guy Berchem^{3,6}, Jérôme Paggetti⁵, Etienne Moussay⁵ and Clément Thomas^{1*}

¹ Cytoskeleton and Cancer Progression, Department of Oncology, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg City, Luxembourg, ² Faculty of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of Luxembourg, Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg, ³ Department of Hemato-Oncology, Central Hospitalier du Luxembourg, Luxembourg City, Luxembourg, ⁴ Laboratory of Hematology, Centre Hospitalier de Luxembourg, Luxembourg City, Luxembourg, ⁵ Tumor-Stroma Interactions, Department of Oncology, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg City, Luxembourg, ⁶ Department of Oncology, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg

Natural killer (NK) cells are innate effector lymphocytes with strong antitumor effects against hematologic malignancies such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). However, NK cells fail to control CLL progression on the long term. For effective lysis of their targets, NK cells use a specific cell-cell interface, known as the immunological synapse (IS), whose assembly and effector function critically rely on dynamic cytoskeletal changes in NK cells. Here we explored the role of CLL cell actin cytoskeleton during NK cell attack. We found that CLL cells can undergo fast actin cytoskeleton remodeling which is characterized by a NK cell contact-induced accumulation of actin filaments at the IS. Such polarization of the actin cytoskeleton was strongly associated with resistance against NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and reduced amounts of the cell-death inducing molecule granzyme B in target CLL cells. Selective pharmacological targeting of the key actin regulator Cdc42 abrogated the capacity of CLL cells to reorganize their actin cytoskeleton during NK cell attack, increased levels of transferred granzyme B and restored CLL cell susceptibility to NK cell cytotoxicity. This resistance mechanism was confirmed in primary CLL cells from patients. In addition, pharmacological inhibition of actin dynamics in combination with blocking antibodies increased conjugation frequency and improved CLL cell elimination by NK cells. Together our results highlight the critical role of CLL cell actin cytoskeleton in driving resistance against NK cell cytotoxicity and provide new potential therapeutic point of intervention to target CLL immune escape.

Keywords: actin cytoskeleton, Cdc42, immune evasion, immunological synapse, tumor immunology, natural killer (NK), B cell neoplasms

INTRODUCTION

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is the most prevalent lymphoproliferative disorder in the United States and Europe and is characterized by the clonal expansion of mature CD5⁺ CD23⁺ B cells (1, 2). As first reported in 1999, the mutational status of the immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region genes (IGHV) is associated with overall survival and is by now considered one of the most important molecular prognostic factors (3, 4). A higher degree of somatic mutations is considered a good prognostic marker, while patients with a nonmutated IgH_V region show shorter progression-free and overall survivals (5). An additional marker of prognostic and predictive value is the tumor protein 53 gene (TP53) status that can be affected by 17p13 deletion ((del(17p)) and/or somatic TP53 mutations (6, 7). The double knockout of the TP53 gene renders CLL cells resistant to most chemo-immunotherapies and has also been shown to be involved in resistance against monoclonal antibodies, such as rituximab (8).

A cardinal feature of CLL is an acquired immune system dysregulation and immune response dysfunction of both innate and adaptive immunity that gradually worsens over time even without disease progression (9-19). The immune response of cytotoxic lymphocytes, such as cytotoxic CD8⁺ T and (natural killer) NK cells, is regulated by molecular interactions occurring in the context of immunological synapses (IS). The formation of a lytic IS between cytotoxic lymphocytes and their target cells is a tightly coordinated process that ensures that only infected or transformed cells are lysed (20-22). Because the IS is the point of convergence for cytolytic effector functions, it is susceptible to immune evasion strategies of cancer (23, 24). Interestingly, it has been shown that immune escape of CLL can be achieved by various means, notably by those interfering with the formation or the function of the lytic IS (25-29). Lytic IS formation of CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells with CLL cells can be rescued in part by drug treatments, such as lenalidomide or blocking antibodies, or can even be bypassed by infusion of genetically modified cytotoxic lymphocytes which do not rely on MHC-mediated antigen presentation as they form a non-classical IS (30-36). Nevertheless, toxic side effects or acquired resistance against these new therapeutic options have been reported and result in disease progression (37, 38).

NK cells are commonly described to play an important role in the immunosurveillance of hematologic malignancies (23). NK cell effector function is regulated by the balance between inhibitory ligands, mainly canonical and non-canonical MHC-I, and activating ligands presented by the target cell at the IS. Downmodulation of MHC-I is a common feature on cancerous cells and, if accompanied by upregulation of stress-induced activating ligands, leads to activation of NK cells and subsequent target cell lysis (24). Sufficient activating signal results in the release of cytokines, such as IFN- γ and TNF- α , and the formation of a lytic IS that includes directed degranulation of cytotoxic molecules, such as perforin and granzyme B, towards the conjugated target cell (23). CLL immune evasion from NK cells has been described to occur mainly through the upregulation of non-canonical MHC-I isoforms HLA-G and HLA-E (39-41). The NK cell repertoire of an individual can be defined by the simultaneous expression of different receptors and is quite diverse with up to 30'000 different phenotypic populations. Interestingly, the expression of the HLA-G receptor KIR2DL4 is universally found on all NK cells (40, 42, 43). This indicates that overexpression of HLA-G on CLL cells can provide immune evasion from any NK cell subpopulation. Accordingly, monoclonal antibody blockade therapies targeting HLA-E or HLA-G overexpression successfully increased the natural cytotoxicity of NK cells from CLL patients in vitro (40, 44). However, commercial HLA-E monoclonal antibodies are not specific and show cross-reactivity with HLA-A/B/C (45) and HLA-G is characterized by the presence of several isoforms and a high intra- and interpatient heterogeneity, making it a difficult target (23). Alternative inhibition of the inhibitory HLA-E receptor NKG2A showed promising results in vitro (46) and is currently tested in several clinical trials, however a phase I/II study of Monalizumab in combination with Ibrutinib including CLL patients was terminated in 2018 (NCT02557516).

Even though NK cell expansion in CLL patients has been reported, these NK cells are described to be hyporesponsive due to a downregulation of activating receptors. They also show a reduced degranulation efficiency against malignant B lymphocytes, through both natural or antibody dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC) triggered by rituximab (23). The exhausted NK cell phenotype is enhanced in patients with a progressive disease and results in a loss of NK cell cytotoxicity against CLL target cells. However, CLL patients' exhausted NK cells can be replaced by activated NK cells coming from a healthy donor. Such allogenic adoptive cell therapy studies showed that unmutated CLL cells are susceptible targets for activated NK cells (46, 47). As demonstrated for other hematologic malignancies, cytotoxic lymphocytes expressing chimeric antigen receptors (CARs) can efficiently lyse tumor cells, and in an attempt to circumvent toxic side effects of CAR-T cell therapy, anti-CD19 CAR-NK cells have been tried for B cell malignancies (48). While this new therapeutic approach holds promising results in first clinical trials (48), little is known about the CAR IS (49). Although some preliminaries studies suggest

that CAR IS are superior to conventional NK/T cells IS (50, 51), it remains unclear whether these IS can also be affected by resistant subpopulations of tumors that can modulate IS formation or functions.

These new treatment options set the focus on the lytic IS formed between CLL cells and NK cells and the underlying resistance mechanisms that could result in disease progression. Actin cytoskeleton remodeling has recently emerged as an important process underlying evasion of solid tumor cells, such as breast cancer cells, from NK cell cytotoxicity (23, 24, 52-55). However, the role of the actin cytoskeleton in CLL cells during NK cell attack has not been evaluated so far. Here, we show that a subset of CLL cells from four cell lines, but also patient-derived cells respond to NK cell attack by fast polarization of actin filaments at the IS. Live cell imaging and imaging flow cytometry analyses suggest that synaptic actin accumulation protects CLL cells against NK cell-mediated killing by reducing intracellular levels of granzyme B. Remarkably, pharmacological inhibition of an actin regulatory pathway in CLL cells was sufficient to prevent actin cytoskeleton remodeling, promote granzyme B accumulation, and restore high susceptibility to NK cellmediated cytotoxicity. Similar results were obtained with patient-derived CLL cells that showed reduced resistance to NK cell-mediated cell death after inhibition of actin dynamics. In this context, blocking antibodies targeting HLA-G also demonstrated that release of the inhibitory interaction of HLA-G with its receptor in NK cells improves conjugate formation. Our data support that interfering with actin cytoskeleton remodeling in CLL cells in combination with antibody blockade provides an opportunity to restore a potent NK cell anti-tumor response in aggressive CLL.

METHODS

Cell Lines and Cell Culture Conditions

The CLL cell lines used in this study were purchased from DSMZ (German Collection of Microorganisms and Cell Cultures GmbH, Braunschweig, Germany). Cell lines were authenticated through STR profiling analysis (Microsynth, Switzerland) or purchased directly from DSMZ. HG-3, PGA-1, JVM-3 and MEC-1 cell lines were cultured in RPMI-1640 (ThermoFisher Scientific, cat. # 61870010) supplemented with 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS, Life Technologies, cat. #10500-064), 100 U/ mL penicillin and 0.1 mg/ml streptomycin (Westburg, cat. #LO DE17-602E). The NK-92MI cell line was kept in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% (v/v) FBS, 10% (v/v) horse serum (ATCC, cat. # 30-2040), 100U/ml penicillin and 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin. All cell lines were cultured under humidifying conditions at 37°C and 5% CO2 and were checked routinely for mycoplasma contamination using the MycoAlert detection kit (Lonza, cat. # LT07-318).

Isolation of Human Primary NK Cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from buffy coats from healthy, anonymous donors provided by the Luxembourg Red Cross. Upon receipt, buffy coats were diluted ten times with Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ free phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and the low-density PBMC fraction was isolated by centrifugation over a Lymphoprep density gradient (Stemcell Technologies, cat. # 07861). After centrifugation, the PBMC layer was collected, washed several times with Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ free PBS and red blood cells were lysed with ACK buffer (ThermoFisher Scientific, cat. # A1049201). Following erythrocytes lysis, cells were washed once with Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ free PBS, counted with Trypan blue and cell concentration adjusted for NK cell isolation. NK cells were isolated with the MojoSort human NK cell isolation kit (BioLegend, cat. # 480054) combined with a LS column (Miltenyi Biotec, cat. # 130-042-401). Isolated NK cells were cultured overnight in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 10 mM HEPES (ThermoFisher Scientific, cat. # 15630056), 100 U/mL penicillin, 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin, 100 U/mL recombinant human interleukin-2 (IL-2; Peprotech, cat. # 200-02) and 10 ng/mL recombinant human IL-15 (IL-2; Peprotech, cat. # 200-15).

Isolation of Human Primary CLL Cells

Peripheral blood samples were collected from anonymous CLL patients. All samples used in this study were obtained after informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and the Comité National d'Ethique de Recherche Luxembourg (CNER No. 201707/02 Version 1.2). CLL was diagnosed according to standard clinical criteria. PBMCs were isolated from fresh blood samples using standard density centrifugation over a Lymphoprep gradient. Isolated cells were washed twice in Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ free PBS and suspended in complete medium (RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FBS, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 0.1 mg/mL streptomycin). PBMCs were either used immediately or were cryopreserved in FBS with 10% DMSO. After thawing, cells were allowed to recover overnight before being used for further experiments.

Cell Transduction and Cdc42 Inhibition

mEmerald-Lifeact-7 was a gift from Dr. M. Davidson (Addgene plasmid # 54148). For generation of stable cell lines, the mEmerald-Lifeact fragment was subcloned into the viral pCDH-EF1 α -MCS-IRES-puro plasmid (System Biosciences, cat. # CD532A-2). Infectious particles were produced using HEK293 cells and used to infect HG-3, PGA-1, JVM-3, and MEC-1cell lines. Transduced cells were selected with puromycin (0.5 µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich, cat. #P8833).

To inhibit Cdc42 activity in CLL cell lines, the cells were incubated for 1 h with 50 μ M of the cell-permeable Cdc42 inhibitor ZCL278 (Sigma Aldrich Merck Calbiochem, cat. # 500503) (56). Cells were washed after treatment and allowed to recover for 1 h or 5 hrs in complete medium before stimulation with human recombinant EGF (0.1 μ g/mL; PeproTech, cat. # AF-100-15) for 15 min. Inhibition of Cdc42 activity upon stimulation was confirmed using a Cdc42 G-LISA Activation Assay following the manufacturer protocol (Cytoskeleton Inc., cat. # BK127-S).

Cytotoxicity Assay

For cytotoxicity assays, NK cells (effectors) were counted and stained with anti-human CD56-PE/Cy7 (BioLegend, cat. # 318318, clone HCD56). Effector cells were co-cultured with mEmerald-Lifeact⁺ HG-3, PGA-1, JVM-3 or MEC-1 (target cells) at effector-target (E:T) ratios of 1:1 and 5:1 for 4 hrs at 37° C/5% CO₂. After incubation, the plate was placed on ice in the dark to stop the experiment until acquisition on the flow cytometer. Immediately before acquisition on a CytoFLEX (Beckman Coulter), TO-PRO-3 Iodide (ThermoFisher Scientific, cat. # T3605) was added to the samples (0.05 μ M final concentration). Generated data were analyzed with FlowJo v10.6.2. software.

Flow Cytometry

To assess cell death in target cells, mEmerald-Lifeact⁺ HG-3, PGA-1, JVM-3 or MEC-1 target cells were incubated for 45 min with CD56-PE/Cy7-labeled NK-92MI cells. Cells were washed with cold Annexin V binding buffer (Biolegend, cat. # 422201) twice. Afterwards, cells were resuspended in 100 μ l Annexin V binding buffer with 5 μ l Alexa Fluor[®] 647 Annexin V (Biolegend, cat. #640912) and 5 μ l propidium iodide staining solution (Sigma-Aldrich, cat. #P4864) per million cells. Cells were incubated for 15 min at RT in the dark, before addition of 400 μ l Annexin V binding buffer and analysis by flow cytometry on a CytoFLEX (Beckman Coulter). Generated data were analyzed with FlowJo v10.6.2. software.

Imaging Flow Cytometry

For conjugate formation, NK cells were counted and stained with anti-human CD56-PE/Cy7 (BioLegend, cat. # 318318, clone HCD56), before co-culture with mEmerald-Lifeact⁺ target cells at an E:T ratio of 3:1 in the presence of Hoechst 33342 ($0.5 \mu g/$ mL final; Miltenyi Biotec, cat. # 130-111-569). Conjugation was allowed for 40 min at 37°C before fixation with 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA; Agar scientific, cat. # R1026) for 15 min at 37°C, and permeabilization with 0.1% Triton X-100 (Sigma Aldrich, cat. # T9284) for 10 min at room temperature (RT). Prior to intracellular staining, samples were washed twice with PBS and then stained for anti-Granzyme B-APC (BioLegend, cat. # 372204, clone QA16A02).

To analyze apoptosis in target cells, cells were centrifuged after 30 min of co-incubation and stained with Zombie Red (BioLegend, cat. # 423110) in PBS for 10 min at RT. Cells were then washed with cold cell staining buffer (BioLegend, cat. # 420201), resuspended in 100 μ l Annexin V binding buffer (BioLegend, cat. # 422201) with 5 μ l Alexa Fluor[®] 647 Annexin V (BioLegend, cat. # 640943) and stained for 15 min at RT in the dark. Cells were then washed with Annexin V binding buffer and fixed in 2% v/v PFA diluted in Annexin V binding buffer. After fixation, cells were washed in Annexin V binding buffer and kept at 4°C in this buffer until acquisition. For acquisition, ImageStream[®]X Mark II (EMD Millipore) with four built-in lasers (405 nm, 488 nm, 561 nm, 642 nm) and the INSPIRE[®] software (EMD Millipore) were used. Analysis for AR, including the gating strategy, masks and features, were described previously (52) and are shown in **Supplementary Figures S1C, D**.

For analysis of patient-derived CLL cells, PBMCs were stained for 30 min with 0.2 µM of the cell permeable F-actin probe SiRactin (Spirochrome AG, cat. #SC001). To inhibit Cdc42 activity, cells were then treated for 1 h with 50 µM of ZCL278 or vehicle control in complete medium. Before co-culture with NK-92MI cells, patient CLL cells were stained with anti-human CD19-FITC (BioLegend, cat. #302256, clone HIB19), anti-human CD5-BV605 (BioLegend, cat. #364019, clone L17F12), and 10 µg/mL anti-human HLA-G (BioLegend, cat. #335902, clone 87G) or control IgG (BioLegend, cat. #400201, clone MOPC-173) for 30 min at 4°C. Cells were allowed to conjugate with NK-92MI for 30 min in the presence of Hoechst 33342 (0.5 ug/mL final concentration), before staining with 0.1X Live-or-Dye NucFixTM Red for 15 min in PBS. Conjugates were washed in PBS containing Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ and fixed with 2% PFA for 15 min at 37°C. For analysis of AR and cell death, CLL cells were identified as CD19+/CD5+ cells in conjugation with CD56+ NK-92MI cells.

Confocal Microscopy

For labelling, mEmerald-Lifeact⁺ target cells were settled on a Poly-L-Lysin (25 µg/mL, Sigma-Aldrich, cat. # P4707) coated µslide 8 well (Ibidi, cat. # 80826) for 10 min before fixation with 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Cells were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 and labelled with anti-\alpha-tubulin antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, cat. # T5168, clone B-5-1-2), goat-anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 633 (Invitrogen, cat. # A-21126) and with acti-stain 555 phalloidin (100 nM, Cytoskeleton Inc., cat. # PHDH1) and DAPI (0.2 µg/mL, Sigma-Aldrich). For conjugate formation, NK cells were counted and stained with the CellTrackerTM Orange CMRA dye (1 µM, Invitrogen, cat. # C34551), before co-culture with mEmerald-Lifeact target cells at an E:T ratio of 1:1 in the presence of Hoechst 33342 (0.5 µg/mL final). Conjugation was allowed for 40 min at 37°C, then cells were settled on a Poly-L-Lysin coated µ-slide 8 well for 10 min before fixation with 2% PFA. After 2 washings, PBS was replaced by mounting medium (Ibidi, cat. # 50001) before cell imaging. For acquisition, highresolution pictures were acquired on a Zeiss LSM880 fastAiry confocal microscope, in the Airy mode. A multitrack configuration was used with laser 405 nm, 488 nm, 543 nm, and 633 nm for excitation. A stack of 50 slices with an interval of 0.2 µm was acquired. The fluorescence intensity was measured on the maximum intensity projection picture of the stack in a rectangle of 5 µm width set in the center of the IS, with the macro "GetProfileExample" in the Image J v1.53e software.

For live cell imaging, NK92MI cells were counted and stained with the CellTrackerTM Orange CMRA dye (1 μ M), before coculture with mEmerald-Lifeact target cells at an E:T ratio of 1:1 in the presence of SYTOXTM Blue (2 μ M, Invitrogen, cat. # S11348). For acquisition, cells were maintained under the microscope at 37°C and 5% CO₂. A single-track configuration was used with excitation at 405 nm, 488 nm, and 543 nm. The pinhole was open to acquire a 2 μ m depth slice. A stack of 4 slices with an interval of 2 μ m was acquired for 1 h at a rate of one picture every 4 min.

Statistical Analysis

The paired Student's t-test and 2-way ANOVA in Prism 9 (GraphPad) were used to determine the statistical significance of the results obtained. For apoptosis experiments, a Z-score test for two population proportions was used to determine the statistical significance between samples. * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$ and *** $p \le 0.001$.

RESULTS

CLL Cell Resistance to NK Cell-Mediated Cytotoxicity Correlates With Actin Cytoskeleton Polarization to the Immunological Synapse

To evaluate actin cytoskeleton organization and dynamics in aggressive forms of CLL, three IGHV mutated cell lines, namely

PGA-1, JVM-3 and MEC-1, and one IGHV non-mutated cell line (HG-3) (Supplemental Figure S1A) were modified to stably express the mEmerald-tagged actin marker Lifeact (Figure 1A) (57). With this approach, labeling of the actin cytoskeleton became obsolete and a spill-over from the NK cell actin cvtoskeleton could be avoided. Cvtotoxicity assay found MEC-1 as a highly resistant CLL cell line compared to the other three CLL cell lines (Figure 1B). After 4 hrs of co-culture with an excess of NK-92MI cells at a 5:1 E:T ratio, MEC-1 cells were lysed with an average rate of 17%. In comparison, HG-3, PGA-1, and JVM-3 cells were significantly more susceptible with average NK cell-specific lysis rates of 54%, 47%, or 44%, respectively. Using confocal microscopy, we found that some NK cell-conjugated CLL cells showed a strong polarization of filamentous actin to the synaptic area (Figure 1C and Supplementary Figure S1B). We recently reported similar synaptic accumulation of filamentous actin during NK cell attack in breast cancer cells and termed this



FIGURE 1 | CLL cells have the ability to respond to NK cell attack with an actin response associated to their resistance. (A) JVM-3 and MEC-1 cells were transduced to express the actin cytoskeleton marker Emerald-Lifeact (green). Stable cell lines were stained with Acti-stain 555 phalloidin (red) and anti-tubulin antibody (MT, violet). The yellow-green signal shows the co-localization of the two actin cytoskeleton probes. Bars: 10 µm. (B) Cytotoxicity assays with four CLL target cell lines and effector NK-92Ml cells at 1:1 and 5:1 E:T ratios for 4 hrs. 2-way ANOVA was applied to determine statistical significance; *** denotes p < 0.0001. (C) Confocal microscopy pictures of MEC-1 (left) and JVM-3 (right) cells (T) in conjugation with NK-92Ml cells (NK) with and without an actin response. The charts below show the relative fluorescent intensity of Emerald-Lifeact and CMRA along the trajectories (white arrow). The fluorescence was normalized to 1 at the opposite site of the synapse. The region of the immunological synapse is indicated with "IS". Compared to the opposing end, target cells with an actin response have a more than 2-fold higher fluorescent signal at the IS. Bars: 10µm.

phenomenon "actin response" (AR) (52). Analysis of confocal microscopy images revealed that CLL cells with an AR exhibit a more than 2-fold increase of F-actin at the IS as compared to CLL cells without an AR (**Figure 1C** and **Supplemental Figure S1B**). CLL cells without an AR showed a relatively homogenous distribution of F-actin.

Quantitative analysis of the relative number of NK cellconjugated CLL cells with and without an AR was conducted using high-throughput imaging flow cytometry. For analysis of conjugates, 5×10^3 double-positive events were acquired per experiment with the same settings. After quality control, over 1000 conjugates between CLL and NK cells from 3 independent experiments were evaluated for the presence or absence of an AR (**Supplementary Figures S1C, D**). Our data revealed that a majority (about 63%) of highly resistant MEC-1 cells exhibited an AR, while in more susceptible CLL cell lines only a small fraction exhibited this phenotype (**Figure 2A**). HG-3 cells showed the lowest rate of AR with an average of only 14% of conjugated CLL cells forming an AR, while PGA-1 and JVM-3 had an AR frequency of 21 and 23%, respectively. To better characterize and compare the AR in CLL cells, we analyzed both the total F-actin content in AR⁻ and AR⁺ cells, as well as the



FIGURE 2 | Quantification and functional consequence of the actin response during NK cell attack. (A) Quantitative Imagestream analysis of CLL-NK cell conjugates. CLL cells HG-3, PGA-1, JVM-3 and MEC-1 were analyzed for their actin response frequency in conjugates with NK-92MI cells. Percentages of target cells in conjugation with NK-92MI cells with (black, AR⁺) and without (grey, AR⁻) an actin response. *** denotes p < 0.0001 (B) Relative intensity of Emerald-Lifeact at the IS in target cells conjugates with NK cells with respect to absence (grey, AR⁻) to presence (black, AR⁺). Data represents results of 6 different experiments and plots over 2000 conjugates per cell line. Data was normalized to conjugates without an AR. *** denotes p < 0.0001 (C) Imagestream analysis of target cell death in CLL target cells conjugated with NK cells in the presence (black, AR⁺) or absence (grey, AR⁻) of an actin response. Target cell death was assessed by Annexin V and propidium iodide staining. * denotes p<0.05, ** denotes p< 0.001, *** denotes p < 0.001 (D) Time lapse imaging of actin dynamics in MEC-1 CLL cells upon NK cell attack. The AR⁺ target cell can resist NK cell-induced cell death. Target cells not capable to produce an actin response are effectively lysed as seen by the SYTOX blue staining (white arrow head) and disappearance of normal cellular structures and membrane blebbing (asterisk). ns, non significant.

179

relative signal intensity of Emerald-Lifeact within the synaptic region of each type of cells. The results show that the total F-actin content is not significantly different in conjugated CLL cells with or without an AR (**Supplementary Figure S2A**). However, in CLL cells with an AR, the relative intensity of F-actin at the IS was increased almost 3-fold (**Figure 2B**), indicating a prominent polarization of the actin cytoskeleton toward NK cells. Additionally, these data suggest the accumulation of F-actin at the IS is compensated by equivalent depolymerization of actin filaments in other parts of the cells, resulting in no net increase of the overall F-actin content in target cells.

To further characterize the link between the AR and resistance to NK cell-mediated death, individual cell-cell conjugates were analyzed using imaging flow cytometry after tumor cells were labeled with the live/dead cell discrimination marker Zombie Red and Annexin V. Early apoptotic cells were characterized as Annexin V⁺/Zombie Red⁻, late apoptotic cells as Annexin V⁺/Zombie Red⁺, and Annexin V⁻/Zombie Red⁺ cells were classified as necrotic for quantitative analysis. In both MEC-1 and JVM-3 cell lines, AR⁺ cells showed significantly less signs of apoptosis, especially early apoptosis, than AR⁻ cells (Figure 2C). Similar results were obtained for the other two CLL cell lines HG-3 and PGA-1 (Supplementary Figure S2B). Since NK and target cells were allowed to conjugate for only 45 minutes, induction of primarily early apoptosis is within the time frame of normal NK cell cytotoxic activity (58, 59). The protective effect of the AR was similar in all cell lines. Yet, it is important to consider that the size of the AR⁺ cell subpopulation greatly differs between the MEC-1 cell line and the HG-3, PGA-1, and JVM-3 cell lines, explaining the difference in their overall susceptibility.

Live cell imaging analysis revealed that the AR in CLL cells is induced immediately after their first physical contact with NK cells and persisted throughout the whole cell-to-cell interaction time (**Figure 2D** left and **Supplementary Movie 1**). In addition, it provides direct evidence that NK cell-conjugated CLL cells that successfully assembled an AR survived the immune cell attack, while those that failed to mount an AR were efficiently lysed, as shown by uptake of SYTOX blue viability dye (**Figure 2D** right, **Supplementary Movie 2** and **Supplementary Figure S2C**).

In conclusion, we identified a subpopulation of cells in four CLL cell lines that responds to NK cell attack with fast polarization of the actin cytoskeleton to the IS (or AR), a process that closely correlates with resistance to NK cellmediated lysis. Thus, the overall susceptibility of a given cell line can be directly deduced from the relative size of this subpopulation within the cell, with a large subpopulation being predictive of a highly resistant phenotype.

Targeted Inhibition of Actin Remodeling in CLL Cells Restores High Susceptibility to NK Cell-Mediated Killing

The Rho GTPase cell division control protein 42 homolog (CDC42) is a key regulator of actin polymerization and cell polarity (60). It promotes F-actin polymerization in association with the neuronal Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (N-WASP) and the Arp2/3

complex (61). In addition, CDC42 localizes the N-WASp-Arp2/3 complex close to the cell membrane through interaction with phosphatidylinositol (4, 5) bisphosphate (62). In an attempt to inhibit fast actin remodeling in CLL cells during NK cell attack and to confirm the causal relation between the AR and CLL cell-intrinsic resistance to NK cell-mediated lysis, CDC42 was pharmacologically inhibited using the cell-permeable CDC42-specific inhibitor ZCL278 (56). 50 μ M of the inhibitor was found to achieve significant and sustained inhibition of CDC42 activity, without inducing significant toxicity (**Supplementary Figure S2D**). To avoid side effects on the actin cytoskeleton of NK cells, CLL cells were pre-treated with ZCL278 and the drug was washed out before co-culture with NK cells for following experimental assays (63).

Inhibition of CDC42 activity in the resistant MEC-1 cell line resulted in potently impaired AR formation with a more than four-fold decrease in the relative number of conjugated cells exhibiting an AR as compared to DMSO-treated control cells (16.9% and 73.3%, respectively) (Figure 3A, left). Remarkably, such an effect was paralleled by an almost five-fold increase in tumor cell susceptibility to NK cell-mediated lysis. Indeed, 52.2% of ZCL278-treated MEC-1 cells were lysed at a 5:1 E:T ratio, while only 10.6% of DMSO-treated cells were lysed in the same conditions (Figure 3B, left). Thus, inhibition of *de novo* F-actin polymerization and the AR in CLL cells was sufficient to turn the initially highly resistant MEC-1 cell line into a highly susceptible phenotype. Spontaneous cell death did not change in response to ZCL278 treatment (Supplementary Figure S2E), indicating indeed increased susceptibility of MEC-1 cells to NK cellmediated lysis after CDC42 inhibition. Pharmacological inhibition of CDC42 in HG-3, PGA-1, or JVM-3 cells could not further reduce the small subpopulation of CLL cells with an AR in these cell lines (Figure 3A, right and Supplementary Figure S3A) and had accordingly no effect on their already highly susceptible phenotype (Figure 3B, right and Supplementary Figure S3B).

Then MEC-1 cells were pre-treated with DMSO or 50 μ M ZCL278 prior to 45 min co-culture with NK cells (1:1 E:T ratio), subsequent labelling with AnnexinV and propidium iodide and quantification of target cell killing by standard flow cytometry. Inhibition of the AR using ZCL278 resulted in a significant increase in apoptotic MEC-1 cells, especially early apoptotic cells, compared to DMSO-treated control cells (Figure 3C). The percentage of early apoptotic cells increased from 5.8% to 15%, a value that parallels the imaging flow cytometry analysis of cell death in AR⁻ MEC-1 conjugates with NK cells (Figure 2C), indicating restoration of a susceptible phenotype. Longer incubation time points did not change the distribution of the populations significantly, as late apoptotic and necrotic cells were removed during the washing steps (data not shown). Consistent with our previous results and the intrinsically low AR frequency in the other CLL cell lines, ZCL278 treatment did not significantly modify apoptosis in these cell lines (Figure 3C and Supplementary Figure S3C). Altogether, these results indicate that the AR is mediated by CDC42 dependent actin polymerization and that inhibition of CDC42 activity potently restores CLL cell susceptibility to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity.



FIGURE 3 Pharmacological inhibition of Cdd42 increases CLL cell susceptionity to NK cell attack by lowering actin response frequency. (A) Quantitative Imagestream analysis of CLL-NK cell conjugates. CLL cells were pre-treated with 50 μ M ZCL278 and analyzed for their actin response frequency in conjugates with NK-92MI cells. *** denotes p < 0.0001 (B) NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity against DMSO- or ZCL278-treated CLL cells. Pre-treated JVM-3 and MEC-1 cells were cocultured for 4 hrs with NK-92MI cells at E:T ratios of 1:1 and 5:1. Cell death was evaluated by To-Pro-3 staining and adjusted to NK cell-specific lysis. *** denotes p < 0.0001 (C) Flow cytometry analysis of DMSO- or ZCL278-pretreated CLL target cells after 45 minutes of co-culture with effector NK-92MI cells at a 1:1 E:T ratio. Apoptosis was evaluated by Annexin V and PI staining. * denotes p < 0.05, ** denotes p < 0.001, *** denotes p < 0.0001 (D) Imagestream analysis of total granzyme B load in target cells conjugated to NK-92MI cells after 45 minutes of co-culture. * denotes p < 0.05 (E) Target cells were categorized into AR⁺ (black) and AR⁺ (grey) and granzyme B load in target cells evaluated. Data was normalized to AR⁻ conjugates. ** denotes p < 0.001 (F) Imagestream analysis of intracellular granzyme B in target cells after ZCL278-induced Cdc42 inhibition. ** denotes p < 0.001. ns, non significant.

Synaptic Actin Remodeling Leads to Reduced Granzyme B Levels in NK Cell-Conjugated CLL Cells

Direct cytotoxicity of NK cells occurs through the release of cytotoxic granules (23, 24). These granules contain among others granzymes and perforin that trigger cancer cell lysis through formation of membrane lesions and induction of caspase-3 and caspase-8 activation. We assessed the levels of one key granzyme, namely granzyme B, transferred into CLL cells. On average, JVM-3 cells in conjugation with NK cells showed a higher intracellular intensity of granzyme B compared to MEC-1 cells (**Figure 3D**), which is consistent with the respective cell line susceptibility to NK cell-mediated lysis and ability to remodel actin cytoskeleton following immune attack. Moreover, in all four cell lines, intracellular levels of granzyme B were

considerably reduced (by approximately 35%) in the cell subpopulation exhibiting an AR as compared to the cell subpopulation without an AR, suggesting that the AR leads to reduced amounts of granzyme B transferred to target cells (Figure 3E and Supplementary Figure S3D).

To assess if inhibiting the AR could restore elevated levels of granzyme B in MEC-1 cells, MEC-1 cells were pre-treated with 50 μ M ZCL278 to lower the cell subpopulation with an AR and granzyme B levels were quantified after 45 minutes incubation with effector cells (**Figure 3F** and **Supplementary Figure S3E**). The results show that AR inhibition increased the intracellular granzyme B intensity to levels comparable to JVM-3 cells. Altogether our data provide strong indication that the AR protects CLL cells from cytotoxicity mediated by NK cells through the granzyme B/perforin pathway.

Primary NK Cells Induce the Actin Response and Confirm CLL Cell Line Intrinsic Actin Response Frequency

The NK-92MI cell line used in this study is a CD16 effector cell lines that additionally lacks major inhibitory receptors such as Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) and NKG2A receptors (64, 65). These results in induction of natural cytotoxicity through recognition of activating ligands such as MHC class I homologues MIC-A (MIC-A), MIC-B, and UL-16 binding protein (ULBP) on target cells and interaction of lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) with its ligand intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1). According to its "hyperactive" phenotype, the NK cell line kills target cells in an unrestricted manner and with low specificity. Thus, we reevaluated the AR in CLL cell lines challenged with primary NK cells isolated from healthy donors.

To this end, primary NK cells were isolated from PBMCs using a negative selection kit reaching a purity of >90% (**Supplementary Figure S3F**) and kept in culture overnight with IL-2 and IL-15 for activation. Cytotoxicity of primary NK

cells against JVM-3 and MEC-1 target cells was lower compared to lysis rates achieved with the NK-92MI cell line. However, the previously established difference in intrinsic susceptibility between the two target cell lines was confirmed (**Figure 4A**). Indeed, despite inter-donor variability, JVM-3 cells were more effectively lysed by donor-derived NK cells than MEC-1 target cells.

Quantitative analysis of the AR frequency with primary NK cells using imaging flow cytometry resulted in remarkably comparable results as seen with the NK-92MI cell line (**Figure 4B**), with about 25% of AR⁺ conjugates with JVM-3 cells and 60-71% of conjugated MEC-1 cells showing an AR. Confocal microscopy provided direct evidence that primary NK cell attacks also invoked an AR in some individual CLL cells (**Figure 4C**).

In conclusion, activated donor-derived healthy NK cells induce an AR in CLL cells at a same frequency as the NK-92MI cell line, supporting that the AR is a process intrinsic to the CLL cells and is not dependent on the origin of the effector NK cells, being a cell line or isolated form a healthy donor.



FIGURE 4 | Primary human NK cells can invoke the actin response in MEC-1 and JVM-3 cells. (A) Cytotoxicity assay with primary NK cells isolated from four healthy human donors and JVM-3 and MEC-1 CLL target cells at 1:1 and 5:1 E:T ratios. Target cells and primary NK cells were co-cultured for 4 hrs before analysis of NK cell-specific lysis by flow cytometry. (B) Quantitative analysis of primary NK-CLL conjugates with (black, AR⁺) and without (grey, AR⁻) actin response by imaging flow cytometry. For each donors a minimum of 200 conjugates were analyzed. ** denotes p < 0.001 (C) Representative confocal microscopy pictures of primary NK cells (CMRA, red) in conjugation with MEC-1 (left) and JVM-3 (right) cells with or without an actin response. Bars: 10 µm.

Inhibition of the Actin Response in Combination With HLA-G Blocking Antibody Restores Patient-Derived CLL Cell Susceptibility to NK Cell-Mediated Killing

To investigate if primary CLL cells mount an AR and if inhibition of the latter improves their susceptibility to NK cellmediated cytotoxicity, CLL patient samples (n=10) were analyzed in a series of ex vivo assays. In these assays, PBMCs were isolated from peripheral blood and their actin cytoskeleton was stained with SiR-actin, a cell-permeable and F-actin specific probe. As illustrated in Figure 5A, ARs were observed in primary CLL cells conjugated with NK-92MI cells. These ARs were of slightly lower intensity compared to those seen with CLL cell lines, with a roughly 1.8-fold increase of fluorescence intensity for F-actin at the IS as compared to the opposing cell side. This could be explained by the smaller cell size of primary CLL cells. The AR was then quantified in CLL cells originating from six patients using imaging flow cytometry. Our results revealed a similar and relatively high rate of AR in all primary CLL cell samples with values ranging from 38.4% to 51.2% of analyzed primary CLL-NK-92MI cell conjugates (Figure 5B). We noticed that the conjugation rate of primary CLL cells with NK-92MI cells was particularly low (~7% of all CD5⁺/CD19⁺ cells; Figure 5C), which can be explained by a high surface expression of HLA-G on ex vivo CLL cells (40) and expression of the cognate

inhibitory receptor immunoglobulin-like transcript 2 (ILT-2, LILRB1) on NK-92MI cells (66). Interaction of ILT-2 with HLA-G has been reported to negatively impact not only NK cell polarization, but also to interfere with F-actin assembly at the NK cell side of the IS (67) and can thereby prevent conjugate formation between patient-derived CLL and NK-92MI cells (24).

To improve conjugate formation, primary CLL cells were treated with an anti-HLA-G blocking antibody for 1 h prior to co-culture with NK-92MI cells. It is noteworthy that NK-92MI cells do not express the Fc receptor CD16 (64), excluding the risk of ADCC. As anticipated, HLA-G blocking antibody increased the frequency of target CLL cells in conjugation with NK-92MI cells compared to control IgG, indicating a release of the inhibitory ILT-2 signaling and restoration of IS formation (Figure 6A). Additionally, we aimed at evaluating the effect of ZCL278 on primary CLL cells. Inhibition of CDC42 activity with 50 µM ZCL278 in combination with blocking antibody was found to only minimally or not to alter the rate of conjugation in comparison to vehicle control (DMSO). Conversely, treatment with anti-HLA-G antibody did not alter the rate of AR in primary CLL cells, while ZCL278 treatment reduced the AR in three out of five patients (Figure 6B). Although this remains speculative, the lack of response in CLL cells originating from patient 8 and 9 could be explained by an initially low AR frequency (patient no. 9) or upregulation of alternative, CDC42-independent actin polymerization pathways (patient no. 8).







FIGURE 6 | Inhibition of the actin response in combination with anti-HLA-G blocking antibody substantially improves NK cell-mediated killing of CLL cells. (**A**) Conjugation frequency of primary CLL cells as quantified by imaging flow cytometry in the absence or presence of HLA-G blocking antibody. Target cells were incubated with 10 µg/mL control IgG or blocking antibody against HLA-G, and were used either untreated (IgG, HLA-G), DMSO treated, or after incubation with 50 µM ZCL278 for 1 h before conjugation. Effector and target cells were co-cultured at a 3:1 E:T ratio for 45 min at 37°C and fixed with 2 v/v% PFA. Target cells in conjugation are shown as % of total target cells. (**B**) Quantitative analysis of primary CLL-NK cell conjugates with an actin response in the presence of control IgG or anti-HLA-G blocking antibody by imaging flow cytometry. Target cell were either untreated (IgG, HLA-G) or conjugated after treatment with vehicle (DMSO) or 50 µM ZCL278. For each patient, a minimum of 100 conjugates were analyzed. (**C**) Average percentage of Live-or-Dye NucFixTM Red positive primary CLL cells in conjugation with NK-92MI cells in the presence of control IgG or anti-HLA-G blocking antibody. Target cells are either untreated, treated with vehicle control or 50 µM ZCL278.

Finally, apoptosis in primary CLL cells in conjugation with NK-92MI was evaluated with regards to anti-HLA-G antibody treatment and CDC42 inhibition. Samples treated with 50 μ M ZCL278 that previously showed no changes in the AR frequency (**Figure 6B**) demonstrated similar levels of apoptosis as compared to IgG control, HLA-G, or HLA-G in combination with vehicle treated samples from the same patient (**Figure 6C**,

patient no. 8 and 9). In contrast, with CLL samples that showed a reduction of the AR in response to CDC42 inhibition (**Figure 6B**), an increased percentage of conjugated primary CLL cells showed signs of apoptosis (**Figure 6C**, patient no. 6, 7, and 10). These results extend our analysis with CLL cell lines and indicate that the AR is a frequent process in primary CLL cells (with more than 50% of NK cell-conjugated CLL cells showing an AR for

most patients) and that targeting of this process can substantially increase CLL cell susceptibility to NK cell-mediated cell death.

In conclusion, we report here for the first time AR in patientderived cancer cells and show that specific targeting of key actin regulators in combination with anti-HLA-G blocking antibody, increases conjugate formation and target cell susceptibility to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity opening up the possibility of combinational targeting for CLL patients.

DISCUSSION

Despite substantial recent advances in the therapy of CLL, treatment options, especially for patients diagnosed with an aggressive disease, particularly with TP53 deletion and/or mutation, are limited. Effectors of both, the adaptive and the innate immunity immune systems, show severe signs of dysfunction that allow for successful immune evasion of malignant B cells. This includes inhibition of cytotoxic CD8⁺ and activated CD4⁺ T lymphocytes and induction of the immune suppressive M2-like monocyte phenotype instead of proinflammatory immune sub-populations. Additionally, CLL induces expansion of regulatory T cells (T_{Reg}), overall resulting in the development of a tolerogenic environment and disease progression (11, 68). While special attention has been paid investigating the interaction between CLL and T lymphocytes, recent studies focused on NK cells as an alternative target of chemo-immunotherapy. NK cells derived from CLL patients were described as hyporesponsive due to a loss of the mature, CD56^{dim} NK cell population, possibly due to activation-induced apoptosis as a result of constant exposure to malignant B cells. This was accompanied by a downregulation of activating receptors such as NKG2D that affects the natural cytotoxicity of NK cells (23). However, upon sufficient activating signal through CD16, NK cell function can still be induced, showing that CLL-derived NK cells of the CMV-associated NKG2C⁺/ CD16⁺ phenotype are fully functional (69). Total NK cell numbers have repeatedly been reported to be elevated in CLL patients compared to healthy controls, often with an emphasis on CMV-related NKG2C⁺/CD56^{dim}/CD16⁺ NK cells (23, 70, 71). These phenotypes accordingly cannot explain the lack of anti-tumor response or disease progression in CLL.

The NK cell line we used in the present study is negative for CD16 and a common model of natural cytotoxicity of NK cells. Although these NK cells are fully activated and effectively recognize their targets, a subpopulation of CLL cells was still resistant to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. This indicates an additional intrinsic resistance of CLL that allows escape from NK cells that can be activated either through activating ligands or possibly even through ADCC. Here we show that the actin cytoskeleton of CLL cells plays a critical role in the intrinsic capacity of these cells to avoid destruction by degranulating immune effector cells.

The fast synaptic actin remodeling we observed in CLL cells attacked by NK cells strongly resembled the "actin response" or AR previously described for breast cancer cells and was strongly associated with resistance to NK cell cytotoxicity. Independent of IGHV mutational status, CLL cell lines showed a resistant subpopulation that was characterized by the AR. While HG-3, PGA-1, and JVM-3 showed similar results in all experimental assays with a high susceptibility to NK cell-mediated lysis and high intracellular granzyme B load, MEC-1 cells demonstrated a high resistance to NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and decreased uptake of NK cell-derived granzyme B. We attributed these differences to the relative size of the AR⁺ subpopulation as we were able to show that de novo F-actin polymerization on the cancer side of the IS is strongly associated with survival and resistance during NK cell attack. Pharmacological inhibition of CDC42 activity drastically reduced the size of the AR⁺ subpopulation and resulted in an increase of early apoptotic cells and overall cell death in MEC-1 that can be explained by increased amounts of granzyme B transferred into target cells. Although CDC42 is a central actin cytoskeleton regulator, other pathways might be involved in the process of the AR, as suggested by the remaining AR⁺ subpopulation in HG-3, PGA-1, JVM-3 and MEC-1 cells that resisted treatment with the CDC42-specific inhibitor ZCL278 (56).

An interesting aspect that could be worth further investigation is the potential role of TP53 in enabling the AR, as the four cell lines differ in their TP53 mutational status. HG-3, PGA-1, and JVM-3 cells have all been reported to express wildtype TP53, while MEC-1 are identified as a TP53^{del/mut} cell line, expressing a truncated 40kDa version of the p53 protein without transcriptional activity. In CLL patients, mutations of TP53 or loss of one TP53 allele are associated with a significant decrease in survival and are predictive for an impaired response to chemoimmunotherapy (72). Additionally in vitro experiments attributed expression of wildtype TP53 or mutational TP53 and/or loss of TP53 to differential drug response in several CLL cell lines, including JVM-3 and MEC-1 (73-75). Other studies have shown, that rescue of mutational TP53 function can restore granzyme B-mediated apoptosis in breast cancer through downmodulation of anti-apoptotic proteins (76). However, in these studies, TP53 reactivation was achieved in cell lines expressing a missense mutational p53, while in many CLL cases with aberrant TP53 expression, deletion of the short arm of chromosome 17 (del17p13) results in a complete loss of TP53, often in association with TP53 mutations on the other allele (77). Whether TP53 status is therefore a critical determinant of the AR frequency in CLL will need to be determined with a larger, better defined patient cohort in the future.

Most importantly, we were able to show that the AR is not an artefact of cell lines but can indeed be found in patient-derived CLL cells. In this context, the inhibitory interaction of surface molecules, such as the non-classical MHC-I isoforms HLA-E and HLA-G, with their corresponding ligands on NK cells might have been underestimated in their significance. Even the NK-92MI cell, known to not express key inhibitory receptors such as KIR or NKG2A, showed a deficiency in conjugate formation with patient-derived CLL cells. This dysfunction could be rescued by antibody blockade targeting HLA-G. However, antibody opsonization of target CLL cells had no impact on the frequency of the AR in primary CLL cells. In combination with CDC42 inhibition, anti-HLA-G blocking antibody greatly increased NK cell-induced apoptosis in patient-derived CLL cells. We hypothesize that this is a consequence of the relative size of the AR⁺ population that could be decreased by pharmacological CDC42 inhibition. This is further supported by the observation that in individual patient samples in which this treatment failed to reduce the size of the AR⁺ population, the frequency of CLL cells showing signs of apoptosis was unchanged compared to untreated and DMSO-treated samples. Since NK-92MI cells are CD16, antibody blockade did not trigger ADCC that could explain the increase in target cell death. It is however worth speculating that NK cells capable of ADCC could be even more effective in inducing apoptosis in CLL cells that underwent dual blocking antibody and CDC42 inhibition therapy.

Yet, actin cytoskeleton targeting drugs, such as cytochalasins or latrunculins, show intolerable toxicity with particularly severe adverse effects on cardiac structure and function and are therefore unfit for clinical trials. Experimental drugs that target cancer-specific F-actin components and confirmation of their efficiency *in vivo* (78, 79) demonstrate however, that targeting of the actin cytoskeleton dynamics is a possibility in our search for new innovative cancer drugs. Importantly, targeting of intrinsic immune escape mechanisms such as the AR can only be effective in combination with other therapies, such as immune checkpoint inhibitor blockade and/or opsonization with tumor-targeting antibodies. Without these therapies, cytotoxic lymphocyte activation, but also IS formation that is fundamental to a functional anti-tumor immune response cannot take place.

Overall, NK cells are emerging as a valuable tool for the control of CLL disease progression and reactivation of their cytotoxic capabilities against cancer cells could potentially improve overall outcome. Selective targeting of intrinsic immune escape mechanisms, such as the here described AR, could provide a new line of therapy for the difficult to treat or relapsing CLL subtypes. It is important to highlight that irrespective of the expression status of poor prognostic markers, such as TP53 and IGHV, all four CLL cell lines, as well as all ten patient-derived CLL samples demonstrated an AR⁺ subpopulation that proved to be resistant against pharmacologic inhibition of CDC42 activity. This shows the presence of another signaling pathway allowing cancer cells to maintain resistance against NK cell cytotoxicity. Further studies employing patient cohorts will be needed to address and confirm the clinical importance of the AR in CLL and its therapeutic value. Further it needs to be evaluated whether the hyporesponsive phenotypical state of CLL-patient derived NK cells is revertible or if allogeneic NK cell therapy could benefit from selective targeting of the AR (47), possibly in combination with other immunomodulatory drugs (44, 80, 81).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité National d'Ethique de Recherche Luxembourg (CNER No. 201707/02 Version 1.2). The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HW designed and performed most of the experimental work, analyzed results, and wrote the manuscript. LF, CH, MK, and AB performed experiments and analyzed results. JM performed NK cell isolation. HW, LF, and AL performed patient CLL cell isolation. Patient samples were provided by SD, JF, and GB. JP and EM organized CLL sample collection and contributed to supervise the study. CT supervised the study and wrote the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING SUPPORT

Work in CT's group is supported by grants from the National Research Fund (FNR, Luxembourg, ACTIVASION, C19/BM/ 13579644), La Fondation Cancer (Luxembourg, ACTIMMUNE, FC/2019/02) and Think Pink Lux (Luxembourg). HW is recipient of a PhD fellowship from the National Research Fund (FNR, Luxembourg), Luxembourg (PRIDE15/10675146/CANBIO). AB and MK are recipient of PhD fellowships from Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique (FNRS, Belgium, Televie #7.4536.19 ACTIPHAGY and Televie #7.4531.20 TRANSACTINg, respectively). AL is supported by a post-doctoral fellowship from the FNRS (Televie #7.4503.19). JP is supported by the National Research Fund (FNR), Luxembourg (INTER/DFG/16/11509946).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Flora Moreau and Odile Lecha for providing Emerald-Lifeact expressing cell lines and help with data collection.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021.619069/ full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | (A) List of CLL cell line characteristics. (B) Confocal microscopy pictures of HG-3 and PGA-1 Emerald-Lifeact cells (T) in conjugation with NK-92Ml cells (NK) with and without an actin response. Charts below show the relative fluorescent intensity of Emerald-Lifeact and CMRA along the trajectories (white arrow). The fluorescence was normalized to 1 at the opposite site of the synapse. The immunological synapse is indicated with "IS". Cells with an actin response show a more than 2-fold higher fluorescent signal at the IS. Bars: 10µm.

CLL Immune Escape Through Actin Remodeling

(C) Analysis of imaging flow cytometry images. First, a scatter plot of aspect ratio vs. area was used to gate for cells and exclude debris and control beads (R1). Second, a gradient RMS (root mean square for image sharpness) histogram was used to gate for cells in focus (Focus). Third, the intensity of PE/Cy7 (CD56) was gated against the intensity of Emerald-Lifeact (EmLA). Double positive events were categorized as conjugates and used for subsequent image analysis. We defined AR⁺ CLL cells as target cells with an increased relative intensity of EmLA fluorescence in the IS mask in relation to the total intensity of EmLA in target cells. For determination of granzyme B content in CLL cells, the NK cell part of the immune synapse is excluded from the analysis. (D) Immune synapse definition using IDEAS. Cell shape defined by surface labelling (CD56) or EmLA expression was extended by 3px in all dimensions using the dilate function. The overlapping region was defined as the immune synapse mask (IS mask) in NK cell-CLL cell conjugates. Created with BioRender.com

REFERENCES

- Rai KR, Jain P. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL)-Then and Now. Am J Hematol (2016) 91(3):330–40. doi: 10.1002/ajh.24282
- Bosch F, Dalla-Favera R. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia: From Genetics to Treatment. Nat Rev Clin Oncol (2019) 16(11):684–701. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0239-8
- Damle RN, Wasil T, Fais F, Ghiotto F, Valetto A, Allen SL, et al. Ig V Gene Mutation Status and CD38 Expression as Novel Prognostic Indicators in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (1999) 94(6):1840–7. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V94.6.1840.418k06_1840_1847
- Hamblin TJ, Davis Z, Gardiner A, Oscier DG, Stevenson FK. Unmutated Ig V (H) Genes are Associated With a More Aggressive Form of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (1999) 94(6):1848–54. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V94.6.1848.418k05_1848_1854
- Parikh SA. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Treatment Algorithm 2018. Blood Cancer J (2018) 8(10):1–10. doi: 10.1038/s41408-018-0131-2
- Malcikova J, Tausch E, Rossi D, Sutton LA, Soussi T, Zenz T, et al. ERIC Recommendations for TP53 Mutation Analysis in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia—Update on Methodological Approaches and Results Interpretation. *Leukemia* (2018) 32(5):1070–80. doi: 10.1038/s41375-017-0007-7
- Aitken MJL, Lee HJ, Post SM. Emerging Treatment Options for Patients With p53-Pathway-Deficient Cll. *Ther Adv Hematol* (2019) 10:2040620719891356. doi: 10.1177/2040620719891356
- Bagacean C, Tempescul A, Ternant D, Banet A, Douet-Guilbert N, Bordron A, et al. 17p Deletion Strongly Influences Rituximab Elimination in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):22. doi: 10.1186/ s40425-019-0509-0
- Hamblin AD, Hamblin TJ. The Immunodeficiency of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukaemia. Br Med Bull (2008) 87:49–62. doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldn034
- Forconi F, Moss P. Perturbation of the Normal Immune System in Patients With CLL. Blood (2015) 126(5):573–81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-03-567388
- Arruga F, Gyau BB, Iannello A, Vitale N, Vaisitti T, Deaglio S. Immune Response Dysfunction in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Dissecting Molecular Mechanisms and Microenvironmental Conditions. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 21(5):1825. doi: 10.3390/ijms21051825
- Wu J, Xu X, Lee E-J, Shull AY, Pei L, Awan F, et al. Phenotypic Alteration of CD8+ T Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia is Associated With Epigenetic Reprogramming. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(26):40558–70. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.9941
- Mackus WJM, Frakking FNJ, Grummels A, Gamadia LE, de Bree GJ, Hamann D, et al. Expansion of CMV-specific CD8+CD45RA+CD27- T Cells in B-cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (2003) 102(3):1057–63. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2003-01-0182

with and without an actin response following conjugation with NK cells. Image J software was used to do the quantification of LSM880 acquired images. (D) Evaluation of GTP-loaded Cdc42 by G-LISA colorimetric activation assay. MEC-1 cells were pre-treated for 1 h with 50 µM ZCL278 before drug was removed and cells resuspended in fresh complete medium. Cells were allowed to recover for 1 and 5 hrs after drug removal before stimulation with 0.1 µg/mL human recombinant EGF for 15 minutes to measure inducible CDC42 activity. *** denotes to p < 0.0001. (E) Spontaneous cell death in HG-3, PGA-1, JVM-3, MEC-1 cells treated with either DMSO or 50 µM ZCL278 for 1 h. Drugs were removed and cells allowed to recover for 45 minutes before cell death analysis using Annexin V and propidium iodide.

Supplementary Figure 3 | (A) Imaging flow cytometry analysis of DMSO- or ZCL278-treated HG-3 and PGA-1 with regards to actin response frequency in conjugates. (B) Cytotoxicity assays of DMSO- or ZCL278-treated HG-3 and PGA-1 cells with NK-92MI at E:T ratio of 1:1 and 5:1. (C) Apoptosis assay of DMSO- or ZCL278-treated HG-3 and PGA-1 cells with NK-92MI effector cells. Cells were co-cultured for 45 minutes before live/dead staining with Annexin V and propidium iodide. (D) Quantitative imaging flow cytometry analysis of granzyme B load in HG-3 and PGA-1 CLL cells in conjugation with NK-92MI cells. (E) Imaging flow cytometry analysis of granzyme B load in DMSO- or ZCL278-treated HG-3 and PGA-1 CLL cells after 45 minutes of co-culture with NK-92MI cells. (F) Flow cytometry gating strategy for buffy coat-derived PBMC before and after negative selection for NK cells.

- te Raa GD, Pascutti MF, García-Vallejo JJ, Reinen E, Remmerswaal EBM, ten Berge IJM, et al. CMV-Specific CD8+ T-Cell Function is Not Impaired in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (2014) 123(5):717–24. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2013-08-518183
- Riches JC, Davies JK, McClanahan F, Fatah R, Iqbal S, Agrawal S, et al. T Cells From CLL Patients Exhibit Features of T-Cell Exhaustion But Retain Capacity for Cytokine Production. *Blood* (2013) 121(9):1612–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-457531
- Karmali R, Paganessi LA, Frank RR, Jagan S, Larson ML, Venugopal P, et al. Aggressive Disease Defined by Cytogenetics Is Associated With Cytokine Dysregulation in CLL/SLL Patients. J Leukoc Biol (2013) 93(1):161–70. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0612301
- Schulz A, Toedt G, Zenz T, Stilgenbauer S, Lichter P, Seiffert M. Inflammatory Cytokines and Signaling Pathways Are Associated With Survival of Primary Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells In Vitro: A Dominant Role of CCL2. *Haematologica* (2011) 96(3):408–16. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2010.031377
- Wierz M, Pierson S, Guyonnet L, Viry E, Lequeux A, Oudin A, et al. Dual PD1/LAG3 Immune Checkpoint Blockade Limits Tumor Development in a Murine Model of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (2018) 131 (14):1617–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-06-792267
- Wierz M, Janji B, Berchem G, Moussay E, Paggetti J. High-Dimensional Mass Cytometry Analysis Revealed Microenvironment Complexity in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2018) 7(8):e1465167. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1465167
- Orange JS. Formation and Function of the Lytic NK-cell Immunological Synapse. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8(9):713–25. doi: 10.1038/nri2381
- Dustin ML, Long EO. Cytotoxic Immunological Synapses. Immunol Rev (2010) 235(1):24. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2010.00904.x
- Dieckmann NMG, Frazer GL, Asano Y, Stinchcombe JC, Griffiths GM. The Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Immune Synapse At a Glance. J Cell Sci (2016) 129 (15):2881–6. doi: 10.1242/jcs.186205
- Blumenthal D, Burkhardt JK. Multiple Actin Networks Coordinate Mechanotransduction At the Immunological Synapse. J Cell Biol (2020) 219 (2):e201911058. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201911058
- Cantoni C, Wurzer H, Thomas C, Vitale M. Escape of Tumor Cells From the NK Cell Cytotoxic Activity. *J Leukoc Biol* (2020) 108(4):1339–60. doi: 10.1002/ JLB.2MR0820-652R
- 25. Ramsay AG, Clear AJ, Fatah R, Gribben JG. Multiple Inhibitory Ligands Induce Impaired T-cell Immunologic Synapse Function in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia That can be Blocked With Lenalidomide: Establishing a Reversible Immune Evasion Mechanism in Human Cancer. *Blood* (2012) 120(7):1412–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-02-411678
- 26. Acebes-Huerta A, Huergo-Zapico L, Gonzalez-Rodriguez AP, Fernandez-Guizan A, Payer AR, López-Soto A, et al. Lenalidomide Induces Immunomodulation in

Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia and Enhances Antitumor Immune Responses Mediated by NK and CD4 T Cells. *BioMed Res Int* (2014) 2014:265840. doi: 10.1155/ 2014/265840

- Grzywnowicz M, Karczmarczyk A, Skorka K, Zajac M, Zaleska J, Chocholska S, et al. Expression of Programmed Death 1 Ligand in Different Compartments of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Acta Haematol* (2015) 134(4):255–62. doi: 10.1159/000430980
- Kabanova A, Sanseviero F, Candi V, Gamberucci A, Gozzetti A, Campoccia G, et al. Human Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes Form Dysfunctional Immune Synapses With B Cells Characterized by Non-Polarized Lytic Granule Release. *Cell Rep* (2016) 15(1):9–18. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.02.084
- Palma M, Gentilcore G, Heimersson K, Mozaffari F, Näsman-Glaser B, Young E, et al. T Cells in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Display Dysregulated Expression of Immune Checkpoints and Activation Markers. *Haematologica* (2017) 102(3):562–72. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2016.151100
- Lemal R, Tournilhac O. State-of-the-Art for CAR T-Cell Therapy for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia in 2019. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):202. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0686-x
- 31. Xing D, Ramsay AG, Robinson S, Bollard CM, Shah N, Champlin R, et al. Lenalidomide Treatment Enhances Immunological Synapse Formation of Cord Blood Natural Killer Cells With B Cells Derived From Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (2011) 118(21):1794–4. doi: 10.1182/ blood.V118.21.1794.1794
- Byrd JC, Ruppert AS, Heerema NA, Halvorson AE, Hoke E, Smith MR, et al. Lenalidomide Consolidation Benefits Patients With CLL Receiving Chemoimmunotherapy: Results for CALGB 10404 (Alliance). Blood Adv (2018) 2(14):1705–18. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017015396
- 33. Davenport AJ, Cross RS, Watson KA, Liao Y, Shi W, Prince HM, et al. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells Form Nonclassical and Potent Immune Synapses Driving Rapid Cytotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2018) 115(9): E2068–76. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1716266115
- 34. Watanabe K, Kuramitsu S, Posey AD, June CH. Expanding the Therapeutic Window for CAR T Cell Therapy in Solid Tumors: The Knowns and Unknowns of CAR T Cell Biology. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2486. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02486
- Hofland T, Eldering E, Kater AP, Tonino SH. Engaging Cytotoxic T and NK Cells for Immunotherapy in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(17):4315. doi: 10.3390/ijms20174315
- 36. Mahadevan D, Lanasa MC, Farber C, Pandey M, Whelden M, Faas SJ, et al. Phase I Study of Samalizumab in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia and Multiple Myeloma: Blockade of the Immune Checkpoint CD200. J Immunother Cancer (2019) 7(1):227. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0710-1
- Woyach JA, Johnson AJ. Targeted Therapies in CLL: Mechanisms of Resistance and Strategies for Management. *Blood* (2015) 126(4):471–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-03-585075
- Kittai AS, Woyach JA. Resistance Mechanisms to Targeted Agents in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Cancer J Sudbury Mass* (2019) 25(6):428–35. doi: 10.1097/PPO.000000000000406
- 39. Nückel H, Rebmann V, Dürig J, Dührsen U, Grosse-Wilde H. HLA-G Expression is Associated With an Unfavorable Outcome and Immunodeficiency in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Blood* (2005) 105 (4):1694–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-08-3335
- Maki G, Hayes GM, Naji A, Tyler T, Carosella ED, Rouas-Freiss N, et al. NK Resistance of Tumor Cells From Multiple Myeloma and Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Patients: Implication of HLA-G. *Leukemia* (2008) 22(5):998–1006. doi: 10.1038/leu.2008.15
- Rizzo R, Audrito V, Vacca P, Rossi D, Brusa D, Stignani M, et al. HLA-G is a Component of the Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Escape Repertoire to Generate Immune Suppression: Impact of the HLA-G 14 Base Pair (rs66554220) Polymorphism. *Haematologica* (2014) 99(5):888–96. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.095281
- Rajagopalan S, Long EO. A Human Histocompatibility Leukocyte Antigen (HLA)-G-specific Receptor Expressed on All Natural Killer Cells. J Exp Med (1999) 189(7):1093–100. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.7.1093
- Horowitz A, Strauss-Albee DM, Leipold M, Kubo J, Nemat-Gorgani N, Dogan OC, et al. Genetic and Environmental Determinants of Human NK Cell Diversity Revealed by Mass Cytometry. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5(208):208ra145–208ra145. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006702

- 44. Villa-Álvarez M, Sordo-Bahamonde C, Lorenzo-Herrero S, Gonzalez-Rodriguez AP, Payer AR, Gonzalez-Garcia E, et al. Ig-Like Transcript 2 (ILT2) Blockade and Lenalidomide Restore NK Cell Function in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:2917. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02917
- 45. Tremante E, Monaco EL, Ingegnere T, Sampaoli C, Fraioli R, Giacomini P. Monoclonal Antibodies to HLA-E Bind Epitopes Carried by Unfolded β 2m-Free Heavy Chains. *Eur J Immunol* (2015) 45(8):2356–64. doi: 10.1002/eji.201545446
- McWilliams EM, Mele JM, Cheney C, Timmerman EA, Fiazuddin F, Strattan EJ, et al. Therapeutic CD94/NKG2A Blockade Improves Natural Killer Cell Dysfunction in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Oncoimmunology* (2016) 5 (10):e1226720. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1226720
- Sánchez-Martínez D, Lanuza PM, Gómez N, Muntasell A, Cisneros E, Moraru M, et al. Activated Allogeneic NK Cells Preferentially Kill Poor Prognosis B-Cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:454. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00454
- Liu E, Marin D, Banerjee P, Macapinlac HA, Thompson P, Basar R, et al. Use of CAR-Transduced Natural Killer Cells in CD19-Positive Lymphoid Tumors. *N Engl J Med* (2020) 382(6):545–53. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1910607
- Mukherjee M, Mace EM, Carisey AF, Ahmed N, Orange JS. Quantitative Imaging Approaches to Study the CAR Immunological Synapse. *Mol Ther* (2017) 25(8):1757–68. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.06.003
- Xiong W, Chen Y, Kang X, Chen Z, Zheng P, Hsu Y-H, et al. Immunological Synapse Predicts Effectiveness of Chimeric Antigen Receptor Cells. *Mol Ther* (2018) 26(4):963–75. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.01.020
- Dong R, Libby KA, Blaeschke F, Fuchs W, Marson A, Vale RD, et al. Rewired Signaling Network in T Cells Expressing the Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR). *EMBO J* (2020) 39(16):e104730. doi: 10.15252/embj.2020104730
- Absi AA, Wurzer H, Guerin C, Hoffmann C, Moreau F, Mao X, et al. Actin Cytoskeleton Remodeling Drives Breast Cancer Cell Escape From Natural Killer-Mediated Cytotoxicity. *Cancer Res* (2018) Oct 178(19):5631–43. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-0441
- 53. Biolato AM, Filali L, Wurzer H, Hoffmann C, Gargiulo E, Valitutti S, et al. Actin Remodeling and Vesicular Trafficking at the Tumor Cell Side of the Immunological Synapse Direct Evasion from Cytotoxic Lymphocytes. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* (2020) 356:99–130. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2020.07.001
- 54. Abouzahr S, Bismuth G, Gaudin C, Caroll O, Endert PV, Jalil A, et al. Identification of Target Actin Content and Polymerization Status as a Mechanism of Tumor Resistance After Cytolytic T Lymphocyte Pressure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2006) 103(5):1428–33. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0510454103
- Abouzahr-Rifai S, Hasmim M, Boukerche H, Hamelin J, Janji B, Jalil A, et al. Resistance of Tumor Cells to Cytolytic T Lymphocytes Involves Rho-GTPases and Focal Adhesion Kinase Activation. J Biol Chem (2008) 283(46):31665–72. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M800078200
- Friesland A, Zhao Y, Chen Y-H, Wang L, Zhou H, Lu Q. Small Molecule Targeting Cdc42-intersectin Interaction Disrupts Golgi Organization and Suppresses Cell Motility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* (2013) 110(4):1261–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1116051110
- Riedl J, Crevenna AH, Kessenbrock K, Yu JH, Neukirchen D, Bista M, et al. Lifeact: A Versatile Marker to Visualize F-Actin. *Nat Methods* (2008) 5(7):605. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1220
- Vanherberghen B, Olofsson PE, Forslund E, Sternberg-Simon M, Khorshidi MA, Pacouret S, et al. Classification of Human Natural Killer Cells Based on Migration Behavior and Cytotoxic Response. *Blood* (2013) 121(8):1326–34. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-06-439851
- Anft M, Netter P, Urlaub D, Prager I, Schaffner S, Watzl C. NK Cell Detachment From Target Cells Is Regulated by Successful Cytotoxicity and Influences Cytokine Production. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2020) 17(4):347–55. doi: 10.1038/s41423-019-0277-2
- Etienne-Manneville S. Cdc42 the Centre of Polarity. J Cell Sci (2004) 117 (8):1291–300. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01115
- Pollard TD. Regulation of Actin Filament Assembly by Arp2/3 Complex and Formins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct (2007) 36(1):451–77. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.biophys.35.040405.101936
- 62. Rohatgi R, Ma L, Miki H, Lopez M, Kirchhausen T, Takenawa T, et al. The Interaction Between N-WASP and the Arp2/3 Complex Links Cdc42-Dependent Signals to Actin Assembly. *Cell* (1999) 97(2):221–31. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80732-1

- Wang X-Y, Gan M-X, Li Y, Zhan W-H, Han T-Y, Han X-J, et al. Cdc42 Induces EGF Receptor Protein Accumulation and Promotes EGF Receptor Nuclear Transport and Cellular Transformation. *FEBS Lett* (2015) 589 (2):255–62. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2014.11.049
- Gong JH, Maki G, Klingemann HG. Characterization of a Human Cell Line (NK-92) With Phenotypical and Functional Characteristics of Activated Natural Killer Cells. *Leukemia* (1994) 8(4):652–8.
- 65. Chen Y, You F, Jiang L, Li J, Zhu X, Bao Y, et al. Gene-Modified NK-92MI Cells Expressing a Chimeric CD16-BB-ζ or CD64-BB-ζ Receptor Exhibit Enhanced Cancer-Killing Ability in Combination With Therapeutic Antibody. Oncotarget (2017) 8(23):37128–39. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16201
- 66. Wan R, Wang Z-W, Li H, Peng X-D, Liu G-Y, Ou J-M, et al. Human Leukocyte Antigen-G Inhibits the Anti-Tumor Effect of Natural Killer Cells Via Immunoglobulin-Like Transcript 2 in Gastric Cancer. Cell Physiol Biochem (2017) 44(5):1828–41. doi: 10.1159/000485819
- Favier B, Lemaoult J, Lesport E, Carosella ED. ILT2/HLA-G Interaction Impairs NK-cell Functions Through the Inhibition of the Late But Not the Early Events of the NK-cell Activating Synapse. *FASEB J* (2010) 24(3):689–99. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-135194
- Curran EK, Godfrey J, Kline J. Mechanisms of Immune Tolerance in Leukemia and Lymphoma. *Trends Immunol* (2017) 38(7):513–25. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.04.004
- 69. Hofland T, Endstra S, Gomes CKP, de Boer R, de Weerdt I, Bobkov V, et al. Natural Killer Cell Hypo-responsiveness in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia can be Circumvented in Vitro by Adequate Activating Signaling. *HemaSphere* (2019) 3(6):e308. doi: 10.1097/HS9.00000000000308
- Vuillier F, Tortevoye P, Binet JL, Dighiero G. CD4, CD8 and NK Subsets in B-CLL. Nouv Rev Fr Hematol (1988) 30(5–6):331–4.
- Guven H, Gilljam M, Chambers BJ, Ljunggren HG, Christensson B, Kimby E, et al. Expansion of Natural Killer (NK) and Natural Killer-Like T (NKT)-Cell Populations Derived From Patients With B-Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (B-CLL): A Potential Source for Cellular Immunotherapy. *Leukemia* (2003) 17 (10):1973–80. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2403083
- 72. Campo E, Cymbalista F, Ghia P, Jäger U, Pospisilova S, Rosenquist R, et al. TP53 Aberrations in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: An Overview of the Clinical Implications of Improved Diagnostics. *Haematologica* (2018) 103 (12):1956–68. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2018.187583
- 73. Veldurthy A, Patz M, Hagist S, Pallasch CP, Wendtner C-M, Hallek M, et al. The Kinase Inhibitor Dasatinib Induces Apoptosis in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Cells In Vitro With Preference for a Subgroup of Patients With Unmutated IgVH Genes. *Blood* (2008) 112(4):1443–52. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-11-123984
- 74. Voltan R, Rimondi E, Melloni E, Rigolin GM, Casciano F, Arcidiacono MV, et al. Ibrutinib Synergizes With MDM-2 Inhibitors in Promoting Cytotoxicity

in B Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Oncotarget (2016) 7(43):70623-38. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12139

- Zemanova J, Hylse O, Collakova J, Vesely P, Oltova A, Borsky M, et al. Chk1 Inhibition Significantly Potentiates Activity of Nucleoside Analogs in TP53mutated B-Lymphoid Cells. Oncotarget (2016) 7(38):62091–106. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11388
- Chollat-Namy M, Ben Safta-Saadoun T, Haferssas D, Meurice G, Chouaib S, Thiery J. The Pharmalogical Reactivation of p53 Function Improves Breast Tumor Cell Lysis by Granzyme B and NK Cells Through Induction of Autophagy. *Cell Death Dis* (2019) 10(10):1–20. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1950-1
- Zenz T, Vollmer D, Trbusek M, Smardova J, Benner A, Soussi T, et al. TP53 Mutation Profile in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Evidence for a Disease Specific Profile From a Comprehensive Analysis of 268 Mutations. *Leukemia* (2010) 24(12):2072–9. doi: 10.1038/leu.2010.208
- Stehn JR, Haass NK, Bonello T, Desouza M, Kottyan G, Treutlein H, et al. A Novel Class of Anticancer Compounds Targets the Actin Cytoskeleton in Tumor Cells. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(16):5169–82. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4501
- 79. Foerster F, Braig S, Moser C, Kubisch R, Busse J, Wagner E, et al. Targeting the Actin Cytoskeleton: Selective Antitumor Action Via Trapping Pkce. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5:e1398. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.363
- Itchaki G, Brown JR. Lenalidomide in the Treatment of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Expert Opin Investig Drugs (2017) 26(5):633–50. doi: 10.1080/ 13543784.2017.1313230
- Chiu H, Trisal P, Bjorklund C, Carrancio S, Toraño EG, Guarinos C, et al. Combination Lenalidomide-Rituximab Immunotherapy Activates Anti-Tumour Immunity and Induces Tumour Cell Death by Complementary Mechanisms of Action in Follicular Lymphoma. *Br J Haematol* (2019) 185 (2):240–53. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15797

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Wurzer, Filali, Hoffmann, Krecke, Biolato, Mastio, De Wilde, François, Largeot, Berchem, Paggetti, Moussay and Thomas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

